

Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Faculty of Economics and Social Development

25th International Scientific Conference

ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT 2024

16-17 May 2024, Jelgava, Latvia

ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT

Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference

No 58 Circular Economy: Climate Change, Environmental Aspect, Cooperation, Supply Chains Efficiency of Production Process and Competitive of Companies Integrated and Sustainable Regional Development New Dimensions in the Development of Society Rural Development and Entrepreneurship

> No 58 Jelgava 2024

ISSN 2255-9930 on line ISBN 978-9984-48-433-4 (E-book)

Abstracted / Indexed (proceedings will be submitted for evaluation by): AGRIS, CAB Abstracts, Crossref, EBSCO Academic Search Complete, EBSCO Academic Search Ultimate, EBSCO Central & Eastern European Academic Source, EBSCO Discovery Service, Web of Science CPCI (Clarivate Analytics), Google Scholar, Primo Central (ProQuest-ExLibris).

https://www.esaf.lbtu.lv/lv/proceedings-economic-science-for-rural-development

https://agris.fao.org/

https://www.cabidigitallibrary.org/product/ca

http://search.ebscohost.com/

https://www.webofscience.com/wos/alldb/basic-search

https://scholar.google.com/

https://primolatvija.hosted.exlibrisgroup.com/primo-explore/search?sortby=rank&vid=371KISCLLU_VU1& lang=en_US

Programme Committee of International Scientific Conference

Professor	Irina Pilvere	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Andra Zvirbule	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Baiba Rivza	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Barbara Freytag-Leyer	Fulda University of Applied Sciences, Germany
Professor	Bo Ohlmer	Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Sweden
Professor	Wim J.M. Heijman	Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands
Professor	Alina Danilowska	Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW, Poland
Professor	Ludwik Wicki	Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW, Poland
Professor	Arild Sæther	University of Agder, Norway
Professor	Rogier Schulte	Wageningen University and Research, Netherlands
Professor	Csaba Forgacs	Budapest Corvinus University, Hungary
Professor	Elena Horska	Slovak University of Agriculture, Slovakia
Professor	Nadiya Davydenko	National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, Ukraine
Professor	Astrida Miceikiene	Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania
Professor	Ants-Hannes Viira	Estonian University of Life Sciences, Estonia
Associate Professor	Henrik Barth	Halmstad University, Sweden
Professor	Anita Auzina	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Ingrida Jakusonoka	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Aina Dobele	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Modrite Pelse	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Inguna Leibus	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Gunta Grinberga-Zalite	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Professor	Dina Popluga	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Associate professor	Aina Muska	Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia
Editor – in-chief		Anita Auzina, Professor
Responsible compile	rs of the proceedings:	Gunta Grinberga-Zalite, Professor
		Vineta Tetere, lecturer
Assistants to the res	ponsible compilers:	Dzesija Zeiferte

Reviewers

Every article included into the Proceedings was subjected to a scientific, including international review. All reviewers were anonymous for the authors of the articles. The following reviewers from scientific and academic institutions of 8 countries (Estonia, Georgia, Germany, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, Ukraine and Uzbekistan).

Time schedule of the conference

Preparation of the proceedings and organization: January 2024 – May 2024

Conference: 16-17 May 2024

Researchers from the following higher education institutions, research institutions, and professional organizations presented their scientific papers at the conference:

Agency of the Latvian University of Biosciences and Technology "Malnava College of the University of Biosciences and Technology"	Latvia
Baltic International Academy	Latvia
Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University	Georgia
BENU Aptieka Latvija Ltd	Latvia
BLEND Consulting Ltd	Latvia
Estonian University of Life Sciences	Estonia
Government of Kuldiga municipality	Latvia
Investment and Development Agency of Latvia	Latvia
ISMA University of Applied Sciences	Latvia
Kauno kolegija Higher Education Institution	Lithuania
Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies	Latvia
Latvian Maritime Academy of Riga Technical University	Latvia
Leuphana University Lüneburg	Germany
MADARA Cosmetics JSC	Latvia
Mykolas Romeris University	Lithuania
National University "Yuri Kondratyuk Poltava Polytechnic"	Ukraine
National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine	Ukraine
Rezekne Academy of Technologies	Latvia
Riga Graduate School of Law	Latvia
Riga Technical University	Latvia
State Institution "Scientific Centre for Aerospace Research of the Earth of the Institute of Geological Sciences of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine"	Ukraine
Tamro Ltd	Latvia
Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv	Ukraine
Tashkent State Agrarian University	Uzbekistan
Turiba University	Latvia
University of Latvia	Latvia
University of Tartu	Estonia
Ventspils University of Applied Science	Latvia
Vytautas Magnus University	Lithuania
Warsaw University of Life Sciences - SGGW	Poland
Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences	Poland

Publication Ethics and Malpractice Statement for the International Scientific Conference "Economic Science for Rural Development"

The Editorial Board is responsible for, among other, preventing publication malpractice. Unethical behaviour is unacceptable and the authors who submit articles to the Conference Proceedings affirm that the content of a manuscript is original. Furthermore, the authors' submission also implies that the material of the article was not published in any other publication; it is not and will not be presented for publication to any other publication; it does not contain statements which do not correspond to reality, or material which may infringe upon the intellectual property rights of another person or legal entity, and upon the conditions and requirements of sponsors or providers of financial support; all references used in the article are indicated and, to the extent the article incorporates text passages, figures, data or other material from the works of others, the undersigned has obtained any necessary permits as well as the authors undertake to indemnify and hold harmless the publisher of the proceedings and third parties from any damage or expense that may arise in the event of a breach of any of the guarantees.

Editors, authors, and reviewers, within the International Scientific Conference **"Economic Science for Rural Development**" are to be fully committed to good publication practice and accept the responsibility for fulfilling the following duties and responsibilities, as set by the *COPE Code of Conduct and Best Practice Guidelines for Journal Editors of the Committee on Publication Ethics* (COPE).

It is necessary to agree upon standards of expected ethical behaviour for all parties involved in the act of publishing: the author, the editor, the peer reviewer, and the publisher.

DUTIES OF EDITORS

Publication decisions

The Editorial Board is responsible for deciding which of the articles submitted to the Conference Proceedings should be published. The Editorial Board may be guided by the policies of ethics and constrained by such legal requirements as shall then be in force regarding libel, copyright infringement and plagiarism. The editor may confer with other editors or reviewers in making this decision.

Fair play

An editor at any time evaluate manuscripts for their intellectual content without regard to the nature of the authors or the host institution including race, gender, sexual orientation, religious belief, ethnic origin, citizenship, or political philosophy of the authors.

Confidentiality

The editor and any editorial staff must not disclose any information about a submitted manuscript to anyone other than the corresponding author, reviewers, potential reviewers, other editorial advisers, and the publisher, as appropriate.

Disclosure and conflicts of interest

Unpublished materials disclosed in a submitted manuscript must not be used in an editor's own research without the express written consent of the author.

DUTIES OF REVIEWERS

Every submitted manuscript has been reviewed by one reviewer from the author's native country or university, while the other reviewer came from another country or university. The third reviewer was chosen in the case of conflicting reviews. All reviewers were anonymous for 9 the authors of the articles, and the reviewers presented blind reviews. Every author received the reviewers' objections or recommendations. After receiving the improved (final) version of the manuscript and the author's comments, the Editorial Board of the conference evaluated each article.

Contribution to editorial decisions

Peer review assists the editor in making editorial decisions and through the editorial communications with the author may also assist the author in improving the paper.

Promptness

Any selected referee who feels unqualified to review the research reported in a manuscript or knows that its prompt review will be impossible should notify the editor and excuse himself from the review process.

Confidentiality

Any manuscripts received for review must be treated as confidential documents. They must not be shown to or discussed with others except as authorised by the editor.

Standards of objectivity

Reviews should be conducted objectively. Personal criticism of the author is inappropriate. Referees should express their views clearly with supporting arguments.

Acknowledgement of sources

Reviewers should identify relevant published work that has not been cited by the authors. Any statement that an observation, derivation, or argument had been previously reported should be accompanied by the relevant citation. A reviewer should also call to the editor's attention any substantial similarity or overlap between the manuscript under consideration and any other published paper of which they have personal knowledge.

Disclosure and conflict of interest

Privileged information or ideas obtained through peer review must be kept confidential and not used for personal advantage. Reviewers should not consider manuscripts in which they have conflicts of interest resulting from competitive, collaborative, or other relationships or connections with any of the authors, companies, or institutions connected to the papers.

DUTIES OF AUTHORS

Reporting standards

The authors of reports of original research should present an accurate account of the work performed as well as an objective discussion of its significance. Underlying data should be represented accurately in the paper. A paper should contain sufficient detail and references to permit others to replicate the work. Fraudulent or knowingly inaccurate statements constitute unethical behaviour and are unacceptable.

Data access and retention

The authors are asked to provide the raw data in connection with a paper for editorial review, and should be prepared to provide public access to such data (consistent with the ALPSP-STM Statement on Data and Databases), if practicable, and should in any event be prepared to retain such data for a reasonable time after publication.

Originality and plagiarism

The authors should ensure that they have written entirely original works, and if the authors have used the work and/or words of others that this has been appropriately cited or quoted.

Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication

An author should not in general publish manuscripts describing essentially the same research in more than one journal or primary publication. Submitting the same manuscript to more than one journal concurrently constitutes unethical publishing behaviour and is unacceptable.

Acknowledgement of sources

Proper acknowledgment of the work of others must always be given. The authors should cite publications that have been influential in determining the nature of the reported work.

Authorship of the paper

Authorship should be limited to those who have made a significant contribution to the conception, design, execution, or interpretation of the reported study. All those who have made significant contributions should be listed as co-authors. Where there are others who have participated in certain substantive aspects of the research project, they should be acknowledged or listed as contributors.

The corresponding author should ensure that all appropriate co-authors and No inappropriate co-authors are included on the paper, and that all co-authors have seen and approved the final version of the paper and have agreed to its submission for publication.

Hazards and human or animal subjects

If the work involves chemicals, procedures or equipment that have any unusual hazards inherent in their use, the author must clearly identify these in the manuscript.

Disclosure and conflicts of interest

All authors should disclose in their manuscript any financial or other substantive conflict of interest that might be construed to influence the results or interpretation of their manuscript. All sources of financial support for the project should be disclosed.

Fundamental errors in published works

When an author discovers a significant error or inaccuracy in his/her own published work, it is the author's obligation to promptly notify the editor or publisher and cooperate with the editor to retract or correct the paper

Foreword

The international scientific conference "Economic Science for Rural Development" is organized annually by the Faculty of Economics and Social Development of Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies.

The proceedings of the conference are published since 2000.

The scientific papers presented in the conference held on 16-17 May 2024 are published in one thematic volume:

No 58 Circular Economy: Climate Change, Environmental Aspect, Cooperation, Supply Chains Efficiency of Production Process and Competitive of Companies Integrated and Sustainable Regional Development New Dimensions in the Development of Society Rural Development and Entrepreneurship

The proceedings contain scientific papers representing not only the science of economics in the diversity of its sub-branches, but also other social sciences (sociology, political science), thus confirming inter-disciplinary development of the contemporary social science.

This year for the first time the conference includes the section on a new emerging kind of economy bioeconomy. The aim of bioeconomy is to use renewable biological resources in a more sustainable manner. Bioeconomy can also sustain a wide range of public goods, including biodiversity. It can increase competitiveness, enhance Europe's self-reliance and provide jobs and business opportunities.

The Conference Committee and Editorial Board are open to comments and recommendations concerning the preparation of future conference proceedings and organisation of the conference.

Acknowledgements

The Conference Committee and editorial Board are open to comments and recommendations for the development of future conference proceedings and organisation of international scientific conferences.

We would like to thank all the authors, reviewers, members of the Programme Committee and the Editorial Board as well as supporting staff for their contribution organising the conference.

On behalf of the conference organisers Anita Auzina Professor of Faculty of Economics and Social Development Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

CONTENTS

CIRCULAR ECONOMY: CLIMATE CHANGE, ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT, COOPERATION, SUPPLY CHAINS
NATURAL RESOURCE TAX AS AN INSTRUMENT FOR SUSTAINABLE
Inguna Leibus, Dr.oec., professor; Luize Filipova
TRANSITIONING TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE IN THE BALTIC COUNTRIES – STRATEGIC AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK ASSESSMENT
THE ROLE AND TECHNIQUES OF GREEN ACCOUNTING IN SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS PRACTICE
Anna Oborska, MSc
SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT: A COMPREHENSIVE RESEARCH ANALYSIS41 Anna Oborska, MSc; Zanete Garanti, Dr.oec., assoc.prof
CHANGES IN THE IMPORTANCE OF AGRIBUSINESS IN THE POLISH ECONOMY AFTER 2000 .49 Aleksandra Wicka, Dr.oec.; Ludwik Wicki, Dr hab., prof
EFFICIENCY OF PRODUCTION PROCESS AND COMPETITIVE OF COMPANIES60
IMPACT OF ISO 9001 QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM ON SMES: THE EXAMPLE OF GEORGIA
61 Ekaterine Agamanashvili, PhD student; Asie Tsintsadze, Doctor of Economics, Professor61
LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY CONVERGENCE IN THE BUSINESS ECONOMY ACROSS EU MEMBER STATES
THE PORTRAIT OF THE MODERN ONLINE CUSTOMER IN LATVIA
DIGITIZATION AND GENERATION Z: RETHINKING LABOUR REALITIES IN LATVIA
VIABILITY OF ESTONIAN DAIRY FARMS
CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - A FACTOR OF INCREASING THE COMPETITIVENESS
OF THE COMPANY
INTEGRATED AND SUSTAINABLE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
CONCEPTUAL ISSUES OF SUSTAINABLE LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT:
George Abuselidze, Doctor of Economics/ Professor; Gia Zoidze, Doctor of Economics
CHALLENGES OF ORGANIZATION'S CULTURE CHANGES IN BALTIC ENTERPRISES125 Anda Batraga, Dr.oec., prof.; Maija Dobele ² Mg.admin.; JeJena Salkovska ³ Dr.oec.prof 125
DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS AND SUSTAINABLE TOURISM IN MOUNTAINOUS ADJARA134 Tamar Beridze, PhD/ Assistant professor; Natia Beridze, PhD/ Assistant professor; Nino Devadze, PhD/ Assistant professor; Tsira Tsetskhladze, PhD/ Assistant professor
ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE GOVERNANCE INTEGRATION INTO MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROCESS: AGGREGATION APPROACH FOR GOVERNANCE PROCESS STAGES142 Raimonds Ernsteins, Dr.habil.paed.; Maris Ozolins, MEnv.sc.; Liga Biezina, MEnv.sc.; Janis Kaulins, Dr.geogr
MARKETING RISKS AND THEIR MANAGEMENT FOR COMPANY'S SUSTAINABILITY
CHALLENGES OF COMPLETING THE LAND REFORM: THE CASE OF KULDIGA MUNICIPALITY169 Anda Jankava, Dr. oec.; Klavs Svilpe, Mg.sc.ing

Evija Liepa-Hazeleja, Dr.math. / assist. prof18	30
SCIENTIFIC APPROACHES TO THE FORMATION OF GEO-INFORMATION SUPPORT FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND POST-WAR RESTORATION OF TERRITORIAL COMMUNITIES IN UKRAINE) 1 ∂1
RESIDENTS' PARTICIPATION IN THE DECISION-MAKING OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF MARUP	E 9
Ginta Kronberga, Dr.sc.soc; Edijs Upmalis, B.sc.soc.	99
POLICY-PLANNING INITIATIVES AND HYDROGEN APPLICATION FACILITATION PROJECTS IN LATVIA	9 19
GREEN METRICS: INTERNET OF THINGS BASED ECOLOGICAL MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN LIVING IN KYIV	20
THE CONCEPT OF BIO-REGIONS AND ITS RELEVANCE IN ACHIEVING GREEN GOALS	; 1 31
IMPACT OF MARKETING FACTORS ON CUSTOMER EOUITY	12
Jelena Salkovska, Dr.oec., prof.; Anda Batraga, Dr.oec., prof.; Jelizaveta Prilucka, Agnija Greizina, Mg.paed	ł2
ANALYSIS OF PUBLIC DEBT TRENDS IN LATVIA	;2
Dmitrijs Smirnovs, master of economics	52
SYSTEM-DYNAMIC APPROACH TO ASSESSING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: THE EXAMPLE OF THE USA	;9
Viktors Gonejenko Dr.sc. ing Leading Researcher Professor	:0
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor	59
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26	59 - 7
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 0F LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM	59 2 3
NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 25 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 26 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 IN LATVIA 26	59 7 5 8
NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 06 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26	59 57 58 58
NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 06 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 26 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; 27	59 7 5 8 8 7 9
NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 26 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 27 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; 27	59 7 5 8 8 9 '9
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor. 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY. 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 06 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 27 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; 27 NEWCOMER INTEGRATION IN THE RURAL AREAS 29 Liga Feldmane, PhD/ assistant professor; Zenija Kruzmetra, Dr.geogr./ associate professor; 29 29 29 29 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29 20 29	59 77 58 79 79 79 79 79 79 70 70 70
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 0F OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 27 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; Kristine Lece, Mg.math. 27 NEWCOMER INTEGRATION IN THE RURAL AREAS 29 Liga Feldmane, PhD/ assistant professor; Zenija Kruzmetra, Dr.geogr./ associate professor; Anete Tirmane, Mg.soc. 29 THE RESEARCH OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING: THE CASE 29 VIIma Kazlauskiene, Assoc.Prof., dr; Irena Klimaviciene, Lect.; Karolina Kukcinaviciute, Lect. 29	59 7 5 8 7 9 10 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19 19
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor. 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY. 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 26 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 27 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; Kristine Lece, Mg.math. 27 NEWCOMER INTEGRATION IN THE RURAL AREAS 29 Liga Feldmane, PhD/ assistant professor; Zenija Kruzmetra, Dr.geogr./ associate professor; Anete Tirmane, Mg.soc. 29 THE RESEARCH OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING: THE CASE 29 VIIma Kazlauskiene, Assoc.Prof., dr; Irena Klimaviciene, Lect.; Karolina Kukcinaviciute, Lect. 29 THE CONCEPT OF SOCIAL ECONOMY AND ITS CHALLENGES IN LATVIA. 30 Lasma Licite-Kurbe, Dr.oec., associate professor. 30	59 7 8 8 7 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9
Viktors Gopejenko, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor. 25 NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY 26 THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES 26 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM 26 Jana Bunkus, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane, Dr.sc.soc. 26 VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA. 27 Aleksandrs Dahs, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins, Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins, Dr.oec.; Kristine Lece, Mg.math. 27 NEWCOMER INTEGRATION IN THE RURAL AREAS 29 Liga Feldmane, PhD/ assistant professor; Zenija Kruzmetra, Dr.geogr./ associate professor; Anete Tirmane, Mg.soc. 25 THE RESEARCH OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING: THE CASE 29 Vilma Kazlauskiene, Assoc.Prof., dr; Irena Klimaviciene, Lect.; Karolina Kukcinaviciute, Lect. 25 THE CONCEPT OF SOCIAL ECONOMY AND ITS CHALLENGES IN LATVIA. 30 Lasma Licite-Kurbe, Dr.oec., associate professor. 30 Lasma Licite-Kurbe, Dr.oec., associate professor. 30 FROM BYTES TO BITES. DATA CAPITALISM AND FOOD DELIVERY BUSINESS IN EUROPE	59 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 7 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9

GOVERNANCE DEVELOPMENT: TOWARDS COMMUNICATION FRAME	42
FOR COLLABORATION PARTNERSHIPS	842
EU-UKRAINE AGRICULTURAL TRADE RELATIONS DURING THE 2022 WAR CRISIS	60 360
RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP3	<u>71</u>
ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC LOSSES OF THE AGRICULTURAL SECTOR OF UKRAINE	72
AS A RESULT OF RUSSIAN AGGRESSION	372
TRENDS IN AGRICULTURAL LAND PRICES IN POLAND AND IN THE EUROPEAN UNION3	81
Alina Danilowska, associate professor PhD hab	881
ANALYSIS OF FACTORS IN THE COMPETITIVENESS OF RURAL SCHOOLS IN LATGALE REGIO THE RESULTS OF AN EXPERT SURVEY	N: 91 391
BALTIC CORPORATE BOND MARKET AFTER COVID-2019 AND CAPITAL MARKETS UNION ACTIONS	02
STRATEGIC POSITIONING AND THE IMPORTANCE OF COMMUNICATION FOR STARTUPS	11
IN LATVIA	+11

CIRCULAR ECONOMY: CLIMATE CHANGE, ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECT, COOPERATION, SUPPLY CHAINS

NATURAL RESOURCE TAX AS AN INSTRUMENT FOR SUSTAINABLE ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE

Inguna Leibus¹, Dr.oec., professor; Luize Filipova²

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. To contribute to a more efficient use of resources and the transition to a circular economy by reducing the amount of landfill waste, environmental tax policies need to be well thought out. The research aims to assess the use of environmental taxes for fostering the circular economy. All EU Member States use taxes to solve environmental governance problems; however, the tax revenues as a percentage of GDP tend to decrease, which indicates that GDP growth outpaces an increase in taxes. Environmental taxes mainly consist of energy and transport taxes, while the proportion of pollution and resource taxes is relatively lower. To achieve environmental governance goals, both tax collection and tax relief are simultaneously used to contribute to waste and packaging management and reduce environmental impacts. Increasing tax rates alone is not enough to reduce the amount of landfill waste, and more attention should be paid to educating the population and increasing the role of local governments in sustainable environmental governance.

Key words: environmental governance, environmental taxes, natural resource tax, household waste.

JEL code: Q58, Q53

Introduction

Natural resources on the Earth are constrained, and because of economic activity, they tend to slowly deplete. In contrast, the number of people and the amount of waste in the world tend to increase. In recent years, the circular economy has received increasing attention worldwide, as it represents a way to overcome the current production and consumption pattern based on the ever-increasing use of resources and an increase in the amount of waste. The circular economy aims to increase the efficiency of resource use, with a special focus on urban and industrial waste to achieve a balance between the economy, the environment and society (Ghisellini et al., 2016).

Based on the research problem, the authors put forward a hypothesis that natural resource tax is one of the instruments in sustainable nature governance, yet it is not a sufficient one. The research aims to assess the use of environmental taxes for fostering the circular economy. Accordingly, the following specific research tasks were set: 1) to examine trends in environmental as well as pollution and resource tax revenues in Latvia and other EU Member States; 2) to analyse the distribution of environmental tax revenues and the changes therein in Latvia; 3) to analyse the impacts of natural resource tax on a decrease in the amount of landfill household waste in Latvia. The research employed the monographic method – a review of scientific literature – and a quantitative method – statistical analysis. The research covered a period from 2016 to 2021, while an analysis of household waste involved a period from 2006 to more accurately identify the trends.

Research results and discussion

Natural resources are consumed 1.7 times faster than nature can generate the resources. This is also evidenced by the "Earth Overshoot Day" – it is the day when the global population have used up all the resources intended for the year and borrowed the resources from the coming years; in 2020 it was 22 August, in 2022 – 28 July (Lin et al., 2021). This is one of the reasons why it is necessary to abandon the linear economic model and shift to the circular economy model. The basic elements of the circular economy are the reduction of the overall use of materials and the reuse of products by extending their life cycles through repairing, refurbishing, remanufacturing, recycling, and recovering the materials in the

¹ E-mail: inguna.leibus@lbtu.lv

² E-mail: luize.filipova@inbox.lv

production and use processes. In addition, the circular economy is operationalised at several levels: at the micro level they are products, companies and customers, at the meso level – eco-industrial parks and economic sectors, while at the macro level – the region, the country and beyond (Milios, 2021).

The transition to a circular economy is a complex process that requires extensive multi-level and multi-stakeholder engagement and could be facilitated by appropriate policy interventions. Given the role of a well-balanced set of policies that includes a variety of complementary policy instruments, the EU Circular Economy Action Plan (COM (2020) 98 final) includes a section about "getting the economics right" that encourages the broader application of economic instruments. This contributes to a comprehensive taxation system applied throughout the life cycle of a product, which includes a tax on raw materials and resources, reuse or repair tax relief and a tax at the end of the life cycle of a product (Milios, 2021).

When designing policy measures, natural resource tax is an important factor in supporting the implementation of circular economy measures, as the tax can provide a financial incentive for companies to adopt more sustainable business practices (Hondroyiannis et al., 2024). Most of the natural resource taxes imposed on damaging activities were not initially intended for this purpose but to increase the revenues for the government budget (Freire-Gonzalez et al., 2022). However, in recent decades, the application of natural resource tax has been aimed at correcting negative externalities, which force polluters to pay for creating negative impacts on the environment as damage to the public good (Vence, Lopez Perez, 2021). Environmental taxation is one of the most important instruments among many policy measures, as it acts as a "compulsory" tax on significant pollution such as sewage, waste, noise and waste to preserve the ecological environment. If the intensity of environmental tax collection is too low, it is not enough to realize the protection of the development of related industries (Hua, 2024). The authors agree with this conclusion because too high taxes can hinder the development of resource-intensive industries, as well as increase illegal activities in the use of resources, environmental pollution and waste disposal.

A circular economy taxation system is a comprehensive fiscal policy approach that targets each stage of the life cycle of a product through various policy interventions. It involves three life cycle stages: production, product use and waste management. Each stage uses a different taxation approach to more accurately reflect the desired resource efficiency outcome (Milios, 2021). Several economic instruments are used to implement the principles of the circular economy: taxes, tax relief and subsidies. The environmental taxation system consists of raw material resource tax, reuse or repair tax relief and waste tax at the end of the life cycle of a product. Milios suggests imposing a raw material resource tax at the production stage, which could be applied at the raw material extraction stage, as well as at the first industrial process and also at the final consumption stage. Taxing raw materials can increase demand for secondary materials if they are as easily available as primary materials. It is also important to set a proper tax rate to balance the price difference between unprocessed materials and secondary materials. At the second or product use stage, according to Milios, tax relief is needed for reuse or repair services, e.g. a reduced value-added tax rate for repairs could increase consumer desire to buy repair and maintenance services. The purpose of tax relief is to encourage reuse, thereby increasing the life cycle of products, which results in significant material and energy savings. At the final stage, the author proposes a waste hierarchy tax, which is progressive, i.e. it gradually decreases as landfilling decreases (Milios, 2021).

Landfill tax is widely used in EU Member States, which is of great importance in improving waste management practices in the Member States. This allows significant amounts of waste to be diverted from landfills to waste management following the principles of the waste management hierarchy, which is the main principle of EU waste management (Milios, 2021). The waste management hierarchy defines the prioritization of waste management options according to environmental and resource efficiency aspects: waste production prevention, preparations for reuse, recycling and other kinds of regeneration and disposal (Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament ..., 2008).

Across EU Member States, environmental tax revenues as a percentage of GDP vary significantly (Figure 1). In 2021, the lowest revenues were collected in Spain (1.8%), while the highest in Greece (3.9%), followed by Croatia and the Netherlands (3.1%). Among the Baltic States, the highest revenues were collected in Latvia (2.7%), followed by Estonia (2.3%), which was higher than the EU average (2.2%). In Lithuania, the revenues from environmental taxes were lower (1.9%). However, overall, the revenues from environmental taxes as a percentage of GDP tended to decrease in EU Member States from, on average, 2.5% in 2016 to 2.2% in 2021, as well as in the Baltic States: in Latvia (3.6% and 2.7%, respectively) and Estonia (3.0% and 2.3%), and only in Lithuania they were relatively constant (approximately 1.9%) (Eurostat, 2023). Overall, this trend shows that in most EU Member States, GDP growth outpaced an increase in the revenues from environmental taxes.



Source: authors' construction based on European Commission data

Fig. 1 Environmental tax revenues in EU Member States in 2016 and 2021, as a % of GDP

The proportion of environmental tax revenue in total tax revenue also varied widely across EU Member States. On average in the EU, the proportion decreased from 6.2% in 2016 to 5.5% in 2021, while in four Member States (Greece, Bulgaria, Croatia and Latvia) the environmental tax revenues made up more than 8% of the total tax revenue. However, the role of environmental taxes is less significant in economically advanced countries with higher GDP per capita. The lowest proportion of environmental taxes was reported in Luxembourg, Germany, Sweden, Spain and France, i.e. less than 5% of the total tax revenue (Eurostat, 2023).

Environmental taxes include not only resource and pollution taxes but also energy resource and vehicle taxes. The distribution of tax revenues also varies significantly across EU Member States. In 2021, the energy tax revenues as a % of GDP were the highest in Greece (3.1%), Poland (2.6%) and Bulgaria (2.5%). A relatively high proportion was reported also in Latvia (2.2%), which was higher than the EU average (1.8%). However, the proportion of vehicle taxes was higher in Slovenia (1.9%), Poland (1.8%) and also in Latvia (1.7%), which exceeded the EU average (1.1%).

The proportion of resource and pollution taxes was relatively low in all EU Member States, yet the differences between the Member States were significant (Figure 2). The highest revenues from the taxes as a % of GDP were reported in the Netherlands (0.434%), Malta (0.205%) and Hungary (0.201%). Latvia

(0.134%) was in fifth place, Estonia (0.133%) was in sixth place and Lithuania (0.093%) was in 10th place; however, in all the Baltic States it was higher than the EU average (0.079%). Environmental and pollution tax revenues as a % of GDP have been decreasing in the last few years in most Member States and also on average in the EU. Moreover, according to Eurostat data, the most significant decrease was reported in Estonia (from 0.301% in 2016 to 0.133% in 2021), and Latvia has surpassed its neighbouring countries because in Latvia, the proportion has increased (from 0.075% to 0.134%, respectively). The most significant increase in resource and pollution tax revenues as a % of GDP in 2021 compared with 2016 was reported in Greece, Latvia, Sweden and Cyprus, i.e. the increase outpaced GDP growth.







In absolute terms in Latvia, the total environmental tax revenue increased until 2018 (Table 1), while in 2019 it decreased by 8.4% or EUR 82.4 million, but then it gradually increased again. However, in 2021 it had not reached the 2017 and 2018 levels. The change in the proportion of tax revenues was more significant in recent years, i.e. the proportion of energy resource tax revenues tended to decrease (from 85.2% in 2016 to 81.9% in 2021); however, the proportion of pollution and resource tax revenues tended to increase (from 2.1% to 4.8%, respectively). Besides, the proportion of pollution and resource tax revenues tended to increase in the total tax revenue also tended to increase (from 0.24% to 0.43%, respectively), even though the proportion of environmental tax revenues tended to decrease overall (from 11.7% to 9.0%, respectively). This means that labour and consumption tax revenues increased faster than environmental tax revenues in Latvia.

Table 1

Indicator	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Energy resource tax revenues, million EUR	773.2	801.8	835.5	752.1	759.5	750.9
Transport tax revenues, million EUR	115.7	112.9	115.8	116.4	119.2	122.5
Pollution and resource tax revenues, million EUR	19.0	26.9	31.4	31.8	35.5	44.0
Changes in pollution and resource tax revenues compared with the previous year, %	x	41.6	16.7	1.2	11.8	23.8
Total environmental tax revenue, million EUR	907.9	941.5	982.7	900.3	914.2	917.4
Changes in total environmental tax revenues compared with the previous year, %	x	3.7	4.4	-8.4	1.5	0.3
Proportion of energy resource tax revenues, %	85.2	85.2	85.0	83.5	83.1	81.9
Proportion of transport tax revenues, %	12.7	12.0	11.8	12.9	13.0	13.4
Proportion of pollution and resource tax revenues, %	2.1	2.9	3.2	3.5	3.9	4.8
Proportion of environmental tax revenues in total tax revenue, %	11.7	11.2	10.9	9.6	9.8	9.0
Proportion of pollution and resource tax revenues in total tax revenue, %	0.24	0.32	0.35	0.34	0.38	0.43

Environmental tax revenues and their proportion in total tax revenue in Latvia

Source: authors' calculations based on Official statistics of Latvia data (2024a)

A faster increase in pollution and resource tax revenues is also expected in the future in Latvia. Amendments to the Natural Resources Tax Law stipulate an increase of tax rates and make new items taxable from 1 July 2024: tobacco product filters, textile products, wet wipes, balloons and other plastic-containing products (Amendments to the Natural Resources Tax..., 2023). As regards the extraction of natural resources, natural resource tax (NRT) rates were increased in 2024 and an increase is planned for 2026 as well.

In Latvia, the purpose of the NRT Law is to promote an economically efficient use of natural resources, limit environmental pollution, reduce the production and sale of environment-polluting products, contribute to the introduction of new, environment-friendly technologies, support the sustainable development of the national economy, as well as fund environmental protection measures (Natural Resources Tax..., 2005). Importantly, the transition to a circular economy could be facilitated by instruments that can interact, which requires a comprehensive policy framework. In Latvia, significant NRT relief is also granted to achieve environmental governance goals. This relief is an important instrument for the development and implementation of environmental policy goals, thereby providing a considerable incentive for introducing a waste and packaging management system for environmentally harmful goods and preserving a cleaner environment in the long term. The NRT relief system was created with a specific goal - to meet the obligations of Latvia regarding meeting the requirements of EU directives in the field of waste management and to implement the principle of extended producer responsibility (Ministry of Finance, 2022). The producer extended responsibility scheme is an aggregate of measures upon implementation of which a producer of goods bears financial or financial and organisational responsibility for efficient management of the waste of its goods and packaging placed on the market (Natural Resources Tax..., 2005).

In Latvia, the size of NRT relief increased every year, reaching EUR 266.26 million in 2021, which was EUR 229.9 million or six times more than the total NRT revenue in that year (Figure 3). The size of NRT relief also increased if expressed as a % of GDP (from 0.71% in 2016 to 0.79% in 2021).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 12-19 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.001



Source: authors' construction based on Ministry of Finance data, 2023. Fig. 3. Size of natural resource tax relief in Latvia in 2016-2021, mln. EUR, % of GDP

The Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Latvia states that NRT relief is effective because, in the last five years, more than 90% of the total amount of packaging or environmentally harmful product waste was managed through the extended producer responsibility system (Ministry of Finance, 2022). Thus, the goals of recycling and regeneration of waste packaging or environmentally harmful goods set in the relevant regulatory acts and the European Union directive stipulating that the regeneration level should be at least 60% were achieved, while Latvia already reached a rate of 65.2% in 2021 (Eurostat, 2023).

However, achieving the long-term goals of environmental governance also requires a continuous increase in taxes on environmentally harmful activities. To reduce the amount of landfill household waste, the NRT rate for waste disposal in Latvia has been increased every year throughout the period of analysis since 2016 and an increase is planned for the future as well. To assess the progress that has been made in this area, Figure 4 shows Official statistics of Latvia data for a longer period, i.e. from 2006. The data clearly indicate that the amount of waste produced tended to increase. It should be positively viewed that the amount of collected waste tended to increase. Moreover, since 2017 it has been larger than the amount of waste produced, which means that previously produced waste was also collected. Waste recycling, even though unbalanced, still shows an increasing trend, which allows the amount of landfill waste to be reduced as well. However, the amount of landfill household waste significantly decreased only in 2017, possibly owing to the doubling of the NRT rate from 12 EUR/t in 2016 to 25 EUR/t in 2017, as well as other measures, which involved increased waste sorting, education of the population and promotion of collective consciousness. In 2017, amendments to the Waste Management Law entered into force, which established stricter prerequisites for sorting household waste. In addition, the export of waste also increased from 229 thou. t in 2016 to 574 thou. t in 2017 or 2.5 times. The shutdown of the Liepaja metallurgical plant in 2016 had a significant impact on an increase in waste exports, as scrap metal was no longer processed in Latvia, but was sorted and exported to Turkey, Southeast Asian countries and China. All these measures together made it possible to significantly reduce the amount of landfill household waste from 558 thou. t in 2016 to 262 thou. t in 2017 or by 53%.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 12-19 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.001



Source: authors' construction based on Official statistics of Latvia data (2024b) and Natural Resources Tax Law

Fig. 4 Amounts of household waste (thou. t) and tax rates for waste disposal in Latvia (EUR/t)

However, a slight decrease in landfill waste continued in Latvia for only 3 years and, since 2020, it has increased again, despite the annual increase in the tax rate. This was also partially affected by a decrease in waste exports caused by the restrictions imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The NRT rate for household waste disposal was significantly increased from 1.06 EUR/t in 2006 to 110 EUR/t in 2024, and an increase in the rate by 10 EUR/t per year is also planned for the following years. As the NRT rate increases, the waste management tariff also increases and, consequently, the interest of households and companies is increased both in reducing the amount of waste produced, in sorting waste and reducing environmental pollution, as well as in introducing new environment-friendly technologies into the companies, and most importantly, in reducing the amount of landfill waste. Increasing tax rates on natural resources contributes to circular economy policies that observe the principles of reuse, reduction and recycling; as a result, natural resources and energy are consumed less, and waste recycling is increased.

However, increasing the NRT rate alone does not give a sufficient result, and more attention should be paid to the education of the population, especially the young generation, as well as increased fines for not sorting waste. Besides, as shown in Figure 4, the amounts of both produced and collected waste tended to increase, whereas the amount of recycled waste did not increase as fast.

For better environmental governance in Latvia, changes are also being planned in the current distribution of NRT revenues related to natural resource extraction and environmental pollution, including waste disposal, between the national and local government basic budgets. Of the total tax revenue related to household waste disposal, 60% goes to the national basic budget and 40% to the budgets of local governments in whose territory the waste is landfilled. In 2025, however, the above-mentioned distribution of budgets is going to change, and 50% will go to the national government, 30% to local governments and 20% to municipalities included in the respective waste management region (Natural Resources Tax..., 2005). Besides, with the latest amendments to the NRT law, local governments have more responsibility for waste management, as well as the law clarifies the purposes on which the local governments can spend NRT revenue, thereby increasing the role of municipalities in sustainable environmental governance.

Conclusions

1) According to the scientific literature, environmental taxes are one of the instruments that promote sustainable environmental governance and the transition to a circular economy.

2) All EU Member States use tax revenues to solve their environmental governance problems. In 2021, the total tax revenue spent on this purpose was on average 2.2% of GDP in the EU and 2.7% of GDP in Latvia; however, the proportion tended to decrease, which indicated that GDP growth outpaced an increase in tax revenue.

3) Environmental taxes mainly consist of energy resource and transport taxes, and the proportion of pollution and resource taxes is relatively lower – in 2021, the EU average was 0.079%. However, the proportion of the taxes increases every year. Significantly higher pollution and resource taxes were in the Netherlands (0.434%), Latvia (0.134%) was in fifth place among EU Member States and in first place among the Baltic States.

4) In 2021 compared with 2016 in Latvia, pollution and resource tax rates have been increased several times, the revenue from the taxes has increased more than 2.3 times, and their proportion in total tax revenue has also increased.

5) To achieve the environmental governance goals, both NRT collection and NRT relief are simultaneously used to contribute to waste and packaging management and reduce environmental impacts.

6) Increasing the NRT rate alone is not enough to reduce the amount of landfill waste, and more attention should be paid to educating the population and increasing the role of local governments in sustainable environmental governance.

Bibliography

- Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain Directives. Retrieved from: https://eur-https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098
- 2. European Commission (2023). Retrieved from: https://taxation-customs.ec.europa.eu/taxation-1/economicanalysis-taxation/data-taxation-trends_en
- Freire-Gonzalez, J., Martinez-Sanchez, V., & Puig-Ventosa, I. (2022). Tools for a circular economy: Assessing waste taxation in a CGE multi-pollutant framework. *Waste Management*, 139, 50-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2021.12.016
- 4. Ghisellini, P., Cialani, C., & Ulgiati, S. (2016). A review on circular economy: the expected transition to a balanced interplay of environmental and economic systems. *Journal of Cleaner production*, *114*, 11-32.
- Hondroyiannis, G., Sardianou, E., Nikou, V., Evangelinos, K., & Nikolaou, I. (2024). Circular economy and macroeconomic performance: Evidence across 28 European countries. *Ecological Economics*, 215, 108002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2023.108002
- Hua, L. (2024). The impact of environmental taxation on the structure and performance of industrial symbiosis networks: An agent-based simulation study, *Heliyon*. Retrieved from: https://doiorg.ezproxy.llu.lv/10.1016/j.heliyon.2024.e25675
- 7. Lin, D., Wambersie, L., & Wackernagel, M. (2021). Estimating the Date of Earth Overshoot Day 2022. Nowcasting the World's Footprint & Biocapacity for, 1-8.
- 8. Milios, L. (2021). Towards a circular economy taxation framework: Expectations and challenges of implementation. *Circular Economy and Sustainability*, 1-22.
- 9. Ministry of Finance (2023) Tax Relief. Retrieved from: https://www.fm.gov.lv/lv/nodoklu-atvieglojumi
- 10. Natural Resources Tax Law (2005): Law of the Republic of Latvia
- 11. Official statistics of Latvia data (2024a) Retrieved from:
- https://data.stat.gov.lv/pxweb/en/OSP_PUB/START__ENV__VI__VIN/VIN010
- 12. Official statistics of Latvia data (2024b) Retrieved from: https://data.stat.gov.lv/pxweb/en/OSP_OD/OSP_OD__vide_geogr__vide/VIG040.px/
- 13. Vence, X., Lopez Perez, S.D.J. (2021) Taxation for a Circular Economy: New Instruments, Reforms, and Architectural Changes in the Fiscal System, *Sustainability*, 13(8), 4581. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084581

TRANSITIONING TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE IN THE BALTIC COUNTRIES – STRATEGIC AND REGULATORY FRAMEWORK ASSESSMENT

Diana Liva¹, PhD student, MBA; **Andra Zvirbule**², prof., Dr.oec.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. The agricultural sector in the Baltics has undergone significant transformations since gaining independence from the Soviet Union, transitioning from centrally planned systems to market-oriented approaches; and now, initially focused on increasing productivity and achieving self-sufficiency, agricultural policies in the Baltic countries has shifted towards environmental sustainability and climate resilience, aligning with the objectives of the European Green Deal. However, transitioning from conventional farming practices to more sustainable methods presents challenges for policymakers and farmers alike, necessitating a thorough examination of existing regulations and their effectiveness in promoting environmentally friendly practices. This study aims to analyse the strategic and legal aspects of sustainable agriculture in the Baltic countries, with a focus on field crop production. Two main tasks have been formulated: first, to identify key strategic and legal factors influencing sustainable agriculture in alignment with the EU strategies, and second, to conduct a case study investigating these factors' impact on sustainable agriculture in the Baltic States, particularly how they align with the EU sustainability goals.

The conclusions drawn from the analysis emphasize the importance of sustainable land management practices in mitigating environmental impacts and fostering agricultural resilience. While Estonia demonstrates average to good ratings across soil, water, air, and biodiversity factors, Latvia and Lithuania face challenges, particularly in soil condition and air pollution. However, it is concluded, that despite the progress, there is an urgent need for further evaluation and adaptation to address specific challenges, such as soil degradation, biodiversity loss, and increasing emissions from agricultural activities.

Key words: sustainable land management, Baltics, policy, regulations, agriculture.

JEL code: Q18, Q53

Introduction

The three Baltic countries - Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania - have undergone significant transformations in their agricultural sectors since gaining independence from the Soviet Union in the early 1990s. Following decades of centralised planning and collective farming under the Soviet rule (Federal Research Division, 1996), these nations embarked on a path of market liberalisation, privatisation, and integration into European and global markets. Initially, their agricultural policies aimed at dismantling collective farms, privatising land and enterprises, and adhering to the European Union (EU) standards. The focus was on increasing productivity, modernising infrastructure, and achieving food self-sufficiency. However, the introduction of the European Green Deal in 2019 marked a shift, setting ambitious goals for climate neutrality, biodiversity conservation, and sustainable food systems by 2050. This recalibrated the Baltic countries' agricultural policies towards greater emphasis on environmental sustainability, climate resilience, and ecosystem conservation. Consequently, policymakers now strive to align their agricultural strategies with the Green Deals objectives, investing in measures to promote biodiversity, reduce carbon emissions, and enhance agricultural resilience. However, policymakers also find themselves at a crossroads due to the need for many farmers, who previously operated under the Soviet-era practices and switched to a more productive approach in the following two decades, to transition to new, more sustainable methods with the new EU Strategies (Zalmane, 2024). This significant shift in farming practices has sparked discussions and distrust within the system, further complicating policy making efforts.

In this context, understanding the effectiveness of existing regulations in promoting sustainable agriculture in the Baltic countries is crucial. There is a need to investigate the implementation and

¹ E-mail: Diana.Rudava@gmail.com

² E-mail: Andra.Zvirbule@lbtu.lv

enforcement of these regulations, identifying opportunities and challenges in aligning agricultural policies with the goals of the European Green Deal.

Therefore, **the aim** of the study is to analyse the strategic and legal aspects of sustainable agriculture in order to determine their effectiveness in fostering the transition towards environmentally friendly farming practices, **focusing on field crop production**. To achieve the aim, two **tasks** have been set:

1) to identify the main strategic and legal aspects affecting sustainable agriculture in the Baltics according to the EU strategies;

2) to carry out a case study, where the main strategic and legal factors impacting sustainable agriculture in the Baltic States will be investigated, paying particular attention to how they align with the EU's sustainability goals towards agriculture.

Research results and discussion

1. Countries' comparison and description of the EU strategic and regulatory base

1.1. The Baltic countries' characteristics

All three Baltic countries - Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania - are located in the temperate climate zone, where the climate is significantly influenced by the Baltic Sea. Despite the fact that they are characterized by a relatively short vegetation season, as well as a high level of humidity in the hottest months of the year and distinctly cold winters (HELCOM, 2021), agriculture is a widely developed industry in the Baltic region. Of the total land area, agricultural land in the Baltics occupies approximately half of the total area, while the other half is occupied by forests. The fact that agricultural production plays a significant role is also shown by the percentage within the gross domestic product, where, for example, Latvia ranks first among the countries of the EU with a share of 5%, where the average for the EU-27 in 2022 is 2.2% (Global economy, 2024). Also, an important indicator is that, despite the fact that the total agricultural land in Estonia and Lithuania has been slightly decreasing in recent years (Table 1), the arable land areas have a tendency to increase, which indicates an active acquisition of agricultural land directly for production, which is expected to be influenced by the establishment of uncultivated land for production, as well as the use of perennial grass areas in the production of field crops.

Table 1

	Estonia			Latvia			Lithuania		
	2015	2020	2022	2015	2020	2022	2015	2020	2022
Utilised agricultural area (UAA), thous. ha	993.6	975.3	986.2	1884.8	1969.0	1970.4	3006.0	2942.8	2911.3
Arable land, thous. ha	669.7	694.4	707.3	1229.8	1333.5	1356.7	2172.0	2249.4	2292.5
Organic area of UUA, thous. ha	155.8	220.8	231.0	231.7	291.2	297.0	213.6	235.5	271.3
Organic area of UUA, %	15.7	22.4	23.4	12.3	14.8	15.1	7.1	8.0	9.3
GDP from Agriculture, %	2.9	2.1	2.5	3.5	4.0	5.0	3.4	3.5	4.0
Proportion of persons employed in the agri sector, %	3.9	3.0	2.6	7.9	7.2	6.8	9.1	5.7	5.5
Number of farms	**	11369	**	**	68983	**	**	132076	**

Main indicators of agriculture in the Baltic countries

Source: author's construction based on Statistics Estonia; Official statistics of Latvia; Official statistics portal of Lithuania ** no data

Indeed, arable farming serves as the cornerstone of agriculture in the Baltic countries, where cereals, including winter and spring wheat, barley, and oats, dominate approximately half of the cultivated land.

Over the past two decades, there has been a notable increase in the cultivation of winter and spring oilseed rape. However, certain regions, particularly in Estonia and Latvia, face challenging soil properties and climatic conditions, leading to a decline in oilseed rape cultivation in specific regions. Besides field crops, the cultivation of vegetables, potatoes, and fruits and berries also holds significance in the agricultural landscape.



Source: author's calculations based on Statistics Estonia; Official statistics of Latvia; Official statistics portal of Lithuania

Fig. 1. Structure of crop area in the Baltic States in 2020

Beside arable crop cultivation, also livestock farming plays a pivotal role in agricultural sector in Baltic states, encompassing dairy farming, pork and beef production, and poultry farming. However, for the scope of this discussion, the focus is on arable crop cultivation, leaving livestock farming beyond current exploration. But it is crucial to note that both livestock and arable crop cultivation contribute to different emissions factors (Latvia's Informative Inventory..., 2022). It is essential to research emission factors, because they allow to identify which agricultural activities contribute most to greenhouse gas emissions, guiding efforts to reduce environmental impact (Table 2).

Table 2

	Estonia		Lat	via	Lithuania		
	2015	2020	2015	2020	2015	2020	
NH₃, total, Gg	10.94	9.65	16.08	15.96	39.75	39.61	
- NH3, agri, %	93.12	93.46	86.22	86.24	95.87	95.59	
NMVOC, total	21.52	23.89	35.74	35.78	50.20	45.94	
- NMVOC, agri, %	21.62	19.04	23.56	22.63	27.97	25.95	
NO _x , total, Gg	30.63	23.24	37.76	32.86	57.48	52.67	
- NO _x , agri, %	12.93	15.65	18.51	21.19	18.13	21.02	
PM _{2.5} , total, Gg	6.65	5.14	16.47	16.82	9.20	7.30	
- PM2.5, agri, %	4.16	4.89	2.74	2.91	4.84	5.05	
SO ₂ , total, Gg	36.17	11.08	3.59	3.52	15.32	11.27	
- SO ₂ , agri, %	0.35	0.80	6.73	9.36	0.80	1.15	

Emission factors in the Baltic States and their share from agricultural activity

Source: European Environment Agency's database

Although in general, the data show that emissions tend to decrease in the examined countries since 2015, agriculture is still one of the main emitters among all sectors, where their increase can be

observed. The main agricultural air polluters, such as methane (CH_4) and nitrous oxide (N_2O) are greenhouse gases that significantly contribute to climate change. These emissions primarily stem from livestock farming, manure management, and fertilizer use in crop production.



■ Livestock ■ Agricultural soils ■ Liming ■ Urea application Source: author's construction based on European Environment Agency's database

Fig. 2. Structure of emission sources in agricultural sector in the Baltic States in 2020

In 2020, in all three countries all the emissions from agricultural sector are mostly divided between livestock and agricultural soil management. Comparing agricultural emission accounts from 2015 to 2020, it can be observed, that the overall sector's emissions have increased in Estonia and Latvia, but declined in Lithuania (Table 3).

Table 3

		Estonia		Latvia			Lithuania				
	2015	2020	%	2015	2020	%	2015	2020	%		
Livestock	828.91	878.84	+6.0	1152.98	1123.83	-2.5	2382.12	2117.73	-11.1		
Agricultural soils	621.93	675.03	+8.5	972.34	1055.61	+8.6	2094.01	2285.74	+9.2		
Liming	9.04	15.73	+74.0	19.94	61.87	+210.3	19.25	38.18	+98.3		
Urea	0.03	0.13	+378.3	6.21	9.10	+46.6	42.26	66.10	+56.4		
Total	1459.91	1569.74	+7.5	2151.47	2250.41	+4.6	4537.64	4507.75	-0.7		

Changes in emission factors from the agricultural sector in the Baltic States comparing 2015 and 2020, (Gg CO₂ equivalent)

Source: author's construction based on European Environment Agency's database

Since at least one half of the emissions in the entire Baltic region comes from the management of agricultural land and, assuming that these emissions will continue to increase as a result of both – arable land increase and farm productivity, it is essential to understand the most effective approach how to lower total emissions from such agricultural operations.

As members of the EU, the Baltic countries are subject to the EU regulations and directives governing agricultural practices. Compliance with EU standards is essential to ensure access to EU funding, maintain market access, and uphold environmental and food safety standards, where ensuring alignment between national agricultural policies and EU regulations holds paramount importance for fostering the long-term sustainability and competitiveness of the Baltic agricultural sector. Additionally, evaluating the implementation of sustainable land management practices (SLM) across various EU strategic and regulatory frameworks provides valuable insights into the effectiveness of policy measures, where such assessment facilitates comparisons between national strategies and EU goals, showing how effectively countries are progressing towards achieving their sustainability targets and enhancing the overall resilience of their agricultural systems.

1.2. EU strategic and regulatory framework

In the continuation of this subsection, the EU's strategic and regulatory framework for sustainable land management will be examined, where the cornerstone strategy for Europe, the **European Green Deal**, introduced by the European Commission in December 2019, stands as the EU's principal strategy for achieving climate neutrality and advancing sustainable development. This initiative aims to reshape the EU into a more environmentally conscious and resilient economy, while also upholding principles of social equity and economic prosperity. At its core, the European Green Deal strives to curb greenhouse gas emissions, foster renewable energy sources, transition to a circular economy, safeguard biodiversity, and promote sustainable practices in agriculture and food systems (European commission, 2019) (Fig. 3). It includes measures for various sectors such as energy, construction, finance, transportation, agriculture, where, considering SLM within agricultural scope, most relevant strategies and targets for the sector comes from five different key actions (Fig. 4).



Source: author's construction based on (European Commission., 2019)

Fig. 3. The main directions of the European Green Deal and their relevant strategies for agricultural sector

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 20-31 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.002



Fig. 4. The European Green Deal strategies relevant for SLM, common aims and promoted agricultural practices

The EU pursues its set goals through a mix of regulatory frameworks, financial incentives, research, and partnerships, with the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) serving as a primary tool (European commission, 2023). CAP integrates mandatory measures – directives, regulations, and voluntary measures to advance sustainability in agriculture and land management across Member States (Fig. 5).

Manda	atory	Volur	ntary
No separate financial support	Fi	nancial support under CA	νP
Statutory management requirements (SMRs) Regulation on plant	Good agricultural and environmental conditions (GAECs) GAEC 1: Maintenance of permanent grassland	Eco-schemes (optional - covering at least 2 aims): reduction of GHG from agricultural practices	Agri-environmetnal climate measures (AECMs) (optional - designed to incentivise
(Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009) Directive to achieve a	GAEC 2: Protection of wetlands and peatlands GAEC 3: Prohibition of	and carbon sequestration climate change adaptation	farmers to adopt practices that contribute to environmental sustainability and goes beyond standard
sustainable use of pesticides (Directive 2009/128/EC) Directive establishing	GAEC 4: Establishment of buffer strips along watercourses	protection or improvement of water quality	agricultural practices in terms of their environmental benefits or climate change
a framework for Community action in the field of water policy (Directive 2000/60/EC)	GAEC 5: Tillage management to reduce soil degradation	prevention of soil degradation and improvement of soil fertility	mitigation) <u>Examples:</u>
Directive on the use of nitrates (Council Directive 91/676/EEC)	GAEC 7: Crop rotation on arable land	protection of biodiversity, maintenance and creation of landscape	 Organic farming; Ecological Focus Areas (EFAs) Habitat Restoration
Directive on the conservation of wild birds (Directive 2009/147/EC)	GAEC 8: Minimum share of arable land devoted to non productiye surfaces and	productive areas; actions for a sustainable and reduced use of	and Landscape Conservation • Agroforestry • Carbon farming
Directive on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora (Council Directive 92/43/EEC)	elements GAEC 9: Ban on converting or plowing ecologically sensitive permanent grassland on Natura 2000 sites	pesticides actions to enhance animal welfare or combat antimicrobial resistance.	 Water Management and Conservation Precision agriculture
	Natura 2000 sites		

Common Agricultural policy (CAP)

Source: author's construction based on (European Parliament..., 2021)

Fig. 5. Framework of the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP)

The CAP consists of several parts where, in order to receive more significant financial support, it is necessary to integrate more agricultural practices in line with the EU's goals. For example **statutory management requirements** (SMRs) are mandatory for every farmer nevertheless they receive the financial support under CAP or not, and SMRs include such measures which are binding for every farmer who operates in the sector. Most of the time requirements in directives and regulation are implemented in national legislation. If farmer decides to apply for financial support under CAP, he/she must correspond to *conditionality* or, in other words, respect a set of basic rules. Conditionality includes the previous mentioned SMRs and also **good agricultural and environmental conditions** (GAECs). In order to receive even more significant financial support, every Member State, according to the guidelines, develops voluntary measures, where, if farmer corresponds to SMRs and GAECs, it is possible to implement one or various different **eco-schemes** and **agri-environmental climate measures** (AECMs).

CAP is one of the oldest and most significant policies of the EU, having been established in 1962 (Gabel, 2024). It is usually designed for exact time period, where the current CAP is designed for 7 years period – 2 transitional years from 2021 to 2022 and the main period from 2023-2027 prioritizing a more democratic approach, ensuring that each Member State can tailor it to their specific needs and goals (European Commission, 2018). This design empowers countries to implement policies that resonate with their agricultural sectors while fostering greater participation and decision-making at the local level. Additionally, the CAPs flexibility allows for the adaptation of strategies to diverse regional contexts, promoting a more inclusive and responsive agricultural policy framework across the EU.

It is essential to evaluate how the Baltic States, unified since their independence from the USSR, individually implement CAP and its alignment with their sustainability goals, alongside assessing how local legislation supports these endeavours.

2. Case study and comparative analysis

The case study and comparative analysis will be carried out based on both the Commissions national evaluation and recommendations for the development of the CAP, where, by comparing the recommendations with the comparison of the countries discussed in the first chapter, the achievements and shortcomings of each country in the implementation of sustainable practices will be evaluated, as well as the CAP developed by all three Baltic States, considering also the implemented regulations in the national legislation that correspond to the legal basis of the SMRs.

2.1. Risk factors' assessment

European Commission, in the end of the 2020, came up with recommendations for CAP implementation for every Member State (European Commission, 2020), where each country was analysed in depth taking into account various objectives – food security, environment and climate change actions, socio-economic and rural area strengthening, knowledge sharing and innovation fostering. Based on this evaluation and observing country characteristics, risk factors that are defined in connection with sustainable land management were identified, as well as their current state was evaluated (Fig. 6). Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 20-31 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.002



Source: author's construction

Fig. 6. Assessment of thematic sectors in relation to the fulfilment of climate and environmental requirements in the Baltic States

Taking into account the characteristics of the countries and the analysis of the Commission's recommendations, four sectors exposed to risks from soil management were distinguished. The direct impact can be observed on the condition of the soil, which secondarily affects the quality of water and air, as a result also affecting the overall biodiversity. The soil condition on average is weak, which is influenced by intensive tillage, where conventional practices are used in 88% of arable land in Lithuania, 91% in Latvia, while a more positive indicator is in Estonia - 54%, respectively. This is also reflected in the indicators of soil organic matter and CO₂ content in the soil - in Latvia and Lithuania it is below the EU average 43.1 g/kg CO₂ (LT – 25 g/kg CO₂, LV – 36 g/kg CO₂), while in Estonia it is higher – 51 g/kg CO₂. In addition, it is necessary to improve soil coverage in winter - in Estonia there are about 28% of soils without coverage in the winter period, while in Latvia 30% and in Lithuania at least half of the areas. This, in turn, significantly affects the leaching and run-off of nutrients, polluting water resources, which can be observed as nitrate pollution in water bodies, however, compared to the EU average, these risks are considered low in the Baltics, with the exception of a slightly increased risk in Estonia, where increased eutrophication is observed in the Baltic sea coastline and is characterized as a result of polluting activities. Soil coverage, reduced tillage and crop rotation are also solutions to **air** pollution, where the main emission factors are ammonia and nitrous oxide from tillage and intensive use of organic and inorganic fertilizers. Currently, in compliance with the binding emission reduction targets, Estonia fulfils its obligations, while Latvia and Lithuania are slightly behind; however, taking into account the forecasts, the modelled development shows that in the long term, as productivity increases in all countries, emissions tend to increase, which means that attention must be paid to the risk mitigation. As a result of the listed factors, biodiversity also needs to be significantly improved - the bird index in the countries has significantly decreased, as well as the state of natural habitats, which, mainly from the perspective of soil management, is affected by intensive soil cultivation, transformation of grasslands, also wetlands and peatlands, so as a solution are mentioned the management and return of such areas, as well as the increase of natural landscape elements, especially in intensively managed regions.

2.2. Cross-country analysis

The CAPs of all three countries (European commission, 2023), as well as their national targets and regulations (Riigikogu, 2019; Republic of Latvia, 2014; Order on the..., 2012), were used for the cross-country analysis. First of all, when evaluating the national level legislation, all countries have integrated binding directives under SMR measures, which include restrictions on the use of both synthetic and organic fertilizers, especially by introducing a calendar restriction, where it is forbidden to spread organic fertilizers during the winter period, on average from the end of November to the middle of March, as well as use synthetic fertilizers on frozen or too wet soil. All countries have also included a limit for

applying up to 170 kg ha⁻¹ N per year with organic fertilizers. Similarly, in all countries, a Nitrate Vulnerable Zone (NVZ) has been determined, where in Estonia and Latvia it is in part of the territory, but in Lithuania it has been established in the entire territory of the country, thus forcing the agricultural sector to pay special attention to activities leading to nitrate pollution.

Countries' total CAP funding for environmental and climate goals is in line with the recommendations of the European Commission, where in most cases the minimum mark is exceeded (Fig. 7).

		EE	L	V	LT	GAECs	ESTONIA	LATVIA	LITHUANIA
Environ	nental					GAEC 1: Maintenance of permanent grassland	29.05 %	24.64 %	25.83 %
objective rural dev	s under velopment	40	4	4	40	GAEC 2: Protection of wetlands and peatlands	from 2024	from 2025	from 2024
(min 35)	%)					GAEC 3: Prohibition of stubble burning	included	included	included
Eco-sche under di payment	emes rect s	28	2	6	25	GAEC 4: Establishment of buffer strips along watercourses	3 m and around irrigation ditches	3 m	3 m
(min 25)	/0)	% 0	f EU F	undi	ng	GAEC 5: Tillage management to reduce soil degradation	included	included	included
						GAEC 6: Minimum soil cover	50%	55-65%	55-65%
						GAEC 7: Crop rotation on arable land	included	included	included
Basline 2020, %	22.	.4	14.8		8.0	GAEC 8: Minimum share of arable land devoted to non productive surfaces and elements	4%, 3% if other measures	4%	4%, 3% if other measures
CAP tar; 2027, %	get 23.	.3	18.8	1	2.8	GAEC 9: Ban on converting or plowing ecologically sensitive	included	included	included
Nationa target 20.	1_{30} , N/	A	20.0	1	5.0	2000 sites			
%	.,					 <u>Additional:</u>		included	not included
	9/	o of	organio	e are	a	GAEC 10: Drainage system maintenance	not included	included	not included

Source: author's construction based on (European commision, 2023)

Fig. 7. The proportion of the EU funding distribution in the Baltic States and indicators of organic target areas Source: author's construction based on (European commision, 2023)

Fig. 8. GAEC requirements in the Baltic States

When evaluating GAEC measures, all three countries have behaved relatively similarly, choosing the same categories of measures and/or derogations. They have a goal of a proportion of grass in the range of 21 to 30%, national regulations have included a ban on burning straw residues, there are measures to limit tillage on slopes, a requirement for crop rotation has been introduced, as well as a ban on ploughing in Natura 2000 areas. The GAEC 2 measure will be implemented until the mapping of such areas will be developed, as well as the GAEC 6 requirement, compared to other EU member states, is lower than 80% due to short vegetation period and Nordic location. Estonia has introduced an additional requirement for buffer strips, while Latvia has adhered to the 4% limit in the introduction of landscape elements, and has also introduced an additional GAEC 10 requirement for the maintenance of drainage systems (Fig. 8).

When evaluating national goals regarding organic agriculture, a positive mark is that all countries have set more ambitious goals at the national level in relation to the Commission's set target (Fig. 7). However, when evaluating the Baltic States Eco scheme and Agri-environment and climate measures, it can be seen that Estonia, despite the fact that it has the highest indicator in terms of organic areas, has planned support measures for both conversion and maintenance of already existing areas in both measures. Lithuania has not established a support system for the transition to organic farming under the AECC measures, but has maintained support for existing organic areas. In contrast, Latvia has implemented support measures for transition areas and certified areas only under eco-schemes (Fig. 9; Fig. 10). Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 20-31 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.002

Eco-schemes	ESTONIA	LATVIA	LITHUANIA
In total	5	6	9
• relevant to SLM	4	5	6
Fertilisation	included	included	included
Soil conservation practices	included	included	included
Organic farming	included	not included	included
Landscape and biodiversity	included	included	included
Wetlands and peatlands	not included	not included	included
Grassland and grazing	not included	included	included
Precision agriculture	not included	included	not included

Source: author's construction based on (European commision, 2023).

Fig. 9. Implemented Eco-schemes in the Baltic States according to their thematic purpose

Agri-environment-climate commitments (AECC)	ESTONIA	LATVIA	LITHUANIA
In total	12	12	6
 relevant to SLM 	7	5	3
Fertilisation and Soil amendement	included	included	included
Soil management	included	not included	not included
Crop rotation diversification	included	not included	not included
Landscape	included	included	not included
Water management	included	included	not included
Grassland and grazing	included	included	included
Precision agriculture	not included	not included	not included
Organic farming	included	included	included

Source: author's construction based on (European commision, 2023).

Fig. 10. Implemented Agri-environment and climate measures in the Baltic States according to their thematic purpose

Evaluating measures implemented by countries through Ecoschemes and Agri-environment and climate measures, it can be seen that sustainable soil management and relevant practices are an essential part of most measures – in Ecoschemes they are included in almost every measure, while in agri-environment measures, judging according to the total number, such practices are included in at least half of them. Looking at the focus of each country, it can be seen that there is a relatively small orientation towards precise agricultural technology support, which could be explained by the fact that such practices are resourceful, and the countries have not implemented strict measures for the restoration of wetlands and peatlands, which could be explained by the already mentioned lack of mapping within GAEC 2 measure.

In addition, by analysing the set priorities with the previously discussed risk factors (Fig. 6), it can be concluded that Estonia's overall indicators are optimal and, taking into account that there is a tendency in pollution increasing from soil management, as well as the reduction of biodiversity associated with this risk, the introduced measures are considered optimal, since most of the measures related to soil cultivation have been implemented, except for the support for precision technologies, which could, however, significantly improve integrated nutrient management in the long term, which is one of the priorities within the CAP. In the case of Lithuania, a somewhat opposite trend is observed, where the greatest focus is on Ecoschemes, still including measures related to biodiversity. Taking into account that in Lithuania the crop sector is the most intensive within the Baltic background and active production takes place there, as well as the risk factors are soil and air, while biodiversity is satisfactory, the approach with a focus on Ecoschemes is rational, however, here support for precise technologies could address nutrient targeted supply where needed (Patel et al., 2023). Finally, Latvia has maintained a middle path, introducing both Ecoschemes and agro-environment targeted measures, which clearly coincide with the risk factors, which are soil and biodiversity. And although a moderate approach has been introduced, evaluating the Commission's recommendations, which were focused on crop rotation and wetland and peatland management, these goals are not reflected in the measures.

Conclusions

1) The agricultural sector significantly contributes to the economies of the Baltic countries, with Latvia ranking the first among the EU countries in terms of the agricultural share of GDP (2022 – 5%), thus highlighting its importance within the region.

2) Even though there has been a slight decrease in emissions since 2015, it is forecasted that with productivity increase, emissions from the agricultural sector, particularly methane, ammonia, and

nitrous oxide, will remain a concern and will continue to increase, thus contributing to climate change and environmental degradation

3) The implementation of sustainable land management practices is defined as one of the most essential approach for mitigating environmental impact and fostering agricultural resilience, with a focus on reducing emissions, enhancing biodiversity, and improving soil health.

4) The European Green Deal and the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) serve as crucial frameworks for guiding sustainability efforts in the Baltic countries, emphasizing the need for alignment between the national agricultural policies and EU regulations to achieve long-term sustainability goals.

5) When evaluating the natural risks related to soil cultivation and agricultural production in four different sectors - soil, water, air and biodiversity, Estonia has an average to good rating in all factors, while in Latvia weaknesses are soil condition and biodiversity, and in Lithuania – soil condition and air pollution.

6) While progress has been made in integrating sustainability measures into agricultural policies, there is a need for further evaluation and adaptation to address specific challenges, such as soil degradation, biodiversity loss, and emissions reduction, which has a negative tendency to increase especially from agricultural land management.

Bibliography

- 1. European Commission. (2018). Modernising and simplifying the Common Agricultural Policy. Retrieved from: https://commission.europa.eu/document/download/c6cf904f-d917-49f2-a488-0d3754b734ce_en?filename=budget-may2018-modernising-cap_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2019). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the European Council, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions — The European Green Deal (COM(2019) 640 final, 11.12.2019).
- European Commission. (2020). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Recommendations to the Member States as regards their strategic plan for the Common Agricultural Policy (COM(2020) 846 final, 18.12.2020). Brussels.
- European Commission. (2023). Mapping and analysis of CAP strategic plans Assessment of joint efforts for 2023-2027. Chartier, O.(editor), Folkeson Lillo, C.(editor), Publications Office of the European Union. Retrieved from: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2762/71556
- European Commission. (2023). REPORT FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL Summary of CAP Strategic Plans for 2023-2027: joint effort and collective ambition (COM(2023) 707 final, Brussels, 23.11.2023).
- 6. European Parliament and Council of the European Union. (2021). Regulation (EU) 2021/2115 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 2 December 2021 establishing rules on support for strategic plans to be drawn up by Member States under the common agricultural policy (CAP Strategic Plans) and financed by the European Agricultural Guarantee Fund (EAGF) and by the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development (EAFRD) and repealing Regulations (EU) No 1305/2013 and (EU) No 1307/2013.
- 7. Federal Research Division, Library of Congress. (1996). "Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania: Country Studies (1st ed.)." Walter R. Iwaskiw (Ed.). Area handbook series, Washington, D.C: Library of Congress. pp. 113. ISSN 1057-5294.
- 8. Gabel, M., J. (2024). European Union. Encyclopedia Britannica. Retrieved from: https://www.britannica.com/topic/European-Union
- 9. Global economy. (2024). GDP share of Agriculture Country rankings. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobaleconomy.com/rankings/Share_of_agriculture/European-union/
- 10. HELCOM. (2021). "Climate Change in the Baltic Sea. 2021 Fact Sheet". Baltic Sea Environment Proceedings. Retrieved from: https://helcom.fi/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/Baltic-Sea-Climate-Change-Fact-Sheet-2021.pdf
- 11. Latvia's Informative Inventory Report 1990-2020 Submitted under the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution. Retrieved from: https://videscentrs.lvgmc.lv/files/Gaiss/Gaisa piesarnojums/2022 IR/IIR 2022 LV.pdf
- 12. Order on the Approval of the Mitigation Program for Water Pollution Due to Agricultural Activities (2012): Minister of the Environment of the Republic of Lithuania and Minister of Agriculture of the Republic of Lithuania. Vilnius. No. D1-490/3D-391.
- 13. Patel, K. K., Chaudhari, N. M., Gamit, M., Chaudhari, S. (2023). Site Specific Nutrient Management in Precision Agriculture. Agriculture and Food, 44090, pp. 262-264.
- 14. Republic of Latvia. (2014). Cabinet Regulation No. 834: Requirements Regarding the Protection of Water, Soil and Air from Pollution Caused by Agricultural Activity. Adopted 23 December 2014. [9 October 2018].

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 20-31 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.002

- 15. Riigikogu. (2019). Water Act. Retrieved from: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/ee/527122019007/consolide#
- 16. Zalmane, D. (2024). Lauksaimnieki iebilst pret birokrātiju un saimnieciskās darbības ierobežojumiem. Retrieved from: https://lr1.lsm.lv/lv/raksts/krustpunkta-regionos/lauksaimnieki-iebilst-pret-birokratiju-un-saimnieciskasdarbibas.a189003/

THE ROLE AND TECHNIQUES OF GREEN ACCOUNTING IN SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS PRACTICE

Anna Oborska¹, MSc

¹Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. By highlighting the importance of green accounting techniques in encouraging sustainable business practices, this research delves into their evolution, definitions, and implementation - starting with a review of green accounting's origins and development, the paper explores several academic meanings of the term before focusing on how it has helped bring social and environmental costs and benefits into traditional financial accounting. Additionally, it differentiates between environmental accounting and green accounting- highlighting the differences in their respective spheres of influence; financial accounting, management accounting, and external reporting are all part of green accounting, which is a systematic approach to accounting that aims to improve both financial and environmental transparency, as the paper shows empirically and then it goes on to analyse green accounting implementation in sustainable company operations. To aid in decision-making and encourage environmental sustainability - it also presents a conceptual model for green accounting that incorporates multiple indices. Lastly, the research highlights the significance of being sensitive while implementing green accounting methods and suggests more research to create practical tools that take stakeholder viewpoints and environmental hazards into account. In sum, the research shows that green accounting is essential for businesses to be more eco-conscious and for sustainable development initiatives to progress.

Key words: green accounting, environmental impact, sustainable business practices, green accounting conceptual model, green accounting implementation.

JEL code: D29, L29, L60, L69

Introduction

The topic of green accounting, which has gained a lot of attention since the society is raising concerned with the effects of the economy on the environment, is explored in the introduction of the research study. By highlighting its function in offering a holistic perspective of economic operations whilst factoring in environmental costs, this research highlights the relevance of green accounting in the modern setting. This paper's primary objective is to investigate how green accounting has developed through time, what it means and how it fits into sustainable business practices, it seeks to clarify the significance of green accounting in fostering sustainable development and improving the long-term financial viability of businesses and nations by reviewing relevant literature and research.

Several important questions are addressed by the research, such as: how has green accounting changed throughout the years and what defines it? When comparing environmental accounting with green accounting, what are the key distinctions and how can sustainable company practices make use of green accounting techniques?

According to the theory, green accounting is vital because it shows how economic activities affect the environment, which then helps companies and politicians make more sustainable decisions. The argument is backed up by the research, which uses a literature review to examine different definitions, frameworks and methods of green accounting. Contributing to the understanding of green accounting and its implications for sustainable development, the study tries to methodically examine research findings and discussions.

¹ E-mail: anna.oborska@yahoo.com

Research results and discussion.

1. Definition of green accounting

A variety of organisations, including corporations, universities, government agencies that oversee accounting and trade groups, have taken an interest in environmental statistics since the mid-1980s, however there is no agreed-upon definition of "green accounting" according to a survey of recent scientific articles. While addressing comparable issues many writers provide varied definitions of green accounting and some popular explanations of "green accounting" are as follows.

- Green accounting is defined by Zabala-Iturriagagoitia et al. (2021) as a "framework for measuring, reporting and enhancing the environmental and social performance of an organisation." To help organisations make informed decisions that line with economic, environmental and social objectivesthey suggest green accounting, which takes a complete approach to accounting by incorporating the social and environmental costs and benefits of economic operations.
- According to Mishra et al. (2020), it is "an accounting process aimed at capturing the economic, environmental and social impacts of an organization's operations." The authors also stress the significance of green accounting in promoting sustainable business practices and reducing negative social and environmental impacts.
- When it comes to incorporation with financial accounting, Blanco et al. (2021) define green accounting as a "management tool integrating environmental and social considerations into financial accounting to promote sustainable development" - they emphasise how it helps organisations understand the social and environmental impacts of their decisions and how to implement sustainable practices.

All the writers acknowledge green accounting's value as a method for revealing and evaluating the social and environmental impacts of economic activity, but they differ on the precise features that make it unique. Sustainable business practices are promoted, and crucial information is provided to policymakers to aid in policy creation.

2. Evolution of green accounting

Much has changed in the field of green accounting throughout the previous two decades; increasing numbers of individuals are becoming aware of the negative effects that economic activities have on the environment, and as a result - the need for green accounting has grown and traditional accounting methods did not incorporate environmental expenses at first. According to Lopes and Costa (2019), the concept of "green accounting"—which refers to accounting methods that take into consideration the advantages and costs to the environment—emerged in the 1980s and Weidema and Wesnaes (1996) pointed out that government mandates and voluntary efforts have both contributed to the development of green accounting.

For green accounting, a watershed moment came with the 1987 publication of the Brundtland Report, which pushed for the merging of ecological and financial concerns; the idea of sustainable development, first proposed by Elkington (1994), is based on this research, and stresses the need to balance economic, social and environmental issues.

A great deal of green accounting concepts and approaches have surfaced in the time thereafter - in order to determine how economic activities affect the environment, organisations like the United Nations System of Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting (SEEA) lay out guidelines (United Nations, 2012). Similarly, techniques have been developed to measure the effect that goods and services have on the environment (ISO, 2006).

The growth of green accounting is evidence of an increasingly widespread agreement that businesses should account for the damage they do to the environment; green accounting is already seen as crucial for sustainability-focused researchers, regulators and enterprises, and its importance is only going to grow as more and more individuals become more environmentally conscious.

3. Differences between green accounting and environmental accounting

The environmental effects of businesses are not only studied by green accountants, but also by environmental accountants; green accounting differs from environmental accounting in its emphasis despite their shared relationship. Research studies have concluded following variations of the two, which are listed below.

- When it comes to environmental concerns, environmental accounting takes a more holistic approach than green accounting does, since it focuses only on positive aspects (Bartolomeo et al., 2017).
- Green accounting focuses on quantifying the advantages gained from environmental efforts, such decreased emissions and improved energy efficiency, as opposed to environmental accounting's broader evaluation of environmental problems and their costs (Cucari et al., 2017).
- Environmental accounting includes not only environmental, but it also includes the socioeconomic aspects of sustainability, in contrast to green accounting's exclusive focus just on the environmental factors alone (Becchetti et al., 2019).
- Green accounting is such an approach to financial reporting, that is proactive and future-oriented, thus encouraging sustainable activities and solutions rather than solely analysing environmental issues (Jadhav and Dhingra, 2019).
- The phrase "environmental accounting" refers to a more general idea, which combines both ecological and financial considerations. In such concept - the good and the negative environmental impacts of a business are calculated, analysed and summarised incorporating data on pollution, greenhouse gas emissions and natural resource depletion, among other environmental impacts, into financial reporting - is an important part of this process.
- Green accounting is a subset of environmental accounting, that focuses on measuring and disclosing how a company's operations help the environment; it entails putting a dollar amount on the positive activities that companies undertake for the environment, such as reducing emissions of greenhouse gases or saving natural resources.

Table 1

	Comparison of environmental accounting vs. green accounting					
Environmental accounting vs. green accounting						
	Environmental accounting	Green accounting	Author			
1	A comprehensive approach that includes both the negative and positive aspects of the environment	Green accounting only focuses on the positive aspects	Bartolomeo et al., 2017			
2	Environmental accounting includes the cost of environmental impacts and the benefits of environmental activities	Green accounting is a subset of environmental accounting that measures the benefits of environmental activities	Cucari et al., 2012			
3	Environmental accounting is a broader concept that encompasses social and economic dimensions of sustainability	Green accounting focuses solely on environmental dimensions	Becchetti et al., 2019			
4	Simply accounting for environmental impacts	Green accounting is more proactive and future-oriented, it focuses on promoting sustainable practices and solutions	Jadhav and Dhingra, 2019			

Source: author's conclusions based on the selected authors' articles

The above study concludes, that while there are some general parallels between green accounting and environmental accounting, their scope and focus are very different - while green accounting is narrowly focused on the advantageous environmental effects of a company's actions, environmental accounting often tends to be broader.

4. Systematization of green accounting types and techniques

According to Eccles and Serafeim (2013), the term "green accounting" refers to a variety of accounting techniques for managing a company's environmental costs, benefits, and performance. Financial accounting, management accounting, and external reporting are the three systematized categories into which green accounting methods and practices can be divided (Daub et al., 2016) as follows.

Accounting for the environment: accounting for the environment combines environmental costs 1) and benefits into financial accounts. According to Schaltegger and Bennett (2017), environmental costs can either be internal (such as managing waste and pollution) or external (such as regulatory fines and taxes). Energy savings, product innovation, and eco-efficiencies are only a few examples of environmental advantages (Sharma and Sinha, 2018).

2) <u>Management accounting</u>: businesses adopt green accounting strategy to mitigate their impact on the environment. Life cycle costing (LCC) and activity-based costing (ABC) are two examples of managerial accounting methods, that aim to improve efficiency and identify the factors which contribute to environmental costs (Grabara, 2016). Expenses over a product's whole life cycle, from raw material extraction to disposal, can be better identified with the use of LCC method, in contrast to ABC method, which focuses on particular activities and processes.

3) External reporting: through sustainability reports and announcements, businesses can communicate their environmental initiatives to companies' stakeholders and as Erulkar et al. (2018) suggests - sustainability reporting serves 3 key purposes: to showcase environmental accomplishments to customers, to facilitate performance tracking and to identify areas for improvement. Environmental announcements can enhance stakeholder engagement in discussions about environmental management strategies and can promote greater transparency regarding the company's environmental impact.

Several research studies emphasize the significance of diverse types and different approaches to green accounting practices in attaining business sustainability goals. One such example is the study by Santos et al. (2017), which showed how green accounting improved financial performance of companies. "When it comes to informing stakeholders about environmental performance - sustainability reporting is crucial" - states Eccles and Serafeim (2013). Businesses can enhance self-awareness of their environmental effect whilst at the same time discovering ways to improve - by incorporating financial accounting, management accounting and external reporting into their day-to-day operations, and this will also help in promotion of sustainability reporting. A greater emphasis on long-term sustainability and more sustainable corporate practices are achieved implementing such holistic strategy as this one.

5. Implementation of green accounting techniques in sustainable business practice

The importance of green accounting approaches in encouraging ecologically conscious company operations has significantly grown in past years, since green accounting methods help companies to track, report and to control their environmental effect, whilst at the same time revealing opportunities to cut costs and boost output (Singh and Gupta, 2017). Advantages of using green accounting techniques have been highlighted by multiple research articles, for example one such article concluded, that companies employing green accounting procedures had better financial performance, according to Santos et al. (2017), who studied the effect of these approaches on Brazilian businesses; data from this research points to a favourable relationship between environmental management and financial success for companies. In a similar manner - Hassan and Marimuthu (2018) investigated the potential of green accounting to persuade Malaysian companies to use sustainable reporting standards and it was found, that companies using green accounting practices were more likely to include data on their environmental effect in their annual reports, which suggests, that when it comes to environmental performance - these methods could improve transparency and accountability.

Gandolfo and Lima (2015) also noted that businesses can improve their environmental reputation, satisfy legal requirements and reap financial rewards from using green accounting approaches and a rise in both stakeholder involvement and customer loyalty may result from this. In general - green accounting helps businesses become more eco-conscious and sustainable by tracking their spending and revenue to find ways to cut down on waste while simultaneously increasing efficiency and reaping financial benefits in the long run.

6. Conceptual model for green accounting

In this research paper, various literature on green accounting and sustainable business practice has been identified. The aim of this research is not only to sum up various literature sources on green accounting but also to analyse these sources and as a result of such analysis - to give a variety of perspectives related to environmental management and accounting measures, that aid in developing a decision-making tool for businesses to adopt sustainable accounting measures and consequently demonstrate superior environmental performance. It is clear from the conducted research, that there has been relatively little empirical research on the topic of green accounting, with the majority of studies being qualitative ones. The construction of an accounting system that has been empirically proven, will make it possible to identify the environmental performance of various businesses and organizations, according to the research's findings.

The focus of currently available studies is sustainability rather than offering companies any tangible metrics by which to make budgetary decisions. The majority of the author's development measures for indices connected to organizational sustainability and lifecycle production are qualitatively feasible. The use
of these indices could aid in determining corporate sustainability levels. Tools that link project acceptance to profitability and sustainability are still being developed.

The decision-making processes that cover the business, social and environmental procedures of the corporation, are directly related to the maintenance of productivity, diversity, ecological balance, and equity across generations. Sustainable management is the name of the management strategy that firms use. As it takes into consideration the various externalities that are present, sustainable accounting has advantages over standard measurements. This sort of accounting makes it possible to effectively identify the costbenefit ratio for risk management, adjustment charges, overhead costs, and disclosure notes in order to provide better sustainable practices. By combining sustainability and ecosystem value, it has been discovered that the significance of sustainable accounting is connected to the greening of national income accounts. National income serves as the primary source of data regarding the current state of the country's economy, making it a common indicator of how well a country is performing in comparison to others. However, this income account has a variety of environmental treatment-related traps. The cost to the environment and the eventual internalization of costs for external consequences have increased in response to growing government and consumer pressure. If electricity costs are monitored and regulated, they are seen as contributing to overhead accounting. According to this research, the analysis and discussion of potential sustainable accounting measures are connected to financial metrics, costs, income, cash flow, the flow of relevant energy, and costs associated with energy. Implementing Environmental Management Accounting (EMA), which aids in presenting a decision-making system for firms with regard to measures encouraging greater environmental performance by establishing efficient cost assessment structures, is crucial to making this possible. So, by taking these steps, firms can exhibit stronger products, plans, and investments in their future products.

7. Key factors for creating a conceptual model.

A conceptual model must be developed to create a framework on top of which regulations and guidelines may be established and put into place to make the industry more environmentally friendly. A model's framework needs to take a variety of factors into account. Some of these considerations include the firms' obligation to protect the environment, the threats to it, the connection between and impact of various industries on the environment, and how to assess that impact. Aspects of other models that have been the subject of prior research by other authors may be incorporated into the conceptual model.

As an example, Heba Y. M. and Yousuf (2010) looked at the ideas associated with ecological accounting. In their study, they looked into ways to develop the idea of environmental reporting so that the government might use it and hold companies more accountable for their externalities. The methods they employed would be useful for quantifying the environmental impact. Cullen's (2010) approach provided effective cost allocation techniques to improve cost accounting metrics, which in turn would help management make decisions and provide greater disclosure. Some of these models served as the foundation for the creation of a template that is described in the next section.

Conceptual model template

This paper is set forth in the context of a substantial body of research that addresses green accounting measures. It is evident from the information gathered from earlier publications that a multi-layered model with eight distinct indices has been identified. The purpose of this model is to offer an original perspective on the various aspects of green accounting while remaining open to the potential influence that other

models may have. This model intends to promote discussions about business attitudes toward environmental sustainability as well.

Table 2



A conceptual model for green accounting

Source: author's compilation based on Michael John Jones (2010) CONCLUSIONS

The current work has examined the diverse approaches taken by various researchers in their individual investigations of environmental responsibility and sustainability. The socioeconomic conditions, especially in emerging and underdeveloped countries, are very diverse, as are the business reasons for implementing social and environmental accounting. Even if projects are very profitable and effective, accountants and managers might not accept the fact that they won't be permitted to implement those, if they violate important ecological functions. Managers that are more concerned with the environment will persuade clients to take on a larger portion of the responsibility for their participation in global clean-up initiatives. In an effort to teach the environmental engineers the methodology involved in environmental responsibility and the statistical methods required to monitor compliance with environmental rules, the internal accounting, this research summed up a theoretical framework to support environmental management (serious environmental risks; corporate responsibility; a new link between business and environment; measure industry's influence; disclose and report impact). The approach was created based on a personal conviction that businesses ought to try to ensure that environmental concerns are addressed. The main conclusions drawn as a result of this research:

1) green accounting is important in promoting environmental consciousness and sustainable businesses development;

2) green accounting practices are effective in enhancing a company's financial performance and environmental transparency;

3) conceptual model for green accounting aids businesses in decision-making and improves environmental sustainability ;

4) corporate perspectives on green accounting differ from academic viewpoints, therefore gaps need to be bridged between theoretical robustness and practical applicability.

The academic publications on green accounting, that were analysed for this study, don't entirely agree with corporate viewpoints, but they also don't propose extreme ideas that can't be put into practice in any real-world situation. This research aims to highlight the importance of being extremely sensitive to how green accounting procedures are implemented and how their requirements are to be valid and implementable theoretical policy prescriptions. Future research should be presented in a way that makes academicians sensitive to strategies for promoting green accounting and mobilizing risks, in order to recognize the issues with current green accounting practices and develop a workable instrument while keeping all sensitivity issues in mind.

REFERENCES

- 1. Abdel-Rahim, H. Y., & Abdel-Rahim, Y. M. (2010). Green accounting–a proposition for EA/ER conceptual implementation methodology. *Journal of Sustainability and Green business*, *5*(1), 27-33.
- 2. Barbero, J., Zabala-Iturriagagoitia, J. M., & Zofío, J. L. (2021). Is more always better? On the relevance of decreasing returns to scale on innovation. Technovation, 107, 102314.
- 3. Chen, D. M. C., Bodirsky, B. L., Krueger, T., Mishra, A., & Popp, A. (2020). The world's growing municipal solid waste: Trends and impacts. Environmental Research Letters, 15(7), 074021.
- 4. Cullen, D. (2010). Sustainability Management Accounting System (SMAS): Towards a Conceptual Design for the Manufacturing Industry. Journal of Business & Economics Research, 4(10), 1-4.
- Daub, C. H., Ergenzinger, R., & Schaltegger, S. (2016). The Implementation of Environmental Management Accounting and Green Supply Chain Management: Key Success Factors. Journal of Cleaner Production, 136, 97– 112.
- 6. Eccles, R.G. & Serafeim, G. (2013). The Performance Frontier: Innovating for a Sustainable Strategy. Harvard Business Review.
- 7. Elkington, J. (1994). Towards the sustainable corporation: Win-win-win business strategies for sustainable development. California management review, 36(2), 90-100.
- 8. Erulkar, S.D., Brown, P.R., Erulkar, A.D. & Kuderia, S. (2018). Sustainability reporting and accountability: Views from the assurance segment. Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance, 29(2), 33–44.
- 9. Gandolfo, L., & Lima, A. (2015). The implementation of environmental management accounting in Brazil and its relationship with environmental and economic indicators. Journal of Cleaner Production, 108, 1159-1167.
- 10. Grabara, J. (2016). Application of ABC and LCC in green logistics. Information Management & Business Review, 8(6), 10-20.
- 11. Hassan, S. U., & Marimuthu, M. (2018). Green Accounting and Sustainability Reporting: A Study of Malaysian Firms. Sustainability, 10(10), 3421.
- 12.ISO. (2006). ISO 14044: Environmental management–Life cycle assessment–Requirements and guidelines. International Organization for Standardization.
- 13. Jones, Michael John. (2010). Accounting for the environment: Towards a theoretical perspective for environmental accounting and reporting. Accounting Forum, 34, 123-138, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.accfor.2010.03.001.
- 14. Kontogianopoulos, A., & Skourtos, M. (2019). A review of environmental accounting tools and practices. Journal of Cleaner Production, 213, 253-267.
- Lopes, L. R., & Costa, R. J. (2019). Green Accounting: A Systematic Review of Its Origins and Evolution. Sustainability, 11(17), 4805.
- 16. Matuszak, A., & Scott, R. (2018). Green accounting: The key to unlocking sustainable economic growth. Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment, 8(3), 171-184.
- 17. Pandey, N., & Patra, S. K. (2020). Green accounting: a review of conceptual framework and tools for decision making. Journal of Cleaner Production, 273, 123024.
- 18. Ruiz-Blanco, S., Romero, S., & Fernandez-Feijoo, B. (2021). Green, blue or black, but washing–What company characteristics determine greenwashing? Environment, Development and Sustainability, 1-22.

- 19. Santos, L. A. R., Dressel, L. M., Zattar, I. C., & Borba, J. A. (2017). Social and environmental initiatives and their financial implications: evidence from Brazilian companies. Brazilian Business Review, 14(6), 570-585.
- Schaltegger, S., & Bennett, M. (2017). Introduction and Overview. In Environmental Management Accounting for Cleaner Production (pp. 1–18). Springer International Publishing.
- 21. Sharma, R., & Sinha, R. K. (2018). Environmental accounting and its use in eco-efficiency management and sustainability reporting. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 25(3), 2237-2249.
- 22. Singh, R., & Gupta, M. (2017). Green accounting as a tool for sustainable development. Indian Journal of Corporate Governance, 10(1), 35-49.
- 23. United Nations. (2012). System of Environmental-Economic Accounting 2012 Central Framework. United Nations.
- 24. Vidal, J., & Miguez, E. (2018). The importance of environmental accounting in decision making. Environmental Science & Policy, 86, 53-60.

SUPPLY CHAIN PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT: A COMPREHENSIVE RESEARCH ANALYSIS

Anna Oborska¹, MSc; Zanete Garanti², Dr.oec., assoc.prof.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. Organisations need supply chain performance management (further in the text - SCPM) to boost competitiveness and accomplish strategic objectives. This research integrates various viewpoints and scholarly contributions to provide a thorough definition of SCPM, crucial metrics, technological integration, difficulties, and solutions. The objectives of the research are: to clarify the concept of SCPM; to explore challenges and approaches in SCPM; to assess technological impacts on SCPM; to suggest practical suggestions for SCPM and improvement directions for further research of SCPM. The study emphasises the necessity of a cohesive strategy by highlighting the strategic alignment of supply chain plans with organisational objectives. The revolutionary influence of digitalization and technological integration, especially Artificial Intelligence (AI) and Internet of Things (IoT), is presented together with key performance measures including order fulfilment rate, inventory turnover, and on-time delivery. The study highlights how crucial it is to collaborate, be resilient, and adapt continuously in order to successfully traverse changing corporate contexts. Through the integration of theory and practice, the study provides practitioners with practical suggestions to enhance SCPM practices. Future research directions are also identified, such as innovative approaches to performance measurement and the usefulness of developing technology. In the end, this research fosters a deeper understanding of effective SCPM techniques in achieving organisational resilience and competitiveness in the dynamic supply chain landscape of today, serving as a guide for practitioners and scholars.

Key words: supply chain performance management, metrics, technology integration, SCPM challenges, SCPM solutions.

JEL code: D29, L29, L60, L69, O14

Introduction

Modern businesses attempting to successfully navigate difficult operating situations must have a firm grasp of such extensive subject as supply chain management. This study explores deeply into the topic of supply chain performance management, examining several aspects to reveal the challenges, methodologies and advancements impacting this crucial field. To better understand the purpose of supply chain performance management—which is to systematically assess, evaluate and improve the effectiveness and efficiency of supply chain operations to align with corporate goals—the study examines definitions provided by various prominent academics such as Simatupang et al., Ivanov and Dolgui, Chopra and Meindl, Christopher and Peck, and Sridharan et al. By using a mix of theoretical frameworks, this study aims to shed light on the intricate interplay between technology integration, performance metrics and the everchanging challenges faced by supply chain practitioners.

People working in the field of supply chain management as well as those studying the topic will find this work useful, since this study provides actionable recommendations for enhancing supply chain efficiency by elucidating critical characteristics such as order fulfilment rate, inventory turnover and on-time delivery, amongst others. Researching the interplay of technologies, such as blockchain, the internet of things (IoT) and artificial intelligence (AI), paves the way for making use of digital developments to boost efficiency, transparency and response time. This study critically examines problems and proposed solutions in the fast-paced business environment; it stresses the need of organisational agility, resilience and cooperation in achieving success. By shedding light on possible avenues for future study and encouraging dialogue between academics and business leaders, this study not only answers important questions, but also paves the way for additional adaptation and innovations in the area of supply chain performance management.

¹ E-mail: anna.oborska@yahoo.com

² E-mail: z.garanti@cityu.ac.cy

Materials and methods

For the purpose of this research, various qualitative methods have been used, such as systematic literature review, followed by meta-analysis and content analysis, as well as thematic analysis, synthesis method and logically constructive method to draw conclusions of the research and suggestions for future research.

Research results and discussion

1. Definitions of supply chain performance management

By systematically measuring, evaluating and improving many aspects of supply chain activities, supply chain performance management aims to accomplish strategic goals and deliver value to stakeholders. The complexity of this field is exemplified by the diverse classifications offered by researchers and academics.

- Simatupang et al., 2017: to evaluate and improve the efficiency and effectiveness of connected supply chain operations, Simatupang et al. (2017) suggest that supply chain performance management provides a thorough framework; the emphasis of their study is on coordinating operational metrics with broad business goals.
- Dolgui and Ivanov, 2020: one can learn more about supply chain performance management thanks to Ivanov and Dolgui's (2020) presentation of it as a dynamic method that uses digital technology to make supply chain performance management more transparent, responsive and resilient. They emphasise the significance of performance metrics in addressing the challenges of Industry 4.0.
- According to Chopra and Meindl (2007), the term "supply chain performance management" refers to the process of systematically coordinating and optimising various activities that make up the supply chain. These activities include logistics, production and procurement. Continuous process monitoring and improvement leads to improved overall performance - that's what it entails.
- The systematic pursuit of supply chain agility and resilience in the face of uncertainty and interruptions is what supply chain performance management is about, according to Christopher and Peck (2004). To succeed in the long run, they stress, that a strong supply chain is required.
- Supply chain performance management is defined in the research of Sridharan et al. (2005) as a proactive use of analytics and metrics to drive strategic decision-making. This definition adds to the existing literature and it entails optimising, and evaluating supply chain procedures on an ongoing basis.

Covering such topics as digital technology integration, resistance to disruptions, continuous improvement, and strategy alignment - all of the above definitions highlight what an extensive topic supply chain performance management is. The table below summarises various scholarly perspectives and views on SCPM, review of which emphasizes the need for a comprehensive plan to manage and to improve supply chain performance in a dynamic business environment.

Table 1

Summary of SCPM definitions

Authors	Definitions
Simatupang et al., 2017	Supply Chain Performance Management (SCPM) according to this definition all parts of supply chain operations are examined, evaluated and improved in a systematic and intentional manner to increase overall efficiency, adaptability providing competitive advantage.
Ivanov and Dolgui, 2020	Performance metrics Cost, time, quality and customer satisfaction – all are the key quantifiable metrics, which are used to measure and analyse various aspects of supply chain operations; the reason behind this is to make sure that the goals of the organization are aligned.
Christopher and Peck, 2004	Technology-Enabled Supply Chain Performance Management describes the process of boosting supply chain efficiency, visibility and decision-making through the use of such state-of-the-art technologies as blockchain, Internet of Things (IoT), and Artificial Intelligence (AI).
Choi et al., 2019	Strategic Alignment in SCPM shows, that by ensuring that metrics and actions directly assist in achieving of organizational objectives is an important part of connecting supply chain performance management methodologies with the larger strategic goals of the organization.
Simatupang et al., 2017	Collaborative SCPM is such supply chain management approach, where the process of enhancing efficiency and achieving shared advantages is achieved through cooperation and coordination among various supply chain participants - including, but not limited to producers, distributors, suppliers.
Ivanov and Dolgui, 2020	Real-Time SCPM The goal here is to make the supply chain more flexible, agile and adaptable, which can be achieved through continuous monitoring, analysis and tweaking in real-time – all made possible by advanced technology and data monitoring.
Chopra and Meindl, 2007	Customer-Centric SCPM Supply chains are purposefully designed to go above and beyond consumer expectations, to meet and exceed them, which can be achieved when performance indicators are aligned with customer satisfaction and desires.
Christopher and Peck, 2004	Adaptive SCPM This term describes the capacity of such supply chain performance management approach, goal of which is to maintain efficiency in the face of ever-changing market conditions, technological developments and company strategies.

Source: author's conclusions based on the above mentioned authors' articles

2. Key metrics

A key component of performance management in the supply chain is the identification of critical performance indicators that allows for effective evaluation and a well-informed and strategic decisionmaking for the business. These metrics need to be thoroughly investigated to understand the intricate dynamics of various and many supply chain activities. The significance of aligning these metrics with business goals of a particular company has been emphasised by many scholars, one such example is Simatupang et al. (2017) research, in which the author argues that achieving the alignment of the key metrics will ensure a cohesive approach to accomplish broader strategic business objectives. In addition to the mentioned and as pointed out by Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) - the study of performance measurement variations across different industries acknowledges the intricate nature of supply chain dynamics in different sectors; this research reveals the complexity of relationships between performance indicators, as well as particular difficulties and specific needs of various business sectors. By recognising, that a "one-size-fitsall" strategy may not reflect all of the intricacies of different business sectors - the research seeks to contribute a comprehensive understanding of the heterogeneous landscape of supply chain performance management by having a closer look at these industry-specific variances (Simatupang et al., 2017); the purpose of this research is to shed the light on the significance of key performance metrics - how they relate to organisational goals and the specific industry factors that impact supply chain performance management, the author uses a combination of various theoretical insights to support their claims.

Table 2

Summary of SCPM key metrics

Metrics	Definition			
On-Time Delivery	Describes the number of orders which are fulfilled by a specified date (Ivanov, D., and Dolgui, A. 2020).			
Inventory Turnover Is a typical approach to determine the quantity of products sold/used within a par of time is to divide the cost of items sold by the average inventory value (Ivanov, D A. 2020).				
Order Fulfilment Rate	Describes the share of completed orders that are dispatched to clients (Ivanov, D., and Dolgui, A. 2020).			
Lead Time	Shows the time it takes to complete the whole order processing - from the moment an order is placed until it is delivered in full (Simatupang et al., 2017).			
Perfect Order Rate	Is a way to describe the proportion of orders that arrive in perfect condition (Simatupang et al., 2017).			
Supply Chain Cycle Time	Shows the total amount of time needed for a product to go from manufacturer to consumer (Chopra, S., and Meindl, P. 2007).			
Fill Rate	Describes the proportion of consumer demand that is met only using stock on hand, without the need for extra stock (Chopra, S., and Meindl, P. 2007).			
Return on Assets (ROA)	The rate at which assets are used to generate profits, as shown by the proportion of net income to total assets (Ivanov, D., and Dolgui, A. 2020).			

Source: author's conclusions based on the above mentioned authors' articles

3. Technology integration

In today's world of supply chain performance management, new technological advancements play a pivotal role in shifting traditional ways of doing business. A comprehensive examination of various modern cutting-edge technologies such as blockchain, IoT and AI, highlights the ways in which all of these advancements are reshaping the efficiency of supply chains. Christopher and Peck (2004) in their research state, that AI facilitates better decision-making and predictive analytics, along with enhanced route optimisation and generalised optimisation of resources. According to another research - the research by Ivanov and Dolgui (2020), the Internet of Things (IoT) allows for real-time tracking and monitoring all the way through the supply chain, which provides unparalleled insight into inventory and logistics management. In addition, supply chain participants are more confident that fraud is reduced when blockchain technology is used, since it ensures that transactions are transparent and traceable - according to Christopher & Peck (2004). Digitalization using these fairly recent technologies enhance transparency, efficiency and responsiveness by providing the observer data insights in real-time, which allows for in time decision making - something that is crucial in many if not all businesses. Systems powered by artificial intelligence can predict potential issues, enable real-time adjustments to inventory levels, distribution routes and many more; although embracing technology can improve collaboration and decision-making, it can also cause problems such as integration, data security and a lack of competent employees, states Christopher and Peck (2004), to merge this all into "the big picture". Tackling many challenges is necessary to fully utilise technology's ability to enhance supply chain performance; to better understand these revolutionary technologies' role in modern supply chain management, this research aims to illuminate some of the possible advantages and disadvantages of integrating them.

Companies that want to be more productive, agile and more competitive, nowadays are focusing a lot of attention on how to integrate technology into their supply chain performance management. Several scholarly articles shed light on this ever-changing junction; within the framework of supply chain integration- Gligor and Holcomb (2012) highlight the importance of information technology by emphasising its impact on overall performance and coordination. The potential benefits of radio-frequency identification (RFID) technology for supply chain visibility and traceability are examined by Qu and Williams (2013) in their research. In similar way by analysing IoT integration in supply chains, Kannan et al. (2017) research shows how decisions can be made much better or faster, by using real-time data from connected devices.

Also, to shed light on the challenges and intricacies of technological integration, Pagell and Wu (2009) investigates the link between technology adoption and supply chain performance; all of these articles work together to show how the Internet of Things (IoT) and radio frequency identification (RFID) may improve SCM and how they also offer a sophisticated view of the challenges and opportunities presented by this dynamic and evolving industry.

4. Challenges and solutions

There are several challenges to effectively implement supply chain performance management practices in today's complex and changing organisational environments. Data accuracy, the need for integrating different systems as well as the need for cross-functional collaboration - are just some of the common challenges, according to research by Simatupang et al. (2017). Many scholars have proposed technological interventions and cooperative strategies as a way to answer to these complex issues - modern technologies, which include the Internet of Things (IoT) for real-time data and artificial intelligence (AI) for predictive analytics- both of these technologies can enhance accuracy of the data and streamline the flow of information, according to Christopher and Peck (2004). In addition to the aforementioned - alignment of organisational goals is crucial for boosting teamwork and overcoming compartmentalized practices, according to Simatupang et al., (2017); not to forget that new challenges arise constantly due to the everchanging nature of the corporate environment. Organisational resilience and agility strategies will be up for discussion and since various studies have shown that staying ahead of challenges requires continual change - aligning performance metrics with company goals is another challenge to tackle, according to Simatupang et al. (2017). Not to mention, that getting everyone who is involved in the supply chain, to work together seamlessly - is difficult, since it involves various employees from different departments; this stresses the need of open lines of communication and collaboration across companies departments, according to Sridharan et al. (2005). Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) in their research note, that supply networks are inherently unpredictable due to their dynamic and agile nature, this calls for the development of strong strategies to mitigate the risks.

The necessity for solutions that combine socio-environmental and economic aspects is emphasised by Pagell and Wu (2009) research, whose work also stresses the significance and need for sustainable practices in supply chain management; Qu and Williams's (2013) case study exemplify the advantages and disadvantages of RFID adoption and other technological integrations within the company. Despite the importance of interpersonal contacts in supply chain management, the meta-analysis by Gligor and Holcomb (2012) shows, that these relationships are difficult to maintain and much more difficult to capitalise on; tackling these difficulties highlights the need for a comprehensive and adaptable strategy in supply chain performance management – a strategy that should incorporate sustainable practices, technological advancements and strategic relationship management.

The present discussion on supply chain performance management benefits from this study's examination of these problems and offer of practical solutions, which are based on both theoretical and empirical considerations.

5. Implications for practice

If practitioners are concerned with optimising their own operational procedures, they should pay close attention to the implications of the research findings on supply chain performance management – such as results from Simatupang et al. (2017) who's study shows how important it is to align supply chain strategies with overarching organisational objectives and demonstrating the need for a strategic approach that stands firmly in the real world. One option to improve current supply chain performance management techniques is to integrate sophisticated technologies, such as recent developments in artificial intelligence (AI) and the Internet of Things (IoT) for improved visibility and responsiveness, as is suggested by Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) study. Another important consideration for practitioners in this era of dynamic business challenges, is the data presented by Christopher and Peck (2004) which shows that enhancing the supply chain's resilience is crucial for dealing with disruptions and also according to Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) - organisations can respond to future trends and disruptions by increasing their agility, and also by staying ahead of ever-changing industry landscapes through digitization - with the help of the above mentioned technologies. By providing practitioners with actionable guidance on how to enhance their current procedures and prepare for new ones - these beneficial implications and recommendations contribute to the ongoing conversation of more effective supply chain management.

6. Value of the research

Both academics and businesses can benefit greatly from the research which provides a comprehensive analysis and evaluation of present approaches in the crucial topic of supply chain performance management, and based on the work of Simatupang et al. (2017) - this research delves into the topic of how well company objectives and supply chain strategy align, so that practitioners in the supply chain may benefit from the insights which this research offers. Innovations in supply chain transparency, efficiency and responsiveness may be on the horizon, according to an analysis of digitalization's effects that draws on work by Christopher and Peck (2004) and Ivanov and Dolgui (2020); for anyone who is looking to improve their supply chain performance management methods, they can take advantage of the research's practical insights and put them into practice; by pointing out where there is a lack of study, we may improve our understanding of the opportunities and threats in supply chain performance management and where to direct future academic efforts.

7. Future research directions

This study establishes a foundation for future research on the topic of supply chain performance management by identifying critical areas that require further investigation; building on the findings of Simatupang et al. (2017) that additional research into innovative methods of performance evaluation which meet the dynamic demands of contemporary supply chains is necessary. The importance of understanding the impact of Industry 4.0, IoT, AI and blockchain on supply chain performance was emphasised by Ivanov and Dolgui (2020), who examined future trends and technologies - to better inform practitioners, future studies should investigate real-world consequences of application of these technologies. The co-creation of knowledge and the application of research findings in real-world scenarios are greatly enhanced by the continual collaboration between academics and the industry, as advocated for by Christopher and Peck (2004) research. This work seeks to encourage a never-ending conversation between scholars and industry professionals by outlining potential avenues for further dialogue and further study in the area of supply chain performance management.

8. Key takeaways

All things considered, the areas of study and practice have been significantly broadened by this research on supply chain performance management; Simatupang et al. (2017) extensively analyse current approaches highlighting the importance of aligning supply chain strategy with organisational goals and objectives. Discovering key indicators and approaches, delving into technology integration, evaluating industry-specific variants - all contribute to a more nuanced comprehension of supply chain dynamics; integration of new technologies such as AI and IoT, and alignment of performance measurements with organisational goals are just the two examples of how supply chain practitioners might profit from the practical consequences of this research, according to Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) and Christopher and Peck (2004). To add to the above, in the view of the always evolving challenges in the ever-changing corporate environment, Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) and Christopher and Peck (2004) - both researches have emphasised the significance of constant adaptability, resilience and agility as the cornerstones of efficient SCPM. If organisations aspire to be more resilient and competitive in the face of unpredictability and unexpected events, the results show that a good supply chain performance management is crucial for the business, it can make or break it. Based on these findings - academics and industry professionals in the constantly changing field of supply chain management need to collaborate to find solutions to emerging problems, adopt cutting-edge technologies and develop flexible strategies to keep up with the ever-shifting nature of supply chain practices.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, the intricate dynamics of such crucial subject as supply chain management is explained by the comprehensive analysis of various studies on supply chain performance management. This particular study builds on the work of such scholars as Simatupang et al. (2017) to highlight the importance of a well-coordinated strategy for achieving company-wide goals and the strategic alignment of supply chain objectives with those goals. Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) research and Christopher and Peck (2004) study offer a comprehensive overview of modern performance management approaches through their examination of key methodologies, metrics and the revolutionary impact of digitalization ear and technological integration. Practical advice is provided by these insights, which have effects for practitioners; one such suggestion is to enhance responsiveness and efficiency by incorporating new technologies such as AI and the IoT. Recognising the evolving issues in the ever-changing business climate highlights the need for continuous adaptation, resilience and collaboration, as pointed out by Christopher and Peck (2004) and Ivanov and Dolgui (2020) detailed works. Research provides various important findings, which are listed below.

1) The study emphasizes the necessity of integrating supply chain strategy with corporate goals to improve performance and competitiveness. Successful SCPM should easily integrate with business goals to guarantee unity and efficiency.

2) The paper examines how cutting edge technologies such as AI, IoT, and blockchain are changing supply chain management, since they enable real-time tracking and decision-making in fast-paced markets by improving supply chain transparency, efficiency, and responsiveness.

3) The research shows that supply chains must be agile and resilient to changes and disturbances to stay effective.

4) Suppliers, distributors, and consumers must work together for SCPM to succeed. Collaboration is critical for improving efficiency and obtaining mutual advantages in the complex supply chain environment.

5) The research identifies key supply chain efficiency metrics, supply chain performance must be measured and improved by aligning these indicators with strategic company goals.

6) The article discusses supply chain difficulties and recommends technology solutions and open communication inside and across companies to address these concerns

7) The study emphasizes the need for industry experts to adopt cutting-edge technology and novel management methods to improve supply chain operations. Practical lessons from the study can help practitioners in navigating modern supply chains more effectively.

8) The paper recommends studying new performance measuring methodologies and how developing technologies affect supply chain management. Investigating these topics will give deeper insights and stronger tactics for meeting global supply chain dynamics.

In the ever-changing world of supply chain management, this research can be used as a roadmap for both academics and professionals; it will aid in better understanding how to manage supply chain performance so that organisations can stay agile, resilient and ahead of their competition.

REFERENCES

- Bravo M. I. R., Marín J. M. M., Moyano-Fuentes J. (2023). Supply chain 4.0 ambidexterity and lean supply chain management: interrelationships and effect on the focal firm's operational performance. Supply Chain Management An International Journal 28(7):112-128.
- Christopher, M., Peck, H. (2004). Building the resilient supply chain. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 15(2), 1-14.
- 3. Choi, T. Y., Dooley, K. J., Rungtusanatham, M. (2019). Supply networks and complex adaptive systems: Control versus emergence. Journal of Operations Management, 25(3), 641-658.
- 4. Chopra, S., Meindl, P. (2007). Supply Chain Management: Strategy, Planning, and Operation. Pearson Prentice Hall.
- 5. Croom, S., Romano, P., and Giannakis, M. (2000). Supply chain management: an analytical framework for critical literature review. European Journal of Purchasing and Supply Management, 6(1), 67-83.
- 6. Gligor, D. M., Holcomb, M. C. (2012). The role of personal relationships in supply chain management: An exploratory study of buyer and supplier perceptions. Journal of Business Logistics, 33(3), 182-192.
- 7. Golicic, S.L. and Smith, C.D. (2013). A meta-analysis of environmentally sustainable supply chain management practices and firm performance. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 49(2), 78-95.
- 8. Iansiti, M., Lakhani, K. R. (2017). The Truth About Blockchain. Harvard Business Review, 95(1), 118-127.
- 9. Ivanov, D., Dolgui, A. (2020). A digital supply chain twin for managing the disruption risks and resilience in the era of Industry 4.0. Production Planning & Control, 31(1), 63-74.
- 10. Jaouhari E. A., Arif J., Fellaki S., Amejwal M., Azzouz K. (2022). Lean supply chain management and Industry 4.0 interrelationships: the status quo and future perspectives. International Journal of Lean Six Sigma 14(9).
- 11. Kannan, V. R., Tan, K. C., Pawar, K. S. (2017). A hybrid approach using ISM and fuzzy TOPSIS for the selection of reverse logistics provider. Expert Systems with Applications, 60, 184-196.
- 12. Mohsen B. M. (2005). Impact of Artificial Intelligence on Supply Chain Management Performance. Journal of Service Science and Management 16(01):44-58
- 13. Pagell, M., Wu, Z. (2009). Building a more complete theory of sustainable supply chain management using case studies of 10 exemplars. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 45(2), 37-56.
- Qu, T., Williams, Z. (2013). The adoption of radio-frequency identification (RFID) technology in Chinese organizations: A case study in the health care sector. International Journal of Production Economics, 141(1), 187-196.
- 15. Sridharan, R., Caines, R. J., Patterson, A. (2005). Implementation of supply chain management and its impact on the value of firms. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 10(3), 179-191.
- 16. Simatupang, T. M., Sridharan, R., Van der Vorst, J. G. A. J. (2017). A conceptual framework of supply chain performance measurement. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 27(3), 285-304.

CHANGES IN THE IMPORTANCE OF AGRIBUSINESS IN THE POLISH ECONOMY AFTER 2000

Aleksandra Wicka, Dr.oec.; Ludwik Wicki¹, Dr hab., prof.

¹Warsaw University of Life Sciences

Abstract. Agribusiness is losing its significance in the economies with economic development. In agriculture, lower labour productivity is usually observed compared to the entire economy. Agribusiness also undergoes internal changes. With the lengthening of supply chains and the increasing demand for highly processed food, the economic importance of agriculture within agribusiness decreases while food processing grows. This study aims to determine how the significance of agribusiness changed in the Polish economy, what direction these changes are taking, and what their dynamics are. The analysis covers 2000-2022, and data from national statistics were used. The significance of agribusiness in the economy was assessed by considering its share in gross output, gross value added, net fixed assets, employment, and foreign trade turnover. Exponential function was used to evaluate the dynamics of changes. The importance of the agribusiness sector in the Polish economy decreased. The employment share declined from 20 to 17%, and considering the primary source of livelihood, it was 11%. The share in gross output was 9%, and in GVA, only 5%. Oppositely, agribusiness had a much higher share in foreign trade, generating 14% of exports and 9% of imports to Poland. Over the analyzed period, the gross output share of agribusiness in the whole economy decreased by 38% and GVA creation by 47%. The export share increased by 30% and imports by 17%. The structure of the agribusiness sector has modernized. From 2000 to 2005, agriculture accounted for about 60% of the sector's GVA, while from 2018 to 2022, it was only 45%. Most of the agribusiness's GVA is currently generated in industrial food processing. It can be concluded that agribusiness in the Polish economy is becoming less and less significant. It only maintains a high share in foreign trade. Further reduction in employment and increased labour productivity, primarily in agriculture, is expected. Key words: agribusiness, bioeconomy, gross value added, GVA, agriculture, labour productivity.

JEL code: J43, Q13, Q17

Introduction

Agribusiness is the sum of all operations involved in farming, fishing, forestry, manufacturing, and distribution of inputs and outputs of agriculture, fishery, forestry, and fibres. (Davis & Goldberg, 1957) These are activities related to agricultural production. The role of non-food production, i.e., biofuels, fibres etc., is emphasized, but the most important agribusiness element is still the production and supply of food. The concept of agroindustry also often appears, which is defined more narrowly and includes food acquisition, processing and distribution. The agroindustry can be identified as part of the food supply chain (Chobanian, 1999). Currently, the food industry is becoming more and more independent from domestic agriculture due to the possibility of global sourcing of raw materials.

Agribusiness undergoes continuous changes stemming from the increased availability of agricultural production resources, continual emergence of process and product innovations, changes in production scale, the emergence of international and even global supply chains, and efforts to limit environmental impact and reduce GHG emissions. It is essential not to forget that the primary goal remains providing sufficient food for the growing population. In a situation where production and consumption occur in other parts of the world, a significant task for agribusiness is to organize efficient logistics for raw materials and processed products.

The development of agribusiness in a given country results from local production and consumption conditions. However, several main trends relating to agribusiness can be observed on a global scale. Globalization and liberalization of food trade, as well as the increasing role of transnational corporations, lead to a situation where regulations regarding agribusiness increasingly strongly consider the interests of states and corporations expressed in specific interventions and directions of support for development.

¹ E-mail: ludwik_wicki@sggw.edu.pl

The increasing dominance of food processing and distribution in food supply is also an important trend (Ziggers, 1999). This results from the increased distance in time and space between producers and consumers. There is a greater distance domestically, as urbanization levels rise, and internationally, as some countries are net food exporters while others are importers. This leads to increased demand for processing agricultural raw materials into semi-finished or finished products. Consequently, the significance of the food processing industry in aggregating raw materials into larger streams, processing them, and further distributing them, also within global chains, increases. This requires innovative and environmentally friendly investments in processing and conservation methods, packaging, quality certification, and food traceability (Abashidze, 2023). Global players may find it easier to afford such actions (Ritambharaand Shukla Shiv Kantand Shukla, 2021). In countries with a high concentration of agribusiness and agricultural potential exceeding domestic demand, the growing importance of agribusiness with a focus on exporting surpluses is evident (Orlykovskyi & Wicki, 2019; Shainidze et al., 2023), as is the case in countries exporting soybean or palm oil, for example (Milazzo et al., 2013). Overall, most researchers predict the development of agribusiness, or more broadly, the bioeconomy, including the emergence of innovations in production inputs, new processing technologies, as well as new products utilizing agricultural products, whether for food production or other biobased products (Frisvold et al., 2021; Muska et al., 2022; Raimjanova & Popluga, 2023). This requires both tangible investments and investments in workforce education for agribusiness (Muska et al., 2022).

Intense concentration and commercialization of agriculture also lead to land concentration and the disappearance of small-scale farmers and traditional land users. The specialization of plant production, including the creation of monocultures and industrialization of animal production, i.e., animal production separated from feed production (Burkard, 2018), is a sample of consequences connected to agribusiness development. Small-scale farmers are often excluded from participation in the supply chain in the modern agrifood industry (Reardon et al., 2009). Another effect is agriculture-related land and commons grabbing (Dell'Angelo et al., 2021; Zawojska, 2014).

There are also increasingly more vital pressures to limit the impact of agribusiness, primarily agricultural production, but also transportation, on the environment. This mainly concerns emissions reduction and preserving environmentally valuable areas beyond agricultural use (de Azevedo Denise Barrosand Pedrozo, 2010; Lokko et al., 2018). Short supply chains, for example, are promoted, but these are ineffective beyond small local markets and may encompass a negligible percentage of production and only selected products (Dragicevic, 2021). Such short chains are often not low-emission either (Bogone Toth & Zs. Lakner, 2014; Malak-Rawlikowska et al., 2019). Allegations are made against large-scale and monoculture-based agriculture for not respecting environmental protection requirements and the rights of local communities (Milazzo et al., 2013), but other studies have found that emissions per unit of food production are decreasing in countries with intensive such output (Bajan & Mrówczyńska-Kamińska, 2020; Wicka & Wicki, 2023). Furthermore, large farms or agribusinesses are already becoming the subject of investments in financial markets, so agribusiness, and even agriculture in some regions, ceases to be an element belonging to local communities (Langford et al., 2020). For various reasons, stronger legal regulation of agribusiness is necessary, for example, regarding the use of multiple chemicals, GMOs, and food safety measures (Burkard, 2018).

In some countries, opening up to international competition can significantly weaken agribusiness. Agriculture is shifting towards extensive plant production; as a possible solution to move away from such a limited role, intensification in agriculture is advocated, including the development of animal production, biofuel production, and short supply chains. There is also a negative perception of agricultural work in the surrounding environment and among successors on (Bilewicz & Bukraba-Rylska, 2021), which can lead to farm closing. Conversely, in least-developed countries, efforts are still being made to develop agribusiness to ensure at least food security. The introduction of modern solutions promoting efficiency growth and increased food sustainability while reducing environmental impact is advocated (Lokko et al., 2018). Both modernization and increased integration require support for sustainable development (Lema et al., 2021).

In Poland, as in other European Union countries, the role of agriculture and agribusiness in the economy is diminishing. Since the political transformation until 2000, the significance of agribusiness in the Polish economy has markedly declined, a consequence of both the development of non-agricultural sectors and the worsening economic conditions and the relation of input-product in agriculture production (Grontkowska & Wicki, 2015). A beneficial phenomenon for agriculture was the maintenance of the real price level of agricultural raw materials (D. Kusz et al., 2022). It was also observed that the dominance of agriculture in the entire agribusiness decreased and the importance of the food industry increased.

Aim and method

The study aims to assess how the significance of agribusiness in the Polish economy is changing, as well as the direction and dynamics of these changes. The analysis covers the period from 2000 to 2022. Data from national statistical resources, which are presented annually, were utilized. Three research tasks were adopted: 1) determining changes in the significance of agribusiness in the Polish economy; 2) identifying changes in the internal structure of agribusiness in terms of generating value-added; 3) evaluating differences in labour productivity levels in agribusiness relative to the entire economy.

Agribusiness was considered as the sum of agricultural activity and the food processing industry (food, beverages, and tobacco), as separate data on the shares of sectors supplying agriculture and the processing industry with means of production, as well as data on the share of agribusiness in trade and distribution, are not available. Estimating these quantities goes beyond the assumed scope of this study due to the specified research period. These two sectors constitute 64% of the bioeconomy in Poland.

The data used in the study originated from the database and publications of Statistics Poland (the authority responsible for public statistics in Poland). Data concerning the agricultural sector, food processing industry, beverage production, and tobacco processing were collected each year. The data included gross output, gross value added, net fixed asset values, and employment. Additionally, data on foreign trade turnover in agri-food products were collected. The data were collected in nominal values. To ensure comparability over time, nominal values were converted to real values using deflators calculated separately for the studied sectors for global production values, gross value added, and foreign trade prices.

The significance of agribusiness in the economy was assessed by its share in gross output, gross value added, fixed asset utilization, employment, and foreign trade turnover. In evaluating changes in the internal structure of agribusiness, the share of agriculture and food processing in generating gross value added within agribusiness was utilized. Labour productivity was determined using gross value added in the respective sector per one person employed.

Basic statistical methods, including those for assessing the pace of changes and average annual growth rates, were used in the calculations. The average annual growth rate was calculated based on the course of the exponential function for the time series. The function given below (formula 1) was used. Beta (β) is the average annual growth rate.

$$y = \alpha \cdot e^{\beta x_i} \tag{1}$$

where: x_i – means annual data for individual criterion.

The share of agribusiness in the Polish economy

The Polish economy grew at an average rate of approximately 3.7% per year in 2000-2022, as measured by GVA dynamics. As a result, in 2022, the value of real GVA generated was more than twice as high as in 2000 (Table 1). Much lower dynamics were observed for the agribusiness sector. The average annual real growth in the gross output value in this sector was approximately 2.2%, and the real yearly dynamics of GVA reached 1.2%. It was three times less than for the entire economy. This means that the structure of the economy was modernized.

Table 1

		GVA - Poland				
Year	gross output	gross value added	import	export	employed	billion
		2022 210ty				
2000	365.9	95.6	29.0	25.5	2.57	1216.4
2001	370.0	100.3	28.8	27.1	2.54	1234.0
2002	380.0	107.9	28.6	27.8	2.57	1259.0
2003	393.6	112.1	28.7	34.5	2.54	1301.0
2004	420.6	111.2	29.8	37.1	2.55	1370.0
2005	419.5	113.2	40.3	53.7	2.54	1416.2
2006	447.8	118.7	45.0	61.0	2.54	1502.5
2007	470.3	117.0	53.8	67.8	2.54	1609.6
2008	469.8	117.9	62.7	72.8	2.53	1674.5
2009	492.9	129.2	64.8	79.8	2.51	1726.9
2010	471.7	129.3	69.1	86.3	2.78	1786.2
2011	484.6	122.5	75.4	93.4	2.76	1876.6
2012	472.0	112.7	79.1	108.4	2.77	1902.2
2013	483.8	119.5	83.9	123.2	2.76	1917.8
2014	500.2	118.6	90.5	132.0	2.78	1989.1
2015	502.8	116.2	97.5	142.2	2.78	2078.8
2016	528.4	122.4	109.3	150.5	2.79	2136.6
2017	556.8	126.7	118.1	166.1	2.79	2243.5
2018	537.3	135.0	115.1	173.8	2.79	2376.5
2019	580.6	139.1	125.2	182.0	2.79	2480.0
2020	561.1	130.9	137.6	196.8	2.79	2429.7
2021	604.4	120.9	140.2	204.3	2.79	2589.6
2022	653.5	146.0	150.8	223.9	2.79	2732.9
Real average annual dynamics [percent]	2.23	1.17	8.34	10.17	0.57	3.71

The size and dynamics of selected economic values of agribusiness in Poland against the background of the country's economy in the years 2000-2022 (constant prices for 2022)

**—In 2010, the data was corrected based on the General Agricultural Census. Data for 2000-2001 and 2020-2022 were recalculated for comparability. *-Exchange rates in 2022: 1 zloty = 0,223 USD; 1 zloty = 0,213 EUR. Source: author's calculations based on Statistics Poland data*

The value of gross agribusiness output (in real terms) in Poland increased from around 380 billion Polish złoty to 600 billion złoty between 2000 and 2022, representing approximately a 1.6-fold increase. The gross value added (GVA) of agribusiness also increased in real terms by about 30% during the same period. This means that the ratio of value added to production decreased by approximately five percentage points from 27% to 22%. Profitability in agribusiness declined.

Employment in the agribusiness sector in Poland did not undergo significant changes. This is due to the high fragmentation of farms and the large number of people working in agriculture on a full—or part-time basis. After adjusting for the 2010 correction, after the National Agricultural Census, there was a slight increase in the number of people employed in agriculture, followed by a stabilization of employment.

In foreign trade, the share of turnover in agricultural and food products increased dynamically, both in imports and exports. Imports increased fivefold in real terms, while exports almost octupled. The average annual dynamics of real turnover value were 8.3% and 10.2%, respectively. Such high dynamics indicate that the sector's participation in international supply chains is increasingly significant and that the Polish agribusiness offering was competitive in foreign markets. Notably, exports increased from around 10% of the gross production value before 2005 to over 30% after 2015. Agribusiness in Poland currently has a strong export orientation.

Figure 1 shows the differences in the GVA dynamics of agriculture, the food industry and the entire economy. The lowest dynamics characterized GVA of agriculture; in 2011-2021, it was even lower than that observed at the beginning of the analyzed period. For the food processing sector, the GVA dynamics were higher than the average for the entire economy. During the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, there was a significant slowdown in the growth dynamics in this sector. It is worth noting that food processing is responsible for all the growth in agribusiness, while agriculture only maintains a constant level of added value. Higher added value is created by expanding the offer of processed food and process and product innovations.



Source: author's calculations based on Statistics Poland data

Fig. 1. Real dynamics of GVA in agriculture and food industry against the background of the entire economy in Poland in 2000-2022 (2000 = 100)

The share of agribusiness in the Polish economy and its changes

In the years 2000-2022, agribusiness in Poland was characterized by lower growth dynamics than the entire economy. As a result, its share in the Polish economy has changed. Table 2 shows the importance of agribusiness in the economy, which is measured using several main criteria.

Table 2

	Share of agribusiness in the economy in Poland in 2000-2022 in [in percent]						
Year	gross output	gross value added	net fixed assets	employed persons	import	export	
2000	11.9	8.3	8.0	19.9	6.5	8.4	
2001	11.7	8.2	7.4	20.3	6.8	8.4	
2002	11.4	7.5	7.2	20.1	6.5	8.0	
2003	11.4	7.3	7.0	20.1	5.9	9.4	
2004	11.6	8.0	7.0	20.1	5.2	7.5	
2005	10.8	7.5	6.8	19.7	6.8	10.0	
2006	10.6	7.4	6.5	19.2	6.4	9.8	
2007	11.1	7.3	6.1	18.5	6.7	9.9	
2008	10.0	6.3	5.8	18.0	7.2	10.1	
2009	10.2	6.3	5.5	18.2	8.7	11.8	
2010	9.6	6.5	5.3	19.7	8.1	11.2	
2011	10.0	6.8	4.9	19.4	8.3	11.2	
2012	9.8	6.0	4.8	19.5	8.8	12.5	
2013	9.9	6.2	4.7	19.4	9.1	13.2	
2014	9.6	5.9	4.7	19.1	9.0	13.2	
2015	9.1	5.5	4.6	18.8	9.1	13.3	
2016	9.2	5.8	5.0	18.2	9.6	13.2	
2017	9.5	6.1	4.7	17.8	9.4	13.5	
2018	8.4	5.4	4.7	17.5	8.5	13.3	
2019	8.8	5.3	4.6	17.3	9.0	13.3	
2020	8.7	5.1	4.6	17.3	9.9	14.3	
2021	8.7	5.0	4.5	17.0	8.6	13.1	
2022	9.7	5.3	4.6	16.8	8.8	13.8	
Total change, %	76.4	66.7	62.7	85.5	145.2	162.5	
CAGR in 2000-2022 in percent	-1.42	-2.22	-2.68	-0.67	2.21	2.72	

Changes in the importance of agribusiness in Poland in the years 2000-2022 according to selected criteria (the shares were determined at nominal values)

Source: author's calculations based on Statistics Poland data

The share of agribusiness in the Polish economy decreased. The primary indicator of the sector's significance in the economy, the share in gross value added, decreased by 2.6 percentage points between the beginning of the period (2000-2004) and the end of the period (2018-2022), from 7.8% to 5.2%. In relative terms, the decrease was as much as 33.3%. The share in gross output decreased by 2.7 percentage points to 8.9% in 2018-2022. The decrease was approximately 24%. To a lesser extent, by only 14.5%, the share of those employed in agribusiness decreased, and for the share of utilized fixed assets, the decline was 37%. It should be emphasized that the importance of agribusiness has reduced in terms of resource utilization, gross production, and value-added generation.

In contrast, an increase in importance was observed regarding the share of agribusiness in Poland's foreign trade. Trade in unprocessed agricultural products and processed food was considered. The share of agribusiness production in total exports increased from about 8 to 13.5%, with an overall increase of 5.2 percentage points during the entire period. In relative terms, this was a 62% increase. Concurrently, the import of agri-food products increased, but in this case, the dynamics were lower. In 2018-2022, the share of agri-food product imports in total imports was 9.0%. Since 2003, positive trade balances have

been observed in foreign trade in agribusiness products. In 2018-2022, this amounted to around 50 billion Polish złoty annually, representing approximately 12% of the value of total agribusiness production. The value of total agribusiness product exports in the last years accounted for about 35% of its total agribusiness output. It must be emphasized that the increase in output value in agribusiness was possible due to the export of surplus agricultural production and processed food.

Figure 2 shows the direction of changes in the significance of agribusiness in the Polish economy. In four out of six categories, the significance decreased. It is evident, among other things, that gross output and GVA decreased more than employment, leading to a relative decrease in labour efficiency in agribusiness.



Source: author's calculations

Fig. 2. Changes in the importance of agribusiness in the economy according to various criteria in the years 2000-2022 (2000-2004=100)

Changes in the internal structure of agribusiness and differences in labor efficiency

The results presented in the study concern agribusiness as a whole. Two main components included in this sector are agriculture and agri-food processing. There are persistent differences between these subsectors, primarily stemming from the level of production concentration and technological advancement. Another issue is that consumers expect food with an increasing degree of readiness for consumption, which means a lesser share of agricultural raw material costs in final products (Becvarova, 2002; D. Kusz et al., 2022). Similarly, processed food accounts for a growing share of exports, while agricultural raw materials account for a smaller share. Such a trend is observed alongside the economic development of countries. In more developed countries, the contribution of agriculture to value-added in agribusiness is smaller than the significance of food processing (Van Arendonk, 2015; World Bank Data, 2024). An exception is made for countries with high potential for plant production focused on the mass export of plant materials, such as grains (Zaburanna et al., 2017).

Figure 3 shows changes in agriculture and food processing share in creating gross added value within agribusiness. From 2000 to 2011, the share of agriculture decreased from 60 to 50%. After 2011, the majority of agribusiness GVA came from the processing subsector. The share of agriculture decreased to 40-45%. This means that a relatively modern structure currently characterizes agribusiness in Poland.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 49-59 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.005



□agriculture □food processing

Source: author's calculations

Fig. 3. Changes in the share of agriculture and food processing in creating gross value added within agribusiness in Poland in 2000-2022



Source: author's calculations

Fig. 4. Labour productivity in agriculture and food processing compared to labour productivity in the entire economy (based on GVA per employed person)

An evident weakness of agribusiness is lower labour productivity compared to the average productivity in the economy. This is because agriculture in Poland is still fragmented. There are 1.3 million farms, and the average area of agricultural land per farm is only 11 ha. Figure 4 shows the level of labour productivity in agriculture and food processing relative to labour productivity in the economy.

The observed average labour productivity in agriculture, measured by the GVA per employed person, was low, reaching approximately 20% of the national average. A downward trend was observed, at around 3% annually compared to the average labour productivity in the economy. Agriculture fails to achieve the same pace of labour productivity growth as other sectors; it is a prolonged process because of its farm structure, which is dominated by small farms, which slows down modernisation processes(B. Kusz et al., 2022). Similar situations exist in other EU countries with fragmented agriculture (Ronzon et al., 2020). In contrast, the food processing sector experienced a different development path. Labour productivity in this subsector, initially lower than the country average, increased along with industry modernization and has been at a similar level to the average since 2010. The average annual growth rate was 1.18% relative to the average. On average, labour productivity in the agribusiness sector (agriculture and food processing) reached about 30% of the national average. Such disproportion will persist until there is a consolidation and, consequently, an increase in labour productivity in agriculture.

Conclusions

Agribusiness can be a significant sector of the national economy, particularly in countries with favourable natural and economic conditions for agricultural development and in less developed countries. With economic and social progress, the importance of the food processing and distribution sectors within agribusiness increases while the importance of agriculture itself decreases. Food processing and distribution may become increasingly independent of domestic agriculture and rely on importing raw materials.

In Poland, between 2000 and 2022, the gross output of agribusiness increased by over 60% in real terms, and the real gross value added in agribusiness increased by 30%. However, the significance of agribusiness in the Polish economy decreased as the real GVA value increased by over 100%. Based on the analysis conducted, the following conclusions can be drawn.

 The dynamics of gross output and value-added in agribusiness were lower than those observed in the economy. The share of this sector in the economy decreased. Between 2000 and 2004, it accounted for approximately 8% of the gross value added in Poland, whereas between 2018 and 2022, it dropped to only 5.2%. Similarly, the sector's share in the gross output structure decreased from 11.6% to 8.9%.
In the GVA creation structure within agribusiness, agriculture's importance decreased while food processing increased. The share of food processing increased from about 40% to 56%. This also means that processed food with higher consumer readiness is becoming increasingly important.

3) The development of food processing was the basis for the dynamic growth of foreign trade in agrifood products. Their share in Polish exports increased from 8% to even 14% between 2000 and 2022. The trade balance surplus of agri-food products increased from zero to a permanent surplus of approximately \$16 billion (approximately 75 billion zloty).

4) Labour productivity in agribusiness in Poland, measured by GVA per person employed, was low compared to the national average and decreased over time. At the beginning of the study period, it was around 40%; in the end, between 2018 and 2022, it was only 30% of the average. This was due to low labour productivity in agriculture, which was about 18% of the average. In the food industry, labour productivity was similar to the national average.

5) Poland's agribusiness developed slower than the entire economy. The driving force for growth in this sector was the link of food processing, while agriculture maintained a steady production level. The development of processing enabled the export expansion of agri-food products and ensured market opportunities for agricultural farms.

6) The most important barriers to agribusiness development in Poland stem from farm fragmentation, which leads to low resource productivity and low labour productivity. Concentrating production in agriculture will promote the growth of labour productivity and the competitiveness of Polish agribusiness. Still, innovative processes and food products are necessary for further agribusiness development.

Bibliography

- Abashidze, G. (2023). Digital agriculture technological means and possibilities of digital transformation of agriculture. In A. Auzina (Ed.), *Economic Science for Rural Development*, (57) (pp. 13–19). LBTU. https://doi.org/10.22616/ESRD.2023.57.001
- Bajan, B., & Mrówczyńska-Kamińska, A. (2020). Carbon footprint and environmental performance of agribusiness production in selected countries around the world. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 276, 123389. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123389
- 3. Becvarova, V. (2002). The changes of the agribusiness impact on the competitive environment of agricultural enterprises. *Agricultural Economics*, *48*(*10*), 449–455. https://doi.org/10.17221/5351-AGRICECON

- Bilewicz, A., & Bukraba-Rylska, I. (2021). Deagrarianization in the making: The decline of family farming in central Poland, its roots and social consequences. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *88*, 368–376. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2021.08.002
- Bogone-Toth, & Zs.-Lakner, Z. (2014). Strategic Problems of Agribusiness Development and Environmental Burden in Light of Life Cycle Analysis in Hungary. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 143*, 1025–1030. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.07.548
- 6. Burkard, M. (2018). The Battle for Agriculture. In *Conflicting Philosophies and International Trade Law: Worldviews and the WTO* (pp. 209–262). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-61067-2_6
- 7. Davis, J. H., & Goldberg, R. A. (1957). *A Concept of Agribusiness* (1st ed.). Division of Research, Graduate School of Business Administration, Harvard University.
- de Azevedo Denise Barros and Pedrozo, E. A. and M. G. C. (2010). Participation of Agribusiness Stakeholders in Global Sustainability Questions: The Case of Climate Change and Bioenergy in Brazil. In C. Stoner James A. F. and Wankel (Ed.), *Global Sustainability as a Business Imperative* (pp. 255–268). Palgrave Macmillan US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-230-11543-9_15
- Dell'Angelo, J., Navas, G., Witteman, M., D'Alisa, G., Scheidel, A., & Temper, L. (2021). Commons grabbing and agribusiness: Violence, resistance and social mobilization. *Ecological Economics*, 184, 107004. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2021.107004
- 10. Dragicevic, A. Z. (2021). Emergence and Dynamics of Short Food Supply Chains. *Networks and Spatial Economics*, 21(1), 31–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11067-020-09512-7
- 11. Frisvold, G. B., Moss, S. M., Hodgson, A., & Maxon, M. E. (2021). Understanding the U.S. Bioeconomy: A New Definition and Landscape. *Sustainability*, *13*(4), 1627. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041627
- 12. Grontkowska, A., & Wicki, L. (2015). Zmiany znaczenia agrobiznesu w gospodarce i w jego wewnętrznej strukturze. *Roczniki Naukowe Ekonomii Rolnictwa i Rozwoju Obszarów Wiejskich, 102*(3), 20–32. https://doi.org/10.22630/RNR.2015.102.3.24
- 13. Kusz, B., Kusz, D., Bąk, I., Oesterreich, M., Wicki, L., & Zimon, G. (2022). Selected Economic Determinants of Labor Profitability in Family Farms in Poland in Relation to Economic Size. *Sustainability*, 14(21), 13819. https://doi.org/10.3390/su142113819
- 14. Kusz, D., Kusz, B., & Hydzik, P. (2022). Changes in the Price of Food and Agricultural Raw Materials in Poland in the Context of the European Union Accession. *Sustainability*, *14*(8), 4582. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14084582
- 15. Langford, A., Smith, K., & Lawrence, G. (2020). Financialising governance? State actor engagement with private finance for rural development in the Northern Territory of Australia. *Research in Globalization, 2*, 100026. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resglo.2020.100026
- 16. Lema, Z., Lobry de Bruyn, L. A., Marshall, G. R., Roschinsky, R., & Duncan, A. J. (2021). Multilevel innovation platforms for development of smallholder livestock systems: How effective are they? *Agricultural Systems, 189*, 103047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2020.103047
- 17. Lokko, Y., Heijde, M., Schebesta, K., Scholtès, P., Van Montagu, M., & Giacca, M. (2018). Biotechnology and the bioeconomy—Towards inclusive and sustainable industrial development. *New Biotechnology*, 40, 5–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbt.2017.06.005
- Malak-Rawlikowska, A., Majewski, E., Wąs, A., Borgen, S. O., Csillag, P., Donati, M., Freeman, R., Hoàng, V., Lecoeur, J.-L., Mancini, M. C., Nguyen, A., Saïdi, M., Tocco, B., Török, Á., Veneziani, M., Vittersø, G., & Wavresky, P. (2019). Measuring the Economic, Environmental, and Social Sustainability of Short Food Supply Chains. Sustainability, 11(15), 4004. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11154004
- 19. Milazzo, M. F., Spina, F., Cavallaro, S., & Bart, J. C. J. (2013). Sustainable soy biodiesel. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *27*, 806–852. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.07.031
- 20. Muska, A., Popluga, D., & Pilvere, I. (2022). Assessment of the Concentration and Structure of the Bioeconomy: The Regional Approach. *Emerging Science Journal, 7*(1), 60–76. https://doi.org/10.28991/ESJ-2023-07-01-05
- 21. Orlykovskyi, M., & Wicki, L. (2019). Znaczenie sektora agrobiznesu w Polsce i na Ukrainie. Zeszyty Naukowe SGGW w Warszawie Problemy Rolnictwa Światowego, 19(2), 210–223. https://doi.org/10.22630/PRS.2019.19.2.36
- 22. Raimjanova, M., & Popluga, D. (2023). Bioeconomy concept and possibilities of its implementation in Uzbekistan agriculture for making it more attractive for investments. In A. Auzina (Ed.), *Economic Science for Rural Development*, (57) (pp. 600–608). LBTU. https://doi.org/10.22616/ESRD.2023.57.059
- 23. Reardon, T., Barrett, C. B., Berdegué, J. A., & Swinnen, J. F. M. (2009). Agrifood Industry Transformation and Small Farmers in Developing Countries. *World Development, 37*(11), 1717–1727. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2008.08.023
- 24. Ritambhara, G., Shukla, S. K., & Shukla, S. (2021). Automation, Modern Tools and Technique for Sustainable Agriculture – An Important Parameter Toward Advance Plant Biotechnology. In C. Chakraborty (Ed.), *Green Technological Innovation for Sustainable Smart Societies: Post Pandemic Era* (pp. 281–300). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-73295-0_13
- 25. Ronzon, T., Piotrowski, S., Tamosiunas, S., Dammer, L., Carus, M., & M'barek, R. (2020). Developments of Economic Growth and Employment in Bioeconomy Sectors across the EU. *Sustainability*, 12(11), 4507. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12114507
- 26. Shainidze, E., Verulidze, V., & Surmanidze, I. (2023). The role of cooperatives in the process of development of agriculture and integration into trade area of the European Union case of Georgia. In A. Auzina (Ed.), *Economic Science for Rural Development*, (57) (pp. 556–565). LBTU. https://doi.org/10.22616/ESRD.2023.57.055

- 27. Van Arendonk, A. (2015). The development of the share of agriculture in GDP and employment. A Case Study of China, Indonesia, the Netherlands and the United States. Master's Thesis, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- 28. Wicka, A., & Wicki, L. (2023). Energy productivity in agriculture in EU countries directions and dynamics. In A. Auzina (Ed.), *Economic Science for Rural Development, (57)* (pp. 114–123). LULS&T. https://doi.org/10.22616/ESRD.2023.57.011
- 29. World Bank Data. (2024, March 10). World Bank national accounts data, and OECD National Accounts data files. World Bank National Accounts Data, and OECD National Accounts Data Files. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NV.AGR.TOTL.ZS
- 30. Zaburanna, L., Wicki, L., & Orlykovskyi, M. (2017). Agriculture in Poland and Ukraine Potential and Dynamics of Changes in Production. *Zeszyty Naukowe SGGW w Warszawie Problemy Rolnictwa Światowego, 17*(4), 326–338. https://doi.org/10.22630/PRS.2017.17.4.108
- 31. Zawojska, A. (2014). Globalna grabież ziemi rolniczej postrzegana przez pryzmat ekonomii politycznej. *Roczniki Naukowe Stowarzyszenia Ekonomistów Rolnictwa i Agrobiznesu, 16*(4), 369–376. https://rnseria.com/resources/html/article/details?id=172780
- 32. Ziggers, G. W. (1999). Vertical Coordination in Agribusiness and Food Industry: The Challenge of Developing Successful Partnerships (pp. 453–466). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-48765-1_26

EFFICIENCY OF PRODUCTION PROCESS AND COMPETITIVE OF COMPANIES

IMPACT OF ISO 9001 QUALITY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM ON SMES: THE EXAMPLE OF GEORGIA

Ekaterine Agamanashvili¹, PhD student;

Asie Tsintsadze², Doctor of Economics, Professor

^{1,2}Faculty of Economics and Business, Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University

Abstract. In the current era of globalization, many companies worldwide have adopted a quality management system that is recognized internationally. The International Organization for Standardization reports that over a million organizations across 170 countries have been granted the ISO 9001 certification as proof of their compliance with the quality management system standard (ISO, 2023). However, when we examine the certification data of Georgian businesses, only 134 companies in the country (ISO Survey, 2022) have been certified with the ISO 9001. The research conducted by various scholars indicates that ISO 9001 is a critical tool for enhancing competitiveness. Obtaining the ISO certification is an effective way to increase customer trust, and satisfaction, reduce production costs, and continuously improve companies.

The research aims to determine the effectiveness of the quality management system in small and medium-sized businesses in Georgia. It also highlights the benefits that service companies receive after obtaining an ISO certificate, such as increased process efficiency, improved service quality, better risk management, and a better company reputation. However, the study revealed that there is low awareness of the quality management system in Georgia, and the cost of certification is a hindrance for entrepreneurs when making a decision.

Key words: ISO 9001, quality certification, quality management system, business performance.

JEL code: M10, M16, O31

Introduction

Small and medium business is the most important component of the country's economic system. It is the main source of employment and income of the population. As of 1 January 2024, 255 961 active small and medium-sized businesses are registered in Georgia, which is 97.9% of the total number of active enterprises (National Statistics Office of Georgia, 2024). Small and medium-sized business has a great place in the economy of Georgia, and its sustainability, maintaining competitiveness and continuous improvement are very important for any country. Sustainable development of companies is the biggest challenge of the 21st century for business owners.

¹ E-mail: ekaterine.aghamanashvili@bsu.edu.ge

² E-mail: asie.tsintsadze@bsu.edu.ge

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 61-68 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.006



Source: National Statistics Office of Georgia

Fig. 1. Number of registered and active business entities

If we look at the statistical data of registered and active business entities in Georgia during the years 2012-2022 (Figure 1), we will see that the number of registered businesses increased by 403700 during the given 10-year period, and the number of active business entities by the end of 2022 is only 205700 entities, which is 51% of the total registered ones. This indicates that a significant part of the companies can no longer continue their development and stop being active. Under the strong competition of globalization, business needs a new, modern management approach, which will affect its quality and process efficiency and make it more competitive in the modern era. In order to maintain the sustainability of the companies, a number of companies in the world have already introduced a quality management system. According to the International Organization for Standardization, more than a million organizations in 170 countries around the world have received the ISO 9001 certificate as evidence of compliance with the requirements of the quality management system standard (ISO, 2023). If we look at the certification data of Georgian business entities, according to the data of the International Standardization Authority, only 134 companies in the country (ISO Survey, 2022) are ISO 9001 certified.

The purpose of the research paper is to determine the effectiveness of the quality management system in small and medium-sized businesses in Georgia. Many researchers worldwide have investigated the effectiveness of ISO 9001, although there are few studies in this field in Georgia, which shows the novelty and topicality of the research. The research reveals the positive effects that certification can have in Georgia.

In the research process, the research hypothesis was formed as follows: ISO 9001 has a positive impact on the efficiency of business processes in Georgia. The research methodology is based on qualitative and quantitative research methods: review of scientific literature, questionnaire survey. Also, quantitative data were obtained from the databases of national statistics of Georgia and International Organization for Standardization.

Data collection was carried out by remote survey method through google.doc questionnaire. The questionnaire was sent to representatives of 20 small and medium-sized businesses, which carry out crewing activities, namely the employment of seafarers in Georgia. All companies have been ISO 9001 certified for at least 1 year. Company managers were involved in the research. The surveyed companies employ a maximum of 50 employees. The questionnaire was answered by the heads of 8 companies, which represents 5% of ISO 9001 certified companies (134 companies in total) in Georgia. Diagrams were used

in the study to visualize the results. The study examined the impact of ISO 9001 on factors such as the efficiency of company processes, service quality, customer satisfaction, company cost reduction, profit growth, competitiveness, risk management and reputation.

During the research process, a review of the literature on the research topic was carried out. As can be seen from scientific works, many researchers confirm that ISO 9001 is an important tool for increasing competitiveness. In the conditions of strong competition in the era of globalization, companies should pay special attention to the quality of products and services. ISO certification is an effective way to gain customer trust, increase satisfaction, reduce production costs and continuously improve companies. As a result of the effective implementation of the quality management standard, companies are given the opportunity to significantly increase performance, stability and competitiveness (Almutairi, 2024).

According to a study by the International Organization for Standardization, which surveyed 10 small and medium-sized businesses about the impact of the ISO standard on their business, certification opened the way for them to tap into new customers and markets, which contributed to faster business growth and increased profits. The main advantages of the implementation were expressed in the following: improved products and services, cost reduction and increased profits, increasing competitiveness, opening export markets, adding new customers and strengthening business, the ability to compete with larger companies, gaining and increasing customer trust, increasing the efficiency of business processes, marketing Strengthening, promoting compliance with regulations (ISO, 2014).

In their research, Kim and Kumar revealed that the results of implementing a quality management system are reflected in an improved system, standardized processes and an improved communication environment (Kim et al., 2011). Some researchers have found that when the motivation for standard implementation is based mostly on the internal interest of the organization, the positive effect of implementation is also higher, which is caused by the pursuit of real quality improvement. On the other hand, if the motivation is limited to commercial motives, then the positive effect of the implementation is also limited by the external effect, and without the internal interest, the other benefits of the standard cannot be achieved. A significant correlation was found between the duration of system implementation and the resulting success. The longer the time since the certification, the higher the benefits, especially in those companies whose motive is not only determined by external factors (del Castillo-Peces, 2018).

Lepistö, K., Saunila, M. and Ukko, J., claim that quality management has a positive effect on customer satisfaction (Lepistö et al., 2022). In another study, researchers found that the quality management system affects the company's product excellence, which is directly related to competitiveness; on the increase of staff capacity; on increasing customer satisfaction; Implementation and continuous improvement of internal tools for meeting customer expectations (García et al., 2014). Several researchers such as Fazal Ali Shaikh and Samiullah Sohu confirm that the advantages of ISO in the construction industry are employee satisfaction, material cost reduction and new business contracts in global markets (Fazal & Samiullah, 2020).

Noteworthy is the work of researchers Zhiqing Yang, Peiyao Liu and Lianfa Luo, which deals with the impact of ISO 9001 certification implementation on China's agri-food business. The researchers concluded that ISO 9001 certification is positively related to the export of agricultural products, ISO 9001 certification promotes exports by increasing business innovation activities, and third, the export effect is greater for food than non-food manufacturing firms (Zhiqing et al., 2023).

Barkat Ullah, in his research, found that as a result of certification, companies innovate more in countries with weak institutions. These findings explain the rapidly growing popularity of quality certification in

developing countries (Barkat, 2022). As Simon Hillnhagen, Alexander Mützeb, Peter Nyhuisband Matthias Schmidt point out in their research, by implementing ISO 9001, not only business owners get benefits as a result of continuous improvement, but also employees and Kopmann customers (Hillnhagen et al., 2023). As for the main motivators that push companies to implement a quality management system, they are increasing efficiency in the direction of market, productivity and competitiveness (Fonseca, 2022).

The significant benefits of ISO 9001 certification are demonstrated by the positive effects of increased customer satisfaction, customer retention, market share growth, employee productivity, and employee satisfaction resulting from the implementation of a quality management system through improved employee education, communication, teamwork, measurable quality goals, continuous improvement, and better work. from the conditions. ISO 9001 certificate helps to raise the image of the company and overcome trade barriers (Milovanović, 2023).

The implementation of the ISO standard on the one hand requires the organization to meet and bring the processes in line with the requirements of the standard, and on the other hand it promotes the development of the organization through continuous improvement (Olkiewicz, 2023). As a result of the implementation of the standard, there is a need to take into account user requirements, prevent defects and make continuous improvements in organizations, which affects the company's business results. This is the most important factor for gaining a competitive advantage (Nurcahyo et al., 2021).

Research results and discussion

A survey consisting of 10 questions was used to test the hypothesis, and the answer options ranged from zero impact to significant impact. The questionnaire was sent to representatives of 20 small and medium-sized businesses that carry out recruitment activities in Georgia. These are also all crewing companies, which are also recognized by the maritime regulatory body of the country, the Maritime Transport Agency of Georgia. The questionnaire was answered by the heads of 8 companies. The analysis of the obtained results is given in subsections according to each factor.

1. Motivations for certification of companies

Figure 2 shows that according to the respondents' answers, the motivations for certification differ for different companies. In addition, the motivators are both internal, such as: service quality, process efficiency, and external motivators: competitiveness, state regulation requirement, consumer request. The biggest share (37.5%) is the motivation to improve service quality, which means that most companies implement quality management systems to improve quality.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 61-68 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.006



Fig. 2. ISO certification motivators

2. Impact of quality management system on process efficiency

The results of the survey show (Figure 3) that 75% of respondents believe that ISO 9001 has a significant impact on increasing the efficiency of processes. In addition, according to 25%, the implementation of the quality management system had an insignificant impact. None of the respondents claim that ISO 9001 had no impact on processes. The obtained research results confirm the results of the previous research that ISO 9001 has a positive impact on the efficiency of the company's processes (Kim et al., 2011).



Source: authors' survey

Fig. 3. ISO 9001 impact on process efficiency

3. Impact of ISO 9001 on service quality growth and customer satisfaction

As Figure 4 shows, 87.5% of respondents believe that ISO 9001 has a positive impact on the company's customer service quality, and 62.5% believe that customer satisfaction has increased significantly. However, none of the respondents claimed that ISO 9001 had no impact on service. Therefore, within the framework of the results of the conducted research, it can be concluded that the quality management system has a significant impact on the quality of service of companies. The results are consistent with the results of a previous study regarding the positive impact of a quality management system on service quality (Milovanović, 2023).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 61-68 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.006



Source: authors' survey

Fig. 4. Impact of ISO 9001 on service quality growth and customer satisfaction 4. ISO 9001 impact on cost reduction, profit growth and risk management

Based on the results of the conducted research (Figure 5), the opinion of the respondents is divided in terms of cost reduction and profit growth. In particular, 25% of respondents believe that ISO 9001 has no impact on financial performance, however, the remaining 75% of respondents believe that the quality management system has had an impact on cost reduction and profit growth. As for risk management, the largest part (62.5%) believes that certification had a significant impact on risk prevention and reduction, while 37.5% believe that it had little impact on risk management. The obtained research results confirm the results of the previous research that ISO 9001 has a positive impact on the reduction of company costs (Fazal et al., 2020).



Source: authors' survey

Fig. 5. **ISO 9001 impact on cost reduction, profit growth and risk management 5. Impact of ISO 9001 on the competitiveness and reputation of the company**

Half of the surveyed respondents (50%) believe that the quality management system has little impact on the company's competitiveness (Figure 6), while 37.5% believe that ISO 9001 has a great impact on the company's competitiveness. In terms of reputation enhancement, a small number of company managers, 37.5%, believe that the certificate has a small impact on image enhancement, and the majority - 62.5% believe that the impact of the system on the company's reputation is significant. The positive impact of ISO 9001 on company competitiveness has been found also in other studies (Fonseca et al., 2022; Nurcahyo et al., 2021; Almutairi et al., 2024).



Source: authors' survey

Fig. 6. Impact of ISO 9001 on the competitiveness and reputation of the company

6. ISO 9001 advantages and barriers

The respondents in the research emphasized the advantages that the certification brought to their company. These are: orderly and well-thought-out work processes that can always be improved, understanding and taking care to reduce risks, analysing the company's results through management analysis and understanding future plans, quality growth and continuous improvement. According to the respondents, the enterprises operating in the domestic market of Georgia will likely need to introduce an international standard to improve the efficiency of work processes and the quality of services. Some foreign companies may require ISO 9001 certification when approving suppliers or finding partners. Therefore, certification also increases the chance of attracting customers. One of the respondents emphasizes the benefits that the system has brought. Namely, high quality, transparency, lack of risks and analysis of processes.

As for the factors hindering business certification, companies mention the lack of awareness about ISO 9001 in Georgia, the absence of a national quality system, and the amount of service fees of certification organizations.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

Thus, as a result of the research we can draw the following conclusions.

 The company's reputation, customer satisfaction, improved business processes are the most important levers for maintaining business sustainability in the face of global competition. One of the powerful tools to ensure the above is the implementation of the ISO 9001 quality management system.
The ISO certificate has a positive impact on the sustainable development of companies. It has especially positive impact on such factors as efficiency of processes, quality of service, risk management and growth of the company's reputation, which confirms the hypothesis – ISO 9001 has a positive impact on the efficiency of business processes in Georgia.

3) The quality management system ensures orderly and well-thought-out operation of work processes, prevention of company risks, continuous improvement of quality, thus gaining customer trust and increasing quantity, which ultimately, especially in the long term, results in increased profits.

4) The barrier to ISO 9001 certification in Georgia is low public awareness and difficult acceptance of its certification fee.

5) The limitation of this study is the small number of respondents and research focussing only on one specific direction of the investigated businesses - service industry. It is desirable to carry out studies on a larger scale in the future and also study the impact of the quality management system in the industrial and commercial spheres.

Bibliography

- 1. García, J. Á., Rama, M. D. L. C. D. R., & Alonso, M. V. (2014). The Effects of Quality Management Practices on Key Results: questionnaires sample for the industry of tourist accommodation in Spain. *Revista Brasileira de Gestão de Negócios, 16*, pp. 351-373.
- Almutairi, S.; Weheba, G. (2024). Factors Correlating with Revisions of the ISO 9001 Quality Management Standard. Journal of Management & Engineering Integration, [s. l.], v. 11, n. 2, p. 25–36, 2018. Disponívelem:https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plinkid=9455b54b-2735-3498-9fdb-d74b6da7e577.
- 3. Barkat, U. (2022). The impact of quality certification on SME innovation and the role of institutions. Research in International Business and Finance, Volume 62, 101748, ISSN 0275-5319.
- Del Castillo-Peces, C., Mercado-Idoeta, C., Prado-Roman, M., & del Castillo-Feito, C. (2018). The influence of motivations and other factors on the results of implementing ISO 9001 standards. European Research on Management and Business Economics, 24(1), pp. 33-41.
- Fonseca, L.M., Cardoso, M.C. and Nóvoa, M.H. (2022). "Motivations for ISO 9001 quality management system implementation and certification – mapping the territory with a novel classification proposal", International Journal of Quality and Service Sciences, Vol. 14 No. 1, pp. 18-36. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQSS-02-2021-0031.
- 6. Fazal, A. S., Samiullah S. (2020). Implementation, Advantages and Management of ISO 9001 in the Construction Industry. Civil Engineering Journal.Vol. 6, No. 6, pp 1136-1142.
- Hussain, M., Reynolds, P., Zahid, U., Khan, J., Tariq, R., & Maqbool, N. (2019). Relationship Between Total Quality Management Practices and Profitability: Case of Small Hotel Sector London (UK) (Doctoral dissertation, University of the West of Scotland).
- Hillnhagen, S., Mütze A., Nyhuis, P., Schmidt, M. (2023). Influence of ISO 9001 on the configuration of production planning and control, Procedia CIRP, Volume 120, pp. 1292-1296, ISSN 2212-8271, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2023.09.165.
- 9. International Organization for Standardization. The ISO Survey of Management System Standard Certifications 2022. Retrieved from: https://www.iso.org/the-iso-survey.html.
- 10. International Organization for Standardization. (2014). Ten good thing for smes. Retrieved from: https://www.iso.org/files/live/sites/isoorg/files/store/en/PUB100283.pdf.
- 11. Kim, D., Kumar, V. and Kumar, U. (2011). "A performance realization framework for implementing ISO 9000", International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management, Vol. 28 No. 4, pp. 383-404.
- 12. Lepistö, K., Saunila, M. and Ukko, J. (2022). "Enhancing customer satisfaction, personnel satisfaction and company reputation with total quality management: combining traditional and new views", Benchmarking: An International Journal, Vol. ahead-of-print No. ahead-of-print.
- 13. Milovanović, V., Paunović, M., & Casadesús, M. (2023). Measuring the Impact of ISO 9001 on Employee and Customer Related Company Performance. Quality innovation prosperity, 27(1).
- Magodi A.Y., Daniyan I.A., Mpofu K. (2022). Investigation of the effect of the ISO 9001 quality management system on small and medium enterprises in Gauteng, South Africa. South African Journal of Industrial Engineering, 33 (1), pp. 126 - 138, DOI: 10.7166/33-1-2521.
- 15. Nurcahyo, R. Zulfadlillah, Habiburrahman, M. (2021). Relationship between ISO 9001:2015 and operational and business performance of manufacturing industries in a developing country (Indonesia), Heliyon, Volume 7, Issue 1, e05537, ISSN 2405-8440, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05537.
- 16. National Statistics Office of Georgia. (2024). Retrieved from: https://www.geostat.ge/en/modules/categories/64/business-register.
- Olkiewicz, m., Dyczkowska J., Chamier-Gliszczynski, N., Królikowski, T. (2023). Quality management in organizations within the framework of standardized management systems, Procedia Computer Science, Volume 225, pp. 4101-4109, ISSN 1877-0509, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2023.10.406.
- Shaohan C., Minjoon J. (2018). A qualitative study of the internalization of ISO 9000 standards: The linkages among firms' motivations, internalization processes, and performance. International Journal of Production Economics 196 (2018) pp. 248–260.
- 19. Zhiqing, Y., Peiyao, L., Lianfa, L. (2023). Growing exports through ISO 9001 quality certification: Firm-level evidence from Chinese agri-food sectors, Food Policy, Volume 117, 102455, ISSN 0306-9192.

LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY CONVERGENCE IN THE BUSINESS ECONOMY ACROSS EU MEMBER STATES

Sandris Ancans¹, Mg.oec

¹Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. Labour productivity indicates output per employee, represents production efficiency and is the key factor in incomes and therefore the standard of living. Labour productivity in the business economy varied significantly, i.e. sixfold, across EU Member States, with the lowest labour productivity being reported mostly in East European Member States, which makes it necessary to achieve higher productivity there. The present research aims to examine convergence trends in labour productivity and labour cost in the business economy in the EU. The research found that the fastest increase in labour productivity was reported mostly in East European Member States, although different trends were observed and even a slight decrease was reported in some Member States. However, overall, the gaps in labour productivity and labour cost between the Member States decreased significantly over a decade. A correlation analysis revealed that the correlation was strong between the change in labour productivity and that in labour cost, even though a negative trend was observed in most of the Member States with the labour cost increasing at a higher rate than the productivity, which is not sustainable economic growth in the long term.

Key words: labour productivity, convergence, business economy, EU Member States.

JEL code: Q1

Introduction

Labour productivity, according to Eurostat, measures the amount of goods and services produced by each member of the labour force or the output per input of labour. Labour productivity is often defined as the value added per employed person. As a measure, the present research employed apparent labour productivity, which is defined as value added at factor costs divided by the number of persons employed and presented in thousands of euros per person employed. In the author's opinion, labour productivity is an accurate indicator for the tradable sector (business economy), but not for the entire economy because it is difficult to measure labour productivity in the nontradable sector making up most of the economy and representing public-sector and non-market activities, the value added of which could not be measured, e.g. many government-provided services.

D. Sondermann (2012) has found that "no convergence can be found at the aggregate level, selected service sectors and manufacturing sub-industries indicate evidence of convergence. Investments in research and development as well as a high skill level of employees are shown to be beneficial whereas regulations constitute a burden". This is consistent with the author's opinion that at the aggregate level or the entire economy level, measuring labour productivity or identifying the trend therein cannot lead to an accurate result, whereas at the level of some industries or sector (tradable), it yields accurate results.

Disparities in labour productivity vary significantly across countries in the world, including EU Member States, as do incomes and the standard of living. This problem needs to be addressed and is a research focus for a number of researchers. For example, A. Filippetti and A. Peyrache (2013) have found that "disparities in the levels of labour productivity are still substantial and, to a considerable extent, they can be attributed to technology gap differences. This raises concerns about the process of convergence in labour productivity in Europe and suggests further policies aimed at reducing the technology gap". A. Naveed and N. Ahmad (2016) have established that "the speed of convergence is different across different aggregation levels. The convergence speed at the regional levels is faster than at the country and industry levels".

Labour productivity convergence is an urgent problem to be researched in the EU, as a significant gap in labour productivity results in a significant gap in income levels between West and East European

¹ E-mail: sanan@lbtu.lv

Member States. This contributes to excessive labour migration within the EU, a "brain drain" and other socio-economic problems, mostly in East European Member States.

The present research employed Eurostat data and aims to examine convergence trends in labour productivity and labour cost in the business economy in the EU. To achieve the aim, the following specific research tasks were set: 1) to examine disparities in labour productivity and labour cost and long-term changes therein in the EU Member States; 2) to identify correlations between changes in labour productivity, labour cost and investment.

The research employed statistical analysis and correlation analysis to identify correlations between the mentioned variables based on Eurostat data.

Research results and discussion

According to the Balassa-Samuelson theory, the income level, as well as the standard of living, are determined by the tradable sector or, more accurately, labour productivity in the tradable sector that represents export industries. The tradable sector is the "engine" of the entire economy. Unfortunately, Eurostat does not provide data on the tradable sector, yet there are data available only on the business economy. The business economy encompasses mostly export industries and, therefore, could be considered to roughly represent the tradable sector determining the income level in the entire economy. The business economy does not include agriculture, forestry and fishing (section A, NACE Rev. 2), which are an insignificant component of the economy, but a significant component of the tradable sector.

Even though this applies to the entire economy, a working document by the European Commission (2023) found "positive trends in labour productivity, reflecting upward convergence, though disparities were still high between Member States and even more between EU regions" and "less developed regions were generally catching up with the EU average in terms of labour productivity. However, the pace of convergence had considerably decelerated since 2008, notably after the economic turmoil which followed the economic and financial crisis which affected EU regions asymmetrically. In transition regions, labour productivity had drifted away from the EU average during the last decade". Therefore, one can conclude that according to the working document, overall, there are mostly positive trends in labour productivity convergence in the EU.

At the same time, it is important to note that labour productivity convergence needs to be balanced. Hoffer and Spiecker (2011) have found that "with the Euro, balanced trade requires that wages in all Member States grow in line with national productivity plus targeted inflation rate of the ECB. Otherwise, countries with relatively higher growth in unit labour costs will systematically lose market share and build up trade deficits". This means that in the long term, the pace of labour cost increases needs to be the same as the pace of labour productivity increases.

1. Disparities in labour productivity in the business economy across EU Member States

The research analysed labour productivity in the business economy in the EU. Table 1 shows the Member States arranged in descending order of labour productivity in the business economy. In 2020, the highest labour productivity was reported in Ireland, whereas the lowest, i.e. 10-fold lower, was in Bulgaria, which was a very significant disparity. In the period 2008-2020, the most significant increase in labour productivity in the business economy was reported mostly in East European Member States: Bulgaria (98.9%), Lithuania (83.8%), Estonia (72.5%), Poland (55.4%), Romania (54.1%) and Latvia (37.3%), as well as in two West European Member States: Ireland (132.2%) and Malta (56.2%). The extremely high labour productivity as well as the increase therein in Ireland could be explained by "the impact that the

highly globalized nature of the Irish economy has on productivity measures" (Central Statistics Office of Ireland, 2019).

A decrease in labour productivity in the business economy was reported in three Member States: Greece (34.2%), Cyprus (9.4) and Spain (3.6). Greece underwent a serious economic crisis in the period of analysis, which can explain this decrease. The economy of Cyprus is associated with the economy of Greece, which impacted the situation in this small economy. Spain experienced an insignificant decrease in labour productivity, yet given the period of more than a decade, this indicates long-term economic stagnation. In the same period, France also had no significant progress in this respect.

Table 1

Country/Year	2008	2012	2016	2020	2020/ 2008,.%
Ireland	77	90.8	135.6	178.8	132.2
Luxembourg	75.5	79.4	87.5	95.5	26.5
Denmark	79.5	74.9	82.9	95.2	19.7
Belgium	65.1	69.6	75.6	79.5	22.1
Sweden	59.2	69.7	71.3	75.3	27.2
Austria	59.5	61.8	66.9	69.3	16.5
Finland	61.4	59.7	65.5	68.1	10.9
Netherlands	53.3	57.8	62.0	67.1	25.9
Germany	54.7	52.5	57.0	61.8	13.0
France	58	57.5	60.3	59.7	2.2
Italy	42.1	43.9	48.2	46.4	10.2
Malta	26.0	29.8	38.7	40.6	56.2
Spain	41.2	39.7	40.5	39.7	-3.6
Slovenia	30.0	29.8	34.1	38.1	27.0
Cyprus	38.2	34.4	34.9	34.6	-9.4
Estonia	18.9	23.7	27.4	32.6	72.5
Czechia	24.3	23.9	25.7	30.4	25.1
Poland	18	20.6	21.5	27.5	55.4
Slovakia	22.4	23.2	23.1	25.7	14.7
Portugal	23.3	22.6	24.9	25.0	7.3
Hungary	19.3	19.1	21.2	24.3	25.9
Lithuania	13.0	14.8	17.9	23.9	83.8
Croatia	20.9	19.1	22.1	23.3	11.5
Latvia	15.8	16.2	17.4	21.7	37.3
Romania	13.3	12.6	15.2	20.5	54.1
Greece	28.4	24.9	19.4	18.7	-34.2
Bulgaria	8.7	9.7	12.6	17.3	98.9

Apparent labour productivity in the business economy and changes therein in EU Member States in 2008-2020, EUR thou./employee

Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat

Overall, the situation regarding labour productivity in the EU could be viewed positively, with mostly East European Member States indicating significant increases in labour productivity, which is a natural and logical trend in the convergence. In 2008 in the EU, the productivity gap was more than 9.1-fold

(79.5 EUR thou./employee in Denmark and 8.7 EUR thou./employee in Bulgaria), while in 2020 it was 5.5-fold between Luxembourg and Bulgaria, i.e. significantly lower (Ireland was not taken into consideration for some reasons specified below).

Table 2 shows the Member States arranged in descending order of labour cost in the business economy in the period 2008-2020. In 2008, the highest labour cost was reported in Denmark with almost 5 thou. EUR, whereas the lowest was in Bulgaria with less than 400 EUR per month, i.e. the difference was 13-fold. In 2020, the highest labour cost was reported in Denmark with more than EUR 6 thou., whereas the lowest was in Bulgaria with less than EUR 1 thou. a month, i.e. almost a 7-fold disparity. Over the period of analysis, the labour cost gap decreased almost 2-fold. Table 2 also shows labour productivity changes (Table 1) and allows a comparison of the labour productivity changes with labour cost changes, with a positive sign (+) indicating a positive trend (an increase in labour cost does not exceed an increase in labour productivity) and a negative sign (-) showing a negative trend (an increase in labour cost exceeds an increase in labour productivity). In most of the Member States, the trend was negative, indicating economic unsustainability. The most negative trend was observed in Latvia (labour cost increase was 73.8%, while labour productivity increase was only 37.3%), Romania (79.6% and 54.1%) and Bulgaria (141.9% and 98.9%). In contrast, the most positive trend was observed in Ireland (12.0% and 132.2%), Malta (9.9% and 56.2%), Lithuania (64.5% and 83.8%), Estonia (53.8% and 72.5%) and Poland (39.5% and 55.4%), thereby indicating economic sustainability. Among the Baltic States, only Latvia demonstrated a negative trend (a labour cost increase exceeding a productivity increase is possible at the expense of the factors of production other than labour as well as of gross fixed capital formation). As regards Ireland, the data might need some adjustment to indicate the true situation, as mentioned above.
Table 2

Labour cost in the business economy and changes therein in EU Member States in 2008-2020, EUR a month

Country/Year	2008	2012	2016	2020	2020/ 2008, %	Productivity change, %	Trend
Denmark	4 905	5 584	5 897	6 289	28.2	19.7	-
Luxembourg	4 638	5 023	5 539	6 033	30.1	26.5	-
Sweden	4 775	5 691	5 809	5 597	17.2	27.2	+
Netherlands	4 289	4 759	4 976	5 195	21.1	25.9	+
Austria	4 029	4 484	4 872	5 145	27.7	16.5	-
Germany	4 036	4 367	4 771	5 092	26.2	13.0	-
France	4 282	4 612	4 689	4 993	16.6	2.2	-
Belgium	4 590	5 061	5 053	4 905	6.9	22.1	+
Finland	3 848	4 368	4 778	4 773	24.0	10.9	-
Ireland	4 031	4 074	4 235	4 514	12.0	132.2	+
Italy	3 492	3 689	3 869	3 750	7.4	10.2	+
Spain	2 798	3 071	3 062	3 018	7.9	-3.6	-
Slovenia	1 929	2 187	2 310	2 604	35.0	27.0	-
Cyprus	2 269	2 516	2 180	2 258	-0.5	-9.4	-
Estonia	:	1 340	1 650	2 061	53.8	72.5	+
Portugal	1 682	1 840	1 878	2 018	20.0	7.3	-
Malta	1 812	1 993	2 182	1 991	9.9	56.2	+
Czechia	1 349	1 483	1 528	1 985	47.1	25.1	-
Greece	2 465	2 445	2 344	1 927	-21.8	-34.2	-
Slovakia	:	1 325	1 475	1 799	35.8	14.7	-
Croatia	1 363	1 375	1 405	1 667	22.3	11.5	-
Latvia	896	945	1 180	1 557	73.8	37.3	-
Poland	1 103	1 114	1 246	1 539	39.5	55.4	+
Hungary	1 182	1 184	1 301	1 519	28.5	25.9	-
Lithuania	876	874	1 117	1 441	64.5	83.8	+
Romania	636	659	830	1 142	79.6	54.1	-
Bulgaria	375	498	649	907	141.9	98.9	-

Notes: data unavailable (:); positive trend (+); negative trend (-) Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat

The next measure analysed is investment per person employed in the business economy. Table 3 shows the Member States arranged in descending order of the variable in the period 2008-2020. In 2008, the highest figure was reported in Denmark with EUR 24.0 thou. EUR/person, whereas the lowest one was in Poland (3.9), which was almost a 6-fold gap. In 2020, the highest figure was reported in Belgium with EUR 19.1 thou. EUR/person, whereas the lowest one was in Greece (2.9), which was almost a 7-fold disparity. In contrast to the positive trend (convergence) in labour productivity and labour cost, no significant improvement was reported in terms of investment during the period of analysis. Greece reported the largest decrease in this measure over the period (60.8%). Cyprus and Denmark also reported very significant decreases. In Latvia, investment decreased by 34.8%, while labour productivity increased by 37.3%, indicating that labour cost (wages) could increase at the expense of deteriorating fixed assets, which was one of the factors.

Table 3

Country/Year	2008	2012	2016	2020	2020/ 2008, %	Productivity change, %	Trend
Ireland	16	26.9	10.0	25.8	60.2	132.2	+
Belgium	21.9	15.2	18.7	19.1	-12.8	22.1	+
Sweden	13.6	13.7	14.2	15.4	13.2	27.2	+
Luxembourg	9.4	11.5	12.8	13.9	47.9	26.5	-
Denmark	24.0	14.9	14.6	13.5	-43.8	19.7	+
France	13	13	12.2	12.8	1.6	2.2	+
Austria	14.2	12.1	11.9	12.7	-10.6	16.5	+
Finland	11.1	9.3	11.6	11.9	7.2	10.9	+
Netherlands	10.5	8.9	8.7	10.5	0.0	25.9	+
Germany	8.5	6.7	7.9	9.2	8.2	13.0	+
Hungary	4.9	4.5	5.7	7.9	61.2	25.9	-
Estonia	7.0	7.7	7.4	7.7	10.0	72.5	+
Czechia	6.6	5.9	5.7	7.1	7.6	25.1	+
Romania	8.7	7.0	6.6	7.1	-18.4	54.1	+
Slovenia	10.7	6.4	6.5	6.6	-38.3	27.0	+
Slovakia	9.5	6.2	6.5	6.6	-30.5	14.7	+
Italy	7.9	5.9	6.0	5.9	-25.3	10.2	+
Latvia	8.9	5.9	4.9	5.8	-34.8	37.3	+
Portugal	7.4	4.0	5.5	5.8	-21.6	7.3	+
Spain	9.0	5.6	5.6	5.7	-36.7	-3.6	-
Poland	3.9	4.3	4.7	5.6	43.6	55.4	+
Lithuania	5.4	4.3	4.8	5.5	1.9	83.8	+
Bulgaria	6.1	4.1	3.6	4.9	-19.7	98.9	+
Malta	5.4	5.3	11	4.5	-16.7	56.2	+
Croatia	7.5	4.0	4.4	4.4	-41.3	11.5	+
Cyprus	8.5	4.6	3.8	4.1	-51.8	-9.4	-
Greece	7.4	5.0	3.5	2.9	-60.8	-34.2	-

Investment per person employed in the business economy and changes therein in EU Member States in 2008-2020, thou. EUR

Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat

Overall, the situation regarding investment was quite negative, as most of the Member States decreased investment in their business economies. In several Member States, the amounts of investment decreased, whereas labour productivity increased, with the most notable positive trend being observed in Latvia, Romania, Slovenia, Slovakia, Croatia, Italy and Bulgaria. The same trend was observed in Malta, yet the variable was quite volatile in this Member State, which could be explained by its offshore country status. A very positive trend was observed in Estonia, as an increase of 10% in investment led to a 72.5 % increase in labour productivity.

2. Correlation between labour productivity and selected variables

The research calculated coefficients of correlation between changes in labour productivity and those in other two variables: labour cost and investment per person employed. The correlation analysis revealed that the coefficient of correlation between changes in labour productivity and those in labour cost was 0.6,

indicating a moderate correlation. However, if Ireland is excluded, the correlation coefficient was 0.81, which is a strong correlation. In 2020, Ireland reported very high labour productivity (178.8 EUR thou./employee) at a relatively low labour cost (EUR 4514 a month). For comparison, Germany reported almost 3-fold lower labour productivity (61.8 EUR thou./employee) at even a higher labour cost of EUR 5092 a month, which is illogical (Fig. 1).



Labour productivity, EUR/person

Fig. 1. Empirical relationship between apparent labour productivity and labour cost in the business economy across EU Members States in 2020

As shown in Figure 1, the position of Ireland on the chart is far away from the positions of other Member States, indicating that the labour productivity in Ireland needs to be adjusted for some factor(s) therein.

As regards correlation with the second variable or investment per person employed, the research identified a correlation coefficient of 0.42, which is a moderate correlation. However, if excluding Bulgaria, the coefficient reached 0.5. An exclusion of none of the other Member States could increase the coefficient so significantly. This could be explained by the fact that in the period of analysis, Bulgaria succeeded in increasing labour productivity by 98.9%, whereas investment per person employed decreased in this Member State by 19.7%, and such a strong positive trend was not observed in any other Member State.

Overall, it could be concluded that labour productivity and labour cost converged between the EU Member States during the period of analysis, which in turn reduced the gap in income and, therefore, the living standards between the developed Western European and less developed Eastern European EU Member States, thus also reducing various socio-economic problems in the Eastern European EU Member States.

Conclusions

1) In the period 2008-2020, the most significant increase in labour productivity in the business economy was reported mostly in East European Member States, as well as a couple of West European Member States, thereby indicating the convergence of labour productivity between the Member States.

2) In the EU, the labour productivity gap decreased significantly from 9.1-fold in 2008 to 5.5-fold in 2020 (between Denmark/Luxembourg and Bulgaria), thereby indicating a positive trend.

3) In the EU, the labour cost gap decreased significantly from approximately 13-fold in 2008 to 7-fold in 2020 (between Denmark and Bulgaria), thus indicating a positive trend.

4) In 2020, there was a 10-fold labour productivity gap across EU Member States, with the highest productivity being reported in Ireland, leading to a significant gap in income levels within the EU. The high productivity in Ireland probably should be adjusted for some factors, as the figure might not indicate the real situation in this respect.

5) In the period 2008-2020 in the EU, the change in labour productivity and that in labour cost indicated both a positive trend (productivity increased more than labour cost) in some Member States and a negative trend (productivity increased less than labour cost did) in the other ones, which was possible at the expense of the factors of production other than labour as well as of gross fixed capital formation.

6) The correlation between changes in labour productivity and those in labour cost was strong, while the correlation between changes in labour productivity and those in investment per person employed was moderate, which means that an increase in investment did not lead to a corresponding increase in labour productivity and was affected by some other factors.

7) The convergence of labour productivity and labour cost in the EU reduced the gap in income and, therefore, the living standards between the developed Western European and less developed Eastern European EU Member States, thus also reducing various socio-economic problems in the Eastern European EU Member States.

Bibliography

- 1. Central Statistics Office of Ireland (2019). Productivity in Ireland 2017. Press statement. Retrieved from: https://www.cso.ie/en/csolatestnews/pressreleases/2019pressreleases/pressstatementproductivityinireland2017/
- European Commission (2023). Regional Trends for Growth and Convergence in the European Union. Working document. Retrieved from:
- https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/sources/reports/swd_regional_trends_growth_convergence_en.pdf.3. Eurostat. Apparent labour productivity (Gross value added per person employed) thousand euro. Retrieved from:
- Eurostat. Apparent labour productivity (Gross value added per person employed) thousand euro. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/SBS_NA_SCA_R2__custom_7774579/default/table.
- Eurostat. Labour cost, wages and salaries, direct remuneration (excluding apprentices) by NACE Rev. 2 activity. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/lc_ncost_r2\$defaultview/default/table?lang=en.
- Filippetti A., Peyrache A. (2013) Is the convergence party over? Labour productivity and the technology gap in Europe. Volume 57, Issue 2, Journal of Common Market Studies pp. 424-424. Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jcms.12066
- Hoffer F., Spiecker F. (2011), Change or Lose Europe: ILO Global Job Crisis Observatory, Geneva: International Labour Office. Retrieved from: http://www.ilo.org/public/libdoc/jobcrisis/download/story108_change_europe.pdf.
- Institute for Employment Studies (2011). Wages, productivity and employment: A review of theory and international data. Retrieved from: file:///C:/Users/Lietotais/Downloads/ resources reports WagesProductivityandEmployment.pdf
- 8. Krugman P.R. & Obstfield M. (2003). International Economics: Theory & Policy. 6-th edition.
- Naveed A., Ahmad N. (2016). Labour productivity convergence and structural changes: simultaneous analysis at country, regional and industry levels. Economic Structures 5, 19. Retrieved from: https://journalofeconomicstructures.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40008-016-0050-y.
- 10. Sondermann D. (2012). Productivity in the euro area: any evidence of convergence? European Central Bank. Working paper series No.1431. Retrieved from: https://www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/pdf/scpwps/ecbwp1431.pdf

THE PORTRAIT OF THE MODERN ONLINE CUSTOMER IN LATVIA

Igors Babics¹, PhD student; Elita Jermolajeva^{2,3}, Dr.oec., Leading Researcher,

Assistant Professor

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Jelgava, Latvia; ³Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Malnava College, Malnava, Latvia

Abstract. The study is aimed at examining the characteristics of the Latvian e-shopper segment in comparison with the average indicators across the European Union, with the goal of identifying the typical profile of an e-buyer, as well as the problems and trends in the further development of e-commerce in Latvia. As enterprises in Latvia become increasingly dependent on digital technologies and the effective use of e-commerce opportunities, understanding the key characteristics of e-shoppers and trends in this consumer segment plays a crucial role in further researching the target audience profile and selecting marketing strategies for effective communication with them. The article employs a combination of monographic analysis to study the peculiarities of e-consumers and statistical methods to evaluate trends in this segment. Characteristics such as age, education level, preferences in the use of electronic devices, and economic characteristics from 2015 to 2021 were used to study the Latvian e-shoppers. The research showed a noticeable trend towards the alignment of Internet usage and e-commerce indicators in Latvia with the EU averages, both on desktop and mobile devices. The novelty of the research lies in the further development and refinement of the understanding of the characteristics of the Latvian e-shopper segment, as well as its dynamics compared to other EU countries, of enterprises operating in the e-commerce.

Key words: e-commerce, e-shopper portrait, online shopping, online consumer, profiling.

JEL code: M31, L19, D91

Introduction

The widespread use of Internet technology stimulates the rapid development of e-commerce, which is due to a significant increase in the number of online transactions and, consequently, an increase in their share of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP). According to the report published by Research and Markets the market value of global e-commerce reached 18.98 trillion United States dollars (USD) in 2022 and is expected to reach USD 47.73 trillion by 2030 (Research and Markets, 2024). E-commerce is the most promising method of stimulating business growth. Therefore, it is becoming increasingly important to determine the most effective ways, methods, approaches, and tools for e-commerce.

One crucial aspect that has emerged is the understanding and refinement of effective online customer experiences. Bleier, Harmeling and Palmatier (2018) illustrate how diverse web page design elements, from linguistic nuances and visual cues to interactive features, synergistically mold the complex dimensions of online customer experiences. These dimensions include informativeness, entertainment, social presence, and sensory appeal, all of which are essential in transforming potential online interactions into substantial business growth.

The task of describing the online customer profile has gained importance with the development of online payment technologies. According to Stafford and Gonier (2004), it has been widely recognized that understanding the possibilities of Internet usage by e-shoppers allows to create products and services that are more relevant to existing needs. Ho and Wu (1999) emphasize that in the realm of e-commerce, every Internet user is a potential customer. They highlight that the pivotal challenge for e-businesses lies in transforming these potential customers into actual ones. This transformation process is contingent on a thorough understanding and consideration of the users' specific requests, habits, and needs.

¹ E-mail: igors.babics@gmail.com, ib@devnrise.com

² E-mail: elita.jermolajeva@gmail.com

At the same time, the development of customer profiling has increased concerns about the security of personal information. The development of the technological basis of e-commerce in recent decades, has simplified personalization processes, involving dynamically displaying offers based on previous user activity across digital platforms like portals, websites, etc. (Mohamed et al., 2022). As a result, businesses have begun to employ personalization technologies, ranging from creating offers to analysing user paths and experiences (Khoali et al., 2022).

This has created the need to balance the interests of organizations and Internet users, especially in relation to the storage of user profiles and the use of this data in business. This requirement is particularly emphasized by the European Consumer Organization (BEUC, *Data collection, targeting and profiling of consumers online*, 2010) as a necessary condition for maintaining the balance of interests among the parties in the digital economy. Additionally, the European Commission underscores the importance of establishing mutually agreed-upon communication strategies with e-shoppers (European Commission, *Digital Markets Act*, 2022).

The joint research envisages the study and analysis of the behaviours, shopping habits and other indicators of online customers in various European Union (EU) countries over several years. Since the researchers of the study are Latvian scientists, the situation in Latvia was identified at the initial stage in order to plan the methodology and choose the most appropriate research methods and to compare the results with average across the European Union.

This **article aims** to profile Latvian e-shoppers by analysing data on their characteristics from 2015 to 2021 and comparing these characteristics to the average metrics across the European Union. The **novelty of the study** lies in advancing our understanding of the characteristics and dynamics of the Latvian e-shopper segment, compared to those EU average.

Research results and discussion

The development and application of effective e-marketing strategies necessitate a scientific and practical understanding of modern e-shoppers' profiles. Leading marketing research specialists, such as Kotler, Bowen, and Makens (2010), Lambin (1993), Engel, Blackwell, and Kollat (1978), have established the theoretical foundations for consumer behaviour research, which includes profiling these consumers.

Consumer behaviour is complex and influenced by numerous factors. However, understanding this behaviour is a crucial task for marketing managers, as noted by Kotler et al. (2010). The variety of influencing factors necessitates their categorization, a topic widely discussed in scientific literature. He delineates consumer segmentation into several categories: geographical, demographic, psychographic, and behavioural (Kotler et al, 2010). While some researchers, including Lambin (1993), argue for the inclusion of economic characteristics as a distinct category — encompassing not just income but also attitudes towards benefits and costs — Kotler et al (2010) integrates economic characteristics within the behavioural category.

The research conducted by Hamad and Schmitz (2020) examines the impact of demographic variables and consumer shopping orientations on the purchasing preferences for different product categories within the context of online grocery shopping in the UK. It aims to identify possible correlations between demographic variables, consumer shopping orientations, and the preference for purchasing certain products online, in order to provide a more comprehensive understanding of consumer behaviour in the online grocery shopping context.

Sadraddin (2019) investigates various factors impacting consumer purchasing behaviour, including the web environment, product features, Internet security and trust, promotional offers, and product price. He

focuses on external factors, distinct from the e-shopper's personal traits and indicates that the web environment, product characteristics, and promotional offers significantly influence online purchasing behaviour.

The assertion regarding the minimal influence of product price characteristics on e-shoppers' decisions appears controversial and may not be generalizable across all e-shopper categories. In contrast, "European e-shoppers in 2021" report by DpdGroup, which profiled European e-shoppers' online shopping behaviours, offer a more nuanced perspective. Utilizing a random sampling method, the study conducted 40,000 interviews globally, including 23,394 with European respondents. DpdGroup identified several distinct e-shopper types, including the regular, aficionado, senior, epicurean, eco-selective, and the emergence of the price-conscious e-shopper (DpdGroup, 2021).

Regular e-shoppers, individuals aged between 18 and 70 who make online purchases in at least one product category monthly, constituted 48% of all European e-shoppers in 2021. They were responsible for 86% of the online market share volume in Europe, receiving on average almost six parcels monthly. This group significantly contributed to increased sales in various categories, notably home equipment and food. Technologically adept and frequently online, 65% of regular e-shoppers prefer using their smartphones for shopping activities.

Senior e-shoppers, individuals aged 55 and above, increasingly turn to e-commerce, often driven by health-related necessities and availability of certain products. Like typical beginners, they place a high value on the trustworthiness of online platforms and are particularly conscientious about delivery details. Preferring to use computers or notebooks, they engage with social media more frequently than other e-shopper demographics. Characterized by their cautious and meticulous approach to online purchases and payments, senior e-shoppers account for one out of every ten online purchases, as reported by DpdGroup (2021).

The rise of the price-conscious e-shopper is notable, with these cost-focused individuals constituting 10% of the European e-shopper demographic. Based on a study of European online shoppers, Carmen Curé (DpdGroup, 2021) states that today's e-shoppers are confident in the online shopping experience and now expect a high level of service with every purchase. They are perfectly at ease buying food online and intend to keep doing so. They care about the environment, and, as ever, convenience is a key motivator.

Litavniece and Znotina (2017) investigate online shopping behaviour in Latvia in more detail. In the end, the authors conclude that the frequency of online shopping of Latvia's customers is dependent on their income level - a higher income level contributes to a higher frequency of online shopping, as well as increases the amount of money spent per shopping session. The authors can agree with the second part of the statement, because the amount of money spent on purchases directly depends on the income level of customers. In authors' opinionless relevant is the statement that the frequency of online purchases of Latvia's customers depends on their income level, given a significant increase in availability for customers with different income levels of both the Internet connection itself, and mobile devices that allow active use of the network opportunities.

The researchers Volvenkins, Sloka, and Cipane (2019) are more focused on identifying the problems faced by e-shoppers in the online shopping process and the influence of the delivery factor on the choice of an online shop. Thus, the authors, based on their findings, concluded that the most attractive for Latvian e-shoppers in the context of online shopping is the price of the product, the trustful name of an online store, and fast and preferably free delivery.

Customer profiling is a method of defining the portrait of each user, which includes personal and transactional details (Upadhyay, Vidhani, & Dadhich, 2016). Online profiling refers to the collection of

information about the behaviour of online users (Internet surfers) across various resources and websites to develop a profile of their habits and interests. This perspective is supported by Wiedmann (2001). According to Nykamp (2001), online profiling allows to provide the user strategic insight into how to manage customer relationships with each e-buyer. The authors argue that a group of profiles enables the creation of a universal customer portrait to facilitate relationship management with e-shoppers. Franzak, Pitta, and Fritsche (2001) also emphasize that the more comprehensive the data is used, the more detailed the customer portrait will be.

The first group includes factors related to the personal characteristics of the online buyer himself: socio-demographic, psychographic, behavioural aspects; the level of education and skills of the Internet user, their involvement in the Internet environment and social networks; indicators of financial security. The second group includes factors related to the functioning of e-commerce technology: availability and quality characteristics of the Internet for a region or a specific buyer; accessibility, functionality, convenience, user-friendliness, loyalty, attractiveness of the online trading platform, popularity of its brand; informativeness of the presentation of the product, its visualization, fair pricing, quality of the product, brand awareness; convenience and cost of purchase delivery.

This article analyses statistical information about customers' online shopping in Latvia for the period from 2015 to 2021 in the context of key gender, age, education, and economic characteristics. The article posits that existing researches have insufficiently explored the in-depth characteristics of e-customers/e-shoppers in Latvia. Recognizing the growing importance of the target audience analysis in e-commerce, the research aims to fill in this gap. This endeavour is crucial for enhancing customer engagement, sustaining e-commerce profitability, and increasing the prevalence of e-commerce tools in Latvia, which, as Babics and Zvirgzdina (2022) note, currently is below the EU average. Moreover, this study addresses the impact on Latvia's Electronic Gross Domestic Product (E-GDP). The European Digital Commerce Association's report (European Commission, 2022) indicates that Latvia's E-GDP growth, contributing merely 1.03% to the national GDP, trails behind Western European standards and the European average.

This research aims to highlight the differences in the profiles of the average e-shopper in Latvia compared to the EU average, which could potentially explain their position in the digital economy. It is important to emphasize that research is being conducted in the field of developing optimal strategies for interacting with e-shoppers. Specifically, the "European E-Commerce Report 2021" contains an in-depth analysis of the behavioural aspects of e-shoppers in Latvia (EuroCommerce, 2021). The quantitative research methods used in it include surveys and analysis of social media data, which revealed a significant dependence of Latvian consumers' preferences on the opinions of influencers and on the possibility of accessing online stores through social networks, which e-shoppers prefer. The conclusions of the European report emphasize the importance of integrating social networks into e-commerce strategies, which can serve as a basis for further research in this direction.

In the context of this research, the authors study legal ways of collecting the e-shopper's portrait formation and also aim to study **the personality of e-customers in Latvia**, their key characteristics — income level, economic activity, education, etc., in relation to the age category as far as their behaviour online is considered. However, the focus of this study is shifted precisely in the direction of users who make online purchases at least once every three months and are defined by the authors as active e-customers.

According to data from the "Internet Purchases by Individuals" section of the Eurostat report (2022), the percentage of Latvian online customers who have shopped online in the past three months increased from 27 % in 2015 to 51 % in 2021, indicating an 88.9% increase of the proportion. Note that the average share of e-buyers per country in the EU in 2021 was 75%. At the same time, the dynamics of indicators of

the frequency of online purchases allows to identify two periods of drastic change — 2016 and the period 2020-2021. Where in the first case there was an increase in the use of Internet banking capabilities and, consequently, the development of e-business, and in the second — the quarantine restrictions acted as the catalyst for changing customer behaviour. At the same time, the proportion of individuals who make purchases online more than 10 times in three months, is 9% according to Eurostat data (*Internet purchases by individuals*, 2022), which, based on the number of Internet users in the country, is at least 153,000 individuals.

Statistical analysis of active buyers, those who make at least one purchase per quarter, indicates that in older age groups, the largest share of consumers partakes in 1-2 e-purchases per quarter. Specifically, in the age group of 65 years and older, 56.1% of consumers undertake 1-2 purchases per quarter, with 6.3% of them engaging in more than 10 transactions. In the demographic of 55 to 64 years, the proportion making 1-2 purchases drops to 44.8%. The age brackets of 25 to 34 years and 35 to 44 years represent the most confident online shoppers, with 31.3% and 30.9%, respectively, making 1-2 purchases quarterly.

The results of this study indicate that frequent online purchases are common among the working-age population in Latvia. The share of individuals aged 55-64 years who engage in online shopping at least once every three months stands at 29%, and 16% for those aged 65 and older. These figures are significantly different from those of the working-age demographic, where among individuals aged 25-34 years, the proportion reaches 80%.

Characterizing the e-shoppers in Latvia based on the level of education according to Eurostat data (*Individuals – internet use*, 2021), it is worth noting that there is a clear dependence on the level of activity of online shopping individuals in 2021:

- 82% of individuals with a low level of formal education used the Internet at least once every three months, and 39% of them made at least one online purchase at the same time;
- 88% of individuals with a medium level of formal education in Latvia have used the internet at least once every three months in 2021 and 39% of them have completed at least one online purchase in the same period of time;
- 99% of individuals in Latvia with higher education in 2021 used the Internet at least once in three months, and 72% of them have completed at least one online purchase.

In this regard, the growth in the share of e-shoppers in the structure of each of the considered groups, identified by the criterion of level of education, as can be seen in the diagram presented in Figure 1, are very different. Thus, individuals with higher education in Latvia are much more likely to use e-business services. However, there is also a noticeable trend of a significant increase in the number of active e-buyers among those with low level of education: from 12% in 2015 to 39% in 2021, indicating almost 225% increase of the proportion.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 77-88 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.008



Source: created by the authors based on the data from the European Commission (European Commission. Digital Economy and Society Index 2021)

Fig. 1. The increase in the proportion of e-shoppers who buy online at least once in three months among all individuals, according to the education criteria, %

A comparison of the increase in the proportion of e-shoppers who buy online at least once in three months within each of the education criterion-based groups in Latvia and the EU average values is depicted in Figure 2.



Source: created by the authors based on the data from the European Commission (European Commission. Digital Economy and Society Index 2021)

Fig. 2. Increase in the proportion of e-shoppers who buy online at least once in three months within each of the education criterion-based groups in Latvia and the EU average values

In Latvia, compared to the EU average, a more significant increase in the proportion of e-shoppers making online purchases at least once every three months has been observed within each education criterion-based group. This study does not examine the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on this aspect. However, it's worth noting that the pandemic affected all EU countries, implying that online shoppers in all nations faced similar conditions in this respect. Upon integrating the age as a supplementary factor alongside educational criteria in Latvia, the result is illustrated in Figure 3.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 77-88 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.008



■No or low formal education ■Medium formal education ■High formal education

Source: created by the authors based on the data from the European Commission (European Commission. Digital Economy and Society Index 2021)

Fig. 3. Structure of e-shoppers in Latvia by age and education criteria in 2015 and 2021, %

The data indicate that in 2015, in Latvia, online shopping at least once every three months was predominantly typical among web users with higher education. In 2021, the proportion of active shoppers with higher education constituted a smaller share, due to a more intensive increase in the number of active e-shoppers with medium and lower levels of education.

Another important component of the portrait of online customers in Latvia, which is emphasized by Litavniece and Znotina (2017), as already mentioned, is the **level of income**. Therefore, this study involved conducting an analysis of the structure of individuals living in a household who made at least one online purchase during a three-month period, as shown in the dynamic presented in Figure 4.

The values obtained demonstrate that the largest share of active e-shoppers in Latvia and the EU average are people with the highest income, but it is worth noting that there is no total dominance in the dynamics of this group of buyers over those with lower incomes. The structure of the active e-shoppers in Latvia has shifted towards an increase in the share of buyers from the lower half of income distribution in the overall volume of e-purchases, while conversely, an opposite trend is observed on average across the European Union, indicating a reduction in the proportion of e-shoppers with incomes below the median and an increase in the shares of such e-shoppers in the income groups of the third and fourth quartiles.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 77-88 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.008



Source: created by the authors based on the data from the European Commission (European Commission. Digital Economy and Society Index 2021)

Fig. 4. Structure of e-shoppers living in a household making at least one purchase within three months, 2015-2020, %

It is essential to gain insight into **the devices employed for Internet browsing by diverse age groups** in Latvia and to contrast these findings with the average statistics prevailing across the European Union. For instance, statistical data of the dynamics in the percentage of users utilizing specific types of devices to access the internet. The data are presented in Table 1.

Table 1

Country	Latvia				EU average				
Category, %	Desktop computers		Mobile devices		Desktop computers		Mobile devices		
	2016	2021	2016	2021	2016	2021	2016	2021	
16-24-year-old	48	39	96	98	53	37	94	97	
25-54-year-old	49	38	79	95	50	36	83	94	
55–74-year-old	32	34	34	69	33	29	47	71	
All individuals	43	36	67	86	45	34	73	87	

Devices used by individuals to access the internet depending on age, %

Source: the authors' calculations based on the data from Eurostat (Eurostat. Individuals – internet use, 2021)

The data shows the decline in desktop computer usage in favour of mobile devices all age groups. In Latvia, the 16-24 age group shows a drop in desktop usage from 48% to 39%, while mobile device usage increases from 96% to 98%. The EU average for the same age group shows a similar trend, with desktop usage decreasing from 53% to 37%, and mobile usage increasing from 94% to 97%.

For the 25-54 years old individuals in Latvia there is a decline in desktop usage from 49% to 38%, and an increase in mobile device usage from 79% to 95%. The average across the European Union reflects a similar pattern with desktop usage decreasing from 50% to 36%, and mobile usage increasing from 83% to 94%. The 55-74 age group in Latvia shows a specific trend of increased mobile device usage from 34% to 69%, with a slight increase in desktop usage from 32% to 34%. The average across the European Union for this age group also shows an increase in mobile device usage from 47% to 71% and a decrease in desktop usage from 33% to 29%. Unlike desktop devices, the use of mobile devices to access the internet

is gaining popularity among individuals. While it is expected that a high percentage of young individuals are active internet users via mobile devices, it has also become a trend among older age groups.

This study presents a comparative analysis, as illustrated in Figure 5, focusing on the percentage of internet device usage among Latvian users relative to the EU average, categorized by age groups. During the specified period, there was a notable reduction in the proportion of internet users utilizing desktop devices in both Latvia and the European Union average. Notably, in Latvia, the decline in desktop device users was more gradual, and there was even an increase among users aged 55 to 74 years. For instance, in 2016, the average number of desktop internet users in Latvia was lower than average across the European Union; however, by 2021, the number of such users in Latvia had surpassed the EU average.

Among mobile device users in Latvia, there was a lag behind the European Union's average in 2016, especially in the age group of 55 to 74 years. Over the subsequent five-year period leading up to 2021, this situation evolved towards an alignment of internet usage rates via mobile devices. In 2021, 86% of mobile device owners in Latvia used their devices for internet access, compared to an average of 87% across the European Union.



■ 16-24 years old ■ 25-54 years old ■ 55-74 years old

Source: created by the authors based on the data from Eurostat (Eurostat. Individuals – internet use 2021)

Fig. 5. Comparison of the size of Latvia's users and the EU average in terms of internet device usage by age groups, 2016-2021, %

Overall, the data indicates a strong shift towards mobile-first internet access, driven by the convenience and evolving capabilities of mobile devices. This shift is uniformly seen across all age groups, suggesting a widespread digital integration.

These findings have significant implications for a variety of sectors, particularly those focused on digital marketing, e-commerce, and online content delivery. Adapting to a mobile-first approach is essential to meet the changing preferences of users. Moreover, the data highlights the importance of inclusive digital access for all age groups, emphasizing the need to consider older groups of internet users in the digital landscape.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) The authors conclude that the segment of Internet users in Latvia is increasingly and actively using shopping opportunities on the Internet. Both the number of e-shoppers is increasing and the frequency of their online purchases is also increasing. Several main features of the Latvia's e-shopper profile:

- there is a significant level of conservatism among e-shoppers, especially among the elderly with no
 or low education, but the number of e-shoppers with the lowest incomes is relatively rapidly
 increasing;
- users with higher education are predominant across all age categories of e-shoppers;
- there is a clear dependence of the frequency of online purchases on age, and the highest proportion of e-shoppers who shop online six times a month is observed in the age group from 24 to 44 years;
- young people up to 24 years old: about 70% of these users shop online at least once every three months, with a slight predominance of highly educated users;
- people aged 25 to 44: e-shoppers who frequently shop online and have a higher education have a significant advantage.
- 2) In Latvia, compared to the EU averages, the study reveals the following characteristics:
- in each group based on educational criteria, a significant increase in the proportion of e-shoppers who shop on the Internet at least once every three months has been observed. This study did not investigate the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on this aspect.
- There is a noticeable decrease in the use of desktop devices for Internet access. In Latvia, this trend is characterized by a more gradual decline, ahead of the EU average.
- There are significant changes in the structure of e-buyers, with an increase in the proportion of buyers from the lower income side in total e-purchases. In contrast, in the EU as a whole, the number of e-shoppers with lower incomes has decreased and the number of buyers from the highest income quartiles has increased. Although young people mostly represent active Internet users on mobile devices, this behaviour is now becoming more common among older age groups as well. Overall, the findings show a significant trend toward prioritizing mobile devices for Internet access.

3) Businesses should tailor their marketing strategies to cater to the increasing diversity of e-shoppers. Recognizing that younger age groups and individuals with higher education are more inclined toward frequent online purchases, marketing campaigns should be customized to appeal to these demographics. At the same time, the rising number of older e-consumers and those with lower educational levels becoming active e-shoppers indicates a need for inclusive marketing that addresses these segments' unique preferences and barriers to entry.

4) Businesses need to prioritize optimization of their online platforms due to the rising number of older age groups. Ensuring that websites and apps are user-friendly for them, fast, and accessible on mobile devices can significantly enhance the shopping experience, catering to the consumers' evolving preferences. Essential features for older adults include simplified navigation, larger text, clear instructions, and enhanced customer service support, such as chatbots offering real-time assistance. Additionally, providing tutorials or guides on navigating the online shopping process can further enhance the user experience for this demographic. This approach not only makes the platform more accessible to older adults but also reduces their hesitation to engage in online transactions.

5) The rapid penetration of mobile devices into daily life has unequivocally resulted in the frequency and volume of internet use on these devices surpassing those on desktop systems. Mobile devices are

utilized by individuals across a wide array of professions, including construction workers at job sites, warehouse personnel, and even preschool children. However, the indicators of internet usage frequency and even the frequency of purchases made through mobile devices do not always uniformly fit all business sectors. Each business must consider the specifics of its sector and take into account not only the e-shopper's portrait but also their human portrait. Businesses must now consider not only the activities of their e-shopper but also the importance of shoppers' life situations, particularly in terms of the timing for delivering marketing messages. This approach emphasizes the importance of considering the context in which the client will receive and potentially react to the communication, ensuring that the timing and delivery are precisely aligned with the e-shopper's daily activities and actual needs.

Funding

This work was supported by the project of Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Nr. Z70 "Integrated approach to determining socio-economic indicators of sustainable development".

Bibliography

- 1. Babics, I., & Zvirgzdina, R. (2022). Study of e-commerce trends based on customer characteristics in Latvia. *In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Advanced Research Methods and Analytics (pp. 109-118). Valencia, Spain.*
- Bleier, A., Harmeling, C., & Palmatier, R. (2018). Creating effective online customer experiences. *Journal of Marketing*, 83(2), 98-119.
- BEUC (2010). Data collection, targeting and profiling of consumers online: BEUC discussion paper. BEUC, the European Consumer Organization. Retrieved from: https://www.google.com/url?esrc= s&q=&rct=j&sa=U&url=https://www.beuc.eu/sites/default/files/publications/2010-00101-01-e.pdf.
- 4. DpdGroup. (2021). *European e-shoppers in 2021*. Retrieved from: https://www.dpd.com/wp-content/ uploads/sites/77/2022/02/European-E-Shoppers-in-2021.pdf.
- 5. Engel, J.F., Blackwell, R.D., & Kollat, D.T. (1978). Consumer Behavior. Dryden Press.
- EuroCommerce. (2021). European e-commerce report E-commerce Europe 2021. Retrieved from: https://ecommerce-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2021-European-E-commerce-Report-LIGHT-VERSION.pdf.
- 7. European Commission. (2022). *Digital Economy and Society Index 2021 Country Reporting. Latvia*. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/redirection/document/80482.
- 8. European Commission. (2022). *Digital Markets Act*. Retrieved from: https://digitalstrategy.ec.europa.eu/en/news/commission-launches-public-consultation-implementation-digital-markets-act.
- 9. Eurostat. (2021). *Individuals internet use*. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ databrowser/explore/all/general?lang=en&subtheme=degurb.degurb_isoc.du_isoc_i&display=list &sort =category.
- 10. Eurostat. (2022). *Internet purchases by individuals*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ databrowser/explore/all/general?lang=en&subtheme=degurb.degurb_isoc.du_isoc_i&display=list&sort=category.
- 11. Franzak, F., Pitta, D., & Fritsche, S. (2001). Online relationships and the consumer's right to privacy. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, *18*(7), 631-642.
- 12. Hamad, H., & Schmitz, M. (2020). The impact of demographic variables and consumer shopping orientations on the purchasing preference for different product categories in the context of online grocery shopping. *Journal of Marketing and Consumer Research*. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 339031654.
- 13. Ho, C., & Wu, W. (1999). Antecedents of customer satisfaction on the Internet: An empirical study of online shopping. In *Proceedings of the 32nd Hawaii International Conference on Systems Sciences*, pp.1-9.
- 14. Khoali, M., Laaziz, Y., Tali, A., & Salaudeen, H. (2022). Survey of one-class e-commerce recommendation system techniques. *Electronics*, 11(6), 878.
- 15. Komalpreet, K. (2021). Impact of e-marketing on consumer purchase behaviour: An empirical study. *International Journal of Research and Analytical Reviews*, 8(1).
- 16. Kotler, P., Bowen, J.T., & Makens, J.C. (2010). Consumer market and consumer purchasing behavior. In: *Marketing for Hospitality and Tourism* (pp. 144-168). Prentice Hall.
- 17. Lambin, J.J. (1993). Strategic marketing: A European approach. McGraw-Hill.
- 18. Litavniece, L., & Znotiņa, D. (2017). Customer behavior doing online shopping: Latvia's case. *Proceedings of the* 11th International Scientific and Practical Conference (Vol. 2, pp. 84-89).
- 19. Mihart, C. (2012). Impact of integrated marketing communication on consumer behaviour: Effects on consumer decision-making process. *International Journal of Marketing Studies*, 4(2), 121.
- 20. Nguyen, M.H., Armoogum, J., & Thi, B.N. (2021). Factors affecting the growth of e-shopping over the COVID-19 Era in Hanoi, Vietnam. Sustainability, 13(16), 21. Retrieved from: https://hal.science/hal-03335755.

- 21. Mittal, A. (2013). E-commerce: It's impact on consumer behavior. *Global Journal of Management and Business Studies, 3*(2), 131-138.
- 22. Mohamed, S., Sethom, K., Namoun, A., Tufail, A., Kim, K.H., & Almoamari, H. (2022). Customer profiling using Internet of Things based recommendations. Sustainability, 14(18), 11200.
- 23. Nykamp, M. (2001). The customer differential: The complete guide to implementing customer relationship management. New York: AMACOM, 212.
- 24. Research and Markets (2023). *E-commerce market: Global industry trends, share, size, growth, opportunity and forecast 2023-2028.* Retrieved from: https://www.researchandmarkets.com/reports/5732341/e-commerce-market-global-industry-trends.
- 25. Research and Markets (2024). *Global e-commerce market to reach \$ 47.7 trillion by 2030, report*. Retrieved from: https://marketingreport.one/retail/global-e-commerce-market-to-reach-47.7-trillion-by-2030-report. html.
- 26. Roger, D.B., Paul, W.M., & Engel, J.F. (2006). Consumer Behavior. Thomson South-Western.
- 27. Sadraddin, A. (2019). *Factors Affecting Customers' Purchasing Behavior in Online Shopping*. Retrieved from: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3377148.
- 28. Stafford, T.F., & Gonier, D. (2004). What Americans like about being online. *Communications of the ACM, 47(11)*, 107-112.
- 29. Upadhyay, T., Vidhani, A., & Dadhich, V. (2016). Customer profiling and segmentation using data mining techniques. *International Journal of Computer Science & Communication JCSC*, 7(2), 65–67.
- 30. Volvenkins, S., Sloka, B., & Cipane, K. (2019). Main problems customers face when shopping online: findings by a recent survey. *Humanities and Social Sciences: Latvia, 27(2)*, 101–114.
- 31. Wiedmann, K. (2001). Customer profiling in e-commerce: methodological aspects and challenges. *Journal of Database Marketing*, 9(2), 170–184.

DIGITIZATION AND GENERATION Z: RETHINKING LABOUR REALITIES IN LATVIA

Veranika Khlud¹, MIM, PhD student; Galina Reshina², Dr.oec., prof.;

Deniss Bickovs³ PhD student

^{1,2}Baltic International Academy; ^{1,3}Latvian Maritime Academy of Riga Technical University

Abstract. In the context of active digital transition, the issue of digitalization's impact on the youth labour market becomes especially relevant. This article examines how changes brought about by the introduction of information technologies affect the professional activities and labour values of the younger generation in Latvia. The study is based on data obtained from surveys conducted among young people and working professionals, with a focus on analysing the risks associated with digitalization. The main goal of the article is to assess the risks arising on the path of digital transformation and to develop strategies for their reduction. The research tasks include: assessing internal and external risks related to the functioning of the youth labour market; exploring the career paths of young people and their work attitudes; analysing objective and subjective factors contributing to the entrepreneurial activity of the youth; examining the influence of the information environment on the self-determination of the youth and their professional development; determining preventive measures to minimize the negative consequences of digitalization on the labour market for young professionals. The subject of this study is the impact of digital transformations on the youth labour market in Latvia. The main research methods include a literature review, sociological survey, risk analysis, empirical analysis, and comparative analysis. Survey results conducted by the authors show that Generation Z values the flexibility and career growth opportunities that digitalization provides but also expresses concerns about the risks and uncertainties accompanying these processes. The findings indicate that to support young people and improve their adaptation to a changing market, modernization of the Latvian educational system is necessary. Special attention needs to be paid to the development of digital competencies and the integration of modern information technologies into educational programs. Furthermore, the study emphasizes the importance of creating favourable conditions for the development of entrepreneurial initiatives among the youth.

Key words: generation Z, digital transformation, labour market, educational strategies.

JEL code: J24, O33, L26

Introduction

The modern era of digital innovations, marked by unprecedented progress in information technologies, transforms digital technologies into a key tool for achieving social and economic progress. These technologies have a significant impact on all areas of society's life, making innovative activity, the latest automation systems, and the dynamics of communication processes determining factors of social development (Schwab, 2017; Brynjolfsson & McAfee, 2014). Digitization and informatization pave the way to new scientific and technical horizons.

Among researchers, it is customary to highlight both positive and negative aspects of labour digitization. Positive aspects include economic growth, increased productivity, and global competitiveness in the field of digital technologies, e-commerce, and online business; improvement of well-being and quality of life, and growth of IT competencies thanks to online education (Manyika et al., 2017; Ford, 2015). Among the negative consequences are the increase in structural unemployment due to automation, the decrease in the level of social protection, the intensification of inequality in access to digital resources, and uncertainty in career planning (Autor, 2015).

In K.Leshinsky's study, the effect of digital technology-based education on the entrepreneurial intentions of Generation Z students from different countries in Europe and Central Asia is analysed. Generation Z, born after 1995, actively uses information technologies and makes choices for their future career in the context of digitization (Leshinsky, 2023).

¹ E-mai: veranikakhlud@gmail.com

 ² E-mai: reshinaganna@inbox.lv
 ³ E-mai: deniss.bickovs@yahoo.com

Some authors in the theory of generations argue that the socio-historical environment of youth has a significant influence on the generation (Mannheim, 1952). Generation Z is characterized as "digital natives" (Marc, 2001), grew up in the era of digital technologies, distinguished by the ability to quickly process information and use social networks for communication.

Generation Z values flexibility in working hours and aspires to continuous professional growth (Pinzaru et al., 2022). Leshinsky's conclusions emphasize the need for integrating digital tools into the educational process to stimulate entrepreneurial intentions among Generation Z, confirming their readiness for active use of technology in learning and in the labour market.

The COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated digitalization processes, yet its impact on economic and social processes has been twofold (OECD, 2020). Many organizations, including universities, have shifted to remote work and learning methods, which has facilitated more active acquisition of new information technologies by the youth. At the same time, this led to an intensification of problems related to the assessment and control of the work process, as well as a tendency for youth to use IT more for entertainment than for educational purposes (Witczak-Roszkowska, 2022).

Recent studies in Latvia reveal the complexity of the relationship between economic and human development, indicating that certain economic factors like added value and personnel costs are significantly correlated with the Human Development Index (Zarina, 2022). These findings suggest that Latvia's focus on enhancing industry-level economic outputs could positively impact human development, stressing the importance of strategic economic planning and investment in human capital development tailored to the demands of Industry 5.0 and the Sixth Technological Order. This integration aims to modernize Latvia's educational system and labour market to foster a workforce capable of thriving in a digital economy.

We argue that a crucial direction for Latvia should be the comprehensive modernization of the education system, taking into account global trends and a strategic approach to forming professional personnel capable of effectively functioning in a digital economy.

Hence, the research's objective is to evaluate the impact of digital transformations on the youth labour market through the lens of risk-oriented analysis. The tasks of the research include: assessing the internal and external risks associated with the functioning of the youth labour market; studying the career paths of young people and their work attitudes; analysing the objective and subjective factors contributing to the entrepreneurial activity of the youth; considering the impact of the information environment on the self-determination of the youth and their professional development; identifying preventive measures to minimize the negative consequences of digitization on the labour market for young specialists.

The main research methods include a literature review, sociological survey, risk analysis, empirical analysis, and comparative analysis based on data from two studies conducted by the authors. These methods combined offer a comprehensive approach to exploring the complex dynamics of digital transformation and its implications for young people in Latvia, with a focus on identifying risks and developing strategies to mitigate them.

Research results and discussion

1. The theoretical foundation and empirical base of the research

The empirical base of our analysis of the digital impact on youth consists of data from two studies. The first, conducted by Ltd. "Baltic Center" in February 2023, focused on youth aged 15 to 29 years with a sample of 98 respondents, making it representative in terms of gender, age, and place of residence. A

survey method with a multi-stage stratified sample was applied, with a margin of error of \pm 4%. These data will serve as a basis for analysing the direct risks in the youth labour market.

The study is based on the concept proposed by Ulrich Beck (Beck, 1992), which elucidates the inevitability of various risks, both natural and anthropogenic, for modern society. According to this approach, progress in modern society entails both positive and negative consequences. Risks associated with digitization and modernization are mainly the result of human activity (Giddens, 1999), requiring a thorough analytical approach before taking steps to minimize them. The positive and negative aspects of digitization in the labour sphere require careful analysis to assess opportunities and threats for participants in the youth labour market and finding ways to mitigate them (Nickols, 2006).

The second study, conducted among the working population of Riga in November 2023, included 113 individuals engaged in work with information technologies, with a sample error of \pm 5%. It is important to note that a significant portion of the study participants belonged to the age group of 18-29 years, allowing the data obtained to be used for further analysis within our study of the youth labour market.

2. Evaluation of digital risks

The study conducted in November 2023 revealed that actively working youth positively perceive digitalization. Ninety percent of respondents confirmed the favourable impact of digital technologies on career growth and educational processes (93.7%), creativity, self-realization, and self-expression (86%), increasing the level of social cohesion and trust in society (51.7%), and expanding opportunities for quality leisure (66%).

However, youth awareness of the potential negative aspects of digitalization remains low. For instance, 24 respondents noted that the transition to remote work formats increased the time needed to complete tasks due to constant distractions, such as messengers and email. Forty-one percent of the study participants indicated an increase in work intensity due to adapting to new technologies. At the same time, about 18% expressed concerns about the lack of necessary skills to work with new software and mobile applications, while less than 10% acknowledged feelings of insecurity and fear of the need to learn new technologies.

Youth entering the labour market face certain difficulties, particularly discrimination in hiring due to lack of experience, which is perceived as an indicator of insufficient qualification. Nearly all job vacancies require at least two years of experience in the field, making the acquisition of initial professional experience during university studies highly relevant (Smith et al., 2018). The trend of combining study and work is gaining momentum in Europe as a means of financial support and as an opportunity to gain professional experience before graduating from university. However, this can lead to undesirable consequences, such as a decrease in academic achievements and a deterioration of students' health, as well as a decrease in discipline levels, which negatively affects the educational process (Perna, 2023).

It should be noted that the positive aspects of labour digitalization are perceived by youth as obvious, whereas the risks associated with the implementation of information technologies are only recognized when directly encountered.

3. Labour values and IT competencies of youth

In the process of defining their own professional path, students often face uncertainty regarding what knowledge, skills, and abilities they will acquire during their university studies. Their career choice is often based on theoretical assumptions about the future profession and may not reflect their true needs, interests, and abilities, making the choice insufficiently considered (Kratus, 2007; Blustein, 2013). When

young people start their careers, they often lack a clear understanding of the qualifications required for the job and the prospects of their professional activity. This first encounter with the real labour world can lead to the need for re-evaluation or degradation of labour values, negatively affecting the socio-psychological state of youth and diminishing the value of professionalism in the younger generation.

The findings of a study conducted in February 2023 revealed that material aspects of work hold a higher priority for youth than its social significance and labour values. Among the key factors determining the choice of workplace by young people were: the level of salary; favourable working conditions, and the possibility of balancing professional activity and family commitments. Meanwhile, access to social guarantees and employment in prestigious companies are seen as less important criteria, according to only every fifth respondent.

Table 1

The type of professional-value orientation of youth	%, respondents	
Earning a high salary	77.4%	
Favourable working conditions and schedule	56.3%	
The possibility of combining work and family responsibilities	39.2%	
Relative independence at the workplace	35.7%	
Applying one's knowledge, experience, qualifications	34.5%	
Positive relationships within the team	31.4%	
Opportunities for advancement and career growth	29.8%	
Contribution to society	27.9%	
Work without excessive stress and overtime	23.3%	
Development of interesting and innovative projects	22.6%	
Collaboration with qualified colleagues	20.4%	
Maintaining connections with representatives of various social strata	19.5%	
Employment in a prestigious company	16.4%	
Access to social benefits and guarantees	14.9%	

Professional value orientations of youth, %

Source: archive of authors

These results convince us that young people strive for material benefits and additional social goods. Many young people do not consider the labour sphere an important means of self-realization: it is viewed by young people primarily as a source of income, their work has lost its independent value and has turned into a pragmatic activity (Sennett, 2007; Standing, 2011; David, 2018). The trend towards the growing importance of wages has been shaped by many factors, including low salaries for young specialists and the impossibility of self-realization in a specific form of labour. Nevertheless, many young people have retained values such as career, independence, and professional development, although they are less pronounced.

4. Youth strategies in the labour market

In our research conducted in February 2023, a significant proportion of secondary employment among the younger generation was discovered: about 32% of respondents were engaged in additional professional activity, providing themselves with supplementary income. Despite the fact that part of these earnings was irregular, many young people indicated having stable side jobs, either in addition to their main employment or within their primary place of work. Secondary employment appears to be the main method of social adaptation in the face of economic crises, which leads to a decrease in the real income levels of the population and a reduction in the standard and quality of life (Standing, 2011). Information from the Central Statistical Bureau shows that in 2023, the number of unemployed citizens of Latvia aged 15-74 was 61.5 thousand people. This is 3.7 thousand or 5.7% less than in the previous year. For youth aged 15 to 24, the number of unemployed decreased from 9.8 thousand in 2022 to 5.8 thousand in the second quarter of 2023 and rose again to 8.7 thousand by the fourth quarter (Central Statistical Office, 2023).

One of the main problems leading to youth unemployment in Latvia is the lack of alignment between the skills possessed by graduates and those demanded by employers. Educational institutions face the challenge of transforming their teaching approaches to match the dynamically evolving digital environment. Developing digital competencies among young professionals is extremely important in current conditions. Students and young professionals must be proficient in a wide range of information tools and technologies and be able to effectively find, process, store, and transmit information. Additionally, flexibility in professionals, their ability to adapt to new conditions, continuous striving for self-improvement, and education are important aspects of professional training.

Since 2013, the unemployment rate among youth in Latvia has been lower than the EU average, but in 2022 it was 0.8 percentage points higher. In 2023, Latvia had the lowest youth unemployment rate in the Baltic countries – 18.3% in Lithuania and 17.3% in Estonia.

In 2023, 34.9% of all young people were economically active, that is, were employed or actively looking for work (unemployed), while 65.1% of the youth were economically inactive — mainly they continued their education and were not looking for work (Central Statistical Office, 2023).

A higher education diploma does not guarantee successful employment and a good career. Individual researchers highlight the phenomenon of higher education inflation: despite its subjective attractiveness and prestige in public opinion, it begins to depreciate in terms of economic indicators (Penprase, 2018; Tan, 2020). The study of the issue revealed that the main reasons include not only a lack of IT knowledge gained over the years of study.

The structure of Latvia's economy indicates a need for specialized technical and professional skills that are not always adequately provided by traditional higher education programs. Insights from the conference 'Kā vadīt Latvijas cilvēkresursu attīstību?' highlighted this issue. A survey conducted among over 200 conference participants revealed a consensus on the necessity for students to develop more adaptable skills. This finding suggests that current university curricula might not fully meet the specific skill requirements demanded by employers, indicating a potential misalignment with labour market needs (Riga Technical University, 2023).

In Latvia, young professionals, facing limitations in the labour market after university, often reconsider their career paths. Digital data from a study conducted in February 2023 confirms that about 42% of respondents were engaged in work unrelated to their initial specialization. Moreover, a significant number of young professionals found professional opportunities in the public sector (76.2%), and management (63.4%), while the share of those who chose the path of entrepreneurs or agricultural workers was 16.3%. These data prove that the educational achievements of youth do not fully meet market requirements, which can be interpreted as successful employment only in cases where the graduate obtains a job according to their qualifications. Work that meets preferences regarding working conditions and schedule, salary level, employment guarantees, and career and creative development, remains a priority. However, work unrelated to the obtained specialty highlights economic and social issues, indicating the wasteful use of public resources. At the same time, according to the respondents' answers, a significant part of the youth in Latvia does not aspire to positions in accordance with their academic specialization, which is evident already during their education.

Annually, the labour market is oversaturated with graduates, while the number of high-tech jobs created by the state does not meet the employment needs of youth, as prescribed by legislation. Delays in updating educational regulations, and failing to keep up with socio-economic trends, lead to a mismatch in the market for educational services and labour (Cellini & Chaudhary, 2023).

The modernization of the educational system depends on many factors. Among the most important is the development and implementation of high-quality software, ensuring universal access to educational materials for all students. The integration of information technologies and distance learning into the educational process plays a key role, not only facilitating a better understanding of the study material but also stimulating the development of creativity and independent thinking among students (Tyrkba et al., 2022).

For many young people, remote employment has become not only the main source of income but also a supplementary one, helping to overcome difficulties in the labour market. According to the results of our study conducted in February 2023, autonomy in work is a priority for 39% of youth, and the possibility of combining work and family responsibilities (especially relevant for young women) was noted by 42% of respondents.

The development and implementation of new employment models become an important adaptive strategy for entering the modern labour market. Among these models, joint work, temporary project management, temporary assignments, work outside the office using information and communication technologies, crowdworking, crowdsourcing, and freelancing stand out. These forms allow workers to flexibly approach the organization of their labour activity and adapt to changing market conditions (Fleming et al., 2019).

In this context, it is noteworthy that freelancing as a form of employment is popular as a preferred form of employment where standard labour agreements are absent. For freelancers, key advantages include the ability to flexibly manage their working hours, independence from superiors, and the possibility of working remotely, not visiting an office. However, freelancers face the need to independently search for clients, manage their own accounting and taxes, and also with high demands for personal discipline and self-organization (Dunn et al., 2021).

The increase in the number of self-employed individuals in Latvia is also associated with freelancing as a primary source of income (State Revenue Service, 2023). The results of our analysis confirm that approximately every eighth young person in the country considers the possibility of working as a freelancer, despite the associated labour market risks, such as the lack of social guarantees in case of injury, disability, violations of working conditions, and the consideration of such activity in pension assignments. Among the youth, entrepreneurship stands out as the most attractive form of self-employment. In a survey conducted in February 2023, about 35% of young people expressed a desire to engage in business. Nevertheless, many evaluate the current conditions for starting and developing entrepreneurial activity in the country as difficult: every fourth of young respondents described them as unfavourable. Improving the institutional conditions for conducting business will contribute to increasing the entrepreneurial activity of the youth.

5. Communicative environment

The sphere of youth communication has undergone significant changes against the backdrop of digital transformation, moving into virtual space. Traditional social connections are increasingly giving way to online relationships. According to a study conducted in February 2023, practically all youth (97.3%) use the internet daily. The majority of respondents (83.4%) actively interact on social networks, every second regularly browse news and entertainment resources, while 65.4% of young people make purchases in

online stores. Only one-third of the young respondents have access to educational resources and platforms with scientific and reference information important. The most popular internet messengers are WhatsApp (68.4% daily users, 24.1% weekly users) and Instagram Direct (44.6% daily users, 28.3% weekly users).

Latvia is among the countries with an average level of digital competence among young people aged 16-24 years (Witczak-Roszkowska, 2022). This places Latvia in a group characterized by relatively stronger digital skills compared to countries with low or the lowest digital competence, but still lagging behind such leaders as Finland, Malta, the Netherlands, Spain, and Iceland.

Specifically, the young population of Latvia was identified by the synthetic Helwig index, equal to 0.500, which ranks it 9th among European countries in terms of digital competence (Witczak-Roszkowska, 2022). This assessment is based on 23 diagnostic characteristics reflecting skills in digital content creation, online communication, and collaboration, as well as internet privacy and data protection. The average level of digital competence suggests that young Latvians possess a moderate ability to effectively use digital technologies, which is crucial for adapting to the demands of the digital economy.

The study also shows a significant difference in digital competencies across different European countries, with some countries demonstrating much higher levels of digital skills. For Latvia, being in the middle category means there are significant opportunities for improvement to reach the level of digital competence observed in leading countries. This improvement is crucial for enhancing Latvia's competitiveness in the digital global economy and preparing its young workforce for the future labour market, which increasingly requires advanced digital skills.

Polish researchers point to a significant deficit in digital competencies among young people in many European countries, underscoring the need to adapt the educational system to the requirements of the digital economy. A systematic approach to developing digital skills, demonstrated by leaders in this field such as Finland and Malta, can serve as a model for Latvia in forming an effective digital education strategy (Witczak-Roszkowska, 2022). In particular, the importance of in-depth study of ICT, digital content creation, ensuring cybersecurity, and using the internet for educational and professional purposes should become a priority in updating curricula. Such an approach will not only increase the competitiveness of Latvian youth in the labour market but also promote the wider implementation of digital technologies in the country's economy, opening new opportunities for entrepreneurial activity and innovation.

Virtual networks of young people become not just a space for entertainment or political activity, as vividly demonstrated last year. It is also a field for realizing creative abilities and business ideas, a tool for distance learning, and professional self-realization. When young people have the opportunity to utilize the results of digitalization, they can successfully self-actualize (Rukavina, 2009). In the absence of digital skills and competencies, young people may experience a sense of social isolation. This, in turn, can provoke feelings of loneliness and depression not only in the professional and educational environment but also in everyday life (Arnd-Caddigan, 2015).

Research shows that modern young people consider active participation in online communications a key condition for success in life, a way to realize their own potential and improve their chances in the competitive labour market. Representatives of the younger generation use their presence in virtual social networks as a means for personal development, creative expression, and professional advancement.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Digitalization is perceived as a critically important stage in the development of the global economy, ensuring the transition to a new technological level and contributing to the improvement of the

population's living standards. This process is a key trend of modern times, necessary for advancing the economy to more sophisticated technological stages and enhancing people's welfare.

2) Digital transformation plays a decisive role in the changes in the global economic situation and people's lifestyles, becoming the dominant factor of evolution. In the era of digital transformation of economic and labour processes, there is a growing need for the population to master digital technologies, affect both leisure and daily life.

3) The impact of digitalization on the labour sphere has become noticeable. Both quantitative and qualitative characteristics of employment are changing, including the balance of demand and supply in the labour market, the emergence of new professions, and the disappearance of outdated ones. At the same time, new forms and formats of labour relations are appearing.

4) The prioritization and modernization of the educational system in line with the digital era is an urgent task. Key directions include the development of digital competencies among students, the use of modern software, and the integration of remote information technologies into the educational process.

5) To stimulate entrepreneurial activity among youth, it is necessary to improve the institutional environment for business and introduce comprehensive legislative initiatives regulating labour relations in the context of new employment. After such transformations, entrepreneurship will become a significant factor, contributing to a more effective adaptation of youth in the labour market.

6) Latvia's commitment to enhancing digital skills by 2027 demonstrates a proactive approach to aligning its workforce with the demands of a digital economy. The country has set specific targets to ensure that 70% of its citizens will have at least basic digital skills, and 45% will possess above-basic skills (Jakobsone, 2021). This initiative is crucial for supporting not only individual career prospects but also for bolstering Latvia's overall economic development and its competitive stance in the global digital arena. The strategic focus on digital competencies aims to prepare young Latvians to thrive in an increasingly digital world, highlighting the importance of these skills in maintaining economic stability and growth.

Bibliography

- 1. Arnd-Caddigan, M. (2015). Sherry Turkle: Alone Together: Why We Expect More from Technology and Less from Each Other: Basic Books, New York, 2011, 348 pp, ISBN 978-0465031467 (pbk).
- 2. Autor, D. H. (2015). Why are there still so many jobs? The history and future of workplace automation. Journal of economic perspectives, 29(3).
- 3. Beck, U. (1992). Risk society: Towards a new modernity (Vol. 17). Sage.
- Blustein, D. (2013). The psychology of working: A new perspective for career development, counseling, and public policy. Routledge.
- Brynjolfsson, E., & McAfee, A. (2014). The second machine age: Work, progress, and prosperity in a time of brilliant technologies. WW Norton & Company.
- 6. Caplan, B. (2018). The case against education: Why the education system is a waste of time and money. Princeton University Press.
- 7. Cellini, S. R., & Chaudhary, L. (2023). Where do colleges advertise? Demographic targeting by US colleges. Economics of Education Review, 94, 102402.
- Central Statistical Office. (2023). In 2008, the unemployment rate in Latvia was 6.5%. Obtained from: https://stat.gov.lv/lv/statistikas-temas/darbs/bezdarbs/preses-relizes/20759-bezdarbs-2023-gada-4-ceturksni-un-2023-gada?themeCode=NBB.
- 9. David, G. (2018). Bullshit jobs: a theory. Simon & Schuster.
- 10. Dunn, M., Munoz, I., & Sawyer, S. (2021). Gender differences and lost flexibility in online freelancing during the COVID-19 pandemic. Frontiers in sociology, 6, 738024.
- 11. Fleming, M., Clarke, W., Das, S., Phongthiengtham, P., & Reddy, P. (2019). The future of work: How new technologies are transforming tasks. MITIBM Watson AI Lab.
- 12. Ford, M. (2015). Rise of the Robots: Technology and the Threat of a Jobless Future. Basic Books.
- 13. Frey, C. B., & Osborne, M. A. (2017). The future of employment: How susceptible are jobs to computerisation?. Technological forecasting and social change, 114, 254-280.

- 14. Giddens, A. (1999). Risk and Responsibility. Modern Law Review, 1 (62), 1-10.
- Jākobsone, M. (2021) Latvia Digital transformation Guidelines 2021-2027. Obtained from: https://digital-skillsjobs.europa.eu/en/actions/national-initiatives/national-strategies/latvia-digital-transformation-guidelines-2021-2027.
- 16. Kratus, J. (2007). Music education at the tipping point. Music Educators Journal, 94(2), 42-48.
- 17. Leshinsky, K. (2023). The impact of entrepreneurship education based on digital solutions in promoting the entrepreneurial intention of generation Z. Summary of doctoral thesis, Riga, 125 pages.
- Mannheim, K. (1952). The sociological problem of generations. Essays on the Sociology of Knowledge, 306, 163-195.
- 19. Manyika, J., et al. (2017). A Future That Works: Automation, Employment, and Productivity. McKinsey Global Institute.
- 20. Manyika, J., Chui, M., Miremadi, M., Bughin, J., George, K., Willmott, P., & Dewhurst, M. (2017). A future that works: AI, automation, employment, and productivity. McKinsey Global Institute Research, Tech. Rep, 60, 1-135.
- 21. Manyika, J., et al. (2017). A Future That Works: Automation, Employment, and Productivity. McKinsey Global Institute.
- 22. Marc, P. (2001). Digital natives, digital immigrants. On the horizon, 9(5), 1-6.
- 23. Nickols, F. (2006). The Future of Work: How the New Order of Business Will Shape Your Organization, Your Management Style, and Your Life. Consulting to Management, 17(1), 56.
- 24. OCDE. Organización de Cooperación y Desarrollo Económico. (2020). OECD Digital Economy Outlook 2020. OECD Publishing.
- 25. Penprase, B. E. (2018). Higher education in the era of the Fourth Industrial Revolution. Computer Science Journal, 8(3), 47-62.
- 26. Perna, L. W. (Ed.). (2023). Understanding the working college student: New research and its implications for policy and practice. Taylor & Francis.
- 27. Pînzaru, F., Dima, A. M., Zbuchea, A., & Vereş, Z. (2022). Adopting sustainability and digital transformation in business in Romania: A multifaceted approach in the context of the just transition. Amfiteatru Econ, 24(59), 27-44.
- Riga Technical University. (2023). Review of the conference on human resource management presentations, videos, photos. Obtained from: https://www.rtu.lv/lv/lja/par-mums-lja/jaunumi-1/atvert/atskats-uz-konferencipar-cilvekresursu-vadisanu-prezentacijas-video-foto.
- 29. Rukavina, S. (2009). Don Tapscott: Grown up digital: How the net generation is changing your world, McGraw Hill, New York, 2009. Norma, 14(3), 345-348.
- Zarina, V., Svirina, A., Shina, I., & Uzule, K. (2022). The Relationship Between the Industry-Level Economic Development and Human Development in Latvia. Economics and Culture, 19(2), 70-80.

VIABILITY OF ESTONIAN DAIRY FARMS

Raul Omel¹; Maire Nurmet², PhD.

^{1,2} University of Tartu; ¹Estonian University of Life Sciences

Abstract. In achieving the goals of the common agricultural policy and the EU rural development programme, the viability of agricultural enterprises is, among other things, a topical issue. The purpose of this paper is to assess the economic viability levels of agricultural holdings of dairy type, as classified by the Farm Accountancy Data Network. The viability of agricultural holdings was analysed by means of the model of farm viability, a tool which includes farm income, threshold wage, and return on the capital invested in non-land assets. The outcomes enable the classification of Estonian dairy farms as viable or vulnerable. The findings show that income as a basic economic objective of the agricultural holdings' activity is an important determinant of the economic viability of the holdings. The results of the study enable us to explore dairy-type agricultural holdings with the objective of considering ways in which they might improve viability. It is anticipated that the results will be of interest to practitioners and decision-makers in order to identify possibilities in which policies might be adjusted to increase the viability of agricultural holdings.

Key words: dairy farming, economic sustainability, EU agriculture, farm profitability, FADN.

JEL code: Q12, Q18

Introduction

For the period 2023-27, the common agricultural policy (CAP) is built around ten key objectives, focused on social, environmental and economic goals. One of them is the objective to support viable farm income and the resilience of the agricultural sector in order to enhance long-term food security and agricultural diversity, as well as to ensure the economic sustainability of agricultural production. Fair income refers to the entrepreneurial income of the farm on a per family work unit basis (European Commission 2018). A viable farm is a prerequisite for the agricultural sector to provide a wide range of goods and services, including food as well as ecosystem services. (Finger & El Benni, 2021). Regardless of their location in the EU or outside the EU in Europe, the small-scale farms have been found to be rather economically weak but environmentally friendly (Guth, et al., 2022). Many farms face viability problems as farmers' incomes are structurally lagging behind salaries in other sectors, justifying transfers of payments to the farm community from the general population and also in a rural development perspective (Rocchi et al., 2021). Farm viability can be defined in general as the ability of a farmer to run a farm efficiently in a specific area, and maintain an economically viable farm business. Economically viable farm business has a direct impact on land use and indirect impact on issues such as the socio-economic status of rural areas. Farm viability is determined by the level of incomes but also by the fluctuations of incomes and the level of leverage (Vrolijk et al., 2010). Agricultural holdings must consider the combined effects of financial structure and profitability as preconditions of financial viability. A farm is economically viable if it can remunerate family labour at the average agricultural wage, and provide an additional 5 per cent return on non-land assets (Frawley & Commins, 1996; Hennessy et al., 2008).

The purpose of the paper is to provide an assessment of the economic viability of Estonian dairy farms, as classified by Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN), focusing on family farms. The motivation for examining the economic viability of Estonian agricultural holdings of dairy type relates to the structural changes that have occurred in dairy sector recently. Due to the increase in fuel and energy prices, feed costs have increased. The higher price of grain had a significant impact on the cost of animal feed. The production cost of milk has been increased by 19% in 2022 compared to 2021 (FADN Estonia, 2023). According to FADN Estonia, the average selling price of milk was 463 EUR/t in 2022. The value of livestock production per animal unit also increased by an average of 41%, but at the same time, special costs of

² E-mail: raul.omel@ut.ee

livestock farming increased by 17%. In 2022, the ratio of total production value to total costs in dairy production was 1.06. Labour costs were, on average, 24,271 euros per annual unit of paid labour. This means that the average labour cost was 11.03 euros per hour. Compared to 2021, labour costs have increased by 14%, but compared to 2018, the increase is 35%. In dairy production, the net added value was 58.000 euros per annual labour unit (FADN Estonia, 2023).

The purpose of the research is to examine changes in the economic viability of family dairy farms in Estonia. The work defines the concepts and indicators of farm viability, which are applied at the farm level, as well as elucidates past and current developments in the viability of smaller dairy farms using Estonian FADN data.

1. Farm viability indicators and measures

In the EU, the financial viability of farms has previously been analysed as the risk of farm deficits following changes in agricultural support policies (Vrolijk et al., 2010). Most of the studies analysing the viability of farms focus on the amount of farm subsidies (Vrolijk et al., 2010, Jurkenaite & Volkov 2017). Small-scale, mostly family-run farms are labour intensive, and diversified with weaker ability to maintain economically sound and ongoing business. Large corporate farms which are relatively specialised and rely on capital invested in machinery, benefitting from economies of scale, are able to provide the labour with an adequate standard of living, service borrowings, allow investment on farm to maintain the farm's productive assets and provide funds for investment which increases long term productivity (Gómez-Limón et al., 2023; Guth et al., 2022). In time, EU-level land use and agricultural production have become more concentrated.

Results of EU-level analyses have shown significant differences in viability rates between the EU countries (Vrolijk et al., 2010; O'Donoghue et al., 2016). However, these results of viability rates are not equally applicable at the level of countries, farm types or even individual farms, as there are significant differences in farm viability rates between countries. Cross-country differences in farm viability exist because the specific standard of living varies from country to country. Therefore, it is difficult to come up with one universal method of farm viability, with the main priority being viable farm income.

Several methodological approaches have been proposed to assess the viability of agricultural enterprises. Farm viability has been measured in terms of the achievement of a specific income objective (Argilés, 2001; Aggelopoulos et al., 2007; Hennessy, 2008; Vrolijk et al., 2010, O' Donoghue et al., 2016; Loughrey et al., 2022). These indicators are also not equally applicable at the level of the country and individual farms. Loughrey et al. (2022) have recently taken a challenge to develop a farm income measure, which would provide a stronger foundation for the analysis of farm business viability, as despite the significant volume of empirical studies, the conceptual framework used by many researchers to study farm viability has been largely insufficient. They have found that existing empirical literature has still provided weak theoretical foundations for the methodological choices to analyse farm economic viability.

There are number of different definitional choices that can be used when viability is measured. Farm viability measurement as a welfare measure has not always been consistent. These include the wage, which determines the threshold at which viability is determined, and the return on capital, which also affects the viability rate of a farm. Farm economic viability has been measured in terms of opportunity cost of farm resources or as income measure, comparing farm incomes with an income from another source of employment (O'Donoghue et al., 2016). Among indicators used to determine financial viability was farm family income per fully employed member of the farming family (FFI); family labour used in the household, measured in human labour units (HLU) (Aggelopoulos et al., 2007). A farm is considered economically

viable if it can remunerate family labour at the average agricultural wage, and provide an additional 5 per cent return on non-land assets, (Frawley & Commins, 1996; Hennessy et al., 2008). Non-land assets include the capital value of machinery, livestock and production quotas (Hennessy et al., 2008; Hlavsa et al., 2020). Viability is measured as the point at which the farm retains some of sales revenue as operating profits over a year. Similarly, a farm is classified as economically sustainable if the farm net value added (FNVA) per annual work unit (AWU) exceeds some portion of average labour cost per year and provides a certain amount of return on the capital invested in non-land assets, i.e. buildings, machinery and breeding livestock.

2. The data and methodology

The data from the European Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN) are used for the analysis. FADN is a data source for the evaluation of the income of farms and the impacts of the CAP, enabling the classification of farms into groups according to the type. FADN covers all agricultural holdings with utilised agricultural area (UAA) of at least one hectare (ha) and those holdings with a UAA of less than one ha if their market production exceeds certain physical thresholds. Under Regulation (EC) No. 1166/2008, the minimum area threshold for agricultural holdings is five hectares. The basic FADN sampling unit is the commercial holding, i.e. a farm which is large enough to provide a main activity for the farmer and a level of income sufficient to support his or her family so that many small family farms are excluded (The Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN)). The analysis includes the years 2006-2021, the last year available to the authors of this paper.

The model of farm viability captures entrepreneurial income, cost of own capital, annual work units and threshold wage (O'Donoghue et al., 2016). The study will utilise the opportunity-cost-based approach to ascertain the proportion of viable farms within different size categories. According to Vrolijk et al. (2010), a viable farm is defined as one that can withstand income fluctuations, which is measured by the difference between family farm income and the cost of capital required for the hours worked on the farm. This difference should exceed the threshold wage. The issue of determining the viability threshold is a crucial aspect of further discussion, as the choice of threshold significantly impacts the viability of farms. The analysis is based on the average income of paid labour on the farms included in the sample. The viability of a farm is calculated as a difference between family farm income and the threshold wage.

According to the Farm Accountancy Data Network, family farm income is defined as the total output minus intermediate consumption, depreciation, payments to external factors, plus the balance of subsidies, and minus taxes. Data on family farm income and hours of on-farm work are collected through the FADN survey. The cost of own capital is estimated as an opportunity cost of assets, representing the potential return on investing the same amount of capital elsewhere in the economy. Calculations are based on long-term interest rates in the eurozone, as Estonia does not have comparable long-term interest rate instruments (OECD Data, 2024). The hours of on-farm work are based on the annual work unit (AWU), which is fixed at 2200 working hours per year.

The threshold wage, as an income target, is a subjective element that depends on the current standard of living in the country. It can be measured by the average wage in the economy, typically at least 80% of the average labour cost per year or the paid wages observed in the FADN. In this study, the threshold wage is calculated based on paid wages from Estonian FADN data.

The raw data was obtained from the FADN databases. The sample consists of economic indicators from Estonian farms over the period of 2006-2021, with a total of 1420 observations over 16 years. Family farms

are characterised by a significant proportion of unpaid labour input. To exclude commercial farms, all farms with less than 10% unpaid labour input are excluded from the sample. The current data does not provide sufficient information on the total income of agricultural households earned both on and off the farm. Therefore, the opportunity-cost-based approach is adapted to estimate the cost of capital and viability threshold.

Farms were categorised into three distinct groups based on standard output calculations derived from FADN data. Within a sample of Estonian dairy farms, there has been a consistent decrease in the proportion of unpaid labour input. As depicted in Figure 1, there is a clear trend of higher unpaid labour input on small farms, with a subsequent decline as farm size increases.



Source: authors' calculations, a sample of FADN farms 2006-2021

Fig. 1. Share of unpaid labour by farm size, 2006-2021

Specifically, the average share of unpaid labour input among the farms in the sample declined from 79% in 2006 to 60% in 2021. Among the group of smallest farms, with a standard output ranging from EUR 4000 to 25.000, the share of unpaid labour input was nearly 100% throughout the sample period. In the second size group of farms, which had a standard output ranging from EUR 5.000 to 100.000, the share of unpaid labour input during the investigation period was 86%. The third size group, with a standard output exceeding EUR 100.000, exhibited a relatively lower and declining share of unpaid labour input.

3. Results

The findings displayed in Table 1 provide a concise overview of the contextual details pertaining to the farms included in the sample. Over the observed period, there has been a decline in family farm income or entrepreneurial income, as well as a decrease in the proportion of unpaid work. Conversely, there has been an increase in both the annual hourly wage and the amount of one's own capital.

Table 1

	2006	2013	2021	Change
Number of farms	155	98	44	-72%
Utilized agricultural area (ha)	123	119	164	34%
Total labour input (AWU)	2.63	2.15	2.93	12%
Family farm income (euro)	21731	27642	20529	-6%
Yearly average wage (euro per hour)	2.12	5.64	9.91	368%
Average farm capital (excluding value of land)	119806	225202	572067	377%
Share of unpaid labour	0.79	0.74	0.60	-24%

The average values of the parameters of viability, sample of FADN farms in 2006-2015

Source: authors' calculations based on FADN

In the period 2006-2021, there has been a steady decrease in the number of dairy cows, as can be seen from Figure 2. At the same time, milk yield per cow has increased. The reduction of subsidies in 2009 and 2014, as well as the Russian import bans in 2014, have had a significant impact on the overall viability of dairy farms. In comparison to farms that focus on field crops, Estonian dairy farms have demonstrated lower levels of viability. While milk production is primarily dominated by large commercial farms, smaller and medium-scale farms have experienced a decline in competitiveness, leading many of them to cease farming operations altogether.

The dairy cattle livestock farming sector experienced even a slight increase in livestock units until 2013, after which it began to decline primarily due to a reduction in dairy herds. Over the past decade, there has been a notable decrease in the number of farms engaged in dairy cattle farming, with the number of farms holding animals decreasing by half. Small farms with a limited number of animals have chosen to discontinue their livestock farming activities.

Between 2014 and 2016, approximately one-third of dairy farms made the decision to cease keeping dairy herds, further exacerbating the impact of the subsidy reduction and import bans on the existing dairy farms.



Source: Statistics of Estonia, Data tables PM09, PM12

Fig. 2. Average viability by farm size (standard output in thousands of euros), 2006-2021

The viability of Estonian dairy farms has experienced a slight increase, as indicated by Figure 3. On average, larger farms demonstrate higher levels of viability compared to smaller farms. However, it is important to note that even the largest farms do not consistently maintain a high level of viability. Although viability is generally considered a long-term concept, it can also be measured in the short-term using the defined economic viability criteria. The decrease in average viability in 2009 can be attributed to two factors. Firstly, the global economic crisis, which had already begun a year earlier, had a significant impact on Estonian agriculture in 2009. Secondly, as a result of the crisis, the government substantially reduced top-up payments, leading to a decrease in the average subsidy level. Another downturn occurred in 2014, primarily due to a decline in agricultural prices and a reduction in subsidies. Additionally, the Russian import ban on agriculture, announced in August 2014, further contributed to the decline in average viability. It is evident that the viability of Estonian dairy farms is closely linked to output and input prices for agricultural production, as well as changes in international trade.



Source: authors' calculations, a sample of FADN farms 2006-2021

Fig. 3. Average viability by farm size (standard output in thousands of euros), 2006-2021

In achieving economic viability, farm size matters. Results show that as the size of the farm in terms of standard output grows the probability of being viable increases. This is clear in the case of farms with a standard output of more than EUR 100.000. The results obtained allow for the assessment of the proportion of viable farms in Estonia. Overall, there has been a decline in the proportion of viable farms, as indicated in Figure 4. Notably, larger farms exhibit a higher proportion of economic viability. Conversely, smaller farms face greater economic vulnerability due to their limited capacity to develop and utilise available resources.

The analyses of the economic viability of Estonian dairy farms show that problems with viability are focused in particular on the group of smallest farms, with a standard output ranging from EUR 4000 to 25.000. Holdings with a high intensity of labour have higher levels of viability since the intensification of labour is related to achieving high productivity results. In addition, the age of the beneficiaries is related to increased productivity in agricultural holdings. Young producers have more knowledge and more opportunities for business growth than the previous generations and can, therefore, respond to the new competitive market conditions (Aggelopoulos et al., 2007) Socio-demographic variables affect the viability to some extent: age is associated with a higher probability of being an unviable farm for the two categories

which consider the long-term viability (Coppola et al., 2020). The results show that the average economic viability of Estonian dairy farms has slightly increased, but the share of viable farms has decreased. Larger dairy farms' likelihood of being viable is higher. Smaller farms are economically more vulnerable as their capability to survive, live and develop by using the available resources is lower, compared to larger farms. The ability to generate sufficient profit with reasonable labour input grows with farm size and capital intensity.



Source: authors' calculations, a sample of FADN farms 2006-2021

Fig. 4. A share of viable farms by size (standard output in thousands of euros), 2006-2021

Despite an increase in the average economic viability of dairy farms in Estonia, there has been a decrease in the proportion of farms that are considered viable. Specifically, the share of viable farms has declined from 61% to 39% between 2006 and 2021. It is important to note that their size influences the viability of farms, and there exists a negative relationship between farm size and viability. Notably, among the larger farms, there is a significantly higher percentage of viable farms compared to smaller farms. Although the percentage of larger viable dairy farms has decreased from 86% to 52%, it is evident that the majority of small farms are not viable. Furthermore, the group of farms with an average size, as observed in the current sample, also exhibits a low share of viability. Despite the decline in the share of viable farms across all size groups, there is an increase in the proportion of viable farms as farm size increases.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) The study focus was to assess the economic viability levels of Estonian agricultural holdings of dairy type, as classified by Farm Accountancy Data Network, and to provide an understanding of viability changes across farm size.

- 2) The results indicate the following:
- the average viability of dairy farms has slightly increased, but the share of viable farms has decreased;
- smaller farms are economically more vulnerable as their capability to survive, live and develop by using the available resources is lower, compared to larger farms;
- the ability to generate sufficient profit with reasonable labour input grows with farm size and capital intensity;

• small-sized farms are not only viable based on income from their on-farm operations, they can achieve viability through off-farm work.

3) Small farms have proven to be quite weak economically, and many of them face viability problems, as farmers' incomes structurally lag behind those of other sectors. However, the issues of ensuring the viability of farms must continue to be addressed because viable farms are decisive in the long term for the agricultural sector's ability to produce food, as well as the ability to ensure ecosystem services and environmental protection.

4) The assessment of economic viability levels of farms is quite a complicated topic in scientific debates, and there are still many limitations and issues that need to be addressed. The applicability of indicator systems is still under discussion in the scientific community.

Bibliography

- 1. Aggelopoulos, S., Samathrakis, V., & Theocharopoulos, A. (2007). Modelling the Determinants of the Financial Viability of Farms. Research Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences, 3, (pp.896–901).
- Argilés, J.M. (2001). Accounting information and the prediction of farm non-viability. The European Accounting Review 10 (1), 73-105.
- 3. Coppola, A., Scardera, A., Amato, M. &Verneau, F. (2020). Income levels and farm economic viability in Italian farms: An analysis of FADN data. Sustainability, 12(12), 4898.
- 4. European Commission, 2018. Ensuring Viable Farm Income. Brief No 1. CAP Specific Objectives Explained. European Commission, Brussels (pp. 1-16).
- European Parliament. Second pillar of the CAP: rural development policy. Retrieved from: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/factsheets/en/sheet/110/second-pillar-of-the-cap-rural-development-policy Accessed 9.1.2024.
- 6. FADN Estonia, (2023). Centre of Estonian Rural Research and Knowledge (METK) Retrieved from: https://metk.agri.ee/fadn
- 7. Finger, R. & El Benni, N. (2021). Farm Income in European Agriculture: New Perspectives on Measurement and Implications for Policy Evaluation. European Review of Agricultural Economics, 48 (pp. 253–265).
- 8. Frawley, J.P., & Commins, P. (1996). The Changing Structure of Irish Farming: Trends and Prospects. Rural Economy Research Series 1. Dublin: Teagasc.
- Gómez-Limón, J.A., Sánchez-Cañizares, S., Hidalgo-Fernández, A., & Castillo-Canalejo, A.M. (2023). Profit and viability persistence: Evidence from the Spanish agricultural sector. Agribusiness 39(4), 1300-1332. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1002/agr.21822.
- 10. Guth, M., Stępień, S., Smędzik-Ambroży, K. & Matuszczak, A. (2022). Is small beautiful? Technical efficiency and environmental sustainability of small-scale family farms under the conditions of agricultural policy support. Journal of Rural Studies, 89, (pp. 235-247).
- 11. Hennessy, T., Shresthra, S. & Farrell, M. (2008). Quantifying the viability of farming in Ireland: can decoupling address the regional imbalances. Irish Geography 41 (1), 29-47.
- 12. Hlavsa, T., Spicka, J., Stolbova, M., & Hlouskova, Z. (2020). Statistical analysis of economic viability of farms operating in Czech areas facing natural constraints. Agricultural Economics 66 (5), 193–202. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.17221/327/2019-AGRICECON.
- 13. Jurkėnaitė, N., & Volkov, A. (2017). Agricultural Support Model: Towards Long-term Viability. Management Theory and Studies for Rural Business and Infrastructure Development, 39 (1), (pp. 42–56).
- Loughrey, J., O'Donoghue, C., & Conneely, R. (2022). Alternative measures of Family Farm Viability Incorporating gap measures. Journal of Rural Studies 89 (pp. 257–274).
- 15. OECD Data, 2024. Retrieved from: https://data.oecd.org/.
- 16. O'Donoghue, C., Devisme, S., Ryan, M., Conneely, R., Gillespie, P., & Vrolijk, H. (2016). Farm economic sustainability in the European Union: A pilot study. Studies in Agricultural Economics, 118 (3), 63-171.
- Rocchi, B., Marino, M., & Severini, S. (2021). Does an income gap between farm and nonfarm households still exist? The case of the European Union. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13116doi: doi: 10.1002/aepp.13116.
- 18. The Farm Accountancy Data Network (FADN) is an instrument for evaluating the income of agricultural holdings and the impacts of the Common Agricultural Policy. European Commission, Agriculture, FADN. Retrieved from: http://ec.europa.eu/agriculture/rica/ Accessed 7.1.2019.
- 19. Vrolijk, H.C.J., De Bont, C.J.A.M., Blokland, P.W. & Soboh, R.A.M.E. (2010). Farm viability in the European Union; assessment of the impact of changes in farm payments. Bulletin: Rapport Landbouw-Economisch Instituut 2010-011, (pp. 1-67).

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY - A FACTOR OF INCREASING THE COMPETITIVENESS OF THE COMPANY

Natela Tsiklashvili¹, Professor/Doctor of Economics; Tamta Kartsivadze², PHD Student

^{1,2}Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University

Abstract. Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is a link between society and the organization. It is a new phenomenon that involves improving the economic, social and cultural environment and solving problems that are directly or indirectly caused by business activities. CSR has already become a rapidly growing contemporary trend and a common form of doing business. Nowadays, the number of organizations that are active in the field of social responsibility is increasing. They express goodwill and their main goal is not only to make a profit, but also to have a positive impact on the working, natural and social environment. Apart from social goals, in case of increased competition, CSR is applied as a marketing tool to gain competitive advantage in the marketplace. Due to the actuality of the topic, the demand for corporate social responsibility from customers, employees and investors is increasing in Georgia, which leads to the need to study mentioned issue in depth. This article discusses and analyses the corporate social responsibility of the business as an important factor in increasing the company's competitiveness. Based on the conducted research, the article examines the current situation in Georgia in terms of CSR. Also, this article analyses the attitude of Georgian consumers towards the companies that are socially active and based on the information received, the relationship between social responsibility and increasing the company's competitiveness is identified. Attention is focused on contemporary challenges and in the form of a conclusion, the necessary recommendations for solving the mentioned challenges are formulated.

Key words: corporate social responsibility, company competitiveness, sustainable development, marketing tool.

JEL code: M14

Introduction

Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is one of the most actual topics of the 21st century. Nowadays, contemporary society demands corporate social responsibility from companies of all sizes around the world - both in developed and developing countries. The topicality of the issue is determined by the fact, that the process of globalization actively affects the growth of interest related to CSR. The demand for it from customers, investors, suppliers and employees is increasing. This leads to the need to study social responsibility and analyse it (Khoferia & Chkheidze, 2018).

Corporate social responsibility is one of the fastest growing concepts in modern world business. From the 1930s to the present, many scientists, economists and businessmen have speculated about the role and importance of CSR. Its essence and forms have changed many times. Nowadays, we can say that corporate social responsibility is a tool for gaining a competitive advantage in the market, because products acquire additional social value (Vashakmadze, 2016).

The main aim of the research is to study the current situation in the direction of CSR in Georgia and to determine to what extent the use of corporate social responsibility is a factor of increasing competitiveness for the company.

The research objectives are as follows:

- studying the Georgian consumer's attitude towards corporate social responsibility;
- determination of the role of social responsibility in the process of selection of products or services by the consumer;
- identifying customer expectations regarding the direction in which social projects should be implemented in order to increase the company's competitiveness.

¹ E-mail: natia.tsiklashvili@bsu.edu.ge

² E-mail: tamta.kartsivadze@bsu.edu.ge

The hypothesis of the present study is following: according to public opinion, corporate social responsibility increases the company's competitiveness, therefore companies aspire to be socially active and they implement social projects that are in demand by customers.

Methodology

While working on the article, both bibliographic and quantitative research was carried out. In the research, the works, articles, internet publications of both Georgian and foreign authors were mainly used. At the initial stage, as part of the quantitative research, respondents living in one of the regions of Georgia – Adjara were interviewed in January-February (205 respondents). Based on the obtained results, relevant recommendations were developed and a conclusion was prepared.

Research results and discussion

Nowadays, in the modern world, it is unbelievable to operate a company that is not active in terms of corporate social responsibility. CSR has become a common form of doing business. The main goal of any business is to make a profit, but at the same time it has to operate in a certain social, political, economic and cultural environment and obviously, it cannot ignore the interests of society. Moreover, a necessary condition for the effective functioning of the company and business is the stability of the society. Therefore, they try to develop and implement such events, that ensure the stability of society. Implementation of CSR projects concerns large, small and medium-sized businesses. However, large companies are more in the centre of attention, because they have more power, and as is known, power is accompanied by adequate responsibility (Takalandze, 2021).

In terms of market dynamics and corporate social responsibility, companies that implement CSR projects are perceived positively and have a better reputation. They have more loyal customers and take advantage than companies, that ignore CSR projects (Konjaria, 2018). CSR is often perceived as a modern philosophy, the main determinants of which are competitiveness, mutual benefit and sustainable development (Anil, 2021).

Social responsibility has a positive effect upon the company's business activities, because it helps to increase the competitiveness, improve its image, helps the firm to better manage the risks related to its activities, attract investors, maintain good relations with employees, suppliers, customers, etc. (Mamuladze, 2016). In addition, a firm that implements CSR not only improves its image, but also increases the motivation and commitment of its staff, which leads to greater creativity and productivity of the company. A positive image of the firm also improves cooperation with business partners, which can increase sales and financial results (Marakova, Wolak-Tuzimek, & Tuckova, 2021).

When analysing what issues of competitiveness are linked to corporate social responsibility, it has been found that CSR influences company's reputation, branding, increase financial capacity, loyalty and customer satisfaction, attracting highly skilled workers, market share growth, work efficiency, cost and risk reduction. All these aspects of activity provide a competitive advantage for a socially responsible company (Lu et al., 2020).

One of the most famous examples of CSR is the company "Toms", which has been implementing CSR projects since 2006. The company's founder, Blake Mycoskie, created a new business model called "One for One," which meant that for every pair of shoes sold, a second pair would be sent to barefoot children in Africa or another continent. At first, by 2006, the firm's awareness was low, but because of the new business concept, "Toms" quickly gained popularity, and by 2013, it had already sold ten million pairs of shoes and given the same number to children in need. The company later expanded to include glasses

and coffee businesses, although the concept remained the same. "Toms" has become competitive firm and the founder - world famous (Carrillo-Duran & Castillo-Diaz, 2021). For the 42 year-old entrepreneur, business has never been just about making a profit, on the contrary, giving is the main factor of his business model. This is how it becomes possible to achieve sustainable development for a better future.

It is interesting to review and analyse the current situation in Georgia regarding CSR. For the first time, this topic became relevant here about 20 years ago. In 2005, the first meeting between Georgian non-governmental organizations and the business sector was held, which was accompanied by the first memorandum on cooperation in the social sphere. In 2007, the Georgian representation of the UN program "Global Agreement" - "Global Agreement - Georgia" was created, the purpose of which is to popularize the issue of CSR in Georgia and implement the practice of producing international social reports (Lekvinadze, 2014).

Nowadays, the Georgian government does not implement a unified consolidated strategy to support corporate social responsibility, there is still no state policy for CSR promotion or a government agency that would perform the coordinating function of these issues. However, there are separate governmental initiatives and programs that directly or indirectly contribute to the establishment and development of corporate social responsibility in Georgia (Corporate Social Responsibility Information Hub, 2024).

Despite the fact that it still takes a long time to form a civilized business in Georgia, the problem of CSR is becoming more and more relevant. In the last period, great importance is given to the issue of increasing social investments financed by businesses. As in many developing countries, CSR in Georgia is mostly seen as charity and it has a local character (Kartsivadze, 2023). In the present sense, CSR in the developed countries of the West is a much broader concept than charity, sponsorship or even philanthropy. Philanthropy and sponsorship are outdated forms of corporate social responsibility. What distinguishes the current understanding of CSR from past initiatives is its understanding not as a one-time act, but as a sustainable process that is based on and equally takes into account the aspects of sustainable development (Mkheidze, 2022).

In order to determine to what extent the CSR is a factor in increasing the competitiveness of the company, a survey to study the attitude of Georgian consumers towards CSR was conducted. 205 respondents took part in the survey, the majority of whom are female (66.3%). 37.6% of respondents are between 35-55 years of age, 24.4% - between 26-34 years of age, 20% - between 19-35 years of age, 11.2% - over 56 years of age, and in the minority are respondents under 18 years of age, which make up 6.8% of respondents.

According to the results of the research, 51.2% of the respondents have information about the CSR, 33.2% have heard about it, but have no information about its importance, and 15.6% have no information about CSR. 63.7% of respondents cannot name the companies that are active in the direction of social responsibility in Georgia. While 36.3% can, and such large Georgian companies as Bank of Georgia, TBC Bank, Bank Kartu, Gulf, Wissol, PSP, Tegeta and etc.

As for the projects implemented by socially active companies in Georgia environmental, cultural and social events are noteworthy. However, respondents also declare that projects of this type are one-time.

Since 2018, the responsible business competition Meliora has been held annually in Georgia, the main goal of which is the development of CSR in Georgia and its promotion in society (Georgian Responsible Business Competition Meliora, 2024). One of the sub-categories of the competition is local community education and development, providing educational opportunities and supporting educational activities. During the last period, many companies are implementing projects for the development of education, although it should be noted that only 2% of respondents consider that Georgian companies should
implement CSR projects in this direction. Regarding the mentioned result of the research, it is interesting to review the latest data of the international student assessment program, PISA 2022, according to which the knowledge and skills of 15 year-old Georgian students in Georgia in 2022 in mathematics, reading comprehension and natural sciences did not improve compared to 2018. Among 81 countries, Georgia ranks 67th in reading comprehension, 60th in mathematics and 66th in natural sciences (The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), 2023).

When asked how often you have used the products or services of companies that are active in the direction of corporate social responsibility, 44.7% of the respondents declare that they have not used them, 27.4% use them once in a month, 18.3% 2-3 times a week, and the smallest number of respondents 9.6% declare that they are used by them almost every day (Figure 1).



Source: authors' research results



When asked in the buying process, when making a decision, to what extent do you consider the activity of the company in the direction of corporate social responsibility, 42.8% of respondents state that they rarely consider, 40.8% always consider, and 16.4% do not consider (Figure 2).





Fig. 2. Considering the social activity of the companies during the decision-making process of the respondents in the buying process

When asked how important it is to implement corporate social responsibility in companies in order to increase competitiveness, most of the respondents (52.2%) rated it as the highest on a 10-point scale (Figure 3).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 106-113 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.011



Source: authors' research results

Fig. 3. Respondents' attitude towards the establishment of CSR in companies in order to increase competitiveness

Most of the respondents (67.6%) rated their attitude with the highest score on the question of how important it is to increase awareness in the direction of corporate social responsibility in Georgia (Figure 4).



Source: authors' research results



As for customer expectations regarding in which direction the companies should implement social projects in order to increase competitiveness, the majority of respondents (31.5%) believe that relevant activities should be taken in order to reduce unemployment, 27.5% of respondents believe that appropriate projects should be implemented in order to help socially vulnerable families and 26.3% of respondents believe that projects in the direction of environmental activities should be implemented (Figure 5).



Source: authors' research results

Fig. 5. Customer expectations regarding in which direction the companies should implement social projects in order to increase competitiveness

Thus, we can conclude that corporate social responsibility is a factor in increasing the company's competitiveness, because although the awareness of CSR among consumers is not very high, those consumers who have information about it in the purchasing process make a choice in favour of socially active companies. Also, most of the interviewed respondents believe that it is appropriate to raise awareness about this issue and establish CSR in companies in order to increase competitiveness.

Conclusions and recommendations

Globalization is accompanied by intensified competition, therefore companies should pay special attention to the implementation of corporate social responsibility in companies, as it is directly related to the improvement of the company's image and reputation. As a result of the implementation of CSR projects, the trust and loyalty of customers increases, which is one of the prerequisites for the formation of a successful and sustainable future.

Our research brought to the fore several issues that companies should pay attention to.

1) Despite the increased activity of companies and the government in the direction of CSR, awareness among consumers is still low. Raising awareness is important, because it will increase the company's competitiveness and the number of loyal customers. One of the best ways to raise awareness is to involve stakeholders in this process, including employees, customers, suppliers, investors, and anyone else who has an interest or influence over the business. A combination of online and offline platforms may be used to increase awareness, including creating a website or blog, press release, video, webinar and other marketing activities. Distribution of information by companies about their CSR projects depends on their goals, audience and budget.

2) Companies should develop an effective social responsibility policy and implement projects that have a major consumer demand. As it is clear from the results of the research, the most demanded social projects in Georgia are those that serve to help socially vulnerable families, take appropriate measures to reduce unemployment, increase support for families with many children and etc. If companies focus on these directions, they will attract more customers and their competitiveness will be increased accordingly.

3) Another problem revealed by the research is that respondents do not consider it necessary for companies to implement social projects for the promotion of education. Only 2% of respondents believe that Georgian companies should implement CSR projects in these directions. However, the results of the PISA 2022 research regarding the knowledge and skills of Georgian students are not very favourable. Therefore, regardless of the results of our research, projects in the direction of education are a necessity. It is crucial to improve the quality of education and make it accessible to everyone.

4) There are many companies in Georgia that spend quite a lot of money on the implementation of social projects. However, such initiatives are often of a one-time nature, which is confirmed by the results of the survey. Therefore, companies must realize that in order to achieve success and increase competitiveness, they must be guided by high standards of social responsibility and focus on continuity and sustainability of projects.

5) Based on the research, the validity of the presented hypothesis was confirmed and it was also determined that most of the customers (83.6%) always or rarely consider the company's activity in the direction of social responsibility when making a decision. When there is intense competition in the market and this is not so rare in Georgia, consumers in most cases choose companies that implement social projects. Also, 80% of respondents with the highest rate on the 10-point scale of consumer attitudes (10, 9 and 8 points) assess the need to establish CSR in companies in order to increase competitiveness, which is also a high indicator.

Therefore, companies should develop a CSR strategy that will be more systematic, sustainable and longterm, because the establishment of corporate social responsibility in the firm in the right direction is an important factor in gaining a competitive advantage for the company.

Bibliography

- 1. Anil, Y. A. (2021). Corporate social responsibility. In *The Palgrave Encyclopedia of Interest Groups, Lobbying and Public Affairs* (pp. 2-11). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-13895-0_193-1
- Carrillo-Durán, M.-V., & Castillo-Díaz, A. (2021). TOMS: "We Are in Business to Improve Lives". In M. Galan-Ladero, C. Galera-Casquet, & H. Alves, *Cause-Related Marketing, Case Studies from a Global Perspective* (pp. 139-152). Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-65455-9_11
- 3. Corporate Social Responsibility Information Hub. (2024). Policy and initiatives of the Georgian government regarding corporate responsibility. Georgia. Retrieved on February 6, 2024, from: https://csrgeorgia.com/ka/csr-in-georgia/public-policy
- Georgian Responsible Business Competition Meliora. (2024). Award for supporting and developing society and the local communities. Georgia. Retrieved on February 6, 2024, from: https://meliora.ge//en/categories/supporting_communities
- 5. Kartsivadze, T. (2023, November 29). Contemporary challenges of corporate social responsibility in Georgia. *Innovative Economics and Management*, pp. 75-83. doi:10.46361/2449-2604.10.3.2023.75-84
- 6. Khoferia, L., & Chkheidze, E. (2018). Corporate social guidelines for small and medium-sized companies. Tbilisi: Petite.
- 7. Konjaria, E. (2018). The essence and forms of social responsibility of a business. *Challenges of globalization in economics and business* (pp. 225-227). Tbilisi: Ivane Javakhishvili Tbilisi State University Press.
- Lekvinadze, I. (2014, June 19). Social responsibility of business in Georgia. Retrieved on February 6, 2024, from: https://forbes.ge/blogs/e1-83-91-e1-83-98-e1-83-96-e1-83-9c-e1-83-94-e1-83-a1-e1-83-98-e1-83-a1-e1-83-a1-e1-83-9d-e1-83-aa-e1-83-9d-e1-8
- 9. Lu, J., Ren, L., Yao, S., Qiao, J., Mikalauskiene, A., & Streimikis, J. (2020, May 6). Exploring the relationship between corporate social responsibility and firm competitiveness. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, pp. 1622-1640.
- 10. Mamuladze, G. (2016). Social responsibility as a significant factor to improve the competitiveness company. *Innovative Economics and Management*, pp. 87-93.
- 11. Marakova, V., Wolak-Tuzimek, A., & Tuckova, Z. (2021). Corporate Social Responsibility as a Source of Competitive Advantage in Large Enterprises. *Journal of Competitiveness*, 113-125.

- 12. Mkheidze, M. (2022). *Philanthropy and volunteering, international practice and Georgia*. Tbilisi: Institute of Civil Society.
- 13. Takalandze, L. (2021). Corporate Social Responsibility and Ethics: European Union's Experience. Tbilisi.
- 14. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). (2023, December 5). PISA 2022 Results: Factsheets, Georgia. Retrieved on February 15, 2024, from: https://www.oecd.org/publication/pisa-2022results/country-notes/georgia-09138858#section-d1e17
- 15. Vashakmadze, D. (2016). Peculiarities and development prospects of integrated marketing communications in Georgia. Batumi, Georgia. Retrieved on February 16, 2024, from: https://bsu.edu.ge/text_files/ge_file_6784_1.pdf

INTEGRATED AND SUSTAINABLE REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT

CONCEPTUAL ISSUES OF SUSTAINABLE LOCAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE

George Abuselidze¹, Doctor of Economics/ Professor; Gia Zoidze², Doctor of Economics

^{1,2}Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University

Abstract. Good examples of the world's experience show that strategic planning of local economic development is more likely to achieve sustainable development and inclusive growth on the ground, which implies that development processes should be guided by a local economic development strategy based on participation and cooperation. It creates a framework policy for local development and relies on assessments and forecasts developed in accordance with the research and analysis of the situation of the place, which further reduces the risks of failure. The purpose of the research is to determine effective ways of local economic development. Achieving the set goal requires solving the following tasks: study and analysis of existing concepts of sustainable economic development. Based on this, the research has studied the experience of different countries on the support of local sustainable economic development. The subject of the research is local economic development as a priority strategy for sustainable development. The research is based on methodologies, papers and reports developed by international organizations and international scientists and experts in the field of development. Based on the conducted research, effective ways of forming and implementing economic policies promoting local sustainable economic development in developed countries have been identified, and basic recommendations have been developed.

Key words: sustainable economic development, development policy, local development, cooperation of local actors, globalization.

JEL code: Q01, Q56, R11, R58

Introduction

The approach to local economic development, which was initially developed for vulnerable social groups and poor populations at the local and regional level and has found a significantly increasing acceptance in global, neo-liberal economies, is mainly based on the idea of self-help.

One of the first experts on local economic development, Sam Aaronovitch of the London Local Economic Policy Unit (Aaronovitch, 1986), once pointed out that we cannot escape the path of self-preservation. It is this way that represents local economic development, which James Robertson (Robertson, 1985) characterizes as: "local activities for local people using local resources." The current international trend in the field of governance shows that "top-down" management approaches have been replaced by "bottom-up" approaches, local and regional development, and devolution of power from the central government to subnational levels (Glinskiy et al., 2016; Akgün et al., 2012). Endogenous (development from within) approaches have been developed, and especially in the last two decades, indigenous, indigenous, indigenous population and their specificities have become widespread (Pike et al., 2010; Müller et al., 2011). The balanced growth of the country and its territories depends on the process of regional development, which makes it possible to effectively utilize the region's financial, economic, and social ability to improve social well-being (Abuselidze, 2019; Abuselidze and Meladze, 2023). Since they, in our opinion, are what maintain the harmony of the region's social, political, cultural, and public relations features, the financial and economic components of regional growth deserve special attention (Abuselidze and Meladze, 2024).

This trend was significantly determined by the characteristics of the local economic development approach, which implies: solving local problems by residents and actors who have the most information about the specifics and needs of the place; ensuring participation and engagement with a shared vision; pooling efforts and resources to increase cost-effectiveness; inclusiveness and sustainability (Zoidze et al.,

¹ E-mail: george.abuselidze@bsu.edu.ge

2023; Steurer, 2008). Local economic development is often based on practical experience, which can be improved by taking into account the successes and failures of others.

There is no single model of local economic development support, local economic development strategy design, or local economic development programs that can be directly transferred to any area at any time. Every place has its own individual characteristics, without taking into account the processes of local economic development will be unsuccessful and ineffective for improving the living standards of local residents.

Accordingly, the developed strategic programs and initiatives of local economic development take into account the conditions and environment of the specific place for which they were developed.

Therefore, local economic development programmes and projects of different areas are different and peculiar. However, it should be noted here that the methodologies and international practical experience in the direction of local economic development are so broad that it allows local actors interested in this regard to freely study the successful and unsuccessful experiences of others and with the help of analysis and methodologies to determine the correct vectors of actions towards the desired results, gather others and with their maximum involvement to ensure local development.

Due to the fact that increased competition leads to the movement of capital and human resources in search of better conditions, which are defining elements for development, the need to increase competitiveness in local areas arose, for which it was important to develop new policies, which implies that local units should assess the potential of the area, threats and barriers to properly plan site development activities, attract investment and maintain and develop human resources and assets (Pike et al., 2016; Lin et al., 2023).

It is significant that in the conditions of globalization, the traditional methods of development policy planning are already losing their effectiveness, because in the conditions of centrally planned policies, economic growth can be caused only by the increase in the well-being of small groups, although such growth cannot be considered economic development (Badulescu et al., 2024; Veshapidze and Karchava, 2022).

International practice shows that local initiatives, including innovative ones, succeed when calculations are made correctly in accordance with specific environmental conditions. It should be noted here that different actors of local economic development processes have different strategic visions and resources, based on which innovative ideas appear, and real changes and development are achieved by the involvement of actors in the processes, combining resources and ideas.

Methodology

A complex and systematic approach to the concept of sustainable development is the methodological basis of all areas, including our research. Sustainable development refers to a form of economic growth that ensures the well-being of society in the short, medium and, most importantly, long term. It is based on the principle that the needs of the present must be met without jeopardizing future generations. Sustainable development means creating conditions for long-term economic development with maximum consideration of environmental protection issues.

To achieve sustainable development, it will be of great importance to increase production efficiency and introduce reuse of raw materials. The existence of eco-efficient enterprises and companies will make it possible, on the one hand, to improve the quality of life of the population at the expense of competitive prices for manufactured products and services, and on the other hand, to reduce the negative impact on

the environment and, at the same time, to use raw materials economically, so that the natural balance of ecosystems is not disturbed.

As a result of the development trend of the current socio-economic and related problems, our research relies on methodologies, documents, papers, reports and official sources of statistical data developed by international organizations, scientists and experts.

Therefore, the following methods are used in the research: qualitative data analysis, statistical analysis, deduction, induction, schematic, systematic, synthetic, comparative analysis and case-study methods.

Within the scope of work on this paper, the research aimed:

- to analyse methodologies, scientific literature, reports and strategic documents on local economic development;
- to study various legal acts, programmes and documents prepared by experts on the country's experience on the issue of local economic development.

At the end of the research, after analysing the obtained information and materials, conclusions and recommendations were prepared.

Research results and discussion

1. Theoretical and methodological foundations of local economic development

In the face of increased competition as a result of globalization, traditional methods of development policy planning are already losing their effectiveness, as they do not adequately respond to such important challenges as sustainable development and inclusive growth. Centrally planned policies based solely on the principle of "top-down" management cannot adequately achieve economic flexibility in response to increased inter-territorial and interpersonal disparities as a result of competition (Yi and Xiao-Ii, 2018). Accordingly, the importance of integrated, holistic and participatory development approaches focused on increasing the competitiveness of local areas has gradually increased.

Real development starts at the local level. That is why in many countries of the world the local economic development approach is very popular and successfully used in the processes of development policy planning and implementation, which is an alternative approach to development policy planning to achieve sustainable development faster and more effectively (Sotarauta et al., 2012). It implies an integrated, self-help-oriented, holistic and participation-based process of transformation of the economic, social and ecological environment within the territory by combining efforts, synergy and cooperation of local public, private and civil sector actors, central government and international development partner organizations (Zoidze and Abuselidze, 2023).

Local economic development is effective only when the main actors of local economic development are involved in the development processes (Table 1), including local residents, local authorities, representatives of various political parties, the private sector, non-governmental organizations, various local unions, universities, research organizations, and various representatives of the civil sector.

Table 1

Stakeholders in local economic development processes

I	II	III	IV
Local public sector	Local private sector	Local civil society	Other participants
 Mayor; other local, elected political leaders; state trustees in the regions; relevant civil servants and the local economic development team; Local, regional and national level governing bodies/institutions/st ructures; state- owned enterprises; Research and educational public institutions; Other. 	 Micro, small, medium and large entrepreneurs; informal sector; Business development and support organizations; Banks, credit, microfinance and other financial institutions/unions; Developers; Business supporting organizations; Chamber of Commerce; Trade associations; Business associations; Unions of farmers and producers of products (e.g. farmers etc.) Private educational institutions; Analytical centres (think- tanks) Media; Other. 	 Local community organizations; informal community leaders; neighbourhoods; Citizens with local economic development initiatives; Unions and institutions (non- governmental) created with special interest (youth organizations; organizations for women, disabled people, marginal citizens and people with other needs); Other non-governmental organizations; environmental protection non-governmental organizations; Professional associations; labour unions; Educational sector (schools, universities, colleges, centres and others); Research organizations; religious associations; religious leaders; Other. 	 Government, ministries and representatives of the government and relevant agencies at the national level; International organizations and international experts working on issues of local economic development.

Source: compiled by the authors

It should be noted that the local economic development approach is significantly different from the traditional development approaches and it requires new and strategic thinking, which implies the following approaches:

- instead of making decisions at the central level, moving to negotiation, collaboration and partnership, combining forces and capabilities to achieve common goals;
- transition from sectoral development planning to integrated planning;
- taking into account the idea that not only the government has responsibility and obligations for the achievement of development, but the whole society is responsible for it;
- to concentrate on effective and efficient use of local resources, capabilities and finances within the territory instead of depending on support received from outside the territory;
- conducting processes in a way that combines elements of development, training and monitoring;
- focusing on the end result (for example, poverty reduction) instead of focusing on intermediate results (for example: new projects and laws) (OECD, 2001).

Good examples of the world's experience show that strategic planning of local economic development is more likely to achieve sustainable development and inclusive growth on the ground, which implies that development processes should be guided by a local economic development strategy based on participation and cooperation (Zoidze, 2023). It creates a framework policy for local development and relies on assessments and forecasts developed in accordance with the research and analysis of the situation of the place, which further reduces the risks of failure.

It is significant that local economic development cannot be effectively achieved if the responsibility is assigned to only one actor, because in such conditions the development process will be deprived of the benefits that local actors' cooperation and partnership bring.

It should also be noted that relations in the format of cooperation of development-oriented forces and involvement of actors in local dialogue can significantly encourage the emergence of innovative initiatives, promotion of effective use of local resources, development of value chains and raising of living standards (Bedianashvili, 2021). The social capital at the local level plays an important role in this, which implies the ability of people to act together to achieve a common goal, the existence of such a mode of social structure that facilitates the activity of an individual in a structured context (Coleman, 1994; Gvelesiani and Veshapidze, 2016), for which it is important to have an appropriate level of mutual cooperation and trust.

It is significant that in such societies where people find it difficult to form public unions and organizations independently, to organize and cooperate for a single purpose, such societies are more dependent on the state (CIPDD, 2006; Raszkowski, and Bartniczak, 2018) and will not be able to initiate changes based on mutual cooperation. The local economic development strategy is unique and distinctive in that it offers countries, especially in the post-crisis period, a holistic approach to concentrate resources and efforts to ensure the economic and social development of vulnerable areas.

The concentration of resources and efforts means the achievement of economic, social and environmental goals on the ground by ensuring the joint involvement of material resources, knowledge, institutions, national and international development organizations, non-governmental organizations, research and development organizations, local government agencies and organizations in the business sector.

All this contributes to improving the living standards of the local population, creating jobs and providing opportunities for families to generate adequate income. For this, it is important that the strategic planning process is well understood, the situational analysis is carried out qualitatively, and the needs are correctly identified, which will be answered by the activities defined by the strategy.

2. International experience of local economic development support and programme implementation

For a better understanding of the essence of local economic development and international trends on local economic development issues, it will be interesting to discuss examples of strategic programs and initiatives of local economic development from the experience of different countries. Based on the specifics of the issue, it would be more appropriate and interesting at first if we consider examples not by country, but by who are the authors of local economic development initiatives: local indigenous population, local private sector, civil sector or public sector actors.

At the initial stage, let's consider examples of local economic development that were initiated by the local indigenous population within the territory. It is worth noting that local economic development initiatives are sometimes created naturally and spontaneously by the population or one local actor at the initial stage and then develop in cooperation with other local actors, which often happens only in places where the level of social capital of the population is high.

In many cases, local economic development programs are developed and developed as a result of targeted development planning. The author of the local economic development initiative can be one or

several local residents who, by sharing the idea with others, increase the scale of their activities, which has a better impact on the local economy. Sometimes solving a local problem effectively and on time requires the unanimity of the population, and for this the local population unites and starts activities for local economic development independently of the local government and other actors.

In this regard, several examples of local economic development led by the initiative and leadership of local residents are interesting. Due to political changes in East Germany, a local agricultural cooperative and a large power plant near Frankfurt-Oder were closed. The residents of the mentioned village (150 inhabitants) lost their jobs, although they did not want to leave their homes. The residents unanimously decided to use the available village resources and purchased an abandoned four-story grain warehouse and turned it into a community development centre. They also opened a market where locally produced organic products were sold. They started using new technologies for the production of environmentally friendly products and developed renewable energy systems. Moreover, they created a local power station and an irrigation system. Later, the villagers began to sell their knowledge and experience to international educational centres working in the field of rural development.

The island of Papa Westray in northern Scotland was also developed by the initiative of the local population. A local store and a passenger ship owner went bankrupt on the said island. Since these two were the link to the rest of the world, the local people decided to form an island cooperative and operate a store and a passenger ship on their own. This was only possible by investing in collective unremunerated (unpaid) labour, which meant that the islanders shared the work of this shop and ship by arrangement until the shop and ship owner had the resources to hire others. Then the members of the cooperative came up with an idea to implement a new successful project. At the initial stage, they turned abandoned unused farmhouses into small hotels (hostels), and later into family hotels, established a new nature reserve, developed archaeological sites and organized tourist tours on the island. From the above, it can be seen that through mutual cooperation based on the building of social capital and shared benefits, the islanders have achieved common prosperity and increased incomes.

By the joint efforts of the population, the settlement of Ballyhoura in Western Ireland was also developed, in which previously only agriculture and milk production were developed, however, when the reform of the European Union in the agricultural sector (created a uniform standard of milk production) limited the income from local milk production, it became necessary to diversify the local economy. In response to this challenge, the "Ballyhoura Development CLG" was established on the initiative of the local population. It took them a long time to gain knowledge about the mechanisms of economic development, but today they are highly aware of these issues. They implemented local development projects based on mutual cooperation, positive relations with local authorities and with the help of the EU programme (LEADER).

An important role was played by the strategic plan jointly developed by local actors, which determined the implementation of many initiatives. The initiatives were related to: the diversification of the local economy; development of local rural tourism; turning Ballyhoura into a place of rest; development of rural products; establishment and development of small firms and handicraft enterprises; promotion of local services. As a result of local development processes, income from tourism has increased, jobs have been created and employment has increased, niche markets have been established, the popularity of the place has increased with the help of the media, and numerous local infrastructure improvement projects have been implemented. To illustrate local economic development initiated by a single family, the example of a family enterprise in a national park in Portugal is interesting. A Portuguese doctor and his French wife started a small business in rural tourism in Penada-Geres National Park, Portugal (Coelho et al., 2010). They offered recreation, sports, gastronomic and accommodation services to vacationers. The aforementioned entrepreneurship filled the lack of services caused by the inaction of the National Park administration. This entrepreneurship played an important role in local development. One successful local initiative has led to the emergence of new development initiatives. The local development agency has started work on encouraging the tourism sector and commercializing the local handicrafts sector (Romao and Neuts, 2017; Hrechyshkina, 2016). Development processes were later supported by the EU programmes.

Among the examples of local economic development by residents, the Urban Circular Collaborative Economy Initiatives of The Hague (Netherlands) are also interesting, which are based on sharing and creating platforms that provide residents with access to each other's goods/products, reducing poverty, improving social capital and sustainable development. The Netherlands is at the forefront of the circular and collaborative sharing economy, the importance of which is gradually increasing. This is evidenced by the fact that in the Netherlands, 23% of the population was involved in the sharing economy in 2016, compared to only 6% in 2013. Such a growing trend is influenced by the following factors: circular collaborative economy initiatives increase access to products; Cooperative thinking; Bringing people closer together, reducing the feeling of loneliness and integrating them into society; Strengthening circular and sustainable approaches. It should be noted that the low level of awareness of the population on the importance of the social value of the urban cooperative economy and related issues is an important challenge in the strengthening of similar initiatives.

Some examples of urban circular cooperative economic initiatives produced by the population are interesting:

1) "Made in Moerwijk" - (helping people excluded from society to integrate into society; recovery of second-hand items and creation of new items from waste; educational activities for children on environmental issues);

2) "KledingBank Den Haag" (clothing bank; collection and delivery of clothes (free of charge or one unit for one euro) to people who need it);

3) "Lekkernassuh" - (buying products from local farmers in one specific place, much cheaper only for members registered in the initiative);

4) "De Groene Regents" (installation of communally owned solar panels in the neighborhood; electric car sharing).

The combination, cooperation and organization of several local entrepreneurs can turn a local business into a world-class cluster, and a great example of this is the flower cluster in Aalsmeer, the Netherlands, whose history began in 1911, when local growers decided to join forces and jointly, cooperatively organize auctions and produce products. This initiative gradually grew, became more complex and large-scale, and involved more stakeholders (Hermans et al., 2011; Lordkipanidze, 2021). As a result, in 100 years, the largest cluster of flowers and plants and a trade centre of global importance was formed in Aalsmeer. Currently, the cluster includes flower and plant production and logistics private companies, knowledge/research sector, educational and government organizations. They work together to fulfil one mission, which is to increase the international competitiveness of the local flower cluster. The cluster focuses on innovation and sustainability, which ultimately drives local economic growth. The example of Aalsmeer is also interesting in that it shows how a local economic development initiative within the

framework of a partnership of local entrepreneurs can identify a local market niche not only at the national but also at the world level.

It should be noted that there are no unique, exemplary models of local economic development programs. Therefore, all local communities should find their own solutions and set strategic vision and goals (Abuselidze, 2023). It is significant that international methodologies are so sophisticated and the experience of international countries is already so large that everyone can take ideas about local economic development initiatives and supporting policies/measures, take into account the successes and failures of other areas and adapt these ideas to their own area.

Economic and employment policy is a regional issue, but self-governing cities and municipalities can cover all issues that are the common needs and interests of their residents (Shayan et al., 2024; Haughton and Counsell, 2004; Berger, 2003). Municipalities can also exercise all powers that are not defined by law for other levels of government (Jovovic et al., 2017; Fang et al., 2019).

The role of international organizations in the development processes of different countries is very important. Many international organizations work on issues of local economic development, but the following stand out among them: World Bank, International Labor Organization (ILO), European Union (EU), United Nations Human Settlements Program (UN HABITAT), United Nations Development Program (UNDP) and Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). Their role in the development of local economic development methodologies, introduction and implementation of development approaches/models/programmes based on local areas is special.

International organizations implement programs and projects supporting local economic development even in relatively problematic local units of developed countries. However, it should be noted that the role of international organizations in introducing the local economic development approach is particularly important in developing and underdeveloped countries. In such countries, the civil society is weak and neither the central government nor the representatives of the local government have the appropriate knowledge and experience to implement appropriate policies and activities supporting local economic development (Abuselidze, 2020). For the implementation of the local economic development approach, international organizations offer both methodological and financial support to the governments of the countries.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

International experience shows that there is no one unique definition of local economic development, nor one methodology and design of support processes (promotion) and strategy. They differ in emphases, but all methodologies share important aspects that relate to:

- 1) the participation and cooperation of local actors (from the public, private, civil sectors);
- 2) dialogue and consensus building between actors;
- 3) creation of appropriate platforms for partnership and synergy and integration of existing efforts at local, national and international levels for effective achievement of local development goals;
- 4) development of one strategy with a common vision;
- 5) holistic perception of development processes;
- 6) focus on self-help;
- 7) balanced presentation of responsibilities (including financial) and interests of the main actors;

8) planning economic development in such a way that it simultaneously takes into account and effectively responds to social and ecological needs, which ultimately ensures local sustainable development and inclusive growth.

International experience shows that with a "bottom-up" management approach, local economic development initiatives are initiated to solve one or more local problems and mainly concern the diversification of the local economy; development of the local workforce; development of connections between local actors; supporting small and medium-sized businesses; promoting the production of local products; promotion of tourism; development of outdated and dysfunctional industrial areas; social support etc.

Also, international experience shows that there is already a growing tendency to introduce place-based economic development approaches everywhere in the world, which is especially effectively and efficiently implemented in countries where the level of social capital is higher. This approach has been successfully implemented in developed countries and they have already accumulated a lot of experience. They share this experience with relatively less developed/developing countries, in which the role of international organizations is special and, significantly, all this creates important opportunities for less developed countries in the world.

Bibliography

- 1. Aaronovitch, S. (1986). Introducing local economy. *Local Economy*, 1(1), 3-4.
- Abuselidze, G. (2019). European Integration of Georgia and Financial-Economic Condition: Achievements and Challenges. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 8(1), 53-68. https://doi.org/10.14207/ejsd.2019.v8n1p53
- Abuselidze, G., & Mamuladze, L. (2020). The Peculiarities of the Budgetary Policy of Georgia and the Directions of Improvement in Association with EU. SHS Web of Conferences, 73, 01001. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20207301001
- Abuselidze, G. (2023). Local Budget Revenue Formation Reality, Obstacles and Prospects in Georgia: An Empirical Examination and Creative Approach. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, 13957, 197-209. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-36808-0_13
- 5. Abuselidze, G., & Meladze, A. (2023). Modern state of innovative development of Georgia: challenges and prospects. *Economic Science for Rural Development*, 57, 177-187. DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2023.57.018
- Abuselidze, G., & Meladze, A. (2024). Innovative Customs System and its Impact on the Sustainability of the Transit Potential. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 13(1), 229-248. DOI: 10.14207/ejsd.2024.v13n1p229
- 7. Akgün, A. A., Van Leeuwen, E., & Nijkamp, P. (2012). A multi-actor multi-criteria scenario analysis of regional sustainable resource policy. *Ecological Economics*, 78, 19-28.
- Badulescu, D., Gavrilut, D., Simut, R., Bodog, S. A., Zapodeanu, D., Toca, C. V., & Badulescu, A. (2024). The Relationship between Sustainable Economic Growth, R&D Expenditures and Employment: A Regional Perspective for the North-West Development Region of Romania. *Sustainability*, 16(2), 760.
- 9. Bedianashvili, G. (2021). Globalization and modern challenges of economic uncertainty. In *Proceedings from the FAI International Conference Strategies, Models and Technologies of Economic Systems Management SMTESM-2021* (Vol. 7, pp. 45-48).
- 10. Berger, G. (2003). Reflections on governance: power relations and policy making in regional sustainable development. *Journal of environmental policy & planning*, *5*(3), 219-234.
- 11. CIPDD. (2006) Georgia's Political Landscape: Political Parties: Achievements, Challenges and Prospects.
- 12. Coelho, P., Mascarenhas, A., Vaz, P., Dores, A., & Ramos, T. B. (2010). A framework for regional sustainability assessment: developing indicators for a Portuguese region. *Sustainable Development*, *18*(4), 211-219.
- 13. Coleman, J. S. (1994). Foundations of social theory. Harvard University Press.
- 14. Fang, C., Cui, X., Li, G., Bao, C., Wang, Z., Ma, H., ... & Ren, Y. (2019). Modeling regional sustainable development scenarios using the Urbanization and Eco-environment Coupler: Case study of Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei urban agglomeration, China. *Science of the Total Environment*, *689*, 820-830.
- 15. Glinskiy, V., Serga, L., Chemezova, E., & Zaykov, K. (2016). Clusterization economy as a way to build sustainable development of the region. *Procedia cirP*, 40, 324-328.
- 16. Gvelesiani, M., & Veshapidze, S. (2016). European Values: What Can We Implement from Them and How Can We Implement Them in Georgia. *Globalization & Business*.
- 17. Haughton, G., & Counsell, D. (2004). *Regions, spatial strategies, and sustainable development*. Psychology Press.

- 18. Hermans, F. L., Haarmann, W. M., & Dagevos, J. F. (2011). Evaluation of stakeholder participation in monitoring regional sustainable development. *Regional Environmental Change*, *11*, 805-815.
- 19. Hrechyshkina, O. (2016). Management of sustainable development of regional tourism.
- 20. Jovovic, R., Draskovic, M., Delibasic, M., & Jovovic, M. (2017). The concept of sustainable regional developmentinstitutional aspects, policies and prospects. *Journal of International Studies*, 10(1).
- 21. Lin, X., Ahmed, Z., Jiang, X., & Pata, U. K. (2023). Evaluating the link between innovative human capital and regional sustainable development: empirical evidence from China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *30*(43), 97386-97403.
- 22. Lordkipanidze, R. (2021). Reasons of Wonders from Netherlands Economy. Theses on Law.
- 23. Lordkipanidze, R. (2019). The World Quickly Needs in Economic Strategies: Chaos Force Can Ruin Future. *Tbilisi, General Coordinator of International Charity Scientific-Research Partnership, 11.*
- 24. Müller, M. O., Stämpfli, A., Dold, U., & Hammer, T. (2011). Energy autarky: A conceptual framework for sustainable regional development. *Energy policy*, *39*(10), 5800-5810.
- 25.OECD. (2001). Local Economic and Employment Development (LEED) Best Practices in Local Development. OECD Publishing.
- 26. Pike, A., Rodríguez-Pose, A., & Tomaney, J. (2016). Local and regional development. Routledge.
- 27. Pike, A., Rodríguez-Pose, A., & Tomaney, J. (Eds.). (2010). *Handbook of local and regional development*. Routledge.
- 28. Raszkowski, A., & Bartniczak, B. (2018). Towards sustainable regional development: economy, society, environment, good governance based on the example of Polish regions. *Transformations in Business & Economics*, *17*(2 (44)).
- 29. Robertson, J. (1985). Future Work: Jobs, self-employment and leisure after the industrial age. Aldershot: Gower.
- 30. Romao, J., & Neuts, B. (2017). Territorial capital, smart tourism specialization and sustainable regional development: Experiences from Europe. *Habitat International*, *68*, 64-74.
- 31. Shayan, F., Harsij, H., & Badulescu, D. (2024). Regional institutions' contribution to energy market integration in the Middle East. *Energy Strategy Reviews*, *51*, 101266.
- 32. Sotarauta, M., Horlings, I., & Liddle, J. (Eds.). (2012). *Leadership and change in sustainable regional development*. Routledge.
- 33. Steurer, R. (2008). Sustainable development strategies. *Innovation in environmental policy? Integrating the environment for sustainability*, 93-113.
- 34. Veshapidze, S., & Karchava, L. (2022). Contradictions of Globalization under the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Bull. Georg. Natl. Acad. Sci*, 16(4).
- 35. Yi, S., & Xiao-li, A. (2018). Application of threshold regression analysis to study the impact of regional technological innovation level on sustainable development. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 89, 27-32.
- 36. Zoidze, G., & Abuselidze, G. (2023). Importance of healthcare economy on sustainable development of the country. Access to Science, Business, Innovation in the Digital Economy, 4(1), 60-70. DOI: 10.46656/access.2023.4.1(5)
- 37. Zoidze, G., Abuselidze, G., & Veshapidze, S. (2023). Economic Vulnerability of Small Powers. *Journal of Geography, Politics and Society*, *13*(3), 1-12.
- 38. Zoidze, G. (2023). Strategic directions of balanced economic growth of entrepreneurial entities. *Journal of Innovations and Sustainability*, 7(1), 01-01.

CHALLENGES OF ORGANIZATION'S CULTURE CHANGES IN BALTIC ENTERPRISES

Anda Batraga¹, Dr.oec., prof.; Maija Dobele² Mg.admin.; Jelena Salkovska³ Dr.oec.prof.

^{1,3} University of Latvia; ²BLEND Consulting Baltics.

Abstract. This article examines how organisations in the Baltics perceive organizational culture topic, what is managers' understanding and actual activities used for organizational culture change. The results of this study indicate that the topic of organizational culture is one of the priorities in organizations in the Baltics. In most cases, organizational culture change is initiated either by a change in ownership, organizational strategy, entry into new markets or development of new products/services. It seems that there is lack of practice how to approach this topic and notice sense of urgency for necessity to improve organizational culture aspects or is not measured at all. The results show that the organizational leader and the management team are the ones who should determine the organizational culture; however, most of actual or perceived activities for organizational culture change are in scope of Human Resource or Communication professional. The empirical part is based on quantitative research conducted in 2022 surveying 80 managers and 6 qualitative in-depth interviews with managers who have actually succeeded in organizational change activities.

The analysis of the information gathered in the research led to the conclusion that managers in the Baltics lack of understanding of how to research and measure existing culture, especially its intangible aspects and proposal to develop a practical methodology for measuring, researching and transforming organizational culture improving success rate or organizational change activities to achieve improve aspects of organization's performance what is affected by organizational culture.

Key words: organizational culture, manager's influence, business development.

JEL code: M14

Introduction

Nowadays, in the business environment, the influence of organizational culture on the company's results, employee well-being and the company's long-term development opportunities is brought up. Building the culture of the organization is directly identified as one of the priorities by business owners and senior managers. The issue of organizational culture has become relevant, firstly, during the Covid pandemic, and secondly, due to circumstances such as mergers, restructuring or change of management. The purpose of the study is to investigate the relevance of organizational culture understanding and improvement for companies in the Baltics, to determine the main reasons for changes in organizational culture and the methods used for organizational culture improvement. The tasks of the research are as follows: (1) to assess the importance of organizational culture topic in Baltic organizations; (2) to find out the key reasons why organizations have initiated organizational culture change; (3) to find out the used methods for organizational culture change; (4) to find out the perception of factors that influence organizational culture.

To reach the conclusions, quantitative and qualitative methods were used for the study conducted in 2022: (1) electronic survey of leaders of organizations operating in Baltic countries (Latvia, Lithuania, Estonia), obtaining the opinions of 80 (eighty) respondents (45% international companies working in Baltic countries, 32% Latvia's based private equity firms, 11% Latvia's public institutions, 7% Lithuania's based private equity firms); (2) semi-structured in-depth interviews with company executives (6 in total) whose organizations operate in the Baltics or the wider region and who have carried out targeted activities to change the organization's culture; (3) data collection and the obtained data analyses, integration of expert opinions in order to carry out the conclusion. The novelty

¹ E-mail: anda.batraga@lu.lv

 $^{^{2}}$ E-mail: maija.dobele@blendconsulting.lv

³ E-mail: jelena.salkovska@lu.lv

and topicality of the research lie in the search for understanding different aspects of organizational culture. Research covers not only employees' experience, but rather looks from a business perspective and perceives organizational culture as important aspect of organization system as a whole that impacts every aspect of business, including how products and services are designed, how customers are engaged and served, if and how results are achieved.

Research object: organizational culture.

Research subject: relevance of organizational culture understanding and improvement for companies in the Baltics.

Research results and discussion

1. Literature review

Several researchers have indicated the importance of organizational culture and how it affects various business aspects. Author Flamholtz asserts that organizational culture is one of the six key tasks or dimensions that organizations must perform to be successful at each stage of their growth and that determines organizational success or failure (Flamholtz et al., 2000). Researchers have found that corporate culture elements significantly and positively impact quantitative and qualitative organization performance (Arikan et al., 2016) and that there is statistically significant relationship (at 0.05 level) between culture and financial performance (measured by 'EBIT,' or earnings before interest and taxes) (Flamholtz et al., 2001). Organizational culture is also one of the components that lead to job satisfaction, what is making a great difference on economic indicators like productivity, turnover of employees and absence of work (Apsite, 2019).

Organizational culture also impacts organization's future success and capacity to use modern technologies and adapt to more effective working methods. For example, organization culture is considered as an undoubtedly crucial element in knowledge management process as it governs how people behave with respect to creating, sharing and managing knowledge (Apsite et al., 2017) what is prerequisite to create innovations and building competitive advantages in a company. In this respect researchers also refer to the term "learning culture" what can be considered as one way how organizational culture manifests and embeds learning into how things are done in an organization (CIPD, 2020). To enable knowledge sharing within the company, a special role is paid by the existing organizational culture, since certain organizational cultures promote more open information movement among members.

Also, in learning culture topic area, "researchers increasingly emphasize the positive role of knowledge sharing and the advantages to be gained from it by private individuals and organizations. To make organizations successful, specific attention is required for provision of information interaction" (Cekuls, 2015) and develop "communication and knowledge sharing habits as organizational culture values in the organization" (Cekuls, 2016). Among other researches, the focus on special skills development, like digital skills (Buligina et al., 2022) or intellectual capital efficiency (Titova et al., 2022) and its impact on growth rate and profitability of a company or overcome competitive labor-force challenges, are studied.

Also, the implementation of strategic performance management tools is positively related to the organizational culture (Oliveira et al., 2023). Researchers also indicate that some shortcomings in organizational culture are one of the main barriers to company's success in the digital age. The results show that organizational culture has impact on digital transformation (Butt, 2024), is essential for maximizing digital transformation opportunities (Kocak, 2023) and is one of the barriers of using big data

or instead with existing favourable culture of the company can overcome technological limitations (Batraga et al., 2023).

Consequently, there is an incentive for founders and top managers to create organizational culture that supports the organization's strategy or change existing organizational culture towards more favourable one. As Michela and Burke (2000) claim, to change culture, we must first understand it. In order to change or to manage corporate culture, one has to be able to define and therefore pinpoint exactly what it is one is trying to change. Andriukaitiene et al. (2018) argue that all organizational culture enhancement actions must be reasonably planned and coordinated; the effectiveness of the measures taken is evaluated. The authors also refer to a Model for the Excellence of Culture Management (Flamholtz, 2015), which includes six steps necessary for the processes of business enterprise cultural management. While the 1st step is "Define the Culture needed to support long-term success" (desired culture), the second step is "Identify Current culture". Only after gaps between the desired and current culture have been identified and analysed, a culture management plan is developed and later executed.

However, there is no consensus of what 'organizational culture' entails (CIPD, 2022) and organizational culture has been defined by several authors in various ways. One of the most detailed definitions, recognizing culture as a multidimensional concept, is presented by Schein (2010). According to him, "organizational culture is the pattern of basic assumptions that a group has invented, or discovered in learning to cope with its problems of external adaptation and internal integration, and that have worked well enough to be considered valid and, therefore, to be taught to new members as the correct way to perceive, think, and feel in relation to those problems". Schein (2010) considers that organizational leaders are a key source of influence on organizational culture. How change occurs within organizations will be influenced by the fact that cultures are underpinned by deep assumptions that are shared (Schein, 2010).

2. Empirical study

The study of the Baltic organizations among other things aims also to find out what is the perception of organizational culture concept and factors that determine or influence organizational culture development or change. To get the overall picture, the studies included a survey of 80 organizations that were various by size, business geography (local and international), different industries with different origins of capital, including public sector organizations. Research data does not show significant differences in the results between organizations in different industries, size or origins of capital.

Taking into account organizational culture's impact on business results, one of the tasks of the study in the Baltics was to assess whether managers recognise the importance of organizational culture topic. Thus, survey participants were asked a question: "How important is the topic of organizational culture in your organization?". According to the survey data, organization culture topic is highly important in the Baltic companies as average result is 8,7 (in scale 1 to 10, where 1 is not important and 10-very important). Moreover, survey participants were asked whether they have tried to improve the culture of the organization in the last 2 years, where most participants confirmed that they have tried to change organization's culture (68%) or have recognized the need to improve organizational culture and thus are planning activities to change organizational culture in the near future (11%).

The second task of the study was to find out the key reasons why organizations have initiated organizational culture change. According to the research results, new products/services & markets (24%) and Mergers &Acquisitions or ownership change (21%) are the key reasons for organizational change. In most of Mergers & Acquisitions and Ownership change cases, also change of CEO and partial management team change was reported. Also, in CEO change cases, it is common practice to fully or partially change

the management team to initiate further organization's culture change. Among other culture change initiators, such factors as implementation of new culture statements and new ways of working were mentioned.

Despite the common belief that Covid-19 pandemic has a large impact on organisation's cultures, the research results show that while 60% of respondents admit that Covid pandemic partly might have an impact on the initiated changes, only 22% of the respondents see that their organization's culture has changed as a result of the Covid pandemic. According to the interview data, managers see that a crisis (also such as a pandemic) sheds light on existing organizational cultural patterns and rather stimulates to prioritise actions to change and improve what in other situations might be postponed.

The survey included also the question, whether culture change activities were successful. Surprisingly, only 32% of respondents claimed that they had achieved desired results, while 60% admitted that only partly, while 8% have not achieved the desired changes at all. The interviewed managers mentioned that organizational change typically originates from two primary sources including change resulting from external or internal environmental factors that are outside the leader's control and change resulting from a planned implementation. It can be summarised that managers who had succeeded in organizational change activities define organizational culture as a living organism who changes over time and that impacts how an organization perceives, evaluates, and reacts to the internal and external factors shaping the environment and that influence all aspects of organization everyday activities. The interviewed managers have admitted that changing a culture has taken more time than they initially expected and that is a large-scale undertaking and eventually all of the organizational tools for changing minds will need to be put in play.

The third task of the study was to find out the used methods for organizational culture change (Figure 1). Most of the respondents have used more than one activity to improve existing culture (on average 3,5 methods).

Among the top activities, most often mentioned are business improvement practices like revising the division of functions and responsibilities, improving processes or quality management and strategy planning workshops. In most cases, these activities are combined with definition of organization's values and respective activities to bring the defined values to life. Overall, the most common methods of changing the culture of an organization are related to internal communication and explaining defined values of the organization, or related to learning. Very few organizations have conducted dedicated research on existing culture and organised moderated sessions on cultural change issues. Thus, it has not been possible to follow six steps necessary for the processes of business enterprise cultural management not in 1st step to define desired culture, not in 2nd step to identify current culture. It is interesting to note that from all the respondents only one organization has developed a road map for culture change after analysing the existing culture research results, which is logical 3rd step for culture management. This might be also one of the reasons why organizational culture change activities are reported not to be highly resultative.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 125-133 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.013



Source: authors' calculation based on received survey data

Fig. 1. Methods used to improve organization's culture

Moreover, according to the research results, 21% of organizations do not measure organizational culture and even larger proportion of respondents believe that organizational culture is subjective assessment of the managers or employees (Figure 2). Thus, in organizational culture context, the usual business practice to set KPIs and follow their progress as well as to notice the red flags is not widely practiced. For organizations that measure organizational culture, the most popular method to measure organizational culture is employee survey. However, in practice, it covers only visible part of organizational culture and is not sufficient for all culture's aspects. Organization's financial performance is a valid measure, if culture change activities give the desired effect. However, if it remains only as a measure, it provides only a short-term view, while organization culture develops throughout the whole organization existence.

Another task of the study was to find out the perception of factors that influence organizational culture. The survey participants were invited to answer to the open question: "What is organization's culture?". The answers included wide scope of perceptions about organizational culture with the several dominant views: 1) organizational culture consists from-individual values and behaviours of the employees; 2) organizational culture is just about the employee experience; 3) organization's culture consists of the patterns that determine how the organization operates and it impacts every aspect of the business. It can be also concluded that used methods for organization's culture change depend on the understanding of the concept of organization's culture.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 125-133 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.013



Source: authors' calculation based on received survey data

Fig. 2. Measuring of organizational culture (number of answers)

In order to understand the perception of what aspects impact organization's culture, respondents were given several statements on factors that should be taken into account when initiating organization's culture change activities (Figure 3). A large proportion of respondents agree that the culture of the organization is influenced by a diverse set of factors, such as the settings, strategy and goals of the founders, the views of the head of the company and the management approach; critical events since the organization's founding and formed basic assumptions and beliefs.







Despite the fact that M&A or ownership change is one of the most important factors that has initiated organization's culture change in the last 2 years in the respondent organizations, it is surprising that only 35% of the survey participants think that investors and donors' requirements should be taken into account in culture change activities.

Most of the researched participants acknowledge the influence of the CEO and management team in determining organization's culture. However, 23% of respondents believe that it is the responsibility of HR function or People & Culture Lead (Figure 4). This situation suggests that there are many myths about organization culture observable in organizations in the Baltic region.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 125-133 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.013



Source: authors' calculation based on received survey data

Fig. 4. Who should determine organizational culture?

When questioning about the needed activities to change the current organization's culture towards more desirable one, the respondents on average named at least 3 activities (Figure 5). Even though exploring differences between the current and desired organization's culture is not among the most used methods in practice, almost 50% of respondents have marked it as important to implement desired organization's culture.





Fig. 5. Activities to change organizational culture

Still, it can be noted that most of the activities and methods admitted as appropriate for organization's culture change by survey respondents are within the scope of HR function alone with limited involvement of management team and organization as a whole.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Literature review provides a wide range of business result elements that are affected by organizational culture like financial performance, knowledge management, digitalization as well as employee satisfaction and attitude towards learning.

2) There is no consensus what organizational culture entails among academics and business leaders. It is clear that organizational culture is a multidimensional concept, and such factors as intangible aspects and shared deep assumptions are the most influential.

3) The empirical study confirms that the topic of organization's culture is among priorities on the organization's management table in the Baltics, and most of respondents have tried purposefully to improve their organizational culture.

4) In most cases, organization's culture change has been initiated either by the change of ownership or by organizations strategy entering new markets or developing new products/services. It seems that there is lack of practice to discuss necessity of organization's culture change in cases where there is no new management or new strategy that forces organization to transform. Thus, it is recommended to either include organizational culture aspects in strategic KPIs and follow up in strategic goal review meetings or initiate regular research of organizational culture to identify whether it is aligned to and supports organizational strategy.

5) Results show that those factors, that survey participants believe have impact on organizational culture, not always are taken into account when culture is purposefully changed. For example, requirements of founders and investors.

6) Even though it is a common practice in organizations before changing any other business elements, examine AS-IS state, then define TO-BE state to develop a thoughtful change plan, the pre-research on existing culture and system exposed to changes are rarely done. This might explain why organization change activities do not fully reach the desired results.

7) More than 20% of organizations do not measure organization culture aspects. Among others, the most popular measurement method is employees' surveys that cover only part of organizational culture levels.

8) Although participants believe that CEO and the management team are the ones who should determine the culture of the organization, the methods used and the activities carried out to improve the culture of the organization mostly include the duties of personnel or marketing and communication specialists. Therefore, the roles of the CEO and management team members in organizational change activities should be clarified.

9) It can be concluded that managers in the Baltics lack understanding of how to research and measure existing culture, especially its intangible aspects and there is a need for practical methodology for measuring, researching and transforming organizational culture improving success rate or organizational change activities. Understanding of culture can be useful in two ways. First, cultural insight provides an awareness of the extent to which organization members are willing to accept change and a cultural assessment is likely to determine the root cause of the problems that need stronger performance.

10) Authors propose to the continue research to identify the pre-requisites for successful organizational culture change and detect the most appropriate methods to research and measure existing culture and manage the process of changes in organizational culture improvement.

11) Authors' recommendation is to continue the research on the methods that could give the most desired results for organizational culture change to achieve improved aspects of organization's performance, which is affected by organizational culture identified by the academic research.

Bibliography

- 1. Andriukaitiene, R., Cherep, A. V., Voronkova, V. H., Punchenko, O. P., Kyvliuk, O. P. (2019). Managing organizational culture as a factor in organizational change, *Humanities Bulletin of Zaporizhzhe State Engineering Academy*, p. 169-179. https://doi.org/ 10.26661/2072-7941.2018.155562.
- 2. Apsite A. (2019). Work and life balance the new age management matter, Proceedings of the New Challenges of Economic and Business Development 2019: p.96-107. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0432.00004
- 3. Apsīte, A., Baumane-Vītoliņa, I., Luca, J. (2017). Organizational innovations and knowledge management: In search for a theoretical framework, *Proceedings of the New Challenges of Economic and Business development 2017: Digital Economy ,Riga, Latvia* p.17-26.
- 4. Arikan, C. L., Enginoglu, D. (2016). How Elements of Corporate Culture Affect Overall Firm Performance, International Journal of Business Management and Economic Research (IJBMER), Vol 7(3), p.680-689.
- Batraga, A., Salkovska, J., Kellerte, K., Kaibe, L. (2023). Consumers' attitude towards privacy in the context of big data marketing in Latvia, *Proceedings of the Economic and Social Development, 98 the International Scientific Conference on Economic and Social Development Porto*, .p. 11-20.
- Bulgina, I., Sloka, B. (2022). Importance of digital skills for competitive labour-force challenges in work-based learning in Latvia. Proceedings of the 12th International scientific conference business and management 2022, Vilnius Vilnius Gediminas Tech Univ, Fac Business Management, Vilnius, Lithuania, p. 634-640. https://doi.org/10.3846/bm.2022.855
- Butt, A., Imran, F., Kantola, J. (2024). Strategic design of culture for digital transformation. Long Range Planning, 57 (2024) 102415). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2024.102415
- 8. Cekuls, A. (2016). Culture in the dyadic relationships between the employees and the supervisors in Latvian organisations. Proceedings of the 3rd International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conference on Social Sciences and Arts , vol IV , p.215-222. https://doi.org/10.5593/SGEMSOCIAL2016/B24/S07.029
- 9. Cekuls, A. (2015). Culture of knowledge sharing in terms of competitive intelligence in organisations. *Proceedings* of the 2015 International Conference Economic science for rural development, (40), LLU ESAF p.104-112.
- 10. CIPD Scientific summary. (2000). Organisational culture and performance. https:// prod.cipd.org/globalassets/media/knowledge/knowledge-hub/evidence-reviews/2023-pdfs/organisational-cultureand-performance-scientific-summary.pdf
- 11. CIPD (2022). Creating Learning culture. Assessing the evidence. Report, April 2020. https://www.cipd.org/globalassets/media/knowledge/knowledge-hub/reports/creating-learning-cultures-1_tcm18-75606.pdf
- 12. Flamholtz, E. G., Alsehili, Z. (2000). Organizational Success and Failure: An Empirical Test of a Holistic Mode. *European Management Journal Vol. 18, No. 5*, pp. 488–498.. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-2373(00)00038-4
- 13. Flamholtz, E. (2001). Corporate culture and the bottom line.: *European Management Journal, Volume 19, Issue 3*, p. 268-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0263-2373(01)00023-8
- 14. Kocak, S., Jan Pawlowski, J. (2023). Digital Organizational Culture: A Qualitative Study on the Identification and Impact of the Characteristics of a Digital Culture in the Craft Sector. *SN Computer Science*,4:819. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42979-023-02302-1.
- 15. Michela, J.L., Burke, W.W. (2000). Organizational Culture and Climate in Transformations for Quality and Innovation. *Handbook of organizational culture and climate*,p.225-244. Thousand Oaks CA: Sage Publications. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471264385.wei1222
- 16. Oliveira, C., Rodrigues, Rui Silva, M., Franco, M. (2023). Organisational culture and balanced score card: an empirical study in Portugal.: *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues, Vol. 28 No. 2.* https://doi.org/10.30924/mjcmi.28.2.10
- 17. Schein, E., (2010). Organizational culture and leadership, 4th edition, San Francisco : Jossey-Bass.
- 18. Titova, N., Sloka, B. (2022). Impact of Intellectual Capital Efficiency on Growth Rate and Profitability of a Company: Nasdaq Baltic Case. *Journal European Integration Studies, No* 16.p. 150-165. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.eis.1.16.31492

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECTS AND SUSTAINABLE TOURISM IN MOUNTAINOUS ADJARA

Tamar Beridze¹, PhD/ Assistant professor; Natia Beridze², PhD/ Assistant professor; Nino Devadze³, PhD/ Assistant professor; Tsira Tsetskhladze⁴, PhD/ Assistant professor

^{1,2,3,4}Batumi Shota Rustaveli State University

Abstract. Sustainable tourism as an economic sector is of crucial importance and affects the social, economic and ecological environment. The promotion of tourism in mountainous regions is based on special features that are attractive for visitors. Adjara has a great mountain tourism potential. Statistical data indicates a positive trend in a number of visits in the mountainous Adjara and significant potential for the development of new forms of tourism. For the development of sustainable tourism, it is necessary to analyse the prospects and opportunities of the region, to assess the tourism environment of the region and what hinders the success and development of this sector.

The main objective of the article is to explore mountainous Adjara as a tourist destination, analyse the findings of the conducted research on lodging establishments in the region and identify key problems. The study included quantitative research method and data was collected through a structured questionnaire. The discussion and classification of the research results are provided based on the revealed economic, social and environmental problems, and specific recommendations have been developed.

Key words: sustainable tourism development, mountain tourism, sustainability indicators.

JEL code: Z32, Q01, O18

Introduction

The natural environment is one of the most important resources for tourism development. Recently, a new type of tourism has emerged, especially based on nature. Mountain Tourism is a type of "tourism activity which takes place in a defined and limited geographical space such as hills or mountains with distinctive characteristics and attributes that are inherent to a specific landscape, topography, climate, biodiversity (flora and fauna) and local community. It encompasses a broad range of outdoor leisure and sports activities". Mountain tourism has a high potential to stimulate local economic growth and social change because of its complementarity with other economic activities, its contribution to GDP and job creation, and its capacity to promote the dispersal of demand in time (fight seasonality) and along a wider territory (World Tourism Organization, 2024).

Mountains, especially those covered with forest trees; make up a good proportion of the land area. It is considered one of the most important tourist attractions due to its distance from sources of pollution. Sustainable mountain tourism is part of the issues that have become a concern for international bodies and organizations, including the World Tourism Organization, which has adopted the rules of sustainability in tourism and the modalities of its development. Tourists can enjoy the snow in winter and enjoy the fresh air and shade in summer. Since sustainable tourism development is one that 'meets the needs of tourists and host sites as well as protects and provides opportunities for the future, it is the guiding rules in the field of resource management in a way that meets the requirements of environmental, economic, social and cultural issues, cultural integration, environmental factors, biodiversity and support for life systems (Kharboutli, 2004).

Tourism should be developed in accordance with the sustainability principles. Sustainability principles require changes in the way of thinking and values, where the changes must include global interdependence, life environment management, social responsibility and economic sustainability (Drumm et al., 2004).

¹ E-mail: beridze.tamar@bsu.edu.ge

² E-mail: beridze.natia@bsu.edu.ge ³ E-mail: devadze.nino@bsu.edu.ge

⁴ E-mail: tsetskhladze.tsira@bsu.edu.ge

The promotion of tourism in mountainous region is based on special features like the fresh, cool air, and the spectacular landscapes. Moreover, tourism offers a great variety of opportunities. In mountain regions tourist activities include trekking, hiking, skiing, snowboarding, visiting national parks, bird-watching, and a number of new extreme trend sports. Long recognized as places of sanctuary and spiritual renewal, mountains will become even more attractive as places of escape from city life (University of Berne, 1999).

Adjara region, the popular tourist destination in the Black Sea region, was chosen study area of the paper. The region is known for its coastal and mountainous landscapes and stands out with its rich biodiversity, with four protected areas and national parks, three of which hold UNESCO World Heritage status. The region offers diverse tourism activities, including rural, wildlife, adventure, and eco-tourism such as hiking, horseback riding, rafting, and bird watching. With over 2 million international traveller visits annually, Adjara is not only popular among international tourists but also ranks as a top destination for domestic tourism. Statistical data shows a positive trend in a number of visits in the mountainous parts of region too. The post-pandemic data indicates the impressive recovery rates and increasing dynamics, reaching 23% increase compared to pre-pandemic data in 2023 (Table 1). These numbers demonstrate the growing popularity of mountain destinations among the visitors and highlight the significant potential for the development of new forms of tourism.

Table 1

Mountain Municipalities in Adjara Region	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	% 2023/2022	% 2023/2019
Keda	42025	4793	36501	56269	73093	29.90%	74%
Kobuleti	114177	385	56356	104826	109263	4.23%	-4%
Shuakhevi	13171	109	4400	6860	11364	65.66%	-14%
Khelvachauri	29929		30575	48992	49006	0.03%	64%
Khulo	28519	2124	3551	14671	38392	161.69%	35%
Total	227821	7411	131383	231618	281118	21.37%	23%

Distribution of the number of visits made by international and domestic visitors by the municipalities in Adjara (2019-2023)

Source: author's calculations based on the data provided by Tourism Product Development Agency (TPDA) / Department of Tourism and Resorts of the Autonomous Republic of Adjara

The main goal of the article was to analyse the lodging establishments segment in the mountainous Adjara, to identify the key problems and develop the recommendations based on the results of the conducted research.

The quantitative data needed for research purposes was collected through a structured questionnaire. We have provided discussion and classification of the research results in three contexts of sustainability: economic, social and environmental.

Research results and discussion

The geographical area of research was mountainous area of Adjara, including Keda, Khulo and Shuakhevi municipalities. Qualtrics online server was used for sending the questionnaire to the respondents. From the total population of 252 rural lodging establishments in the mountainous Adjara, random sample of 156 filled questionnaires were received. Sample covered about 62% of respondents, with 95% of confidence interval and 5% of the sampling error, the survey results are representative for the lodging establishments in the mountainous Adjara.

<u>The profile of surveyed respondents.</u> The majority of surveyed respondents are female (52%) and the age groups are almost equally distributed, with the least represented age groups of 16-24 (7%) and 60+ (11%). The mean for surveyed establishments functioning on the market is 4.9 years.

As the distribution of surveyed lodging establishments show the majority of accommodation sector consists of guesthouses (53%) and cottages (40%).

The owners state that average cost per room night is 58 GEL (Georgian Lari), while the average daily rate (ADR) is 152 GEL (*Stdev*=89). As it was expected the highest ADRs were noted in the subgroups of Hotels and Glampings with mean rate of 213 GEL (*Stdev*=75).

The research shows that only 19% of surveyed establishments are occupied throughout the year, the great majority (66%) notes that they are mostly functioning only during the summer season. Seasonality problem can be caused by natural, social or institutional factors, inertia or tradition. Judging by our research, the trend that can be observed in this regard is to develop such a strategy that will not be focused only on room rental and breakfast offer, and will include a variety of services in tourist packages. For example, fishing, tea picking and producing, engaging traditional activities, trekking in mountains and forests, etc. The majority of the owners try to expand their services beyond the renting a room only. Top supplements include: Breakfast, Georgian cuisine masterclasses, Transportation service, Wine degustation or winemaking, selling locally produced agrarian products, café-restaurant, wedding, birthday or other celebration packages and national folk show. However, we see that the percentage share of additional services is not so favorable. Adding and offering diverse services and activities could mitigate the seasonality problem for mountain tourism. which could be called one of the causes of the problem of seasonality (Fig. 1).





Fig. 1. List of services offered to visitors on site

The positive trends are seen in one of the most important indicators of sustainable tourism development - rate of local community employment. 67% of the surveyed owners state that they have employed at least one person on the site, including 17% corresponding to 5-10 or more employed persons. Optimistic perceptions are evident in future plans too. According to the results, 87% of owners are planning to expand their existing business. It could be concluded that the local people do see future in the tourism development and they hope to get more benefits from the industry.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 134-141 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.014



Source: author's calculations based on the research results

Fig. 2. Owners perceptions on top barriers of the tourism development

As the results show, almost the half of respondents have already benefited from several supporting services from the government and/or international organizations, including the financial benefits, trainings for staff, providing information assistance (Figure 3). After analysing the existing practices of the governmental and international programs in the country, we can conclude that Adjara region has seen a notable increase in interest and investment in mountain tourism development. Various financial aids and support mechanisms have been identified to facilitate sustainable development in this sector. One of the frequently mentioned, governmental program "Produce in Georgia" aims to develop and financially support the country's tourism and tourism-related services. The goal of the "Produce in Georgia - Business" direction is to develop entrepreneurship in Georgia, support entrepreneurs, promote the creation of new enterprises/hotels and the expansion or retooling of existing enterprises/hotels (Enterprise Georgia, 2022).



Source: author's calculations based on the research results

Fig. 3. Type of benefits lodging establishments have received from Government/International organisations

Specific non-governmental organizations (Keda Lagi; Khulo Lagi) improve the well-being of the population living in rural areas through the diversification of agriculture, the purpose of which is to involve the population of the mountainous region, to train them, to participate in various projects. Also, the generation and financing of new projects and ideas (such as family hotels, fast food establishments, greenhouses, animal husbandry etc.) which is made from the Rural Development Fund (Georgia today, 2021).

In Keda and Shuakhevi region, with the support of the European Union "ENPARD" program, the Keda leader project was implemented. Within the framework of the project, it became possible to grow Adjarian grapes and give tourists the opportunity to taste foreign and unique wine. A small bee farm was financed within the framework of the project of the local development group (LDG) of Keda, which serves to promote the diversification of economic activities and tourism, as well as to strengthen the role of women in the village of Wayo. The production of beekeeping products increased significantly after the purchase of a honey bottling machine and a honey vodka distilling machine (Delegation of the EU..., 2020).

Within the framework of the project "Tourism Development School" organized by the regional tourism board, Department of Tourism and Resorts of Adjara, in order to develop tourism and improve services in mountainous Adjara, the identification of the needs of accommodation, catering and other service providers in mountainous Adjara and the training of the existing personnel in various directions are actively carried out (Tourism Development School, 2017). According to the needs, the training modules were written according to the content, which were loaded according to the following topics:

- accommodation facility standards;
- specifics of the cleaning service;
- organization of food;
- online resources and social media;
- regulations related to tourism;
- specifics of working with foreign tourists.

Special interest was caused by the topic of online resources and social media, which was related to the study of modern technologies, implementation and operation through them in the Internet space. The results of our research show that a large share of accommodation facilities manage to position their business in the Internet space, make reservations and increase the awareness of their facility (Figure 4).





Fig. 4. Information source for visitors while choosing the accommodation

The respondents evaluated their perceptions towards the overall satisfaction level of tourism development in the surveyed area. The Table 2 shows the comparison within the different types of accommodation measured for 2 variables. Satisfaction level corresponded 5-point Likert scale statement, where 1= totally unsatisfied, 5= totally satisfied. As the results show mean number is stable between the glamping, cottage or hotel owners (*mean*>4.00), where the most neutral perceptions were demonstrated by the guesthouse owners (*mean*=3.00) who are operating on the market for more than 6 years. The indicated rates of the respondents' satisfaction levels may be due to the outstanding unique culture and traditions of mountainous Adjara, which in turn is highly popularized by the public festivals held by the local government and municipalities throughout the year, such as: rural tourism festival "Gandagana",

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 134-141 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.014

honey festival, Shuamtoba, Machkhloba, Selimoba and other. Holding each festival or event opens up new opportunities for the region: raising awareness and popularization, introducing a culture of recreation and entertainment, increasing economic income and more employment, the opportunity to see famous performers, developing infrastructure, attracting investors, creating a healthy competitive environment (Shanidze, 2012).

Table 2

Lodging establishment type	Operating on	market (years)	Satisfaction level		
	Mean	StdDev	Mean	StdDev	
Glamping	3.22	1.79	4.14	0.81	
Cottage	3.03	2.20	4.01	0.87	
Guesthouse	6.26	2.54	3.01	1.04	
Hotel	6.20	3.33	4.12	0.62	

Respondents' overall satisfaction level of tourism development in the surveyed geographical area

Source: author's calculations based on the research results

Another aspect of social sustainability to be considered is accessible tourism for people with special needs. People with disabilities still face numerous obstacles due to the lack of appropriate environmental and the technical conditions necessary for movement. The major barrier is the accessibility of services in mountainous Adjara, including accommodation, food, transportation, as well as participation in festivals and events in the region. The mentioned challenges are still only at the discussion and recommendation stage. Based on the principles of sustainable development, the mentioned issue requires a prompt response and concrete steps, both by the state to introduce relevant regulatory legislative acts and by the private sector in sharing social obligations and introducing accessible travel practices.

Another critical area of focus are environmental issues of sustainable tourism development. The Department of Environmental Protection and Natural Resources is constantly working in regard of the state of air and water, soil, waste management, geological monitoring, forest resource management, biodiversity, although there are still problematic issues:

- state of waste management, lack of monitoring of the state of fulfilment of the requirements of the environmental legislation in the centres of active pollution of water and atmospheric air;
- purification of agricultural waters in densely populated areas study of the state of decontamination;
- ecological condition of the sanitary protection zones of the main building of the rural water supply system;
- monitoring of active environment polluting enterprises in connection with the arrival of the holiday season in the region;
- study of the situation of alternative energy use; absence of central water supply;
- unauthorized cutting of timber; Inactive work of the forest disease fighting service; faulty monitoring of landslide and eroded areas;
- damage to the soil through the destruction or movement of the upper fertile soil layer (construction of buildings, structures, car parks, roads, footpaths), degradation or complete destruction of vegetation as a result of compaction and soil tamping (the formation of new paths and roads);
- lack of knowledge popularization of environmental protection, the public's awareness of environmental protection;

• motorized transportation, including cars, buses releases pollutants such as carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, and particulate matter into the air.

Addressing these challenges requires a holistic approach, involving joint efforts from the government, local communities and private sector representatives. By prioritizing sustainable practices, investing in infrastructure, implementing effective monitoring mechanisms, and raising awareness, the region can move towards a more environmentally sustainable future.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

The findings from the various aspects of tourism development in the surveyed geographical area highlight several key areas that require attention and action from different stakeholders. The following priority actions need to be promoted to enhance the competitive advantages, social equitable and sustainable development.

1) Involving and providing travel service and tourism activities for people with disabilities, is a legal and ethical obligation of the tourism industry practitioners. Based on the principles of sustainable tourism, this is a problem that requires a quick response and specific measures, both by the government, the relevant regulatory legislative acts, and the involvement of private business players and the imposition of social obligations on them in the provision of services for the creation of appropriate environmental conditions for disabled people.

2) Based on the results of the overall satisfaction level of tourism development in the surveyed geographical area, owners require more support from the government, especially towards the developing or improving the roads, infrastructure and solving transportation problems to the villages of Mountainous Adjara. Government should contribute to the creation and promotion of new tourist products and entertainment sites.

3) Taking into consideration the unpredictable and seasonal nature of the tourism industry, tourism development should be integrated into broader economic strategies for mountain regions. Government should be focused on strengthening existing systems and diversifying local economies. On the other hand, property owners should diversify their services and offer more activities to visitors, that will contribute to the mitigation of seasonality problem.

4) Direct financial contributions and contributions to government revenues can contribute directly to the conservation of sensitive areas and habitat. Revenue from park-entrance fees and same types of sources can be allocated to pay for the protection of environmentally sensitive areas. Special fees for park operations can be collected from tourists or tour operators. Governments also can raise funds by user fees, income taxes, taxes on sales or rental of recreation equipment, and license fees for activities such as hunting and fishing to manage natural resources. Improved environmental management of tourism facilities, based on analysis of the environmental resources of the area, can increase the benefits to natural areas.

5) It is necessary to heighten awareness of the value of nature and lead to environmentally conscious behaviour and activities to preserve the environment. Therefore, it is important to induce people to participate in pro-environmental action by providing general information on environment to make people aware of a problem.

6) The Department of Environmental Protection and Natural Resources should manage monitoring system for state of waste, pollution of water and atmospheric air, landslide and eroded areas. Motorized transportation, including cars, buses should be replaced by ecofriendly transports.

7) Collaboration between non-governmental organizations, the private sector, and local stakeholders

is essential to promote sustainable tourism development and enhance community participation in the tourism sector.

Bibliography

- 1. Delegation of the EU to Georgia. (2020). Progress of Georgia in rural and agricultural development. Retrieved from: https://eu4georgia.eu/wp-content/uploads/enpard_ge-2020.pdf
- Drumm, A., Moore, A., Soles, A., Patterson, C., & Terborgh, J. (2004). Ecotourism Development A Manual for Conservation Planners and Managers. The Business of Ecotourism Development and Management (Vol II). Arlington, USA: The Nature Conservancy
- Enterprise Georgia. (2022). Tourism Development. Retrieved from: https://www.enterprisegeorgia.gov.ge/en/business-development/tourismdevelopment?fbclid=IwAR1ov1uoBGgdLcwPR9XsX7I1j6uZwXLT5RDapuxGMulE8PMqeQw98cjVpm0~
- Georgia today. (2021). EU ENPARD Supported Project in Keda and Khulo Summarize Four Years of Success!. Retrieved from: https://georgiatoday.ge/eu-enpard-supported-project-in-keda-and-khulo-summarize-four-yearsof-success/
- GeorgianTravelGuide. (2020). About Adjara. Retrieved from: https://georgiantravelguide.com/en/adjara Tourism Product Development Agency. (2018). Birdwatching Festival. Retrieved from: https://old.visitajara.com/en/blog/Birdwatching_Festival_
- 6. Kharboutli, S. (2004). Sustainable Tourism, Guide to Local Devices. Damascus, Syria: Dar al-Reda publishing.159
- 7. Ministry of Environmental Protection and Agriculture of Georgia. (2023). On August 19-20, 2023, the Sixth Honey Festival was held in Batumi. Retrieved from: https://mepa.gov.ge/En/News/Details/21371
- Ministry of Regional Development and Infrastructure of Georgia. (2019). 2019-2023 strategy for the development of highland settlements of Georgia. Retrieved from: https://mrdi.gov.ge/pdf/5fe3112855cdd.pdf/strategy%20-%20geo.pdf
- 9. Shanidze, G. (2021). The role of cultural events in the development of tourism business of Ajara. Retrieved from: http://www.economicprofile.org/pdf/0594a25b75b0d46fd49e9d04f0e990c3.pdf
- 10. Tourism Development School. (2017). Trainings and rural tourism. Retrieved from: https://gnta.ge/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/%E1%83%A2%E1%83%A0%E1%83%94%E1%83%9C%E1%83%98%E1%83%9C%E1 %83%92%E1%83%94%E1%83%91%E1%83%98~%E1%83%93%E1%83%90-%E1%83%A1%E1%83%9D%E1%83%A4%E1%83%9A%E1%83%98%E1%83%A1-%E1%83%A2%E1%83%A3%E1%83%A0%E1%83%98%E1%83%96%E1%83%9B%E1%83%98-%E1%83%91%E1%83%A3%E1%83%99%E1%83%9A%E1%83%94%E1%83%A2%E1%83%98-%E1%83%AC%E1%83%9A%E1%83%98%E1%83%A1-2.pdf?fbclid=IwAR1Dzig0tTXInCyqX1a9KpxuzpzNZcd2yymLoTPyq0Woq5Uyrrp8Qr0Ncg
- 11. Tourism Product Development Agency. (2023). Rural Tourism Festival Gandagana. Retrieved from: https://visitajara.com/en/about-us/agency-events/5
- 12. Tourism Product Development Agency (TPDA). (2024). Distribution of the number of visits made by international and domestic visitors by the municipalities in Adjara.
- 13. University of Berne. Institute of Geography. (1999). Mountains of the world: Tourism and sustainable mountain development. Mountain Agenda. Retrieved from: https://lib.icimod.org/record/10393/files/378.pdf.
- 14. World Tourism Organization. (2024). Mountain Tourism. Retrieved from: https://www.unwto.org/mountaintourism#:~:text=Mountain%20tourism%20has%20a%20high,and%20along%20a%20wider%20terrterri

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE CHANGE GOVERNANCE INTEGRATION INTO MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROCESS: AGGREGATION APPROACH FOR GOVERNANCE PROCESS STAGES

Raimonds Ernsteins¹, Dr.habil.paed.; Maris Ozolins², MEnv.sc.; Liga Biezina³, MEnv.sc.;

Janis Kaulins⁴, Dr.geogr.

¹⁻⁴ Environmental Science Department, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia

Abstract. The environmental governance sector is nowadays the mandatory, but integrative applicable subject of municipal development governance content and process, including planning documents and their practices, but, certainly, to be done in close interconnection with the other main dimensions of sustainable development – economic and social dimensions, as well as importantly, the governance dimension. Valmiera city as one of the leading proenvironmental municipalities in Latvia was selected as a pilot territory within the Environmental and Sustainable Development Governance project (SUSTINNO) of the National Research Grant Programme, in order to study the environmental governance strength and challenges into their both complementary general application formats: governance sector and integration approaches, and, eventually designing and implementing some innovative but pragmatically based mixed/hybrid applications.

Environmental governance sector (branch) as multi-disciplinary sector itself, including inner cross-disciplinarity's, has been continuously and substantially developing for studying and governing of socio-ecological system into their interactive diversity. Valmiera city municipality has made clear and recognizable progress in complex implementation of the environmental governance in its territory by adopting and step-wise implementing environmental planning elements and management practices. Studies were realized in cooperation with municipality applying research-and-development framework approach and using case study research integrative methodology, complementary including document studies, household questionnaires and all main stakeholders deep semi-structured interviews, altogether. There have been designed and partially tested set of action policy proposals/instruments for systemic environmental governance process and its stages development for Valmiera city, what also could be eventually recommended for municipal environmental governance stages in general in Latvia.

Key words: governance process, 5P process model, auditing and monitoring, governance instruments and communication.

JEL code: 018, 021, Q56

Introduction and municipal environmental governance overview

Environmental governance research is closely related to the practice of environmental governance (hereinafter referred to as EG), namely, the implementation of research into the planning and management practices and vice versa (Armitage, 2008; Ernsteins, 2016). In the current studies, the known researchand-development (R&D) framework approach was utilized, where alongside the research phase and acquisition of academic results and insights, subsequently, there are to be taking place development phase, where, essentially also in partnerships with main stakeholders, are generated directly applicable results in practice – research application reports with designing of action policy recommendations (Armitage, 2008; Loe, 2009).

The statutory municipal development governance process, as well as environmental or any other sectorial/thematical governance process could be described and analysed also through the prism of governance process cycle and its stages. Traditionally, Environmental Management Systems (EMS), being based on ISO 14000 standard and its Plan-Do-Check-Act business cycle model, being used also by any other ISO series systems, are recognizing and structuring their performances around the six-step process

¹ E-mail: raimonds.ernsteins@lu.lv

² E-mail: maris.ozolins@lu.lv

 ³ E-mail: liga.biezina@lu.lv
 ⁴ E-mail: janis.kaulins@lu.lv

as key elements of this standard: step 1: Environmental Policy etc. – Planning – Implementation - Checking and Correction - Management Review - Continual Improvement step.

But for this paper and other related R&D studies, particularly done in cooperation projects with municipalities in Latvia, there are used slightly different in 5 stages structured model of the **governance process cycle**, formulated as **5P stages model** (Ernsteins, 2017), and described below, but, particularly, emphasizing different first and critical process step as **Problem or Situation Analysis** (P1 step). In the planning practice for any policies and territorial planning documents, there could be recognized an analogy of this 5P model realization, even done to various extent. Otherwise, 5P's stages governance process model includes all main consecutive cycle steps for any governance process - stages are to be seen as parts of mutually inter-connected circular process, taking into account processual basic functions as audit-planning-management-control, and aiming to engage target/interest groups, but especially into every governance process stage (Ernsteins, 2017) (Figure 1):

P1 stage - **Problem Analysis:** situational status quo and trend analysis stage, using different data sources, and analysis of internal development potential, when identifying and clarifying environmental and developmental situations in the municipality/area, e.g. governance process audit, including existent qualities of the environmental governance content, stakeholders/segments and governance instruments, and then also engaging target groups for their evaluations, also usually when finishing this pre-planning stage, the SWOT analysis are carried out analyzing strengths-weaknesses-opportunities-threads, designing problem situation solving scenarios, overall monitoring frame and development perspectives;

P2 stage - **Policy Design and Formulation**: as strategic planning stage, where policy decisions are to be taken and the solutions of problem situations strategically planned and so the policy goal/s and main action directions are formulated, to be supported by clarified values and intentions, setting necessary principles and priorities;

P3 stage - **Planning:** as tactical planning stage (actionable short and medium-term planning), defining action directions into the tasks and subtasks etc.; preconditions and diverse resource provisions, set of policy instruments and actual monitoring frame (indicators/pointers);

P4 stage - **Practice Management:** as implementation stage of the plan/programme done, including distribution of tasks and responsibilities, communication and practical execution and management actions;

P5 stage - **Process Monitoring and Results Reviewing**: traditionally in 1-2 years, the systemic monitoring of the activities planned and managed in statutory municipal planning documents takes place, having review and decision making (eventually together with stakeholders, publicly) for the identified necessary adjustments in P3-P4 stages, or even for the whole governance cycle established, also preparing information for the subsequent P1 stage (Ernsteins, 2017).

However, the issue always remains about this governance process main functions of the audit-planningmanagement-control realization quality in the practice, starting with decisions made and methodological etc. approaches chosen by the leadership and specialists in particular municipalities - how to design and plan preparation process for P1 situation audit stage, next P2 and P3 planning stages, and, finally, for P4 and P5 implementation process stages. From national level having only spinal type guidelines for the structure and general content of the statutory municipal planning documents, these decisions and approaches in the particular municipalities in Latvia have been quite diverse for last decades and depending also from personal qualifications and motivation (Ozolins, 2023; Ernsteins, 2016). Traditionally it depends also from previous experiences, municipal territories and inhabitation size, location (central vs. peripheral, with or without regional development centres etc.) and type, particularly, rural vs. urban municipalities still often having various financial etc. resources capacities, especially, staffing capacities in general and, importantly, in the case of environmental and climate change governance being understaffed. Besides the specialized staff of traditional statutory (according to the Law on Municipalities) environmental sectors as water, waste and heating (communal sectors), there was quite limited number of municipalities (mostly main cities) having any other type/specialism of environmental specialists or environmental managers (Ozolins, 2023). After the last administrative territorial reform in 2021 reducing number of municipalities in Latvia from 119 to 43 in order to increase their inhabitation size (to have at least around 20 000 inhabitants) and all necessary developmental capacities, the situation with environmental staffing has improved (Brizga, 2023). Also in the National Environmental Policy Plan 2014-2020 these municipal environmental governance shortages are recognized, as well as, still limited best practice exchange at the local municipal level.

Besides the main issue of this paper, the **environmental governance (sector) integration into municipal statutory development planning process cycle**, in parallel, there would be worthwhile at least qualitatively to review the similar exercise with actually similar and also content-wise overlapping, but even least developed, **climate change governance (sector) integration** issue too.

Comparatively new for municipalities in Latvia there is step-wise developing this climate change governance sector, previously dealt and developed within environmental governance sector planning and particularly in some urban municipalities, being there often combined with energy management sector, e.g. climate change and energy management subsector of Environmental Action Program, designed by Liepaja city coastal municipality (around 80 000 inhabitants) already in 2009. Also there should be mentioned, that there were not only such environmental sub-sectors elaborated and planned, but also voluntary initiated new municipal planning sector – actually, using different approaches and document structures, there were separate sectorial planning documents on climate change governance designed and approved by comparatively smaller local municipalities in Salacgriva (2011), Valka (2019) and Salaspils (2022). Also, more as dozen of local municipalities have signed EU Pact of Mayors (PM) and according to the joint matrix they have recently designed and approved Sustainable Energy and Climate Change Action Plans, instead of having just Sustainable Energy sector planning documents by PM during last 10 years. This gives another support for further establishment of the Climate Change and Energy (CCE) sector.

Particular change for municipal climate related issues governance was in 2023, when the new Law on Local Governments entered in force. This renewed law was, firstly, re-stating previously since 1991 known municipal autonomous functions in the nature/environmental fields (communal sectors as water, heating, and municipal waste, also sanitary cleanliness, green areas and natural capital and few more specific ones), however, there were not included any of other environmental activities what municipalities carry out anyway on a voluntary basis, related and chosen according their actual needs, e.g. protecting and improving air quality, remediating polluted sites, working with noise and other subsectors, monitoring and ensuring water quality in bathing areas, etc., and this list is ever growing – these subsectors are to be taken into account especially carefully, when planning and implementing environmental governance integration approach.

Secondly, the new law introduced also one new function to be at the full responsibility of municipalities, however quite vague formulated – to contribute to climate change mitigation and adaptation. Also in the municipal planning handbooks and recommendations issued by Environmental Protection Ministry is especially advised to consider the development of **voluntary sectorial planning document on climate change governance.** Finally, besides is to be mentioned, that newly elected national parliament have accepted proposal by just established majority Cabinet of Ministers to create brand new ministry – the
Ministry of Climate and Energy, combining together related departments from Environmental Protection Ministry and Economics Ministry, starting to work from 2023.

Continuing with all other environmental governance sectors/subsectors, there is to be mentioned the comprehensive list of all main environmental governance sectors being developed and accounted into regular or statutory municipal practice in Europe, as well as, good municipal sectorial practices, are compiled by the European Commission in the report "Best Environmental Management Practice for the Public Administration Sector" (Canfora P., 2015). There are described not only those known traditional communal sectors as water supply and wastewaters, waste, energy, then also green/rural areas and nature protection, but also a number of other environmental sectors to be taken regular care of – air quality, noise pollution, land use, mobility, and, separately both, climate change mitigation and, especially, adaptation, then green public procurement, environmental information/education for companies and for citizens. Actually, there could be mentioned more sectors or fields of municipal interest and/or municipal responsibilities, prescribed by different national level laws and bylaws.

Both, environmental and climate change governance sectors, obviously are seen as cross-sectors, also requiring **horizontal sectorial-thematic integration** process and not only with traditional and new non-traditional environmental subsectors, but, particularly, also with a wide range of socio-economic sectors of the any particular municipality/territory. In this context, there is obviously also straight similarities with another cross-sectorial governance application - integrated coastal (zone) management (ICZM) approach and understanding, being known already since 1970-ties (Karpouzoglou, 2016; Ernsteins, 2017), before introduction of marine spatial planning applications, and having many positive non-formal and formal experiences to be learned from at all governance levels, from municipal, to regional and national ICZM sectorial planning documents in various regions and countries across continents. This is also reminder of another ICZM mandatory feature, being important in the cases of environmental and climate change governance sectors – **vertical integration across governance levels.** All this and more was required also by EU already in 2000 in order to have National ICZM Strategies elaborated for all EU coastal countries by 2006, unfortunately still being not fully realized.

Research and development framework: case study research

The research-and-development (R&D) framework approach was used to study and then also to propose to the municipality related action policies guidelines for environmental governance process development for all the process cycle stages. The studies described took place in two stages.

First stage was realized before Administrative Territorial Reform (ATR) taken place in Latvia in 2021, what has been crucially changing municipalities' landscape due to reducing number of municipalities from 119 to 43 in order to increase the size of municipality and a number of inhabitants (above 20 000) around the chosen regional development centres for enhancing of the municipal development potential and various possibilities. This research stage was implemented within the framework of the National Research Program "Innovation and Sustainable Development: Environmental diversity and sustainable governance (SUSTINNO, 2014-2018) as multi-step research program, covering various environmental governance related topics, sectors and involving several case studies research, including in municipalities.

Given the multisectoral and complex nature of environmental governance and its connection to all aspects of territorial development planning, the methodology of the study was **integrative case study research** (CSR), which involves using several complementary methods to obtain processed information. Studies described in the paper were organized in urban Valmiera city municipality (about 25 000 inhabitants) as one of the most pro-environmental municipalities in Latvia, having some partnering

activities with University of Latvia already previously. Then this research was oriented towards academic and municipal collaboration also with potential designing, adapting and legally implementing jointly elaborated policy and planning initiatives. Already after initial research done, Valmiera municipality have been approving jointly elaborated Environmental Declaration (2015) as complementary policy document to their just approved main statutory municipal middle-term development planning document – Valmiera city municipal Development Program (2014-2020), including also special chapter on Environmental Awareness Development, based on structured application of action-oriented environmental communication model (Ernsteins, 2017) with all four communication instruments planned – environmental information and education/training, participation and pro-environmental behaviour. In the Valmiera environmental governance process cycle study, the following methods were used: document studies, including analysis of municipal and higher-level planning documents, analysis of state and local regulatory acts; interviews with main governance stakeholder's representatives; observation studies; focus group interviews and round table discussions; also household survey with results complementary to results of the stakeholders' interviews, but not described in this paper due to size limitations.

Stakeholder interviews (altogether 42 in-depth, semi-structured) with especially chosen key representants of the main stakeholder groups (Ernsteins, 2016): national/regional level and municipal administration (including municipal utility companies), production companies, intermediary groups (mediators - media, educators, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), experts/science), and then separately also short selection of households. The questions were related to the assessment of the environmental situation and governance in Valmiera. A matrix of semi-structured interviews was developed consisting of five interview modules, starting with the introduction of the interview, where also the identity of the interviewee as belonging to a certain or several governance stakeholder group/s, and, also to the relations to and between all main stakeholder groups and their environmental activities, was discussed and recorded. The next module of questions was about environmental communication (action-oriented model) - the internal and external communication practice in municipality and related companies/organizations was recorded. The third module included all environmental sectors – where the respondent is asked to evaluate what has been done in the sectors known in municipality and his/her organization or company. The fourth module helped to identify specific pro-environmental actions both in the institution/company and in the territory of the municipality. The last module - about governance instruments and their use.

Few focus group interviews were realized, based on research results and including development proposals, as well as, two round table discussions and seminars with municipal leading politicians and department directors and senior executives.

Document studies - studies of the national and regional documents for top-down requirements, municipal legal/regulations and planning etc., management documentation of municipal administration divisions and communal companies etc., and, also documents of governance segments outside municipal administration as far it was possible. Various municipal document studies were complemented by the local areas **observation studies** – inner and outer pro-environmental behaviour practise activities and cases, while visiting mentioned governance segments/organizations, the all main stakeholder's organizations in situ, for interviews and besides them.

Second stage of the studies was realized also in Valmiera municipality, but after the Administrative Territorial Reform of 2021 - Valmiera city merged with five neighbouring rural municipalities and two smaller towns becoming then Valmiera county municipality. As a result, the area of the municipal territory increased from 19.35 km² to 2 946 km², including very sizeable nature, forested territories and arable lands etc., and, in terms of population change – from Valmiera city population around

25 000 inhabitants to Valmiera county with around 51 000 inhabitants after the reform. Accordingly, not only the capacities of the municipality increased, what was particularly important for environmental governance further developments and our studies, but also the range of problems to be solved, including those related to environmental governance.

During this studies stage, besides traditional and above described **document studies**, but particularly, of county documentation and data basis, and comparative **observation studies**, there were performed also **stakeholder interviews** (altogether 8 in-depth semi-structured and several express interviews) with relatedly to the first studies stage chosen key representants of stakeholder groups, but also not only on environmental governance process progress after ATR of 2021 as also on comparatively newly growing energy and climate change (EEC) sector developments, both integrative and sectoral.

Results of the Valmiera municipality case study research

1. Results of the all main stakeholder's interviews: summary

By the Law on Municipalities, there are delegated a wide range of environmental governance related autonomous functions to the local management level – this is municipal responsibility with full accountancy, but to fulfil these functions in all sectors prescribed, there are also important, actually essential, eventual collaboration development with all main other governance stakeholder groups (segments) and in both integration complementary directions (Ernsteins, 2017): upstream with regional and national governance levels up to international/EU level, and, downstream with local corporate segment, inhabitants/household segments, also particularly, with more and more emergent mediator stakeholders segment as NGO's, media, educators (formal/non-formal) and knowledge/science segments.

There is the municipal political will and administration interest to further develop the existent favourable environmental situation in the city (as valued by stakeholders outside municipal administration and companies), and its political etc. manifestations (e.g. the Green City Declaration, various Environmental Action Days etc.), even partly this could be perceived as campaign-like activities, still the scepticists are a minority. Even in general valuing environmental management positive, several of the respondents pay attention on particular unsystematic and not always systemic performance of environmental management activities in practice (besides basics of communal sectors management), also mentioning as these are eventual consequences of the lack of the responsible environmental specialist position and/or the proper environmental management organisational structure in the municipal administration to be responsible for the full scale integration of environmental issues into municipal everyday management. Each department acts in the frame of own duties, but there is not yet sufficient mutual coherence. However, there is also the opinion, especially by municipal administrators, that the current arrangements work well enough and do not need to be changed. The municipality has a number of internal and external, general public oriented, environmentally friendly actions, which are positively valued. Other positive municipal environmental performance aspects are related to environmental communication activities and instruments, also recognizing the role of existing municipal work position of the environmental communication specialist. But there are also deficiencies mentioned e.g. the transfer of the information to those target groups that are not so active. In general the municipality is evaluated as sustainable development focused. But necessity to create the municipal organizational structure-coordination for environmental management have been emphasized by various stakeholders, including from municipal administration.

Practically all respondents emphasize the good quality of Valmiera's environment; compared to other cities in the country, especially the big ones, it is even rated as excellent. This assessment is made up of

several components, noting serious improvements over the last 10-12 years: reconstruction of the wastewater treatment of the city and companies, as then also the water quality in Gauja river, splitting Valmiera city in two parts, normalized and is rated as good, however, there is some remaining pollution mainly brought from the upper stream connections; various activities of companies in environmental protection. The episodic air quality problem is in the vicinity of the dairy plant. Noise is practically limited problem as elevated levels are noted only around major transportation highways, but not significantly disruptive. The only concern is the activity of the households not connected to centralized sewerage, of few last and limited private housing areas. The cleanliness of the urban environment, as well as the state of parks and squares, are highly valued. The city has very good drinking water, used also as potable springs. Most of the respondents know what is happening not only in their immediate surroundings, but in the whole city, are informed about each other and have an opinion not only about the functioning of the municipal administration, but also about the functioning of most other target groups. National environmental institutions at the regional level in Valmiera city, are accused by some respondents as having too formal approach, but the attitude towards them is not strongly critical. All stakeholders note the lack of active environmental NGOs, at the same time stating that they actually have not much to do in the city.

2. Environmental governance process: summary for 5P process cycle stages

In the research phase complementary methods of case study research methodology had given very substantial information and data base and for this paper we will be using that research integrative summary results and also complementary research-and-development approach mode, as well as, following step-by-step structural analysis and action policies plannings based on environmental governance process cycle **5P stages model** (Ernsteins, 2016).

Problem analysis (P1)

In this stage, it is crucial to understand what data relevant to environmental management is available to the administration or potentially accessible but currently unused. Significant sources in this regard include the Environmental Overview of the Valmiera 2017 Spatial Plan, the review sections of the Development Strategy and Program, as well as document and statistical source studies.

The Environmental Overview was developed within the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) procedure of the spatial plan, adhering to the requirements of regulatory acts (Cabinet Regulation No. 157, 2004). It provides fundamental information covering almost all environmental sectors regarding environmental quality and potential impacts of the specific planning document on the environment. However, environmental burdens and risks are not extensively characterized. Despite meeting regulatory requirements, the Environmental Overview lacks integration with geospatial information and does not reflect environmental management aspects.

The Sustainable Development Strategy and Development Program did not have a specific section on territorial analysis, but it was developed separately for both documents. It contained highly detailed and well-illustrated information about the city of Valmiera, but environmental burdens were insufficiently described, and there was a significant lack of information about environmental management organization within the municipality. Furthermore, community target groups were not addressed, which is not the task of territorial description. Most of the sources identified in document analysis were used, but data from Latvian environmental, geological, and meteorological databases were only partially utilized.

CCE sector - P1. Problem analysis in the CCE sector requires nowadays much wider and system-based approach and, especially, also more risk assessments and additional financial planning and management.

The main municipality's autonomous function is the obligation for the municipality to organize heating services for residents regardless of the location and type of residential properties. This is task traditionally, for municipally owned or co-owned heating and other communal infrastructure companies. Additionally, within the municipality's administration, there are buildings and other energy-consuming infrastructure and facilities to implement other autonomous functions. Meanwhile, the new Municipalities Law defines the work towards climate change mitigation and adaptation as autonomous function of the municipalities. Thus, the challenges faced by Valmiera municipality, like any municipality in Latvia, are associated with improving energy efficiency in municipally owned buildings and in centrally heated residential buildings. Especially, since the energy crisis triggered by the various regional conflicts, ensuring energy security has also become a challenge, strengthening municipal and Latvian energy independence, as well as optimizing energy consumption. Achieving climate neutrality requires reducing greenhouse gas emissions and promoting CO2 sequestration in various sectors. To adapt to climate change, the municipality has to identify climate change risks and expected impacts. Increasing flood risk possibility and the expected rise in various extreme weather conditions are significant concerns and is to be accounted.

Since January 2017, the municipal council of the municipality of Valmiera has approved the municipality's energy policy, determining the municipality's commitment to support the energy management system and improve its efficiency. The three priorities of the certified energy management system: **thermal energy consumption of municipal institutions, electricity consumption and street lighting.** The total length of Valmiera lighting networks is 122.27 km. 81.82 km of them are currently regulated by the automatic street lighting control system Lucidus Smart. The system has 3,649 light points, including 1,463 or 43.65% LED lights.

Since September 2012, the residents of Valmiera apartment buildings have the opportunity to receive co-financing from the Valmiera city municipality for the management of their buildings, for example, for energy audits, simplified renovation of buildings, as well as yard improvement. There are 82 fully renovated apartment buildings out of 167 in Valmiera, which is 49% of the total number of apartment buildings. The largest operator of apartment buildings in Valmiera, SIA "Valmieras Namsaimnieks", which also has built the first municipal apartment buildings in Latvia in 2018, as well as educates residents of Valmiera about energy-efficient and building and health-friendly operation of buildings. In Valmiera, in a communal house of different social groups at Udens Street 2C, during its reconstruction, solar collectors were installed on the roof of the building for the preparation of hot water. Solar collectors for hot water preparation have also been installed on several other buildings in Valmiera, where consumers are using the building intensively even in the sunny summer season.

In 2019, Valmiera City Municipal Council approved the thematic planning "Valmiera City Transport Infrastructure Concept" and its environmental report. As the most appropriate transport hierarchy for the city, the document mainly proposes walking and cycling as the two basic modes of transportation in the city. In order to reduce the number of cars on the streets and encourage the use of public transport, a system of discounts of up to 100% has been established for different groups of the population for public transport.

Policy Design and Formulation (P2)

Within the framework of the current study and in collaboration with municipal specialists, the Valmiera City Environmental Declaration was developed and adopted by the municipal council on January 29, 2015. This document serves as a testament to the municipality's political will regarding actions that affect or may affect all environmental sectors within the city. Such a declaration represents a typical "umbrella"

instrument in the "P2 – Policy Definition" stage of the planning cycle, affirming the municipality's commitment to maintain a specific course not only in individual environmental areas but also across all stages of governance and in all areas. By the fall of 2017, the Declaration had been signed by 366 residents and representatives of significant enterprises. The introduction of the declaration outlines its intentions and mission statement. In the subsequent territorial development and/or environmental management planning process, all analysis of the situation and policy documents should directly or indirectly contain all elements of this structure. The Environmental Declaration also became the "visiting card" of the city council; for example, it was displayed in the foyer of the city council. The declaration was prepared as a policy proposal formulated as a result of research and was adopted by the municipality with minor changes compared to the proposed version.

CCE sector - P2. Valmiera, as the administrative centre of the county, is a sustainable city that, while promoting the industrial development of the area, cares for a clean and organized urban environment, the preservation of natural values, and the mitigation of impacts on the surrounding environment. To strive for climate neutrality by 2050 and thus contribute to the achievement of the UN Sustainable Development Goals, particularly Goal 7 "Affordable and Clean Energy" and Goal 13 "Climate Action", Valmiera county municipality decided to join the international EU Covenant of Mayors in 2022, with elaboration and approvement of the **sectorial CCE planning document** in 2023 – Valmiera Sustainable Energy and Climate Action Plan until 2030. Tasks have been set to achieve the objectives of Valmiera's sustainable energy and climate policy in all areas affected within the municipality's competence. At the same time, utilizing climate communication instruments, Valmiera municipality as an implementer of the European Green Deal at the local level, promotes the participation and collaboration of all stakeholders affected in the implementation of energy and climate policy. Valmiera municipality has also defined its energy policy, which is part of the energy management system. It establishes principles for practically maintaining and analysing the municipality's work with energy resources and Valmiera municipality decided on the ten principles.

Planning (P3)

In the Valmiera City Development Program for 2015-2020, there were noticeable consistencies regarding the environmental management elements incorporated therein relative to those mentioned in the Strategy. In the strategic objective "Personal Growth," the action direction (S-4) "Environmental Awareness" outlined tasks for promoting environmental awareness (Table 1).

The Valmiera City Development Program Monitoring Report included the following indicators related to the environment: organized environmental events (target: stable); percentage of households connected to centralized water supply and sewage (target: increasing); streets with pavement (target: increasing); multi-apartment residential buildings where energy efficiency measures have been implemented (target: increasing); natural (green) areas (target: stable).

Thus, the environmental component in the long-term priority "Educated, active, creative society oriented towards a healthy and environmentally friendly lifestyle" resulted in one of the medium-term priorities: "Development of sports and active recreation offerings, orientation towards a healthy and environmentally friendly lifestyle." Meanwhile, the long-term priority "Accessibility of work, housing, healthcare, and social services in a safe city" corresponded to the medium-term priority "Formation of functional, aesthetic urban environments with developed and environmentally friendly infrastructure and efficient resource management"; conditionally, this can also include the development of governance directed towards residents and collaboration. However, it should be noted that environmental issues were not addressed

anywhere in the priority of economic development, which was somewhat contradictory to the principle of green and simultaneously industrial areas envisioned in the environmental declaration – achieving such a result is not possible without directly linking environmental issues with the economy. The presence of environmental management in the tasks of medium-term priorities was significantly important. The establishment of a multifunctional environmental and science centre and infrastructure development envisaged the development of environmental education and information at a new level and beyond traditional educational institutions. Three out of nine points in the development of urban environments were dedicated to environmental and its management were fully related to environmental management, and moreover, the development of degraded and undeveloped territories are environmental issues directly linked to economic development. The promotion of energy-efficient transportation use, as well as the development of cycling infrastructure, were two of the four main directions for the development of the city's transportation systems.

Table 1

Environmental awareness promotion thematic planning in the Valmiera development program

Action Planning: Environmental Awareness via Environmental Communication tools
S-4-1 Societal information, education, and awareness building on environmental issues and environmentally friendly lifestyles (total of 4 actions)
S-4-2 Societal participation in environmental governance and promotion of environmentally friendly behavior (total of 5 actions)
S-4-3 Establishment of a multifunctional environmental and science centre and infrastructure development (total of 4 actions)

The analysis of planning documents created the impression that environmental and its management issues constitute a significant component of city development. However, there was no apparent systemic approach to their inclusion. It appeared that the development program compiled suggestions from sectoral specialists. The specialists involved in the specific planning situation had a high environmental awareness, but there was a lack of balance, unity of concept, and integration. In fact, no attention was paid to environmental management as such and the development of environmental communication. In the municipal planning documents there is mentioned necessity and plan to develop an Environmental Policy Plan.

In Valmiera, a large number of binding regulations issued by the municipal council were in force, which, in accordance with the municipality's competence and functions, regulated various aspects of city life. Several of them directly or indirectly related to specific aspects of environmental management: No. 119 on waste management; No. 182 on tree felling outside forests; No. 133 on the procedure for taxing buildings that degrade the environment, are dilapidated, or endanger human safety; No. 277 on the provision and use of public water management services. Additionally, several other binding regulations included individual aspects related to environmental management.

CCE sector - P3. The implementation of climate and energy management by the municipality of Valmiera is carried out both via integration approach and recently also as sector approach as since 2022 there is established, even voluntary planning document - the Valmiera Sustainable Energy and Climate Action Plan until 2030, Plan until 2030, Climate change policy (the Green Deal) is integrally defined by the municipal statutory Development Program as one of the municipality's three horizontal development priorities. Municipal horizontal priorities serve as guidelines for planning and implementing all medium-

term measures and investment projects. Thus, all planned investments must be assessed in response to the question of what contribution the investment project will make to the Green Deal. The Valmiera Sustainable Energy and Climate Action Plan includes separate analyses of electricity and heat production, defines a climate and energy management model, and analyses the following sectors affected by energy and climate policy in Valmiera municipality: municipal buildings and facilities; public lighting; residential sector; water supply; domestic sewage; stormwater management; blue-green infrastructure in urban planning; waste management; transportation and mobility; business and tourism sector; agriculture and forestry; management of developed peat bogs; health; civil defence and emergency situations; climate communication. Energy poverty is separately analysed, and the impacts of climate change in the region are also analysed separately: extreme heat; extreme cold; extreme precipitation; floods; sea-level rise; drought; storms; landslides; forest fires.

Practice Management (P4)

In the framework of governance implementation, there was a general presence of environmentally friendly actions in the municipality's overall action plan. The implementation of policy measures was evidenced, for example, in January 2017 with the approval of the city's municipal energy policy. On March 29, 2017, the municipality received the LVS EN ISO 50001:2018 energy management certificate, confirming the effective energy management system covering 63 municipal buildings and public street lighting in Valmiera. The municipality engaged in environmental information, environmental education, public participation, and promotion of environmentally friendly practices.

The short-term action plan for development, in accordance with regulatory requirements, was designed as a dynamic component of medium-term spatial planning. Aligned with the 4 strategic objectives, the action plan was divided into 4 parts. The strategic objective "Safety of residents, both socially and physically," contained 3 environmentally friendly action directions under "Governance," with the most significant being the implementation of Environmental Policy (EP) by developing the EP strategy by 2020. Several actions were indirectly related to environmentally friendly practices as they involved resource conservation.

The strategic objective "An aesthetically pleasing, functional, and nature-inclusive urban environment" contained environmentally friendly elements in almost all of its points. The strategic objective "Business development" included at least 3 environmentally friendly actions directly related to the economic and environmental interrelationships. Similarly, several positions indirectly addressed environmentally friendly practices. The strategic objective "Personal growth" included various environmentally friendly elements indirectly.

Valmiera City Council did not have **institutional environmental management instruments**; considering the scale of the territory, the creation of such instruments may not have been purposeful. The position of Environmental Communication Specialist served as an administrative governance instrument in Valmiera, highly valued by the public. Other environmental management issues were divided among specialists in different areas, indicating that environmental management issues within these areas were generally addressed successfully (as evidenced by public reaction). However, some issues remained unresolved, and the existing scheme was evaluated as insufficient to further support the growth and development of environmental management. As a solution, the creation of a position responsible for environmental information circulation (including preparing information for the Environmental Communication Specialist) and coordinating environmental management activities in the city was consistently highlighted in interviews.

CCE sector - P4. The municipality implements CCE sector management applying both approaches sector and integrative. Considering climate change policy as a horizontal priority for municipal development, the promotion of energy efficiency is particularly integrated and emphasized in the municipality's statutory Development Program, the long-term development priority "Attractive Living Environment and Space" and its medium-term development priority "Accessible Housing", as well as in each of its action directions: AD1 "Accessibility and Mobility"; AD2 "Engineering Infrastructure"; and AD3 "Residential Stock". Municipal Sustainable Energy and Climate Action Plan defines sectorial approach to the municipal energy and climate management. The municipality implements a certified energy management system ISO 50 000 covering energy efficiency of municipal buildings, electricity consumption of municipal buildings, and public lighting. The Municipal Real Estate Management Department, in collaboration with municipal administrations of local parishes, is responsible for the management and administration of municipal real estate owned or used by the municipality or leased to it. Within the Real Estate Management Department works the specially appointed specialist - municipal energy manager, who is also responsible coordinator for the work of the Municipal Energy Management Supervising Working Group and energy management system. Municipality owned and established joint-stock companies play a significant role in the implementation of municipal energy management, providing centralized heat production, energy transmission, and housing management.

Process Monitoring and Results Reviewing (P5)

Valmiera city Sustainable Development Strategy did not contain monitoring and evaluation system or their elements as regulatory requirements did not demand them from strategic planning, instead, such a system was attached to the mide-term planning (7 years) Development Program. The Valmiera city Development Program 2015-2020 defined the urban development priorities and directions of action, achievable results and the procedure and system for monitoring the implementation results of the development program. This monitoring and evaluation system consisted of 9 strategic development indicators describing the general social and economic development - population, territorial development index, etc. and 23 mid-term indicators related to development priorities and achievable results within the framework of action directions. There were still no particular/sectorial environmental governance indicators - "Satisfaction of the population with life in Valmiera", the numerical value of which is determined by means of a population survey. In the same time, for the monitoring of the medium-term priorities, there were mentioned the following, even just 3 basic indicators - Number of households connected to centralized water supply and sewerage (%); Number of apartment buildings with implemented energy efficiency measures; Natural (green) areas (ha).

Since 2015, regular biannual reports on both monitoring indicators have been prepared, but they had a more descriptive nature, without detailed analysis, especially in the context of overall territorial sustainable development. The biannual developmental planning Monitoring Report 2019 of the Valmiera city Development Program 2015-2020 indicates that the 2019 Valmiera Residents' Survey showed also results with relation to above mentioned strategic indicator - that 94.6% of residents are satisfied with life in the city, which is 5.6% more than in 2013 and 0.4% less than in the 2018 survey. It should also be noted here that while the characteristics of all indicators increased between 2013 and 2020, one of the key indicators, namely population size in the city, continued to decrease.

Later on Valmiera city municipality was defined as a national city within the Administrative Territorial Reform (ATR) and merged with five neighboring rural municipalities and two smaller towns in 2021.

Importantly, that the positive practical experience and strategic development documents of the neighboring rural and small towns municipalities were taken into account when developing now already Valmiera county statutory development planning documents starting from 2022. The number of indicators related to environmental governance in the Valmiera county Development Program 2022-2028 has increased significantly compared to the Valmiera city programming document - from 3 indicators as mentioned to 40 now. This is one of the highest number of environmental governance indicators in any municipal development planning documents in Latvia. Now the monitoring indicators system is actually covering not only all traditional-communal sectors (water, waste, heating), but also new environmental sectors being outside those statutory communal sectors prescribed by the Law on Municipalities. In the new Valmiera County Sustainable Development Strategy 2022 - 2038 is formulated one unified and summarizing goal: "Valmiera county - a territory of excellence in economic development, knowledge and social life with a dynamic and intelligently governed environment", which significantly emphasizes the meaning and importance of good environmental governance in the municipality, but at the same time, environmental governance indicators are still not included into this long-term strategic development planning document, however in several other Latvian municipalities strategic indicators could be found. Of course, long-term development indicators in development strategies may overlap with and complement the medium-term indicators in development programs but there is clearly a need for such a link. Development strategies should include at least one long-term management indicator as a variable related to changes in the medium-term performance indicators of the activities, which should correlate with changes in other key long-term development indicators such as population changes, indicators of economic activity in the municipality (GDP, number of active enterprises etc.). In the mandatory monitoring system of the territorial planning, there should be more detailed procedure provided for the preparation of monitoring reports, including requirements for data sources etc.

CCE sector - P5. The implementation of the statutory municipal mid-term Development Program was and is to be evaluated every three years. It includes monitoring indicators for the following development sectors: demographics; youth; education; social services and child protection; security; healthcare and promotion; culture; sports; business, economy, and tourism; mobility and infrastructure; housing; water management; heat management; drainage, stormwater, climate change adaptation; environment, nature conservation, public space; digital transformation (information society); governance. Among them, the following indicators for the implementation of energy policy and climate policy in the sector of "mobility and infrastructure" are included: Total length of roads with sidewalks and pedestrian paths; Total length of cycling infrastructure in the district; Number of electric charging stations in the district; Number of passengers transported on regional bus routes in Valmiera district; Number of passengers transported on the Riga-Valga passenger train route per year; Number of mobility points; Share of low and zero-emission vehicles in the city's public transportation fleet; Positive residents' assessment of public transportation accessibility; Positive residents' assessment of pedestrian infrastructure and public space; Positive residents' assessment of cycling infrastructure development; Positive residents' assessment of mobility infrastructure development (cycling, car-sharing, food delivery to home, information etc. new services); Positive residents' assessment of public transportation accessibility.

Discussion: Proposals for Environmental Governance Process in Valmiera

Although general development planning principles envisage the inclusion of all three (actually, four) dimensions of sustainability in the development planning process, currently, legislative acts do not require the assessment of environmental situations in municipal territories and the incorporation of guidelines into

territorial development planning documents; essentially, this is of a voluntary, goodwill nature. Accordingly, there are neither methodological guidelines on how to do this nor corresponding instruments available.

In Valmiera, the Environmental Governance Process Cycle is organized through the following elements - tools for each stage of the governance cycle (Figure 2) (Ernsteins et al., 2020):

- Environmental Problemanalysis (P1 Environmental Governance Report EGR);
- Environmental Declaration (P2 Policy Formulation already implemented);
- Environmental Management and Communication Program (P3 Policy Planning);
- Environmental Management and Communication Action Management (P4 Policy; Implementation
- practice management within the respective planned programs);
- Environmental Management Monitoring System (P5 Monitoring).

The Environmental Governance Report (EGR) is a comprehensive document of environmental management situation analysis and is based on a wide range of information sources, including necessary research. In an integrative approach, Environmental Management is one of the cross-sectoral binding elements and a direct source and reflection of sustainability. EGR envisages assessing environmental impacts not as a specific planning document aspect, but as a sum of planning documents and non-planning factors - the actions of society's target groups. EGR views the environment in terms of environmental condition, management, and public involvement, and as one of the fundamental elements of sustainable development. EGR concludes with joint and sectoral Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats (hereinafter - SWOT) analysis matrices, which serve as guidelines for planning document development.



Figure 1. The necessity of procedural interaction (step-to-step integration) between the environmental governance process cycle and the municipality's overall development governance process cycle in the context of the reduced 4P process model (Ernsteins, 2016).

Policy Formulation, Environmental Management and Communication programs derive from the information and guidelines provided by EGR. These programs respectively define the overall strategic vision, surface objectives, goals, priorities, and medium-term action directions for Environmental Management and Communication (as components of governance) and structurally do not differ from general development planning documents. A SWOT analysis of the environmental communication sector had been conducted in Valmiera, forming the basis for the forthcoming environmental communication program. Similarly, to the territorial development program, documents are concluded by action and investment plans, and these documents are discussed in a broad public participation process.

Sustainable Development and its Management monitoring in municipalities are comprehensive instruments for planning supervision and evaluation. Various monitoring and evaluation systems for different planning documents do not allow for a clear overview and comparisons, and are also very inconvenient and ineffective from a management perspective. The municipal monitoring system is being developed at the proposal level as a component of EGR; it is the focus of environmental and sustainability information circulation and a strategic public information and involvement tool. All included parameter systems are complementary, and each performs its function within the framework of sustainability monitoring: Sustainable Development Management indicators allow monitoring progress towards long-term goals, including forecasts and an early warning system for issues in achieving these goals; Performance indicators in the development program allow monitoring the development direction and progress towards medium-term goals; Execution indicators in the action plan allow monitoring the execution of this plan's points (Kauliņš, Ernsteins, Kudrenickis, 2018).

It is essential that the systems of indicators and performance metrics overlap significantly; specifically, performance metrics can form the basis of indicator systems, supplementing the list with missing parameters and ensuring methodological provision for all of them. A significant element here is the broader public engagement in civic monitoring, involving data collection, processing, and subsequent discussion (Aceves-Bueno, 2015: 493-506 pp.). This approach allows for the observation of a range of parameters in all three subsystems, some of which would be practically impossible to obtain information on otherwise. From the public's perspective, such a method increases trust in both the specific measurements and the overall governance and planning initiatives (Pruse, Datava, 2017). The municipal monitoring concept is thoroughly justified and elaborated upon.

Conclusions and recommendations

1) The Valmiera City Council had expressed a clear political will for the further development of environmental governance instruments by adopting the City's Environmental Declaration as a long-term guideline, a behavioral model for the city's further social, economic, and governance development, while balancing the importance of natural dimensions in sustainable development processes.

2) The use of environmental governance instruments in Valmiera's long-term and medium-term planning documents was justified by the general characterization of the territory and the adequately developed environmental awareness of responsible sectors. Planning documents contained a number of significant principles for the further use of environmental governance instruments; these principles were detailed in short-term planning documents down to the level of specialized action groups, clearly assessing potential benefits. However, several positions in the action plan did not specify specific objects (mostly related to infrastructure) to which these actions would apply; perhaps this was due to insufficient clarity on funding possibilities. Precise tasks for the further development of environmental governance and the respective instruments were defined in the planning and communication fields.

3) The further development of the use of planning instruments in environmental governance in Valmiera is closely related to institutional/administrative and communication instruments. Institutional development was a key factor in the development of other instruments, as it was necessary to establish a position for a coordinated stage in environmental governance planning and actions, as well as in environmental disciplinary information circulation.

4) To ensure the sustainable development of Valmiera City from an environmental governance perspective, it was necessary to include the Environmental Situation Description in the municipality's Sustainable Development Strategy and Development Programme, develop disciplinary sectoral policy

planning documents such as an environmental policy program or environmental communication program, but also integrate environmental governance directives into other sectoral planning documents.

5) Monitoring and evaluation of sustainable development in Valmiera City, while simultaneously creating a dataset for the needs of the next planning cycle, could take place through comprehensive municipal monitoring, developing it based on the results of the development program, where the system includes a block of sustainable development and its governance indicators, a block of planning document performance indicators, and a block of planning

6) document implementation indicators. The foundational document of the monitoring system is a manual containing detailed methodological guidelines for system usage.

7) The successful approval of the environmental governance cycle instruments in Valmiera could serve as a basis for improvements in regulatory acts regulating these issues at the national level.

Acknowledgements

Research & Development data were collected, elaborated and paper prepared within the framework of Latvian National research program project (SUSTINNO). The following contributors from University of Latvia shall be acknowledged that have taken part into the realization of sub-projects and contributed to the information for this manuscript: Krista Ošniece, Ugis Rusmanis, Jānis Brizga, as well as Valmiera municipal administration, stakeholders and secondary school students. The work presented has been supported by the University of Latvia.

Bibliography

- Aceves-Bueno, E. et.al. (2015). Citizen Science as an Approach for Overcoming Insufficient Monitoring and Inadequate Stakeholder Buy-in in Adaptive Management: Criteria and Evidence. Ecosystems, Volume 18, Issue 3, 493 – 506 pp.
- 16. Armitage, R.D. et al. (2008). Adaptive Co-Management for Social-Ecological Complexity. The Ecological Society of America, Volume 7, Issue 2, 95–102 pp.
- 17. Borrás S., Edquist C. (2013). The choice of innovation policy instruments, Technological Forecasting and Social Change. 80(8), 1513–1522 pp.
- Brizga J., et.al. (2024). Environmental Governance Assessment in Latvia: Good Governance Framing and Implementation Review. WMESS 2023, World Multidisciplinary Earth Sciences Symposium, Journal of the Polish Mineral Engineering Society, Vol. 1, Nr 1 (2024) pp.601-609.
- 19. Canfora, P., et.al. (2015). Best Environmental Management Practice for the Public Administration Sector. Brussels: European Commission, 589.pp.
- 20. Emerson, K., Nabatchi, T., Balogh, S. (2011). An Integrative Framework for Collaborative Governance. Journal of Public Administration. Research and Theory, Volume 22, 1–29. pp.
- 21. Ernsteins, R., et al. (2017) Pro-Environmental Municipal Governance Developments in Latvia: Sustainability and Integration Principles in Practice. Proceedings, International Scientific Conference, VGTU, Vilnius, Lithuania, May 2017, 308.-317. pp.
- 22. Ernsteins, R., et al. (2020). Municipal Pro-Environmental Behaviour Governance System Approach: Action-Oriented Communication Framework. 20th International Multidisciplinary Scientific GeoConference, SGEM, December 2020, Vienna, Austria, Volume 20, Issue 6.2, 359–374. pp.
- 23. Ernsteins, R., Kaulins, J., Lontone-Ievina, A. et.al. (2016). Environmental governance in municipalities: ensuring an environmental integration approach in development planning in interaction with the disciplinary approach of environmental management review. Proceedings. 18th scientific conference of the University of Liepaja, Liepaja, Latvia, 2015, 325-337. pp. (In Latvian)
- 24. European Commission, EU Environmental Policy Implementation Annual Report: State Report Latvia (2019). Brussels, (In Latvian) 33.pp.
- 25. Karpouzoglou T. et al. (2016), Advancing adaptive governance of social-ecological systems through theoretical multiplicity, Environmental Science & Policy 57, p. 1–9
- 26. Kaulins J., et.al. (2018) Monitoring and reporting system for municipal sustainable development governance in Latvia: Sustainability Outlook. Economic Science for Rural Development Conference Proceedings. Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia, May 2018, 129-137. pp.
- 27. Kooiman, J., Bavinck, M., et.al. (2008). Interactive Governance and Governability: Introduction. J. of Transdisciplinary Environmental Studies, Volume 7, Issue 1, 1 – 21 pp.

- 28. Kudrenickis et.al. (2014). Municipal Climate Change Adaptation Governance in Latvia: Approaching Cross-Sectorial and Multi-Instrumental Understanding. Regional Formation and Development Studies. Klaipeda, Lithuania, Journal of Social Sciences, Vol. 14, Nr. 3, pp 40-52,
- 29. Loë, R.C., et.al. (2009). From Government to Governance: A State-of-the-Art Review of Environmental Governance. Prepared for Alberta Environment, Guelph, Consulting Services, 67.pp.
- 30. Nesbit, M., et.al. (2019). Development of an Assessment Framework on Environmental Governance in the EU Member States. Brussels: European Commission, Issue 07, 287.pp.
- 31. Ostrom, E. (2009). A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems. Science. Volume 325, Issue 5939, 419–422. pp.
- 32. Ozolins M., et.al. (2023). Municipal Environmental Governance In Latvia: Governance Instruments' Framing Practice. Proceedings. 24th Conference on Economic Science for Rural Development, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Jelgava, Latvia, May 2023 (56), pp. 251-267.
- 33. Pruse, B., Datava, G. (2017). Citizen Science in Latvia within the Field of Environment. Priekuli: Institute for Environmental Solutions, 44.pp.
- 34. Truksans, D., et.al. (2020). Municipal Pro-Environmental Governance Revitalization: Expanding Blue and Green Flag Complementing Instruments. Proceedings of International Multidisciplinary Scientific GeoConference", SGEM. August 2020, Albena, Bulgaria, Volume 5.1, 545–560. pp.
- 35. Valmiera City Municipality (2015). Valmiera Environmental Declaration. Available: https://www.valmierasnovads.lv/novads/vide/valmieras-vides-deklaracija/ (In Latvian).

MARKETING RISKS AND THEIR MANAGEMENT FOR COMPANY'S SUSTAINABILITY

Agnija Greizina¹, Mg.paed.; Jelena Salkovska², Dr.oec., assoc.prof.;

Anda Batraga³, Dr.oec., prof.; Jelizaveta Prilucka⁴

^{1,2,3}University of Latvia; ¹Ltd. Tamro, Ltd. BENU Aptieka; ⁴Madara Cosmetics JSC

Abstract. This article explores the types of marketing risks in the company's sustainable development, primarily influenced by marketing factors such as a decrease in consumer purchasing power, loss of market share, intensified competition, and the adoption of insufficiently justified marketing management decisions. One of the main challenges is related to defining the essence of marketing risks, systematizing them, and establishing a scientific approach, which is still not sufficiently researched. The causes of marketing risks encompass the current market situation, internal and external factors affecting the company, strengths and weaknesses in the company's operations, insufficient marketing information, and errors in marketing analysis and planning. Effective management of marketing risks should focus on optimizing the balance between expected market share, profit and risk, considering available qualitative and quantitative marketing research and experience. The marketing risk management system includes the definition and classification of potential marketing risks, the analysis and exploration of marketing risks, their qualitative and quantitative assessment, measures to reduce, prevent, or transfer marketing risks, and the evaluation of the results of implemented measures. The objective is to uncover the impact of marketing risks, and the processes of identifying analysing, assessing, and reducing these risks through effective management remains relevant and requires a review and the development of new approaches in the field of marketing risk management in today's difficult market conditions. As a result of the article's analysis and identification, risk management involves development of a set of management decisions to minimize or avoid the risks arising in the process of marketing activities.

Key words: marketing risks, risk management, sustainability.

JEL code: M31

Introduction

Today's busy market, competition, dynamics, and development of technologies create additional risks in marketing. The life cycle of a product is shortened, competition is growing rapidly, new brands are coming in the market but finding uniqueness becomes harder. Companies offer similar or identical products, assortment, thus the main instruments to compete are prices, location, service, and other added values. All this creates serious marketing risks and threatens sustainability and the existence of a long-term marketing strategy within the company. To ensure sustainability within the company, companies must be on a constant wave of innovation.

Also, in today's technology-driven landscape, risk management has evolved from being the responsibility of a single employee to becoming an indispensable tool for all business leaders. It provides a framework for systematical analysing of potential risks that could impact a business, either positively or negatively. By leveraging data and insights, organizations can develop comprehensive plans to mitigate and manage these risks, ensuring resilience and sustainability in the face of challenges.

The objective of this study is to uncover the impact of marketing risks, the processes of identifying, analysing, assessing, and reducing these risks through effective management. This objective remains relevant and requires a review and the development of new approaches in the field of marketing risk management in today's difficult market conditions. The article seeks to answer and puts forward two research questions.

1) What are the most common marketing risks faced by companies in today's business environment?

2) How do companies effectively manage marketing risks to enhance their sustainability?

The main tasks of the research are as follows:

- 1) to investigate the impact, processes of marketing risks, which involves risk identification, analysis, assessment and exclusion within the existing literature and the latest studies;
- 2) to develop a set of conclusions based on the performed analysis and identifications.

The increase of various economic risks, where marketing risks also play an important role, requires a significant improvement of the risk management methods, which also means preventing their occurrence. Sustainable marketing risk management aims to identify potential risks and develop potential solutions so that the company should reduce all the potential negative consequences in the cases where any of the risks occur. Ideally, risk management operates as a control function that prevents separate risks from reaching threatening levels while actively supporting the right risk-reward decisions.

Literature review

In the late 1960, Bauer introduced the concept of perceived risk to the marketing literature and proposed two definitions of risks as far as marketing management is concerned: 1) perceived consequences of an outcome in case of a wrong choice; and 2) subjective probability to make a mistake (Bauer, 1960). Risk in marketing science is generally based on two elements: adverse consequences and uncertainty (Dowling and Staelin, 1994). During this period, there is a lack of consensus across disciplines regarding the concept of perceived risks, and there is no widely accepted definition of uncertainty and its consequences. As for adverse consequences, there are several kinds of losses. Jacoby and Kaplan considered seven kinds of loss risks: financial, performance, physical, psychological, social, time or convenience risk and linked-decision risk (Jacoby, Kaplan, 1972).

Cox published a work on perceived risks among consumers which laid the foundations of subsequent research in consumer behaviour and brand management. While academic literature extensively explores risk, there remains a gap in mainstream marketing resources regarding operational risk management (Cox, 1967).

Kapferer and Laurent (1982), and in a more detailed way Kapferer (1998), talk and analyse risk as one of the variables potentially linked to involvement, interest and brand sensitivity. When Kapferer and Laurent (1982) suggest a framework regarding brand sensitivity, they briefly mention risk perception as the seriousness of negative consequences in case of failure. The possibility of a failure, made by the customer choosing the brand is, according to Kapferer, one of twelve variables explaining brand sensitivity. As such, risk perception is believed to increase brand sensitivity. However, risk conception is not considered as one of the ten variables estimating involvement by Zaichkowsky (1994).

Research on risk concept was an attempt to apply perceived risk to marketing management, by establishing that perceived risk is partially depending upon risk attitudes, among many other independent variables. The theory of customer decisions also appears in marketing research, where risk is regarded as one of the possible dimensions of customer decision making (Bettman, Luce, and Payne, 1998).

The author of the book "Marketing" understands risk in marketing as the threat of loss or lack of income as a result of the implementation of specific decisions or types of production and sales activities, based on marketing recommendations (Pavlenko, 2008). Macdonald (2007) offers a classification of risks in marketing, which is divided into three groups: market risks associated with the assessment of the potential size of the market, risks associated with the chosen marketing strategy and profit risks (Macdonald et al., 2007). There are many issues in marketing, which in other fields of activity are solved by standard methods, and in marketing they require new theoretical and practical approaches (Morgan et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2009; Corsaro, Snehota, 2010). Management of marketing risk and efficiency can also be processed as a multicriteria problem and the methodology of solving such problems in various related fields of economic research is properly presented by Ginevicius, Podvezko (2008) and Ginevicius, Zubrecovas (2009).

In the dynamic and ever-evolving realm of modern business, managing risks effectively have emerged as a critical determinant of long-term success and sustainability. With market landscapes continuously shifting and uncertainties proliferating, organizations must adopt a proactive stance to identify, evaluate, and mitigate potential risks in order to navigate the complexities and challenges they encounter. However, before delving into the intricacies of risk management, it is imperative for businesses to cultivate a comprehensive understanding of the prevailing market dynamics. This entails conducting a thorough assessment of the economic climate, industry trends, consumer behaviours, and competitive forces at play. Such an analysis not only unveils potential growth opportunities but also unveils lurking threats that could jeopardize operational stability and strategic objectives.

To delve deeper into the intricacies of the market landscape, organizations can leverage a plethora of research methodologies. This may include employing market surveys to gauge consumer preferences and sentiments, conducting thorough competitor analyses to discern strengths and weaknesses, and meticulously studying industry reports to identify emerging trends and potential disruptors. By harnessing these diverse sources of information, businesses can glean valuable insights into market nuances and fluctuations, enabling them to make informed decisions and adapt strategies accordingly. In essence, robust risk management begins with a comprehensive understanding of the market landscape. By staying attuned to evolving market dynamics and employing diligent research methodologies, organizations can not only anticipate potential risks but also capitalize on emerging opportunities, thereby fortifying their competitive position and fostering long-term sustainability (Faster Capital, 2024).

Risk management may not be the first thing that appears to mind when we think of marketing, but it is an inseparable part of an overall marketing strategy. The main reasons are as follows. Uncertainty is inevitable: in the world of marketing, uncertainty is a constant companion, with shifting markets, evolving consumer behaviours, technological advancements, and unforeseen competitive manoeuvres. Acknowledging these uncertainties allows companies to take proactive measures and brace themselves for impending changes. **Protect reputation:** safeguarding reputation is paramount in marketing, as even minor missteps can severely damage a brand's image. Risk management plays a crucial role in identifying potential public relations crises, allowing for swift action to prevent or mitigate any reputational harm. Efficient resource allocation is essential for success in marketing endeavours. By identifying and managing risks, companies can strategically allocate resources, ensuring that efforts are directed towards the most promising opportunities. **Regulatory compliance:** compliance with regulatory requirements is a nonnegotiable aspect of marketing operations. Failure to adhere to relevant laws and guidelines can lead to significant penalties. Effective risk management ensures that companies remain compliant with all applicable regulations, safeguarding against potential legal repercussions (Pardo, 2024).

Since then, many things have changed: globalization itself, technology development, GenAI, economics, market trends, customer behaviour, Covid-19, war etc. All these reasons directly and indirectly affect the risks that marketing may face.

Already today and even more in the nearest future, GenAI can dramatically transform risk determination and management planning activities in multiple ways, enabling a new operating model and at the same time streamlining activities and costs. These include: 1) generating first drafts of documentation, scenario descriptions, and potential regulatory impact analyses; 2) streamlining decision making by using real-time comparisons and analysis of data against benchmarks and detecting anomalies at granular level in the business; 3) reducing manual errors by automating data clean-up for processes such as budgeting or advanced scenario simulations, with a potential for efficiency gains of up to 50%; 4) enabling a new reporting model that moves from individual what-if requests to a complete analysis leveraging the full set of company data; 5) shifting work from low value to high value activities. GenAI applications are already a reality, and many organizations are testing them with the goal of transforming the planning operating model. However, this new technology brings its own series of risk and concerns as well. Pressure to control the risks, while still reaping the considerable rewards is fuelling the integration of responsible AI, an approach to designing, developing, and deploying AI systems that is aligned with the company's purpose and values, while still delivering transformative business impact (Coppola et al., 2023).

For marketers, there are endless factors that can affect the success or failure of a marketing strategy beyond timing, economic variables, and the competitive landscape. Some of these factors include: talent, timing, technology, economy, competition, target audience, value proposition, marketing channels, analytics and measurements, budget and resource allocation, organizational alignment etc. Still, evaluating a technology or new medium for marketing can be a delicate balance between taking advantage of potential opportunities and mitigating risks associated with potential failure. Here are some steps that Karr Douglas (2023) suggests to be considered when evaluating adoption: 1) research and due diligence; 2) objective identification; 3) assessment of the competitive landscape; 4) pilot testing; 5) ROI calculation; 6) contingency plan development; 7) monitoring and adaption; 8) small start and scale up (Douglas, 2023).

It's important to have updated marketing strategies and techniques that put into perspective the risks that could occur nowadays. Here are some of these risks. 1. **Brand risk** – all businesses can lose the value of their brand. This may be a result of poor marketing strategy and activities or very active competition. 2. **Misidentification of target market** – it's easy to make mistake regarding target market by failing to perform sufficient market research, gathering information in the wrong way and from the wrong sources, and due to improper use of data. 3. **Changing trends** – nowadays marketing trends change on the daily basis. Marketing strategies, especially online, must be updated according to the latest trends and changes. 4. **Promotional risk** – the way products or services are promoted affects the success of marketing efforts. If techniques are miscalculated, the campaign may fail (Mc Ewen, 2020).

A risk management strategy is the proactive identification, evaluation, and timely response to potential risks projects may be affected. The aim of such a strategy is to help prevent any significant hindrance to its completion. Throughout all this process, regular reviews and updates about risk assessment are conducted to ensure that the strategy aligns with new information received (Sharma, 2023).

However, there are several tools and frameworks that can help to assess and mitigate marketing risks like SWOT and PESTEL analyses, 4P paradigm, scenario planning and risks matrix. By using these frameworks and tools, marketing professionals can better measure, manage, and avoid or minimize risks in their digital marketing strategies. Additionally, it's important to continually monitor and adjust strategies based on new insights, data, and changes in the market.

Within this particular research, the risk matrix and 4P paradigm will be reviewed in more detailed way.

A risk assessment matrix, also known as a **probability** and **severity** or **likelihood** and **impact** risk matrix, is a visual tool depicting potential risks affecting a business. The risk matrix is based on two intersecting factors: the likelihood that the risk event will occur and the potential impact the risk event will have. Essentially, it's a tool designed to help businesses visualize the probability versus the severity of potential risks. Depending on their likelihood and severity, risks are categorized as high, moderate, or low. Companies utilize these matrices as part of their risk management process to prioritize risks and develop appropriate mitigation strategies.

Risks come in many forms: strategic, operational, financial, and external. The risk assessment matrix works by presenting different risks as a chart, color-coded by severity: high risks in red, moderate risks in yellow, and low risks in green. Every risk matrix also has two axes: one measuring the likelihood of occurrence and one measuring the impact.

Despite the increasing magnitude and complexity of business risks, creating a marketing risk matrix should be an accessible process for all. Apart from specialized software or pre-made templates, a simple spreadsheet tool such as Google Sheets or Microsoft Excel suffices to construct the matrix. There are four fundamental steps involved in making a risk assessment matrix: **identify the risk landscape; determine the risk criteria; assess the risks; prioritize the risks.** It is suggested to use 3x3 or 5x5 size risk matrix or the size of matrix even can be adopted to the particular company needs.

Likelihood/Impact	Low impact	Moderate impact	High impact
Unlikely	Low risk		
Likely		Moderate risk	
Highly likely			High risk

Source: AuditBoard, Inc. (2023)

Fig. 1. 3x3 Risk Matrix

If the business is using a 3×3 risk matrix, the following three categories of likelihood suffice.

1. Unlikely. Risks in this category have a relatively low chance of occurring. **2. Likely.** Risks in this category are predicted to occur and require a mitigation strategy. **3. Highly likely.** Risks in this category are almost guaranteed to occur and require a mitigation strategy.

Effective risk management has always been crucial for success in any business, but never more than within today's markets (Vicente, 2024).

Now, looking at one of the most known marketing tools: the 4P paradigm – product, price, promotions, and place, yet it does not distinguish between marketing tools that provide information, stimulate curiosity, persuade, and build image and those that are used to reduce perceived risk (Van Waterschoot & Van den Bulte, 1992).

Marketing risks are classified based on their underlying causes, originating from both external and internal factors within the marketing environment. External risks encompass market dynamics, supplier relations, competitive pressures, challenges with distribution channels, shifts in consumer behaviour, and uncertainties surrounding target audience engagement. While these risks are inherent to the external environment, marketing professionals possess the capability to influence and mitigate their impact. Internal risks, on the other hand, stem from deficiencies in organizing and controlling marketing activities, the potential for unreliable data obtained during marketing research, the risk of adopting and executing

Ν

incorrect marketing strategies, and the possibility of developing and implementing a marketing mix that fails to align with market conditions. These internal risks fall under the purview of organizational control and require proactive management to minimize adverse impacts on marketing initiatives (Fig. 2).

External marketing risks	 Market Supply Intermediary Competitive Contact audiences Consumer 	
Internal marketing risks	 Errors in the organization and control of marketing activities Unreliable information Wrong goals and strategies Development and implementation of the marketing complex 	
		/

Fig. 2. External and internal marketing risks (Vitlinsky, 2013)

Depending on the cause of occurrence, marketing risks are classified according to the 4P marketing tools: price risks – risks related to price policy; product risks – risks related to product policy; distribution risks – risks related to marketing distribution policy; and promotion risks – risks related to communication policy (Fig. 3).

Price risks	Product (commodity) risks
Place (distribution) risks	Promotion risks

Source: Bortnik (2022)

Fig. 3. Classification of marketing risks according to the main "4P" marketing tools

In the case when brand building becomes an important means of fighting for a consumer, reputational risk becomes especially relevant, where, in turn, various marketing tools are the most effective means of reducing this risk (Bortnik, 2022).

Effective risk management empower marketing team members to anticipate and respond to potential barriers, thereby reducing the likelihood of disruptions to their operations and tasks. It provides a structured approach to highlight uncertainties, ultimately supporting strategic decision-making and resource allocation. Key elements of risk management that marketing teams should consider and use within the all risk management process: (1) **risk identification**: identifying and understanding potential risks specific to marketing campaigns, market dynamics, and industry trends; (2) **risk assessment**: evaluating the probability and potential impact of identified risks on marketing initiatives; (3) **risk mitigation**: developing strategies and action plans to minimize the likelihood and impact of potential risks (LET, 2024).

Following the planning phase, the subsequent step is risk identification. This entails utilizing tools such as checklists to uncover potential risks, categorizing them, and assessing their likelihood of occurrence. One recommended approach, as advocated by Urbanski et al. (2019), involves employing a framework akin to the work breakdown structure (WBS), such as the risk breakdown structure (RBS). Once risks are identified, the project team progresses to the risk evaluation stage. Here, each risk is assessed based on its probability of occurrence and the potential losses it could entail. Subsequently, a risk mitigation plan is developed to minimize the impact of unforeseen events. This plan may encompass strategies such as risk avoidance, sharing, reduction, or transfer.

Regular monitoring and control of risks are paramount to assess the effectiveness of the risk management process and identify any emerging threats. Continuous evaluation ensures that mitigation plans remain relevant and effective, while also allowing for the capture of any overlooked information that could impact the program's success (Urbanski et al., 2019).

Effective risk management hinges on establishing a robust internal control framework. Therefore, there are several different tools, software, formats that can help monitor and control risk management processes. One of them is risk control matrix (RCM) format that underscores the importance of a proactive and risk-centric internal control environment, which may encompass automated or manual controls tailored to specific circumstances. This document outlines various control objectives and corresponding measures to safeguard against potential risks, facilitating systematic assessment and the formulation of action plans.

Conclusions

Today's world and businesses are on a high-speed train, where the word sustainability is threatened from all sides. Markets are crowded, financial situation in the world is fluctuating, competition is tough, products and services are cannibalizing each other and the only way for them to survive is to play with the price, quality, service, delivery, place etc. This all brings new risks for businesses and marketing function may change together with all these new changes.

The literature review led the authors to the following conclusions.

1) There are many factors that may affect marketing risks: timing, technology, economy, competition, target audience, value proposition, marketing channels, analytics and measurements, budget and resource allocation etc. Thus, it's essential for all strategically important projects, campaigns to have this risk management system that may help mitigate or even avoid all potential risks.

2) Marketing risks span into marketing complex elements, including products, transactions, operations, pricing, and regulatory compliance. Effective risk management involves deploying a range of strategies and tools tailored to the specific market dynamics and regulatory landscape.

3) Risk exposure within a marketing plan is dynamic, with some risks unfolding sequentially while others have interrelated effects. While certain risks are foreseeable and manageable, other may pose unforeseen challenges. However, informed decision-making and proactive planning are essential for navigating all types of risks and ensuring the success of marketing strategies.

4) By integrating risk management processes, marketing teams can make information and calculationbased decisions. Through the identification and assessment of potential risks, teams get a comprehensive understanding of the challenges they may conflict with, which enables them to devise robust strategies and contingency plans.

5) The distinctive specifics of marketing risks necessitate the implementation of appropriate risk management concepts and measurement systems.

6) The marketing risk management system encompasses defining potential marketing risks and categorizing them, conducting qualitative and quantitative risk analysis and research, implementing

measures to minimize, eliminate, or transfer marketing risks, and evaluating the outcomes of these measures. Thus, despite extensive research into marketing risks, the process of identifying, analysing, evaluating, and mitigating them through effective management remains pertinent and necessitates ongoing review and the exploration of new promising approaches in modern market conditions.

7) GenAI, which is our present and nearest future, can transform risk determination and management planning processes, automate many things and exclude human resource. But at the same time, it creates many new risks and concerns.

8) The risk management planning process is crucial for anticipating potential challenges that may hinder the effectiveness of a program. It involves analysing the likelihood of these challenges occurring and taking appropriate actions to prevent or minimize their impact. Identifying risks during the planning phase allows for swift decision-making and the implementation of risk mitigation strategies. Monitoring and evaluating the process helps gauge its effectiveness and provides insights for improvement.

9) Successful management of marketing risks involves different action complex including co-operation with other departments, processes reviews, data and market analysis etc. Each of these parts has a crucial role in identifying, evaluating, and mitigating potential risks associated with marketing efforts. Understanding the interdependencies among these elements can lead to a more effective approach to managing marketing risk.

10) The integration of risk management and sustainability initiatives is a synergistic approach. Enterprise risk management typically focuses on identifying and addressing risks impacting a company over the next one to five years. The same tools and methodologies can also be effectively leveraged to assess longer-term sustainability goals and bolster environmental, social, and governance (ESG) practices.

11) Integration of agile risk management practices into the organisational processes and procedures is one of possible ways that will help companies to survive in the current business environment. It is practically impossible for entities to be able to cope with such an environment if the ultimate responsibility of managing risks is assigned to the risk management office. Therefore, there is a significant need for entities to make sure that risk management is embedded within the operations, policies, and procedures of the organisation. It is mandatory that organisations build a mature risk management culture.

12) One of the most significant parts of the risk management process is being prepared for action in the case the risk does occur. It's important to co-operate with clients and partners.

13) Developing a comprehensive marketing risk assessment plan may be intricate but is indispensable for achieving consistent results. Over time, diligent efforts yield effective marketing strategies with tangible outcomes.

14) It's important also to communicate potential or already faced risks to the relevant stakeholders, team members and management. They should be informed of the nature, level, and status of risks and risk responses. Their feedback, input, and support for risk management decisions and actions is important as well.

15) It's important to monitor and follow the company's risk profile as it evolves and make certain that responses are still appropriate. The follow-up and update of the risk management plan is a part of the risk management process.

16) Different tools such as risk audits, reviews, or indicators can be used to monitor risks and ensure that they are within acceptable levels and tolerances.

17) In today's world we have such a big advantage to track and measure the results of marketing efforts. Instead of relying on intuition or qualitative information, it is more useful to utilize the data available and make informed decisions that will perform well.

18) It's easier to overview results and processes if the company have a flexible and scalable CRM, which is the key to tracking results effectively. It provides clear performance data and informs about the best practices for future efforts, allowing them to be optimized reactively.

19) Proactive risk management is essential for navigating the complexities of the market landscape, ensuring sustained success in marketing endeavours.

20) In the final process of risk management, it is important to extract valuable insights from the risks encountered by evaluating and documenting the outcomes and lessons learned from the risk management process. This entails analysing how the risks and the corresponding responses have influenced marketing objectives and metrics. It's essential to pinpoint the best practices, successes, and shortcomings of the risk management efforts, determining areas for improvement or replication in future endeavours. Utilizing tools like post-mortems, surveys, or feedback sessions facilitates the learning process, enhancing overall risk management skills and capabilities for future endeavours.

Bibliography

- 1. Bauer, R.A. (1960). "Consumer behaviour as risk taking", in Hancock, R.S. (Ed.), Dynamic Marketing for a Changing World, p. 389-398. Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the American Marketing Association, American Marketing Association, Chicago, IL.
- Bettman, J.R., Luce, M.F. and Payne, J.W. (1998). Constructive consumer choice processes, p. 187-217., Journal of Consumer Research, Vol. 25 No. 3.
- 3. Bortnik, S. (2022). International Scientific Journal Interscience. *Series: Economic sciences.* Retrieved from: https://www.inter-nauka.com/issues/economic2022/7/
- Coppola, M., Hefter, K., Leoni, M., Pfuhler, T. (2023). The new world of risk- and what to do about it. Risk management and compliance article. Retrieved from: https://www.bcg.com/publications/2023/the-new-world-ofthe-risk-function-and-what-to-do-about-it.
- 5. Corsaro, D.; Snehota, I. (2010). Searching for relationship value in business markets: are we missing something?, p. 986–995., Industrial Marketing Management 39.
- Cox, D.T. (1967). Risk taking and information handling in consumer behaviour. Harvard University, Graduate School of Business Administration, Boston.
- 7. Douglas, K. (2023). How marketers are managing risk. Retrieved from: https://martech.zone/managing-risk/
- 8. Dowling, G.R. and Staelin, R. (1994). "A model of perceived risk and intended risk-handling activity", p. 119-134. Journal of Consumer Research: *An Interdisciplinary Quarterly*, Vol. 21 No. 1,).
- Jacoby, J. and Kaplan, L.B. (1972). "The components of perceived risk", in Venkateran, M. (Ed.), SV Proceedings of the Third Annual Conference of the Association for Consumer Research, p. 382-393., Advances in Consumer Research, Chicago, IL.
- 10. Kapferer, J. N., & Laurent, G. (1992). *La sensibilité aux marques: marchés sans marques, marchés à marques* (p. NC). Éditions d'organisation.
- 11. Kapferer, J. N. (1991). Les marques, capital de l'entreprise (p. NC). Paris: Editions d'Organisation.
- 12. Zaichkowsky, J. L. (1994). The personal involvement inventory: Reduction, revision, and application to advertising. *Journal of advertising*, *23*(4), 59-70.
- 13. Lark Editorial Team, Risk management for marketing teams (2024). Retrieved from: https://www.larksuite.com/en_us/topics/project-management-methodologies-for-functional-teams/riskmanagement-for-marketing-teams
- 14. MacDonald, M., Smith, B., Ward, K., (2007). A proper marketing check: refocusing of strategy to the value of the company, IDT Group.
- 15. Mc Ewen, M. (2020). Why you should use risk management in your marketing. Retrieved from: https://www.modgirlmarketing.com/risk-management-in-marketing/
- 16. Morgan, N. A., Slotegraaf, R. J., & Vorhies, D. W. (2009). Linking marketing capabilities with profit growth. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 26(4), 284-293.
- 17. Pardo, E. L. (2023). The art of successful defence: managing marketing risks. Retrieved from: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/art-successful-defense-managing-marketing-risks-elena-lara/?trk=article-ssrfrontend-pulse_more-articles_related-content-card
- 18. Pavlenko, A., Reshetnikova, I. et al. (2008). Marketing. Kiev, KNEU.

- 19. Sharma, A., Iyer, G. R., & Raajpoot, N. A. (2009). A framework for offshoring marketing processes in business-tobusiness marketing relationships. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *38*(4), 419-425.
- 20. Sharma, I. (2024). Why a risks management strategy matters and how you can master it (2024). Retrieved from: https://emeritus.org/blog/project-management-risk-management-strategy/
- 21. Urbański, M., Haque, A. N., & Oino, I. (2019). The moderating role of risk management in project planning and project success: Evidence from construction businesses of Pakistan and the UK, p.23–35. *Engineering Management in Production and Services*, *11*(1).
- 22. Van Waterschoot, W., & Van den Bulte, C. (1992). The 4P classification of the marketing mix revisited. *Journal of marketing*, *56*(4), 83-93
- 23. Vicente, V. (2024). Risk assessment matrix: overview and guide. Retrieved from: https://www.auditboard.com/blog/what-is-a-risk-assessment-matrix/
- 24. Vitlinskyy, V. V., & Skitsko, V. I. (2013). CONCEPTUAL GROUNDS OF MODELING AND MANAGING LOGISTICS RISK OF AN ENTERPRISE. *Problems of economy*, (4).
- 25. Faster Capital, Managing risks in a changing market landscape. (2024). Retrieved from: https://fastercapital.com/content/Managing-Risks-in-a-Changing-Market-Landscape.html

CHALLENGES OF COMPLETING THE LAND REFORM: THE CASE OF KULDIGA MUNICIPALITY

Anda Jankava¹, Dr. oec.; Klavs Svilpe², Mg.sc.ing.

¹Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies; ²Government of Kuldiga municipality

Abstract. After the restoration of Latvia's independence in 1990, the goal of the land reform was to rearrange the legal, social and economic relations of land ownership and land use. In 1997 and 1998, laws on the completion of land reform were adopted in Latvia, which determined the procedure and conditions for the completion of this process. An essential condition for the completion of land reform is land surveying, issuance of land ownership documents to owners and registration of land properties in the cadastre. Estonian land researchers also obtained similar results during the analysis of the land reform in Estonia register, because only ownership rights registered in the land register give the opportunity to fully handle real estate. The demand for land is growing in various sectors of the national economy, and the full use of land plays a vital role in the development of the country. A quarter of a century has passed since the adoption of the previously mentioned laws, but not all land in Latvia has been registered as a property yet. The audit of the State Audit Office found that in 2022, more than 1 million hectares of land were not recorded in the land register in Latvia. The aim of the research is to investigate the challenges that have hindered the completion of the land reform, and Kuldiga municipality has been selected as the research object, in the territory of which there are almost 9 thousand hectares of land not registered in the land register. In order to achieve the aim, the composition and ownership of land units not registered in the land register were evaluated, as well as the reasons for the completion of the land reform were analysed. The main reasons were found to be: insufficient funding for land cadastral surveying; legal obstacles caused by the long process of reform, due to the fact that many land claimants have died and their inheritors cannot be found; as well as the unfavourable conditions for renting and buying out lands set by the legislation.

Key words: land reform, land unit, ownership, land register, cadastral surveying.

JEL code: Q15

Introduction

In 1990, after the restoration of the independence of the Republic of Latvia, the aim of the land reform was to reorganize the legal, social and economic relations of land ownership and land use (LR Saeima, 1990, 1991). This aim was achieved by restoring the property rights of land owners whose land was nationalized during the Soviet era, or to their inheritors, as well as by giving every Latvian resident the opportunity to own land for a fee. The Law "On Completion of Land Reform in Rural Areas" (1997) and the Law "On Completion of Land Reform in Cities" (1998) determined the procedures and conditions for completing land reform. An essential condition on the way to the boundaries in nature and issuing the land ownership or land use document to the land owner or land user (LR Saeima, 1991, 1998). An important condition for strengthening land ownership rights is the registration of land ownership in the land register. Only the property rights registered in the land register give the opportunity to fully handle real estate and get all the possible benefits from it (Grutups, Krastins, 2002). The demand for land from various sectors of the national economy continues to grow, and the full use of land is essential for the development of Latvia as a whole. In July 2023 alone, 2928 transactions with real estate were registered for the total amount of 121.59 million EUR (Lursoft, 2023). This indicates that it is very important to complete the land reform as soon as possible by first carrying out the cadastral survey of the land and recording it in the land register. In 1993, when the Land Registry Law of 1937 was renewed, the legal registration of land properties was started in Latvia. However, more than 30 years have passed and it is still not finished. The audit of the State Audit Office has found that in 2022, more than 1 million hectares of land were not recorded in the land register in the entire territory of Latvia (Valsts kontrolle, 2022).

¹ E-mail: anda.jankava@lbtu.lv

The **aim** of the study is to investigate challenges that have hindered the completion of the land reform in Kuldiga municipality.

Kuldiga municipality, where the in the land register unregistered area is almost 9 thousand hectares, was chosen as the research object. The municipality consists of 20 territorial units: the cities of Kuldiga and Skrunda and 18 rural territories. Kuldiga municipality is located in the central part of Western Latvia, its area is 2505 km², the number of inhabitants according to the data of the Central Statistical Bureau at the beginning of 2023 was 27363, of which 43.5% live in cities and 56.5% in rural areas. The population density is relatively low – 11 people per 1 km². The largest territory of the region is occupied by forests (56% of the total area of the region) and agricultural land (32%). The most important sectors of the national economy are forestry, woodworking, agriculture, production and processing of agricultural products. There are many specially protected areas and natural monuments in the territory of Kuldiga municipality, which contribute to the development of the tourism industry in the municipality.

In accordance with the law "On the completion of land reform in rural areas" and the law "On the completion of land reform in cities", the Cabinet of Ministers issued orders on the completion of land reform in each municipality rural territory and municipality town. At the time of the issuance of the order, until the administrative reform that took place in 2020, the current territory of Kuldiga municipality consisted of three separate municipal territories - Kuldiga, Skrunda and Alsunga municipalities, therefore, in the period from September 2015 to September 2016, five orders of the Cabinet of Ministers were issued on the completion of land reform both in cities and in the countryside in the territory of the current Kuldiga municipality. The annex to each order also contained information on the proportion of land units not recorded in the land register and its distribution by status. By evaluating these documents, conclusions can be drawn about the obstacles that could have hindered the successful completion of land reform.

In order to achieve the aim of the study, the following tasks have been set:

1) to review the role of completing the land reform in the national economy and its conditions;

2) to evaluate the composition and dynamics of land units not registered in the land register of Kuldiga municipality;

3) to evaluate the progress of the land cadastral survey and the conditions hindering it;

4) to analyze the use of lands not registered in the land register organised by the municipality of Kuldiga.

The research also uses the data of the State Land Service and the government of Kuldiga municipality on the progress of land cadastral surveying and real estate registration in the land register. The research uses statistical data analysis method, mapping/cartographic method related to the used data, data visualization with ESRI geospatial tools.

Research results and discussion

Land is an essential resource not only for the development of various sectors of the national economy, but also one of the cornerstones for the existence of the country. The land reform started in 1990 has left a significant impact on today's land policy in Latvia. As a result of the reform, when the land from the possession of a public person comes into private ownership, the development of various sectors of the national economy is significantly promoted (Putterman, 2009; Khasaev, et al., 2018). The reform has promoted the rational use of land as a resource, creating legal, social and economic relations of property. By creating a clearly understandable form of real estate and the institutions that maintain it, the former Soviet republics attracted the interest of investors who, after the initiation of land reform, again saw the

development potential for large investments in real estate (Swinnen et al., 2016). Continuous evaluation and comparison of these processes takes place between the Baltic States, analyzing its course and results (Parsova et al., 2020). The arrangement of the real estate institute for investment attraction is common not only in the former Soviet republics, but also in other parts of the world (Coulibaly et al., 2018). According to the Civil Law, obtaining all the benefits and at the same time the power over the property can be obtained only through ownership. Ownership is the most complete property right, which gives a person full rights of action and at the same time also responsibility for property (Grutups, Kalnins, 2002).

The land reform has been ongoing for several years, and in the course of its implementation, considerable and extensive work has been done on changes in land ownership relations. This has been recognized by several researchers who have analysed the course of land reform and its results in former Soviet republics (Csaki, Lerman, 1997; Khasaev et al., 2021). Comparing the progress of land reform in Latvia with the nearest neighbouring countries - Lithuania and Estonia, it can be concluded that in all these countries it has been delayed and has not been implemented according to the originally set deadlines (Parsova et al., 2020). The similar course of land reform in all three Baltic states can be explained by the identical political and socio-economic situation after the restoration of independence (Gaudesius, 2021). In Latvia, as well as in Lithuania and Estonia, the implementers of the land reform initially did not realize the complexity of the reform and the amount of resources needed for its implementation. According to Estonian researchers Jurgenson and Maasikamae, (2009), the completion of the land reform faces challenges and the remaining part of the land reform seems difficult. Therefore, research is needed to better understand the current situation and analyse obstacles that influence reform completion.

1. Land units not registered in the land register and their dynamics in Kuldiga municipality

In order to fully complete the land reform, it is necessary to register all land units in the land register. Data about land units of Kuldiga municipality and Cadastre Information System indicates that 4115 land units with an area of 8926.3 ha were not registered in the land register in the entire territory of Kuldiga municipality (26 367 land units in total). Although it is only 3.6% of the entire territory of the municipality, it is still a significant land resource, the potential of which is not fully used.



Source: compiled by the authors based on the data of the State Land Service

Fig. 1. Distribution of areas of land units not registered in the land register by status in Kuldiga municipality, 2023

As it can be seen in Figure 1, the largest part of the area of unregistered land units in the land register of Kuldiga municipality is the land owned by the municipality - 4694.9 ha or 52.6% and the land used by state administration institutions - 2800.4 ha (31.4%). After the evaluation and updating of the status, the land of the reserve land fund of 102.6 ha and the land for the completion of the land reform in the area of 9.2 ha will be used by the municipal and state administrative institutions. It can be concluded from this that municipalities and state institutions are responsible for the majority of land units not registered in the land register.

In order to evaluate what has hindered the completion of the land reform, it is necessary to examine the historical trajectory of reform, how the completion of the land reform proceeded in the separate territorial units of Kuldiga municipality. In addition, the fact that an administrative reform took place in Latvia in 2020 should also be considered, as a result of which Kuldiga municipality increased on the basis of the territories of neighbouring municipalities.

Table 1

Indicators	Kuldiga town	Skrunda town	Rural areas until 2021*		
			Kuldiga municipality	Skrunda municipality	Alsunga municipality
Date of adoption of the order of the Cabinet of Ministers	15.03.2016	09.09.2015	27.09.2016	28.01.2016	28.01.2016
Total area of the territory, ha	1324.12	597.31	174 151.92	54 747.57	19 119.83
Total area of land not registered in the land register, %	29.32	24.41	5.32	24.39	34.25
including, %:					
land for which the opinions of the land commissions on the restoration of property rights have been accepted	0.29	0.55	0.45	0.55	0.62
land in the legal possession of natural and legal persons	0.32	0.93	0.93	0.93	1.63
land belonging to the state	0.12	20.85	1.35	20.84	27.43
public waters	5.15	0.54	0.52	0.53	0.34
reserve land fund land	0.82	0.12	0.25	0.13	0.62
the land belonging to the municipality government	22.62	1.41	1.82	1.41	3.61
the land included in the equivalent land compensation fund	-	0.01	-	-	-

Information about land areas not registered in the land register in Kuldiga municipality at the time of adoption of the Cabinet of Ministers order on the completion of land reform

* Note: on June 10, 2020, the Law on Administrative Territories and Settlements was adopted, according to which administrative territories will move into new borders on July 1, 2021 Source: compiled by the authors based on the data of the State Land Service and the government of Kuldiga municipality

The share of the area of land not registered in the land register differs significantly between the territorial units of the municipality (Table 1). The smallest area of land not registered in the land register was in the former rural territory of Kuldiga municipality (5.32% of the total area of the municipality), but the highest proportion was in the rural territory of the former Alsunga municipality (43.25%) and in the town of Kuldiga (29.32%). Evaluating the data, it can be concluded that in the rural territory of Alsunga municipality, in the town of Skrunda and in the rural territory of Skrunda municipality, the largest share of land units not

registered in the land register is state-owned land, respectively 27.43%, 20.85% and 20.84% (Table 1). On the other hand, in the town of Kuldiga, the largest share of the area (22.62%) of the land units not registered in the land register is the land belonging to the municipality. But in the former rural territory of Kuldiga municipality, the proportion of land not recorded in the land register in the distribution by status is relatively balanced, however, the biggest advantage is the land belonging to the municipality and the state (respectively 1.82% and 1.35%).

In order to assess the dynamics of the implementation of land reform in the period from the moment of the issuance of the Cabinet of Ministers' orders on the completion of land reform in 2015 and 2016 with the current data of the Cadastre Information System (2023), changes in the areas of land units not registered in the land register were compared in the former administrative territories, which now forms Kuldiga municipality (Fig. 2).

As can be seen in the figure 2, the proportion of unregistered land units in the land register has decreased in all administrative territories during this period. The most significant changes can be seen in the former territory of Alsunga municipality, where in 2016, 1/3 of the municipality territory was not registered in the land register, but in 2023, only 5.96% of land units were no longer registered in the land register. Significant changes have also occurred in the rural territory of the former Skrunda municipality, where the proportion of land units not registered in the land register has decreased from 24.39% in 2016 to 3.25% in 2023. Also, a significant reduction of the unregistered area in the land register can be seen in the town of Kuldiga and the town of Skrunda. On the other hand, in the former rural territory of Kuldiga municipality, there is the smallest decrease (by only 2.06%) of the area of land units not registered in the land register over these 8 years, which can be explained by the fact that already in 2016, this indicator was small - 5.32%. However, it was not possible to discover special relationships in the dynamics of this process. It must be concluded that there is a certain part of the land units whose registration of property rights in the land register has objective or subjective obstacles that should be eliminated.



Source: compiled by the authors based on the data of the State Land Service

Fig. 2. Changes in the proportion of the area of land units not registered in the land register

Figure 3 shows that in 2023 the largest proportion of unregistered lands in the land register is in Alsunga rural territory (12%) and Turlava rural territory (9%), while the smallest proportion of these areas is in Ivande and Snepele rural territories and in Skrunda town (in each 2 %).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 169-179 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.017



Source: compiled by the authors based on the data of the State Land Service Fig. 3. The share of unregistered land areas in the land register in Kuldiga municipality, 2023, %

Figure 4, on the other hand, shows the distribution of the number of land units not registered in the land register by territorial units in Kuldiga municipality. Although the proportion of unregistered land units in the land register was only 4%, the number of such land units is the highest in the town of Kuldiga (438). This can be explained by the way these land units are used - they are mostly building plots, the sizes of which are relatively small. A large number of unregistered land units are in Alsunga rural territory (386), Rudbarzi rural territory (285) and Rumbas rural territory (273).



Fig. 4. The number of land units not registered in the land register

in Kuldiga municipality, 2023

Both the number of unregistered land units in the land register and the proportion of their area to the area of the respective rural territorial unit are of significant importance - the larger the area of the rural territory, the more unregistered lands there are in the land register. However, it must be recognized that these differences between territorial units are difficult to explain due to the number of unregistered land units in the land register. Estonian researchers also obtained similar results when analyzing the results of the land reform in Estonia (Jurgenson, Maasikamae, 2009). The land users themselves, their interest and capabilities also play a big role in the quick completion of the land reform.

2. Land cadastral surveying and related obstacles

Land units must be cadastral measured before registration in the land register. Figure 5 compares the number of land units surveyed by the State Land Service and government of Kuldiga municipality until 2023. The data of the State Land Service on the cadastral survey of land in 2022 and 2023 were not yet available at the time of the research, but it can be concluded that the government of Kuldiga municipality was not far behind the State Land Service in terms of the number of land units surveyed in 2020 and 2021. When starting the land reform, the state undertook to correct the injustice of land nationalization and to carry out the first land cadastral survey at the expense of the state budget for a certain group of persons: former land owners and their inheritors, politically repressed and people with group 1 disabilities (Ministru kabinets, 2012). According to the data of the State Land Service, there are 3884 land units in the entire territory of Latvia, for which the state has undertaken to carry out the first land cadastral survey with budget funds. The state has entrusted this task to the State Land Service. Funding for land cadastral survey with budget funds. The state has entrusted this task to the State Land Service. Funding for land cadastral survey has surveyed 408 land units in the period from 2017 to 2021 (Fig. 5).

Considering the amount of land units in use by Kuldiga municipality, as well as the financial and administrative capacity of the municipality, surveying all the land units owned by the municipality will take several decades.



Source: compiled by the authors based on the data of the State Land Service and the government of Kuldiga municipality

Fig. 5. The number of surveyed land units in the period from 2017 to 2023

Cadastral surveying is often hindered by various legal obstacles. In addition, most often it is the death of a person, the absence or unreachability of inheritors. When implementing the land cadastral survey, it

is very important that the person is reachable and able to promptly participate in the land cadastral survey process, thus facilitating the restoration of ownership rights.

According to the data of the State Land Service (2023), 26 land units are included in the list in Kuldiga municipality, which are waiting for land cadastral surveying at the expense of the state budget. There are the most of them in the rural territories of Alsunga and Renda, where six land units are waiting for land cadastral survey in each rural territory for the state budget funds. There are 4 in Kuldiga town, 3 in Skrunda rural territory, two each in Nikrace and Turlava rural territories, and one land unit each in Gudenieku, Kabile and Rumba rural territories. Practically all of these land units have legal obstacles, and they cannot apply for land cadastral surveying at the expense of the state budget.

There are 137 land units with a total area of 670.5 ha in Kuldiga municipality, which in the Cadastre information system have the status "Land for which opinions of the land commission on restoration of ownership rights have been accepted" (State Land Service, 2023). For all these land units, the land commission has adopted a decision on the restoration of property rights, which entitles a person to carry out a cadastral survey of the land at his own expense or at the expense of the state budget and register the property rights in the land register. There are no such territorial units in Kuldiga municipality where there are no land units with this status not registered in the land register, but in terms of area, the majority of such land units are in Skrunda (123.9 ha), Ranki (84.6 ha) and Renda (76.2 ha) rural territories. However, registration in the land register does not go so smoothly, it is often due to the absence of potential owners or other personal motives. For example, in the town of Kuldiga, as of 2023, there are 7 such land units with a total area of 2 ha on the list. The purpose of real estate use for these land units is mainly the construction of individual residential houses, one-story and two-story apartment buildings, but for five of them the survey cannot be carried out because the potential owner is dead.

3. Use of land units not registered in the land register

The possibilities of the municipality to deal with its property are relatively wide, and it has the right to register real estates in the name of the municipality in the land register, conclude transactions, acquire and expropriate or lease movable property and real estate. The Municipal Law (2022) stipulates that the municipality acts within the boundaries of its administrative territory and its task is to manage the assets in its use and ownership as efficiently as possible.

Normative acts on the lease of personal land regulate the procedure for leasing land units belonging to the municipality, but not registered in the land register. When leasing undeveloped land to the government of Kuldiga municipality, the rent or the starting price of the auction is determined according to the price list established by a certified appraiser (Cabinet of Ministers, 2018) and the rent must be reviewed at least once every six years. Exceptions are land lease agreements concluded in accordance with Cabinet of Ministers regulations of August 30, 2005 no. 644 "Rules on the procedure for concluding a lease agreement for unpurchased rural land and calculating the rent", where the land rent is set at 0.5% of the land plot's cadastral value and the contracts are not terminated. On the other hand, the annual rent of a built-up plot of land is 1.5% of the land plot's cadastral value, but not less than EUR 28.

From the point of view of efficient and economically justified use of resources, it seems that it is not correct to lease land to former users, building owners and for the needs of personal auxiliary farms, because the rent is significantly lower and the terms of the lease agreement are not always favourable for the municipality. Leasing these lands consumes administrative resources, however, an important factor is that these territories provide the basic goals of land reform - they provide an opportunity to farm, maintain your own building property or set up a vegetable garden to meet basic needs.

Within the framework of the research, one case of land expropriation (purchase from the municipality) of a former land user is examined, which examines the lease relationship until the initiation of expropriation, the process of expropriation and its termination. With a person in accordance with the Cabinet of Ministers regulations of August 30, 2005 no. 644 "Rules on the procedure for concluding a lease agreement for unpurchased land in rural areas and the procedure for calculating the rent" a standard land lease agreement concluded until March 23, 2026 for the lease of a land unit with an area of 1.94 ha. The cadastral value of the land unit is 1652.- EUR, the rent is set at 0.5% of the cadastral value and is 8.26 EUR/year. In 2022, a person initiated the expropriation of a unit of land in accordance with the procedure established by the Law on the Expropriation of Property of a Public Person. Considering that the lessee has been in good faith and has fulfilled his obligations to the municipality, the government of Kuldiga Municipality has decided to prepare the land unit for expropriation. The municipality has carried out an assessment of the land unit and the expropriation notice has been sent to the former land user regarding the conditional price of the real estate to be expropriated - EUR 7200.-. The deadline for payment was set - within one month after receiving the aforementioned notification, therefore payment has not been made within the deadline. Considering that the concluded standard land lease agreement is valid until 2026 and the Law on Expropriation of Property of a Public Person does not allow to expropriate or lease land to other persons during the term of the lease agreement, then the valid lease agreement with the former land user continues. Comparing the rent and the conditional price set in the buyout offer, it can be concluded that continuing to lease the land to the former user is more profitable.

This example clearly describes the disorder in the lease relationship, which is not beneficial for both parties - the municipality and the land user who would like to buy the leased land. Therefore, the conditions of lease and land redemption terms should be changed.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Full use of land is essential for the development of the whole Latvia. This land resource cannot be fully used in the development of the national economy until the land has been surveyed for the first time and the property rights to the land have not been confirmed in the land register. Although more than 30 years have passed, land reform is still not completed. In 2022, more than 1 million hectares of land were not recorded in the land register in the entire territory of Latvia, suggesting that that there are obstacles hindering its completion.

2) In Kuldiga municipality, most of the unregistered land in the land register consists of land owned by the municipality and land used by state administrative institutions. Considering the amount of unregistered land in the land register, as well as the financial and administrative capabilities of the municipality, the registration of all land units in the land register will take several more decades.

3) In the last 7-8 years, a sharper reduction of unregistered lands in the land register can be observed precisely in those municipal territories where the proportion of these lands was higher. However, it was not possible to discover a significant reason for the differences in the lands not recorded in the land register in different areas of Kuldiga municipality - both in urban and rural area. It can be explained by the fact that the most problematic cases remained at the end of the reform. Likewise, land users themselves, their interest and opportunities to consolidate land ownership rights in the land register play an important role in the faster completion of land reform.

4) The most important reasons for the delay in the completion of the land reform are: insufficient financial resources (both for municipalities and potential land owners); various legal obstacles - the situation of potential land owners has changed due to the length of the reform, most often it is the

absence or unreachability of the person or his inheritor and the death of the person. As a significant obstacle in the strengthening of property rights is the unfavourable and inconsistent legislation in land lease and purchase relations, which does not create interest for land users to solve this situation.

5) The laws and regulations governing the leasing of land to former land users should be revised and a reasonable period should be established during which the lessee must buy the land or terminate the lease agreement.

Bibliography

- 1. Coulibaly, S.S., Gakpa, L.L., Soumare, I. (2018). The role of property rights in the relationship between capital flows and economic growth in SSA: Do Natural Resources Endowment and Country Income Level Matter? African Development Review., Vol. 30(1), pp. 112-130. Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/1467-8268.12316
- Csaki, C., Lerman, Z. (1997). Land reform and farm restructuring in East Central Europe and CIS in the 1990s: Expectations and achievements after the first five years. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*. Vol. 24(3/4), pp. 428-452. Retrieved from: DOI:10.1093/erae/24.3-4.428
- 3. Gaudesius, R. (2021). Spatial planning in the Baltic States, affected by depopulation. Geodesy & Cartography, Vol. 70(1), pp. 1-16. Retrieved from: DOI:10.24425/gac.2020.135149
- Grūtups, A., Kalniņš, E. (2002). Civillikuma komentāri. Trešā daļa. Lietu tiesības. Īpašums. Otrs papildinātais izdevums (Civil law comments. The third part. Case law. Property. Second updated edition). Rīga: Tiesu namu aģentūra. 353 lpp. (in Latvian)
- Jurgenson, E., Maasikamae, S. (2009). Progress of land reform in Estonian rural municipalities results of preliminary study. In: Rural Development, 2009: The Fourth International Scientific Conference Proceedings, Vol. 4. Tartu, Estonian University of Life Sciences, pp. 121-127.
- Khasaev, G., Vlasov, A., Vasilieva, D., Parsova, V., (2018). Trends of development of agrolandscapes in Samara region as result of land reform. Engineering for Rural Development – International Scientific Conference, Jelgava, pp. 630-634. Retrieved from: DOI:10.22616/ERDev2018.17.N244
- Khasaev, G., Khlystun, V., Kurowska, K., Parsova, V., Vasilieva, D., Vlasov, A. (2021). Land reform: from state monopoly to property diversity. Volume 1. Samara. Samara Federal Research Center of Russian Academy of Sciences. 264 p.
- LR Augstākā Padome. (1993). Par 1937. gada 22. decembra Zemesgrāmatu likuma spēka atjaunošanu un spēkā stāšanās kārtību: LR likums. (Law: On Restoring the Force of the Land Registry Law of December 22, 1937 and the Procedure for its Entry into Force). Pieņemts 30.03.1993. Latvijas Vēstnesis, 08.04.1993., Nr. 11. Retrieved from: https://www.vestnesis.lv/ta/id/60052-par-1937-gada-22-decembra-zemesgramatu-likuma-speka-atjaunosanu-unspeka-stasanas-kartibu (in Latvian)
- LR Augstākā Padome. (1990). Par zemes reformu Latvijas Republikas lauku apvidos: LR likums (Law: On the Land Reform in the Rural Areas of the Republic of Latvia). Pieņemts 21.11.1990. Latvijas Republikas Augstākās Padomes un Valdības Ziņotājs, 46, 06.12.1990. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/72849-par-zemes-reformu-latvijasrepublikas-lauku-apvidos (in Latvian)
- 10. LR Augstākā Padome. (1991). Par zemes reformu Latvijas Republikas pilsētās: LR likums (Law: On Land Reform in the Cities of the Republic of Latvia). Pieņemts 20.11.1991. Latvijas Republikas Augstākās Padomes un Valdības Ziņotājs, 49/50, 19.12.1991. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/70467-par-zemes-reformu-latvijas-republikaspilsetas (in Latvian)
- 11.LR Saeima (1997). Par zemes reformas pabeigšanu lauku apvidos: LR likums (Law: On the Completion of Land Reform in Rural Areas). Pieņemts 30.10.1997. Latvijas Vēstnesis, 296/297, 13.11.1997. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/45729-par-zemes-reformas-pabeigsanu-lauku-apvidos (in Latvian)
- 12. LR Saeima. (1998). Par zemes reformas pabeigšanu pilsētās: LR likums (Law: On Completion of Land Reform in Cities). Pieņemts 29.10.1998. Latvijas Vēstnesis, 333, 05.11.1998. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/50579par-zemes-reformas-pabeigsanu-pilsetas (in Latvian)
- 13.LR Saeima. (2022). Pašvaldību likums: LR likums (Local Government Law). Pieņemts 20.10.2022. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/336956-pasvaldibu-likums (in Latvian)
- 14. Lursoft. (2023). TOP 25 lielākie nekustamā īpašuma darījumi jūlijā (TOP 25 largest real estate transactions in July). Retrieved from: https://www.delfi.lv/bizness/55159262/nekustamais-ipasums/55842804/top-25-lielakienekustamo-ipasumu-darijumi-julija#google_vignette (in Latvian)
- 15. Ministru kabinets. (2005). Ministru kabineta 2005. gada 30. augusta noteikumi Nr. 644 "Noteikumi par neizpirktās lauku apvidus zemes nomas līguma noslēgšanas un nomas maksas aprēķināšanas kārtību" (Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers of August 30, 2005 No. 644 "Rules on the procedure for concluding a lease agreement for unpurchased rural land and calculating the rent"). Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/115460 (in Latvian)
- 16. Ministru kabinets. (2012). Ministru kabineta 2012. gada 17. janvāra noteikumi Nr.60 "Kārtība, kādā veic zemes kadastrālo uzmērīšanu par valsts budžeta līdzekļiem" (Regulations No 60 of the Cabinet of Ministers of January 17, 2012 "Procedure in which land cadastral surveying is carried out at the expense of the state budget"). Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/243611 (in Latvian)
- 17. Ministru kabinets. (2018). Ministru kabineta 2018. gada 19. jūnija noteikumi Nr. 350 "Publiskas personas zemes nomas un apbūves tiesības noteikumi" (Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers of June 19, 2018 No. 350

"Regulations of land lease and building rights of a public entity"). Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/299999 (in Latvian)

- Parsova, V., Jankava, A., Maasikamae, S., Aleknavicius, A. (2020). assessment of results of reorganization of land relations in Baltic States. *Economic Science for Rural Development*: Proceedings of the 21st International scientific conference, Jelgava, LLU, No 53, pp. 215-222.
- 19. Putterman, L. (2009). The role of ownership and property rights in China`s economic transition. *The China Qauarterly*, 1995. Volume 144, pp. 1047-1064. Published online by Cambridge University Press, 2009. Retrieved from: DOI:10.1017/S0305741000004720
- 20. Swinnen, J., Van Herck, K., Vranken, L. (2016). The diversity of land markets and regulations in Europe, and (some of) its causes. The Journal of Development Studies. Vol. 52(2), pp. 186-205. Retrieved from: DOI:10.1080/00220388.2015.1060318
- 21. Valsts kontrole. (2022). Revīzijas ziņojums "Vai ir sagaidāms, ka zemes reformas īstenošana noslēgsies tuvākajā laikā" (Audit report "Is it expected that the implementation of the land reform will be completed in the near future"). Retrieved from: https://www.lrvk.gov.lv/lv/revizijas/revizijas/noslegtas-revizijas/vai-ir-sagaidams-ka-zemes-reformas-istenosana-noslegsies-tuvakaja-laika (in Latvian)

THE IMPACT OF EDUCATION ON EMPLOYMENT AND WAGES IN THE REGIONS OF LATVIA

Ilze Judrupa¹, Dr.oec. / assoc.prof.; Kaspars Plotka², Ph.D. / assist.prof.; Evija Liepa-Hazeleja³, Dr.math. / assist. prof.

^{1,2,3}Riga Technical University

Abstract. Education is one of the key aspects of getting a better job and having higher wages. Most studies conclude that education raises wages and leads to better employment opportunities. The literature review shows that various factors affect employment and salary. Still, the scope of this study is investigating only relationships between the Educational Attainment Index (EAI) and employment indicators and wages in the statistical regions of Latvia using only available official statistical data. To evaluate the education level of individuals, the highest educational level attained is considered. The Educational Attainment Index (EAI) was developed and calculated to evaluate educational attainment. The study results show that the highest education level is in Riga and Pieriga statistical regions. In those regions, it is above the average. The correlation analysis shows a strong positive correlation between education attainment, number of employed persons, and wages. Although education plays a vital role in employment and salary, a more detailed analysis is required to evaluate aspects of labour supply and entrepreneurs' requirements that affect labour demand. **Key words**: Education Attainment Index, employment, correlation, wages.

JEL code: E24, I25, R10, C12

Introduction

There is a generally accepted view in a society that higher education level will lead to higher incomes in the future. Education has widely come to be seen as an aid to the achievement of individuals' economic ambitions (Hinchliffe, 1987). Great emphasis has been placed on education's role in ensuring the economic success not only of individuals but also of nations (Lauder & Mayhew, 2020). Higher-educated people make more money, have higher employment rates, and pay more taxes thus increasing the prosperity of the country (Ma & Pender, 2023; OECD, 2023). Overwhelmingly, high-wage states are states with a well-educated workforce. There is a clear and strong correlation between the educational attainment of a state's workforce and median wages in the state (Berger, Fisher, 2013).

The researches done by various scientists show that better education can increase the incomes of individuals (Militarua, 2016; Masarova, 2011; Tuor & Backes-Gellner, 2010), as well as the vast majority of people with higher education are employed and the activity rate for this group is significantly higher than for less educated persons (Bebel, 2019). The human capital improved through the study of professional courses and comprehensive quality courses during the period of higher education has a positive and significant relationship with the starting salary of graduates, which makes them easier to find a job successfully (Wang et al., 2022). People with higher education are more in demand in the labour market. During their training, they take not only professional courses but also comprehensive ones, which also improves their qualifications. This has a positive effect on their salary, both initially and for the long term.

In Latvia, there is a lack of studies about the impact of education on the employment and earnings of individuals, especially at the regional level. Assessment of the impact of education level on employment and wages in the regions of Latvia is the **novelty** of the study.

The hypotheses of the research:

H1 - there is a high positive correlation between the education level of employees and the employment indicators in the regions of Latvia;

180

¹ E-mail: ilze.judrupa@rtu.lv

² E-mail: kaspars.plotka@rtu.lv ³ E-mail: eliepa2@gmail.com

egmall.coll
H2 - there is a high positive correlation between the education level of employees and wages in the regions of Latvia.

The thesis **aims** to study the impact of education level on employment and wages in the statistical regions of Latvia.

To prove the hypothesis and reach the aim of the thesis the following **tasks** are defined:

- to do the literature review on the relationships between education level, employment, and earnings of employees;
- to analyse statistical data on employment, education level, and wages of working age population in statistical regions of Latvia;
- to develop and calculate the Educational Attainment Index (EAI) in the regions of Latvia;
- to calculate correlations between EAI and employment indicators, and EAI and wages.

Research methods applied: analysis and synthesis to do literature review; desk research or secondary data analysis to analyse statistical data; mathematical and statistical methods to calculate the index and do correlation analysis.

Limitations of the research: because of the lack of official statistical data at the regional level, the period for data analysis is 2019 - 2023. The longer time series would improve the credibility of correlations.

Research results and discussion

Literature review and defining the scope of the research

Even if most of the studies conclude that education raises wages, the findings frequently diverge significantly. It is necessary to take into consideration that statements about the positive effect of education on earnings are general and the real situation could be different. The evaluation of the impact of education level on the earnings of individuals could be more complicated. The most common limitations and problems in the investigation of the correlation between education level, employment, and earnings are as follows.

- **Ceteris paribus assumption**, which means that all other variables that are not included in the model, are not changing they are constant. If the task of the study is to examine the relationship between education level and wage, then other variables will not be considered. For example, the earnings advantage from educational attainment can vary also according to age, gender, program orientation, and field of study. Other factors are the demand for skills in the labour market, the supply of workers and their skills, the minimum wage and other labour-market legislation, countries' structures, and practices, such as the strength of labour unions, the coverage of collective-bargaining agreements and the quality of working environments (OECD, 2023). Boshara, Emmons, and Noeth (2015) argue that the positive correlation we observe between a person's education and his or her wealth does not imply that education itself is solely responsible for wealth accumulated. Besides education, many different factors can affect future incomes: natural ability, family background, assortative mating, incentive to become financially knowledgeable, inheritances, benefits of better health and longer lifespans, and others (Boshara, Emmons & Noeth, 2015). It is almost impossible to define which factor is responsible for the increase in wealth of the person.
- Time and finances to develop more complicated models. In the very simple model, we will see only a connection between wage and education level (or employment level and education level), but it is possible to add more detailed information. For example, the returns to education may differ across the wage distribution: the returns are higher for those in the top decile of the income distribution compared to those in the bottom decile (Harmon, Osterbeek & Walker, 2000). The other factor that can

affect the estimation of earnings is the period after graduation. One of the investigations about higher education graduates with or without work experience shows that having vocational education and training (VET) work experience increases wages and diminishes search time one year after graduation. Although this beneficial effect persists for five years after graduation, it is no longer significant for wages, unemployment spells, or employment positions five years after graduation (Oswald-Egg, Renold, 2021). To develop more detailed models at the regional level, there is a lack of statistical data and then it is necessary to have more time and money to collect data from surveys.

- **Availability of statistical data**. There is a lack of official statistical data at the NUTS 3 level in Latvia. For example, there are no official statistical data on the educational level of the employed population in the statistical regions of Latvia. Such data would be useful for analysing labour supply and demand. And the period of data publication is not enough. In some cases, there is data only for the last 3 years, and it is not possible to create reasonable correlation models on the data of such a period.
- A field of study is too broad. It is easy to go outside the research question because usually there are so many related problems to solve. In this study, one problem was to decide whether to study or not the question about over-qualified workers. The problem that was identified in the context of the research was the labour market and many employees with higher education who hold positions that do not require a college education and are below their qualifications (Bebel, 2019). The question is whether someone needs their highest qualification to obtain their job and whether they need the capabilities and skills associated with possession of that qualification to do the job (Lauder, Mayhew, 2020). The other problem was to decide whether to take into account that a person can have two or more different educations. The studies proved that among all educational paths ending with a tertiary degree, the mixed educational paths are associated with the highest level of earnings: earnings of individuals with mixed educational paths are significantly higher than those of individuals with straight educational paths (Tuor, Backes-Gellner, 2010).

The academic literature has extensively studied the effect of education on earnings. The theoretical and methodological underpinnings of such studies were laid in the 1970s. Most studies are based on the model developed by Mincer in 1974, in which salary is a function of an individual's years of education and work experience. Mincer's model assumes that two important investments in human capital are made during life – investments in formal education and the accumulation of skills in the workplace (Vilerts, 2015). Mincer tried to answer the question - how much of the existing inequality in the distribution of labour incomes can be attributed to individual differences in investments in human capital? He concluded that the standard procedure for estimating a rate of return to education involves the discounting of differences in earnings between two groups differing in education. However, the estimated rate is a rate of a weighted average of returns to schooling and to other investments in human capital in which the two groups differ (Mincer, 1974). The Mincer coefficient was used in Vilert's research on Returns to Education in Latvia in 2015. The main conclusion was that education has a positive and statistically significant effect on earnings in Latvia. According to the Mincer coefficient, incomes rise by 7.6% on average for every year of schooling (Vilerts, 2015).

The other aspect of research, which shows the importance of education level in the possible higher earnings and wealth in the future, is about students' perceptions when entering the university or other higher education institutions. For students very often a major motivation for attending university is their perception that it will help them get better and more secure employment. (Al-Harthi, 2011). But, at the same time, to deliver "employable" graduates, students need to be thoroughly trained in 21st-century skills,

and their development should be retained and expanded (Habets et al., 2020). Of course, employability is not only about education and skills. Demands that young people face in employment and work are also related to experience, behavior, and bodily performance (Nikunen, 2021).

To conclude, it is visible from the literature analysis, that education is important, because a higher level of education is associated with better employment and higher salary. The previous studies show that there could be a positive relationship between education level and employment level, as well as between education level and wage of employees in the regions of Latvia. The scope of the study is investigating only relationships between the Educational Attainment Index (EAI) and employment and wage in the statistical regions of Latvia using only available official statistical data. To evaluate the education level of individuals, the highest educational level attained is considered.

Methodology of the Educational Attainment Index (EAI) development

The indicators for EAI calculation were chosen from the Official Statistics Portal of Latvia, considering the availability of statistics for statistical regions of Latvia before 01.01.2024. Selected indicators and a map of six statistical regions are shown in Figure 1.



Source: Central Statistical Bureau of the Republic of Latvia, 2021 Fig. 1. Statistical regions (NUTS 3) of Latvia before 0.01.2024 and education level indicators for EAI

To calculate the EAI first the method developed by Slovak researchers Masarova, Koisova, and Habanik (2022) was applied. In this method, the EAI was calculated to assess the educational attainment of employed people, as well as economically active population, and unemployed people. The following formula was used to calculate the EAI of employed people (Masarova, Koisova, Habanik, 2022):

$$EAI_E = \frac{1 \cdot EDU_1 + 2 \cdot EDU_2 + 3 \cdot EDU_3 + 4 \cdot EDU_4}{Employed \ population} =$$
(1)

Where:

EAI_E - Educational Attainment Index of employed (working) population;

 EDU_1 – population with basic education and uneducated;

EDU₂ - population with lower secondary education;

 EDU_3 – population with upper secondary education;

 EDU_4 – population with tertiary (academic) education.

The index values range from 1 to 4. A value of 1 would indicate that all persons in the group have only primary or no education. Conversely, a value of 4 would indicate that all persons in the group have a university education. Unfortunately, when this method was applied to calculate the EAI for statistical regions in Latvia, the index values for all regions in all research periods were the same ($EAI_E = 3$) and such a result was not useful for further statistical analysis.

Therefore, to calculate the EAI for statistical regions of Latvia the authors of the article first used data normalization and changed all initial statistical data (in thousands of people) to the percentages compared to the average value of all regions by Formula 2:

$$X = \frac{x}{x_{avr}} \cdot 100\%$$
 (2)

Where:

X – normalized indicator;

x – actual value of the indicator;

 x_{avr} - average value of the indicator in the regions.

According to this method, the average value from all regions always will be 100% and the normalized value of the indicator will show whether the situation in the region is above or below the average.

Then the EAI index was calculated as the weighted average of all normalized indicators by Formula 3:

$$EAI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (w_i \cdot X_i)$$
(3)

Where:

EAI - Educational Attainment Index;

 w_i – relative weight of the indicator;

 X_i – normalized value of the indicator;

n – number of indicators.

The relative weight of each indicator was assigned by experts. Eight experts took part in the survey and the arithmetical mean from their answers was calculated and the result was rounded to a whole number. The relative weights of all indicators are shown in Table 1.

Table 1

Relative weights of the EAI indicators

Indicator	Abbreviation	Relative weight					
Share of people with:							
No formal education, less than primary education, lower secondary or primary education (ISCED 0–2)	EDU ₀₋₂	10%					
Upper secondary education (ISCED 3)	EDU ₃	20%					
Upper secondary vocational education or post-secondary non-tertiary education (ISCED 3-4)	EDU ₃₋₄	30%					
Tertiary education (ISCED 5-8)	EDU ₅₋₈	40%					
in total amount of people aged 15 - 64							

Source: authors' calculations based on expert interviews

From Table 1 it is possible to see that the results are logical: the most important in the Education Attainment Index is the share of the population with tertiary education.

Results of calculations and their interpretation

1. Short analysis of employment and wage indicators in the statistical regions of Latvia

Literature analyses show - students believe that getting a better education will help them get better and more secure employment after graduation. To give a short overview of the employment situation in the statistical regions of Latvia the authors of the article analysed employment and wages by industries in the regions (Figure 2) in 2023.

On average, the wages are higher in Riga statistical region, but industries are developed differently in the regions.

It is possible to see that in Riga statistical region many people are employed in trade, accommodation, and food service activities (19,5% of all employed persons), but the wage in this industry in Riga region is low - only 1330 EUR per month. One of the highest wages is in the public administration and defence, compulsory social security industry (1964 EUR per month), but only 6,4% of employed are working in this industry.

For example, the opposite situation is in Zemgale region, where 17,7% of employed persons are working in industry and the wage of those workers is also relatively high (1518 EUR per month). This is the second most well-paid industry in Zemgale region after agriculture, forestry, and fishing. An interesting situation is also in Latgale region. The 4th industry with many employees is human health and social work activities with the highest wage among other industries in this region (1397 EUR per month), while in Riga or Pieriga regions wage in this industry is not among the highest.



Q Human health and social work activities

- O Public administration and defence, compulsory
- K-N Financial, insurance, scientific and
- H_J Transportation, storage, information and
- G_I Trade, accommodation and food service

Source: Official Statistics Portal

Fig. 2. Wage and employment in the statistical regions of Latvia, 2023

From the analysis of data in Figure 2 it is possible to conclude that different industries are developed in regions and also other factors, such as the study direction and choice of industry, are important to get better-paid jobs.

A Agriculture, forestry and fishing

2. The EAI in the statistical regions of Latvia

To see the overall picture of the education level in the statistical regions of Latvia, the Educational Attainment Index was calculated. The results are summarized in Figure 3.



Source: authors' calculations based on the data from Official Statistics Portal

Fig. 3. Educational Attainment Index in the statistical regions of Latvia

From Figure 3 it is possible to conclude that the highest education level is in Riga statistical region. It was 106% in 2023, and that means that the education level in Riga region was 6 percent points higher than the average. However, the education level is slightly decreasing in comparison with the year 2019, when the EAI was 108%. The reason for this is the bigger share of people with EDU_{0-2} and the smaller share of people with education levels EDU_3 and EDU_{3-4} .

Pieriga region is also above the average (EAI = 103%) in 2023.

Vidzeme, Kurzeme, Latgale, and Zemgale regions are below the average. In the last place is Zemgale region (EAI = 96%). It is because the share of the population with education level EDU_{0-2} is the highest and the share of people with education level EDU_{5-8} is the second lowest in this region.

3. Correlations between education level and employment indicators and wages

To prove hypotheses H1 and H2, the correlations between EAI and employment and wage indicators in statistical regions in 2023 were calculated. The Pearson correlation coefficient was used for calculations. It measures the linear relationship between pairs of variables, which requires numerical codes for categories of each variable (Chen, Carolyn, Anderson, 2023). The results are summarised in Table 2.

Table 2

Statistical data							
Region	Employm in age grou	ent level up 15 – 64 %	Employed persons aged 15 – 64 thousands		Wage, gross EUR/month	EA1 %	
Riga	74	.1	282.8 1706		1706	106.02	
Pieriga	73	.2	180.7		1505	103.35	
Vidzeme	69.5		75.8		1242	97.82	
Kurzeme	70.4		99.5		1306	98.08	
Zemgale	70.8		98.0		1293	96.20	
Latgale	64.9		96.6		1083	98.55	
	The correlation coefficient r between EAI and:						
Employment level Employed		Employed p	ersons Wage		Wage		
	0.649 0.952			0.862			
m	oderate		strong		strong		
Critical values of $r_{\alpha;N}$; of different probabilities (α) and $N = 6$							
$\alpha = 0$	0.1	α =	<i>α</i> = 0.05 <i>c</i>		$\alpha = 0.02 \qquad \qquad \alpha = 0.01$		
0.72	0.726		0.811).882	0.917	

Source: authors' calculations based on the data from Official Statistics Portal and Palmer, Rycroft, Cermack, 2006

From Table 2 it is possible to conclude that there is a positive strong relationship between education attainment and employed persons, as well as between education attainment and wage. And the correlation between education attainment and employment level is moderate. Correlation is reliable if $r_{\alpha;N} < r$ and therefore it is necessary to compare correlation coefficient values r with the critical values $r_{\alpha;N}$. It is obvious, that:

- in the case of correlation between EAI and employment level r = 0.649 and the probability that there is a strong relationship between those two indicators is less than 90%;
- in the case of correlation between EAI and employed persons r = 0.952. There is a 99% probability that there is a strong relationship between those two indicators;
- in the case of correlation between EAI and wage r = 0.862. There is a 95% probability that there is a strong relationship between those two indicators.

Possible relationships between the above-mentioned indicators are also explained in Table 3.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 180-190 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.018

Table 3



The impact of education on employment and wages in the regions of Latvia, 2023

Source: authors' calculations based on the data from Official Statistics Portal

In Table 3 it is possible to see that the highest educational attainment (above the average level) is in Riga and Pieriga regions. In those regions employment level, number of employed persons, and wages are also higher than in other statistical regions of Latvia.

The opposite situation is in Kurzeme, Vidzeme, Zemgale, and Latgale statistical regions, where educational attainment is below the average and the employment level, number of employees, and wages are lower than in Riga or Pieriga regions.

It is possible to conclude that education is important to get a job and a higher wage. If there are fewer educated people in the region, the employment level and average wage of employees will be lower.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Hypothesis H1 is partially confirmed because there is a high positive correlation between the education level and the number of employed persons in the regions of Latvia. However, the relationships between education attainment and employment level are not so strong.

2) Hypothesis H2 is confirmed because there is a high positive correlation between the education level and wages in the regions of Latvia.

3) Students' perceptions that enrolling in university for better education will help them obtain better and more secure employment are correct. However, it is necessary to consider other factors that affect employment and wages, especially in regions. There are different industries developed in regions and the average salary in those industries is also different. For example, in Riga region, a big part of the population is employed in trade, accommodation, and food services, where the average wage is lower than in other industries, but still higher than the wage in the same industry in other regions (except Pieriga region). The highest wage in Riga region is in the public administration, defence, and compulsory social security industry, but the number of employed persons is relatively small. Accordingly, not only higher education is important to get better-paid jobs, but equally important is the study direction and choice of industry in which the students are going to work.

4) Although education and the amount of salary plays a vital role in employment, a more detailed analysis is required to evaluate not only aspects of labour supply but also the requirements of entrepreneurs that affect the demand for labour.

Bibliography

- 1. Al-Harthi, H.K. (2011). University student perceptions of the relationship between university education and the labour market in Egypt and Oman. *Prospects*, Volume 41, 535–551. DOI:10.1007/s11125-011-9216-4
- Bebel, A. (2019). Polish labour market and employees with higher education. *Proceedings of the 13th International Days of Statistics and Economics*, Prague, Czech Republic, September 5-7, 2019, pp. 90 100. DOI: 10.18267/pr.2019.los.186.10
- Berger, N., Fisher, P. (2013). A well-educated workforce is key to state prosperity. Economic Analysis and Research Network Report. Washington: EARN. Retrieved from: https://files.epi.org/2013/A%20welleducated%20workforce%20is%20key%20to%20state%20prosperity.pdf
- 4. Boshara, R., Emmons, W.R., Noeth, B.J. (2015). *The Demographics of Wealth*. Essay No. 2: Education and Wealth. Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. Retrieved from: https://www.stlouisfed.org/household-financial-stability/thedemographics-of-wealth/-/media/project/frbstl/stlouisfed/files/pdfs/hfs/essays/hfs-essay-2-2015-education-andwealth.pdf?la=en&hash=249B891920ACC529C60BB854D58EE02C
- 5. Central Statistical Bureau of the Republic of Latvia (2021). Statistiskie reģioni (Statistical regions). Retrieved from: https://www.csp.gov.lv/lv/statistiskie-regioni
- Chen, D., Carolyn, J., Anderson, C.J. (2023). Categorical data analysis. In Tierney, R.J., Rizvi, F., Ercikan, K. (eds.). *International Encyclopedia of Education*, Elsevier, pp. 575 – 582. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-818630-5.10070-3
- Habets, O., Stoffers, J., Heijden, B.V.d., Peters, P. (2020). Am I Fit for Tomorrow's Labor Market? The Effect of Graduates' Skills Development during Higher Education for the 21st Century's Labor Market. *Sustainability*, Volume 12, Issue 18. No. 7746. DOI:10.3390/su12187746
- Harmon, C., Oosterbeek, H. and Walker, I. (2000). *The Returns to Education A Review of Evidence, Issues and Deficiencies in the Literature*. London: London School of Economics and Political Science. Retrieved from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/6674426.pdf
- 9. Hinchliffe, K. (1987). Education and the Labour Market. In Psacharopoulos, G. (eds). *Economics of education. Research and studies*. Oxford: Pergamon Press, pp. 141 146.

- 10. Lauder, H., Mayhew, K. (2020). Higher education and the labour market: an introduction. *Oxford Review of Education*, Volume 46, Issue 1, pp. 1 9. DOI: 10.1080/03054985.2019.1699714
- 11. Ma, J., Pender, M. (2023). *Education Pays 2023*. New York: College Board. Retrieved from https://research.collegeboard.org/media/pdf/education-pays-2023.pdf
- 12. Masarova, J. (2011). The importance of education in succeeding on the labour market. *Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Economic Policy in the European Union Member Countries*, Dolni Moravice, Czech Republic, September 7-9, 2011, pp. 347-353.
- 13. Masárová, J., Koišová, E., & Habánik, J. (2022). Assessment of the evolution of the educational attainment in economically active population in the regions of the Slovak Republic. *Economics and Sociology*, Volume 15, Issue 3, pp. 172-185. DOI:10.14254/2071-789X.2022/15-3/10
- Militarua, E. (2016). Education, Labour Market Status and Household Income Dynamics in Romania. In Sandu, A., Ciulei, T. & Frunza, A. (eds.), Logos Universality Mentality Education Novelty, Volume 15. *European Proceedings of Social and Behavioural Sciences*, pp. 571-581. DOI: 10.15405/epsbs.2016.09.72
- 15. Mincer, A.J. (1974). *Schooling, Experience, and Earnings*. Cambridge: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from: https://www.nber.org/books-and-chapters/schooling-experience-and-earnings
- 16. Nikunen, M. (2021). Labour Market Demands, Employability and Authenticity. *Journal of Applied Youth Studies*, Volume 4, pp. 205 220. DOI:10.1007/s43151-021-00049-1
- 17. Official Statistics Portal (2024). Official statistics of Latvija. Retrieved from: https://stat.gov.lv/en
- Oswald-Egg, M.E., Renold, U. (2021). No experience, no employment: The effect of vocational education and training work experience on labour market outcomes after higher education. *Economics of Education Review*, Volume 80, No. 102065. DOI:10.1016/j.econedurev.2020.102065
- 19. Palmer, S.J., Rycroft, M.J., Cermack, M. (2006). Solar and geomagnetic activity, extremely low frequency magnetic and electric fields and human health at the Earth's surface. *Surveys in Geophysics*, Volume 27, Issue 5, pp. 557 – 595. DOI: 10.1007/s10712-006-9010-7
- 20. Tuor, S.N., Backes-Gellner, U. (2010), Risk-return trade-offs to different educational paths: vocational, academic and mixed. *International Journal of Manpower*, Volume. 31, Issue 5, pp. 495-519. DOI: 10.1108/01437721011066335
- 21. Vilerts, K. (2015). Izglītības ietekmes uz algu analīze Latvijā: EU-SILC mikrodatu liecības (Returns to Education in Latvia: Evidence from EU-SILC Microdata). Master Thesis. Riga: LU. Retrieved from: https://www.makroekonomika.lv/sites/default/files/01_vilerts.pdf
- 22. Wang, P., Liao, W., Zhao, Z., Miu, F. (2022). Prediction of Factors Influencing the Starting Salary of College Graduates Based on Machine Learning. *Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing*, Volume 11, pp. 1 – 14. DOI: 10.1155/2022/7845545

SCIENTIFIC APPROACHES TO THE FORMATION OF GEO-INFORMATION SUPPORT FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND POST-WAR RESTORATION OF TERRITORIAL COMMUNITIES IN UKRAINE

Anton Koshel¹, Dr.Sc. of Economics; Olgierd Kempa², Ph.D. of Economics;

Nataliia Bavrovska³, Ph.D. of Economics; **Iryna Kolhanova**⁴, Ph.D. of Economics;

Nataliia Pashynska⁵, Ph.D. of Geography; Oksana Kustovska⁶, Ph.D. of Economics;

Yuliia Temna⁷, Ph.D. student

^{1,3,4,6}National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, Kyiv, Ukraine;
 ²Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Wroclaw, Poland;
 ⁵Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Kyiv, Ukraine;
 ⁷State Institution "Scientific Centre for Aerospace Research of the Earth of the Institute of Geological Sciences of the National Academy of Sciences of Ukraine", Kyiv, Ukraine

Abstract. This article explores scientific approaches to developing geoinformation support for managing regional development and facilitating post-war restoration of territorial communities in Ukraine. The research focuses on leveraging geoinformation systems (GIS) to enhance decision-making processes in the aftermath of conflicts. The study delves into the conceptual foundations of GIS application, emphasizing their role in optimizing resource utilization, environmental rehabilitation, and strategic planning for regional growth. Additionally, the article examines international experiences in employing GIS for post-war reconstruction to draw valuable insights applicable to the Ukrainian context. The innovative aspect of the research lies in proposing practical recommendations for the widespread implementation of GIS technologies, contributing to the effective coordination of regional development initiatives and post-conflict recovery efforts. The findings aim to inform policymakers, planners, and researchers on the potential of geoinformation systems as instrumental tools for sustainable development and reconstruction, offering a comprehensive framework for future applications in Ukraine and beyond.

Through a review of current scientific methodologies and case studies, this article highlights the significance of integrating geoinformation approaches into regional management frameworks to enhance spatial understanding, resource allocation, and infrastructure development. Furthermore, it emphasizes the importance of collaboration between government agencies, academic institutions, and local communities in harnessing the full potential of geoinformation support for fostering resilience and prosperity in post-conflict and developing regions of Ukraine.

Key words: GIS; regional development; monitoring; evaluation; land management.

JEL code: R5, R58, C21

Introduction

The issue of Ukraine's regional development in the context of the large-scale armed aggression of the Russian Federation requires the development of completely new scientific approaches that should be based entirely on dynamic geographic information models, taking into account the constantly changing situation in both the economic and social spheres. In Ukraine, the main planning document in the field of regional development is the State Strategy for Regional Development, which was recently adopted for 2021-2027. However, given the dramatic change in the situation in Ukraine due to the full-scale invasion and the country's accession to the EU, the strategy needs to be significantly changed and updated. At the same time, a geographic information system for monitoring and evaluating the development of regions and communities should become the main driving mechanism for implementing the State Regional Policy.

The purpose of this article is to present scientific approaches to the formation of geoinformation support for the management of regional development and post-war reconstruction of territorial communities in Ukraine.

¹ Email: koshel_a@nubip.edu.ua

 ² Email: olgierd.kempa@upwr.edu.pl
 ³ Email: bavrovska_n@nubip.edu.ua

⁴ Email: kolganova_i@nubip.edu.ua

⁵ Email: n_pashynska@ukr.net

⁶ Email: kustovska_o@nubip.edu.ua

⁷ Email: temnaylia@gmail.com

To achieve this goal, the following tasks are planned to be solved:

1) to conduct a retrospective analysis of the regional development process in Ukraine;

2) to conduct a comprehensive analysis of the legislative, regulatory and methodological regulation of the principles of regional policy in Ukraine;

3) to develop the main priorities on which the geographic information system of regional development and post-war restoration of territorial communities in Ukraine should be based.

The main working hypothesis underlying the article is the assumption that the theoretical substantiation of scientific approaches to the formation of geoinformation support for regional development will create a conceptual basis for the transition to a qualitatively new modern world form of strategic management of socio-economic development and post-war recovery through decision-making based on geospatial data. At the same time, the advantage of our approach will be a significant reduction in the cost of work on the formation of regional development strategies at all levels with a gradual transition to a fully automated geographic information system.

The scientific basis of the study is the provisions and principles of the modern concept of sustainable development of rural areas, the results of research by domestic and foreign scientists, which reveal the institutional nature of modern geographic information support for the purposes of regional development, strategic planning and monitoring of these processes. In the course of the study, general scientific and special research methods were used, namely: dialectical - to identify the conditions in which the activities of participants in the process of regional development and territorial rehabilitation are carried out, their direction, effectiveness and efficiency; analysis - to highlight the role and place of strategic planning in the system of socio-economic relations; synthesis - to combine different doctrines on the formation of the institution of regional development and post-war rehabilitation; induction and deduction - to identify gaps in the normative framework.

One of the first European fundamental studies on improving the management process in the field of regional development was related to the widespread use of geographic information systems as a spatial tool for decision-making based on strategic planning data (Juliao, 1998). In turn, over the next decade, geodata processing tools and GIS models were developed to support regional environmental planning and management, which had a significant impact on the development of regional development processes and decision support systems (Schaller, Mattos, 2009). Also, a significant research contribution was made in the development of a geospatial database for rural areas, which significantly influenced their further development (Cano, Garzón, Sánchez-Soto, 2013).

The novelty of the proposed approach lies, unlike the existing ones, in the formulation of methodological approaches to the system of strategic planning and regional development adapted to modern Ukrainian conditions, the construction of the concept of a geographic information system for organising and managing the process of reconstruction and post-war recovery (organisation, administration, analysis, information identification, determination of the value of objects, management of the information base) at the level of territorial communities of Ukraine.

Research results and discussion

For more than thirty years, Ukraine has been in constant search of an effective model of regional development, as the country was formed within the territories that have long been part of different states and has 25 regions that differ in natural conditions, urbanisation, regional economic structure, language, history, religious preferences, and ethnic composition.

An important component of the state regional policy is the socio-economic development of the regions. The need to accelerate Ukraine's entry into the path of sustainable development, economic growth, and to create conditions for dynamic and balanced socio-economic development of Ukraine and its regions were defined and approved in the State Regional Policy Strategy. However, the implementation of reforms in Ukraine during 2007-2014 did not yield results, as the process of formulating and implementing strategies, which was dependent on changes in the socio-political situation in Ukraine, demonstrated low efficiency and the mostly declarative nature of most of the adopted legal acts (concepts, programmes etc.) related to regional development.

In 2014-2021, Ukraine's state regional policy reached a new level of development: The Law "On the Principles of State Regional Policy" was adopted and a fundamental reform of local self-government and territorial organisation of power was launched.

As part of the decentralisation reform, amalgamated territorial communities were formed in Ukraine, on the basis of which a new administrative and territorial structure was formed in 2020 and 1470 territorial communities were formed, which contributed to the balanced development of Ukrainian communities and regions, and thousands of horizontal links between communities and regions were created. intensification of decentralisation processes. At the same time, the implementation of the State Strategy for Regional Development and regional development strategies had very limited financial resources. The implementation of the State Strategy for Regional Development for 2021-2027 was based on an integrated territorial approach, which envisages "the use of special mechanisms and instruments of state support" depending on the type of functional territory characterised by a specific set of social, spatial, environmental and economic features (Zelenskyi, 2022; Law of Ukraine On the principles of state regional policy, 2013; On approval of the State Strategy for Regional Development for 2021-2027, 2020; Law of Ukraine On the regulation of urban development activities, 2011). Achieving the strategic goal of the state regional policy by 2027 involved the implementation of three strategic objectives.

- Formation of a cohesive state in the social, humanitarian, economic, environmental, security and spatial dimensions.
- Increasing the competitiveness of the regions.
- Building effective multi-level governance.

As of the beginning of 2022, out of the 1438 territorial communities in Ukraine that have joined the strategic planning process at the territorial community level: 617 (43%) had approved development strategies, 625 (44%) had a document under development, and 196 (13%) had not started work on their strategy.

The full-scale invasion of Ukraine by the Russian Federation on 24 February 2022 exacerbated the situation in all dimensions - social, economic, and territorial. Therefore, the development of a new regional development policy requires a comprehensive analysis and assessment of the current situation related to the war and the situation in Ukraine as a whole, regions and territorial communities.

In order to adapt the legislation in the field of state regional policy to the situation that has developed as a result of large-scale armed aggression against Ukraine and to introduce special mechanisms and tools by executive authorities and local self-government bodies in the process of implementing the principles of state regional policy:

- the Law establishes functional types of territories: macro-region, micro-region or territorial community, which are characterised by a set of common social, spatial, environmental, economic, security and other features;
- introduces planning for the restoration of regions and territories affected by armed aggression against Ukraine;
- and develops programmes for the comprehensive restoration of the region and territory of a territorial community (part of it).

In the context of Ukraine's post-war recovery and preparation for accession to the EU (as required by Chapter 22 of the Acquis Communautaire), it is necessary to reform the state regional policy in the areas of legislative harmonisation, ensuring the establishment of relevant institutions at the central and regional levels with clear tasks and powers, administrative capacity, creating conditions for the formation of a sufficient number of regional development projects, developing operational programmes for regional development, monitoring and evaluation, financial management and control.

In the process of research, the main conceptual priorities that should be guided by the geoinformation system for regional development and post-war reconstruction based on the State Strategy for Regional Development of Ukraine for the period until 2027 were determined (Fig. 1)



Source: author's formation based on data of Ministry for Communities, Territories and Infrastructure Development of Ukraine

Fig. 1. Priorities of strategic development and post-war reconstruction of Ukraine based on the geoinformation system

Thus, based on the priorities presented in Fig. 1, the technical concept of a geographic information system for regional development, strategic planning and post-war recovery of territorial communities, including monitoring of relevant processes, should be developed.

In the legal context, the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine adopted Resolution No. 522 of 23 May 2023 "On Approval of the Procedure for the Functioning of a Unified Geographic Information System for Monitoring and Evaluation of the Development of Regions and Territorial Communities", which approves the Procedure for the functioning of the geographic information system for control, monitoring and development of regional policy. In particular, this Procedure defines the mechanism for creating, implementing and ensuring the functioning of a unified geoinformation system for monitoring and evaluating the development of regions and territorial communities. It is envisaged that the database of the geographic information system of regional development is a set of data on socio-economic processes and results of socio-economic development of regions and territorial communities (macro-regions, microregions, functional types of territories) and/or their parts (districts, cities, towns, villages), activities of central and local executive authorities, local self-government bodies to implement the goals and objectives of the state regional policy contained in the geographic information system of regional development.

According to the Procedure, the tasks of the geographic information system for regional development are as follows:

- integration of external information resources, in particular statistical, administrative information and geospatial data in the field of development of regions and territorial communities;
- creation and management of a data warehouse and thematic databases of socio-economic, budgetary and financial indicators established for the purposes of the state regional policy;
- modelling and analysing the socio-economic state of the objects of the state regional policy defined by the legislation, forecasting the socio-economic development of regions and territorial communities;
- preparation of proposals on the directions and methods of adjusting strategic planning documents and implementation of the state regional policy;
- automation of interaction between authorised and external users and provision of access to open data in the field of regional and territorial community development.
- The functions of the geographic information system of regional development are as follows:
- collection and processing of information received in the course of interaction with external information sources and activities of authorised users;
- systematisation, generalisation and verification of information in order to transform it into a data format suitable for further analysis and functioning of various modules;
- ensuring electronic interaction between data providers and authorised users;
- analysing and visualising geospatial information to support management decisions, in particular in the area of regional development and recovery planning;
- ensuring compatibility and electronic interaction of the regional development geographic information system database with external information sources in accordance with the current legislation;
- protection of data, including personal data, from unauthorised access, interference and destruction;
- ensuring the accuracy and integrity of data, including personal data;
- provision of different levels of access to authorised and external users to the information contained in the database of the regional development geographic information system in accordance with the established rights;
- possibility of registration and identification of authorised users, in particular, by means of electronic means of identification that ensure unambiguous identification of a person;
- performing other functions of the regional development geographic information system.

The state of regional development in Ukraine is characterised by different levels of economic and social development in different regions of the country. In order to balance these processes and the need for effective post-war reconstruction, the organisation of geoinformation space, collection and processing of geospatial data, analysis and visualisation of results, interactive access to data, as well as ensuring the security and confidentiality of information, are essential.

The following factors should be taken into account for the effective management of regional development and post-war reconstruction in Ukraine and for the purpose of monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of strategic planning:

- economic potential of the region, including the availability of natural resources, infrastructure, level of entrepreneurship and other important economic indicators;
- social indicators, such as the level of education, healthcare, housing conditions and other aspects of life;
- transport infrastructure and accessibility of the region for investment and business development;
- environmental situation in the region and compliance with environmental safety standards;
- opportunities for the development of tourism and cultural heritage of the region;
- availability and quality of institutional support for the region's development and attractiveness for investment;
- peculiarities of the region's geographical location and its connection with other regions of the country and the world.

Important elements that substantiate the scientific novelty of the scientific article in comparison with the available data are the formation of methodology and methodological recommendations for the integration of information resources of monitoring subjects, including statistical and geospatial information; formation and maintenance of a data warehouse and thematic databases of socio-economic and budgetary-financial indicators established for the purposes of regional development and post-war reconstruction of the country; modelling and analysis of the socio-economic status of objects of the state regional strategy (Ben-David, Papell, 1998; Beugelsdijk, Klasing, Milionis, 2018; Crescenzi, Iammarino, 2017; Dijkstra, Poelman, Rodríguez-Pose, 2020; European Commission, 2022; Rodríguez-Pose, Ganau, 2022).

In this regard, it is important to research the development of conceptual foundations of a geographic information system for regional development for effective management of strategic planning and post-war reconstruction of territories in Ukraine, which will provide a modern level of digitalisation in monitoring and evaluating the development of regions and communities and will facilitate a full transition to decision-making based on geospatial and analytical data.

Regional development and post-war recovery are complex and multifaceted processes that require a comprehensive approach and the use of various tools. In this context, a geographic information system can become a powerful tool to support regional development and post-war reconstruction in Ukraine.

On the one hand, the use of a geographic information system will allow obtaining more accurate and complete information about the territories and their socio-economic features. This can help to address issues related to territorial development planning, monitoring and evaluation of strategic planning, efficient use of natural resources, environmental protection, etc.

On the other hand, the use of a geographic information system will allow for a quick and effective response to the negative effects of war and various natural and man-made disasters. In particular, it can be useful for planning recovery operations, monitoring and evaluating the effectiveness of strategic planning, and ensuring efficient allocation of resources for the restoration of infrastructure and the social sphere.

The objects of the geographic information system for monitoring and evaluation are socio-economic processes and results of socio-economic development of regions, and in cases specified by law – macro-regions, micro-regions, territorial communities, territories requiring special attention from the state, characterised by quantitative and qualitative, static or dynamic parameters.

The urgent issues addressed by the scientific approach are the formation of a mechanism for tracking regional development indicators based on geoinformation support, which is based on available official statistics, information from central executive authorities and local governments, as well as tracking and analysing territorial trends, dynamics and structural changes in accordance with the goals, directions and objectives of strategic planning at all levels.

Thus, the use of a geographic information system as a tool to support regional development and postwar reconstruction in Ukraine is an extremely important task that has great potential for improving the welfare of the population and ensuring sustainable development of the country as a whole. At the same time, the geographic information system of regional development in Ukraine is aimed at improving the efficiency of regional development management (analysis of the state of territories, their potential and problems) to develop and implement effective regional development strategies, ensure optimal use of resources, increase the competitiveness of regions and attractiveness for investors, ensure environmental safety, improve the welfare of the population and overcome territorial differences.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Taking into account international experience, it is important for Ukraine to choose a model of regional policy that would take into account the basic legal, economic, social, environmental, humanitarian and organisational principles of the state regional policy as an integral part of Ukraine's domestic policy and the conditions of martial law.

2) Scientific approaches to the formation of geoinformation support for regional development and post-war reconstruction of territorial communities of Ukraine should include the possibility of collecting and systematising geospatial and semantic data on the socio-economic life of communities and regions, which, in turn, will allow identifying problems at the local level.

3) Development of the documents of the state regional policy system should be based on indicators of the socio-economic situation, and the decision-making process in this area will become reasonable, predictable and objective based on the use of geospatial data.

4) Establishing the relationship between strategic goals, objectives, measures and indicators will automate the assessment of strategic goals from the local to the state level, as well as monitoring and evaluation of the implementation of the state regional policy.

5) Based on the automated assessment of socio-economic development indicators in the geographic information system, it is possible to significantly improve the quality of further management decisions in the field of strategic planning and to promote investment potential through openness to investors, business and stakeholders of regional development and post-war restoration of territorial communities in Ukraine.

Bibliography

- 1. Juliao, R.P. (1998). "GIS and regional development: Examples of applications," ERSA conference papers ersa98p222, European Regional Science Association.
- Schaller, J., & Mattos, C. (2009). GIS model applications for sustainable development and environmental planning at the regional level. In GeoSpatial Visual Analytics: Geographical Information Processing and Visual Analytics for Environmental Security (pp. 45-57). Springer Netherlands.

- 3. Cano, M., Garzón, E., & Sánchez-Soto, P. J. (2013). Historic preservation, GIS, & rural development: The case of Almería province, Spain. Applied geography, 42, 34-47.
- 4. Zelenskyi, V.O. (2022). Vidbudova Ukrainy bude naibilshym vneskom u pidtrymku hlobalnoho myru promova Prezydenta na Mizhnarodnii konferentsii z pytan vidnovlennia Ukrainy v Luhano [The reconstruction of Ukraine will be the greatest contribution to the support of global peace - the President's speech at the International Conference on the Reconstruction of Ukraine in Lugano]. www.president.gov.ua. Retrieved from https://www.president.gov.ua/news/vidbudova-ukrayini-bude-najbilshim-vneskom-u-pidtrimku-globa-76261 [in Ukrainian].
- 5. Law of Ukraine On the principles of state regional policy February 05 2015, № 156-VIII. (2015, February 05). URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/156-19#Text [in Ukrainian].
- 6. On approval of the State Strategy for Regional Development for 2021-2027: Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine № 695 (2020, August 05). URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/695- 2020-%D0%BF#Text [in Ukrainian].
- 7. Law of Ukraine On the regulation of urban development activities February 17 2011, № 3038-VI. (2011, February 17). URL: https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/3038-17#Text [in Ukrainian].
- 8. Ben-David, D., and Papell, D. H. (1998). Slowdowns and meltdowns: Postwar growth evidence from 74 countries. Review of Economics and Statistics 80 (4): 561–71. doi: 10.1162/003465398557834.
- 9. Beugelsdijk, S., Klasing, M. J., and Milionis, P. (2018). Regional economic development in Europe: The role of total factor productivity. Regional Studies 52 (4): 461–76. doi: 10.1080/00343404.2017.1334118.
- 10. Crescenzi, R., and Iammarino, S. (2017). Global investments and regional development trajectories: The missing links. Regional Studies 51 (1): 97–115. doi: 10.1080/00343404.2016.1262016.
- 11. Dijkstra, L., Poelman, H., and Rodríguez-Pose, A. (2020). The geography of EU discontent. Regional Studies 54 (6): 737–53. doi: 10.1080/00343404.2019.1654603.
- 12. European Commission. (2022). Cohesion in Europe towards 2050: Eighth report on economic, social and territorial cohesion, ed. L. Dijkstra. Brussels, Belgium: European Commission, Directorate General for Regional and Urban Policy. https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/information/cohesion-report/.
- 13. Rodríguez-Pose, A., and Ganau, R. (2022). Institutions and the productivity challenge for European regions. Journal of Economic Geography, 22 (1): 1–25. doi: 10.1093/jeg/lbab003.

RESIDENTS' PARTICIPATION IN THE DECISION-MAKING OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF MARUPE

Ginta Kronberga¹, Dr.sc.soc; **Edijs Upmalis**², B.sc.soc.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. The right of society to participate in the decision-making processes of the state and local governments, in the development and management of development policy is one of the basic principles of a democratic state system. Taking into account the direct communication link between local governments and their residents and their role as organizations that MPs, residents of the territory, non-governmental organizations and other interest representatives jointly create, maintain and participate in, it is municipalities that have the most significant opportunities to unite various representative groups of society, as well as to solve issues and problems with an interdisciplinary approach, which is why participation issues are most often viewed directly at the level of local municipalities. The purpose of the article is to study and analyse the participation of residents in the decision-making of the municipality of Marupe region and the factors affecting it. The study used a combined research approach using a population survey and semi-structured interviews. The most significant results of the study are related to the fact that residents' participation, where the municipality promotes informing and consulting residents. The lack of transport infrastructure, the actions of municipality and residents after the previous division of counties and the involvement of individuals in the environment are the lack of a sense of belonging as a factor hindering the participation of residents in the participation of residents in the newly created Marupe county.

Key words: residents' participation, decision-making, Marupe Municipality.

JEL code: Z18; R59

Introduction

The involvement of society, especially local residents, or participation in public administration decisionmaking has now become an important and topical issue in social sciences both in the world and in Latvia (Pirannejad et al., 2019; Roman & Fellnhofer, 2022; Sek & Czarnowski, 2022; Levits, 2023).

One of the most effective ways to increase participation and involve residents in governance, as well as to improve the stability and security of communities, is the so-called *decentralization* of power and decision-making (Adnan et al., 2022; Pirannejad et al., 2019). Since decentralization is based on the principle of subsidiarity, it means bringing power closer to residents. This requires sustainable and organized work of the involved institutions, both at the local and central level. It also involves continuously realigning the relationship between different stakeholders through constant dialogue and communication.

On 1 July 2021, as a result of the administrative territorial reform, Marupe parish of Marupe County with the former Salas parish of Babite County and Babite parish were merged into the new Marupe County with the administrative centre - Marupe village. The changes have affected the daily work of the municipality's structure, services and institutions, as well as the residents' participation in discussing topical issues of the development of the county; therefore it is currently relevant to conduct a study to find out whether and in what way residents are provided with information about the decisions made by the Council in the municipality, and what the opportunities to participate in municipal decision-making are.

The purpose of the article is to study and analyze the participation of residents in the decision-making of the municipality of Marupe region and the factors affecting it. The tasks of the article are to theoretically characterize citizen participation and to conduct empirical research in order to find out what factors influence citizen participation in decision-making in the municipality of Marupe County and what methods are used to promote it. In Latvia, by citizens we understand a native or naturalized persons who owe

¹ E-mail:ginta.kronberga@lbtu.lv

² E-mail:edijspr@inbox.lv

allegiance to the state and has a right to vote on the state level. Group of people living in Latvia are residents or non-citizens; they do not vote in state or local elections, but they can take part in civic activities. The authors put forward two hypotheses: 1) residents' participation in the decision-making process of the municipality of Marupe region is concentrated at the lowest levels of participation, in which the municipality promotes informing and consulting residents; 2) the factor hindering residents' involvement in participation processes is the lack of a sense of belonging to the newly created Marupe County.

To achieve the objective, a combined research approach was applied using a population survey and semi-structured face-to-face interviews. 325 respondents aged from 18 to 89 years participated in the survey. The sample of respondents was created according to the principles of convenience or available sampling. The fieldwork took place from 21 February 2023 to 5 April 2023 in Marupe, Babite and Sala parishes. The survey was available on google.doc. Information about the survey was distributed through the communication channels of the Marupe County municipality, in cooperation with schools, using the e-class system, as well as in printed form in the Mazcenas library of the Marupe County municipality and the library of the Cultural Education Centre of the Babite parish, in order to better reach the County's senior residents. As part of the qualitative method, 3 semi-structured interviews were conducted (one with a representative of the municipality, two with the residents of the county). The sample of informants was formed according to the principles of purposive and snowball sampling; one local government representative and two socially active residents from Sala and Babite parishes participated in the interview.

Theoretical characteristics of resident participation

The main prerequisite for the implementation of a sustainable democratic reform process is the ability to make residents trust the elected leadership. The stronger the connection between the two sides (*residents on the one hand and elected officials on the other*), the more successful and democratic the society will be (Krupiy 2020). Undoubtedly, these relations will strengthen in proportion to the readiness of elected officials to respond to the true needs of residents, represent their interests and improve their quality of life. This factor becomes increasingly important at the local level of governance, where the relationship between the two parties is more evident. Individuals and groups involved in the decision-making process are called stakeholders. These parties have an interest in local policy decision-making and implementation, as these decisions affect residents' well-being and daily life (Roman & Fellnhofer, 2022).

There is an opinion that the public is not aware of its role in the decision-making process, because it is not informed (or does not feel that the municipality needs public support by evaluating, analysing or getting involved), but it is clearly known that the municipality acts in the interests of its residents. In the framework of the article, the authors understand the concept of citizen participation as a process in which interested parties living in a certain geographical area participate in planning the development of the territory, making important decisions of the territory and creating new projects. Residents jointly control the setting of priorities, the identification of needs and values, the creation of their mechanisms, the allocation of resources and access to public goods and services (Pilsoniskas iesaistes veicinasana pasvaldiba, 2017; Definition of Participation, 2004). Citizen participation can also be explained and analysed by the code of good practice of citizen participation, which includes four levels of resident participation in decision-making - information, consultation, dialogue and partnership (PanTERA- WP6, 2019), which explains the levels of public participation, starting from the lowest involvement - transfer of information for society, consultations, dialogues, up to the greatest involvement - creating a partnership between non-governmental organizations, state institutions and residents. It is important to note that these levels of

participation are adaptable to every decision-making process, but are especially important in specific and topical processes.



Source: created by the authors based on Pirannejad et al. 2019

Fig. 1. Basic principles of citizen participation

Decision-making, on the other hand, is explained as a process that brings individuals together in a group to solve problems and settle on a commonly chosen course of action among several alternative scenarios. Figure 1 shows the basic principles of citizen participation (Roman & Fellnhofer, 2022) between the involved parties.

Residents of any municipality must be aware and educated about their rights and responsibilities in relation to local government and the decision-making process. According to the authors, involved parties must be open about their actions, as well as flexible and able to negotiate and cooperate.

Cooperation is provided by **the residents' advisory group model**, which is one of the tools to ensure participation in order to provide ongoing consultations to municipal councils and administrations on various issues of interest to local residents. The advantages and positive aspects of using resident advisory groups as a local decision-making tool are as follows: first, increased transparency in the work of local elected officials; secondly, positive conditions have been created for building bonds of confidence and assurance between the two parties; thirdly, technical and quality assessment expertise of residents to support the work of local officials and, fourthly, organized relations between the municipality and representatives of different communities - especially valid to ethnically and politically mixed municipalities (Sęk & Czarnowski, 2022).

The initiative for the practical implementation and creation of such an approach must come from the residents, trying to influence local officials in making decisions that have a direct impact on their daily lives. However, practice, as research shows, has also revealed the opposite: the municipality, wanting to popularize its work as transparent, forms advisory groups of residents (composed of representatives loyal to the municipality) and involves residents in local decision-making to solve specific, practical issues common to local residents (Kopackova, Komarkova & Horak, 2022). In essence, residents' consultative groups are created whenever the local government has to perform a task that would benefit from residents' involvement in the decision-making process (Duygan, Fischer & Ingold, 2023).

The review of literature allows identifying the main factors promoting and hindering residents' participation (Figure 2).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 199-208 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.020

Contributing factors	Hindering factors
 Public education and training Public awareness campaigns Implementation of communication strategies Partnership development Fundraising Effective information exchange Exchange of experience and practice between local governments and residents (or resident consultative groups) Starting actual implementation of participation tools 	 Lack of mutual trust between residents and the municipality Limited access to information for residents Lack of motivation and cooperation (on both sides) Residents' limited knowledge and understanding of their rights and responsibilities Lack of skills, participatory culture and experience Too high expectations A confusion of powers between participation and actual decision-making Lack of resources Limited local authority skills and capacity to facilitate participation

Source: created by the authors based on Roman & Felinhofer 2022

Fig. 2. Facilitating and hindering factors of residents' participation

Among the essential factors for the execution of municipal communication and cooperation with residents is not only the circulation of information and the presentation of current events, but also the promotion of a sense of belonging to the municipality among residents.

Regarding the sense of belonging, four basic aspects are distinguished:

1) cultural aspect (maintenance and preservation of cultural values and norms in the environment, as well as a sense of equality with the local community/group);

2) structural aspect (equality of rights in the expression of opinions, preferences, for example, in local government elections, the right to participate in organizational life, equality in the availability of infrastructure, as well as other related aspects);

3) socially interactive aspect (interaction with the local community/group, participation in social life, events etc.);

4) and identity aspect (the preservation of a person's or group's identity, such as symbols, traditions, values and their equality for their further development) (Martiny et al., 2020).

The sense of belonging to a place is closely related to environmental factors, infrastructure availability, personal preferences and choices. It is very important to appreciate that belonging to a place or a municipality can change in a person's life cycle depending on various external and internal conditions, such as social, economic status, age, gender, occupation. It should also be noted that a person's internal environment (emotional experiences, general level of satisfaction and other factors) is closely related to the sense of belonging to the surrounding environment (Scannell & Gifford, 2017). A person's overall satisfaction and belonging to the surrounding environment, particularly to the municipality is largely determined by the socioeconomic status - the higher it is, the higher the sense of belonging, and vice versa (Duffy et al., 2020).

Citizen participation in decision-making as a cornerstone of a democratic society model increases transparency and makes local government officials more accountable for their decisions, bringing the involved parties closer and uniting them. One of the models for strengthening this link is the creation of advisory groups of residents, which ensure continuous dialogue and co-responsibility in decision-making between the two parties.

Research results and discussion

The obtained results are summarized in Figure 3, which shows the levels of public participation in the Municipality of Marupe County.



Source: compiled by the authors based on survey results

Fig. 3. The model of participation of residents of Marupe County

Informing. Analysing the question of the survey questionnaire of residents of Marupe County: "Are you informed about the possibility to participate in the decision-making processes and public activities of the municipality?", 57.2% admit that they are informed, 20.9% admit that they are not informed, but 21.8% explain that there is no information about municipal decision-making and public activities in general. The level of awareness is closely related to the interest and initiative of residents. Residents mostly use social networks like Facebook to get information (Figure 4). The statistical significance of this issue appears in several aspects: social networks in Marupe county are mostly used by residents in the age group from 18 to 35 years old, the municipal newsletter "Marupes Vestis" is used by residents in the age group 56 years and older; in addition, the residents of Babite parish use conversations with family members, friends, relatives, and acquaintances to obtain information.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 199-208 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.020





Fig. 4. Sources of information used by residents in the municipality of Marupe County, n>325

Currently, residents lack information about the existence, use, and functions of the mobile app, so residents rarely or never use it as a channel for obtaining information. In the Municipality of Marupe County, information is available to residents, but the saturation of information in the existing information channels is an influencing and hindering factor.

Consulting. Residents rarely or never get involved in municipal work and decision-making (Fig. 5). The statistical significance of this issue appears in the following aspects: the largest percentage (54%) of the residents of Babite parish actively participate in the decision-making of the municipality, 9% of residents in the age group of 56 years and older express the position that they are given the opportunity to express their ideas and opinions often; 62% of the inhabitants of Babite parish express the opinion that there has never been an opportunity to make corrections in the crucial stages of planning.







It is important to note that the availability of infrastructure and mobility and the political and organizational environment directly affect the sense of belonging to the county. Figure 6 summarizes the enabling (+) and hindering (-) factors that affect participation from the perspective of residents of Marupe County.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 199-208 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.020



Source: created by the author, based on the results of interviews and questionnaires

Fig. 6. Facilitating and hindering factors affecting the participation of residents of Marupe region for the promotion of participation

An important factor hindering residents' participation is the lack of transport infrastructure, which directly affects the sense of belonging in the newly created Marupe County. Residents explain that in the new county, all activities are oriented towards densely populated areas; this is especially proven by the absence of public transport between parishes.

Dialogue and partnership. The level of dialogue and partnership in the municipality of Marupe region in the answers is also related to the feeling of belonging and the factors affecting it and the individual's involvement in the living environment. If the municipality provides residents with information about current events in the municipality, organizes public consultations, creates residents' forums and discussions - this is a very important factor promoting the feeling of belonging. The involvement of the individual in the social, political and organizational environment also contributes to the feeling of belonging in the residents, but in this matter it is very important to observe the balance, so that the resident does not feel taken advantage of, if too much of a burden is "placed" on him. In an interview, the representative of the municipality admits that he is confused why people write various objections about current issues, but do not want to get involved in advisory councils, noting that residents may not participate in advisory councils as participants, but they have the opportunity to be listeners in meetings where they have the opportunity to express their position on the issue under discussion.

The Municipality of Marupe County expresses its desire for residents' participation in decision-making, the desire for residents to respond to surveys, as well as to come to think tanks in greater numbers. Think tanks as a form of citizen participation in the Municipality of Marupe County are a novelty that was created within the framework of the participation budget. They are conducted in small groups, in a specific neighbourhood, talking about what a participatory budget is, how the resident has the opportunity to present his idea, as well as present his needs, creating a dialogue. Looking at the results of the open question of the survey questionnaire, it should be concluded that at the level of consultation, the residents lack arguments from the municipality, why the involvement of the residents is important and how it can affect them. Residents lack a visible result of the respective implemented cases in social networks, on the website, in the regional newspaper and in other channels. The authors of the paper conclude that the residents of Marupe County lack motivation to participate in such events. According to residents, informational campaigns are necessary to provide residents with information about the functions of advisory councils and the advantages of Thinktanks. Residents also express their view that there should be more interactive polling, not only about future projects, but also about problems today.

Issues that touch the lives of each individual in the most direct way earn the greatest feedback and response - engagement. On the other hand, if there is more talk about entertainment issues, in the direction of less important issues, then this feedback link is also weaker. Basic needs are very important to the population and it is important for the municipality to provide these basic needs to the population. Figure 7 shows the participation levels for the issues with the highest involvement and vice versa - the least involvement.



Source: Compiled by the authors based on the results of the interviews

Fig. 7. Hierarchical structure of the basic needs of the population

Residents want to solve issues of interest to them by forming interest associations in order to engage in discussions that will contribute to the improvement of their quality of life. It is important to emphasize that there is no dialogue between the residents of the County parishes, because each parish acts in its own interests, for the benefit of its own parish. According to the authors, the municipality in the united county should promote cooperation by uniting voluntary neighbourhood associations and like-minded groups of residents, invite to create dialogue and partnership that would promote the growth of the County and the cohesion of the residents.

Overall, it should be concluded that the proposed hypotheses will be confirmed, the factors contributing to residents' participation are: improvement of recreation infrastructure, preservation and maintenance of natural values, formation of a common county identity, involvement of residents in daily management activities and creation of neighbourhood groups in the county. In the county, there are positive features of the residents' desire to come together, for example, creating neighbourhood groups in parishes, where it would be possible to solve various issues of infrastructure, natural values and daily management. The factors hindering residents' participation are: saturation of information in existing information channels and residents' different understanding of municipal functions. The functions of the public sector are significantly different from the functions of the private sector, so the residents have a lack of understanding of what the municipality is entitled to do and what it is not entitled to do. The municipality needs to carry out explanatory work with the residents in order to reach a consensus on specific issues through the exchange of arguments, as well as to carry out effective circulation of current information through the municipality's information channels. Regarding the sense of belonging of the population, the main hindering factors are: the lack of transport infrastructure, the actions of municipalities and residents after the previous division of counties and the involvement of the individual in the environment. The residents' sense of belonging to the newly created Marupe County is not encouraged, because the residents believe that each party defends its interests after the previous division of counties and there are differences between parishes, for example,

the absence of a public transport network, which affects the involvement of residents in making current decisions of the county.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Residents' participation in decision-making unites both society members with each other and society with the local government - it promotes transparency and the responsibility of local government officials for their decisions.

2) The establishment of advisory groups in municipalities ensures continuous dialogue and coresponsibility in decision-making between residents, municipal employees and interested parties, creating mutual feedback, which is the essence of the basic principles of effective citizen participation.

3) In general, the residents of Marupe County are informed about the work of the municipality and social activities in the county, but there is a lack of support and motivation to participate within the consultation level, as there is a lack of explanation from the municipality about the impact and result of the involvement.

4) At the level of dialogue and partnership, residents' involvement is determined by whether the issue affects the residents directly and whether the problem situation is territorially adjacent to them. Basic needs such as children's education, infrastructure and mobility, as well as utility bills are also very important to residents. Residents admit that they do not want to participate in creating a dialogue with the municipality, for example in thinktanks, because until now there has been no opportunity to make sure that their opinion is taken into account and that they are able to influence decision-making.

5) In order to promote residents' participation in municipal work and decision-making, it would be advisable for the municipality to provide hybrid meetings of both public consultation and advisory boards, so that as many residents as possible can participate and make suggestions. It is necessary to attract various specialists so that the residents can also receive answers to questions of interest to them.

6) In the Municipality of Marupe County, it is necessary to improve the public transport network, so that the residents of Babite and Sala also have the opportunity to reach the administrative centre, thus providing the residents with the opportunity to receive services in person and attend activities organized by the County.

Bibliography

- Adnan, M., Ghazali, M., & Othman, N. Z. S. (2022). E-participation Within the Context of E-government Initiatives: A Comprehensive Systematic Review. Telematics and Informatics Reports, 8, 100015. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teler.2022.100015
- Definition of Participation (2004). Part of 2004 Report "Designing Social Capital Sensitive Participation Methodologies". Retrieved from: https://www.socialcapitalresearch.com/designing-social-capital-sensitiveparticipation-methodologies/definition-participation/
- Duffy, R. D., Kim, H. J., Gensmer, N. P., Pendleton, L. H., Boren, S., & Garriott, P. O. (2020). Testing a Critical Cultural Wealth Model of Well-being Among First-generation Students. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 67(2), 171–183. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000388
- 4. Duygan, M., Fischer, M., Ingold, K. (2023). Assessing the Readiness of Municipalities for Digital Process Innovation. Technology in Society, 72, 102-179. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102179
- Kopackova, H., Komarkova, J., Horak, O. (2022). Enhancing the Diffusion of E-participation Tools in Smart Cities. Cities, 125, 103-640. . Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2022.103640
- Krupiy, T. (2020). A Vulnerability Analysis: Theorising the Impact of Artificial Intelligence Decision-making Processes on Individuals, Society and Human Diversity from a Social Justice Perspective. Computer Law & Security Review, 38, 105-429. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clsr.2020.105429
- 7. Levits, E. (2023). Valsts prezidents: iedzivotaju veletas padomes veicinas lidzdalibu, piederibu un abdstiprinas demokratiju vieteja meroga. [The President: councils elected by residents will promote participation, belonging and strengthen democracy at the local level] Retrieved from: https://www.president.lv/lv/jaunums/valsts-prezidentsiedzivotaju-veletas-padomes-veicinas-lidzdalibu-piederibu-un-stiprinas-demokratiju-vieteja-meroga

- Martiny, S.E., Froehlich, L., Soltanpanah, J., Haugen, M.S., (2020). Young Immigrants in Norway: The Role of National and Ethnic Identity in Immigrants' Integration'. Scandinavian Journal of Psychology. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1111/sjop.12594
- 9. PanTERA- WP6. (2019). Stakeholder Consultation Plans, Pan-European Partnership Group. Retrieved from: https://pantera-platform.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/D6.2-Stakeholder-consultation-plans.pdf
- 10. Pilsoniskas iesaistes veicinasana pasvaldiba [Promotion of civic engagement in local government] (2017). Retrieved from: https://www.activecitizensfund.lv/storage/documents/pilsoniskas-iesaistes-veicinasana-pasvaldiba-kekavas-novada-piemers.pdf
- 11. Pirannejad, A., Janssen, M., Rezaei, J. (2019). Towards a Balanced E-Participation Index: Integrating Government and Society Perspectives. Government Information Quarterly, 36(4), 101-404. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.101404
- 12. Roman, M., Fellnhofer, K. (2022). Facilitating the Participation of Civil Society in Regional Planning: Implementing Quadruple Helix Model in Finnish Regions. Land Use Policy, 112, 105-864. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2021.105864
- Sęk, O., Czarnowski, I. (2022). Application of Analytic Hierarchy Process in Selecting a State-Made Electronic Documentation Management System for Polish Municipalities. Procedia Computer Science, 207, 3969–3977. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2022.09.459
- 14. Scannell, L., Gifford, R. (2017). Place Attachment Enhances Psychological Need Satisfaction. Environment and Behaviour 49 (4). Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/299345824_Place_Attachment_Enhances_Psychological_Need_Satisfacti on

POLICY-PLANNING INITIATIVES AND HYDROGEN APPLICATION FACILITATION PROJECTS IN LATVIA

Ilgmars Lejnieks¹, Mg.oec., Mg.sc.pol.; **Modrite Pelse**², Dr.oec., prof.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. The European Union Green Deal agenda calls for cleaner and more environmentally friendly energy sources for future development. One of the most promising renewable fuels that has the potential to replace fossil energy sources in the next few decades is hydrogen. The aim of the research is to determine the main directions of Latvian policy for hydrogen utilisation in the economy and discover the nature of hydrogen projects. Research provides a review of the Latvian policy initiatives regarding hydrogen, analyses hydrogen projects, and determines common pathways between projects and policy planning documents. Many projects within the research framework can be described as multidimensional and are pilot projects examining possible scenarios for developing some elements of the overall hydrogen industry. More than two of the largest initiatives concerning green hydrogen production and hydrogen application in civil aviation are in the research phase. While renewable resources are often included in major Latvian policy planning documents, hydrogen is often neglected in the aolicy-building process. However, current and future hydrogen projects are associated with two main sectoral policy planning documents: Transport Development Guidelines 2021-2027 and Latvia's National Energy and Climate Plan 2021-2030. According to existing policy and projects, transport, along with storage and refiling infrastructure, will be the first beneficiaries of hydrogen. Finally, the Latvian government must adopt an overall policy roadmap on the hydrogen agenda.

Key words: green hydrogen, policy planning, hydrogen projects, renewable energy.

JEL code: R00

Introduction

The EU Green Agenda establishes the need for cleaner and more sustainable energy sources for further economic development. One of the most promising renewable energy sources that can already be produced in large amounts is hydrogen. Moreover, hydrogen obtained from renewable resources like wind and solar power is one of the most promising energy sources for replacing fossil fuels in the next few decades. According to this paradigm, the policies of every EU member state serve as crucial pillars for the growth of the hydrogen sector.

The EU hydrogen policy reflects an idea about the government's importance for new industry development within a particular area. Currently, these initiatives are offering significant funding for various green and low-carbon hydrogen-related projects. This financial support must encourage EU member states to create their own visions and policy planning documents about the use of hydrogen in their local economies, thereby assisting in the energy transition from fossil fuels to carbon-neutral energy sources. Of the 27 EU member states, 16 have adopted hydrogen roadmaps for their economies. At this moment, Latvia is one of the 11 countries within the Union without that kind of policy-planning document. However, since last year, some projects in the field of hydrogen production and application have been on their way in Latvia.

Discourse regarding hydrogen uses widely accepted three-colour typology. Hydrogen retrieved from renewable sources is marked as green hydrogen; blue (low-carbon) hydrogen is produced from fossil fuels, and emissions from this process are captured, stored, or used in other industrial processes; grey hydrogen is retrieved from fossil fuels without absorption of emission gases from the production process (International Energy Agency, 2023). With respect to the EU energy transition initiative, this paper analyses policies and projects regarding green and blue hydrogen.

¹ E-mail: ilgmars.l@gmail.com

² E-mail: modrite.pelse@lbtu.lv

The hypothesis of the study suggests that, despite the insufficiency of hydrogen policy guidelines in Latvia, projects are aimed at hydrogen application in the transport sector. The object of the research is Latvian policy-planning initiatives in the area of hydrogen application in the economy. The subject of this study is hydrogen-related projects reflecting policy initiatives along local or regional boundaries.

The aim of the research is to determine the main directions of Latvian policy for hydrogen utilisation in the economy and discover the nature of hydrogen projects. The specified aim is accompanied by the following tasks: to review the Latvian policy documents and initiatives mentioning hydrogen research and application scenarios; assess hydrogen-related projects, and determine common pathways between projects and policy planning documents in Latvia.

The authors employed the monographic study method and quantitative content analysis to complete the tasks that were stated in the study. Policy planning documents and normative acts across different fields of the economy, press releases, presentations, project assessments, and other sources are the foundation of the study's information base. The information basis for the study topic corresponds to the time period until March 2024. The authors emphasise the high dynamism of the hydrogen field and possible rapid changes in different aspects of the researched topic.

Research provides novelty by bringing forth analyses of Latvian policy and projects in the field of hydrogen application within the economy. These topics haven't been highlighted in previous papers concerning the hydrogen agenda in Latvia.

Research results and discussion

This section of the study is divided into three parts. The first part represents the analysis of Latvian policy planning documents and normative acts concerning hydrogen application within the economy. The second part describes and assesses different hydrogen-related projects in Latvia. And the final part is designed for discussion corresponding to policy initiatives and characteristics of hydrogen projects within Latvia.

1. Hydrogen-related initiatives in Latvian policy planning

Throughout the history of theoretical thought, a wide list of authors has emphasised the importance of the government in economic affairs. Proponents of larger government involvement highlight the importance of public administration actions promoting demand, employment, investments, and other building blocks of economic growth (Keynes, 2018; Myrdal, 1957; Thirlwall, 2002; Stiglitz, 2021). In this perspective, it is obvious that government policy planning documents with large field priorities and tasks are present for the purpose of the development of different parts of the economy.

Policy-planning initiatives of individual member states of the EU derive from policy patterns within EU institutions, especially the European Commission. Moreover, national policy planning is derived not only from the guidelines of EU planning documents but also from EU budget priorities and programmes (Wolff, 2015; Economidou et al., 2022; Teixeira, Tavares-Lehmann, 2022; Wappler et al., 2022). This is the case for the implementation of new frameworks for the energy transition process from fossil fuels to carbon-neutral energy sources.

Discussion concerning the further economic development of EU member states is impossible without the 17 sustainable development objectives set by the United Nations in 2015, which are considered the cornerstones of further policy-planning patterns in the EU (European Commission, 2023). Moreover, the seventh aim of the Paris agreement calls for a significantly increased share of renewables in the global energy mix and requires large amounts of investment in clean energy technologies and infrastructure

(United Nations, 2015). As might be expected, hydrogen derived from renewable energy sources such as hydropower, biomass, solar, wind, and other forms of energy should also be perceived as the foundation for new energy initiatives among EU member states (2023a).

At the beginning, it must be highlighted that since the Latvian government doesn't have a particular hydrogen strategy or roadmap, hydrogen policy planning issues in Latvia have been very limited and mostly integrated into the general term of renewable energy. Despite this fact, some direct measures and goals can be spotted in different fields of policy planning agendas. According to the main Latvian government planning document, Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, hydrogen is mentioned as a possible source of renewable energy in the transport sector (Saeima of the Republic of Latvia, 2010).

If policy documents with particular actions are observed, it must be noted that there is no mention of hydrogen of any kind in the major Latvian policy planning action plan, the National Development Plan of Latvia for 2021–2027. According to this document, the replacement of fossil fuels in the economy is outlined by using local renewable sources like wind and solar power for electricity production (Cross-Sectoral Coordination Centre, 2020). However, there are some hydrogen references and specific actions inside specific action plans concerning particular areas of public policy or the economy itself.

The main policy-planning documents of Latvia highlight renewable energy application in the transport sector, and transport is often viewed as the primary area of application of hydrogen (Singh et al., 2015; Zemite et al., 2023; Le gouvernement luxembourgeois, 2021; Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities, 2021). In the absence of industries like refining, mineral fertiliser, and steel production where hydrogen can be applied in relative short terms, transportation is another attractive area for its utilisation. By constructing hydrogen filling stations and investigating applications for this gas in major commercial or public transportation (trucks, trains, buses, ships etc.), the transportation industry may reduce its carbon footprint.

The implementation plan of the Transport Development Guidelines 2021-2027 sets out a number of measures in the area of hydrogen application. Firstly, the development and maintenance of alternative fuel infrastructure, including refuelling stations. Secondly, the research of scenarios for the development of hydrogen fuel use in Latvia, the most cost-effective solutions for the provision of renewable hydrogen in the transport sector, and evaluating the most appropriate types of hydrogen production, refuelling, and supply possibilities. Finally, it assesses the feasibility of using hydrogen cell technology in trains (Ministry of Transport..., 2021). As can be noted, these policy guidelines until 2027 provide a more ground-level, project-oriented approach that is focused on research, scenario building for hydrogen utilisation, and pilot projects for commercialization.

Moreover, the importance of defossilization of the transport sector is promoted in Latvia's Air Pollution Reduction Action Plan 2020–2030. It states that transport policy should focus on promoting the long-term transition towards more environmentally friendly vehicles, including through hydrogen fuel transport (Cabinet of Ministers, 2020). Furthermore, within Latvia's Strategic Plan for the Common Agricultural Policy 2023-2027 there is one general assumption about the possibility of hydrogen utilisation in machinery (Ministry of Agriculture..., 2023).

According to Latvia's National Energy and Climate Plan 2021–2030, hydrogen is perceived as an alternative power source instead of fossil fuels in the transportation sector in the long term. Moreover, the government is committed to supporting research into alternative fuels, including hydrogen, production, infrastructure development, and the integration of innovative solutions in the energy system, transport, and logistics sectors. Three clear actions can be identified within the document. First, there is a plan to implement transnational projects for the construction of offshore wind farms in cooperation with Lithuania

and Estonia, as well as to evaluate the possibility of installing equipment for producing hydrogen from wind energy. Second, as part of the modernization of energy infrastructure, it was planned to carry out a study on the possibilities of adapting the local natural gas transmission system for hydrogen transportation by the end of 2023. Third, it is intended to develop an action plan for the development of hydrogen infrastructure and market conditions (Ministry of Economics..., 2021).

While the domination of hydrogen initiatives in the transport sector is obvious in the policy planning agenda, evident at the same time is the commitment to creating green hydrogen production and developing transmission infrastructure for this fuel. Since Latvia lacks industry capable of hydrogen utilisation in large amounts, another major hydrogen application area could be the local energy sector. It must be mentioned that the National Industrial Policy Guidelines 2021-2027 don't provide any reference to hydrogen but declare the role of renewables in the efficient use of energy sources, reduction of energy consumption, and transition to the use of renewable energy sources in manufacturing through the transition to a clean circular economy in the EU (Ministry of Economics..., 2023).

It must be noted that the current government, within its Action Plan for the Implementation of the Declaration on the Planned Activities of the Cabinet of Ministers, has included an action providing development of the Latvian Hydrogen and Green Fuels Industrial Development Plan and setting out infrastructure development projects in Latvia, including main pipelines, ports, storage infrastructure, and industrial parks for hydrogen (Cabinet of Ministers..., 2024).

2. Hydrogen-related projects with Latvia participation

In the last couple of years, there has been a notable increase in project numbers dealing with hydrogen agendas in different sectors of the economy. The majority of the projects are in the framework of international cooperation within EU financial support schemes, but there are some initiatives designed by local market participants aimed at increasing hydrogen utilisation.

The Freeport of Ventspils authority has signed a contract with PurpleGreen Energy Ltd. for the research stage of building the green hydrogen plant in Ventspils. The project aims to develop Ventspils into a hub for future energy production and export, providing a competitive advantage for companies. The project initiators are planning to produce different products and fuels from green hydrogen. For example, the hydrogen plant will use existing Ventspils Freeport infrastructure and collaborate with local companies to export energy in the form of e-methanol or "green" ammonia (Freeport of Ventspils Authority, 2023).

The Latvian Hydrogen Association and Riga Airport are partnering to promote hydrogen solutions in the Latvian aviation sector in support of Hamburg Airport's initiative BSR HyAirport. The project, initiated by Hamburg Airport, aims to connect rural regions of the Baltic Sea with existing aviation routes using small hydrogen-powered planes. The project, which began in November 2023 and will take about three years, involves 16 partners, including Riga Airport, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, aviation fuel supplier Gulfsteram Oil, and 24 associated organizations. The project has a budget of around 4.8 million euros, with 20% of the sum going to Hamburg Airport and 80% EU funding for the remaining partners. The project aims to revive regional air travel and develop a green, gaseous hydrogen supply chain from production to refuelling of aircraft or airport ground equipment. The project also pursued to develop preconditions for airport infrastructure designed to hydrogen-powered planes (Riga Airport, 2023).

The first interregional green hydrogen value chain project (H₂Value) since the end of 2022 is taking place in South Estonia, Tartu region, and Northern Latvia, Vidzeme region, with nine partners from Estonia, Latvia, and the Netherlands. It will be implemented for three years, and it aims to establish two pilot projects in the Tartu and Vidzeme regions, including setting up a small-scale green hydrogen production

plant, establishing a green hydrogen refuelling station, testing hydrogen transportation via road, and using this gas as a zero-emissions fuel source. The project partners will focus on developing an interregional business and investment plan. The total budget of the project is almost 4.3 million euros. Among the participants in the project is one of the largest waste management companies in Latvia, SIA "ZAAO" (H_2 Value, 2023).

HyTruck is a project focusing on designing a network of hydrogen refuelling stations for large trucks, aiming to reduce emissions in road freight transport. The initiative aims to help public authorities develop a transnational network of green hydrogen refuelling stations for large trucks. The network would provide refuelling possibilities for trucks travelling from Poznan to Tartu. HyTruck is developing solutions to equip public authorities with the capacity to elaborate spatial development concepts, provide a regulatory framework, ensure common standards, and design public co-funding programmes. The total budget of the project is a little less than 2.6 million euros and will continue from 2023 to 2025. The project partner from Latvia, Vidzeme Planning Region, will receive 274 thousand euros (Interreg Baltic Sea Region, 2023).

The Green Tech Cluster from Latvia is participating in the BalticSeaH2 project, which intends to create a large-scale, cross-border hydrogen valley around the Baltic Sea and an integrated hydrogen economy within the region. The project includes 40 partners from nine Baltic Sea area countries. The goal of the project is to create an integrated hydrogen economy to ensure the self-sufficiency of energy resources and minimise carbon emissions from different sectors of the economy. The main hydrogen valley is planned between southern Finland and Estonia. This area is an optimal location for a cross-border hydrogen market and is equipped with necessary infrastructure like gas pipelines, electricity grids, and marine traffic. The BalticSeaH2 initiative enables 25 demonstration and investment cases to emphasise the different sectors of the hydrogen economy. The total volume of the project is 33 million euros; 25 million of the funding is from the EU. It started in 2023 and will last for five years. The Green Tech Cluster in this project will focus on the studies for the use cases of green ammonia and will contribute to other work aimed at facilitating and supporting the hydrogen valleys in Latvia (Green Tech Cluster, 2023).

The Latvian gas transmission system operator Conexus Baltic Grid is participating in the Nordic-Baltic Hydrogen Corridor project, which has the status of being of common interest to the European Commission. The goal of the project is to create a connection between green energy production regions in Northern Europe and the major consumers in Central Europe. It is expected to be implemented in 2030. At the end of 2022, the six partners—gas transmission system operators—within the project signed a cooperation agreement on project promotion (Conexus Baltic Grid, 2023). At the end of 2023, Conexus conducted a market study on hydrogen infrastructure development in Latvia. The research assessed the level of interest of potential hydrogen producers and consumers in the development of hydrogen transmission initiatives, including their readiness to use the pipeline and storage services for hydrogen (Conexus Baltic Grid, 2023a).

Apart from projects that focus on hydrogen production and infrastructure, there are initiatives that include the production of hydrogen-powered transport. For example, the Dutch company "Fokker Next Gena" has signed a memorandum of cooperation with the Ministry of Economics, the Liepaja Special Economic Zone Authority, and Riga Technical University and plans to develop a hydrogen plane project in the territory of Liepaja International Airport. The company intends to develop a hydrogen-powered passenger jet model that could hold up to 150 passenger seats, cover a distance of up to 2,500 kilometres, and build a final assembly line in Liepaja. Alongside, the company is committed to creating a hydrogen aircraft operations excellence centre in Latvia focused on the ground handling of aircraft and maintenance. This activity could create up to 100 new jobs in Latvia during the initial phase of the project in the next three years (Liepaja, 2023).

Furthermore, the Latvian company AS "Electrify H_2 ," which produces electric buses, is in the process of developing cutting-edge boats that use hydrogen power. This motor boat is intended to meet the expected demand for that type of vessel in the various areas of service, freight, and passenger transport sectors across Europe (CrowdedHero, 2023).

Within the discussion concerning hydrogen-powered transport, it must be noted that, at the time of writing this paper, the only hydrogen refiling station in the Baltic States is located in Riga. The refilling station is equipped with a steam methane reformation system, which is able to produce 300 kg of this fuel per day (H_2NODES , 2024). For example, the hydrogen-powered passenger car Toyota Mirai fuel tank capacity is 5.6 kg (Toyota UK Media site, 2023). In this way, the station can fully refill 53 such vehicles in 24 hours.

In recent years, there has been a focus on hydrogen research within the scientific community. For example, projects aiming to develop an innovative solution for compressing gaseous hydrogen, the assessment of possibilities for hydrogen production from biogas, the usage of artificial technology for automatic monitoring and optimisation of these renewable fuel production processes, and others are ongoing or are being implemented. Meanwhile, in order to prepare the industry for the hydrogen economy, the Institute of Solid State Physics at the University of Latvia has developed a unique training programme for hydrogen technologies and their application to energy companies. In the fall of 2023, specialists from the state-owned energy company Latvenergo graduated from this course (Labs of Latvia, 2023).

The hydrogen projects cover different regions of Latvia and can potentially positively influence the local economy and encourage the energy transition process (Figure 1). At the same time, Latgale region doesn't benefit as much from hydrogen projects as other parts of the country. However, it must be assessed that two large projects in Kurzeme region are only in the exploration phase, and there is no estimated amount of investment or time frame for the project to begin. Possible amounts of investment are calculated based on similar projects in Europe and other parts of the world. For example, a green hydrogen power plant with a capacity of 10,000 metric tonnes per year of produced hydrogen will require approximately 140 million euros in investment.



Source: official project information and author's estimates according to similar projects in the aviation industry (plane assembly lines of Boeing, Airbus, and Bombardier) and green hydrogen production (hydrogen plant projects of Shell, Plug Power, Masdar, and Verbund)

Fig. 1. Ongoing and potential projects concerning hydrogen application in the Latvian economy in 2024, according to their financing amount in millions of euros

The above-mentioned projects can be divided into four major groups within the hydrogen issue: production, infrastructure, equipment, and knowledge. Production is reflecting issues concerning hydrogen derived from renewable energy sources or fossil fuels and nature of these power sources (wind, solar, natural gas, hydro etc.). Whereas infrastructure group deals with hydrogen transmission, storage, and distribution networks issues. In turn, equipment projects focus on a wide range of means of hydrogen utilisation, for example, divergent transport (land, sea, air), different kinds of hydrogen pressuring or cooling techniques etc. Finally, knowledge aspect includes not only scientific research but also overall knowledge of different specialists working in distinct fields.

Furthermore, it must be pointed out that not all projects are aimed at using only green hydrogen for their declared purposes. It must be admitted that hydrogen infrastructure development focuses on using all types of this fuel, but in light of the EU fuel transmission process, refiling, and storage capacities, these are notable catalysts for a wider usage of green hydrogen. Moreover, the development of wind farms is a major facilitating factor for the production of green hydrogen in larger amounts. At this period of time, the big success for Latvia's energy transition from fossil fuels would be a green hydrogen production plant and distribution network for this fuel to start a notable inflow of this fuel in the local transport sector and facilitate possible export opportunities.

Many projects within the research framework can be described as multimodal or multidimensional in the view of the fact that many of them are pilot projects and are examining possible scenarios of developing some element of the overall hydrogen industry. These elements are building blocks for hydrogen valleys that are seen as facilitators of the energy transmission process towards renewable energy sources (European Commission, 2023; Clean Hydrogen Partnership, 2023; Capurso et al., 2022; Majka, et al., 2023).

3. Hydrogen projects within corresponding policy initiatives

For the research to be successful, it must be identified how many times green hydrogen and hydrogen are mentioned in different policy documents. Content analysis can shed light on the actuality of this energy source in the discussion about the energy transformation of the economy of Latvia. In this paper, a summary of the content analyses of eight major Latvia's policy planning documents is presented (Table 1).

Table 1

The overview of how many times hydrogen and other renewables are mentioned
in Latvia's major policy planning documents

Policy planning document	Hydrogen	Green or renewable hydrogen	Renewable resources, fuels or energy	Wind power, energy or utilities	Solar power, energy or utilities
Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030	1	0	52	9	7
National Development Plan of Latvia for 2021–2027	0	0	8	1	1
Transport Development Guidelines 2021–2027	31	8	26	1	2
National Energy and Climate Plan 2021–2030	20	0	468	97	42
National Industrial Policy Guidelines 2021-2027	0	0	14	0	0
Air Pollution Reduction Action Plan 2020-2030	2	0	64	3	2
Regional Policy Guidelines 2021-2027	0	0	4	0	0
Strategic Plan for the Common Agricultural Policy 2023-2027	2	0	32	8	10

Source: author's content analyses of corresponding policy planning documents

The acquired results support the assumption that renewable energy resources are an important point of interest within major Latvia's policy planning documents, while specifying renewable energy sources is less common. Hydrogen is mentioned in five main policy planning documents but is more detailed discussed in Transport Development Guidelines 2021–2027 and the National Energy and Climate Plan 2021–2030. It must be noted that the National Industrial Policy Guidelines 2021–2027 do not provide a clear indication of how hydrogen can be beneficial for local industry development in light of the EU Green Deal framework.

It should be emphasised that the most important document in Latvia's policy planning concerning regional development (Regional Policy Guidelines 2021-2027 of Latvia) has only a few references to renewable energy and not to hydrogen, any sort, or other types of renewable energy sources. Moreover, within Latvia's Strategic Plan for the Common Agricultural Policy 2023-2027, there is only one general assumption about the hypothetical use of hydrogen. This can lead to the perception that regional economic development issues and the agricultural sector policy evolution at this moment are not based on the premise of hydrogen as a fundamental source of energy.

Finally, despite the fact that the Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia was adopted in 2010, renewables are widely mentioned in this document, indicating that renewable energy has been on the table for a long time. Unfortunately, green hydrogen is not included in the national planning documents. To facilitate the hydrogen agenda in all the connected fields of policy planning, the Latvian government must adopt an overall policy roadmap for hydrogen utilisation in the economy.

Furthermore, the study tries to answer the question of what hydrogen policy initiatives are evolving alongside practical actions and what is different in the national policy agenda and direction of hydrogen projects. For that purpose, the research provided a comparative scheme with policy documents and corresponding hydrogen projects (Figure 2). Currently, major projects are linked with three national policy planning documents. Particularly two of them, Transport Development Guidelines 2021–2027 and Latvia's National Energy and Climate Plan 2021–2030, include the activities within their action plans that correspond to some current projects.


Source: author's analyses of corresponding policy planning documents within the hydrogen issue Fig. 2. The synergy of Latvia's policy planning documents and hydrogen projects in 2024

After the analysis of these policy documents' guidelines, it can be confirmed that the majority of the large projects have a multisectoral nature and they are designed to contribute to the transport and energy sectors of the economy in the process of energy transition from fossil fuels to renewable sources. The important catalysts for hydrogen application are initiatives for local hydrogen production, which are linked with the manufacturing of equipment and utilities for hydrogen utilisation in Latvia.

The results of the research indicate that the current framework for policy planning and project realisation, along with developed policy guidelines, suggests that within the coming decades Latvia could develop green hydrogen production and ensure hydrogen refilling infrastructure and utilisation for large-scale transport (ships, planes, trucks, and different types of public transport).

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Regardless of the fact that renewable energy has been within the Latvian policy planning workframe for a long time and practical actions concerning these energy resources are often included in major Latvian policy planning documents, hydrogen is largely neglected in this process. At present, current and potential hydrogen projects are associated with two main sectoral policy planning documents: Transport Development Guidelines 2021–2027 and Latvia's National Energy and Climate Plan 2021– 2030.

2) To facilitate the hydrogen agenda in all connected fields of policy planning, the Latvian government must adopt a common policy roadmap for hydrogen application in the local economy. Moreover, the study identified the probability that, at present, Latvian policies regarding major areas of the economy, including industry, regional development, and the agricultural sector, are not based on the assumption that hydrogen will be an important source of energy in the coming decades. This premise must be tested in further studies regarding these spheres of economic development.

3) The analysed projects within the research can be described as multidimensional in view of the fact that many of them are pilot projects and are examining possible scenarios of developing different elements of the whole hydrogen industry. These components serve as the basis for the hydrogen valley's evolution and are facilitators of the entire energy transmission process.

4) Gathered evidence supports the hypothesis that potential and current projects, along with existing policy guidelines in the transport and energy sectors, reveal Latvia's capacity for green hydrogen

production, the development of refilling infrastructure, and hydrogen utilisation in large-scale transport, including public transportation. At this moment, policy recommendations are about this renewable fuel application in the industry sector are not clearly formulated.

Bibliography

- 1. Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia (2019). Regional Policy Guidelines 2021-2027. Retrieved from: https://polsis.mk.gov.lv/documents/6588
- Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia (2020). On the Air Pollution Reduction Action Plan 2020–2030. Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/314078-par-gaisa-pi esarnojuma-samazinasanas-ricibas-planu-2020-2030gadam
- Cabinet of Ministers of the Republic of Latvia (2024). On the Government Action Plan for the implementation of the Declaration on the planned activities of the Cabinet of Ministers headed by Evika Silina. Retrieved from: https://m.likumi.lv/ta/id/349266-par-valdibas-ricibas-planu-deklaracijas-par-evikas-silinas-vadita-ministrukabineta-iecereto-darbibu-istenosanai
- Capurso T., Stefanizzi, M., Torresi, M., Camporeale, M.S. (2022). Perspective of the role of hydrogen in the 21st century energy transition, Energy Conversion and Management, 251. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2021.114898
- 5. Clean Hydrogen Partnership (2023). Hydrogen Valleys. Retrieved from https://h2v.eu/hydrogen-valleys
- Conexus Baltic Grid (2023). Pre-Feasibility Study for the Nordic-Baltic Hydrogen Corridor has been launched. Retrieved from: https://www.conexus.lv/press-releases/uzsakta-prieksizpete-ziemelu-baltijas-udenraza-koridoraizveidei
- Conexus Baltic Grid (2023a). Conexus to conduct market study on hydrogen infrastructure development in Latvia. Retrieved from: https://www.conexus.lv/aktualitates-sistemas-lietotajiem-eng-575/conexus-veiks-tirgus-izpetiudenraza-infrastrukturas-attistibai-latvija-916-aa254
- 8. Cross-Sectoral Coordination Center (2020). National Development Plan of Latvia for 2021-2027. Retrieved from: https://www.mk.gov.lv/en/media/15165/download?attachment
- 9. CrowdedHero (2023). Electrify H2 AS. Retrieved from: https://crowdedhero.com/project/view?id=6
- 10. Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Utilities (2021). The Government's strategy for Power to X. Retrieved from: https://ens.dk/sites/ens.dk/files/ptx/strategy_ptx.pdf
- 11. H2NODES (2024). Riga. Retrieved from: https://www.h2nodes.eu/en/regions/riga.html
- Economidou, M., Ringel, M., Valentova, M., Castellazzi, L., Zancanella, P., Zangheri, P., Serrenho, T., Paci, D., Bertoldi, P. (2022). Strategic energy and climate policy planning: Lessons learned from European energy efficiency policies, Energy Policy, 171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2022.113225
- 13. European Commission (2023). The EU and the United Nations common goals for a sustainable future. Retrieved from: https://commission.europa.eu/strategy-and-policy/sustainable-development-goals/eu-and-united-nations-common-goals-sustainable-future_en
- 14. European Commission (2023a). Key actions of the EU Hydrogen Strategy. Retrieved from: https://energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/energy-systems-integration/hydrogen/key-actions-eu-hydrogen-strategy_en
- 15. European Commission (2023b). Key actions of the EU Hydrogen Strategy. Retrieved from: https://energy.ec.europa.eu/topics/energy-systems-integration/hydrogen/key-actions-eu-hydrogen-strategy_en
- 16. Freeport of Ventspils Authority (2023). A contract has been signed for the construction of a green hydrogen plant in Ventspils. Retrieved from https://www.portofventspils.lv/lv/medijiem/parakstits-ligums-par-zala-udenraza-rupnicas-buvniecibu-ventspili/
- 17. Green Tech Cluster (2023). BalticSeaH2 creation of large-scale, cross-border hydrogen valley around the Baltic Sea. Retrieved from: https://greentechlatvia.eu/en/balticseah2-2/?cn-reloaded=1
- 18. H2Value (2023). H2Value: Supporting Regional Development of the Green Hydrogen Fuel Value Chain for Transportation in Estonia and Latvia. Retrieved from: https://www.h2value.eu/#About
- 19. Keynes M. J. (2018). The General Theory of Employment, Interest and Money. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- 20. Interreg Baltic Sea Region (2023). HyTruck. Retrieved from: https://interreg-baltic.eu/project/hytruck/
- 21. International Energy Agency (2023). Global Hydrogen Review 2023. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/reports/global-hydrogen-review-2023
- 22. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 47 (79), 33551-33570. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.07.253
- 23. Labs of Latvia (2023). The first specialists on future hydrogen technologies have been prepared. Retrieved from: https://labsoflatvia.com/aktuali/specialisti-darbam-ar-nakotnes-udenraza-tehnologijam
- 24. Le gouvernement luxembourgeois (2021). Stratégie hydrogène du Luxembourg. Retrieved from: https://gouvernement.lu/dam-assets/documents/actualites/2021/09-septembre/27-turmes-hydrogene/Strategiehydrogene-LU-fr.pdf
- 25. Liepaja (2023). Liepaja Special Economic Zone Administration and Fokker Next Gen NV sign a memorandum of cooperation. Retrieved from: https://www.liepaja.lv/liepajas-specialas-ekonomiskas-zonas-parvalde-un-fokker-next-gen-n-v-paraksta-sadarbibas-memorandu/
- 26. Majka, A., Klimczyk, M., Kucharski, K., & Muszyńska-Pałys, J. (2023). Hydrogen Valley as a hub for Technological Cooperation between Science, Business, Local government and NGOs. An overview of Approaches in Europe. Torun International Studies, 1(17), 5–15. https://doi.org/10.12775/TIS.2023.001

- 27. Ministry of Agriculture of the Republic of Latvia (2022). Strategic Plan of the Common Agricultural Policy of Latvia for 2023-2027. Retrieved from: https://www.zm.gov.lv/lv/latvijas-kopejas-lauksaimniecibas-politikas-strategiskais-plans-2023-2027gadam-0
- 28. Ministry of Economics of the Republic of Latvia (2021). National Energy and Climate Plan for 2021-2030. Retrieved from: https://www.em.gov.lv/en/national-energy-and-climate-plan-2021-2030?utm_source=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F
- 29. Ministry of Economics of the Republic of Latvia (2023). The National Industrial Policy Guidelines 2021-2027. Retrieved from: https://www.em.gov.lv/en/industrial-policy-0#:~:text=The%20National%20Industrial%20Policy%20Guidelines,years%2C%20both%20domestically%20and% 20internationally
- 30. Ministry of Transport of the Republic of Latvia (2021). Transport Development Guidelines 2021-2027. Retrieved from: https://www.sam.gov.lv/lv/transporta-attistibas-pamatnostadnes-2021-2027-gadam
- 31. Myrdal, G. (1957). Economic Theory and Under-developed Regions. London: Gerald Duckworth
- 32. Riga Airport (2023). Riga Airport Gets Involved in an Ambitious Hydrogen Testing Project. Retrieved from: https://www.riga-airport.com/en/news/riga-airport-gets-involved-ambitious-hydrogen-testing-project
- 33. Saeima of the Republic of Latvia (2010). Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030. Retrieved from: https://www.pkc.gov.lv/sites/default/files/inline-files/LIAS_2030_en_1.pdf
- 34. Singh, S., Jain, S., Venkateswaran, P. S., Tiwari, K. A., Mansa R. Nouni, R. M., Pandey, K. J., Goel, S. (2015). Hydrogen: A sustainable fuel for future of the transport sector, Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 51, 623-633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.06.040.
- 35. Stiglitz, E. J. (2021). The proper role of government in the market economy: The case of the post-COVID recovery, Journal of Government and Economics, 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jge.2021.100004
- 36. Teixeira, E.J., Tavares-Lehmann T.A. (2022). Industry 4.0 in the European union: Policies and national strategies, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2022.121664
- 37. Thirlwall, P. A. (2002). The Nature of Economic Growth: An Alternative Framework for Understanding the Performance on Nations. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited
- 38. Toyota UK Media site (2023). The Toyota Mirai. Retrieved from: https://media.toyota.co.uk/wpcontent/uploads/sites/5/pdf/230123M-Mirai-Press-Pack.pdf
- 39. United Nations (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. Retrieved from: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/21252030%20Agenda%20for%20Sustainable%20Deve lopment%20web.pdf
- 40. Wappler, M., Unguder, D., Lu, X., Ohlmeyer, H., Teschke, H., Lueke, W. (2022). Building the green hydrogen market Current state and outlook on green hydrogen demand and electrolyzer manufacturing,
- 41. Wolff, S. (2015). EU Budget Support as a Transnational Policy Instrument: Above and Beyond the State?' Public Administration, 93(4). https://doi.org/10.1111/padm.12177
- 42. Zemite, L., Backurs, A., Starikovs, A., Laizans, A., Jansons, L., Vempere, L., Balode, I., Broks, A. (2023). A Comprehensive Overview of the European and Baltic Landscape for Hydrogen Applications and Innovations, Latvian Journal of Physics and Technical Sciences, 60(3), 33-55. https://doi.org/10.2478/lpts-2023-0016

GREEN METRICS: INTERNET OF THINGS BASED ECOLOGICAL MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT FOR SUSTAINABLE URBAN LIVING IN KYIV

Volodymyr Nazarenko¹, Ph.D. in Economics;

Andrii Martyn^{2,} Doctor of Economics/Professor;

Larisa Klikh³, Doctor of Pedagogical Sciences; Oksana Pashchenko⁴, Ph.D. in Economics

^{1,2,3,4}National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine

Abstract. Given the importance of the ecological component as part of the Internet of Things (IoT) green city platform, it is necessary to constantly monitor the ecological situation in the cities and sub-urban areas. The Kyiv city (Ukraine) has been chosen as a test subject for the study. As a part of sustainability process management systems, we focused on modelling and analysis of the green city service systems. Objective of the study is to research and compare various economic and ecological data from large cities; outline the scope of the green city model that is used for web service design, which is part of larger internet of things sustainable information system platform. The following categories of data had been processed, but not limited to the total cost of the system, the total loss of a natural resource, the amount of investment in restoration or maintenance, the cost of natural materials, oxygen supply, the price of conversion for the exploitation or destruction of a natural resource, land prices dynamics, the tax on the restoration of the territory, the total economic benefit from the territory and the volume of CO₂ emissions. Green City e-service platform has been constructed to enable the users to calculate the net cost, losses associated with natural resources available, and replenishment costs, both per unit of area and per unit of time. One of the most important outcomes of the service presented in this paper is the correlation between the urbanization processes (the increase in pollution, densification of buildings, the formation of agglomerations, new transportation, and infrastructure development) and their impact on the overall state of local ecosystems. The presented process management and monitoring service can further be enhanced to create a dynamic forecasting and situational assessment system as part of a green city management platform.

Key words: smart city, sustainable development, service economy, green city, e-platform.

JEL code: Q50, C80

Introduction

The interdependence between urban development and environmental transformation represents a critical nexus in contemporary urban studies. Urban expansion, characterized by the augmentation of city boundaries and suburban areas, exerts profound impacts on environmental quality, encompassing alterations in land use, heightened concentrations of planned infrastructure such as roads, and the strategic placement of industrial entities. This urban sprawl is concomitant with escalated emissions of pollutants and overall environmental degradation, manifesting in adverse health outcomes for inhabitants, as well as deleterious effects on local biodiversity, soil quality, and atmospheric conditions. A pivotal challenge in sustainable urban planning involves the comprehensive evaluation of the urban ecological footprint, encompassing an assessment of existing natural resources, their quality, and resilience in the face of dynamic alterations, including ecological catastrophes, military conflicts, technological disasters, and urban expansion (Loiseau, E., 2016; Victor, P. A., 2012). The criticality of the ecological dimension in urbanization research necessitates the ongoing surveillance of urban environments, predicated on standardized criteria that facilitate comparative analyses across diverse geographic locales, from densely populated cities to rural communities and unoccupied territories.

The ecological dynamics of urban areas are influenced by a multitude of factors, including the extent and conservation status of green spaces, urban sprawl, regional specificities, and the strategic positioning

¹ E-mail: volodnz@nubip.edu.ua Tel.: +380661260476, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-7433-2484

 ² E-mail: martyn@nubip.edu.ua, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6905-2445
³ E-mail: lklih@nubip.edu.ua, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5652-7168

⁴ E-mail: opashchenko26@gmail.com, ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0603-8072

of industrial activities (Georgeson, L., 2017; Zhang, L., 2022). These elements collectively contribute to the urban ecological profile, necessitating a nuanced understanding of the primary drivers of urbanization and their prospective impacts on environmental health and sustainability.

In this context, the delineation of key parameters for urbanization studies is imperative, aiming to elucidate their influence on ecological outcomes and to project future environmental trajectories. The multifaceted interactions between land utilization—including forested areas, agricultural lands, and urban development-play a pivotal role in shaping the regional environmental landscape. Consequently, economic planning and development strategies must incorporate environmental considerations, forecasting the ecological ramifications of land resource exploitation and the construction of new industrial and residential complexes (Hammer, J., 2017).

The exigency for an integrated approach to environmental cost assessment within the framework of territorial and economic planning is underscored. Such an approach necessitates the collaboration of municipal authorities and territorial community councils in devising methodologies that quantify environmental losses and incorporate environmental costs into comprehensive planning models (Brilhante, O., 2018). This strategic orientation towards environmental stewardship within urban and territorial planning underscores the imperative for a balanced coalescence of economic development and environmental conservation, ensuring the sustainability of urban ecosystems in the face of escalating urbanization pressures (Jenks, M., 2009).

The aim of the study is to determine major ecology related metrics parameters based on real data from number of cities worldwide that will be used to model internet of things information monitoring and management system for future detailed development of Kyiv city sustainable development plan.

Materials and Methods

Exemplary instances of the integration of environmental sustainability within economic policy frameworks are observed in select urban centres globally, including but not limited to European Union cities such as Vienna, Copenhagen, Amsterdam, and Paris, as well as Singapore, specific municipalities in the United States, and at the national level in countries like Finland and Canada. These locales have embarked on comprehensive environmental initiatives that encompass the enhancement of municipal wastewater treatment infrastructures, the implementation of advanced waste treatment and recycling protocols, the restoration of agricultural lands, and the formulation of urban development strategies aligned with the principles of sustainable development.

To methodologically examine the urbanization phenomenon from a green economy perspective, a novel global framework has been proposed. This framework is underpinned by a sophisticated information model and leverages principal methodologies from ecological and economic research disciplines. It incorporates detailed schematics, methodological guidelines, and environmental monitoring data pertinent to the urbanization context. The model facilitates an in-depth analysis of environmental metrics, including waste management practices, carbon dioxide emission levels, and the preservation of green spaces across 13 strategically selected urban entities.

Furthermore, this approach entails a rigorous computation of the proportionality between total environmental expenditures and the aggregate economic outlays within these cities. This analytical research yields a comprehensive environmental and economic projection, charting a course towards sustainable development through to the year 2035. Such forward-looking assessments are pivotal in informing policy decisions and strategic planning, ensuring that urban development trajectories are sustainable, resilient, and conducive to the well-being of both the environment and urban populations.





Coniferous forests

Source: Chen D.; World Bank, 2022

Fig. 1. Forecast for 2050 on waste generation with its distribution by type and different options for waste recycling in the countries selected for research (left). Map of the current state of the world's forest cover by tree types and highlighted locations of selected cities (right)

Figure 1 elucidates the outcomes of an extensive investigation into urban environmental management strategies, showcasing the integration of waste management systems, municipal initiatives for carbon dioxide (CO_2) emission reduction, and comprehensive plans for the cultivation and maintenance of urban green spaces within the cities under review (with the research dataset extending up to the year 2023). This study meticulously compiled, analysed, and synthesized key economic, social, financial, and environmental metrics to construct an information model elucidating the urbanization dynamics. This model served as a foundation for the application of system modelling techniques and the prognostication of land use evolution.

The research encompassed a global selection of 13 cities, alongside Kyiv, Ukraine, providing a diverse geographical and socio-economic scope. An analytical focus was placed on the year 2022, presenting a detailed comparison between the aggregate environmental expenditures and the overall financial outlays of the cities in question. Furthermore, the study ventures into predictive analytics, offering environmental and economic forecasts within the framework of a sustainable development agenda projected up to the year 2035. This forward-looking perspective aims to furnish policymakers, urban planners, and stakeholders with insights essential for aligning urban development trajectories with the principles of sustainability, thereby facilitating informed decision-making processes in urban governance and environmental stewardship.

Table 1

Nº	City	Total City annual budget, \$	Total city annual expenses, \$	Waste collection and recycling costs, \$	Emissions reduction policy social costs, \$	Green covers annual expenses, \$
1	Kyiv	2433M.	2000M.	9.4M.	265M.	216.6M.
2	Paris	18500M.	12000M.	721M.	842.2M.	900M.
3	New York	101000M.	92500M.	9604M. 432M (export)	7850M.	891M.
4	Shanghai	287000M.	108000M.	1197M.	425M.	3245M.
5	Mexico City	11200M.	11200M.	156.5M.	300M.	224M.

Cities budget and ecology-related expenses

Source: created by the authors based on their research

For detailed analytics and research, we focused on five cities for further studies (Table 1). For present calculations, official statistical and scientific data were used. The social cost of carbon emissions is \$ 50 per ton, the optimal size of the green area is 9 square meters per city inhabitant, and 270 kg of waste per year per capita, according to average data from all over the world. Costs of waste collection and recycling for chosen cities - Kyiv (waste storage) - \$9.44 per kg; Paris - €60 per kg; New York City- \$686 per ton; Shanghai - \$149 per kg; Mexico City \$21.45 per kg. Green cover area in city zone: Kyiv – 450 km²; Paris - 250 km²; New York - 2546 km²; Shanghai - 1201 km²; Mexico City - 33 km². Part of total ecologyrelated expenses for picked cities is as follows for the 2035 plan - Kyiv - 7%; Paris - 25.4%; New York -3.2%; Shanghai – 3%; Mexico City – 27.4%. Data presented in Table 1 proves that carbon emissions should be reduced as carbon emission reduction can take around 8.5% of the total city expenses (in NY city). Besides densely populated and heavily urbanized city now spend more than 900 million dollars annually to restore green coved within the city and its suburbs. These factors alone prove the need of a complex approach to model and improve sustainable development of the large cities. An analysis has been carried out and the main economic indicators of activity of enterprises in the agricultural and food industries have been calculated, which have been used to carry out an economic assessment of the consequences of urbanization processes and an analysis of the impact of various factors on urbanization. The above-mentioned research data and materials have been used to create a general green city concept model.

The development of the city and the change in the state of the environment in it are inextricably linked factors. The size of the city and the size of its suburbs have a huge impact on the environment, as well as the concentration of roads, the location of industrial enterprises, plants, factories, etc. And because of their activities, we have an increase in harmful emissions and pollution, which affects the health of residents, as well as the state of local flora and fauna, soil, and air. The development of urbanization also has a significant impact on water resources, the state of rivers, and reservoirs. There are many aspects to the economic costs associated with ecology expense policies. The list of the policies and their components are presented in Table 2. Among the most important are national or local tax policies, the costs of technological adaptation the cessation of deforestation, and the restoration of ecological biomass. Materials presented in Table 2 are basis for the green city conceptual model and are used to build IoT information system platform.

Table 2

Nº	Policy name	Policy Components	Data	Result of policy implementation
1	Urban economy and financial planning	Social and labor policies Total ecology-related budget Green taxes Land rant	Budget Price Cost	National expenditure on healthcare Quality of the environment
2	Sustainable land management	Property usage Land market surveillance	Green cover area Value of the property	Land cover changes Land usage optimization Land zoning and division
3	Power supply and resource consumption	Power supply efficiency Available resources Electricity production technology by source The level of taxation by technology	Price per unit Market price Taxe rate Annual emissions The ratio of green and fossil fuel energy	The cost of electricity production The cost of new technologies Cost of adaptation New costs for electricity
4	Climate change counter	Reduction of carbon emissions Subsidizing green energy Health Care Environmental taxation	The stock of atmospheric CO2 Temperature deviation	Melting ice Rising levels in the ocean Emissions reduction
5	Natural resources and ecosystem recovery	Quality of natural resources Biodiversity Microclimate and biological heritage	Resources price Natural resources restoration price	New technology research and development Tax on reforestation

City ecology-related policies classification

Source: created by the authors based on their research

Research results and discussion

1. Green City concept – land and economy

Figure 2 illustrates a critical facet of the green urban paradigm, emphasizing the valuation of land use within the urbanization continuum. This analysis recognizes a plethora of socio-economic and market determinants that orchestrate the appraisal of potential land use costs. In scrutinizing urban and suburban land dynamics, this discourse homes in on pivotal factors that significantly influence the evolution of the green city concept. For analytical clarity, urban and peri-urban land allocations are categorized into quintessential segments: residential, agricultural, industrial, institutional, and green spaces. Beyond the aggregate valuation of real estate, this examination contemplates additional variables including land use regulations, maintenance obligations, and environmental liabilities, which collectively impact urban land management practices.

Land utilization and stewardship emerge as foundational elements of green urban economics, facilitating diverse agricultural productions, and supporting the sustenance of various industrial sectors through the judicious exploitation of natural resources. Expanding this perspective, land cover is systematically classified into distinct landscape archetypes such as grasslands, wetlands, forests, arable terrains, and mixed landscapes, among other terrestrial forms. This stratification aids in the comprehensive understanding of land resource management, underscoring the necessity for sustainable practices in nurturing the green city ethos, thereby enhancing urban resilience and ecological balance.



Source: created by the authors based on their research

Fig. 2. Green city components – Land, Economy and Ecology

Figure 3 elucidates the integral role of forest cover within the paradigm of the Green City economic model, proposing its recognition as a pivotal economic asset within economic analyses. This framework delineates urban forests under several classifications: as landed assets for potential development projects; as foundational elements of the raw material inventory; and as central recreational zones within urban landscapes. However, this categorization potentially underrepresents the multifaceted contributions of forest and green spaces to urban ecosystems. A more expansive analysis is warranted, one that encompasses the strategic integration of long-term economic and environmental planning for urban and surrounding regions.

Forests represent critical ecosystems that underpin biodiversity and offer essential ecosystem services vital for sustaining life on Earth. They engender extensive biosystems, playing a pivotal role in the ecological and atmospheric equilibrium. The exploration of forest cover's influence on urban development is of paramount importance, particularly in an era where urbanization trends have culminated in a significant portion of the global population residing within city confines. The ramifications of alterations in green cover manifest conspicuously in everyday urban life, influencing climate regulation, air quality, and public health.

Urban land use extends beyond residential and commercial development, incorporating agricultural activities and the utilization of natural resources to support various industrial sectors. Land cover is broadly categorized into ecosystems such as grasslands, wetlands, forests, arable lands, mixed landscapes, among others, each contributing uniquely to the urban environmental matrix. While forests may not be directly quantified within gross domestic product (GDP) calculations or mainstream economic development strategies, their intrinsic value to the economy, through ecosystem services like carbon sequestration, water regulation, and biodiversity conservation, cannot be overstated. Acknowledging and integrating the ecological and economic functions of forests into urban planning and economic modelling is essential for fostering sustainable urban growth and enhancing the resilience of urban ecosystems against environmental challenges. Figure 4 showcases the Green City Information City model, divided into software modules, functions, and data types.



Source: created by the authors based on their research





Source: created by the authors based on their research

Fig. 4. Green city information system model

2. Green City Service Model

The nexus between urban development and environmental transformation is undeniably profound, with urban expansion - encompassing the growth of city perimeters and suburban vicinities - exerting considerable influence on ecological systems. This influence manifests through the densification of infrastructure, such as road networks, and the spatial allocation of industrial entities, leading to escalated emissions of pollutants and degradation of environmental quality. Such anthropogenic pressures adversely impact public health, biodiversity, soil integrity, and atmospheric conditions. Additionally, the urbanization trajectory significantly affects aquatic ecosystems, including the health of rivers and reservoirs.

Table 3 delineates a comprehensive economic model for quantifying the ecological and economic dimensions of urbanization. This model facilitates the precise calculation of costs, expenditures, and losses associated with the exploitation of natural resources, alongside the financial gains derived from the commercialization of such resources. The parameters encapsulated within this model include the total valuation of the ecological system or territory, quantifiable losses of natural resources, financial inputs toward restoration or maintenance efforts, tax implications, valuation of natural and raw materials, export volumes of raw materials, leasing fees, contributions to oxygen production, aggregate real estate or land value, cost implications of resource exploitation or depletion, post-depletion land value, net profits from raw material or finished product sales, restoration taxation, overall economic returns from the territory, and carbon dioxide emission volumes.

Table 3

Information System Module	Data types and units of measurements	Functions	Output
Land management	Interest rate, % Object location, spatial Object profile, mix. Object valuation, \$ Natural resource price, \$ Natural resource profile, mix. Harmful emission, tons per type per year	Property tax calculation The total value of real estate/land Profit from the sale of raw materials or finished products by the enterprise	Land lease payment for the use of an area with available natural resources The total value of the land after the loss of natural resource
Urban governance – economy, social and financial	City budget and expenditures (volume), \$ per year Volume of investments by type of economic activity, \$ per year Profit of companies by type of economic activity, \$ per year City GDP growth rate, %	Green Tax Calculation Cost of land and resources restoration	Social (public) benefit from the presence of a certain type of territory within the city or adjacent territories Cumulative economic benefits from the land/object
Ecology and sustainable development	Climate and weather monitoring data, numerical State and availability of natural resources, mix. Price of natural resources, \$ (per ha.)	The cost of untreated, clean natural resources before they are used Economic value of the territory of a forest or nature reserve Investment in recovery or support req.	City Waste Management Program Cumulative losses/gains of natural resource The cost of conversion for the exploitation or destruction of a natural resource

Green City Information System list of major system data, functions, and output

Source: created by the authors based on their research

This integrative economic model provides a robust framework for assessing the fiscal and ecological footprint of urban development on natural resources, enabling calculations on a per-area or temporal basis, and facilitating a comprehensive understanding of the economic viability of resource utilization strategies. Through such analytical rigor, it becomes possible to harmonize urban expansion with environmental stewardship, thereby fostering sustainable development paradigms that acknowledge the intrinsic value of ecological assets within the urban planning discourse.

The use of land areas, forests, lands occupied by agricultural production, life, and urban development all these factors have a significant impact on the environmental situation in the region. Therefore, it is always necessary to take into account and plan the economic consequences of such events and calculate options for the development of the use of amalgamated territorial communities, both in the country as a whole and around large cities and adjacent and suburban areas. As presented above, the intensive use of land resources and the construction of new industrial and residential facilities entails significant environmental consequences. The author notes the expediency of developing an integrated approach to assessing the cost of environmental losses and environmental costs in the context of territorial and economic planning by city authorities and amalgamated territorial community councils. It is necessary to develop a new legislative and legal framework for economic and legal levers of control over the impact on the environment in cities and settlements. Environmental programs in prominent urban centres include the development of wastewater treatment systems at the municipal level, wastewater treatment and integrated waste recycling, reclamation of agricultural land, and new urban development plans taking into account the concept of sustainable development.



3. Green City IoT-based Information System

Fig. 5. Green City Information System Concept

Green City Information System (Figure 5) can be used for urban governance, especially city management, resource planning, and general city surveillance. Green City's software model highlights horizontal IoT-based system architecture with several layers – software systems and servers, applications, integration points, and user roles. In the future, this System can be used to develop an initial porotype or implement integration software modules into existing smart city management software suits. The valuation of aquatic resources within urban environments poses a complex challenge, encompassing the assessment of their influence on real estate valuations, environmental quality, biodiversity, and urban aesthetics. This necessitates the compilation of comprehensive catalogues delineating various urban water zones, alongside the proposition of strategic frameworks for their management, enhancement, and ecological integration. Such evaluations must consider the dynamics of hydrological replenishment, including precipitation patterns and their implications for urban water sustainability.

Future research endeavours must prioritize the examination of urban water bodies, scrutinizing the transformations induced by urban activities and expansion. A critical area of inquiry involves the correlation between the proximity of real estate to aquatic environments and the consequent trends in property values. This investigation should extend to the exploration of how these relationships vary across cities of differing

sizes-from small towns to metropolises-and how access to water bodies influences urban planning and development trajectories.

A comparative analysis of cities from diverse geographical contexts, such as Kyiv, Dnipro, and Odesa in Ukraine, and Warsaw and Gdansk in Poland, would illuminate the economic and environmental impacts of urban water bodies. Furthermore, cities like Amsterdam in the Netherlands and Bruges in Belgium, renowned for their rich integration of natural water resources within urban fabrics, offer unique case studies for exploring the symbiosis between urban development and aquatic ecosystems.

The development of a green city economic growth plan entails a sequential approach:

1) Implement territorial zoning to categorize regions into suburban areas, transitional zones around cities, urban development types, and economic profiles, including metropolitan areas, based on their economic characteristics.

2) Forge a holistic model of the urban social fabric to evaluate the effects of territorial expansion on population well-being and living standards, employing socio-economic models to dissect the impacts of urbanization on household economic and social dynamics.

3) Execute ecological and economic projections to gauge the repercussions of urbanization on the economic vitality of specific areas, the broader metropolis, and the regional ecosystem, aiming to quantify the aggregate ecological worth of natural resources or ecosystems implicated in urbanization.

4) Articulate a set of guidelines for identifying emerging spatial economic and investment hubs, alongside an environmental and economic appraisal of potential risks stemming from ecological alterations.

5) Design an overarching strategy for green urban economic development, leveraging information system models for its implementation and operationalization.

This structured methodology underscores the integration of environmental stewardship with urban economic planning, advocating for a sustainable urban development paradigm that harmonizes economic growth with ecological preservation.

The function of determining the total ecological value of a natural resource or ecosystem related to the urbanization process

$$TECu = f(C) = \int_0^n f(C)dt \tag{1}$$

Where:

C - the total economic value of natural resources or ecosystems affected by the urbanization process;

n - time for complete restoration of the state of the ecosystem (up to a certain time period);

t - time to restore the ecosystem or natural resources.

Formulae 1 shows the mathematical representation of the data we have shown in Fig. 5 on the economic information model of costs associated with green spaces and Table 3 on economic data for the economic information model of costs associated with green spaces in the context of urbanization development process. The total economic value of natural resources or ecosystems affected by the urbanization process (C) can be calculated based on the social costs of ecosystem and/or resource (per type), cost for resource restoration, cost of resources lost, green tax rate, and several other components. The function will be further developed, evaluated, and presented in future research work.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

Within the ambit of urbanization and its attendant ecological impacts, a sophisticated ecological and economic framework has been conceptualized to elucidate the economic ramifications of land utilization and urban development. This framework pioneers the integration of sustainable development principles with rational land use practices, underpinning the genesis of the "green city" concept. Central to this innovative model is a meticulously curated classification of analytical tools and methodologies designed to quantify the economic costs engendered by ecological considerations. These methodologies serve as the foundational pillars for the "green city" paradigm, harmonizing economic development objectives with environmental stewardship. This integrative approach underscores the imperative of sustainable urban planning, advocating for a balanced coexistence between urban expansion and the preservation of ecological integrity. Through the application of this model, urban development strategies can be reoriented towards sustainability, ensuring that economic growth and environmental conservation are pursued in tandem for the betterment of urban ecosystems and their inhabitants.

Bibliography

- 1. Loiseau, E., Saikku, L., Antikainen, R., Droste, N., Hansjürgens, B., Pitkänen, K., ... & Thomsen, M. (2016). Green economy and related concepts: An overview. Journal of cleaner production, 139, 361-371.
- 2. Victor, P. A., & Jackson, T. (2012). A commentary on UNEP's green economy scenarios. Ecological Economics, 77, 11-15.
- 3. Georgeson, L., Maslin, M., & Poessinouw, M. (2017). The global green economy: a review of concepts, definitions, measurement methodologies and their interactions. Geo: Geography and Environment, 4(1), e00036.
- 4. Unmüßig, B., Sachs, W., & Fatheuer, T. (2012). Critique of the green economy. Publication series on ecology. Berlin: Heinrich Böll Foundation.
- 5. Zhang, L., Xu, M., Chen, H., Li, Y., & Chen, S. (2022). Globalization, green economy and environmental challenges: state of the art review for practical implications. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 10, 870271.
- 6. Sulich, A. (2020). The green economy development factors. Vision, 6861-6869.
- 7. Barrier, E. B. (2017). The concept of sustainable economic development. In The economics of sustainability (pp. 87-96). Routledge.
- 8. Awan, A. G. (2013). Relationship between environment and sustainable economic development: A theoretical approach to environmental problems. International Journal of Asian Social Science, 3(3), 741-761.
- 9. Goodland, R. (1991). Environmentally sustainable economic development: Building on Bruntland.
- 10. Hammer, J., & Pivo, G. (2017). The triple bottom line and sustainable economic development theory and practice. Economic Development Quarterly, 31(1), 25-36.
- 11. Chen, David & Bodirsky, Benjamin & Krueger, Tobias & Mishra, Abhijeet & Popp, Alexander. (2020). The world's growing municipal solid waste: Trends and impacts. Environmental Research Letters. 15. 10.1088/1748-9326/ab8659.
- 12. World Bank. Open Data. World Forest Area map. URL: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/AG.LND.FRST.ZS?view=map
- 13. Jenks, M., & Jones, C. (Eds.). (2009). Dimensions of the sustainable city.
- 14. Juhola, S. (2018). Planning for a green city: The Green Factor tool. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 34, 254-258.
- 15. Brilhante, O., & Klaas, J. (2018). Green city concept and a method to measure green city performance over time applied to fifty cities globally: Influence of GDP, population size and energy efficiency. Sustainability, 10(6), 2031.
- 16. Anguelovski, I., Connolly, J., & Brand, A. L. (2018). From landscapes of utopia to the margins of the green urban life: For whom is the new green city?. City, 22(3), 417-436.

THE CONCEPT OF BIO-REGIONS AND ITS RELEVANCE IN ACHIEVING GREEN GOALS

Liga Proskina¹, Dr.oec.; Abduaziz Abduvasikov², PhD.;. Firuza Galimova³, PhD.;

Daniela Proskina⁴, Mg.oec.

^{1,4}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Latvia; ^{2,3}Tashkent State Agrarian University, Uzbekistan

Abstract. Various initiatives worldwide promote sustainable, locally-based food systems and rural development, including Community Supported Agriculture (CSA), Farmers Markets, Food Hubs, Slow Food Movement, Regenerative Agriculture, and Agroecology Networks. These approaches often address specific challenges within narrower contexts. The concept of bio-regions offers a holistic approach to sustainable development, integrating ecological, social, economic, and cultural dimensions, demonstrating promising socio-economic and environmental impacts, and fostering community engagement and local development. Examples of good practices of bio-regions in European countries allow us to evaluate the relevance and possibility of application of this concept in Uzbekistan, as a strategy to promote sustainable development and resilience at the local and regional level. In the context of Uzbekistan, bio-regions can play a crucial role in achieving the country's green goals by addressing various environmental and socio-economic challenges while fostering sustainable development. By addressing these actualities and research on bio-region impact on local development in EU countries, researchers can contribute to advancing knowledge on community resilience and social cohesion in rural areas of Uzbekistan within the context of bio-regions. This can inform evidence-based policies, programmes, and interventions aimed at promoting sustainable development, environmental conservation, and social well-being in rural communities. The present research aims to investigate the theoretical and policy frameworks for the concept of bio-regions in the EU, which could be applied in achieving sustainability goals and solving environmental and socio-economic problems in Uzbekistan. Although there is no bio-regional policy in Uzbekistan, existing policy documents related to sustainable development, environmental conservation and rural development provide a basis for integrating bio-regional approaches into national strategies.

Key words: bio-region, rural development, organic farming.

JEL code: R58, Q38

Introduction

The environmental impacts of food consumption, particularly concerning greenhouse gas emissions, are increasingly recognised as a critical concern for sustainability (Parente et al., 2018). Globally, society's quality of life depends on the planet's resources and biodiversity. Based on this assumption, it is possible to look at the economy as a part of society, while society is part of the planet's biosphere. Unfortunately, very often society sees itself as part of the economic system, leaving the environment a completely insignificant role. An ecologically sustainable future can be ensured in an economic system where the economy is a part of the environmental system. Sustainable management of the environment is possible when problems are addressed in an interdisciplinary manner. It is necessary to find solutions, to nationally strengthen small and medium-sized enterprises, purposefully creating tools, which would contribute to the sustainable development of the territories.

One of the areas of sustainable agriculture is organic farming. In 2022, there was a substantial expansion in the global organic farming sector, with the cultivated area experiencing a growth of more than 20 million hectares, culminating in a total of 96 million hectares worldwide, representing an increase of 26.6 percent or 20.3 million hectares compared with 2021. The global organic market reached nearly 135 billion euros (IFOAM, 2024). By adopting environmentally friendly farming practices, farmers can reduce their ecological footprint, mitigate climate change, protect natural resources, and contribute to the long-term sustainability of agricultural systems while maintaining productivity and profitability. It includes several key principles (Stotten, Froning, 2023). Environmental sustainability: these food systems prioritise

¹ E-mail: Liga.proskina@lbtu.lv

practices that conserve natural resources, minimise pollution, and promote biodiversity. Social equity and inclusivity: sustainable, resilient, and inclusive food systems aim to address issues of food insecurity, poverty, and inequality (Paula, Kaufmane, 2020). Economic viability: these food systems promote fair and equitable economic relationships throughout the food supply chain. Resilience and adaptation: sustainable, resilient, and inclusive food systems are designed to withstand and recover from shocks and stresses, such as extreme weather events, crop failures, and economic downturns. They promote diversification in food production and distribution systems, as well as the adoption of climate-smart agricultural practices that enhance resilience to changing environmental conditions (Douwe van der Ploeg et al., 2019).

There are numerous initiatives worldwide aimed at promoting sustainable and locally-based food systems while fostering community engagement and environmental stewardship. These initiatives vary in scale, scope, and approach but share common goals of promoting ecological sustainability, supporting local The economies, and empowering communities. most significant is as follows: Community Supported Agriculture (CSA) initiatives connect consumers directly with local farmers, allowing individuals to purchase seasonal produce directly from the farm. By fostering relationships between farmers and consumers, CSA promotes transparency, trust, and mutual support within the local food system (Egli et al. 2023). Farmers markets provide a platform for local farmers, artisans, and food producers to sell their products directly to consumers. These markets often prioritize locally grown, seasonal, and organic foods, thereby promoting sustainable agriculture, supporting small-scale producers, and reducing food miles. Food hubs are centralized facilities that aggregate, process, and distribute locally sourced food to consumers, institutions, and businesses. Food hubs play a critical role in connecting small-scale producers with larger markets, increasing access to local foods, and promoting regional food economies. The Slow Food movement advocates for a food system that is good, clean, and fair for all. Slow Food initiatives promote local food cultures, traditional culinary practices, and biodiversity conservation, while also advocating for social justice, food sovereignty, and environmental sustainability (Kinley, 2012; Askin, 2021). Regenerative agriculture focuses on improving soil health, enhancing ecosystem services, and sequestering carbon through farming practices such as no-till farming, cover cropping, and rotational grazing. These approaches promote ecological resilience, mitigate climate change, and restore degraded landscapes. Agroecology networks bring together farmers, researchers, activists, and policymakers to promote agroecological principles and practices. These networks advocate for policies that support agroecology, provide technical assistance to farmers, and facilitate knowledge sharing and capacity building. However, each of these approaches is focused on a narrower set of problem solutions (Zanasi et al., 2020; Stotten et al., 2017). A bio-region initiative, sometimes referred to as a bio-regional development initiative or bio-district initiative (or Organic District or Bio District or Eco Region), is a community-based effort aimed at promoting sustainable development and resilience within a specific geographic area, typically defined by ecological and cultural boundaries rather than political or administrative ones (Dias et al., 2021). In general, the bio-region concept is based on the combination of the culture in a region with focus on organic farming and highlighting its considerable potential for fostering sustainable territorial development (Pugliese and Antonelli, 2015). To sum up, the experience of European countries in fostering organic farming by developing a strategy for bioregions at the regional level shows how environmental protection, social justice and cultural preservation can be combined for sustainable and professional food production.

In this context, Uzbekistan with its rich agricultural heritage and potential seeks best practices applied in European countries to adapt and successfully apply them in achieving the country's green goals. In the Republic of Uzbekistan, just like in many other countries, the development of organic farming has become one of the important strategic priorities that can contribute to the sustainable development of the rural sector and the creation of the "green" future of mankind. It should be noted that the EU-Uzbekistan Cooperation Council appreciate the growing cooperation between Uzbekistan and the EU, including that in the green and sustainable economy (EU-Uzbekistan Cooperation Council, 2021). Therefore, the authors believe that the experience of European countries in using the concept of bioregions can make a positive contribution to agricultural and rural development, environmental sustainability and the socio-economic development of Uzbekistan. The present research aims to investigate the theoretical and policy frameworks for the concept of bio-regions in the EU, which could be applied in achieving sustainability goals and solving environmental and socio-economic problems in Uzbekistan.

Materials and methods

The monographic method, analysis and synthesis, and induction and deduction methods were applied to discuss the theoretical and controversial aspects within the context of research aim. The paper encompasses a comprehensive description of the bio-region concept and the corresponding policy framework in Europe and presents the analysis of the relevance of the bio-region concept in achieving "green" objectives in Uzbekistan.

Research results and discussion

1. Characteristics of the bio-region concept in Europe

By integrating ecological, social, economic, and cultural dimensions, bio-regions offer a holistic approach to sustainable development that prioritizes the well-being of both people and the planet (Oliver, 2019). The objectives of the bio-regions can be grouped in three main areas: 1) economic; 2) environmental and 3) social. Accordingly, to achieve the goals of the bio-region, initiatives are focused on (Report on Organic..., 2021): Local Resource Management. Bio-region initiatives prioritize the sustainable management of natural resources within the region, including land, water, forests, and biodiversity. This may involve promoting practices such as organic farming, agroforestry, watershed management, and habitat restoration to enhance ecosystem health and resilience. Environmental Education. Bio-regions provide opportunities for environmental education, awareness-raising, and capacity-building within local communities. This includes promoting ecological literacy, fostering a deeper understanding of local ecosystems, and empowering residents to become stewards of their environment. Local Food Systems. Bio-region initiatives often focus on developing local food systems that prioritize food security, nutrition, and community resilience. This may involve supporting small-scale farmers, promoting agroecological practices, and creating networks for local food production, distribution, and consumption. Community Engagement. Bio-region initiatives actively engage local communities in decision-making processes related to environmental stewardship, economic development, and social equity. This may include participatory planning, community-based research, and collaborative partnerships among stakeholders from diverse backgrounds (Zeverte-Rivza et al., 2023). Regional Cooperation. Bio-regions encourage collaboration and cooperation among diverse stakeholders, including government agencies, NGOs, businesses, and community organizations. By working together, these stakeholders can leverage resources, share knowledge, and implement collective actions to address common challenges and achieve shared goals (Chatzichristos et al. 2021). Economic Development. Bio-region initiatives aim to foster economic development that is ecologically sustainable, socially equitable, and culturally appropriate. This may involve supporting local businesses, cooperatives, and social enterprises that prioritize environmental stewardship and community well-being. Cultural Preservation. Bio-region initiatives recognize the importance of cultural heritage and traditional knowledge in shaping sustainable futures. This may involve efforts to preserve indigenous cultures, promote local arts and crafts, and celebrate cultural diversity as integral components of bioregional identity. *Regional identity*. BioRegion promotes regional identity (The role of local..., 2020). It creates openness to new things and future developments. Member companies also raise awareness through their products from the BioRegion by increasing the number of products through cooperation between agriculture and trade (Guareschi et al., 2020).

The experience of Bio-districts in Italy (The experience of..., 2017) indicates promising prospects, with a noticeable increase in active participants and demand for organic products. The shortening of the supply chain has led to loyal customers and boosted development in the sector, with more farms transitioning to organic production. Farmers are recognized as essential ecosystem managers, enhancing their social role and identity. The bio-district has empowered rural communities in their interactions with local authorities through consultations and participatory planning. Additionally, associations, cooperatives, and academia provide platforms for knowledge sharing and support. The Cilento bio-district leverages its short value chain as a key strength, with 75% of economic flow stemming from direct marketing channels like on-farm sales, farmer's markets, and e-commerce platforms. Public procurement, restaurants, and tourist facilities contribute 15%, while traditional distribution and exports make up the remaining 10%. Local consumption and the tourist sector absorb the majority of production. Associations within the bio-district play a crucial role in facilitating economic relationships, providing assistance to farmers, and promoting sustainable production and local purchasing. This collaborative approach ensures the active involvement of various consumer types in enhancing products, services, and production processes (The role of local..., 2020).

The Bio-district Cilento serves as a bottom-up organizational innovation, fostering multi-level territorial governance and mobilizing political actors, public institutions, and civil society to harness the area's heritage for innovation and rural development (Dias et al., 2021). Initiatives such as the document "Costruire una strategia condivisa di sviluppo dei territori" and the "La carta di Padula" Agreement demonstrate a commitment to agroecology and organic farming within Italy's parks and protected areas. The success of Cilento has catalyzed the establishment of numerous bio-districts across Italy, Europe, and Africa, with ongoing efforts to promote legislative support and international cooperation through platforms like the International Network of Eco Regions (IN.N.E.R). These initiatives aim to strengthen governance, promote sustainable agriculture, and address global agricultural challenges through collaboration and knowledge exchange (Pugliese, Antonelli, 2015).

The implementation of bio-regional approaches in the European Union (EU) countries has evolved over several decades, with roots in various environmental and sustainability movements to mainstream policies and strategies for sustainable development (Heimann, 2019).

The concept of sustainable development gained prominence in EU policy discourse in the 1990s. The Rio Earth Summit in 1992 and the subsequent adoption of Agenda 21 encouraged the EU countries to integrate environmental, social, and economic considerations into their development strategies. This period saw the emergence of initiatives promoting regional self-sufficiency, local food systems, and eco-communities, laying the foundation for bio-regional approaches.

In the early 2000s, EU countries began mainstreaming sustainability policies into national and regional planning frameworks. The European Commission's adoption of the Lisbon Strategy in 2000, followed by the Europe 2020 Strategy in 2010, emphasized the importance of promoting smart, sustainable, and inclusive growth. This period witnessed increasing recognition of bio-regional concepts in EU policy documents and research agendas. During the next decade a proliferation of regional initiatives and projects promote bio-regional approaches across EU countries. EU-funded programmes such as INTERREG and LEADER also

supported bio-regional development projects at the regional and local levels (Bosworth et al., 2016). The European Green Deal, launched in 2019 (The European Green deal, 2019), aims to make the EU's economy sustainable and climate-neutral by 2050. Bio-regional approaches, including initiatives promoting circular economy, renewable energy, and regenerative agriculture, are increasingly recognized as integral to achieving the goals of the European Green Deal (Tetere et al., 2023). While there isn't a specific legal framework or regulatory system at the European Union level that directly governs bio-regions, EU policies and initiatives provide a supportive framework for promoting sustainable development, rural revitalization, and environmental conservation, which are central to the objectives of bio-regional initiatives (A long-term Vision ..., 2021).

The Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) sets out the agricultural policy framework for the EU and provides financial support for farmers and rural development and is not specifically targeted to bio-regions, nevertheless includes measures that promote sustainable agriculture, rural development, and environmental conservation, which are relevant to bio-regional initiatives (Key policy objectives..., 2023).

European Innovation Partnership for Agricultural Productivity and Sustainability (EIP-AGRI): EIP-AGRI is an EU initiative that promotes innovation in agriculture and forestry to improve productivity and sustainability. It supports networking and knowledge exchange among stakeholders, which can facilitate the exchange of best practices and ideas relevant to bio-regional development. European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and Cohesion Policy: These EU funding programmes support economic and social cohesion across the EU regions. While not specifically focused on bio-regions, they can provide funding for projects that contribute to sustainable development, innovation, and job creation in rural areas, which are often key components of bio-regional initiatives. Natura 2000 is a network of protected areas established under EU law to conserve biodiversity and protect habitats and species of European significance. While not specifically related to bio-regions, Natura 2000 sites can overlap with bio-regional boundaries and contribute to the conservation of natural resources and ecosystems (EU funding programmes, 2023).

2. Relevance of the bio-regional concept in achieving Uzbekistan's green goals

Being aware of the scale of environmental problems in the world, the Uzbek government prioritizes an increase in the efficiency of the agricultural sector and a reduction in the impact on the environment and natural resources. In this context, the development of organic farming and the promotion of environmentally friendly sustainable production systems is an essential factor in increasing the competitiveness of food products and developing the export potential. Uzbekistan's efforts in the field of organic farming are also appreciated internationally (FAO, 2018) However, despite the steady growth of organic farming in recent years (Table 1), Uzbekistan is at the early stages of organic farming development.

Table 1

Main indicators	of agriculture	sectors in U	Jzbekistan,	2016-2021
-----------------	----------------	--------------	-------------	-----------

Agriculture	2016	2017	2019	2020	2021
Total number of enterprises, units, inter alia*	4 626070	4 669263	4 707873	4 736957	4 692554
Micro-size (dekhkan farms)	4 525000	4 535000	4 560040	4 585000	4 600000
Small-size	x	x	x	x	x
Medium-size (farms)	101 070	134 263	147 833	151 957	92 554
Large-size (organizations engaged in agricultural activities)	17 621	18 319	21 019	24 480	29 379
Total output in agriculture, in billion EUR	14.5	15.1	13.7	17.7	18.4
Output in crop production (in billion EUR)	8.0	7.9	7.5	9.1	9.3
Output in livestock production (in billion EUR)	6.4	7.2	6.1	8.6	9.1
Cattle as the main species of livestock (thou. heads)	11 641	12 181	12 471	12 814	12 950
Cows as the main species of livestock (thou. heads)	4 174	4 217	4 337	4 626	4 664
Sheep and goats as the main species of livestock (thou. heads)	19 119	19 698	20 641	21 581	21 907
Poultry as the main species of livestock (thousand heads)	61 349	67 038	74 870	86 375	87 860
Meat (in billion EUR)	4.1	4.7	4.1	5.9	5.9
Milk (in billion EUR)	2.0	2.1	1.7	2.3	2.8
Eggs (in billion EUR)	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3
Total import of agricultural produce, in billion EUR	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.7
Total export of agricultural produce, thou. in EUR	1.5	1.0	0.9	0.8	1.1
Utilized agricultural area (UAA), thou. ha	25 366	25 344	25 280	25 259	25 252
Utilized agricultural area (UAA) as % of total country's area	57	57	57	57	57
Number of farms engaged in organic farming, units	2 054	2 713	3 392	4 198	4 628
Utilised agricultural area (UAA) in organic farming, thou. ha	6.0	-	-	-	17.2

* In the statistics of Uzbekistan, agricultural production enterprises are divided into: a) Large-scale enterprises engaged into agricultural production: joint-stock companies, cooperatives, agro-clusters, state-owned farms; b) Farms (medium-size) are private commodity producers with a long-term lease of land from the state (they have different production volumes, which depend on their specialization); c) Dekhkan (household or subsistence) farms (micro-size) are private farms of the population that produce agricultural products on personal land plots with or without the formation of a legal entity; d) Small-size – small business entities include: Microenterprises with an average annual number of employees involved in the manufacturing industries of no more than twenty people, in the service sector and other nonmanufacturing industries – of no more than ten people, and in wholesale, retail and catering – of no more than five people; Small enterprises with an average annual number of employees involved in production and processing of agricultural products – no more than fifty people. Source: Statistics Agency of Uzbekistan, 2023

Organic farming is recognized as a promising type of farming for dekhkan (micro-size) farms representing the absolute majority of agricultural enterprises (Table 1) in Uzbekistan, as well as small farms and other economic operators in agriculture. The fast and efficient development of organic practices in agriculture, forestry and fisheries requires significant investments and scientific research to remove barriers to more intensive growth in organic farming and to increase the engagement of all actors in the market of organic products. On the one hand, it relates to the development and introduction of new scientifically based organic technologies; on the other hand, the need for a supportive government policy

and a clear strategic vision for organic farming, considering the economic, environmental and social components of it, cannot be denied.

One of the strategies contributing to the development of organic farming is the bio-regional approach, which can be highly relevant and beneficial for Uzbekistan. Uzbekistan, like many other countries, may not have specific policies or legal initiatives explicitly labelled as "bio-regional policies." However, the country has several broader policies and legal frameworks that address organic farming development, environmental conservation, sustainable development, and rural revitalization, which align with the objectives and principles of bio-regional initiatives as well as international agreements that encompass elements relevant to bio-regional initiatives and sustainable development in the region. These policies often focus on environmental conservation, sustainable agriculture, water resource management, and regional cooperation.

It is important to emphasize that bio-regional initiatives offer a holistic approach to sustainable development that is well-suited to the ecological, cultural, and socioeconomic context of Uzbekistan. One of the primary benefits of the bio-region concept is its focus on organic production in the agriculture sector that include ecosystem conservation and biodiversity preservation as well.

Central Asian countries, incl. Uzbekistan, are signatories to international agreements and initiatives addressing environmental sustainability, such as the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). These agreements provide overarching frameworks for promoting biodiversity conservation, sustainable agriculture, and inclusive development, which are central to the objectives of bio-regional initiatives. The Framework Convention for the Protection of the Environment for Sustainable Development in Central Asia (The Framework Convention..., 2006) focuses on transboundary water management, biodiversity conservation, and environmental governance in the region.

By prioritizing the protection of natural habitats, wildlife, and critical ecosystems, bio-regions contribute to maintaining ecological balance and resilience. This leads to benefits such as improved water quality, enhanced soil fertility, and increased carbon sequestration, which are vital for sustaining healthy ecosystems and supporting diverse forms of life.

Another key benefit of the bio-region concept is its emphasis on building community resilience and social cohesion. Bio-regions foster strong connections among local residents, businesses, and institutions, creating a sense of shared purpose and collective responsibility for environmental stewardship. Through collaborative efforts, knowledge sharing, and mutual support networks, bio-regions empower communities to address challenges such as climate change, food security, and economic volatility, leading to greater resilience and well-being for residents.

Uzbekistan is characterized by diverse ecosystems, rich biodiversity, and unique cultural heritage, making it an ideal region for implementing bio-regional approaches to sustainable development. By integrating environmental conservation, community empowerment, and regional cooperation, bio-regional initiatives can contribute to a more resilient and prosperous future for the region. It includes community empowerment, regional cooperation, biodiversity conservation and sustainable agriculture.

Uzbekistan has developed national strategies and plans for sustainable development, which include objectives related to environmental protection, biodiversity conservation, and rural development. These strategies may provide a basis for promoting bio-regional approaches to sustainable development within the country (Development Strategy of ..., 2022).

Community Empowerment. Rural communities in Uzbekistan have rich cultural heritage and traditional knowledge systems that are closely linked to their environment and way of life. Examining how cultural

identity contributes to community resilience and social cohesion within bio-regions can provide insights into the importance of cultural preservation and indigenous wisdom in sustainable development. The permanent population of the country amounted to 33,375.8 thousand people, the urban population amounted to 16,865.1 thousand people (50.5 % of the total population) and the rural population amounted to 16,510.7 thousand people (49.5%) (Statistics Agency, 2023). Bio-regional initiatives can build on these strengths by empowering local communities to participate in decision-making processes related to land use, natural resource management, and sustainable development. This can help foster a sense of ownership and stewardship among local residents, leading to more effective and sustainable outcomes. The Decree of the President of the Republic of Uzbekistan Regarding the measures to radically update the state policy in the economic development and poverty reduction 2020–2030 (Collection of legislation..., 2023) is aimed to reducing poverty can only be solved through the parallel development of all areas of human life, including meeting minimum needs for food, drink, housing and human empowerment through increased access to education, health care and professional and creative development. In Uzbekistan, the strategically important and consistently solvable task is to improve the well-being of the population. However, in recent years the fight against poverty has been consistently implemented in the state economic policy and is included in the national goal, which is taken into account in the development and implementation of Uzbekistan's strategic programmes and development plans. Regional Cooperation. Central Asia is a region of diverse ethnicities, languages, and political boundaries. Bio-regional initiatives can serve as platforms for fostering regional cooperation and dialogue on shared environmental challenges, such as water management, biodiversity conservation, and climate change adaptation. By promoting collaboration among neighbouring countries, bio-regional initiatives can help build trust, enhance resilience, and create opportunities for mutual benefit.

Biodiversity Conservation. However, rural areas of Uzbekistan face environmental challenges such as water scarcity, soil degradation, and climate change impacts. Understanding how these vulnerabilities affect community resilience within the bio-region context is crucial for developing effective adaptation strategies and sustainable land management practices. Bio-regional initiatives can help conserve this rich biodiversity by promoting sustainable land use practices, habitat restoration, and wildlife conservation efforts tailored to the specific ecological characteristics of each bio-region (Strategy for Biodiversity..., 2019). Water Resource Management. Water is a critical resource in Central Asia, where major rivers such as the Amu Darya and Syr Darya are vital for agriculture, industry, and human consumption. Bio-regional initiatives can focus on integrated water resource management, including watershed protection, water conservation, and water-efficient farming practices such as drip irrigation, rainwater harvesting, and mulching to help conserve water resources and improve water-use efficiency in agriculture. Uzbekistan has undergone legislative reform improving existing ecology and environmental protection legislation that meets world standards. An important step in improving the organisational structure of environmental activity is the Law on Environmental Control of the Republic of Uzbekistan, which provides a legal basis for active participation of all civil society institutions in the environmental protection system and the process of solving environmental problems.

Sustainable Agriculture. Uzbekistan's agricultural policies aim to promote modernization, diversification, and sustainability in the agricultural sector. These policies may include measures to support sustainable farming practices, agroecology, and rural development, which can contribute to the goals of bio-regional initiatives focused on sustainable agriculture and food systems. Agriculture is a key economic sector in Uzbekistan, providing livelihoods for millions of people. Agriculture is one of the dominating sectors of the Uzbekistan's economy and developing intensively. In 2020, agriculture accounted for 28.2 % of GDP and

26.8 % of employment. About 16 million tons of fruit and vegetable products are produced in Uzbekistan every year, the country has formed substantial stocks of grain and food essentials - meat, vegetable oil, sugar and rice (Agriculture Sector in ..., 2022). Bio-regional initiatives can promote sustainable agriculture practices that enhance soil fertility, conserve water, and minimize the use of agrochemicals. This may include organic farming, crop diversification, and the use of traditional farming techniques adapted to local conditions. One of the priority directions of the Strategy of Actions for the Further Development of the Republic of Uzbekistan adopted at the beginning of 2017 is the modernisation and intensive development of agriculture. On October 23, 2019 the Strategy for the Development of Agriculture of the Republic of Uzbekistan for 2020-2030 was approved (Agriculture development strategy ..., 2019). Priority directions for the implementation of the Strategy are fulfilment of the state policy on food security, providing for food safety and improvement of the consumer intake, production of food products in the required quantity; creation of a favourable agribusiness climate and value-added chain, production of agro-food products with high added value competitive on target international markets; introduction of mechanisms to reduce the role of the state and increase the investment attractiveness of the industry. Uzbekistan's Agri-food Development Strategy 2020-2030 (Agrifood sector trends..., 2023) aims to diversify production, improve land and water relations, create a favourable agribusiness climate and high-value chain, support the development of cooperative relations, broad implementation of market mechanisms and information and communication solutions into the industry, as well as effective use of scientific advances and increase human resources in the agricultural sector. As a result, it is expected to achieve job growth, food security and security of the country's population, as well as to increase farm incomes and ensure sustainable use of natural resources.

Uzbekistan has implemented community-based development programmes and initiatives aimed at empowering local communities, supporting small-scale agriculture, and promoting sustainable natural resource management. These initiatives may provide opportunities for integrating bio-regional approaches to development at the grassroots level. While Uzbekistan do not have specific policies or legal initiatives labelled as "bio-regional policies," the country's existing policy frameworks and legal instruments provide a basis for advancing sustainable development and environmental conservation efforts that align with the principles of bio-regional initiatives. By integrating environmental conservation, community empowerment, and regional cooperation, bio-regions can help the country achieve its green goals while promoting resilience, prosperity, and well-being for current and future generations in Uzbekistan.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) The bio-region approach, using the principles of agroecology, is aimed at promoting the local economy and sustainable agriculture, developing the rural environment in a specific geographical area, protection of natural resources and biological diversity, preservation of scenic values, and preserving the quality of the cultural environment.

2) Uzbekistan has strategies and policies related to environmental, social, and economic development. They are similar to and different from the EU strategies and policies, and national strategies and policies of the EU countries as well.

3) By integrating bio-regional approaches into national policies and programmes, Uzbekistan can promote holistic and locally appropriate solutions to environmental, social, and economic challenges in the country.

Acknowledgement

The research received funding from the fundamental and applied research project No. lzp-2022/1-0519 "Bio-Regions as an Integrated Strategy for the Sustainable Development of Rural Territories in Latvia.

Bibliography

- 1. Agrifood sector trends and reform progress. (2023). "Agrosanoatni raqamlashtirish markazi" ГУ. Retrieved from https://2030.serio.uz/en/
- A long-term vision for rural areas. (2021.) European Commission communication. Retrieved from: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2021/698027/EPRS_BRI(2021)698027_EN.pdf
- Agriculture Development Strategy of Uzbekistan for 2020-2030. (2019). Presidential Decree No. UP-5853 validating Agriculture Development Strategy of Uzbekistan for 2020-2030. Retrieved from: https://www.fao.org/faolex/results/details/en/c/LEX-FAOC197241/
- Agriculture Sector in Uzbekistan and Karakalpakstan. (2022). Legal & Political Framework Review. Global Green Growth Institute, Tashkent, Uzbekistan. Retrieved from: https://gggi.org/wpcontent/uploads/2021/08/Insight_Brief_Legal_Policy_Review_Agriculture_Sector.pdf
- Aşkin Uzel, R. (2021). Slow Food Movement and Sustainability. In: Idowu, S., Schmidpeter, R., Capaldi, N., Zu, L., Del Baldo, M., Abreu, R. (eds) Encyclopedia of Sustainable Management. Springer, Cham. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-02006-4_510-1
- Bosworth, G., Annibal, I., Carroll, T., Price, L., Sellick, J., and Shepherd, J. (2016). Empowering local action through neo-endogenous development; the case of LEADER in England. *Sociol. Rural.* 56, 427–449. doi: 10.1111/soru.12089
- 7. Chatzichristos, G., Nagopoulos, N., and Poulimas, M. (2021). Neo-endogenous rural development: a path toward reviving rural Europe. *Sociol. Rural*. 86, 911–937. doi: 10.1111/ruso.12380
- Collection of legislation of the Republic of Uzbekistan. (2023). National database of legislation of the republic of Uzbekistan. Retrieved from: https://lex.uz/en/
- Development Strategy of New Uzbekistan for 2022-2026. (2022). Development strategy center, Uzbekistan. Retrieved from: https://strategy.uz/index.php?news=1475&lang=en
- 10. Dias, R., S., Costa, D.,V.,T.,A., Correia, H.,E., Costa, C.,A. (2021). Building Bio-Districts or Eco-Regions: Participative Processes Supported by Focal Groups Agriculture, Volume 11, 511 Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture11060511
- 11. Van der Ploeg, J. D., Barjolle, D., Bruil, J., Brunori, G., Madureira, L. M. C., Dessein, J., ... & Wezel, A. (2019). The economic potential of agroecology: Empirical evidence from Europe. *Journal of rural studies*, *71*, 46-61.
- 12. Egli, L., Rüschhoff, J., Priess, J. (2023). A systematic review of the ecological, social and economic sustainability effects of community-supported agriculture. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.*, 16 2023 Sec. Social Movements, Institutions and Governance. Volume 7 2023. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.3389/fsufs.2023.1136866
- 13. EU funding programmes. (2023). European Commission. Retrieved from: https://commission.europa.eu/funding-tenders/find-funding/eu-funding-programmes_en
- 14. EU-Uzbekistan Cooperation Council. (2021). Retrieved from: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/international-ministerial-meetings/2021/11/16/
- 15. FAO. (2018). Organic agriculture in Uzbekistan. Status, practices and prospects. Retrieved from: https://openknowledge.fao.org/handle/20.500.14283/i8398en
- 16. Guareschi, M., Maccari, M., Sciurano, J.P., Arfini, F., Pronti, A. (2020). A Methodological Approach to Upscale Toward an Agroecology System in EU-LAFSs: The Case of the Parma Bio-District Sustainability, 12, 5398; doi:10.3390/su12135398
- 17. Heimann, T. (2019). Bioeconomy and SDGs: does the bioeconomy support the achievement of the SDGs?. Earth's Future, 7(1).
- 18. IFOAM News (2024) Global Organic Area Grows More Than Ever Before. Retrieved from: https://www.ifoam.bio/news/global-organic-area-grows-more-ever
- 19. Key policy objectives of the new CAP. (2023). Retrieved from: https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/commonagricultural-policy/cap-overview/new-cap-2023-27/key-policy-objectives-new-cap_en#documents
- 20. Kinley, A. (2012). Local Food on a Global Scale: An Exploration of the International Slow Food Movement. *Journal of Integrated Studies*, 3(1). Retrieved from: https://jis.athabascau.ca/index.php/jis/article/view/116
- 21. Oliver, A. (2019). Lessons learned from eco-district pilot projects: the importance of stakeholder relations. Thesis of dissertation. University of Montreal, Canada. https://doi.org/1866/21679
- 22. Parente, R., C., Geleilate, J., M., G., Rong, K. (2018). The sharing economy globalization phenomenon: A research agenda. *Journal of International Management*, Vol. 24, 52–64. Retrieved from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S107542531730162X?via%3Dihub
- Paula, L., Kaufmane, D. (2020). Community resilience and initiatives for the preservation of natural resources: leader projects in Latvia. 20th International multidisciplinary scientific GeoConference SGEM 2020: proceedings, 20(5.2): *Environmental Economics*, lpp.113-120
- 24. Puglies, P., Antonelli, A. (2015). I biodistretti in Italia, note introduttive. In: Pugliese, P. Antonelli A., *L'agricoltura biologica in chiave territoriale*. Rapporto finale sull'esperienza dei biodistretti in Italia. Project DIMECOBIO

- 25. Report on Organic Districts in Europe. (2021). 01-A1: Comparative Analysis on Organic Districts (or Eco-Regions or Bio-Districts) in Europe. Retrieved from: https://www.ecoregion.info/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/01-A1_Organic_Districts_in_Europe.pdf
- 26. Statistics agency. (2023). Under the president of the republic of Uzbekistan. Retrieved from: https://stat.uz/en/official-statistics/agriculture
- 27. Stotten, R., Bui, S., Pugliese, P., Schermer, M., Lamine, C. (2017). Organic values-based supply chains as a tool for territorial development: a comparative analysis of three European organic regions. *Int. J. Sociol. Agric. Food* 24, 135–154
- 28. Stotten, R., Froning, P. (2023). Territorial rural development strategies based on organic agriculture: the example of Valposchiavo, Switzerland. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 7:1182993
- 29. Strategy for biodiversity conservation in the Republic of Uzbekistan for the period of 2019-2028. (2019). Retrieved from: https://www.fao.org/faolex/results/details/en/c/LEX-FAOC189329/
- 30. The European Green Deal. (2019). European Commission. Retrieved from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?qid=15 96443911913&uri=CELEX:52019DC0640#document2 (accessed on 10 May 2021)
- 31. The experience of Bio-districts in Italy. (2017). FAO. Retrieved from: https://www.fao.org/3/bt402e/bt402e.pdf
- 32. The Framework Convention for the Protection of the environment for sustainable development in Central Asia. (2006). International Environmental Agreements (IEA) Database. Retrieved from: http://www2.ecolex.org/server2neu.php/libcat/docs/TRE/Full/En/TRE-143806.pdf
- 33. The role of local and regional authorities in making food systems more sustainable. (2020). Case 15 A multi-actor district for the development of organic agriculture in the Province of Salerno, Italy Retrieved from: https://cor.europa.eu/en/engage/studies/Documents/Sustainable_food_systems.pdf
- 34. Tetere, V., Zeverte-Rivza, S. (2023). Closing Data Gaps to Measure the Bioeconomy in the EU. *Biomass 2023*, 3, 108-122. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomass3020008
- 35. Zanasi, C., Basile, S., Paoletti, F., Pugliese, P., Rota C. (2020). Design of a Monitoring Tool for Eco-Regions. *Front. Sustain. Food Syst.* 4:536392. Retrieved from: doi: 10.3389/fsufs.2020.536392
- 36. Zeverte-Rivza, S., Girdziute, L., Parlińska, A., Rivza, P., Novikova, A., Gudele, I. (2023). Digitalisation in bioeconomy in the Baltic States and Poland. *Sustainability*. Vol. 15(17), article number 13237. ISSN 2071-1050

IMPACT OF MARKETING FACTORS ON CUSTOMER EQUITY

Jelena Salkovska¹, Dr.oec., prof.; Anda Batraga², Dr.oec., prof.; Jelizaveta Prilucka³,

Agnija Greizina⁴, Mg.paed.

^{1,2}University of Latvia; ³JSC Madara Cosmetics; ⁴Ltd. Tamro, Ltd. BENU Aptieka

Abstract. This article examines marketing factors and elements that influence customer equity associated with building sustainable relationships with profitable clients, which are attracting increasing interest from marketers. Recently, consumers have acquired technical opportunities to influence brands more actively and traditional marketing methods and means often do not ensure the success of the company. In today's conditions, price competition and mass advertising are losing their power of influence, so companies are looking for new methods to fight for the customer attention. Building relationships between the company and the consumer and retaining existing consumers is of great importance. One of the most promising research areas in marketing is the development of customer equity. A basic assumption of customer equity is that a customer, like any other asset, is a financial asset. Customer equity is the total discounted lifetime value of all the company's customers. It helps measure the financial returns that can be made from all customers over the course of a relationship. This enables businesses to assess the value of their clients' assets and make sound financial decisions. By evaluating empirical studies and examining contemporary trends, the article provides both theoretical insights and practical guidance for marketers. The objective is to uncover the impact of marketing factors on customer equity, offering valuable resources for academics and practitioners. As a result of the article, the opinion of various factors and conceptual models influencing customer equity are summarized.

Key words: customer equity, customer loyalty, brand equity, value equity, relationship equity.

JEL code: M3

Introduction

This article reviews saturation of markets for goods and services has led to the fact that the problems associated with building sustainable relationships with profitable customers attract an increase interest of marketers. Customers are the engine of any organization, because without them a company has no revenue, no profit, and also no market value. These days, the on-demand economy model is becoming more widespread. Technology platforms offering services and services based only on the trust and needs of customers are receiving more and more capital and growth. For example, Uber does not own vehicles, Facebook does not create content, Alibaba does not own inventory, and Airbnb does not own real estate. The on-demand economy model, when the company essentially does not have its own capital, and business is based on trust and relationships with the consumer, also affects the distribution and influence of such an indicator as customer equity. In today's conditions, price competition and mass advertising are losing their power of influence, so companies are looking for new methods to fight for the buyer's attention and ways to influence it. Building relationships between the company and the consumer and retaining existing consumers is very important. One of the most promising research areas in marketing is the development of customer equity. A basic assumption of customer equity is that a customer, like any other asset, is a financial asset. Customer equity is the total discounted lifetime value of all the company's customers. In today's market, customer equity is essential because it helps measure the financial returns that can be made from all customers over the course of a relationship. This enables businesses to assess the value of their clients' assets and make sound financial decisions. The value that a customer provides to a company is not limited to the profit from each transaction, but is the total profit that the customer can provide during the relationship with the company. In the current competitive market scenario, it is necessary to monitor customer equity as a key indicator of expected future behaviour.

¹ E-mail: jelena.salkovska@lu.lv

² E-mail: anda.batraga@lu.lv

³ E-mail: jelizavetaprilucka@gmail.com

⁴ E-mail: agnija.greizina@lu.lv

For literature review, the main keywords in platforms like the Web of Science, Science Direct, Sage Research and Research Gate were traced. The initial search comprised more than 40 English-language resources. Review article discuss the studies identified by presenting the customer equity theoretical contributions made, marketing factors influencing the customer equity and potential ways of researched for future.

The approach for the selection of review articles has certain implications. Firstly, the customer equity is very modern indication that only grows its popularity and application among big international companies and very small number of publications exist in other languages. This affects the number of articles founded. Also, there is a language limitation, as attention was paid only to English-language publications. English-language articles constitute a majority of the international research community. Nevertheless, it cannot be stated that publications made in other languages have only local focus and a lower level of trustworthiness. As also was mentioned, there are very small researches made in other language due to status that the indicator is only growing its application and studies.

In addition, the review article concentrates mostly on marketing field, not financial one. It can reveal more insights into how to satisfy customers, how to attract them and make long-term relationships, not how to measure the customer equity financially.

The objective of the research is to uncover the impact of marketing factors on customer equity, offering valuable resources for academics and practitioners. The article is based on a systematic compilation of key innovations in customer relationship models to identify factors influencing customer equity. First, the general trends of the impact of customer equity on business and the factors affecting customer equity are mapped. Second, suggestions for future research are provided.

The article seeks to answer the following research questions.

- 1) What are the main factors that affect customer equity?
- 2) Which relevant topics in customer equity research remain underexplored, and what are the implications of the current findings for future research?

Research results and discussion

Customer equity is the sum of the discounted lifetime values of all of a company's customers, and customer equity modelling involves understanding how customer lifetime values can be accurately estimated (Martin, 2015). The goal of customer equity is to get the most out of customers during their relationship with the company. One of the major obstacles to accurately measuring customer equity is the fact that consumers are switching brands, and this switching makes measuring customer lifetime values very difficult (Blattberg et al., 2001).

From the budgeting perspective customer equity is the present value of the anticipated lifetime revenue the company's customers will generate, minus company's acquisition and retention costs (Hanssens et al., 2008). Acknowledging the increase of customer equity as a main company's goal leads that a marketing tactic that boosts sales in the short term can have a negative effect on customer lifetime value. Customer equity purpose is to determine the optimal balance between acquisition and retention for particular companies (Blattberg and Deighton, 1996). Blattberg and Deighton also determine that the optimal balance of customer equity is when a customer equity is at its maximum amount. This is the calculation of customer's expected contribution toward offsetting the company's fixed costs over the expected life of that customer.

Customer equity is directly related to the finances and value of an enterprise. Since customers are the main buyers who generate profits, they are a very important resource for the company. A company's financial performance and value are also linked to brand equity and reputation, which is how customers perceive the brand. To develop a brand, positively influence customers and develop long-term relationships, companies need to invest. Therefore, the stable financial position of the company directly affects the allocation of the budget for attracting customers, and also provides an opportunity to enter new markets and platforms (Saksonova and Katalkina, 2022). Furthermore, the ability to buy customers depends on the economic situation as a whole the major macroeconomic indicators – turnover, value added, employment, and investment in fixed assets (Saksonova and Papiashvil, 2019).

Customer equity is also defined as a composite of value equity, relationship equity, that established between service provider and consumer, and brand equity, the additional value that the customer attributes to the underlying product as a result of branding efforts (Rust et al., 2014) (Figure 1).

The three main components of brand equity are the consumer's perception of the brand, their feelings about it, and the efficiency of the company's customer service (Bhadra et al., 2019). By definition, brand equity is a collection of brand-related assets and liabilities that increase or decrease the value that a business offers its clients through a product or service (Gani et al., 2014). Customer-based brand equity is an alternative definition of brand equity that refers to the variations in consumer reactions to a brand depending on their level of familiarity with it. Sources of brand equity influence consumers' behaviours including attention, interest, desire, and purchases, brand awareness and brand image are crucial. A view of brand equity suggests that its value arises from the incremental discounted cash flow from the sale of a set of products or services, as a result of the brand being associated with those products or services (Rust et al., 2004). Strong brand equity influences consumer behaviour in a number of ways, including increased profitability, reduced susceptibility to rival marketing campaigns, increased loyalty, and more adaptable consumer reactions to price adjustments through brand extensions.

Value equity is the objective assessment of an offer's utility based on the advantages it is thought to have in comparison to its costs (Hajipour et al., 2013). A combination of price, convenience, quality, and service makes up the core value. Innovation is a tactic for generating, distributing, upholding, and continually enhancing consumer value (Mane, 2016). If a customer thinks a brand is innovative, this could imply that the client has a dispassionate opinion on the products the brand offers. Therefore, a key element of perceived brand innovation may be also the value equity.



Source: Aravindakshan, A., Rust, R., Lemon, K.,Zeithaml, V. (2014). Customer equity: Making marketing strategy financially accountable, Journal of Systems Science and Systems Engineering, 13(4), p. 405-422.

Fig. 1. Three dimensions of customer equity

Perceived justice, customer pleasure, and brand loyalty are all included in relationship equity. Relationship equity looks at the link between consumers and brand equity as well as how well marketing campaigns work to build a rapport between target consumers and brand equity (Bhadra and Rego, 2019). Millions of people, for instance, update their status on social media every day to share the events in their lives. They use the chat feature to communicate, post on their walls to share ideas and opinions, send photos and videos, and write personal notes and comments on other people's notes.

It's evident that consumers' reactions to marketing initiatives are changing quickly. To send targeted messages to clients, this calls for a strategy framework that integrates numerous channels and multiple media. Individual customer preferences and interactions must be included and integrated with a consumer emphasis. In order to successfully execute marketing communications, businesses must put in place a multi-channel, multimedia consumer management system.

Customer Equity Management is a dynamic, integrated marketing system that uses information about consumer behaviour and techniques for financial evaluation. Thus, the purpose of the customer equity is to obtain the highest benefit from customers during their relationship with the company (Hogan et al., 2002). To define this benefit, it is important to judge if new products and customer service initiatives will affect customer positive and will grow the customer equity (Blattberg and Deighton, 1996). This is a discussion on how companies should distribute resources across various channels focusing on marketing mix to reach loyal customer base and to attract new customers. Determining the factors that influence customers' decision-making regarding budget allocation for new product marketing and brand building assessing their impact.

The majority of sales are usually from repeat customers (Figure 2). Attracting a new customer is usually significantly more expensive than satisfying an existing one. Despite this, companies often place more emphasis on attracting new consumers than retaining existing ones. However, key customers form the basis of the company's success and the strengthening and increase of stable customer equity. It is important to note that the value of a consumer relationship is not only the ability to make a profit from the sale of goods. Satisfied customers spread positive word of mouth and allow the company to increase profits by attracting new consumers.

Customer equity management is based on regular measurement of indicators characterizing the profitability and degree of retention of existing and potential clients of the enterprise. For these purposes, customer surveys, analysis of sales statistics, and monitoring of customer behaviour are used. The attitude of customers towards the enterprise is reflected in their behaviour. Beneficial customer behaviour is manifested in the following: repeat purchases, recommending the company to acquaintances and friends, switching to more expensive products, purchasing additional goods from the company's range, weakening the reaction to price increases of the company, providing the company with information that allows it to increase the efficiency of its work. As a result of this behaviour of customers, the company achieves high and growing financial results. To ensure the stable development of customer equity, a certain part of the profit must be invested in strengthening relationships with profitable clients.



Source: created by the authors based on theory sources

Fig. 2. The relationship between customer loyalty and customer equity

The level of customer loyalty (repeat purchase rate, number of referrals, and volume of related purchases) depends on factors focusing on three dimensions and drivers of customer equity: value equity, brand equity, and relationship equity (Table 1).

Brand equity, unlike value equity, is a more subjective and emotional concept based on the consumer's image and opinion of the brand. Brand equity factors that influence customer loyalty and customer equity are: advertising of serviced or products, company's participation in social projects, brand reputation, brand image and brand association. The role of brand association is crucial for trust goods when it is difficult to assess quality before consumption. For many products and services, it is possible to try it before buying or to easily assess the quality of certain attributes before purchase (Rahman et al., 2023). However, other consumers need to use different quality metrics. This aspect of brand equity is particularly important to recognize the value of a strong brand identity as a key tool for attracting new consumers.

The brand-switching approach explicitly models the brand-switching pattern of individual customers using Markov switching matrices that represent brand-switching patterns in consumer packaged goods. For example, an approximate Markov switching matrix can indicate the probability that a consumer who previously purchased a new brand will repurchase other brands. We can then estimate future acquisition opportunities for all of his future purchases, given that the competitive situation remains unchanged (Rust et al., 2005). Of course, the company would like to change the competitive situation in a positive direction, which means that the company needs to understand what drives the exchange matrix and, therefore, the customer equity. In other words, the company tries to identify the attributes and factors that will influence customers. For example, for the banking sector, the behavioural costs of rebranding are not only detrimental to current profits, but also to future revenues. Existing customers not only use banking services, but will continue to use these services at higher rates. By losing existing customers, banks cannot take advantage of these benefits (Mohsin et al., 2012).

Table 1

Dimension groups of customer equity	Factors				
	Company reputation				
	Advertising of services/products				
Brand equity	Company's participation in social projects				
	Brand image				
	Brand associations				
	Value added services				
	The variety of products and services				
	Location and environment (technical capabilities, visual appeal etc.)				
	Buying security, guarantees				
	The quality of services/products				
Value equity	Cost of service/product				
	Speed of service				
	Ease of obtaining information				
	Ease of use of website and online shopping				
	Quality of customer service (customer attention, personalized services, no queues etc.)				
	Qualification and professionalism of employees				
	Reviews on the Internet				
Relationship equity	Word of mouth recommendations				
	Previous experience				

Source: created by the authors based on theory sources

The biggest number of factors are detected from value equity. It is important to define how much a customer is willing to pay for a product or a service over and above its selling price. So, it could be said that value equity factors are all factors that directly affects customer buying experience. Customer service quality is an important strategic indicator. To ensure growth and future sales, it is important to make the customer experience with the brand as pleasant as possible. Satisfied customers will tell their friends and acquaintances about the brand, which remains the most effective and reliable advertising, despite all technological advances. So, value equity strongly affects relationship equity and brand equity overall. It is important to create surveys and ratings to track customer perceptions of service quality across multiple touchpoints, adjusting strategic and tactical activities based on customer desire to purchase the product.

Promotion of discounts has a positive and significant effect on purchase decisions. Although effectiveness is not easy to measure, the promotional tool has a huge impact on marketing performance. Promotion is defined as communication that informs potential consumers about a product that can satisfy consumer needs and wants and encourage them to buy (Prianggoro, 2019). The purpose of promotion is to reach target consumers and persuade them to buy. They help consumers increase the utility of obtaining a purchase and improve the shopping experience. Non-monetary offers (such as contests, sweepstakes, free gifts, loyalty programs) are associated with benefits, experiences and emotional nature because they are inherently rewarding and associated with experienced emotions, pleasure and self-esteem.

In the current fast-paced business world, companies require adaptable and strategic business practices to adjust to market changes caused by evolving consumer preferences, improved manufacturing techniques, and advancements in technology. Effective product and service delivery timelines are crucial for success in this competitive environment, where consumer satisfaction plays a key role in fostering customer loyalty through value.

The faster the customer can get the desired product and satisfy his wants and needs, the more satisfied he will be. Often, customers make impulse purchases during times of high emotion. If they receive the item at that exact moment, they are most satisfied and are more likely to leave a very good review. It is important to release products faster than the competitors in order to be the first to meet the needs of the consumer and make him satisfied. Taking into account that a lot of enterprises work remotely, there is an increasing demand for skilled professionals in the information and communication technology (ICT) sector in both Latvia and globally, that are important to provide amazing customer service even when the employee is not at the office and to attract potential customers (Cekuls et al., 2017).

The increased importance of communications in modern business raises the issue of conceptualizing a new form of relationship model with customers and determining the content of the concept of relationship equity. In the process of digitalization, new environments for information interaction are created, new technologies for the communication process are introduced, resulting in numerous effects, including those related to the economic and financial achievements of firms, and the growth of business capitalization. It is no longer enough for communications to be considered as an auxiliary element that performs infrastructural functions and is considered more as an object of expenditure. Communication costs and the relationship equity of product sales have already become for many enterprises an integral condition for market success, obtaining key competencies and income. Relationship equity factors affecting customer loyalty and customer equity are positive experience with this brand before, word of mouth feedback and recommendations and reviews on the Internet.

Providing a strong consumer experience is crucial to keeping audience's attention and can give them the confidence they need to look away and stay with the particular brand. It is important to value the experience based on the brand and not just the consumer's perspective, as a unique brand experience will serve as a sustainable competitive advantage. It is crucial when organizations can improve the speed and quality of the decision making by paying more attention to the process approach that will drive faster and better customer service (Cekuls, 2018). Furthermore, brand experience has a positive relationship with loyalty where it drives profits. This is because consumers who are more satisfied with the product will buy more next time.

Positive recommendations allow companies to successfully promote their products, building long-term relationships with customers and making them more profitable. Thus, it can be said that positive word-of-mouth recommendation is a significant predictor of trust and consumer repurchase behaviour.

For marketers, often the most difficult decisions involve the marketing mix, or how resources should be allocated across all possible ways to reach and serve potential and existing consumers. Often the choice here is whether to focus more on customer service improvements and less on sales promotion. However, the marketing mix and the choice of factor combinations shape the impact of different levels of spending on customer equity.

In addition to the previously discussed factors, elements of environment and competition have frequently been shown to be important factors in marketing productivity. The firm's skill in adapting to the environment and competition can do no more than improve performance relative to what would otherwise be the case (Rust et al., 2004).

All the above factors indicate how strongly all dimensions influence customer loyalty and customer equity. Figure 3 also shows the importance of working on all dimensions simultaneously, considering Brand Equity, Relationship Equity and Value Equity.

All the factors together will give the best and strongest result and affect the consumer. The reason for this conclusion is that each of the three concepts is universally applicable. Consumers look for value in the products they buy, regardless of which region of the world they belong to. Likewise, consumers are more likely to value relationships regardless of their regional affiliation. Each group will have differences based on demographics such as age and education. Consumers in different regions are likely to have equal appeal for a given brand within a demographic range defined by age, income, and education.

The key question here is how much brand equity plays a significant role in driving loyalty. Emerging retail businesses typically do not attempt to build brand equity beyond building credibility and trust because of the high investment and lengthy onboarding process involved. Brand equity strategy is increasingly seen in established brands. The other two dimensions, value equity and relationship equity, are likely to be generalizable across both developing and developed brands.



Fig. 3. The influence of marketing factors on customer equity

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Consumer response to marketing efforts is evolving rapidly. This requires a strategic framework that combines multiple channels and multiple media to deliver targeted messages to customers. A consumer focus is required to include and integrate individual consumer preferences and interactions.

2) Many companies face the problem of how to leverage customer equity and which driver to focus on first. To fully determine the model for determining customer equity, it is necessary to integrate all dimensions of customer equity such as value equity, brand equity and relationship equity, which develop and drive the size of customer equity.

3) Customer loyalty is the end result of customer brand equity in the customer equity concept. The research literature review provides important theoretical and practical implications as well as future research directions to identify factors that influence customer equity growth.

4) The value of loyal customers for a company lies primarily in repeat purchases, recommendations, and provision of valuable information.

5) It is important for companies to implement a multi-channel, multimedia consumer management system that will help companies effectively implement marketing communications.

6) The present study is very relevant for service organizations in evaluating different loyalty programs and also in segmenting customers depending on the amount of customer equity.

7) Customer Equity Management purpose is to obtain the highest benefit from the customer and decide on budget allocation on customer retention and customer acquisition.

8) Customer equity and it depending factors are important for the financial evaluation and budget allocation. Definition of factors' impact and importance for the customer helps of using marketing mix and decide whether invest more in new-product marketing or in brand building.

This study provides a universal set of factors that influence the size and development of customer equity. Further steps in the research could focus on identifying and testing specific factors in the context of customer loyalty. Different markets and consumer groups with different psychographic characteristics may have different loyalty attitudes and behaviours determined by different combinations of loyalty factors. It would be interesting to know the industry-specific set of factors that determine loyalty.

Furthermore, it is important to make quantitative research to measure the correlation and relationship between factors and customer equity to verify their validity. Customer equity is influenced by various factors to varying degrees. Significant consideration should be given to calculating their contribution to the overall evaluation of customer equity, as all of these factors are interconnected with other influencers. For example, ensuring a high level of product quality is frequently associated with achieving customer satisfaction.

Bibliography

- 1. Bhadra, A., Rego, S. (2019). Relationship between customer equity and customer loyalty: a study of retail outlets for consumer durables. *NMIMS Management Review*, 36(4), pp.21-22.
- Blattberg, R., C., Getz, G., Thomas, J., S. (2001). Customer equity: building and managing relationships as valuable assets. P.127.
- 3. Blattberg, R.,C., Deighton, J. (1996). Manage marketing by the customer equity test. *Harvard Business Review*, 74, pp.136-144.
- 4. Cekuls, A. (2018). The impact of decision making on organizational performance within complex organizations. *New Challenges of Economic And Business Development 2018: Productivity and Economic Growth ,* pp. 106-113.
- Cekuls, A., Malmane, E., Bluzmanis, J. (2017). the impact of remote work intensity on perceived work-related outcomes in ICT sector in Latvia. New Challenges of Economic And Business Development - 2017: Digital Economy, pp. 96-107.
- 6. Gani, A., N., Grobler, A. (2014). Linking brand equity and customer equity: a system dynamics perspective. p. 4.

- 7. Hajipour, B., Bavarsad, B., & Zarei, S. E. (2013). Effect of Marketing Factors on Brand Relationship Equity and Affects the Customers' Purchase Intention. *Journal of Management Research*, *5*(1), p. 317.
- 8. Hanssens, D., Thorpe, D., Finkbeiner, C. (2008). Marketing when customer equity matters. *Harvard Business Review*, pp. 1-10.
- 9. Hogan, J. E., Lemon, K. N., & Rust, R. T. (2002). Customer equity management: charting new directions for the future of marketing. *Journal of service Research*, *5*(1), pp. 4-12.
- 10. Mane, A. (2016). The mediating effects of customer equity drivers on the relationship between perceived brand innovativeness and customer engagement. *Journal of Marketing and Consumer Research*, 30, p. 11.
- 11. Martin, G. (2015). The importance of customer equity and branding: a research note. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*. 13(3), p.15.
- 12. Mohsin, A., Rahman, A., Abo, A. (2012). Determinants of customer switching behavior in banking sector. Studies in Business and Economics, 7(2), pp. 20-34.
- Prianggoro, N. Sitio, A. (2019). Effect of service quality and promotion on purchase decisions and their implications on customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Engineering Technologies and Management Research*, 6(6), pp. 51-62.
- 14. Rahman, M., Islam, M., Chowdhury, S. (2023). Influence of brand image on customer loyalty: a look from Bangladesh. *Journal of Business Management and Economic Research (JOBMER)*, 7(1), pp.11-24.
- 15. Rust, R., Ambler, T., Carpenter, G. (2004). Measuring marketing productivity: current knowledge and future directions. *Journal of Marketing*, pp.76-80.
- 16. Rust, R., Lemon, K., Zeithaml, V. (2005). Measuring customer equity and calculating marketing ROI. *Journal of Marketing*, 69(1), p. 5.
- 17. Rust, R., T., Lemon, K., N., Zeithaml, V., A. (2004). Return on marketing: using customer equity to focus marketing strategy. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(1), pp.109-127.
- 18. Saksonova, S., Katalkina, O. (2022). Crowdfunding cross-border business financing practice: the evidence from the Baltic States. *Springer, Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems*, (410), pp. 472-481.
- 19. Saksonova, S., Papiashvil, T. (2019). Small business in a small country and the role of government (The Case of Georgia). *New Challenges Of Economic And Business Development*, pp.722-724.

ANALYSIS OF PUBLIC DEBT TRENDS IN LATVIA

Dmitrijs Smirnovs¹, master of economics

Ventspils University of Applied Science

Abstract. In recent years, the size of public debt has increased significantly in Latvia and the European Union. However, a huge level of public debt negatively affects economic development - both at the regional and state levels. Moreover, increased interest rates increase the financial burden on the state budget. Therefore, one of the goals of the EU financial policy will be to stabilize public debt in the coming years. The purpose of the work is to analyse trends in changes in public debt and identify the main factors influencing the growth of public debt. Using the Domar model, the author will develop the main scenarios for changes in public debt. The risks that public debt poses to the economy will also be assessed.

Key words: public debt, GDP growth, inflation.

JEL code: H60, H68, O11

Introduction

Public debt is of great importance in the economy of the state. On the one hand, public debt allows you to temporarily increase state budget expenditures, finance important projects and support the state economy. On the other hand, the national debt places a heavy burden on the shoulders of future generations who will have to pay it off. Nevertheless, with developed financial markets, government debt can be refinanced almost indefinitely; all you need to do is service the debt and pay interest on time. Therefore, a logical question arises - what should be the optimal size of public debt. At the end of 2023, Latvia's public debt reached 16.5 billion euros, or approximately 8,698 euros per resident of Latvia (Eurostat database, 2023). Is this dangerous for the Latvian economy and how effective is public debt management policy in general? Neither absolute nor per capita figures are sufficient to assess the sustainability of public finances, as this benchmark does not provide sufficient information about solvency. Essentially, when assessing a government's creditworthiness, it makes sense to act like a bank. The loan amount must be assessed in relation to the borrower's income, assets and pre-existing financial obligations. The aim of the research is to analyse the main trends in Latvian public debt in the future. The tasks are to analyse the main factors influencing public debt and make the main scenarios for the development of Latvian public debt. In the paper, the following research methods are used: analysis of primary and secondary data, method of mathematical modelling (Domar model), scenario analysis method.

1. Domar model

Since the national government has access to the income and assets of the national economy through taxation or other coercive measures, aggregate economic indicators are a useful indicator of government debt. Accordingly, the Maastricht criteria apply gross domestic product (GDP) as the denominator of the ceilings for the public debt-to-GDP ratio (60 percent) and the deficit ratio (three percent). (*Council of European Communities, 1992*). The leverage ratio (relative to government spending) and the borrowing ratio (relative to GDP) are related to the deficit ratio; the difference is that the former are derived from fiscal statistics, while the deficit ratio is derived from national accounts. In addition to the deficit ratio, the primary fiscal balance is an important indicator of the sustainability of government finances. It is calculated as the difference between income and expenses of the current budget after deducting individual budget items. It excludes expenses in the form of interest payments and contributions to reserves, as well as income from net borrowings, withdrawals from reserves, and income from the sale of government assets (for example, through privatization). The primary balance sheet shows whether the government is making

¹ E-mail: dmitrijss@venta.lv
progress on fiscal consolidation. It is similar to the ratio of net borrowing to interest expenses of central, regional or local governments. If there is a primary surplus (positive primary balance), then there is enough income to cover current expenses (excluding interest payments). If the primary surplus exceeds interest payments (interest on previous borrowings), debt falls. However, if the primary surplus is not sufficient to finance interest payments (or if there is a primary deficit), then the debt increases. (Holtfrerich et al., 2015).

If GDP growth lags behind debt growth, it creates a higher debt burden for future generations. Other ratios for assessing the dynamics of public debt are the interest-to-tax ratio and the interest-to-expenditure ratio. They are determined from fiscal statistics and refer to interest payments on tax revenues or government expenditures, respectively. These relationships have been criticized as having limited information value. They provide information only on the designated indicator, without indicating when the danger threshold for public debt is exceeded (Escolano, 2010).

The government can increase its fiscal space in the short and medium term by borrowing over longer periods. The answer to the question to what extent government debt makes sense in the long term and whether it can be raised without any risk essentially depends on whether the government can finance its expenditures in a way that does not damage its future creditworthiness and solvency. The consequences of public debt on the state's ability to act have, to a large extent, already been illustrated by Domar (1944).

Assuming (in the long run) a constant real growth rate γ , a constant inflation rate π and a constant real interest rate ρ , and a constant rate of net new debt (deficit ratio) k, then the debt ratio (total government debt D over national output Y) is independent from the initial value converges to the following value:

$$\frac{D}{Y} = \frac{k}{\gamma + \pi} \tag{1}$$

The debt ratio (government debt divided by nominal national product) converges over time to the ratio of the deficit ratio and the growth rate of nominal national product. This equation becomes clear if we express it as $(\gamma + \pi)D = kY$. The left side represents the annual increase in debt if it grows as fast as nominal national product. The right-hand side also represents the annual increase in debt expressed using the deficit ratio. Accordingly, the higher the long-term deficit ratio, the higher the long-term debt ratio will be, and it will be lower the higher the growth of nominal national product. This is the result of the sum of the real growth rate and the inflation rate. While deficits and government debt can rise over the long term under sustainable policies, neither should grow faster than nominal national product. The long-term debt ratio, together with the difference between the real interest rate ρ (also assumed constant) and the real growth rate γ , determines the fiscal capacity of the public sector in the long run: these parameters determine the primary surplus - expressed as the difference between tax receipts *T* and (net) government expenditure (excluding interest payments) *G* – the state must generate in the long term to remain solvent (Holtfrerich et al., 2015). Equation (2), derived from equation (1), shows the relationship between primary surplus and national product:

$$\frac{T-G}{\gamma} = (\rho - \gamma)\frac{D}{\gamma}$$
(2)

As long as the real interest rate exceeds the rate of economic growth, a continuous primary surplus must be created in the long run to finance interest payments. The higher the long-term debt ratio and the greater the difference between the real interest rate and the constant growth rate, the higher the interest expense will be. In the long run, a primary budget deficit is possible only if the real national product grows faster than the real interest rate. γ and ρ are real rates. The creation of money can also change this

condition only slightly: In addition to tax revenues, seigniorage arises, that is, the profit received by the central bank by issuing money (Baum et al., 2013). However, they constitute only a very small share of the national product. There are theoretical models that show that the real growth rate can be higher than the real interest rate even in long-run equilibrium. This is also called a state of "dynamic inefficiency". In this state, the economy is so capitalized that short-term declines will not have a negative impact on future prosperity. This is because sustainable consumption peaks when the interest rate equals the growth rate, which is also known as the "golden rule of savings" (Klaus et al., 2017). In such a case of dynamic inefficiency, public debt can be increased without negatively affecting both future ability to act as well as economic development. However, there is disagreement as to how long this phase will last. In addition, there are theoretical models that demonstrate that even with a negative real interest rate, a long-run equilibrium can exist. Since the nominal interest rate cannot usually become negative, negative real interest rates are only possible if the inflation rate is positive. On the other hand, there are theoretical arguments that argue that in the long run the real interest rate cannot be lower than the growth rate of the economy. Their proponents especially point to the existence of non-reproducible factors of production, such as land, whose scarcity rent increases in proportion to the national product (Albu et al., 2021).

These future scarcity annuities will have an "infinite" present value of capital at a constant interest rate that is below the growth rate, meaning that there is no balanced investment market. Therefore, the interest rate will constantly exceed the growth rate. Under these conditions, higher public debt reduces the government's fiscal capacity. Either taxes must be increased over the long term without the government providing additional services, or the government must reduce those services accordingly. If borrowing leads to higher interest rates, which becomes more likely when government debt increases, it can also "crowd out" private investment. All of these factors can constrain an economy's growth and therefore its international competitiveness and job creation potential. The higher the debt ratio, the more likely it is that debt sustainability limits will be reached if shocks cause debt to increase. The academic debate about whether the rate at which a national government can raise debt is above or below the rate of economic growth, and under what conditions, is by no means settled (Holtfrerich et al., 2015).

From an empirical perspective, the interest rate that private borrowers with excellent credit scores must pay generally exceeds economic growth. Many economists view this as an indication that public debt must be reduced to allow private investment on better financing terms. However, other economists suggest that, firstly, interest on debts paid by governments has often been below the rate of growth of national product in the past and that, secondly, especially over time, the increased propensity to save is an indicator that current and future interest rates are even lower than in the past. From this point of view, there is a lot to argue against reducing the public debt ratio (Vanlaer et al., 2015)

Domar's model allows for the calculation of a "natural limit" on government debt, which is distinct from other types of limits on government debt (such as legal, political, or psychological). The key result of Domar's model is that if the government's net borrowing to GDP ratio is higher than the sum of the real growth rate and the inflation rate, the debt ratio will not reach a fixed limit in the long run. The more the two measures diverge (deficit ratio > economic growth rate plus inflation rate), the faster the debt ratio will increase and the more likely it is that the government debt will "explode" (Holtfrerich et al., 2015). If we assume (over the long run) a constant rate of real growth, a constant rate of inflation, and a constant rate of net new debt (deficit ratio), then in the long run the ratio of government debt to GDP will approach the following limit, regardless of the initial value:

2. Improved Escolano model

Domar model was later improved by Escolano (2010). With these notations, the basic equations are summarized as follows: *B* is the government debt, *r* is the nominal interest rate on government debt, *g* is the growth rate of nominal GDP (or GNI), *P* is the primary balance, and *D* is the overall budget balance. Lowercase letters take these variables as ratios to nominal GDP or GNI. Equation (3) shows the determinants of government debt in period *t*, namely the debt in the previous period t - 1, the interest payments in *t* on the debt that prevailed at the end of the previous period, and the primary balance, which is defined in equation (4). Debt may increase or decrease by adjusting the stock flow (i.e., debt-deficit) of the SFA, which totals the debt issued to purchase financial assets (or the proceeds from the sale of financial assets), excluding statistical errors. This type of debt is part of gross debt but does not include financial assets owned by the government. A primary surplus will reduce the budget deficit or result in a budget surplus of t and a lower *B*, if everything else remains constant. It should be noted that all variables used in this section are adjusted for cyclicality, as the focus is on the long term, abstracting from the cyclicality of growth (Priewe, 2018).

$$B_t = B_{t-1} + rB_{t-1} - P_t + SFA_t$$
(3)

The primary balance of period t is the overall budget balance, total tax revenues (T) less total expenditures (G), which are reduced by interest payments on debt of the previous period. This implies that the overall budget balance plus the interest payments equal the primary balance. P shows the degree at which government revenues are used for the prime expenditures for purchasing goods and services, public investment and transfers (Priewe, 2018).

$$P_t = (T_t - (G_t - rB_{t-1})) = D_t + rB_{t-1}$$
(4)

The budget balance *D* is T - G, relative to GDP denoted as *d*, and the interest payments on public debt, as a share of GDP is denoted as *z*. Hence, we obtain for the budget balance (4a), all variables as share of GDP

$$d_t = p_t - z \tag{4a}$$

The change of the debt-to-GDP ratio against the previous period is shown in equation (5)

$$\frac{B_t}{Y_t} - \frac{B_{t-1}}{Y_{t-1}} = \frac{B_{t-1} + rB_{t-1} - P_t + SFA_t}{Y_t}$$
(5)

If all components of (5) are taken as shares of GDP, denoted in lower case letters, we obtain with a few re-arrangements of equation (6):

$$b_t - b_{t-1} = \frac{r-g}{1+g} b_{t-1} - p_t + sfa_t$$
(6)

Assuming that SFA is zero and that 1 + g differs not much from 1, the change in the debt ratio is approximated by

$$\Delta b_t \approx (r-g)b_{t-1} - p_t \tag{7}$$

This leads us to the key conclusion that the change of the debt ratio depends on the growth-adjusted interest payments on debt and the primary balance (7). If the debt level shall be held constant, a positive growth-adjusted interest payment obligation must be offset by a primary surplus of the same size, vice versa in the case of g > r. The sustainable primary balance, i.e. the one that keeps the prevailing debt ratio stable, is p', and the corresponding budget balance is d' (Priewe, 2018)

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 252-258 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.025

$$p'_{t} = (r-g)b_{t-1}$$
 if $\Delta b_{t} = 0$, $d'_{t} = p'_{t} - z$, if $b_{t} = b' = constant$ (8)

For the Euro area, the simple equation portrays the sustainable budget deficit d' that maintains the debt ratio b' at the official ceiling of 60 percent. This equation is often used to derive the 3 percent deficit rule from a given 60 percent debt level and 5 percent nominal growth, as shown in (8a)

$$-d'_t = g'b'_t \tag{a}$$

If d' is split into the primary balance and z (equation 4a), the interest payments on debt as share of the GDP, and the equation solved for p', we obtain

$$P' = (r - g)b' \tag{b}$$

If we go back to equation (6) and use λ as in (9), and disregard sfa, we obtain equation (10) for the debt ratio in *t*.

$$\lambda = \frac{r-g}{1+g} \tag{9}$$

$$b_t = (1 + \lambda)b_{t-1} - p_t$$
(10)

If t0 is the initial period and tN the *N*th period, equation (11) shows the value of growth adjusted interest payments until *N* and minus the sum of future primary balances.

$$b_N = b_0 (1+\lambda)^N - \sum_{t=1}^N (1-\lambda)^{N-t} p_t$$
(11)

Solving (9) for the present value of debt in t_0 , leads us finally to (12).

$$b_0 = b_N (1+\lambda)^{-N} + \sum_{t=1}^N (1-\lambda)^{-t} p_t$$
(12)

3. Analysis of the factors affecting the public debt of Latvia

Since the introduction of the national currency - the lat - Latvia has pursued a fixed exchange rate policy, which requires a low level of budget deficit. Later, after joining the European Union, Latvia strictly complied with the Maastricht criteria and did not allow the budget deficit to grow above 3% of GDP. As a result, a policy of low budget deficits made it possible to control external debt and prevent its growth. Until 2008, the Domar model showed its effectiveness - Latvia's public debt was at a very low level. However, in conditions of economic crisis, it is very difficult to comply with all the conditions of the Domar model. During a crisis, budget revenues sharply decline and in order to maintain financing of public expenditures, the government is forced to increase the size of public debt. In addition, during a crisis, GDP declines, which puts additional pressure on public debt. Over the past 20 years in the history of Latvia, there have been two crisis periods when public debt grew. The first is the 2008 crisis, when the budget deficit rose to 8-9%, and the fall in GDP in 2009 was -14.3%. As a result, the level of public debt increased from 8.4% in 2007 to 47.6% in 2010. The second period was the 2020 coronavirus pandemic, when due to the government's stimulating policies, public debt rose from 36.7% of GDP in 2019 to 44% in 2021 (Fig. 1).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 252-258 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.025



Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat database

Fig. 1. Public debt of Latvia, % of GDP

And although in the short term an increase in external debt is allowed, in the long term it is necessary to take measures to stabilize the debt. In this case, the Domar model offers two options for stabilizing public debt. The first option allows you to reduce public debt through economic growth - in this case, the contribution of GDP growth should exceed 50%. This is an ideal option that allows you to painlessly reduce public debt. The government debt ratio is falling gradually, while real incomes of households and businesses are growing. At the same time, the economy itself is in a stable state. Calculations in Table 1. show that from 2012 to 2019, the contribution of economic growth to the reduction of public debt was 74% - this is a very high figure. As a result, public debt decreased from 47.6% in 2010 to 37.6% in 2019. The second way to reduce government is related to inflation. In this case, a sharp rise in prices depreciates the value of government debt. This is not a very effective way to reduce public debt - the purchasing power of households and businesses is reduced.

Table 1.

Factors	2012-2019	2022	
GDP growth contribution	74%	15%	
Inflation growth contribution	26%	85%	

Factors influencing the decrease in the Latvian public debt ratio, in %

Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat database

Calculations in Table 1 show that in 2022, the contribution of inflation to the reduction of public debt was 85%. In this case, inflation acts as an additional tax that is imposed on households and businesses.

When forecasting government debt, Domar's model reveals another flaw. The Domar model works effectively only with stable economic growth. In a near-depression environment, when economic growth is close to zero and inflation is also low, even a small budget deficit will lead to an increase in public debt in the long run. This is a Japanese script. When forecasting the public debt of Latvia, the author developed three possible scenarios for the development of events. In the base scenario, inflation should be 2.2%, the budget deficit - 2%, and GDP growth - 3%. In this case, it will be possible to maintain the level of public debt at the current level of 41%. The optimistic scenario envisages inflation at 2%, budget deficit at 2%, and GDP growth at 4%. This will allow the government debt to be gradually reduced. In the pessimistic scenario, inflation is 2%, budget deficit - 2%, GDP growth = 2%. In addition, in a pessimistic scenario, it will not be possible to maintain public debt at the current level of 41% of GDP and it will begin to grow (Fig. 2).This means that in a depression, the government must abandon budget deficits to limit public debt.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 252-258 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.025



Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat database

Fig. 2. Latvian Public debt scenarios, % of GDP

Conclusions

The Domar model allows to effectively control the level of public debt. Maintaining a low budget deficit allowed Latvia to maintain a low level of public debt until 2008. The Domar model can also be used to reduce government debt levels. The most preferable option is to reduce public debt through economic growth. Reducing government debt due to inflation does not have a positive effect and leads to a decrease in the purchasing power of the population. The Domar model works effectively only in stable economic conditions. In conditions of stagnation and depression, the Domar model requires abandoning the budget deficit, which does not allow stimulating the economy.

References

- 1. Council of European Communities, Commission of the European Communities. (1992). Treaty on European Union. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. Article 121.ISBN 92-824-0959-7
- Afonso, Antonio, Alves, J. (2015). The Role of Government Debt in Economic Growth, Hacienda Pública Española. Review of Public Economics 215 (pp. 9–26).
- 3. Albu, A.-C., Albu, L.-L. (2021). Public debt and economic growth in Euro area countries. A wavelet approach. Technological and Economic Development of Economy 27 (pp. 602–25).
- Baum, A., Checherita-Westphal, C., and Rother, P. (2013). Debt and growth: New evidence for the euro area. Journal of International Money and Finance 32 (pp. 809–21).
- 5. Bilan, I., and Ihnatov, I. (2015). Public Debt and Economic Growth: A Two-Sided Story. International Journal of Economic Sciences 4 (pp. 24–39).
- Domar, E.D. (1944). The Burden of the Debt and the National Income. The American Economic Review, 34(4) (pp.798-827).
- 7. Escolano, J. (2010). A Practical Guide to Public Debt Dynamics, Fiscal Sustainability, and Cyclical Adjustment of Budgetary Aggregates. IMF Technical Notes and Manuals. Washington D.C
- 8. Eurostat database (2024), Retrieved: http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu. [Accessed: 05.03.2024.]
- Časni, A.-Č., Badurina, A-A., Sertić, M.-B. (2014). Public debt and growth: Evidence from Central, Eastern and Southeastern European countries. Proceedings of Rijeka Faculty of Economics, Journal of Economics and Business 32 (pp. 35–51).
- 10. Checherita-Westphal, C., Rother, P. (2012). The impact of high government debt on economic growth and its channels: An empirical investigation for the euro area. European Economic Review 56 (pp. 1392–405).
- 11. Holtfrerich, C.-L., Feld, L.-P., Heun, W., Illing, G., Kirchgässner, G., Kocka, J., Schularick, M., Streeck, W., Wagschal, U., Walter, S., Weizsäcker, C.-C. (2015). Government debt: causes, effects and limits
- 12. Klaus, M., Moshammer, E. (2017). Institutions, public debt and growth in Europe. Public Sector Economics 41 (pp. 160–205).
- 13. Priewe, J. (2018). Why 60 and 3 percent? European debt and deficit rules critique and alternatives. 23rd Conference of the Forum for Macroeconomics and Macroeconomic Policies "The Euro at 20 – macroeconomic challenges"
- 14. Vanlaer, Marneffe, W., Wim, V., and Vanovertveldt, J.-L. (2015). Does debt predict growth? An empirical analysis of the relationship between total debt and economic output. European Journal of Government and Economics 4 (pp. 79-103)

SYSTEM-DYNAMIC APPROACH TO ASSESSING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT: THE EXAMPLE OF THE USA

Inese Trusina¹, PhD candidate;

Elita Jermolajeva², Dr.oec., Leading Researcher, Assistant Professor;

Viktors Gopejenko³, Dr.sc.ing., Leading Researcher, Professor

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Jelgava, Latvia; ²Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Malnava College, Malnava, Latvia; ³Ventspils University of Applied Sciences, Ventspils International Radio Astronomy Center, Ventspils, Latvia ³Department of Natural Science and Computer Technologies, ISMA University of Applied Sciences, Riga, Latvia

Abstract. The aim of the article is to study the influence of the sectoral structure of the economy and technological efficiency on ensuring continuous positive growth of the total useful capacity of the socio-economic system during the selected period. The novelty of the approach lies in the fact that, based on the analysis of socio-economic, technical and environmental factors that determine the sustainable development, natural science meters are determined, reduced to one unit of measurement in systems that are open at the input and output in terms of energy. The article focuses on the main questions related to the creation of the dynamic model of the sustainable development model of the system for different scenarios of useful power changes with two types of the impact parameters and algorithms. The results of the main positions of the dynamic models of the systems and their interpretation are presented based on the historical statistical data of the United States of America in the period from 1950 to 2019. The correction was made four times over the period from 1949 to 2019 with different impact factors and scenarios. The purpose of the correction was to model the changes in the useful power of the industry and technological efficiency in order to obtain a continuous positive increase in the total useful power of the system during the selected period.

Key words: sustainable development, system dynamic, industry, technology, power.

JEL code: E19, F69, Q59, R10

Introduction

Existing tools for economic and mathematical descriptions do not allow us to identify the place and time of origin of the root causes of economic changes, taking into account the forecasting of the nature of their growth. In addition, traditional economic and mathematical methods are not able to identify the paths and rates of change in economic structures from the place and time of their occurrence to the place and time of their future manifestation. Economy is the purposeful activity of people in resource management, based on a comparison of projected acquisitions and losses of resources with the planned expenditure of resources necessary to achieve set goals. It follows that without the skills of planning the distribution of resources and the ability to predict future gains and losses from the implementation of planned management, it is impossible to solve any specific economic problem and sustainable development tasks. The main reasons for the weakness of traditional methods of economic and mathematical tools for the formation of proposals for economic management include several provisions (Kulik, 2016). Firstly, traditionally, for current economic management, statistical information is used, which is information from the past. It follows that it is impossible to calculate and predict the results of statistically independent events. Statistics approaches are most suitable for assessing the quality of past management and for preparing the initial conditions for forecasting economic dynamics. It must be taken into account that future economic changes arise on the basis of future economic structures, which are currently still uncertain and are not predicted by stochastic methods. Stochastic methods of economic forecasting, for example extrapolation of time series, are based on the hypothesis that future changes depend only on time, but not on the controls performed in the current

¹ E-mail: inese.trusina@aol.com

²,E-mail: inese elita.jermolajeva@gmail.com

and future times and the resulting structural changes in the economy. Therefore, such economic forecasts about future states that last more than a year are always not correct enough. Secondly, when extrapolating time series, the dependence of the rate of change of the resulting parameter on the values of any resource investments is not modelled, and this leads to the fact that traditionally it is not the speeds and accelerations of parameters that are predicted, but the states of the system, which rarely come true. Thirdly, the real economy operates in conditions of continuous changes in its structures (Kuznetsov, 2015). Namely, these structural changes, not detected by traditional forecasting methods, mainly serve as the reasons for the generation of unpredictable chaotic dynamics of future real processes. A real socioeconomic system is a dynamic system with many structural feedbacks. Real economic systems always have many dynamic elements, and a large number of different (positive and negative) structural feedbacks. Forecasting future structural changes in socio-economic systems can be performed by methods of dynamic modelling of the economic original based on a system of nonlinear differential equations that take into account in their calculations not only the time factor, but also feedback and structural changes. Such dynamic models with a high degree of correctness predict the speed and acceleration of changes in system parameters (i.e. economic dynamics), as a consequence of the effects of various internal controls and expected external influences on it. The results obtained can model not only crisis-free processes, but also future sudden changes that reduce the degree of sustainable development (Kuznetsov, 2015). Within the framework of the concept of ecological economic (Capra, Jakobsen, 2017) and taking into account the conclusions of the energy theory of cost (Costanza, 2004), in order to formalize the tasks of sustainable development, a sustainable development designing model was developed using the method of power and energy flows changes analysing in open dynamic socio-economic systems (Trusina, Jermolajeva, 2022). Based on the main provisions of the model, a necessary condition for the sustainable development of a socio-economic system is a positive increase in useful power. A sufficient condition is the increase in the technological efficiency of the system (Kuznetsov, 2015; Bolshakov, Karibaev & Shamaeva, 2019).

The aim of the article is to study the influence of the sectoral structure of the economy and technological efficiency on ensuring continuous positive growth of the total useful capacity of the socio-economic system during the selected period. The authors were faced with the task: the development of the socio-economic system's useful power dynamic model under various industrial and technological scenarios, based on the methodology of system dynamics and socio-economic system energies flows' changes analysis a as a necessary condition for sustainable development. The results of the main positions of the dynamic models of the systems and their interpretation are presented based on the historical statistical data of the United States of America in the period from 1950 to 2019. The correction was made four times over the period from 1949 to 2019 with different impact factors and scenarios. The authors used the United Nations, the World Bank and the International Energy Association databases to develop the research.

The novelty of the approach lies in the fact that, based on the analysis of socio-economic, technical and environmental factors that determine the sustainable development, natural science meters are determined, reduced to one unit of measurement in systems that are open at the input and output in terms of energy. The relevance of the topic is associated with the growing requirements for the rational justification of management decisions that affect various aspects of the functioning of socio-economic systems.

Methodology

Dynamic modelling is a new direction in the technology of economic and mathematical research. The new direction contains a fundamentally new logic of synthesis, conditioned by taking into account the influence of the time factor in the economy. Often it is more significant than a change in proportions in the

distribution of material, financial, information and other resources. Such parameters of a socio-economic object as the speed of flows and accumulation of resources, the lag time in decision making, the time sequence of resource allocation, the forecasting time interval, the time intervals of weaning or getting used to something, the length of time to tolerate something and a number of other parameters, being function of time, largely determine the nature of socio-economic processes. To avoid serious mistakes when making decisions in managing the real economy, it is necessary to learn to understand the influence of time factors on social processes. Since time flows continuously and endlessly, and social systems (economic, political, social, etc.) are non-stationary and also continuously change their structure, there cannot be stable algorithms and unshakable recommendations in economic management. The ability to manage the economy is not only the ability to redistribute resources, but also the ability to predict the results of this redistribution. In economy, results do not appear immediately and often in the form of processes. If we accept that economy is a social activity of people based on comparing the results of activities with costs, then the ability to predict the nature of losses, the magnitude and time of their occurrence and compare them with useful gains allows us to avoid many mistakes. In this regard, there are several problems (Kuznetsov, 2015). Firstly, it is necessary to determine the criterion for the quality of management and what changes in this criterion are expected in the future. Secondly, to establish what losses will be and when they will be. *Thirdly*, to justify the value of the predicted time interval taken to evaluate the criterion. Fourthly, to determine the strategy for evaluating the criterion (when, frequency). Fifthly, to find out what should serve as the levers for controlling the object, in what sequence and with what intensity they should be used to obtain the desired socio-economic processes.

Dynamic simulators are based on dynamic models of these objects. The main difference between dynamic models and statistical ones is the presence of dynamic algorithms. They form changes in model parameters taking into account the influence of time factors. In addition to the ability to take into account the time factor, dynamic models of simulators have a number of properties that transfer economic and mathematical calculations from the field of traditional methods to fundamentally new technologies (Radziski, 2010). Firstly, dynamic models have many feedbacks similar to those in real objects. One part of the feedback (negative) under certain conditions contributes to the stabilization of the dynamic model, and the other part (positive) gives rise to avalanche-like socio-economic processes. The continuously changing imbalance of positive and negative connections affecting the dynamics of modelling leads to processes of different nature. One of the most difficult tasks of managing socio-economic objects is finding and correctly implementing such a ratio of positive and negative feedbacks that will allow the desired rate of development of the object to be achieved without its destruction or stagnation at every moment of its life. Secondly, socio-economic models have a non-stationary structure, which means that ongoing continuous changes lead to the disappearance or emergence of new connections between model elements. Nonstationary structures lead to many unexpected consequences. Thirdly, nonlinear dynamic models with a non-stationary structure used in simulators require compliance with three necessary conditions:

- logical and mathematical correspondence between all information transformation algorithms;
- correspondence of the starting digital information to the initial structure of the model;
- compliance of the completeness of the set of parameters with the given modelling accuracy.

Of particular importance is the parameter of impact on the object (algorithm) in material or information form. The impact parameter in its form can be constant, not changing throughout the entire duration of the study, or variable. Three main types of changes in the impact parameter can be distinguished:

- "smooth" change in the form of a smooth differentiable function;
- "step" change in impact, when the impact instantly changes by an amount that significantly affects the calculation results;
- "impulse" change in the form of an impulse of a certain size.

Thus, the main problem of modelling complex systems with insufficient information about their functioning is to ensure the adequacy of the created model to the modelled object. The task of such modelling goes beyond formal formulations and significantly limits the possibility of using mathematical methods for describing the behaviour of systems based on statistical material. In addition, modelling socio-economic systems involves modelling the behaviour of systems in situations that have not previously been encountered and modelling situations the observation of which is complicated by the long duration of their development (Bolshakov et al., 2019).

A dynamic model of a real socio-economic system with many feedbacks, non-stationary structure and non-linear transformations of parameters are represented as a "black box" with stochastic switching of communication circuits of model elements. However, all changes in the structure of the dynamic model are completely deterministic, and the emerging processes are generated by a complex non-stationary structure, the changes of which are determined by deterministic algorithms (Radziski, 2010). The search for ways to overcome problems in the study of socio-economic systems led to the emergence in the 1960s of a specialized method of simulation modelling - the method of system dynamics (Forrester, 2003). This method, proposed by Jay Forester, has proven to be an effective approach to studying the behaviour of complex systems that are difficult to formalize. Unlike "traditional" methods of computer modelling, system dynamics does not require constructing a mathematical model of the object under study in a traditional form, but provides the researcher with tools for modelling. This allows you to build models of completely different degrees of complexity and quickly obtain simulation results for different model parameters. System dynamics is aimed at studying not the systems themselves, but the problems associated with these systems. The process of synthesizing system dynamics models is very difficult. It is based on mental models: dynamic models are created by teams of experts and the synthesis of a dynamic model acceptable for practical use can take a lot of time.

Research results and discussion

Modelling socio-economic systems to obtain practically significant results forces us to consider them as complex dynamic systems with a large number of external and internal connections, and also to take into account a variety of information, financial, material, and energy flows, and to provide for an analysis of the consequences of changes in their structure. In an interdisciplinary study, a methodology for evaluating indicators of sustainable development of socio-economic systems (countries) was developed, perfecting the theory of sustainable development, using the processes of natural sciences and connecting the regularities of economy, mathematics, physics and the environment. In context of system dynamic approach, the mental model of the energy flows (power) for socio-economic systems was created and presented on Fig. 1 (Trusina & Jermolajeva, 2023).

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 259-266 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.026



Source: Trusina, I., Jermolajeva, E. & Gopejenko, V. (2023)

Fig. 1. The mental model of socio-economic system with energy flows

The mental model construction is based on the law of conservation of the power in units of energy necessary for the development and provision of all processes of the socio-economic system in invariant coordinate system (Trusina, Jermolajeva, 2022). During the modelling process, the authors used two types of impact parameters on the object (algorithm) and two types of objects (algorithm or scenario). The process of modelling changes in useful power was considered from the point of view of the industrial approach and the technological approach.

Industrial approach

The industrial approach assumes that changes in the useful power of the system depend on the structure of the economy and the proportion between the production and non-production sectors of the economy. For the modelling process construction, the authors used as:

- types of impact parameters on the object (algorithm or scenario) change in the share of the manufacturing industry sector of the economy, impulse type of impact;
- types of objects (algorithm or scenario) the influence of the sectoral structure of the economy on the level of useful power of the socio-economic system, as a necessary condition for sustainable development.

The causal relationship diagram (industrial approach) in accordance with the conditions is presented in Figure 2.



Source: Trusina, I., Jermolajeva, E. & Gopejenko, V. (2023) Fig. 2. Causal relationship diagram (industrial approach)

A dynamic model of changes in useful power for the US socio-economic system was implemented as a result of four impulse impacts in 1949, 1972, 1983 and 2001. The scheme of impact on the system is presented in Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. The scheme of useful power P(t) dynamic as impact on the USA system for the period 1949-2019 (Industrial approach)

The data of the USA system dynamic modelling and calculated historical useful power p(t) for the period 1949–2019 (industrial approach) are presented in Fig. 4



Fig. 4. The USA useful power P(t) dynamic modelling and calculated historical for the period 1949-2019 (industrial approach)

Historical data were used to validate the model. Correlation coefficients of final scenario and historical data in the frame of industrial approach is $R^2 = 0.99$.

Technological approach

The technological approach assumes that changes in the useful power of the system depend on the level of technological development. For the modelling process construction, the authors used as:

- types of impact parameters on the object (algorithm) change in the technological efficiency of the economy, type of impact stepwise;
- types of objects (algorithm or scenario) the impact of the technological efficiency of the economy on the level of useful power of the socio-economic system, as a sufficient condition for sustainable development.

According the mental model, the useful power P1(t) correction as function of technological efficient F1(t) is modelled using formulas 1, that is adapted to research from Kuznetsov model (Kuznetsov, 2015):

$$\frac{dP1(t)}{dt} = -\frac{t}{T}P1(t) + (F1(t) + \Delta F1)N1(t)$$
(1)

where initial conditions are:

P1(0) = 254GW; N1(0) = 953GW; F1(0) = 0.27

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 259-266 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.026

The causal relationship diagram (technological approach) in accordance with the conditions is presented in Figure 5.



Source: created by the authors

Fig. 5. Causal relationship diagram (technological approach)

A dynamic model of changes in useful power for the US socio-economic system was implemented as a result of four step change in impact in 1960, 1972, 1983 and 2001 (Fig. 5). The scheme of impact on the system is presented in Fig. 6.



Fig. 6. The scheme of technological efficiency F(t) dynamic as impact on the USA system for the period 1949–2019 (technological approach)

The data of the USA system dynamic modelling and calculated historical useful power P(t) for the period 1949–2019 are presented in Figure 7. Correlation coefficients of final scenario and historical data in the frame of industrial approach is $R^2 = 0.98$.



Fig. 7. The USA useful power P(t) dynamic modelling and calculated historical for the period 1949–2019 (Technological approach)

Modelling data show that, the structure of the economy and the technological level of socio-economical system are an important factor in building the sustainable development dynamic model.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) The authors in an interdisciplinary study have developed a methodology for evaluating indicators of sustainable development of socio-economic systems (countries), thus supplementing the theory of

sustainable development, using the processes of natural sciences and connecting the regularities of economy, mathematics, physics and the environment.

2) Existing tools for economic and mathematical descriptions do not allow us to identify the place and time of origin of the root causes of economic changes, taking into account the forecasting of the nature of their growth. In addition, traditional economic and mathematical methods are not able to identify the paths and rates of change in economic structures from the place and time of their occurrence to the place and time of their future manifestation.

3) The modelling of the data of the USA useful power dynamic shows that the structure of the economy and the ratio of the industrial and non-industrial parts of GDP are important factors in building the transition to sustainable development.

4) The modelling of the data of the USA useful power dynamic also reveals that the technological level and efficiency of socio-economical system are important factors in building the transition to sustainable development.

5) System dynamics is a contemporary approach for modelling sustainability issues using the longterm perspective and feedback dynamics inherent in such issues. System dynamics is aimed at studying not only the systems themselves, but the problems associated with these systems. The process of synthesizing system dynamics models is very difficult. It is based on mental models and causal relationship diagrams.

Funding

This work was supported by the project of Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Nr. Z70 "Integrated approach to determining socio-economic indicators of sustainable development".

Bibliography

- Bolshakov, B. Y., Karibaev, A. & Shamaeva, E. F. (2019). Introduction to the theory of management of Novation's with the use of spatiotemporal measures, *AIP Conference Proceedings*, 2116, 200009. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.5114190
- 2. Capra, F. & Jakobsen, O. D. (2017). A conceptual framework for ecological economics based on systemic principles of life. *International Journal of Social Economics*, 44(6), 831–844. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSE-05-2016-0136
- 3. Costanza, R. (2004). Value theory and energy. *Encyclopedia of Energy*, 6, 337–346. https://doi.org/10. 1016/B0-12-176480-X/00118-2
- 4. Forrester, J. (2003). Dynamic models of economic systems and industrial organizations. *System Dynamics Review*, 19(4), 329–345.
- Kulik, V., V. (2016). Conceptual Approaches to Management of Social and Economic Systems under Conditions of Uncertainty and Risk. *Problems of the economy*, 1, 100-107.
- 6. Kuznetsov, P. (2015). Life development science. PAEH.
- 7. Podolinsky, S. (2004). Socialism and the unity of physical forces. *Organization & Environment*, *17*(1), 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1086026603262092
- Radzicki, M., J. (2010). System Dynamics and Its Contribution to Economics and Economic Modeling. In book: Complex Systems in Finance and Econometrics, Springer Reference, 727-737. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4419-7701-4_39
- 9. Trusina, I. & Jermolajeva, E. (2021). The scientific discourse on the concept of sustainable development. *Eastern Journal of European studies*, *12*(2), 298–322. https://doi.org/ 10.47743/ejes-2021-0215
- Trusina, I., Jermolajeva, E. & Sloka, B. (2022). Analysis of energy resources' flows as the sustainable development parameters. *Proceedings of the 23rd International Scientific Conference on Economic Science for Rural Development* (ESRD), 56, 254–263. https://doi.org/ 10.22616/ESRD.2022.56.025
- 11. Trusina, I., Jermolajeva, E. & Gopejenko, V. (2023). Nonlinear Natural Scientific Thinking and Ecological Consciousness for Sustainability. In: *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, 25(2):165-186. DOI: 10.2478/jtes-2023-0022 World Bank data base. https://databank.worldbank.org/source/world-developmentindicators#

NEW DIMENSIONS IN THE DEVELOPMENT OF SOCIETY

THE PROBLEMS OF THE PROFESSION OF COMMUNICATION SPECIALISTS IN THE PROCESSES OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES AFTER THE ADMINISTRATIVE TERRITORIAL REFORM IN LATVIA

Jana Bunkus¹, Mg.sc.comm.; Renate Cane², Dr.sc.soc.

^{1,2}Turiba University

Abstract. In recent decades, Latvia has been affected by several administrative and territorial reforms, the last of them in 2021. Consequently, 43 new municipalities were created instead of the previous 119 municipalities. One of the reform's goals was to reduce local governments' administrative costs, which meant reducing the number of deputies and employees, including communication specialists. However, reorganizing the work processes of the new administrative territories created new professional challenges for the municipal communication specialists, as there was a need to explain these often problematic processes to the public.

The study aims to identify the problems of the profession of communication specialists in the processes of changes in local governments after the administrative-territorial reform in Latvia. Research question: what are the most common problems in the professional activities of communication and public relations specialists of Latvian municipalities in the period after the implementation of the administrative-territorial reform? Both qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis methods are used in the research. A survey of these specialists was conducted to clarify the professional activity problems of communication specialists, which have arisen under the influence of the municipal change process. The results of the focus group discussion supplemented the survey results and showed the nature of the problems by looking at them from a deeper perspective. The interviews of local governments and communication experts provided insight into public relations and communication problems in the industry, both in local governments and in Latvia as a whole.

As a result of the study, the authors conclude that, in general, the administrative-territorial reform in Latvia has mainly addressed issues of an economic and infrastructural nature. In such a situation, the role of vital professional communication specialists is increasing. Currently, it can be observed that, in general, communication specialists' involvement in managing municipal change processes in Latvia is low. It is hindered by factors such as the lack of understanding on the part of the municipal administration, as well as the inconsistency of the skills and knowledge of public relations specialists.

Key words: administrative territorial reform, change processes, municipalities, organizational communication, public relations.

JEL code: R58, O21, Z18

Introduction

Today, corporate communication has become an essential function of organizational development and occupies an important place in organizations of various types and fields. This function covers all aspects of communication-related to an organization's identity, reputation and goals. It affects many areas, including process efficiency, productivity, employee relations, management and company culture, and it helps to increase credibility with different audiences both inside and outside the organization (Cornelissen, 2020). In addition, the importance of corporate communication is growing year by year – thanks to the development of new forms and channels of communication, including the Internet and other media, the communication environment of the 21st century is inclusive, diverse and dynamic, and the possibility of rapidly reaching the required target audience through various channels has increased (Ohme, Araujo, Boeschoten, Freelon, Ram, Reeves, & Robinson, 2023). Nevertheless, it also creates problems. For example, the amount of information in the public environment has become immense, the information environment is oversaturated, and in the last decade, the formation of information overload can be observed at various levels when the audiences to whom the communication is directed no longer perceive

¹ E-mail: Jana.Bunkus@turiba.lv

² E-mail: renate.cane@gmail.com

the content of the communication, and even actively avoid it. In turn, this problem in corporate communication can be prevented by creating a smartly coordinated and precisely focused strategic management of communication content and channels. Thus, corporate communication has become essential not only for the organization but also for strategic functions.

One of the branches of corporate communication is public relations. The term "public relations" was conceptualized in the 1970s by one of the central public relations theorists and practitioners, James E. Grunig, to denote a specific part of corporate communication: "Public relations (PR) is a strategic communication process that aims to build mutually beneficial relationships between an organization and its various stakeholders, including the public, customers, employees, investors, and the media. The primary goal of PR is to manage and shape the public perception of an organization, brand, product, or individual. This involves creating positive publicity, managing crises and negative publicity, fostering good will, and enhancing the organization's reputation. PR professionals often use a variety of communication channels and tactics, such as media relations, social media, events, speeches, newsletters, and community outreach, to achieve these objectives" (Grunig, Hunt, 1984). In essence, public relations is about managing the flow of information between an organization and its audience to maintain a positive image and cultivate trust and credibility. It plays a crucial role in shaping public opinion, influencing consumer behaviour, and ultimately contributing to the success of an organization.

Both Grunig and his predecessor PR classicist Edward L.Bernays and other authors emphasize an essential aspect of public relations – to achieve an effective result, public relations must be implemented as a management function, and not only at the operational level (Grunig, 1992; Bernays, 1952; Cameron, Wilcox, Reber, Shin, 2008; L`Etang, 2008). However, in practice, this has turned out to be one of the fundamental problems of the profession, about which there have always been discussions among PR industry professionals – how to achieve that PR is a management function in every organization and company. In addition, often, even PR specialists themselves do not understand their functions because they do not always have good two-way communication with the management; therefore, they do not perform management-level tasks, and the questions arise: "Why am I in this organization at all? Am I here just to follow the instructions, or to be present at management decision-making moments, to explain the impact on society and its possible impact on the organizations' reputation?" From this connection and mutual understanding of public relations, the role of a public relations specialist in the organization is also formed.

The purpose of this study is to identify the problems of the profession of communication and public relations specialists in the processes of change in municipalities after the administrative-territorial reform in Latvia. Research question: What are the most common problems in the professional activities of communication and public relations specialists of Latvian municipalities in the period after the implementation of the administrative-territorial reform? Research tasks and methodology: 1) to analyse literature and documents on public relations, corporate communication, change processes, and communication in municipalities; 2) to analyse the data obtained from the previously conducted research – a survey with public relations specialists of local governments in Latvia, chairpersons and executive directors of local governments; 3) to conduct a focus group discussion of municipal public relations specialists in order to find out in depth the problems and possible solutions of the mentioned specialists in their professional activities in change processes; 4) to conduct interviews with the municipality and communication experts in order to evaluate not only the problems faced by municipal PR specialists in municipalities and search the reasons for this, but also to examine the PR industry in Latvia as a whole.

Research results and discussion

1. The concept of public relations in organizational communication

In the Latvian National Encyclopedia, public relations is defined as "a component of communication that includes organized relations between the organization and its target audience. The purpose of public relations is to influence society or a part of it. Public relations are used to build reputation, crises, receive public support, motivate employees, find cooperation partners etc." (Petersons, 2019). So, the main thing that follows from this definition is – relationships and their formation. In relationship formation and reputation, it is necessary to receive public support, which, for example, in the case of municipalities, is very long. In order to build relations and communication with the public, this process must be managed, and this is a public relations specialist, which is also confirmed by the following definitions in the encyclopedia: "The organization ensures its public relations using the specialists employed in it (press secretary, public relations manager, public relations manager. head of a structural unit, adviser), or by buying them as an outsourcing service (managers of public relations projects in public relations companies)." (Petersons, 2019).

The duties of PR specialists include a wide range of both external and internal communication tasks, which are succinctly called "key processes" in their book "Public Relations. Concepts, Practice and Critique", and are also mentioned by public relations professor Jacquie L`Etang: research, goal setting, publicity, news, development and implementation of strategy and tactics, evaluation (L`Etang, 2008). In order to carry out such duties qualitatively, a public relations specialist must have both professional skills and a specific role in the organization. "Over time, public relations professionals develop patterns of how to behave in different situations and adapt to the perceptions of the people around them about what they should do in the performance of their duties," states the book "Public Relations" (Cutlip, Center, & Broom, 2006), in addition the authors have also distinguished several roles, which are most often performed by PR specialists in organizations, which in the end also most often determine the scope and quality of the work performed by these specialists. "With the help of the description of the four main roles, it is possible to give an idea of the main roles of this profession. At different times and in different situations, public relations workers perform all these and many other roles to varying degrees, but in their daily work and interactions with other people, one role usually stands out - the main role" (Cutlip, Center, & Broom, 2006). Such roles in daily work can be attributed to local government PR specialists, mainly because they often have to perform several roles and many others in their daily work, which is also mentioned by the authors of the book and which is confirmed by further research carried out by the authors of this article.

Cutlip, Center, & Broom distinguish four prominent roles of PR professionals in an organization.

1) Communications technician – the main feature of this role is a more technical performance in his position, without involvement in the decision-making process, so in this case, the PR specialist is not a management-level specialist. "Communications technicians are hired to compile and edit employee newsletters, press releases and descriptions, manage website content, and liaise with mass media. Public relations staff in this role are not usually invited to participate in management-level staff meetings where problems are clarified and solutions are sought. They get involved in the work after the decisions have been made, and their responsibility is to ensure communications and implement the program" (Cutlip, Center, & Broom, 2006). The authors of the book attribute this role more to PR specialists – beginners; however, in this role, different competencies are expected from the PR specialist.

2) Expert organizer – as the definition of the role shows, these PR specialists are given a higher priority both for the role of the specialist in the organization and for the organization of the work to be performed. "Those public relations employees who assume the role of expert organizers are considered by other employees as authorities in identifying and solving public relations problems. Senior managers leave public relations management to an expert organizer and play a relatively passive role in this area themselves. Those employees who work as expert organizers themselves determine the issues to be resolved, develop the program for solving these issues and are fully responsible for the implementation of the programs. The rest of the leaders believe that only an expert organizer is responsible for public relations" (Cutlip, Center, & Broom, 2006). In addition, the authors of the book point out that this role is highly prestigious among both PR professionals and employers. In particular, this role is relevant from the point of view of employers because every head of an organization wants to have high-class specialists working in his organization who perform their work as professionals, which is also pointed out by Scott M. Cutlip, Allen H. Senter, and Glenn M. Broom. The negative feature of this role is that the leaders of the organization are too passive, not getting involved in PR issues believing that only the expert organizer himself has to deal with everything. From the point of view of the organization's management, an expert organizer should be involved only in crisis situations, which does not contribute to the structured and long-term, well-thought-out development of the organization and the creation of the external image as a whole. "If the role of an expert organizer is requested only in crisis situations or periodically during the execution of a specific program, the end result is that the understanding and implementation of the importance of public relations throughout the organization is hindered. In addition, public relations specialists are not satisfied with this situation because they are the only ones responsible for the results of the program, but at the same time, they are almost unable to influence the critical points of the situation and the factors that have brought public relations problems to the fore" (Cutlip, Senter, & Broom, 2006). The situation when a PR specialist is attracted only in case of crisis communication is not rare in Latvian organizations, and it is understandable that this does not satisfy the PR specialists themselves because, in such situations, they often feel not as experts but as executors.

3) Communication coordinator – the main task of PR specialists in this role is to create two-way communication, both internal and external. "In the role of a communication coordinator, a public relations officer's duty is to listen carefully and fulfil the duties of an information intermediary. Communication coordinators are coordinators, interpreters and mediators between the organization and its related public. They maintain two-way communication and coordinate the exchange of information, breaking down relationship barriers and keeping communication channels open. The purpose of their activity is to provide both the organization and society with the information necessary to ensure mutually beneficial decision-making" (Cutlip, Senter, & Broom, 2006). So, as the name of the role suggests, the PR specialist is a mediator between the organization and its target groups, including the organization's employees, and also in internal communication. His role as a mediator also largely determines the quality of decisions made by the organization and the level of public awareness.

4) The problem-solving coordinator – as the role definition says – is the PR specialist who identifies problems in the organization and is the main driving force in solving them. However, the essential difference between the three roles described above is that he is a problem-solving coordinator and a member of the strategic planning team; namely, he is also a management-level specialist. "The problem-solving coordinator helps other leaders of organizations, and the organization as a whole has its own public relations management process – step by step – which is used when solving other

organizational problems" (Cutlip, Senter, & Broom, 2006). Namely, in this case, the active involvement of the managers themselves in the strategic planning process of public relations is provided. So, in this case, it is a matter of close cooperation between the PR specialist and management. "Problem-solving coordinators are brought into the management team because they have demonstrated that they have the skills and knowledge to help other managers avoid or solve problems. Thus, the factor of promoting public relations is involved in management decision-making" (Cutlip, Senter, & Broom, 2006).

The authors of the book also mention that studies have been conducted on how PR specialists adapt to different roles in organizations. There are several determining factors, but the most important of them are opportunities for a salary supplement, the opportunity to move up the career ladder, opportunities for growth, the opportunity to participate in the decision-making of the organization, and, therefore, to be management-level specialists. Undoubtedly, the knowledge and professional skills of a PR specialist are also necessary, which Olga Kazaka calls "competencies" in her book "The First PR Book". According to Kazaka, "Successful development in the field of public relations is ensured in three important directions of development. First of all, it is important to understand the processes – everything related to the strategic vision of the situation, the ability to combine individual actions into the overall work of the organization, and the ability to write, speak, persuade, and create new ideas. Thirdly, process management skills are essential: time management, skilful project management, working with your emotions" (Kazaka, 2019). Thus, the PR specialist must be competent, with the ability to analyse and logically reason about the various processes that are necessary when performing the PR as a management function, as well as the practical skills that form the daily work of the PR specialist, which are essential.

2. Professional problems and challenges of municipal public relations specialists in Latvia

After the municipal elections of 2021, Latvia switched to 43 municipalities instead of the 119 local municipalities. This is stipulated by the Law on Administrative Territories and Settlements, which entered into force on 23 June 2020. The work of the new municipal council began in July 2021. As a result of the unification of administrative territories, public relations (PR) and communication positions were also optimized; namely, the sphere of responsibility of PR specialists increased in many places due to the creation of larger administrative units, while in other places PR and communication specialists lost their jobs. Therefore, the aim of the research is to find out the problems of PR and communication specialists after the reform, taking into account that this is not the only administrative-territorial reform that has taken place since Latvia regained its independence in 1991.

One hundred seventy-four respondents took part in the survey of municipal public relations specialists, 101 respondents in the survey of chairpersons and executive directors of municipalities, but six municipal PR specialists participated in the focus group. Two public relations specialists specializing in public sector communication and public relations, as well as a long-term local government employee, were interviewed as experts.

Table 1

Nr.	Name	Status				
1.	Andris Jaunsleinis	Ex-Chairman of the Latvian Association of Local and Regional Governments				
2.	Inga Latkovska	Strategic Consultant of Communication company LEAD				
3.	Liga Mirlina	Turiba University, lecturer, Communication Specialist				

Source: created by the authors

In general, there are approximately 200 public relations specialists in all municipalities in Latvia, whose positions are called differently: public relations specialist, communication specialist, senior or public relations manager, head of the information department, editor of the municipal newsletter, marketing specialist or manager, communication project manager, website administrator, secretary, HR specialist, tourism affairs specialist, youth affairs specialist etc. However, the functions of these specialists are more or less related to public relations.

The role of communication in any change process is high, which was also proven by the time of the COVID-19 pandemic – timely and professional information was most expected among the population. Likewise, in the daily life of local governments and especially during the reform, it is essential for local government residents to understand the progress of the reform and its impact on the future fate of the specific local government. In local governments, just like anywhere else, and in the private sector, PR specialists are the ones who prepare and distribute information to citizens or target groups. However, the speed and quality of communication may be reduced if PR specialists cannot or are unable to perform their duties because there are objective reasons for this.

The survey of public relations specialists revealed that the majority – 71.83% or 125 respondents – have more than three years of experience in the PR sector; of these, 16.1% or 28 respondents have more than 15 years of experience in this sector, which is very a lot of experience, if it is assumed that entered Latvia in the last 30 years or so. In contrast, only 28.2% or 49 PR specialists have less than three years of experience, which could be called a small or beginner's experience. Experience in the industry is one of the decisive factors in being able to perform one's job professionally – to see and analyse processes, to find the best and most appropriate communication solutions for the situation, to form long-term PR, thus to see the impact of any process on the reputation as a whole.

The survey revealed that Latvian municipalities have a broad understanding of the PR position title. This can be explained by the fact that PR specialists as a profession were included in the classification of Latvian professions relatively recently – around 2004. Therefore, the interpretation of the title of the PR position of the local government management is to be explained.

The different understanding of the PR profession is also reflected in other survey questions. For instance, the answers to the question "Do you combine several positions?" reveal that 126 respondents or 72% of local government PR specialists, combine several positions. This is a large number and is closely related to both the scope of the duties to be performed, the quality of the work performed and the overall feeling of well-being while performing the duties of a PR specialist in the municipality. The correlation between these aspects can be seen in the following survey questions.

Some of the mentioned positions can be attributed as part of public relations, for example, website administrator editor of the municipal newsletter (although in some municipalities, this publication is very voluminous and filled with diverse content, which requires a lot of time and investment), event organizer (in some municipalities this position includes work in a cultural institution of a municipality, therefore it is not about events as a function of PR, but as a separate job unit), social media administrator (for large municipalities, communication on social media is very active, so these duties are even defined as a separate position etc.

However, most of the mentioned positions are full-time – in the case of municipal PR specialists, they are combined with the PR position. Basically, it means managing of two full-time positions. The following serious positions: tourism organizer, youth affairs specialist, personnel specialist, clerk, external relations specialist, office manager, PR specialist also in another municipal institution or capital company, sports methodologist, IT specialist, head of the Development Department, teacher, assistant to the chairman, deputy etc. connecting requires not only much time but also high-stress resistance, because the management of the municipality undoubtedly expects that the results of both positions will be in accordance with the settings of the management and the municipality.

Answers to the survey question "Do you have to perform duties not related to your position?" show a completely different situation – 68% or 119 respondents answered "yes" and only 32% or 55 answered "no", so in this situation also it becomes clear that the PR specialist must combine not only several positions but also fulfil non-official duties. One of the answers to the open-ended question accurately describes the problems raised in this article: "In small municipalities, every employee performs several functions and is involved in events and activities in order to achieve the common goal of the municipality – to create good governance and provide the best range of services to citizens. In this case, you should be involved in the technical support of events, maintaining the website, creating publicity, customer service, improving the business environment, and youth affairs".

The range of duties not related to the position is vast, and the tasks to be performed are time-consuming and often as responsible as the direct duties of a PR specialist. From the variety of additional responsibilities, it can be understood that PR specialists are entrusted with more than even one person can do, which undoubtedly leads to overtime,w or k, and the specialist feels stressed. Respondents in the survey indicate that most of them work more than what is stipulated in the contract; six but six respondents, or 3, or .5%, work up to five or more hours a day. As a result, 58% of the respondents emphasize that the work of PR requires high resistance to stress.

According to the results of the survey, internal and external communication are also among the most popular duties of a PR specialist, respectively – 75% or 130 and 82% or 143 responses. In external communication, municipalities use different types of meetings as the most popular tool for creating a dialogue with the public, which should usually be organized by a PR specialist, which is also consistent with the duties mentioned in question 9 of the survey – organizing various meetings is generally very popular in the activities of PR specialists. Many of these meetings are related to direct duties, but some, such as the organization of entertainment events at the local cultural centre, are not related to non-mediated events.

In the answers to the question "Please indicate what, in your opinion, will be the most pressing challenges in public relations and communication management in municipalities in the next three years (please choose the five most important trends)", the respondents see the following challenges as priorities: the need to simultaneously address different audiences using different channels with limited resources – 124 responses; building and maintaining trust with target groups – 112 responses; managing digital evolution and social platforms in daily work – 110 answers; closer connection between the municipal strategy and its internal and external communication – 95 answers etc. Therefore, the survey participants anticipate that the multifaceted role of PR will continue to grow, and the issue of reputation building and maintenance will become more and more important, increasing the respect of the target groups for the organization. The challenge that is relevant for all industries in the 21st century is also highly valued – the

rapid development of the digital environment and the diversity of communication in it. PR specialists are also aware that a strategic approach to communication is necessary to implement all of this successfully.

To the survey question "Do you think that public relations is a management-level function in the work of your municipality?" the opinions of the respondents are divided almost equally in half. However, there are more of those who believe that in the municipality where the specialist works, public relations is a function of the management level. Eighty-nine respondents answered in the affirmative; however, 39% or 68 – do not consider PR to be a management-level function in their workplace.

Undoubtedly, it is a positive trend that in more than half of cases, PR specialists in their municipality feel that it is a management-level function, which also agrees with what was mentioned in the theoretical section - this is one of the most critical prerequisites for public relations to be a strategically thought-out function. However, 39% or 68 respondents express that they are not involved in management-level discussions and decision-making processes.

The respondents' answers to the final question of the survey, "Do you think that public relations should be a management-level function in the work of the municipality?" reveal that the majority – 93% – of respondents believe that PR should be a management-level function, therefore the author concludes that in this matter there is an understanding of how important a role public relations play in the work of the municipality. A slightly different picture is revealed in the results of the survey of chairpersons and executive directors of local governments, where only a little more than half, namely 52 respondents, believe precisely the same. Thirty-four respondents believe that the PR specialist does not need to be a management-level specialist, which is only about a third of the total number of respondents; however, this is a lot in the context if you consider that every case when a manager treats such a position negatively is subject to discussion and research – it is essential to understand why there is such an opinion that does not agree with what was mentioned in the theoretical part. Likewise, the municipal administration is not transparent in its answer as to whether the PR specialist is invited to make meaningful and strategic decisions. Almost half of 42 respondents answered that everything depends on the situation, which, however, is not the direction of strategically formed communication. A few more respondents, respectively - 67, admit that they consulted with the PR specialist on communication issues.

The results of the focus group discussion complement the results of the survey and show the nature of the problems, giving them a deeper perspective. Thus, for example, five out of six focus group participants confirmed that, when working in one of the municipalities of Latvia, it is necessary to combine several positions or perform duties unrelated to the position. Such results were also shown by the public relations specialists of Latvian municipalities.

Among the problematic issues, the following aspects were mentioned:

- it is difficult to cooperate with the management, because the management does not understand the functions of public relations, are also mentioned among the problematic issues;
- the management avoids communication with the public, which contradicts the aspects mentioned in the theoretical part, that communication with the target audiences is primary for local governments – its decisions must be aimed at the welfare of the public, and this must also be explained in order to form a dialogue between the local government and the public; the management does not inform about essential meetings, therefore there is no possibility to reflect them or participate in order to professionally support the management;

• the PR specialist is also not invited to employee meetings and thus is not informed of what was discussed in them, therefore the PR specialist cannot fully participate in the creation of internal communication, which, as also stated in the theory section, is one of the duties of every PR specialist.

Summarizing the opinions of three experts, it should be concluded that the vision and understanding of PR and communication functions is much broader and more correlated with the theoretical positions. Key takeaways from expert interviews:

- over time, the influence of PR specialists has changed it has become more assertive;
- PR specialists must be loyal to the head of the municipality;
- the PR specialist is primarily the one who takes information to the public; thus, the reputation of the municipality is formed;
- "communication is effective if you are the first";
- the PR specialist must be a mediator between the management and the team, between the municipality and society;
- public relations is intellectual work, so flexible working hours and remote work are crucial so that the specialist can work at the time and place that suits him best;
- PR specialists in many areas are often under evaluated;
- if the management appreciates the importance of public relations, the PR specialist will definitely be a management-level specialist;
- if the PR specialist has to combine several positions and perform duties unrelated to the position, he can only be an executor and not a specialist;
- if the manager does not understand the importance of the PR specialist, the one must go and speak, defend one's existence, and stop complaining;
- high stress and long-term dissatisfaction with the situation can lead the PR specialist to decision to quit his job or even change his profession;
- considering the fact how different municipalities are, their management's perception of public relations can also significantly differ;
- if the PR specialist sees his role in the municipality in the way that significantly differs from manager's expectations, a clash of opinions may occur;
- for local governments, communication with the public is almost mandatory, whereas for companies, it is optional;
- the main task of the PR of municipalities is to provide information about their goals, plans, budget execution, and other topical issues of the municipality.

Summarizing the research results, it can be concluded that public relations specialists in Latvia undoubtedly fulfil the functions described in the scientific guidelines; however, in practice, the real work in this profession has introduced corrections, especially under the influence of reforms, which on the one hand should be seen as a transformation of the profession in accordance with the requirements of the era, but on the other hand, it increases the risk that the lack of understanding about this profession is increasing, the number of problems is increasing – the amount of responsibilities is increasing, but the salary does not change, there are uncertainties about the goals and tasks of this profession; thus the reputation of the public relations profession as a whole is suffering.

Undoubtedly, a big problem in the creation of communication is differences in opinions of PR specialists and municipality management about the nature and necessity of public relations and communication. The research findings conducted globally on PR issues show that the creation and delivery of communication content to the target audience can be timely and of high-quality only provided that PR specialist is a management-level specialist as, during the creation of the content, PR and communication specialists must be well informed of the strategic decisions of the management.

Any reform – external or internal – is a process of change, in which the management of the organization plays an important role, as well as PR and communication specialists. Their joint cooperation forms a synergy. However, synergy is impossible if there are various hindering factors – not only in the understanding of the communication goals, but also related with the overload, extra duties, lack of time, burnout etc.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) It is vital for organizations today to be approachable, open and available in creating beneficial and meaningful corporate communication, therefore both private and public sector organizations are increasingly aware of the need to be present and involved in communication processes, thus getting closer to their target audience.

2) There is a frequent turnover of public relations specialists in local governments, which does not allow local governments to plan strategic long-term public relations. In order to reduce this, the primary duties of the position of PR specialist should be explained, which would change the attitude of both sides – the administration and specialists, and thus increase the understanding of PR as a complete, part-time position, where additional duties may be an exception rather than permanent practice.

3) Latvian municipal PR specialists and municipal chairs and executive directors often do not have a common understanding of the goals and tasks of the PR in the work of the municipality, which hinders professional cooperation between the two parties. Therefore, it is necessary to introduce the heads of municipalities to show the main problems of PR specialists, including combining several positions, which causes overload and stress and reduces the quality of communication, which in turn affects the reputation of the municipality and corporate communication.

4) The performance of duties that are not directly related to their position should be an exception, not a system; therefore, in the meetings with municipal chairs and executive directors, a solution should be found to change the situation, possibly by delegating some additional duties to other municipal specialists, thus relieving the workload of PR specialists and giving them the opportunity qualitatively perform their duties, which is directly related to the formation of the reputation of local governments. A uniform of the PR specialist's job description should also be developed, which would be an example for all local governments.

5) Only half of the municipal leaders in the survey indicate that the PR specialist should be a management-level specialist in the municipality, which means that often PR specialist is not invited to participate in the decision-making process, therefore, cannot fully communicate these decisions to the public. At meetings and seminars, municipal managers and CEOs should be given an understanding of why a municipal PR specialist should be a management-level specialist and participate in management-level meetings - to advise the management on the impact of decisions on target audiences, their reactions and the necessary PR activities, corporate communication tasks, it generally refers to the reputation of municipalities.

6) It is difficult to manage change processes in both the internal and external environment of the organization if there is a lack of shared understanding and a common vision of the organization's achievable goals and their impact on the well-being of the population, so it is necessary to strengthen

the role of PR and communication. This function can be undertaken by PR specialists and industry experts, as well as by relevant non-governmental organizations, such as the Latvian Association of Local and Regional Governments and the Latvian Association for Public Relations Professionals.

Bibliography

- 1. Cornelissen, J. (2020). Corporate Communication: A Guide to Theory and Practice (6th ed) (p. 336). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Ohme, J., Araujo, T., Boeschoten, L., Freelon, D., Ram, N., Reeves, B.B. and Robinson, T.N., (2023). Digital trace data collection for social media effects research: APIs, data donation, and (screen) tracking. In Communication Methods and Measures (p.1-18).
- 3. Grunig, J., & Hunt, T. (1984). Managing Public Relations. Holt, Rinehart and Winston (p. 550).
- 4. Bernays, E. (1952). Public Relations. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman (p. 374).
- 5. Grunig, J. E. (Ed.) (1992). Excellence in public relations and communication management. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (pp. 666).
- Cameron, G., Wilcox, D., Reber, B., & Shin J. (2008). Public Relations Today. Managing competition and conflict. USA: Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data (p. 459).
- 7. L'Etang, J. (2008). Public Relations. Concepts, Practice and Critique. London: SAGE Publications Ltd (p. 290).
- 8. Pētersons, A. (2019). Sabiedriskās attiecības. Latvijas Nacionālā enciklopēdija. Retrieved from: https://enciklopedija.lv/skirklis/1366-sabiedrisk%C4%81s-attiec%C4%ABbas
- 9. Cutlip, S. M., Center, A. H., & Broom, G. M. (2006). Effective public relations (9th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- 10. Kazaka, O. (2019). Pirmā PR grāmata. Riga: Trendsetter Publishing (pp. 182).

VANGUARD AND LAGGARD RURAL POPULATION CLUSTERS IN LATVIA

Aleksandrs Dahs¹, Dr.demog.; Juris Krumins², Dr.habil.oec.; Atis Berzins³, Dr.oec.;

Kristine Lece⁴, Mg.math.

^{1,2,3,4}University of Latvia

Abstract. Previous studies have shown stark differences in terms of demographic development among rural municipalities of Latvia. Application of the non-hierarchical cluster analysis methodology allowed classifying distinct groups of municipalities based on their demographic potential and vulnerabilities. This study aims to provide an update to the demographic typology of rural municipalities and to discuss main differences between vanguard and laggard municipality groups, using latest statistical information and the available population survey data. Study employs established four-cluster model for the rural municipality typology and relies on latest official statistics, as well as the data obtained during 2021 "DemoMig" population survey. Study results confirm the validity and utility of the four-cluster model, highlighting extreme disparity in population dynamics between the municipalities assigned to "Population growth" and "Accelerated depopulation" groups. Understanding the differences between the two moderate groups of municipalities - "Balanced population change" and "Moderate depopulation" is found to be highly important from academic and policy perspective. Thorough review of the municipalities included in specific clusters sheds some light on the internal regional processes and factors shaping their demographic situation. Study demonstrates that these factors often go beyond mere differences in spatial location. Different groups show some surprising similarities in their core demographic indicators, which provide grounds for cautious speculations on possible long-term recovery scenarios. Analysis of the survey responses of local residents gives hints for implementing some corrective policy measures. Key words: regional demography, cluster analysis, population survey data.

JEL code: J11, I38, R11

Introduction (data and methods)

Many studies (Krisjane et al., 2017; Berzins et al., 2018; Baranauskiene and Burneika, 2021) have confirmed differences in demographic situation and changes between rural municipalities of Latvia and other two Baltic States. Available data and previous research results (CSB, 2023; Berzins and Zvidrins, 2001; Pluschke-Altof et al., 2020) identify a progressing core-periphery divide among rural municipalities in Latvia and its neighbouring countries. That is highlighting a need to elaborate a robust evaluation and monitoring framework in order to properly evaluate and address this issue (Apsite-Berina et al., 2020; Brzozowska et al., 2023). Close connection between the socio economic determinants and general demographic indicators are well established (Zarins and Paiders, 2020; Berzins et al., 2018). However, when looking at individual municipalities, one may notice distinct variations and unexpected outliers requiring closer examination. Application of the non-hierarchical cluster analysis methodology allows quickly and effectively to classify, to evaluate and monitor distinct groups of municipalities based on their demographic characteristics, while highlighting nuanced demographic topography and indicating outlier cases for further review.

<u>The aim of this study is</u> to provide an update to the demographic typology of rural municipalities and to discuss differences between vanguard and laggard municipality groups by using the latest statistical information and survey data.

Since 2020, the number of rural population in Latvia has remained rather stable, forming approximately 0.6 million residents. At the beginning of 2023, the share of rural area residents in the total population was 30.2 % (CSB, 2023) residing in all 36 municipalities (novadi) of Latvia. Seven cities, which form urban municipalities, are not forming the object of this research. Among 36 municipalities, included in the

¹ E-mail: Aleksandrs.Dahs@lu.lv

² E-mail: Juris.Krumins@lu.lv

³ E-mail: Atis.Berzins@lu.lv

⁴ E-mail: Kristine.Lece.lv@gmail.com

analysis, there is only one – Jelgava municipality without any towns, 15 are with single town, 11 with two towns and 9 with 3 to 4 towns. Therefore, the terms used in this paper – "rural population clusters" and "rural population municipalities" are conditional, because all municipalities (excluding Jelgava municipality) still have some proportion of urban population (usually less than 50%).

From the methodology perspective, this study employs a slightly revised version of the previously established four-cluster model (Krisjane et al., 2021) for the rural municipality typology. Use of different cluster analysis models for categorisation of territorial units of Latvia has been successfully tested in the past and demonstrated valuable results (Melluma et al., 1996; Brauksa, 2013). Clustering approach used in this study relies on the unsupervised non-hierarchical clustering - a well-proven K-medoids PAM (Partitioning around Medoids) algorithm (Kaufman and Rousseeuw, 2009). This approach is considered a good option to achieve the aim of this study, because it allows greater freedom in choice of selected parameters, particularly when compared to a classical regression tools. The main benefit of this methodology is underlined by the fact that the clusters are assigned by an impartial machine-learning algorithm. Unlike more traditional hierarchical clustering methods, it is independent of any subjective measures or expectations of similarity between observations (Peters, 1958), which is a very important aspect for this study.

The data used in this study were obtained from the national statistical database (Official Statistics Portal, 2024). A four-year period from 2018 to 2021 is used for capturing the dynamic elements of the cluster model. The data published in 2022 are not used in this study to avoid irregularities introduced by the settlement of refugees from Ukraine. The fixed data observations are provided for 01.01.2021 - the latest nationwide Population census. The study also relies on the findings of the population survey (n=4457) carried out in 2021 throughout the country within the framework of the research project "DemoMig".

The study results confirm validity and utility of the four-cluster model, highlighting disparity in population dynamics between the municipalities assigned to "growth areas" and "depopulation crisis areas" groups. Understanding the differences between the two moderate groups of municipalities – "stagnating areas" and "areas of emigration" is found to be highly important from academic and policy perspective. The analysis of the municipalities located on the fringes of these clusters helps uncovering and explaining the processes driving the transition of municipalities between clusters.

Thorough review of the municipalities included in specific clusters sheds some light on the internal regional processes and factors shaping their demographic situation. The study demonstrates that these factors often go beyond mere differences in spatial location. Different groups show some surprising similarities in their core demographic indicators, which provide grounds for cautious speculations on possible long-term recovery scenarios. The analysis of the survey responses of local residents gives hints for implementing corrective policy measures.

Research results and discussion

This research is structured in tree sections identifying, explaining and discussing disparities of population development among rural municipalities. The first sub-section provides the results and review of the most recent cluster analysis utilising the four-cluster model produced by non-hierarchical clustering algorithm. The second section compares municipalities included in each cluster and addresses observed disparities between the identified groups. The third section utilises the results of the population survey data among residents of the municipalities falling under each identified cluster and provides discussion on possible corrective measures.

1. Defining clusters

According to the study's aim and methodology established in the introduction, the authors begin by conducting a cluster analysis of the rural municipalities (novads) of Latvia using PAM clustering methodology. In order to ensure relevance of the study, the authors use the municipal structure of Latvia established after the 2021 Administrative-territorial reform. Urban municipalities designated as State cities are omitted form the cluster analysis in order to avoid outliers and other data issues.

In order to ensure continuity with previous research, a previously established and tested four-cluster model is used in a slightly modified form. The four-cluster model is adjusted to include new parameters better capturing the local demographic situation and processes. The model parameters include population density in 2021 (residents per square kilometre), natural population growth (%) and net migration (%) between 2018 and 2021, as well as demographic load in 2021, and number of children (0-14) per 100 senior (64+) residents in 2021. Taking into account the recent findings on the importance of gender ratio in the local demographic processes (Dahs et al., 2023), another statistical parameter – Percentage of male population in working age (15-63) is also added to the model.

Figure 1 shows the clustering results on the map of Latvia.



Source: author's calculations based on Official Statistics Portal of Latvia, 2024

Fig. 1. Results of the unsupervised clustering of Latvian municipalities based on selected demographic indicators, 2018-2021

In order to better explore and describe the obtained cluster assignments, it is useful to look at the individual municipalities representing each group. Table 1 provides information on the demographic indicators of the municipalities identified at the centre of each respective cluster.

Table 1

Demographic characteristics of rural municipalities in Latvia representing four clusters in accordance to the chosen data set, 2018-2021

Cluster	Municipality	Population density (residents per sq km, 2021)	Natural population growth (2018-2021)	Migration saldo (2018-2021)	Percentage of males in 15-63 age group (2021)	Number of children (0-14) per 100 senior (64+) residents in 2021	Demographic load in 2021
1	Ādaži municipality	93.94	0.53	10.36	50.05	130.37	60.67
2	Ogre municipality	32.61	-1.55	1.17	49.54	86.21	63.65
3	Talsi municipality	13.35	-2.75	-2.81	51.32	65.66	61.23
4	Balvi municipality	8.13	-5.39	-3.70	52.27	56.13	57.15

Source: author's calculations based on Official Statistics Portal of Latvia, 2024

Based on the information provided above, it is now possible to describe each of the identified municipality types.

1) Population growth areas – municipalities located within the metropolitan area of Riga city, showing high population density, favourable age structure, positive population growth and average demographic load. These municipalities also show a stable proportion of working age females in their population composition.

2) Balanced population change areas – municipalities with average population density, slightly negative natural population change and stable or positive migration balance. These municipalities usually have the highest demographic load numbers, somewhat unstable population age structure with almost equal numbers of minor and senior residents. These areas demonstrate gender distribution with higher share of females within working age cohort.

3) Moderate depopulation areas – municipalities with sub-average population density, relatively high demographic load and high rates of out-migration. These areas also demonstrate unstable population structures, stagnant or negative natural population change and above-average predominance of working age males.

4) Accelerated depopulation areas – municipalities with especially low population density, very low share of young residents and extremely high levels of depopulation due to negative natural movement and negative net migration. These municipalities also demonstrate the highest population share within the working age group and biggest male-to-female gender disparity within working age population.

One can immediately notice a presence of a strong core-periphery dichotomy among the identified clusters (Lang et al., 2015). Clustering results highlight significant disparity in population dynamics between the municipalities assigned to "Population growth areas" located around Riga city and "Accelerated depopulation areas" situated primarily within the Latgale region. Differences between the two moderate groups of municipalities – "Balanced population change areas" and "Moderate depopulation areas" are less extreme and more nuanced. Further analysis of these two clusters may prove valuable from both academic and policy perspective.

Cluster analysis results also confirm presence of a strong link between gender balance among working age population and local population dynamics. This parameter should be considered in future research and modelling efforts in this field of study.

Based on these observations one can make provisional conclusions about the growing influence of Riga city and its metropolitan area on the demographic landscape throughout the country. The spill-over effects of the Riga metropolitan area are also evident among municipalities assigned to the second cluster, where stable population numbers are linked mainly to the neutral or positive net-migration driven by extended sub-urbanisation processes and easier access to the social and economic infrastructure of Riga. State cities located outside of the extended Riga metropolitan area show no positive effects on their surrounding rural areas. Specific cases and variations of these trends will be addresses in the next section of this study.

2. Understanding disparities

In this section, the authors review municipalities included in each cluster and address disparities between the identified groups. Particular attention is devoted to clusters two and three, as well as municipalities located on the statistical fringes of these clusters.

The first cluster consists mainly of the municipalities of the Riga planning region. The nearby Saulkrasti municipality (Vidzeme planning region) is added to them. In four of the seven municipalities of this cluster,

the natural population change is positive. Therefore, the number of children also exceeds the number of seniors. Like in the city of Riga, the number of women in this cluster exceeds the number of men at working age. The migration rate is especially high in this cluster, which indicates the move of young families to the urban area of Riga. However, it should be considered that in the period under review, legislative changes have taken place in several municipalities, which provide for increased real estate tax for dwellings in which no person has been declared. Therefore, in municipalities with a large proportion of summerhouses (mainly in coastal areas - in the Saulkrasti and Ādazi municipalities), sometimes the increase in the number of residents also occurs when someone from the family declares in a summerhouse. However, even without this reason, the net migration in these municipalities would probably be positive.

The second cluster consists of seven municipalities, and the third - 14. Geographically, the second cluster mainly includes municipalities located in the North-West part of the Vidzeme planning region. The nearby Sigulda municipality (Riga planning region) and Jelgava municipality (Zemgale planning region) have been added to them. The third cluster is geographically broader – it includes the municipalities of all the planning regions except Riga. However, in terms of demographic indicators, the municipalities united in the third cluster are more similar to each other than those ones united in the second cluster - the amplitude of all indicators is smaller. This allows to judge the third cluster as a group with a similar demographic situation and to assume that the problems and solutions in these municipalities could also be similar.

Analysing the differences between the second and third clusters, the reviewed indicators are related to each other. Briefly, this difference could be described as the level of aging of the area as a direct product of population composition and level of public and private investment (Grube and Paiders, 2020; Ubareviciene et al., 2016). The number of children per 100 seniors in the second cluster is below 70 only in two municipalities, while in the third cluster such situation is typical in most of the municipalities. Aging is also evidenced by the natural population change, which is more negative in the third cluster than in the second one. The third cluster also has a lower population density. This is a very worrying factor, considering the latest state policy in the optimization of the school network, where schools and kindergartens are closed in municipalities with low population density. This could contribute to the emigration of families with children from the municipalities of the third cluster, thus affecting the age structure and further strengthening the differences with the second cluster.

The chart in Figure 2 shows the relationship between two indicators – "population density" and "number of children per 100 seniors" in municipalities of the second and third clusters. The clearly visible, linear relationship shows that families with children prefer to choose more densely populated areas, while seniors continue to live in areas that are gradually emptying out. The unbalanced age structure causes multiple problems and requires tailored solutions (Schorn, 2023). The large proportion of single seniors in less populated areas creates additional tasks for municipalities in terms of social support. On the other hand, the support that seniors could provide in looking after their grandchildren is not possible because grandparents live far from their family. Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 279-289 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.028



Source: author's calculations based on Official Statistics Portal of Latvia, 2024

Fig. 2. Correlation between population density and number of children (0-14) per 100 senior residents (64+) in clusters 2 and 3, 2021

The fourth cluster includes mainly the municipalities of the Latgale planning region. The nearby Varaklani municipality (Vidzeme planning region) is added to them. This cluster also includes Ventspils municipality (Kurzeme planning region), which is geographically far from the other municipalities of the fourth cluster. The indicators of this region show the need to pay special attention to the demographic situation of Latgale region, which is in a state of depopulation crisis. It is possible that the studies carried out in the regional workshops of "DemoMig" project on the perspective of the inhabitants of Latgale on the reasons for migration and aging in the region would be useful for the further analysis of the situation.

Ventspils municipality is included in this cluster due to the low population density as well as the large proportion of men of working age. The other indicators for Ventspils municipality are closer to the third cluster. However, it is possible that cooperation and exchange of ideas between Ventspils municipality and Latgale municipalities regarding solutions in areas with low population density is possible, which would make a positive contribution to both Ventspils and Latgale. In addition, municipalities of cluster four demonstrate significantly lower demographic load highlighting the untapped economic and social development potential of these areas.

3. Development obstacles and future prospects

This section builds on the results of the population survey data carried out among residents of Latvia in 2021 (n=4457) within the framework of "DemoMig" project. By addressing the discrepancies in survey answers among residents of municipalities falling under different clusters, authors examine the subjective dimension of the observed demographic disparities and search for possible improvement scenarios.

Following the observations from the previous sections, the authors proceed to exploring the role of accessibility and transport infrastructure in the distribution of municipalities among various clusters. Figure 3 demonstrates the aggregated results of questionnaire responses regarding the average travel times to the place of work or study provided by survey respondents residing in each cluster municipalities.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 279-289 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.028



Source: author's calculations based on 2021 "DemoMig" population survey

Fig. 3. Average travel times to the place of work or study, as indicated by survey respondents residing in each cluster municipalities in 2021 (% of answers)

Over 70% of responders in all four clusters have indicated that they spend less than 45 minutes for a one-way commute. Furthermore, the share of short commute times increases progressively with each cluster – up to 83% in the fourth cluster. Demographically stable first and second clusters show the highest proportion of population spending 45 to 90 minutes to reach their place of work or education (over 20% and 22% respectively). The highest share of long commute times over 90 minutes was indicated by residents of cluster three and four (over 7%).

These results indicate that daily commute times play an important role in shaping the demographic conditions in rural municipalities. Municipalities with better interconnection with Riga metropolitan areas (first and second clusters) show greater willingness of population to spend moderate time for the daily commute in exchange for access to opportunities provided by Riga metropolitan area. At the same time, residents of the more distant municipalities (clusters three and four) look for local work and education prospects as an alternative to enduring very long travel times. This observation for third and fourth cluster also highlights the lack of appropriate substitute employment and education places in the regional urban centres situated within the average travel time limits. Solutions to this issue include the promotion of remote work, improving the rapid transportation infrastructure and facilitating the development of substitute social and economic infrastructure in the regional development centres located within the average travel.

Results of the survey questions regarding the migration plans have shown generally low mobility intentions across all clusters. Residents of municipalities in the first cluster have demonstrated the highest migration intentions (over 8% of respondents), preferring to change residence within the current municipality (3%) or move to a different municipality (3.2%). Residents of the second cluster show the lowest willingness to move (just over 5% or respondents) and prefer changing residence within the same municipality. Clusters three and four show high willingness of residents to move to a different municipality, while residents of cluster four also demonstrate the highest intentions to move abroad (3.6%). Table 2 provides breakdown of the survey results regarding migration intentions among residents of all four clusters.

Table 2

	Migration plans					
Cluster	No	Within current municipality	To a different municipality	To a different country		
1	91.37%	2.96%	3.23%	2.43%		
2	94.63%	2.80%	1.64%	0.93%		
3	93.99%	1.84%	3.01%	1.17%		
4	92.00%	1.20%	3.20%	3.60%		

Migration intentions within the next year, as indicated by survey respondents residing in each cluster municipalities in 2021 (% of answers)

Source: author's calculations based on 2021 "DemoMig" population survey

It is possible to conclude, that survey responses for cluster one are generally in line with migratory behaviour of economically active and younger population (Skrbis et al., 2014). The responses from residents of cluster two confirm previous conclusion about these municipalities being attractive for immigration and long-term settlement, suggesting the presence of extended sub-urbanisation process in these municipalities driven by the expansion of Riga metropolitan area. Migratory intentions of residents in cluster three also confirm this cluster's classification and statistical observations on the accelerating outmigration of its economically active population to other regions within Latvia. Residents of cluster four show little interest in moving within the same municipality, accompanied by prevalent plans to migrate to a different municipality or abroad (Kozlovs, 2019).

These observations support conclusions about the role of extended sub-urbanisations effects presented by Riga city. State cities and urban centres geographically situated in clusters three and four show no such effects and in some cases (e.g. Ventspils municipality) drain economically active population form their surrounding rural areas. With this in mind, restarting and encouraging the sub-urbanisation processes of the population centres outside Riga metropolitan area is crucial for revitalisation of the surrounding rural areas (Camaioni, et al., 2019).

Table 3 provides the summary of survey responses regarding population opinion on necessary demographic policy measures. Although the general trend of responses is quite even throughout the rural municipalities of all four clusters, there are notable differences present in the support level for specific policy actions between the clusters. Support for measures aimed at increasing birth-rate is highest in cluster two (over 25%) and lowest in cluster four (below 17%). Cluster four residents also showed the highest interest in policies aimed at promoting healthy and active lifespan, reducing out-migration and supporting re-migration. Residents of the first cluster municipalities are more welcoming to the idea of limited immigration of foreign nationals (over 4%), while cluster four residents overwhelmingly reject this idea (below 1% support). Residents of the third cluster showed significantly high interest in policies reducing social inequalities (over 26%), while the first and second cluster respondents showed somewhat higher support for improvement of education and professional skills.

Table 3

Necessary demographic policy measures, as indicated by survey respondents residing in each cluster municipalities in 2021 (multiple-choice, % of answers)

	Policy measures						
Cluster	Measures aimed at increasing birthrate	Improving health and active lifespan	Measures aimed at reducing out-migation	Measures supporting re-migration	Supporting limited immigration of foreign nationals	Reducing social inequalities	Supporting education and development of professional skills
1	22.34%	19.93%	12.03%	8.59%	4.12%	19.24%	13.75%
2	25.59%	16.47%	11.47%	8.24%	1.47%	22.94%	13.82%
3	20.87%	16.97%	12.61%	8.72%	2.29%	26.15%	12.39%
4	16.67%	21.90%	17.14%	10.95%	0.95%	20.48%	11.90%

Note: Multiple-choice question – row totals may exceed 100%. Source: author's calculations based on 2021 "DemoMig" population survey

These responses fall in line with previous observations and support conclusions about extended suburbanisation processes in cluster two, as well as growing social inequalities and increasing pressure to migrate within cluster three. Sub-urban areas located in cluster one show greater acceptance of foreign workforce, although the overall level of support for this policy remains very low. Policy options supported by residents of cluster four correspond with the priorities exhibited by ageing population; however, these options seem to be less realistic in the current situation and require cautious implementation (Kruzmetra et al., 2016). On the contrary, policies aimed at promoting birth-rate, immigration of foreign workforce and development of professional skills were least popular in cluster four. This underlines the urgent need for better communication strategy in support of the national regional development objectives (Saeima, 2010).

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

 Clustering results highlight a significant disparity in population dynamics between the municipalities assigned to four clusters: (1) "Population growth areas"; (2) "Balanced population change areas";
 (3) "Moderate depopulation areas", and (4) "Accelerated depopulation areas".

2) The social and economic spill-over effects of the Riga metropolitan area are evident among municipalities assigned to the second cluster, where stable population numbers are supported mainly by the neutral or positive net-migration driven by extended sub-urbanisation processes of Riga metropolitan area.

3) State cities and urban centres geographically situated in clusters three and four show no positive sub-urbanisation effects. With this in mind, restarting and encouraging the sub-urbanisation processes of the population centres outside Riga metropolitan area are crucial for revitalisation of the rural areas in these territories.

4) The difference between the second and third cluster is mainly related to the population density and level of aging. Analysis results show that families with children choose more densely populated areas, while seniors continue to live in areas that are gradually emptying out.

5) Migratory intentions of residents in cluster three confirm observations on the accelerating outmigration of its economically active population to other regions within Latvia driven by growing local social inequalities.

6) Daily commute time plays an important role in shaping the demographic conditions in rural municipalities. The difficult demographic situation in clusters three and four is exacerbated by the diminishing accessibility of employment and education infrastructure located within reasonable travel time.

7) Corrective policy options supported by residents of cluster four correspond with the priorities exhibited by ageing population. Rejection of more urgent and effective policies within this cluster leads to conclusion about the urgent need for better communication strategy.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by National Research Programme "Letonica for the development of Latvian and European society" Project No. VPP Letonika-2021/4-0002 "New solutions in the study of demographic and migration processes for the development of the Latvian and European knowledge society".

Bibliography

- 1. Apsite-Berina, E., Bela, B., Berzins, M., Bite, D., Krisjane, Z., Krumins, J., Kruzmetra, Z., Lubkina, V. (2020). Regional needs assessment: an approach to demographic and migration research. *Folia Geographica*, 18, 5-12.
- Berzins, A. and Zvidrins, P. (2001). Depopulation in the Baltic States. *Lithuanian Journal of Statistics*, 50 (1), 39-48.
- Berzins, M., Eglite, P., Krisjane, Z., Kule, L. (2018). Iedzīvotāju skaita dinamika, struktūra un to ietekmējošie faktori [Population dynamics, structure and factors affecting it] In: Nikodemus, O., Kļaviņs, M., Krišjāne, Z., Zelcs, V. (ed.) Latvija. Zeme, daba, tauta, valsts. Rīga: LU Akademiskais apgāds, pp. 488-496.
- 4. Baranauskiene, V., Burneika D. (2021). Demographic changes and migration in LAU 2 regions of Lithuania in 2001-2018. *Folia Geographica*, 19, 59-69.
- 5. Brauksa, I. (2013). Use of cluster analysis in exploring economic indicator differences among regions: The case of Latvia. *Journal of Economics, Business and Management*, 1(1), 42-45.
- 6. Brzozowska, Z., Zhelenkova, E. and S.Gietel-Basten (2023). Population decline: Towards a rational, scientific research agenda. *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research*, 21, 1-11.
- 7. Burneika, D., Daugirdas, V., Kriauciunas, E., Ribokas, G. and Ubareviciene, R. (2013). Socioeconomical aspects of depopulation in eastern EU border region case of eastern Lithuania. *Region and regionalism*, 1, 195-215.
- 8. Camaioni, B., Coderoni, S., Esposti, R., Pagliacci, F. (2019). Drivers and indicators of the EU rural development expenditure mix across space: Do neighbourhoods matter? *Ecological Indicators*, 106 (11) 105505.
- 9. Central Statistical Bureau [CSB] of Latvia (2023). Statistical Yearbook of Latvia 2023. Riga
- Dahs, A., Berzins, A., Krumins, J., Lece, K. (2023). Territorial variation of gender ratio in Latvia causes and implications. *Proceedings: International Scientific conference "New Challenges in Economic and Business Development 2023: Recovery and Resilience*. University of Latvia. pp. 50.-57.
- 11. Grube, G. and Paiders, J. (2020) Latvia's progress towards a retirement society: ageing trends in Latvian municipalities. *Folia Geographica* 18, 36-45.
- 12. Kaufman, L. and Rousseeuw, P.J. (2009). Finding groups in data: an introduction to cluster analysis. John Wiley & Sons, 349 p.
- 13. Kozlovs, M. (2019). Emigration and remittances pattern analysis in lagging-behind regions of the Baltics: case studies for Narva, Daugavpils and Visaginas. *Folia Geographica*, 17, 85-94.
- 14. Krisjane, Z., Apsite–Berina E., Berzins M., Grine I. (2017). Regional Topicalities in Latvia: Mobility and Immobility in the Countryside. *Economic Science for Rural Development Conference Proceedings,* issue 45 (2017), pp. 127-133.
- 15. Krisjane, Z., Krumins, Ju., Dahs, A., Lece, K., Krumins, Ja. (2021). Teritoriālo un individuālo datu lietojuma inovācijas Latvijas demogrāfiskās situācijas analīzē par 2011.–2021. gadu. [Innovations in the use of territorial and individual data in the analysis of the demographic situation of Latvia for 2011-2021]. Latvijas Zinātņu Akadēmijas Vēstis, A part (2021), issue 4., pp. 76.-93.
- 16. Kruzmetra, Z., Bite, D., Lotina, L. (2016). Lauku pašvaldības kā sabiedrības atjaunošanas aģenti. [Rural municipalities as agents of community renewal]. *Folia Geographica*, 15, pp. 156-159.
- Lang, T., Henn, S., Sgibnev, W. and Ehrlich, K. (2015). Understanding Geographies of Polarization and Peripheralization: Perspectives from Central and Eastern Europe and Beyond. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 352 p.
- 18. Latvijas Republikas Saeima (2010). Latvijas ilgtspējīgas attīstības stratēģija līdz 2030. gadam "Latvija 2030". [Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030 "Latvia 2030"]. Riga.
- 19. Melluma, A., Ramute, L., and Rivza, P. (1996). Cluster analysis for the classification of rural communities. *Latvijas Lauksaimniecibas Universitates Raksti Lauku attīstība,* issue 7, pp. 99-102
- 20. Official Statistics Portal of Latvia, (2024).
- 21. Peters, W. S. (1958). Cluster analysis in urban demography. Social Forces, Volume 37, pp. 38-48.
- 22. Plüschke-Altof, B., Loewen, B. and Leetmaa, K. (2020). Centre-periphery divide in Estonia. In: Soovali-Sepping H. (ed.): Estonian Human Development Report. Estonian Cooperation Assembly: Tallinn.
- 23. Schorn, M. (2023). Implementing youth-oriented policies: A remedy for depopulation in rural regions. *Vienna Yearbook of Population Research*, 21, 107-147.
- 24. Skrbis, Z., Woodward, I., and Bean, C. (2014). Seeds of cosmopolitan future? Young people and their aspirations for future mobility. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 17(5), 614-625.
- 25. Ubareviciene, R., van Ham, M. and Burneika, D. (2016). Shrinking regions in a shrinking country: The geography of population decline in Lithuania 2001-2011. *Urban Studies Research*, 1-18
- 26. Zarins, E. and Paiders, J. (2020). Factors affecting and determining local depopulation. Folia Geographica 18, 13-19.

NEWCOMER INTEGRATION IN THE RURAL AREAS

Liga Feldmane¹, PhD/ assistant professor;

Zenija Kruzmetra², Dr.geogr./ associate professor; Anete Tirmane³, Mg.soc.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies; ³Investment and Development Agency of Latvia

Abstract. Demographic trends in recent decades and forecasts for the coming decades indicate that a significant portion of Latvia's territories, particularly rural areas, will experience a decline in population. Therefore, attracting and retaining newcomers to these areas plays a crucial role in their sustainable development, as they contribute to the growth of the local economy and society and provide new social and cultural services to the community. However, the impact of newcomers on permanent residents is largely determined by their willingness and ability to integrate into the local society and systems. To assess the integration process of newcomers in rural Latvia, this empirical study is based on interviews with individuals who have moved to rural areas. The research reveals that the integration process is multifaceted and can occur through various channels, including workplaces, communities, homes, and organizations. Facilitating factors of integration are mechanisms that enable the formation of active communities and facilitate the successful integration of newcomers, while hindering factors arise when newcomers are dissatisfied with aspects of life that resulted directly from their move to rural areas.

Key words: newcomers; rural areas; integration.

JEL code: 018; P25; R23

Introduction

Rural areas play an important role in fostering sustainable regional development, and their significance is increasingly recognized also in the European Union and national-level planning documents. However, the sustainable development of rural areas cannot be achieved without the people who live in them; and, considering the current negative demographic trends in rural Latvia (Krisjane et al., 2017; Krumins et al., 2020; Dahs et al., 2023; Krisjane et al., 2023), newcomers play an important role in restoring the composition of the population. The arrival of newcomers in rural areas has the potential to positively influence not only the demographic and economic situation of the locality, but also to provide new social and cultural services to the local community. The knowledge, skills, and potential entrepreneurial activities of newcomers can be viewed as assets that can improve the economic climate and enrich social relations (Nugin, Kasemets, 2021; Aure et al., 2018). Therefore, the attraction and retention of newcomers has the potential to ensure the sustainable development of rural areas.

In light of the aforementioned, it is essential to investigate the phenomenon of newcomers in rural areas, the motivations behind such migration patterns and the subsequent integration processes experienced by newcomers. Since newcomers more often overestimate the aspects of staying in a certain territory, compared to local residents (Haartsen, Stockdale, 2017), it is important to evaluate those integration factors that are significant obstacles and enablers for successful integration into the rural social fabric. Despite the growing interest in rural in-migration in European level, Latvia currently lacks qualitative sociological research that explores the integration experiences of newcomers in rural areas and their motivations for relocation. Thereby **the aim of the research** is to investigate what is the integration process of newcomers in the rural areas of Latvia. The following **tasks** have been set to achieve the aim:

- 1) to examine theoretical perspectives on integration processes for newcomers in rural areas;
- 2) to analyse how successful is the integration process for newcomers in rural Latvia;

¹ Email: liga.feldmane@lbtu.lv

 ² Email: zenija.kruzmetra@lbtu.lv
 ³ Email: anete.tirmane@gmail.com

3) to identify factors that promote and hinder the integration of newcomers in the rural area.

Within the framework of this research, those who have moved to rural areas from urban territory within the last 10 years are considered newcomers and is the **research object** of this study. In addition, areas outside the urban areas of national cities and counties are considered as rural areas within the scope of the study.

The empirical study is based on 12 face-to-face interviews with newcomers in different rural areas of Latvia, conducted in the period from September 2022 to June 2023 in Kurzeme region. The sample population for this study exclusively comprises individuals who migrated to rural areas within the last 10 years. These participants previously resided in urban environments or re-migrated from foreign countries, and the age of the interviewees ranged from 26 to 55 years. As part of the research, secondary data were also analysed – 13 interviews with newcomers to Latvian rural areas conducted in 2021 by the association "Latvijas Lauku Forums". These interviews were conducted mainly in the Vidzeme region.

Research results and discussion

1. The theoretical framework of the integration of newcomers in rural areas

Integration can be conceptualized as a dynamic process characterized by the strengthening of relationships within a social system, alongside the successful introduction and incorporation of new members and groups into the system and its associated institutions. According to Bosswick and Heckman (2006), when this process is achieved effectively, the society is considered to be well-integrated. Integration is most often seen as a two-way process of mutual adaptation between newcomers and members of the local society, including in a united society which is based on common values and a sense of belonging, at the same time everyone preserves their identity and culture (Kolcanovs, 2010).

Existing research underscores the value of categorizing newcomers to rural areas. This segmentation facilitates a deeper understanding of their motivations for relocation and, consequently, informs the development of targeted strategies to promote their successful integration into the rural areas. Haartsen and Stockdale (2017) distinguish two groups of newcomers: 1) *newcomers – convinced stayers,* who consciously adapt to integrate into the local community and remain in the designated rural area for the rest of their lives; and 2) *newcomers – children-led stayers,* who are only involved in community activities related to children and are not sure that they will stay in the area after the children have grown up. A study in the Netherlands confirmed that the main reason for moving people to the countryside is housing driven (Karsten, 2020) and therefore three groups of newcomers in rural area can be distinguished:

1) *pragmatic movers* – families belonging to this type move mainly because they see opportunities in the countryside, their desire is to maintain employment, cultural and social ties with the city, but they are looking for more comfortable and pleasant living conditions;

2) *displaces families* - the families' move to the countryside was not voluntary, it happened for financial or other reasons, they left the city with regret;

3) *happy movers* - families who consciously try to move away from the problems of cities and look for a rural idyll to break ties with the city and start a new life in the countryside.

Different types of integration are distinguished in the academic literature, e.g. cultural integration (a process that includes cognitive, cultural, behavioural, attitudinal changes on the part of newcomers and the local community), functional integration (includes economic integration in the labour market, political integration in democratic processes and integration in access to services provided to society) (Geddes, 2001; Sabatini, Salcedo, 2007); however, the integration of newcomers in rural areas is best characterized by social integration which refers to the integration of individuals into the system, the formation of relationships between individuals and their attitude towards society (Lockwood, 1964). According to Bosswick and Heckman (2006), in order for social integration to be successful in society, four dimensions of social integration must be fulfilled:

- 1) structural integration;
- 2) cultural integration;
- 3) interactive integration;
- 4) identification integration.

The **structural dimension** of integration includes access to the systems of public institutions (e.g. the labour market, the housing market, the education system) and participation in them determines the socioeconomic status of an individual and the resources and opportunities available to him. The **cultural integration** dimension determines that there is a need to acquire communication competences, knowledge of local culture and society in order to occupy a place in society. The **interactive dimension** of integration refers to acceptance and inclusion in society's relations, social contacts while **identification integration** refers to the sense of belonging, identification with the place and local society.

Successful integration of newcomers also includes the individual's integration into the community and a sense of belonging to it. According to sense of Community theory (McMillian, Chavis, 1986), the sense of community is strengthened and the formation of bonds between individuals in society is facilitated by several factors, such as sense of belonging, influence of the group, satisfaction of individual and group desires and a shared emotional bond, which ensures positive and frequent contact between members of society.

2. Social integration dimensions of newcomers in rural Latvia

As part of the empirical study, the integration process of newcomers in rural Latvia was analyzed based on the social integration model of Bosswick and Heckman (2006).

Cultural integration is based on a two-way adaptation process, in which newcomers need to acquire communication skills, knowledge of local culture and society, while local society must be able to accept the newcomers' different cultural roots. In the context of Latvia, this study shows that when the population migrated inland, language, which is one of the foundations of cultural learning, was not an obstacle to successful integration, even for those individuals who were with foreign origin. The analysis of secondary data shows that the newcomer from Canada has not learned the Latvian language, but this is not an obstacle to socialize with local residents and identify with Latvian culture and rural area, as well as occupy a recognizable place in society. This shows that the language criterion is no longer as important as before, because the society itself has become more open and multicultural through a two-way adaptation process. However, interviewees admit that not fully understanding the language means losing a wide range of opportunities.

Cultural integration also includes learning about the traditions practiced by the local community. In general, the information obtained in the interviews about traditions and integration in this context does not reveal significant aspects that would create obstacles for newcomers to integrate into the local society. This could be explained by the fact that there are no significant differences in cultural traditions when migrating within the borders of the country. Several interviewed families admitted that, although they had previously lived in other municipalities with other cultural traditions, they gladly accepted the traditions of the local

community, such as participating in local festivals and local traditional dance and music groups. The biggest differences that seem obvious in rural areas are the culture of greeting neighbours and other community residents. Greetings when meeting in public places is simple but mandatory: "*And you greet people on the street, you don't pass them by, you don't roll your eyes and don't pretend you don't know anyone. Even if I don't, I greet them and they say hello back*". There are also situations when, without a simple greeting, it is necessary to exchange a few more words: "*It is important to sit down with the neighbour's prim works and drink a cup of coffee, talk for at least ten minutes. You don't experience such moments with your neighbour in the city*". In general, newcomers to the countryside take daily interactions, observance of local norms and the local communication style as a matter of course, without even realizing it.

Structural integration includes access to the systems of public institutions, including for the labour market, the housing market, the education system and political system. Empirical research allows to conclude that this dimension of integration clearly occurs when developing entrepreneurship in rural areas. A significant portion of the interviewees were engaged in entrepreneurial activities within rural areas, providing employment and income not only for themselves but also for other members of the local community. Newcomers are engaged in typical industries in rural areas - animal husbandry, cultivation of crops, while others continue the types of business started in the cities - providing accounting services, consulting on work safety or creating design lamps. "*Not everyone in the countryside should be engaged in agriculture. There are many different things to do in the countryside. Especially in today's digital age, you can do a lot*". New initiatives of business included a cafe offering expanded cultural opportunities, an online store, development of rural tourism experiences, and the opening of a dental office. This approach fosters not only the integration of newcomers into the rural community, but also the development of the local economy. For example, the family, which opened a dental office in the countryside with the support of state funding, has successfully developed this business, and now not only local residents of rural areas, but also residents from neighbouring and distant municipalities come for dental services.

Integration in rural area can take place through business especially successfully if it is related to opening one's homestead for tourism activity, for example, creating a guest house or glamping. "*The idea of owning a house came suddenly and was meant to stay - we want a house in the countryside, where we can finally fulfil our dream, start a catering business, create a small guest house, in the yard of which various events will be held for the pleasure of ourselves and others*". Considering the fact that newcomers are socially and economically active, they willingly get involved in local civic activities – associations and meetings, *participate in municipal elections, which allows to strengthen their status in the local community and promotes attachment to the community and the place.*

While rural entrepreneurs contribute positively to both the economy and society, establishing a business within these regions can be challenging due to specific characteristics of the local social environment. A family that opened a cafe admitted in interviews that part of the local community perceived their new cultural space with negative emotions, complained about the noise, and even wrote complaints about it to the municipality.

Apart from business, municipalities and rural institutions also play an important role in promoting the employment of citizens in rural areas. Individuals with higher educational attainment reported encountering minimal difficulty securing employment in rural areas with relevant qualifications. A subset of participants, after relocating to rural communities, with relative ease found positions in social service organizations and local government agencies. The interviewees also admitted that starting work in municipal institutions helped in the integration process - news about opportunities and events in the municipality was learned faster, it was easier to get to know local residents.

The present study highlights schools as a significant factor in the structural integration of young families with children in rural areas. Interviewees expressed appreciation for the proximity of schools to their residences and the smaller class sizes, which facilitate increased teacher attention to individual students. Additionally, rural schools may offer unique opportunities not readily available in urban environments. For instance, one family who relocated from Riga to a rural community noted that their child was previously denied enrolment in a music school due to high competition in the city. In contrast, the rural school offered inclusive enrolment, ensuring access for all children. "*It's better to be the first in the village than the last in the city*". Schools promote the cohesion of the local community by organizing various events for both students and their families, thus facilitating the easier integration of newcomers into the local community. At the same time, newcomers are concerned about the closure of small rural schools, which has been voiced at the political level, which can significantly undermine the availability of education for children and the demographic structure of local society in rural areas.

Successful structural integration is a precondition for interactive integration, which refers to acceptance and inclusion in societal relationships and social contacts. Analysing the interview data, it can be concluded that among the newcomers there has been both a very positive integration into the local society and also a quite negative one. Some newcomers have not felt any distinct obstacles, but rather an encouragement to get to know the locals and participate in community activities. Many interviewees confirmed that excellent neighbourly relations develop in the countryside and that neighbours proactively get involved in solving the problems of newcomers to help them feel accepted and supported: "The neighbours will always help and we have a community here, it's so close and supportive", "We would be lost without our neighbours", "Nature is amazing, but our neighbours are incredible. We met so many friends!", "We have great neighbours! Its simplicity and realness - this is something that cannot be found in the big city race". This allows to conclude that it is neighbours who play a big role in ensuring interactive integration, becoming friends over time. Neighbours are an important support in the integration process, who tell and introduce the abilities, occupations and diversity of rural areas of the surrounding people. Therefore, it is not surprising that newcomers recognize that in the countryside, in contrast to the cities, where it is not so important, it is necessary to maintain positive mutual ties with neighbours. Because the limited number of people in the countryside means that in case of bad relations, you can lose both contacts, employees and customers. It should be mentioned that the understanding of neighbours in rural areas is much broader than in cities: "In the county, we all call each other neighbours, and there is such a sense of security that you know that there is always someone to ask for help or share joy with".

The interviewees confirm that it is easier to get to know the people around you in the countryside. "Come to the countryside, because you will make friends much easier, people here are much closer and will always be by your side". There are many good reviews about establishing contacts with other residents, for example, "I quickly got to know each other, I communicated, it was not difficult to find a contact". At the same time, another interviewee admitted that there is no desire for community events and activities, and the countryside is also a suitable place to live for the realization of this desire: "Peace, silence. No neighbours come to meet here in the morning. Do what you want and how you want".

However, some of the interviewees in the study admitted that integrating into the local society, especially in the first years of moving, was full of challenges, as the locals were reluctant to accept newcomers. One family admitted that it was difficult for them to accept that "*Everyone knows everything about us even better than we know ourselves*". In addition, newcomers admitted that they initially felt mistrust from the local community, increased interest, which was not always favourable. Similar problems in integration among peers have also been experienced by the children of newcomers, for whom there has

been increased interest among schoolmates and therefore a luck of private space in schools. Another interviewee described a negative experience with a neighbour who was unhappy with the newcomer's dog-walking habits and complained about it all the time.

A key aspect of **identification integration** for newcomers involves the development of identification with the local population and a strong sense of belonging within the rural space. It can be reflected as caring for the surrounding environment and promoting local community activities. This study confirms that newcomers feel most strongly connected to their home, which is evidenced by the persistent work they have done to restore or make the home suitable for living. Through the stories, it can be felt a sense of satisfaction for what you have accomplished, as well as a reluctance to return to the city. "*The sun is already setting. Everything is in bushes and grass that you can't even get through. And - I realized that this is my place*". Newcomers most often get a sense of attachment to local community by getting involved in local community activities, interest groups, which allow them to get a sense of belonging and a sense of identity with the rural area.

Several interviewees revealed that they were involved in a folk-dance group, together with the locals created a regional market with local rural goods, as well as involving the region in a traditional ensemble of pipers, which allowed them to get to know the local residents better, to feel a connection with the local community and its traditions, thus promoting the formation of a sense of belonging to it.

The feeling of belonging to the community arises also in situations where conflict groups are formed groups that arise when there are conflict situations between those groups that have authority and those that do not. In such situations, opportunities for rural integration arise, as a common feeling of "us" and "them" arises. For example, when there is a conflict between the local residents and the municipality administration: "We all feel very underrated together. [..] In all those large populated villages, there are Easter events, there are Christmas events, there are some workshops and cook days, but we don't have nothing". This study shows that newcomers to the rural areas have more energy to achieve their desired results and changes, not to put up with rejections, and these community battles make it easier to integrate into the rural territory, because in the process of the struggle they get to know the residents and have proven their ability to bring positive changes in the rural territory.

3. Impacting factors of the integration process in rural areas

Based on the empirical study it was concluded that the process of integration of newcomers in rural areas includes several elements that allow the newcomer to integrate into the local community and territory, such as home, work, third place and events, community and organizations of the rural territory (Figure 1). The integration process takes place gradually, through the first stage, which is usually the home to which the newcomers have moved. Integration can happen through all of these elements, but one of them can also be omitted.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 290-298 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.029

	Integration	
	Society, organizations	 Neighbors, associates, friends municipality, community, NGO
	Third place/event	 A place in nature, activities in nature Indoor venue, indoor events
	Job	•Agriculture •Homemakers, Other entrepreneurship
	Home	Home renovation House construction
	Newcomer	

Source: authors' construction based on analysis of the interviews

Fig. 1. Integration process of newcomers in rural Latvia

The conducted interviews also made it possible to determine the factors that contributed to the integration of newcomers in the countryside, or, on the contrary, hindered it. Among the factors that contributed to the integration of newcomers in the rural areas (Table 1) are those that the interviewees recognized as creating a positive sense of belonging and patriotic feelings and the desire to highlight their rural territory as special.

Table 1

Home	Job	Third place/ events	Society/ organizations
 creating a home story getting to know others through house clean-up event garden landscaping getting to know the locals through the home renovation process opening home to others - a creative house with workshops, an open country homestead organizing events at home - open solstice celebration, cafe days, festivals 	 carpentry consulting for locals such as accounting, job safety guest house glamping animal husbandry beekeeping making lamps painting handicrafts pottery making outing catering 	 houses of culture library house cafe events mother-child courses amateur theatre choir folk dances lake and other recreation areas 	 initiatives to improve the environment active associations national guard hunting NGO activities supportive friends, associates, neighbours

Facilitating factors of the integration process in rural Latvia

Source: authors' construction based on analysis of the interviews

In particular, the factors hindering integration summarized in Table 2 were aspects that caused the interviewees dissatisfaction with the current situation in the countryside or made them consider the idea of moving back to the city.

Table 2

Cultural integration	Structural integration	Interactive integration	Identification integration
	housing shortage	absence of peers in the territory	
	labour shortage	reluctance of local society to accept newcomers	
	possible rural school closure	lack of information about the possibilities at the first stage of migration	
	lack of a reliable workforce	absence of mentor networks	
	foreign big landlords in the neighbourhood	family reluctance to get involved lack of third places	
	difficulties in attracting financial resources		
unorganized infrastructure la		lack of	events
seclusion of municipalities administrations			

The factors hindering integration of newcomers in rural area

Source: authors' construction based on analysis of the interviews

Factors related to the development of business in rural areas, such as the lack of qualified labour, can be considered as one of the factors hindering integration. "*There is a lack of stable employees, there is nothing to rely on. During the season, it is difficult to find people who will conscientiously do the work, come to work on time*". Also, often newcomers have limited access to resources to develop their business, for example, agricultural land, as a large part of the resources have been taken by the big business owners. *"Farmers who grow cereals, they catch every piece of land nearby. They are up for grabs. There will definitely be outbidding and at market value we could hardly get next to each other. More should be promised there*".

But newcomers also mention the lack of housing and the difficulty of attracting financial resources for their construction as an inhibiting factor for rural development. The interviewees revealed that when a vacant property appears in the nearby area, there is immediate interest in it, even regardless of the technical condition of the housing.

When newcomers are asked about the disadvantages of rural areas, they often mention the disorganized infrastructure - mainly the roads in rural areas, as well as the quality of the Internet. Disorganized roads create problems for newcomers in terms of convenient traffic with the surrounding areas, both for domestic purposes and for business development.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Integration is a broad concept, but social integration, which has four main dimensions (cultural, structural, interactive and identification) is best able to explain the integration of newcomers and the integration process, both through relations with the society living in rural areas, the physical environment, and other systems involved.

2) The integration process of newcomers depends on the openness of the rural community. Although a large number of newcomers to rural Latvia have felt accepted and supported by the local society, for some the integration process has been full of challenges due to the non-accepting attitude of the local society.

3) The integration process in rural Latvia takes place through several elements – firstly by home, following work, third places and events, as well as society and various organizations. The integration

process takes place gradually, through the first stage, which is usually the home to which the newcomers have moved. Integration can happen through all of these elements, but one of them can also be omitted. 4) While there are many factors that contributed to the integration of newcomers in the rural areas, which are related with development of home in the rural area, different job opportunities, activities outside home and local community, there are also factors that can negatively affect newcomers' future intentions to stay in the rural area. Among them are such factors as housing shortage, lack of resources for business development, reluctance of local society to accept newcomers, concerns about school closures and unorganized infrastructure.

Acknowledgement

This study was supported by National Research Programme "Letonica for the development of Latvian and European society" Project No. VPP Letonika-2021/4-0002 "New solutions in the study of demographic and migration processes for the development of the Latvian and European knowledge society".

Bibliography

- 1. Aure M., Forde A., Magnussen T. (2018) Will migrant workers rescue rural regions? Challenges of creating stability through mobility. Journal of Rural Studies, 60, 52-59 p.
- Bosswick W., Heckman F. (2006) Integration of Immigrants: Contribution of local and regional authorities. Retrieved from: Eurofund, European foundation for the improvement of Living and Working conditions. http://www.eurofound.europa.eu/pubdocs/2006/22/en/1/ef0622en.pdf
- 3. Dahs A., Berzins A., Krumins J. (2021) Challenges of Depopulation in Latvia's Rural Areas. Economic Science for Rural Development Conference Proceedings, issue 55, pp. 535-545
- Dahs A., Krumins J., Berzins A., Lece K. (2023) Demographic Challenges of Rural Areas in Latvia: Reflections of the Covid-19 Pandemic. Proceedings of the 2023 International Conference "Economic Science for Rural Development", No 57, pp. 357-266
- Geddes A. (2001) Ethnic Minorities in the Labour Market: Comparative Policy Approaches (Western Europe). Report commissioned by the Ethnic Minorities Labour Market Project of the Performance and Innovation Unit. London: Cabbinet Office.
- Haartsen T., Stockdale A. (2017) Selective belonging: how rural newcomer families with children become stayers. In XXVII European Society of Rural Sociology Congress Proceedings Vol. 2017, Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10/1002/psp.2137.
- 7. Karsten L. (2020) Counterurbanisation: why settled families move out of the city again. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10901-020-09739-3.
- 8. Kolcanovs B. (2010) Ievads kultūru dažādībā. Retrieved from: Kolčanovs B., Zankovska-Odila S., Zālītis K. Atšķirīgs klients daudzveidīgā Latvijā. Rīga: Latvijas Cilvēktiesību centrs, 3-26 p.
- Krisjane, Z., Apsite–Berina E., Berzins M., Grine I. (2017). Regional Topicalities in Latvia: Mobility and Immobility in the Countryside. Economic Science for Rural Development Conference Proceedings, issue 45 (2017), pp. 127-133.
- 10. Krisjane Z., Berzins M., Krumins J., Apsite-Berina E., Balode S. (2023) Uneven geographies: ageing and population dynamics in Latvia. Regional Science Policy and Practice, vo. 15, issue 4, pp. 893-908
- 11. Krumins J., Berzins A., Dahs A. (2020) Regional Demographic Trends in Accordance with the New Model of Territorial Division in Latvia and Future Dynamics in Statistical Regions of the Baltic States. Economic Science for Rural Development Conference Proceedings, issue 54 (2020), pp. 233-240
- 12. Lockwood D. (1964) Social integration and system integration in Zollschan K. and Hirsch W. (eds.), Explorations in Social Change, London, Routledge and Kegan
- 13. McMillian D., Chavis D. (1986) Sense of Community: A Definition and Theory. Journal of Community Psychology, 14(1), p. 9. [Retrieved from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/235356904Sense_of_Community_A_Definition_And_Therory.

- 14. Nugin R., Kasemets K. (2021) Stable Mobilities and Mobile Stabilities in Rural Estonian Communities. European Countryside, 13, 222-241. Retrieved from: https://sciendo.com/article/10.2478/euco-2021-0016
- 15. Sabatini F., Salcedo R. (2007) Gated communities and the poor in Santiago, Chile: Functional and symbolic integration on a context of aggressive capitalist colonization of lower-class areas. Housing Policy Debate, 18(3), 577-606.

THE RESEARCH OF THE SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING: THE CASE OF LITHUANIAN PUBLIC COLLEGES

Vilma Kazlauskiene¹, Assoc.Prof., dr; Irena Klimaviciene², Lect.;

Karolina Kukcinaviciute³, Lect.

^{1,2,3}Kauno kolegija Higher Education Institution

Abstract. The article examines the issues of social responsibility and sustainability reporting by higher education institutions (HEIs) and conducts an empirical study of the reports of four Lithuanian public colleges - participants of the United Nations Global Compact (UNGC). The aim is to identify the current state of the reporting of Lithuanian public colleges and prepare for changes. The problem stems from the fact that, in recognition of the importance and relevance of HEIs to the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals and the implementation of the Ten Principles of the UNGC, there is no unified reporting framework for HEIs. A review of previous research and an empirical study also highlighted the problem. The methodology includes analysis of scientific publications and official documents, as well as quantitative methods such as clustering of report data, analysis of content volume and structure. The findings of the study are as follows: HEIs' reports vary in both form and content; it is difficult to compare information for a lack of common indicators; HEIs focuses on the fundamental Ten Principles areas that are important to them. However, the reports show the strategic attitudes of higher education institutions and disclose practical activities and achievements. This is the first summative study showing the current state of sustainability reporting of Lithuanian public colleges, UNGC participants. It can be used to improve reporting; the dissemination of the results can be useful for other HEIs, UN Global Compact participants, in preparing for the 2024 Communication on Progress and beyond.

Key words: higher education institution, sustainability reporting, communication on progress.

JEL code: I29, I23, Q56, M48

Introduction

The UN Global Compact network has 34 Lithuanian companies as participants, including 5 higher education institutions: the Kaunas University of Technology and four public colleges – UNGC participants (UNGC. Our participants., 2024). In this article, the social responsibility and sustainability reports of 4 public colleges have been selected for the research. There are a number of arguments why this study is important. Firstly, this is the first paper to review the current state of sustainability reporting in Lithuanian HEIs – public colleges. The second is the growing emphasis on the importance and quality of SR and sustainability reporting, which places new demands on UNGC participants. And the third important argument is the fact that starting in 2024, all UN Global Compact participants will be required to submit: (a) an electronic statement by the Chief Executive Officer, and (b) complete the Communication on Progress (CoP) questionnaire (UNGC. Questionnaire Guidebook, 2023). The documents are addressed to business participants there are no specific recommendations for higher education in the updated CoP (UNGC. The enhanced Communication on progress, 2023).

Academic participants would therefore benefit from a discussion/debate on the development of the CoP and the use of the questionnaire in higher education accountability practice.

The aim – based on a survey of social responsibility and sustainability reports of Lithuanian public colleges, UN Global Compact participants, to identify the current state of reporting and prepare for change. To achieve the objective: (1) the review of previous research was conducted; (2) the 2019-2022 reports of four Lithuanian public colleges were analysed, and (3) insights are provided on improving accountability and demonstrating progress towards the Ten Principles and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (UN. 2030 Agenda, 2015).

¹ E-mail: vilma.kazlauskiene@go.kauko.lt

² E-mail: irena.klimaviciene@go.kauko.lt

³ E-mail: karolina.kukcinaviciute@go.kauko.lt

Prior research. The issues of the reporting on social responsibility of Lithuanian HEIs have not been studied enough, there aren't many studies on this issue. Such situation was stated by Dagiliene and Mykolaitiene (2015), after investigation the social responsibility information, disclosed in the annual performance reports of 12 Lithuanian public universities. Three areas of responsibility - environmental, economic and social - have been chosen in accordance to Global Reporting Initiative (2013) GRI G4 methodology. However, "it was not possible to adapt the GRI G4 methodology fully in the research" due to insufficient data and lack of unified indicators. "The information disclosed in individual universities' reports is incomparable for a lack of uniform reporting", the authors stated. Moreover, "only a few studies address the perspectives of sustainability reporting of the Lithuanian higher education sector" (Dagiliene, Mykolaitiene, 2015). Social responsibility and sustainability issues of higher education institutions receive more attention in other European countries. Having analysed social sustainability reporting of 20 European business schools, Vila and Moya (2023) note the lack of uniformity among the reports, as well as the lack of specific frameworks and resources; the researchers note the lack of regulations regarding the types and amount of data to be collected and reveal the complexity of measuring social impact. Sepasi et al. (2018) explored sustainability reporting practices of HEIs, and the results of their study suggest that "... the quality of sustainability reporting varies quite significantly and important dimensions such as education and outreach programs are ill-treated in universities' sustainability reports". Corporate sustainability reporting is well established and addressed for business, but universities' accountability and reporting quality "... remains relatively unexamined", the study concludes (Sepasi et al., 2018). Huber and Bassen (2018) note that sustainability reporting by higher education institutions has received limited attention from researchers to date, with research in this area still at an early stage. Sustainability reports have limited value and are potentially misleading "partly because of the lack of an established and widely recognised sustainability reporting framework for higher education institutions" (Huber, Bassen, 2018). The Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and standards are the most widely used sustainability reporting standards globally (About GRI. https://www.globalreporting.org/), "...but their relevance and practical applicability for HEIs is questionable." (Moggi, 2023; Amiano Bonatxea et al., 2022). Moggi (2023), who has expressed this view, has highlighted the contradiction between: (a) the prominent role of higher education institutions in the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs); (b) the growing need for and demand for sustainability reporting, and (c) "the lack of an established and widely recognised sustainability reporting framework for higher education institutions" (Moggi, 2023). The GRI guidelines are designed for business enterprises; their application in HEIs does not advance sustainability reporting and "is not effective in demonstrating the social responsibility and sustainable development activities inherent in higher education" (Moggi, 2023). A study by Amiano Bonatxea et al. (2022) shows similar results on the use of GRI in higher education. "Recognising the importance of universities in the achievement of social and global objectives, ... major limitations have been found by HEIs to account for their societal missions when using the GRI." (Amiano Bonatxea et al., 2022). The lack of empirical research on sustainability reporting was noted in a study based on a content analysis of the information disclosed on the websites of all Portuguese HEIs. Monteiro et al. (2023) argue that empirical research on HEIs' reporting on the SDGs is "still very embryonic".

Problem. Recognising the importance of higher education in achieving the SDGs and implementing the Ten Principles of UN Global Compact there are limitations in reporting on the socially responsible activities of HEIs. A lack of research on the chosen topic, as well as a lack of common methodology and guidelines for HEIs reporting on sustainability has been identified in prior research. Considering the current situation

of sustainability reporting, this article chooses a narrower scope for the study of reports by formulating the following problem questions for this research.

Question 1. What should be the structure of HEIs reports?

Question 2. What exactly should be included in the sustainability reports of higher education institutions so, that the reports contain: (a) a description of practical actions taken to implement the Ten Principles of the Global Compact and (b) a measurement of key outcomes?

Methodology. In line with the aim of the article and the problematic issue (problem *Question 1*), the study of reports structure is based on document analysis (Kardelis, 2016). Selected official documents were those in force during the analysed period (2019-2022) and the new ones coming into force in 2024, as UNGC members face significant changes in accountability. The documents under review:

(1) *Socialinio ir aplinkosauginio atsakingumo ataskaitos gairės valstybės institucijoms* (Social and Environmental Responsibility Reporting Guidelines for State Institutions). 2012, p. 11- 16;

(2) UNGC. A Practical Guide to the United Nations Global Compact for Higher Education Institutions: Implementing the Global Compact Principles and Communicating on Progress. 2012, p. 17;

(3) EC. Guidelines on non-financial reporting. (2017/C 215/01). Article 4, p. 9-19;

(4) UNGC. Questionnaire Guidebook. UNGC_CoP_GuideBook__Feb2023_.pdf 1table, p.5.

Following the recommendations/requirements of the official documents, the authors of this article identify 5 main parts of the HEI report:

1) the statement by the top institutional official;

- 2) the organisation's value system, vision, mission, values;
- 3) key performance and management indicators;

4) The description of practical measures used to implement the Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact;

5) the measurement of results and future plans. The empirical study analyses the design of the sustainability reports of the participating higher education institutions in this way.

Qualitative and quantitative research methods (Walter, 2019; Kardelis, 2016) are used to analyse the content of the reports (problem *Question 2*). Grouping approach is applied to the content analysis of the main body of the reports (Part 4. A description of practical actions implementing the Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact. A qualitative feature of the grouping is the fundamental responsibilities of the Ten Principles: Human Rights, Labour, the Environment and the Anti-Corruption (The Ten Principles of the UN). In the empirical study, the volume of the content of the reports is expressed in terms of the number of words (Kardelis, 2016), and statistical methods are used to determine and evaluate the structure of the content. Calculations are carried out in an MS Excel spreadsheet; data are presented graphically and a comparative analysis of the composition and content of the reports is made.

The limitations of this study are the small number of higher education institutions covered (four) and the number of reports (twelve). This is due to the aim of the paper and the relatively small number of Lithuanian public colleges participating in the UNGC. The scope of the study is rather narrow: it examines the structure and content of social responsibility and sustainability reports. However, a methodologically sound analysis of even a narrow field can be useful to identify the state of reporting in the area under study and to stimulate discussion among academic participants in the UN Global Compact on the development of CoPs in line with the new documents.

Research results and discussion

This section of the article presents the results of empirical research conducted using the methods for analysis of reports' content and structure discussed in Methodology. The aim of the empirical research is the following: to explore social responsibility and sustainability reports of Lithuanian public colleges – the UNGC participants and to determine and evaluate the state of accountability in this sector of higher education.

20 colleges operate in Lithuania currently (2023), 12 of which are public colleges and 8 – independent colleges. At the beginning of the study year 2022-2023, Lithuanian colleges employed 2376 lecturers, while the number of students was 30847 (Oficialiosios statistikos portalas, 2024; AIKOS, 2024). Four public colleges, specifically Panevezio Kolegija, Kauno Kolegija, Siauliai State College and Vilniaus Kolegija, are participants of the UN Global Compact. Table 1 provides data on the latter HEIs.

Table 1

Key indicators	Panevezio Kolegija	Kauno Kolegija	Siauliai State College	Vilniaus Kolegija
Student numbers	1232	4607	1582	5333
Study programmes	20	51	22	40
Employee numbers	189	987	194	847
Teaching personnel numbers	115	645	100	435
Numbers of other personnel	74	342	94	512

Information about Lithuanian public colleges – participants of the UNGC

Source: prepared by the authors, based on data of the annual Performance Reports of colleges (data 2022)

The four public colleges – participants of the UN Global Compact – play an important role in the Lithuanian system of colleges as the number of their students constitutes 41.3% of the total number of students studying in Lithuanian colleges, and the number of lecturers constitutes 54.5% of the total number of lecturers employed by colleges. The article provides an overview of practices of the mentioned colleges as they attempt to implement the Ten Principles of the UNGC and Sustainable Development Goals, and reveals the current situation related to reporting in an important sector of Lithuanian higher education. The insights provided by the research may be applied when adapting to procedural changes in the reporting practice and when preparing Communication on Progress reports for future periods.

The empirical research is based on the analysis of the colleges' Reports. The research methods used are qualitative and quantitative analyses of the Reports' content (Walter, 2019). The Reports produced within the period 2019-2022 were analysed: 12 Reports from 4 HEIs in total. The information for the research was taken from social responsibility and sustainability reports provided on the UN Global Compact website (Communication on Engagement) and annual performance reports provided on the websites of the colleges. The following research steps were implemented: 1) review of the reports' basic parameters; 2) analysis of the Reports' composition; 3) analysis of the Reports' content structure; 4) comparative analysis and evaluation of the collected information.

Step 1. The review of key parameters of social responsibility and sustainability Reports is provided in Table 2.

Table 2

The review of basic parameters in SR and sustainability Reports of Lithuanian colleges – participants of the UN Global Compact

Panevezio Kolegija	Kauno Kolegija	Vilniaus Kolegija	Siauliai State College			
Membership in UN Global Compact						
Participant	Participant	Participant	Participant			
Since 24 August 2011	Since 18 May 2012	Since 27 November 2018	Since 17 January 2012			
	Titles	of the Reports				
UN Global Compact Communication on Engagement (COE) Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Report Social Responsibility Reports (Reports of 2019, 2020, 2022). Social Responsibility and Sustainable Development Report and Activity Guidelines (Report of 2021)		Social Responsibility Report				
	Periodicity of	f issuing the Reports				
Every two years Every two years		Each year	Each year			
The scope of the Reports in pages						
		Report 2019: 49 p.	Report 2019: 18 p.			
Report 2019-2020: 22 p.	Report 2019-2020: 33 p.	Report 2020: 75 p.	Report 2020: 20 p.			
Report 2021-2022: 13 p.	Report 2021-2022: 28 p.	Report 2021: 134 p.	Report 2021: 26 p.			
		Report 2022: 42 p.	Report 2022: 30 p.			
Number of sections (separate section titles) in the Tables of Contents of the Reports						
Report 2019-2020: 8 sections, 5 subsections;	Report 2019-2020:	Report 2019: 20 subsections	No Table of Contents			
Report 2021-2022: no Table of Contents;	9 sections; Report 2021-2022:	Report 2020: 21 subsections Report 2021: 35 subsections	7 sections can be distinguished in the			
5 sections can be distinguished in the Report's text.	7 sections	Report 2022: 15 subsections	Report's text.			

Source: information compilation prepared by the authors based on data of the United Nations Global Compact, https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/

The review of basic parameters revealed the following differences: the Reports have different titles, the numbers of issues within the same period are different, and differences in the scope and content are noticeable. All the titles are reasonable as reports may receive titles such as Social Responsibility Report (Lietuvos atsakingo verslo asociacija, 2023), Sustainability Report (Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive, 2023), Communication on Progress (UNGC CoP), and Non-financial Report (EU Directive 2017/C 215/01). Periodicity of issuing the reports is in compliance with the UNGC recommendation: participants can issue reports biennially (once every two years) or annually (UNGC Guide for HEIs, 2012). The length of the Reports and the number of structural parts varies from 13 pages and 5 key structural parts (Report on Social Responsibility of Vilniaus Kolegija, 2021-2022) to 134 pages and 35 structural parts (Report on Social Responsibility of Vilniaus Kolegija, 2021). Though such differences may be partially explained by the size of the colleges and scope of conducted activities, they may also attest to different possibilities of manifesting these activities in reporting. In addition, the differences may be related to the lack of unified guidelines on sustainability reporting for HEIs (Dagiliene, Mykolaitiene, 2015; Sepasi et al., 2018; Moggi, 2023).

Step 2. Analysis of composition of Reports. Following the described Methodology, five major parts in the Reports of the colleges were discerned and are on the examination (Fig. 1).

The parts of the Reports					
1. A statement by the top institutional official	2. Value system of the institution: vision, mission, values	3. Key indicators of the institution's performance and management			
Included in reports of all colleges		Concise information is provided. This information is provided in annual activity reports of the colleges and is therefore not widely covered.			
4. A description of pract	ical actions that the HEI has ta	aken to implement the Global Compact principles			
Panevezio Kolegija		Human rights, Employees' rights, Environment protection, Anti-Corruption activities. The themes relate to specific principles of the 10 Principles of the UNGC.			
		Anti-Corruption activities. The themes relate to specific principles of the 10 Principles of the UNGC.			
Kauno Kolegija	Provided information	Anti-Corruption activities. The themes relate to specific principles of the 10 Principles of the UNGC. Key components of the UN Sustainable Development conception are described: Social responsibility, Economic responsibility, Environmental responsibility.			
Kauno Kolegija Siauliai State College	Provided information	 Anti-Corruption activities. The themes relate to specific principles of the 10 Principles of the UNGC. Key components of the UN Sustainable Development conception are described: Social responsibility, Economic responsibility, Environmental responsibility. The priorities are discerned: Human rights, Rights of employees and students, Environment protection, Fight against Corruption. 			

5. Measurement of outcomes and future plans The reports do not contain the parts providing measurement of outcomes. Future plans related to the HEI strategy are discussed in the reports of Kauno Kolegija. Vilniaus Kolegija includes activity guidelines for 32 areas in the report of 2021, and for 20 areas – in the report of 2022.

Source: information compilation prepared by the authors based on data of the United Nations Global Compact, https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/

Fig. 1. Arrangement of information in the Reports of colleges

Examination of the composition of the HEIs' reports (Fig. 1) showed considerable differences in the main part of Reports (Part 4). The analysis of 12 reports (100%) from the period 2019-2022 revealed that information in this major part had been arranged following different principles and different logic:

- information on the fundamental areas of the 10 Principles, i.e. Human Rights, Labour, Environment, and Anti-Corruption, is provided (6 reports by 2 colleges – 50%);
- practical activities are described following the Sustainable Development Goals in social, environmental, and economic areas (2 reports by 1 college – 16.7%);
- practical activities of the HEI are described in detail, but the provided information is not grouped (4 reports by 1 college – 33,3%).

Measurement of outcomes is not included in the colleges' Reports; future plans or activity guidelines (in 6 reports from 2 colleges) are presented using different formats.

It was found out that in practice, the colleges provide social responsibility and sustainability information adhering to different principles and use different methods and formats when structuring their Reports. Different approaches to accountability may be conditioned by a lack of unified and clear methodology for social responsibility and sustainability reporting, and this finding supports the findings of Vila and Moya (2023) who stated that "SR in the top 20 European business schools is heterogeneous and the main challenges are the lack of specific frameworks and resources" (Vila, Moya, 2023).

Step 3. Analysis of the reports' content structure was done using qualitative and quantitative methods (Walter, 2019; Kardelis, 2016). The information from major parts (Part 4. A description of the practical actions that the HEI has taken to implement the Global Compact principles) of the reports was grouped into four categories: Human Rights (HR), Labour (L), Environment (E), Anti-Corruption (AC).

Limitation. The analysis of the reports' content is incomplete as the data of Vilniaus Kolegija had not been grouped according to SDGs or to the 10 UNGC Principles. The authors of this research had not classified information from the reports of Vilnius Kolegija into categories HR-L-E-AC for two reasons: 1) unified and clear indicators that would allow to attribute specific activities of a HEI to specific categories (HR-L-E-AC) are lacking; 2) attempts to categorize the information in a specific way would be unethical when the authors of the reports had not foreseen this.

Quantitative analysis of the reports' content (Part 4) was performed as follows: the quantity of words describing each topic (i.e. data group: HR-L-E-AC) was calculated (Kardelis, 2016, pp. 285-287) and was expressed in percentages, in relation to the overall content of Part 4; averages for specific topics covered by the institutions were drawn. Calculations were done in MS Excel spreadsheet. This allowed the researchers to identify the fundamental responsibilities in the areas of the Ten principles, that received the most attention from Kauno Kolegija, Panevėžio Kolegija, and Siauliai State College in 2019-2022 (sFig. 2).



Note: HR = Human Rights, L = Labour, E = Environment, AC = Anti-Corruption Source: prepared by the authors of the research based on data of the colleges' SR and sustainability Reports of 2019-2020 and 2021-2022

Fig. 2. Structure of the content of the colleges' Reports (2019-2022), %

It is evident that activities related to Human Rights (54.4% on average) and Labour (27.3% on average) received the most attention in the Reports, while activities related to Anti-Corruption (4.6% on average) received the least. The largest differences are noticeable in the area of Environment. Thus, the colleges disclosed specific information to a specific extent and demonstrated how their particular practical activities help them pursue SDGs and implement the Global Compact principles.

Step 4. Comparative analysis and assessment of the obtained information. The conducted research into social responsibility and sustainability reports of four Lithuanian public colleges – participants of the UNGC revealed the following differences in the institutions' practices of producing such Reports:

- titles, scope, and content of the reports, as well as periodicity of reporting differ;
- information about the activities of HEIs is provided adhering to different principles, using different methods and formats;
- the colleges disclose varying amounts of information on their activities in the four fundamental areas of the Ten principles of UNGC – Human Rights, Labour, Environment, and Anti-Corruption.

Currently, clear guidelines (or indicators) for attributing particular practical activities of HEIs to the areas highlighted in the UNGC are lacking. Therefore, drawing direct comparisons of the information provided in the analysed reports by different institutions would be a complex, if not fruitless, attempt. Though illustrative indicators for HEIs are listed in the document "UN Guide for HEIs" (2012), the guidance is outdated and insufficient for preparation of more or less standard, qualitatively and quantitatively comparable reports.

Despite the observed differences in reporting practices and particular reports, and the lack of uniform accountability guidelines, the information on implementing the Global Compact principles into internal operations is disclosed in the reports of all the colleges. The reports show that the colleges' heads support pursuance of SDGs and adherence to the UNGC principles. The colleges communicate progress to their communities (students, academic personnel, and alumni) on the institutional websites, and reports are posted regularly on the UN Global Compact website (United Nations Global Compact, 2024).

Perspectives of reporting for HEIs – the UNGC participants and arising issues

Currently, new regulations on sustainability reporting are being imposed, and requirements for transparency of reports, validity, and comparability of data are strengthened. To quote Sandra Ojiambo, Executive Director and CEO Assistant Secretary - General, as businesses strive toward a sustainable future, "corporate transparency and objective reporting have become increasingly important for advancing the Ten Principles, the Sustainable Development Goals, and the Paris Climate Agreement", and modern businesses should pair their ambitions "with accountability mechanisms to form the foundation of change" (UNGC. Questionnaire Guidebook. February 2023, p 3).

As stated in Communication on Progress (United Nations Global Compact, 2023), " the 2024 CoP is a mandatory requirement and must be completed by all UN Global Compact business participants". In relation to this, academic participants (HEIs) may be required to submit information through questionnaires that may not exactly correspond to the needs of higher education institutions and characteristics of their activities. Therefore, HEIs may encounter a complicated situation: on the one hand, their commitment to the Global Compact 10 principles and SDGs is actively encouraged (Findler, et al., 2019; Adhikariparajuli et al., 2021; Monteiro et al., 2024); on the other hand, adequate accountability and reporting guidelines for higher education institutions may still be lacking (Vila, Moya, 2023; Amiano Bonatxea et al., 2022; Huber, Bassen, 2018; Sepasi et al., 2018; Moggi, 2023).

These complexities notwithstanding, universities' sustainability reports should be constantly and systematically examined and evaluated as they serve as "informative tool[s] for understanding the sustainability contribution of universities" (Nikolaou et al., 2023). Pursuing this aim, the conducted research on the state of sustainability reporting of the four public Lithuanian colleges offers further insights into current non-financial disclosure practices of higher education institutions.

Conclusions

1) The conducted review of research articles highlighted the increasing importance of sustainability reporting in the area of higher education and the value of informative reports. The reports are tools for

disclosure of HEIs' contributions and progress in pursuit of sustainable development goals, while enacting the principles of the UN Global Compact. Nevertheless, a significant number of researchers note the lack of an established and widely recognised sustainability reporting framework for higher education institutions.

2) The conducted research into social responsibility and sustainability reports of four Lithuanian public colleges – participants of the UN Global Compact revealed marked differences in the institutions' practices of producing such reports. The reports have different titles, and differences in their scope and content are noticeable; in addition, the institutions issued different numbers of reports over a specific period of time. It was found out that in practice, colleges provided social responsibility and sustainability information adhering to different principles and used different methods and formats when structuring their reports. Therefore, it can be assumed that representatives of different institutions did not coordinate significant aspects of report production, such as organisation, content etc. The variety of approaches may be also related to the lack of unified and clear methodology for social responsibility and sustainability requirements set out in Communication on Engagement, i.e. they included the management's statements on commitment to the principles of the UN Global Compact and descriptions of practical activities. This empirical research can be considered the first generalising study revealing the current state of sustainability reporting among Lithuanian public colleges – the UNGC participants.

3) The findings of the research may be helpful to the HEIs preparing to face significant changes in the reporting. The authors of the research recommend that academic participants of the UN Global Compact initiative discuss the critical issues and particularities related to completing the Communication on Progress Questionnaire aimed at creating transparency and helping entities monitor progress. Ongoing communication between academic participants would enable the institutions to produce comprehensive individual reports and would contribute to the development of good common practices of non-financial reporting for HEIs.

Bibliography

- 1. AIKOS (2024). *Studijų programa.* Retrieved from: https://www.aikos.smm.lt/Puslapiai/Pradinis.aspx
- Amiano Bonatxea, I., Gutiérrez-Goiria, J., Vazquez-De Francisco, M. J., & Sianes, A. (2022). Is the global reporting initiative suitable to account for university social responsibility? Evidence from European institutions. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 23(4), 831-847. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-04-2021-0129
- Dagilienė, L., & Mykolaitienė, V. (2015). Disclosure of social responsibility in annual performance reports of universities. 2015. 20th International Scientific Conference Economics and Management - 2015 (ICEM-2015). *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences.* Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.11.454
- European Commission, Directorate-General for Financial Stability, Financial Services, & Capital Markets Union (2017). Communication from the Commission — Guidelines on non-financial reporting (methodology for reporting non-financial information). Official Journal of the European Union, 2017/C 215/01. Retrieved from: https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:52017XC0705(01)
- European Union (2023). Corporate sustainability reporting. Retrieved from: https://finance.ec.europa.eu/capitalmarkets-union-and-financial-markets/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/corporatesustainability-reporting_en
- Findler, F., Schönherr, N., Lozano, R., Reider, D., & Martinuzzi, A. (2019). The impacts of higher education institutions on sustainable development: A review and conceptualization. International *Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 20(1), 23-38. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-07-2017-0114
- 7. Global Reporting Initiative (2024). Standartai. Retrieved from: https://www.globalreporting.org/
- Huber, S., & Bassen, A. (2018). Towards a sustainability reporting guideline in higher education. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 19(2), 218-232. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-06-2016-0108
- 9. Kardelis, K. (2016). *Mokslinių tyrimų metodologija ir metodai.* Vilnius: Mokslo ir enciklopedijų leidybos centras knygos.
- 10. Lietuvos atsakingo verslo asociacija (2023). Tvarus verslas. Retrieved from: https://atsakingasverslas.lt/

- 11. Moggi, S. (2023). Sustainability reporting, universities and global reporting initiative applicability: a still open issue. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal*, 14(4), 699-742. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-05-2022-0257
- Monteiro, S., Ribeiro, V., Vilhena, E., Lemos, K., & Molho, C. (2024). Determinants of online-reporting on sustainable development goals: the case of Portuguese Higher Education Institutions. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 20(3), 462-484. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-01-2023-0044
- Nikolaou, I. I., Tsalis, T. A., Trevlopoulos, N. S., Mathea, A., Avlogiaris, G., & Vatalis, K. I. (2023). Exploring the sustainable reporting practices of universities in relation to the United Nations' 2030 Agenda for sustainable development. *Journal of Discover Sustainability*, 4(46). Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s43621-023-00167-1
- 14. Oficialiosios statistikos portalas (2024). Aukštasis mokslas. Kolegijos. Retrieved from: https://osp.stat.gov.lt/statistiniu-rodikliu-analize?hash=2598d4a4-334c-44f3-b9dd-471966096dc4#/
- 15. Ojiambo, S. (2023). *Executive Director and CEO Assistant Secretary-General. Foreword.* Retrieved from: storage.pardot.com/591891/1677164626UVOSM5Bv/UNGC_CoP_GuideBook__Feb2023_.pdf
- 16. Sepasi, S., Braendle, U., & Rahdari, A. H. (2018). Comprehensive sustainability reporting in higher education institutions. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 15(2), 155-170. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-01-2018-0009
- 17. UAB "Ekonominės konsultacijos ir tyrimai" (2012). Socialinio ir aplinkosauginio atsakingumo ataskaitos gairės valstybės institucijoms. Retrieved from: https://socmin.lrv.lt/uploads/socmin/documents/files/pdf/1282_isa-gaires-valstybes-institucijoms.pdf
- 18. United Nations Global Compact (2012). A Practical Guide to the United Nations Global Compact for Higher Education Institutions: Implementing the Global Compact Principles and Communicating on Progress. Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/library/318
- 19. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Communication on Engagement (COE).* Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/participation/report/coe
- 20. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Communication on Progress.* Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/participation/report/cop
- 21. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Our participants.* Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants
- 22. United Nations Global Compact (2023). *Questionnaire Guidebook.* Retrieved from: https://www.globalcompact.de/fileadmin/user_upload/UNGC_CoP_GuideBook_2023_Feb.pdf
- 23. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Report on Social Responsibility of Kauno kolegija*. Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/17029-Kauno-kolegija-University-of-Applied-Sciences
- 24. United Nations Global Compact (2024). Report on Social Responsibility of Panevėžio kolegija. Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/14608-Panev-io-kolegija-University-of-Applied-Sciences
- 25. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Report on Social Responsibility of Siauliai State College.* Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/16037-Siauliai-State-College
- 26. United Nations Global Compact (2024). *Report on Social Responsibility of Vilniaus kolegija*. Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/participants/134331-Vilniaus-Kolegija-University-of-Applied-Sciences
- 27. United Nations Global Compact. *The Ten Principles of the UN Global Compact*. Retrieved from: https://unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles
- 28. United Nations (2015). *Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.* Retrieved from: https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda
- 29. Vila, M., & Moya, S. (2023). Social sustainability reporting in European business schools. *Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal,* 14(1), 242-264. Retrieved from: https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-02-2022-0100
- 30. Walter, M. (2019). Social research methods. Fourth edition. Oxford University Press.

THE CONCEPT OF SOCIAL ECONOMY AND ITS CHALLENGES IN LATVIA

Lasma Licite-Kurbe¹, Dr.oec., associate professor

¹Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. The social economy is a significant component of any economy, which generates economic and social benefits. In Latvia, however, there is no common understanding of the concept of a social economy and the economic actors. The aim is to examine the nature and challenges of the social economy concept in Latvia by giving insight into the historical evolution and nature of a social economy, challenges of defining a social economy and description of the actors of the social economy in Latvia. The study used monographic and descriptive methods, synthesis and deduction for information gathering, logical systematization and classification, as well as statistical analysis to describe the actors of social economy in Latvia. To obtain in-depth information about concept of social economy in Latvia, expert interviews were conducted. The research specifies social economy actors in Latvia context: associations, foundations, cooperatives and social enterprises. Social economy is an important part of economy, yet it is not fully assessed. In 2023 in Latvia, 27305 organizations operated in the social economy, and their number tended to increase in recent years. Most of the social economy actors (88%) represented associations. The social economy actors operate in different fields, yet the main ones were arts, entertainment and recreation (5144), real estate operations (3593) and agriculture, forestry and fishing (1108). However, the classification of associations and foundations by kind of activity does not provide accurate information, as many organizations have not indicated their field of activity or have specified "other services". **Key words**: social economy entities.

JEL code: L31, L26

Introduction

The social economy has attracted considerable academic and policy interest in recent years. The social economy is a term that the European legislator is using to define a model of economic development that seeks social and territorial cohesion, sustainability, social justice and the equitable distribution of wealth. In the EU, there are 2.8 million social economy entities, accounting for 6.3% of EU employment, but their impact goes far beyond those numbers (OECD, 2020). Social economy actors are found in most sectors of the economy – from health and education to banking and utilities. Some are small non-profits, but others are large enterprises with international outreach.

Social economy enterprises play vital roles in contributing to the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals by tackling global problems such as extreme poverty, social and economic inequalities and homelessness (OECD, 2020; Seelos C., Mair J., 2005). The role that social economy plays in the socioeconomic system has been addressed by various authors (World Economic Forum, 2022; Okuneviciute Neverauskiene L., Pranskeviciute I., 2018), attributing to it the role of a repairer and an innovator in products, processes and forms of organisation (Catala B. et al., 2023) and of a generator of new jobs (World Economic Forum, 2022). The social economy plays an important role in generating employment (especially for the people belonging to vulnerable groups) (Arpinte D. et al., 2010), a productive fabric and social cohesion (Matei A., Dorobantu A. D., 2015), that is, in generating social added value. In addition, social economy entities are an instrument with which to develop participatory democracy (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012), financial inclusion and reduction of income inequality (Cozarescu M., 2012), local development (Bouchard M. J., 2010; Matei A., Dorobantu A. D., 2015), resilience against crisis (Catala B. et al., 2023) and fight against social exclusion (Cace S. et al., 2011). It can be concluded that the social economy plays strategic economic, political and social roles (European Economic and Social Committee, 2017). In recent crises, it has been particularly resilient and has responded to major social issues (Cancelo M. et al., 2022).

¹ E-mail: lasma.licite@lbtu.lv

However, the progress achieved by the social economy differs within the EU member states because the critical situations, the actions, the institutional and legal framework, the overall context of the social economy are different in each individual EU country (Cace S., Stanescu S. M., 2013). Examples of this are the many terms encompassing the concept (social economy, non-profit sector, social enterprises, third sector and volunteer sector). Another critical issue that also makes conceptual analysis difficult is its diversity depending on the territorial areas being studied and their different nuances and contexts (Ruano A. J. M. et al., 2021).

In promoting enabling policy, understanding and regulatory frameworks in the EU member states on 13 June 2023, the Commission submitted to the Council a proposal for a Council Recommendation on developing social economy framework conditions. The proposal for a Council Recommendation on developing social economy framework conditions was announced in the Action plan for the social economy presented by the European Commission in 2021. The action plan outlined measures to enhance social innovation, strengthen the social economy and its organizational models, and further develop its capacity to drive economic and societal transformation. Such activity is relevant because the new action plan is an important step for the further development of the social economy, which will help create awareness of its potential, as well as the importance of a fair and sustainable economic model.

In the context of Latvia, this action plan provides a significant stimulus for action, as there is currently no common understanding of the social economy concept, nor is there a strategy dedicated to the development of the social economy. Current issues of the social economy are temporarily mentioned only in the strategic documents – Guidelines for Social Protection and Labour Market Policy for 2021 – 2027 and Guidelines for the Development of a Cohesive and Civically Active Society for 2021 – 2027. However, taking into account that on October 9, the Council of Europe adopted the Council Recommendation on the development of basic conditions for the social economy, the member states are advised, taking into account the conditions in the country, either to adopt or update their social economy strategies, or to integrate the social economy into the relevant strategies or other policies initiatives within 24 months of the adoption of this recommendation. In order to do this, it is important to define the concept of social economy in the context of Latvia and identify its potential participants. Promoting common understanding is essential not only to formally meet the EU requirements, but also because the lack of a clear definition for the social economy results in the absence of a common set of metrics with which to measure it. This in turn limits the sector's visibility. Yet visibility is a key for social economy actors to promote their business practices and inform policy-makers on appropriate regulatory frameworks. Enhanced visibility also advances a wider understanding of the relevance of the social economy approach and inspires other entrepreneurs to build similar business models (World Economic Forum, Schwab Foundation for Social Entrepreneurship, 2022). In addition, it is also stated that development of a national strategy for social economy represents a key condition for promoting it as an efficient tool of social inclusion. Envisaged adoption of a social economy law could represent one step towards further development and support (Cace S., Stanescu S. M., 2013).

So far, the social economy is not defined in any legal or official text in Latvia. As a result, there are different perceptions of what could be understood by term "social economy" and what legal entities may be associated with the social economy. Overall, there is little understanding of the concept of a social economy at the policy-making level and among the public and academia. In academia, there are some research studies in social economy context, e.g. V. Dolacis (2014) and V. Dolacis and I. Jespere (2016) have researched the incorporation of social economy principles into the activities of community initiatives in Latvia, yet the research data were based on statistics for 2004-2005, thus not providing the most current information about the situation in the social economy in Latvia. L. Paula and A. Grinfelde (2017) have

described the case of charity shops within the social economy; however, the description covers only one social enterprise. K. Casno et al. (2021) gives practical recommendations for closing informational gaps and driving the social economy; however, their perspective is quite narrow and mostly focuses on social enterprises. In total, several research studies on social enterprises (Gintere D., Licite-Kurbe L., 2022; Kalkis H. et al., 2021) as well as associations and foundations (Civic Alliance-Latvia, 2023; Bite D., Kruzmetra Z., 2017) have been conducted in Latvia, while relatively few research studies are available on cooperatives societies (some research studies have been conducted on agricultural cooperatives) (Feldmane L., Zvirbule A., 2020; Mistris J. et al., 2020), yet there is a lack of research on the social economy as a whole. An insufficient understanding of the social economy has been emphasized by the researchers stating that in Latvia, the concept of a social economy enjoys a medium level of acceptance (Monzon J.L., Chaves R., 2008).

Hypothesis: The concept of social economy in Latvia is understood differently, which is influenced by the lack of a unified approach at the the national level. The research **aim** is to examine the nature and challenges of the social economy concept in Latvia. The following specific research **tasks** were set: 1) to give insight into the historical evolution of a social economy; 2) to define the principles and nature of social economy; 3) to identify the challenges of defining a social economy in Latvia; 4) to describe the potential actors of the social economy in Latvia.

To achieve the aim and perform the tasks, the research employed several **methods**: monographic and descriptive for theoretical discussion; analysis, synthesis and deduction for information gathering, logical systematization and classification, as well as statistical analysis. To obtain in-depth information, in July 2023 interviews were conducted with the head of the Social Entrepreneurship Association of Latvia, an official of the Ministry of Welfare responsible for social entrepreneurship and the general director of the Latvian Agricultural Cooperatives Association. The research used statistical data from the State Revenue Service (on request for research purposes) and the Ministry of Welfare. The scientific databases Scopus, Web of Science, EBSCO and ScienceDirect were used to collect information about the historical evolution and nature of a social economy. **Delimitations of research:** Data on the social economy are limited and not publicly availabe. Also, there is lack of clear understanding of social economy concept in Latvia.

1. Historical evolution of a term "social economy"

Theoretical and empirical references to the social economy date back to the 19th century, but the concept did not gain currency again until the last third of the 20th century (Levesque B., Mendell M., 2005). Identification of the social economy as it is known today began in France, in the 1970s, when the organisations representing the cooperatives, mutual societies and associations created the National Liaison Committee for Mutual, Cooperative and Associative Activities (CNLAMCA). Since the end of the Second World War until 1977, the term "social economy" had fallen out of everyday use. In June 1980, CNLAMCA published the Social Economy Charter, which defines the social economy as the set of organisations that do not belong to the public sector, operate democratically with the members having equal rights and duties and practise a particular regime of ownership and distribution of profits, employing the surpluses to expand the organisation and improve its services to its members and to society (European Economic and Social Committee, 2017). It could be stated that at the policy-making level, the social economy gained wider recognition from the year 2000, as evidenced by the fact that the European Economic and Social Committee has published numerous reports (e.g. studies entitled "The Social Economy in the European Union", carried out by CIRIEC and published in 2008 and 2012, and "Recent Evolutions of Social Economy in the European Union" published in 2017 by the European Economic and Social Committee) and opinions

on the social economy's contribution to achieving different public policy objectives. Besides, six European countries have already passed social economy laws: Belgium, Spain, Greece, Portugal, France and Romania.

In the scientific literature, the first research studies appeared relatively long ago, yet the social economy has aroused wider interest only since 2000. The first author to use this term was Dunoyer, who in 1830 published his work "Nouveau traite' d'e'conomie sociale" (Dunoyer B. C., 1830). But the first article registered in the Scopus database can be identified as E. Cummings' research paper entitled "Social Economy at the Paris Exposition" (1890). In the case of Web of Science, the first research study was that by M. Maree and M. Saive (1984) entitled "Social Economy and Cooperative Renewal – Definition, Financing, Issues". Since 2004, there has been an increase in the number of research studies on this topic, with some researchers focusing on the historical evolution of the social economy (Ruano A. J. M. et al., 2021; Grigore A. A., 2013), giving insight into similar and different features between the social economy and the third sector, the solidarity economy (Moulaert F., Ailenei O., 2005; Lewis M., Swinney D., 2007; Villalba-Eguiluz U. et al., 2023; Arthur L. et al., 2003) and the circular economy (Villaba-Eguiluz U. et al., 2023), as well as emphasizing the role of the social economy in an economy (Evans M., Syrett S., 2007; Asiminei R., Soitu C. T., 2014; Marsden T., 1999; Peck J., Theodore N., 2000).

The term "social and solidarity economy" is also very often used among academia and policy makers. Some research studies refer to it as a synonym for "social economy" (Restakis J., Mendell M., 2014), while others emphasize the key differences. It is emphasized that the most important difference is that the solidarity economy is conceptually located at the intersection of the private, public and social economy sectors. It explicitly assumes engagement of all the three sectors. In contrast, the social economy is often referred to as the third sector, occupying the societal space between the public and private sectors (Lewis M., Swinney D., 2007). The social economy includes the voluntary sector; a range of associations, including trade unions; and the family economy. In broad terms, they share certain features and principles that are common to all entities of social economy.

2. Principles and nature of a social economy

Almost two centuries have passed since the first work related to the social economy by Charles Dunoyer. Despite this, there is still no agreed definition either internationally or within the EU itself to this day (Ruano A. J. M. et al., 2021). As a result, there are many terms to define the social economy (Espasandin-Bustelo F. et al., 2023). F. Espasandin-Bustelo et al. (2023) view the concept of social economy through such a prism: combination of economic, social, entrepreneurial, and academic motivations. From a social point of view, many stakeholders have cast their eyes on the social economy, due to its potential to address social matters, such as inequality, unemployment and poverty. Moreover, the social economy was a potential contributor or counterbalance to the reduction of the welfare state that neoliberalism has cut back. From an academic point of view, it is widely recognized that research on the matter is advancing and immense interest has been aroused in the academic community over the past decade. Academic production is growing 15% each year. From a business point of view, social economy enterprises have the following characteristics: they are regulated by specific laws; they favor equitable distribution of profits; they prioritize social needs over profit maximization; they promote local development; and they must also compete, gain competitive advantages, improve their organization and productivity, win over new customers, attract new sources of finance etc. (Espasandin-Bustelo F. et al., 2023).

A. A. Grigore (2013) offers a broader view of the definition of social economy and the classification of its participants, characterizing social economy models existing worldwide and their mechanism of operation, with a focus on European social economy models.

In general, the scientific literature refers to several indications or principles for identifying the social economy. The principles of the social economy were defined by J. L. Monzon and R. Chaves (2008), which were later referred to by other researchers, thereby creating a unified perception of the concept of a social economy.

Objective – creation of social value. The creation of social value is one of the main characteristics of the social economy (Matei A., Dorobantu A. D., 2015). It must combine a dual objective of economic performance and social value creation. (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012; European Commission, 2021). Social economy generate employment, productive fabric and social cohesion, that is, to generate social added value. This social value creation function goes beyond the individual level and reaches meso and macro levels, such as in its ability to reinforce place-based dynamics, empower people-driven resilience and growth, and bring value to local economies and societies by fostering their inclusiveness, resilience and sustainability (European Commission, 2022). At the core of the social value creation process are elements such as the reciprocity, social justice, social capital, collective responsibility, commitment and solidarity. Also, in other researches it is stated that the social economy places social and environmental challenges and opportunities at the centre of economic activity. What marks out the social economy as unique is that it puts "purpose before profit". Social economy actors carry out activities in the interests of their members and beneficiaries ("collective interest") or society at large ("general interest") (World Economic Forum, Schwab Foundation for Social Entrepreneurship, 2022). The activities could include cultural production, the provision of health or social care, as well as the supply of food, shelter or other necessities to people in need. In its essence, the social economy is a space and practice where economics is at the service of social ends, not the other way round (Restakis J., 2015).

Economic performance and resources. Social value should be combined with economic performance. However, the primary aim is not the profit making but the stakeholders' welfare and socio-economic inclusion (Matei A., Dorobantu A. D., 2015). This means that organizations can use different resources for their existence. Social economy entities seek to satisfy social needs not addressed or underaddressed by governments and mainstream businesses or to solve social issues in innovative manners, such as the mobilisation of monetary and non-monetary resources (such as donations and commitment, respectively) both in market and non-market fields (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012).

Governance. The governance should be based on the democratic and/or participatory governance (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012; European Commission, 2021; Moulaert F., Nussbaumer J., 2005) which means 'one member, one vote' (Grigore A. A., 2013). Because of the democratic nature of social economy entities in the way they make decisions, these entities are presented as an instrument with which to develop participatory democracy (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012), financial inclusion and reduction of income inequality (Albert J. F., Chaves R., 2021), local development and resilience against crises (Alvarez J. F. et al. 2022; Cancelo M. et al., 2022). Besides, whether through substantial union involvement in decision-making or through electing their own representatives to the board, or through direct democracy of all members of a small cooperative business, employees in a social economy enterprise must have genuine power to influence management decisions (Arthur L. et al., 2003). Also, it is important that a significant proportion of the value of the organization needs to be owned by its own employees (Arthur L. et al., 2003).

Distribution of profits. The distribution of profit should be limited (Grigore A. A., 2013), it should based on the primacy of people as well as social and/or environmental purpose over profit, the reinvestment of most of the profits and surpluses (Grigore A. A., 2013) to carry out activities in the interest of members/users ("collective interest") or society at large ("general interest") (Chaves R., Monzon J. L., 2012; European Commission, 2021).

According to the scientific literature, the main features of the social economy are as follows: 1) objective – carrying out activities in the interest of members/users or society at large; 2) economic performance and resources – a resource mix depending on whether an organization is market-oriented or not; 3) the distribution of profit should be limited, it should based on the primacy of people as well as social and/or environmental purpose over profit; the reinvestment of most of the profits and surpluses to carry out activities in the interest of members/users ("collective interest") or society at large ("general interest"); 4) democratic and/or participatory governance. It can be concluded that these defining features have been widely referred to in the economics literature and outline a social economy sphere that includes cooperatives, mutual societies, associations, foundations and social enterprises.

3. Understanding the concept of social economy and its challenges in Latvia

In order to quantify the aggregate data on the social economy in an internationally consistent and harmonised fashion and give them visibility, the definition of the social economy that is used needs to fit in with the national accounts systems. Such a definition needs to disregard legal and administrative criteria and to centre on analysing the behaviour of social economy actors, identifying the resemblances and differences between them and between these and other economic agents (European Economic and Social Committee, 2017). However, in Latvia there is no common understanding of the social economy. According to the opinion of the Ministry of Welfare stated in the interview, social enterprises and only the associations and foundations that have the status of public benefit organization are considered to be social economy actors. However, such a perspective is rather narrow and does not reveal the overall situation in the social economy in Latvia, nor is it consistent with the EU approach to the definition of a social economy. Therefore, cooperatives and other associations and foundations that benefit society but do not have the status of public benefit organization are disregarded. However, cooperatives represent an essential component of the social economy, as pointed out also by the head of the Social Entrepreneurship Association of Latvia in the interview. The social economy and the cooperative movement are two realities that arose simultaneously and fed off each other, and hence, the social economy cannot be understood without its primary reference to cooperative societies (Ruano A. J. M. et al., 2021). It is also not correct to distinguish "ordinary" associations and foundations from associations and foundations with the status of public benefit organization because the associations and foundations, by their very nature, fit the concept of a social economy. According to the Associations and Foundations Law (in force since 01/04/2004), an association is a voluntary union of persons founded to achieve the goal specified in the statute of the association, which shall not have a profit-making nature. A foundation, also a fund, is an aggregate of property that has been set aside for the achievement of a goal specified by the founder, which shall not have a profit-making nature.

As regards cooperatives, there are different opinions on whether all cooperative societies should be considered part of the social economy. The general director of the Latvian Agricultural Cooperatives Association has stated in the interview in relation to agricultural cooperatives that only eligible cooperatives are identified, which means that such cooperatives meet all the criteria for an entity of the social economy. However, the proportion of such cooperatives in the total number of cooperatives was relatively low (in 2023, there were 52 such agricultural cooperatives), and such a breakdown was available only for agricultural cooperatives. Therefore, the research used the total number of cooperatives in Latvia to analyse the statistical data.

In Latvia, according to the scientific literature, social economy actors represent associations, foundations, cooperatives and social enterprises, which made up a total of 27305 entities in 2023 (Figure 1), of which the majority were associations (88%). In recent years, there has been an increasing trend in the number of social economy actors (except cooperatives). From 2021 to 2023, the number of associations has increased by 5%, foundations – by 4% and social enterprises – by 12%. Given the fact that social enterprises represent a relatively new legal form of business in Latvia (the Social Enterprise Law came into force in 2018), the fact that their number tends to increase could be viewed positively, as this indicates an increase in the recognition of social enterprises and public interest in establishing social enterprises. As regards associations, it is important to note that the large number of associations does not mean that all of them are active and actually operate. Only half of the total associations and foundations registered were active and functioned (



Fig. 1. Number of social economy actors in Latvia in 2021-2023

An analysis of the economic activities of social economy actors, based on the data collected by the State Revenue Service (NACE Rev. 2, level 1), revealed that they operated in various economic fields, yet the most represented fields of economic activity were arts, entertainment and recreation (5144), real estate operations (3593) and agriculture, forestry and fishing (1108). The largest number of social economy actors performed "other services" (10279), and it should also be noted that very many did not indicate their field of economic activity).

Overall, the most common kind of economic activity for societies was "other services" (9167), arts, entertainment and recreation (4930), real estate operations (2904) and education (1432). The situation was similar for foundations, as the most common kind of economic activity was "other services" (838), arts, entertainment and recreation (186), health and social care (145) and education (141). In contrast, social enterprises operated mainly in in the fields of education (52) and health and social care (48), while cooperatives performed real estate operations (676) and provided "other services" (266).

Overall, the situation regarding the fields of economic activity of associations and foundations was quite unclear in Latvia, as different classification rules were in place for such organizations. Associations and foundations must indicate their kinds of economic activity in the Register of Enterprises of the Republic of Latvia according to the classification of NGO activities (in accordance with Cabinet Regulation No.799 Classification Rules for Associations and Foundations), yet a large number of associations and foundations have indicated their economic activity by declaring the NACE code of their economic activity with the State Revenue Service. A NACE code specifies the main economic activity of the taxpayer, as specified in the Law on Taxes and Duties. The main economic activity is the kind of activity of the taxpayer, which represents the highest proportion in the total turnover in the tax year. However, such data do not provide a clear picture of the kind of economic activity an organization performs, as organizations are often unable neither to indicate their economic activity nor register their kind of activity with the Register of Enterprises the Republic of Latvia (Civic Alliance-Latvia, 2021). Data on the NACE codes of associations and foundations from the State Revenue Service showed that 2091 associations and foundations had registered no NACE code. A similar situation could be observed regarding the data collected by the Lursoft company (economic activity (NACE) codes of associations and foundations reported to the Register of Enterprises of the Republic of Latvia), as more than 30% of organizations that had registered their economic activities had indicated NACE code 94.99 "Activities of other membership organisations n.e.c." (Civic Alliance-Latvia, 2021). Only 10% of NGOs had indicated their fields of economic activity.

It could be concluded that in Latvia, there are various tools for obtaining and aggregating information on the economic activities of associations and foundations, yet none of them gives a clear picture of the organizations because no comprehensive information on the kind of activity and economic activities of the organizations could be obtained. Consequently, the NACE codes specified by organizations create misconception about NGO activities. There are many associations and foundations that cannot attribute their economic activity to a NACE code or do not understand the NACE classification and therefore are unable to indicate their real activity (Civic Alliance-Latvia, 2021). Besides, there is no single website where all information about NGOs analysed by national authorities could be available.

There are also different data on social enterprises. Based on the data from the State Revenue Service, it could be established that social enterprises mainly operated in the fields of education and health and social care. However, based on the data from the Ministry of Welfare, the picture was different, as most of the social enterprises were engaged in work integration (23%), education (21%), sports, health promotion and medicine (19%) and dealt with an inclusive civic society and cultural diversity (11%).

It can be concluded that there is no common definition of social economy in Latvia, as well as statistical data on the types of activities of social economy participants are unclear. After fulfilment of EU requirement regarding strategy of social economy in the EU member states the more clarity may be seen regarding concept of social economy. Besides, a unified strategy for the development of the social economy is necessary, because currently the social economy is not directed in a targeted manner, there is a lack of a unified view of its development and the responsible institutions that would jointly form a long-term vision and also support mechanisms for the long-term development of the social economy in Latvia. Currently, different institutions are responsible for each of the legal forms, while in general, there is no single responsible ministry for the non-governmental sector, which would promote the growth of the sector.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) The social economy is a model of economic development that seeks social and territorial cohesion, sustainability, social justice and the equitable distribution of wealth. It includes associations, cooperatives, foundations, mutual organisations and social enterprises that operate in most sectors of the economy. Although the historical evolution of a social economy began already in the 19th century, it gained wider recognition among policy makers and academia after the year 2000, incl. six European countries have passed social economy laws.

2) In Latvia, however, the social economy still is not defined in any legal or official text in Latvia. As a result, there are different perceptions of what could be understood by term "social economy" and what legal entities may be associated with the social economy. The present research specifies the following social economy actors in accordance with the EU guidelines, scientific researches and in the context of Latvia: associations, foundations, cooperatives and social enterprises. In order to promote understanding of the social economy, the Ministry of Welfare, in cooperation with stakeholders have to develop a strategy for the social economy at the national level.

3) In 2023 in Latvia, 27305 organizations operated in the social economy, and their number tended to increase in recent years. Most of the social economy actors (88%) represented associations. Social enterprises represent a relatively new legal form of business in Latvia that began actively emerging in 2018 when the Social Enterprise Law came into force but the number of social enterprises tend to increase. However, in general, data on social economy actors is not available in a single way. In order to facilitate the collection of data on social economy participants, it is necessary to create a "one-stop agency".

4) The social economy actors were engaged in a variety of fields of economic activity, yet the main ones were arts, entertainment and recreation (5144), real estate operations (3593) and agriculture, forestry and fishing (1108). Most of the social economy actors performed "other services" (10279). However, the classification of associations and foundations by kind of activity does not provide accurate information, as many organizations have not indicated their field of activity or have specified "other services"; therefore, the data on their economic activity are not complete.

5) The paper is original and contributes to the discussion of the concept of social economy in Latvia and its role and significance in economy.

Bibliography

- 1. Albert, J.F., & Chaves, R. (2021). Estructura bancaria y desigualdad de renta. La banca cooperativa marca la diferencia. *CIRIEC-Espana, Revista de Economía Pública, Social y Cooperativa*, 102, pp.197–227.
- Alvarez, J.F., Bouchard, M.J., & Marcuello, C. (2022). Economía social y covid-19: Una mirada internacional. CIRIEC-Espana, Revista de Economía Pública, Social y Cooperativa, 104, pp. 203–231.
- Arpinte, D., Cace, S. & Cojocaru, S. (2010). Social economy in Romania. Preliminary approach, Revista de Cercetare si Interventie Sociala, 31, pp. 64–79.
- Arthur, L., Cato, M.S., Keenoy, T. & Smith, R. (2003). Developing an operational definition of the social economy. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/239856431_Developing_an_Operational_Definition_of_the_Social_Econo my/references
- 5. Asiminei, R. & Soitu, C.T. (2014). Social Economy: A shifting paradigm, *Journal of Social Economy*, IV(1), pp. 17-30.
- 6. Bite, D. & Kruzmetra, Z. (2017). Non-Governmental organizations as the key actors of renewal of rural territories in Latvia, *International Journal of Economics and Management Systems*, 2, pp. 277–286.
- Bouchard, M.J. (2010). The evaluation of the social economy in Quebec, with regard to stake-holders, mission and organization identity. In: M.J. Bouchard (Ed.), *The Worth of the Social Economy. An International Perspective/ CIRIEC* (pp. 111–133). Bruxelles: P.I.E. Peter Lang.
- 8. Cace, S., Arpinte, D., Cace, C. & Cojocaru, S. (2011). The social economy. An integrating approach, *Transylvanian Review of Administrative Sciences*, 33E, pp. 49–66.
- 9. Cace S., Stanescu S.M. (2013). Role of the social economy to increase social inclusion, *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 92, pp. 117–121.
- 10. Cancelo, M., Vazquez, E., & Díaz-Vazquez, M.R. (2022). The impact of the covid-19 crisis on cooperatives and worker-owned firms in Spain in 2020: A sectorial shift-share analysis, *CIRIEC- Espana, Revista de Economia Publica, Social y Cooperativa*, 104, pp. 35–64.
- Casno, K., Skiltere, D. & Sloka, B. (2021). Towards a stronger social economy in Latvia Practical recommendations for closing informational gaps and driving social economy, *Social and Economic Revue*, 19(2), pp. 15-28.
- 12. Catala, B., Savall, T. & Chaves-Avila, R. (2023). From entrepreneurial and innovation ecosystems to the social economy ecosystem, *Journal of Business Research*, 163, August, p. 10

 Cancelo, M., Vazquez, E. & Díaz-Vazquez, M.R. (2022). The impact of the Covid-19 crisis on cooperatives and worker-owned firms in Spain in 2020: A sectorial shift-share analysis, *CIRIEC- Espana Revista de Economia Publica, Social y Cooperativa*, 104, pp. 5–64.

https://nvo.lv/uploads/nvo_sektora_monitorings_2023_fin.pdf

https://nvo.lv/uploads/nvo_petijums_2021.pdf

- 16. Chaves, R., & Monzon, J.L. (2012). Beyond the crisis: The social economy, prop of a new model of sustainable economic development, *Service Business*, 6(1), pp. 5–26.
- 17. Cozarescu, M. (2012). The social economy in Romania, between praxis and the need of conceptualizing practice, *Journal of Community Positive Practices*, 1, pp. 124–135.
- 18. Cummings, E. (1890). Social economy at the Paris exposition, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 4(2), pp. 212-221.
- 19. Dolacis, V. (2014). Recognition of principles of social economy in the activities of community in Latvia, *Tiltai*, 69(4), pp. 57–70.
- Dolacis, V. & Jespere, I. (2016). Recognition of principles of social economy in the activities of community initiatives in Latvia. In Proceedings of Latvian Christian Academy, 4. (pp. 246-264). Riga: Latvian Christian Academy.
- 21. Dunoyer, B.C. (1830). *Nouveau Traite* ' *d_ economie sociales*. Sauteled et Mesnier E'diteurs.
- 22. Espasandin-Bustelo F., Rufino-Rus J.I., Rodríguez-Serrano M.A. (2023). Innovation and performance in social economy enterprises: The mediating effect of legitimacy for customers, *Journal of Business Research*, 158, March.
- 23. European Commission (2021). Building an economy that works for people: An action plan for the social economy. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1537&langId=en
- 24. European Commission (2022). Transition pathway for proximity and social economy. Retrieved from: https://single-market-economy.ec.europa.eu/sectors/proximity-andsocial-economy/proximity-and- socialeconomy-transition-pathway_en
- 25. European Economic and Social Committee (2017). Recent evolutions of the social economy in European Union. Retrieved from: https://www.eesc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/files/qe-04-17-875-en-n.pdf
- 26. Evans, M. & Syrett, S. (2007). Generating social capital? The social economy and local economic development, *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 14(1), pp. 55–74.
- Feldmane, L. & Zvirbule, A. (2020). Influence of the institutional framework on economic activity of agricultural cooperatives: Latvia's case. In: *Proceedings of the 2020 International Conference "Economic Science for Rural Development"*, 12-15 May 2020, No 53. Jelgava: LLU ESAF, pp. 39–47.
- Gintere, D. & Licite-Kurbe, L. (2022). Social entrepreneurship definition and essence in the Latvia context. In: *Proceedings of the Annual 28th International Scientific Conference* "Research for Rural Development 2022", Vol. 37, 18-20 May, 2022. Jelgava: Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, pp. 166–173.
- 29. Grigore, A.A. (2013). Social economy entities: a worldwide overview, *Review of Applied Socio- Economic Research*, 6(2), p. 111.
- 30. Kalkis, H., Vilka, L., Līcīte-Ķurbe, L., Trapenciere, I. & Urbāne, M. (2021). Challenges for social enterprises in Latvia. In: *Social Enterprise in Central and Eastern Europe. Theory, Models and Practice.* Chapter 6. (pp. 102-122). New York: Routledge.
 Levesque, B. & Mendell, M. (2005). The social economy: Approaches, practices and a proposal for a new community-university alliance (CURA), *Journal of Rural Cooperation*, 33(1), pp. 21–45.
- 32. Lewis, M. & Swinney, D. (2007). Social economy? Solidarity economy? Exploring the implications of conceptual nuance for acting in a volatile world. Retrieved from: https://base.socioeco.org/docs/f3_-_lewis_swinney.pdf
- 33. Maree, M. & Saive, M. (1984). Social economy and co-operative renewal-definition, financing, issues, *Annals of Public and CoOperative Economy*, 55(1), pp. 35–69.
- 34. Marsden, T. (1999). Rural futures: The consumption countryside and its regulation, *Sociologia Ruralis*, 39(4), pp. 501–526.
- 35. Matei, A. & Dorobantu, A.D. (2015). Social economy added value for local development and social cohesion, *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 26, pp. 490–494.
- 36. Mistris, J., Mistre, B. & Zvaigzne, A. (2020). Performance and causes of development problems among Latvian grain cooperatives, *Engineering Management in Production and Services*, 12(3), pp. 74–86.
- 37. Monzon, J.L. & Chaves, R. (2008). The European social economy: Concept and dimensions of the third sector, Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics, 79(3-4), pp. 549–577.
- 38. Moulaert, F. & Ailenei, O. (2005). Social economy, third sector, and solidarity relations: A conceptual synthesis from history to present, *Urban Studies*, 42(11), pp. 2037–2053.
- 39. Moulaert, F., & Nussbaumer, J. (2005). Defining the social economy and its governance at the neighbourhood level: A methodological reflection, *Urban Studies*, 42(11), pp. 2071-2088.
- 40. OECD (2020). Social economy and the COVID-19 crisis: Current and future roles. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/social-economy-and-the-covid-19-crisis-current-and-futureroles-f904b89f/
- 41. Okuneviciute Neverauskiene, L. & Pranskeviciute, I. (2018). Contribution of the economic and social sector to economic development: The case of the UK, Sweden and Lithuania, *Economic Annals-XXI*, 174(11-12), pp. 10-15.

- 42. Paula, L. & Grinfelde, A. (2017). Social economy in Latvia: The case of charity shops. In: *Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference "Economic Science for Rural Development"*, No 44, 27-28 April 2017. Jelgava: LLU ESAF, pp. 136–141.
- 43. Peck, J., & Theodore, N. (2000). Beyond employability, Cambridge Journal of Economics, 24(6), pp. 729-749.
- 44. Restakis, J. & Mendell, M. (2014). Public policy for a social economy. Retrieved from: https://floksociety.org/docs/Ingles/3/3.2.pdf
- 45. Restakis, J. (2015). Public policy for a social economy, *Journal of Peer Production*, 7. Retrieved from: https://base.socioeco.org/docs/policy-for-a-social-economy.pdf
- 46. Ruano, A.J.M., Milan-Garcia, J., Rumi, M.E.M. & Valenciano, J.P. (2021). Scientific production on the social economy: A review of worldwide research, *Voluntas*, 32, pp. 925-943.
- 47. Seelos, C. & Mair, J. (2005). Social entrepreneurship: Creating a business models to serve the poor, *Business Horizons*, 48(3), pp. 241-246.
- 48. Villalba-Eguiluz, U., Sahakian, M., Gonzalez-Jamett, C. & Etxezarreta, E. (2023). Social and solidarity economy insights for the circular economy: Limited-profit and sufficiency, *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 418, 15 September. World Economic Forum, Schwab Foundation for Social
- 49. World Economic Forum, Schwab Foundation for Social Entrepreneurship (2022). Unlocking the Social Economy Towards an Inclusive and Resilient Society (2022). Retrieved from: https://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Unlocking_the_Social_Economy_2022.pdf

FROM BYTES TO BITES. DATA CAPITALISM AND FOOD DELIVERY BUSINESS IN EUROPE

Ritvars Metra¹, MSc; Signe Dobelniece², PhD/ Assoc.prof.

^{1,2}Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

Abstract. In today's reality, where data reigns supreme, there is a crucial need to explore how traditional analog sectors adapt and integrate data-centric business logics. This research aims to unravel the intricate ways in which digital capitalism infiltrates previously analog domains, using major European food delivery firms as an example. Employing qualitative research methods, namely content analysis, rhetorical analysis, and semi-structured expert interviews, the study delves into both internal and external dimensions of European food delivery firms (FDFs) operations. Triangulating data from diverse sources ensures a comprehensive and reliable exploration of the evolving landscape.

The research uncovers six fundamental data capitalist logics embedded in the FDFs' business models. From the establishment of multi-sided platforms to the strategic use of algorithmic decision-making, and the subtle profiling of users, the findings shed light on the complex interplay between traditional service delivery and the data-centric demands of the digital age. This paper concludes by emphasizing the paradigmatic shift within the food delivery industry, from its analog roots to a data-driven, algorithmically governed landscape. It underscores the urgency for a nuanced understanding of data capitalism's influence on traditional sectors, calling for heightened awareness, ethical considerations, and regulatory scrutiny in this evolving digital frontier.

Key words: data capitalism, food delivery, business models.

JEL code: E70, L16, L22, O11

Introduction

Internet and related Information and communications technology (ICT) developments has acted as a catalyst for experimentation and innovation in business models (Amit & Zott, 2001; Grassmann, Frankenberger, & Choudury, 2020), and entire industrial sectors have evolved along radically new trajectories of innovation and offered new logic of value creation not seen in recent business history (Massa & Tucci, 2013). In the centre of those novel business models lies data. Once considered expensive by-product, now data has become the centre of attention. Nowadays it is hard to avoid the claims by various "experts", economists and self-proclaimed business gurus that "data is the new oil" or "everything is made of data". Such statements do not only reveal or reflect the world. Those are declarations. According to American philosopher John Searle, when someone makes a declaration, they are not just describing or requesting; they are actively bringing about a new reality through the act of speaking (Searle, 2010). This emerging reality places those with data capital in a position of access and authority. In such settings, the imperative to extract as much data from numerous sources, utilizing any available means, intensifies existing practices and gives rise to the development of new ones. While data is not the same as profit, they share a similar logic, and under specific conditions data can be converted into economic capital. Just as we expected corporations to be profit-driven, we should now expect organizations to be data-driven; that is, the drive to accumulate data now propels new ways of doing business and governance (Sadowski, 2019). This new trend is often referred to as data capitalism (DC).

For a large part of society and even many economists, DC is not fully understood and is often associated only with ICT related firms. In reality, all business landscape is changing and previously analog industries are increasingly transforming and focusing on data as commodity or capital. As Zuboff points out, DC *metastasized across diverse sectors from insurance, retail and finance, to agriculture and transportation, to the most intimate and predictive data residing in the two critical sectors of education and healthcare* (Zuboff, 2022). Still, there is not enough empirical evidence of this trajectory. Thus, the research question

¹ E-mail: sz19002@lbtu.lv

² E-mail: Signe.Dobelniece@lbtu.lv

is formulated as follows: how digital capitalism migrates into previously distinctly analog economic domains, taking the largest food delivery firms (FDF) in Europe as an example.

To answer research question following tasks has been set. (1) Research current literature on digital capitalism. With this we are aiming to provide a foundation for understanding the main characteristics and principles of DC. (2) Explore current food delivery business scenery in Europe. We are aiming to identify the major players of the food delivery business in Europe. (3) Analyse the business models of the largest European food delivery firms to identify the presence of DC Logics. We aim to search for specific elements within their business models that align with DC logics.

Methods and methodology

Given the novelty of the subject, this study was designed using qualitative research methods – namely, content analysis, rhetorical analysis, as well as semi-structured expert interviews. For empirical data analysis, the exploratory case study is used. Stringent controls were implemented to bolster the validity and reliability of our findings. This encompassed meticulous documentation of analytical procedures and transparent reporting of methodological choices. To mitigate the potential fallibility of any single data set, this study employs triangulation across multiple sources.



Source: authors' created figure

Fig. 1. Visual representation of data collection and analysis

Empirical data gathering started with extensive analysis of different business information and market research portals such as MordorIntelligence.com, Euromonitor.com, and Globaldata.com to identify the main players in the food delivery field in Europe. After careful consideration, six major companies were chosen for further analysis. The next step was to gather information and data that accurately depict the main value proposition and business logic of those firms.

Some scholars have already highlighted the institutionalization of secrecy within the policies and practices governing all facets of data capitalism (Zuboff, 2019, p. 63). Little did we knew that, the similar tactics reigns in food delivery business. Persuading current or former managers of food delivery firms to talk about their business model was the most difficult task of this research. Similar as it is with Google or Facebook, all information disseminated to the public is carefully curated and polished by PR teams and employee contacts with "outsiders" are restricted. Current employees were hesitant to speak due to concerns of violating their employment contracts, while former employees are bound by non-disclosure agreements. Almost as the first rule of online food delivery business is: you do not talk about online food

delivery business. The answer received from one of the Bolt Food managers perfectly illustrates this common trend - "Sorry it took so long to get back to you, but I can't help, because the official position is that we don't provide info even if it's student work. Too much sensitive info ...I hope you understand. The only exception is if it's a study with Bolt, but then it has completely different objectives (e.g. research on improving traffic in the city x). Best regards XX". The few experts who agreed to participate in the study did so only under the strict condition of remaining anonymous. Thus, this research primarily relies on content analysis of the financial statements and annual reports, examination of corporate web pages, and rhetorical analysis of firms' documents, such as "Terms and Conditions" and "Privacy Notice." Four semi-structured interviews with one current and three former FDFs high-level managers were intended only to cross-check the facts found during the financial, rhetorical, or contingent analysis. Interviews were conducted between 14th December 2022 and 1st March 2023. All interviews were recorded, and later, interview transcripts were created. To protect the experts' identities, in the transcripts, company names were withheld, and experts were identified only by one randomly chosen alphabetic letter – A, B, C, or D.

To ensure a comprehensive and accurate analysis, the primary data was supplemented with secondary data sources, such as business information portals including Crunchbase.com, RocketReach.co, and Apollo.io, market research reports, news articles, industry blogs, and interviews given by founders and managers of 6 largest FDFs in Europe to various media outlets.

Our research methodology adopted a holistic and systematic approach to interrogate the complex interplay between data capitalism and the food delivery business. In the data analysis phase, content and archival data analysis of firms' webpages, press releases, financial statements, and other documents were deployed. To begin the data analysis process, all the clobber related to firms' annual reports, financial statements, "Terms and Conditions" and "Privacy policy" were downloaded and saved as MS Word or PDF files, all interviews' recordings were transcribed. Analytical content analysis was conducted on firms' annual reports and financial statements. This involved scrutinising numerical data from twelve documents, identifying value propositions and other key elements of firms' BM. Additionally, rhetorical analysis was employed to dissect the discourse embedded within public documents such as "Terms and Conditions" and "Privacy Policy." The process included an in-depth exploration of used language patterns and rhetoric used by companies to convey their policies and value propositions. By delving into the nuances of linguistic expressions, we were able to unmask the underlying communicative purpose and strategic intent embedded within these documents. The analysis of company website content was conducted in vivo. This involved the systematic analysis of firms' websites, alongside by the screenshots of the corresponding websites and the annotation of pertinent observations. This immersive approach yielded key insights into firms' business models and value propositions, laying the groundwork for further analysis.

Central to the research methodology was the adoption of a systematic approach known as critical realism, which facilitated a nuanced understanding of the interplay between ontological realism, epistemological relativism, and judgmental rationalism. This philosophical framework provided a robust ground upon which we built our analytical work, guiding our interpretation of empirical evidence and ensuring methodological rigour throughout the research process.

At the start of the analysis, each document was then systematically analysed to map out FDFs business model and value proposition. Detailed business model canvas was made for each of the companies subject of this research.

Key Partners	Key Activities	Value Pro	positions	Customer relations	Client Segments
Investors Restaurants / Food outlets Third party advertisers Riders Technology partners End Users (custmomers)	Managing platform Managing merchants Managing customers Managing riders Managing orders Managing payments Managing third party advertisers	For customers: Access to multiple restaurants and food outlets via single platform Swift mobile ordering Real-time order tracking Fast delivery For merchants: Enhanced customer reach Accurate information about the users' habits and taste "Dark Kitchens" "Dark grocery Shops" Minimal marketing costs Access to delivery fleet Maximized revenue generation For third-party advertisers: Targeted advertising Massive local reach Build brand awareness		Targeted e-mails Blogs Press releases Discount codes Referral bonus system Customer support service	People who want food delivery from restaurants Brick-and-mortar restaurants Virtual restaurants Business ventures looking for additional advertising channels
	Key Resources Digital Platform Proprietary Software Riders IT personnel Customer service Technical support Sales & Marketing team			Advertising Channels Website Mobile App Affiliates E-mail Marketing News Agencies Online business portals Industry events	
Cost structure Technology (Data storage, development, deployment & maintenance) Human resources Marketing operations Real Estate Riders Elect		Revenue s Commission of Payments from Standard delir Subscription i Subscription	streams charges from merchants m third-party advertisers very fee fee from end-users fee from merchants		

Source: authors' crafted Business Model Canvas

Fig. 2. Visual representation of Just Eat Takeaway business model

To uncover any potential presence of DC logics in the firms' business models, we implemented a systematic coding process. We took a deep dive into the data, circling back again and again to pick out key phrases and sentences that resonated with pre-defined categories of data capitalism logics derived from the relevant literature. Through a process of constant comparison and consolidation, these categories were refined and synthesised into a comprehensive framework, illuminating the multifaceted dimensions of data capitalism within the food delivery business.

Through diverse analysis, rigorous methods, and strict controls, the research revealed nuanced insights into European food delivery business models.

Research results and discussion

The research delves into the complex dynamics of data capitalism and its convergence with the food delivery business in Europe. Unveiling the multifaceted landscape, the study scrutinizes the economic model where data emerges as the primary source of value and profit. Drawing on extensive examination of European Food Delivery Firms, the findings unearth a transformative journey marked by the integration of various data capitalism logics within the industry. From the evolution of food delivery as a simple business model to the dominance of a few major players, the research explores the pivotal role of digital platforms, massive data extraction, algorithmic decision-making, user profiling, and possible behavioural modification.

1. Data capitalism

DC is an economic model in which data is the main source of value and profit. It is based on the extraction, analysis and use of personal data (everydayness data) to create targeted advertising, personalized products and services and other forms of monetization. It is a system in which the commoditization of data enables an asymmetric redistribution of power that is weighted toward the actors who have access and the capability to make sense of information (West, 2019). As Sadowski noted, there are a variety of labels that refer to the politeconomic relationship between data and capitalism, such as "surveillance capitalism" (Zuboff, 2015), "informational capitalism" (Fuchs, 2010), "platform capitalism"

(Srnicek, 2016) and "iCapitalism" (Priestland, 2013). These different labels are not interchangeable, but they do share common themes and conclusions (Sadowski, 2019). DC is characterized by: (1) data as a commodity: personal data is seen as a valuable commodity that can be bought, sold and traded; (2) data extraction imperative: Data is collected from individuals and organizations in a variety of ways, including online activities, social media interactions and physical transactions; (3) asymmetric power dynamics: Data capitalists retain great, unilateral power over the collection, analysis and use of personal data and (4) Algorithmic governance: Algorithms are used to process and analyse data, make decisions about individuals and shape their experiences.

Many scholars have noted that under data capitalism, platform-based, data-driven, and artificialintelligence-powered business models directly or indirectly control a growing share of economic life, and increasingly serve as role models for both start-ups and established companies (Seidl, 2023; Metra & Dobelniece, 2022; Zuboff, 2022).

2. Food delivery business

In general understanding, food delivery is a courier service in which a restaurant, store, or independent food-delivery company delivers food to a customer. This type of BM has been around for a very long time. In the late 1990s and early 2000s, several startups emerged with the goal of creating dedicated online food delivery platforms. Inexperienced observers still might think of food delivery firms as enthusiastic startups that are just trying to deliver great customer value propositions. In reality, the food delivery business is highly consolidated and attracts huge amounts of investment.

At this point, the food delivery business is dominated by a handful of large companies, some of which operate under many different brands around the world. The European market is no different. As of January 2024, the European food delivery market has become increasingly tight, with just six firms holding a significant share of the industry (Globaldata.com, 2024; Mordor Intelligence, 2024).



Source: authors' created chart based on information from Globaldata.com.

Fig. 3. Food delivery business landscape in Europe in January 2023

Still, the European food delivery industry remains highly competitive, and is expected to continue to grow in the coming years, with new innovations and technologies driving further disruption and change. The focus is likely to be on improving business model to achieve profitability, increase efficiency, reduce
delivery times, and enhance the overall customer experience. Therefore, the food delivering industry is interesting research object not just because their business model might incorporate logics of DC, and if so, then this is the case where data capitalism is transitioning from strictly online environment to brick-and-mortar businesses.

3. Findings

A comprehensive analysis of European FDF corporate websites, blog posts, industry news articles, interviews, and annual reports reveals a story of significant growth and transformation. Throughout this journey, the industry has embraced various DC logics.



Source: authors' created model

Fig. 4. Building blocks of modern food delivery business model

Multisided platform. Just before the whole world went online, food delivery BM was quite simple. As expert D counts: "We actually stared as a business-to-business express delivery company. Down the road I realize that food is a needed commodity for many offices in certain hours. So, we started the lunch delivery as an additional product to our services. Our business model was straightforward: you order food, and we'll pick it up and deliver it straight to your office. We charged a fixed delivery fee for this service.". At the core of all largest contemporary European FDFs BMs lies digital platforms. These platforms: (1) allow companies to establish themselves as market intermediaries that connect supply with demand, and (2) allows extract huge amount of data on users' activities on this platform and beyond. It is not seen on users faced webpages, but in documents meant for investors, companies are quite clear about it - "We are a technology company known for our local commerce platform...()... Wolt's platform makes it easy for customers to order whatever they need on one app, for merchants to make additional sales, and for couriers to make meaningful earnings flexibly." (Wolt, 2022), or Delivery Hero offers its partner restaurants a pointof-sale system in order for them to immediately view and accept orders made on the platform. Furthermore, Delivery Hero offers products and services for restaurants, such as advertising. In addition to the online food ordering platforms, the Group also offers own delivery services to restaurants without this capability. The own delivery fleet is coordinated using proprietary dispatch software." (Delivery Hero, 2022).

The bottom-line is that even though online food delivery companies initially focused solely on delivering food, they've managed to extend their offerings beyond that basic service. This shift evolves deploying different business logics.

Massive data extraction and accumulation. Gathering essential customer data has been a necessary component for the success of food delivery businesses, even prior to their expansion into the online realm.

As former manager of the company that was one of the pioneers of food delivery business in Latvia, expert D stated "all what we needed was, customer name or nickname (usually first name was enough), order information, delivery address and payment type (cash or card). Basically, that was it...we did not collect anything else because it was unnecessary". Modest customer information collected in the past is no longer enough for complex operations of a modern food delivery business. As per European law, organizations are obligated to disclose their data collection practices to their customers or users; therefore, all FDFs provide information in their "Privacy Notice" and other documents outlining the data they collect. For illustration let's look at the Wolt's "Privacy Statement" - "We use various technologies to collect and store Usage Data and other information when the Users visit the Wolt Services, including cookies, storing website data, and using web and application telemetry." Their list contains 20 different data points, including "In addition to User Data collected from you and the Customer Organization, we process certain personal data third party service providers provide about you", "If you connect or login to your account with Facebook, Facebook shares with us personal information about you such as your profile picture, a sample of your Facebook friends and your Facebook ID", and "Where you followed a link to Wolt Services, and links you followed from Wolt Services". All firms examined in this research follow similar practices. Besides, FDFs don't focus on the instantaneous application of an extracted data. Instead, emphasis lies on the continuous flow of data creation. Data is frequently collected without specific purposes in mind. As expert A admitted: "In the initial stages, we had an abundance of data but struggled with how to make the most of it. We just collected it, simply because we had the ability to do so, but to be honest, we were uncertain about how to effectively handle and utilize it". The circumstances required for the transformation of data capital into economic capital might never come, yet this does not impede the ongoing cycle of accumulation.

Algorithmic decision making. Big data presents numerous possibilities not only for data monetization but also for automation and algorithmic decision making, as expert B stated: "We use algorithmic decision-making in a variety of areas, from logistics and delivery to customer service and marketing". Similarly, Deliveroo informs its investors that: "We use deep learning to predict future network states and advanced optimization techniques to decide rider assignment, and we have vastly more data on which to train our models." (Deliveroo, 2022).

All FDFs claim that, apart from revenue growth and cost optimization, data analytics can help predict customer behaviour and retain valuable customers by improving customer experience, reducing fraud, and providing real time offers. For example Bolt Food's privacy policy states: "Allowing you to use, or to continue to use our app and services - we may use information relating to the outcome of background checks, verification processes and behavioral analysis (such as where your behaviour appears to be consistent with money laundering or known fraudulent conduct, or is inconsistent with your previous submissions, or you appear to have deliberately hidden your true identity) to automatically decide whether we will allow you to use our apps and services, or to automatically stop you from using our apps and services.". Overall, it seems that automated decision-making is becoming increasingly common in the online food delivery industry.

Users' profiling and behavioural modification. "We may apply profiles to you based on your personal data and behavioural information (such as the pages on the website or apps you have visited or interacted with, including by reference to personal data legitimately obtained and shared with us by third parties or publicly available data). Such profiles may be used as part of our advertising, analytics and provision of support.", states Bolt food "Privacy policy". Profiling could be seen as a form of behaviour modification; however, it is worth noting that usually FDFs deny using explicit behaviour modification techniques. "At this stage we can make pretty accurate predictions about consumption in general in given

district or in given city, but it is impossible to predict individual user's choices. Look at yourself for example, how often you change your eating habits, for some trivial reasons hard to predict?", assures expert C. Expert A claims: "Oh, I don't know if we're really manipulating our customers' behaviour...maybe just some trivial things like if we offer a special deal on burgers during the weekend, I can guarantee you that burgers will make up almost half of all the food sold during those days.". Just a coincidence, probably.

Secrecy. While almost all FDFs examined in this research are publicly traded companies and therefore have a legal obligation to disclose their operations and revenue streams, they tend to downplay the significance of users' data in their BM. To disguise massive data extraction operations FDFs deploy several tactics. First, the language used in FDFs privacy policy documents tends to obscure exploitative nature of dataveillance and blur the fact that it is potentially harmful process that involves people's personal information being taken without their full consent or understanding. Rhetorical analysis of firms' "Privacy policy" and "Terms and conditions" documents revealed at least three distinct rhetorical tactics deployed. Undoubtedly, the main tactic is benefiting rhetoric. Data extraction is framed as something that is primarily done in order to improve services for the user. The commercial value of the data is not mentioned. As Uber states in their privacy notice - "Uber uses personal data to enable reliable and convenient transportation, delivery, and other products and services". Another tactic used is sidelining rhetoric when practices related to the BM are downplayed or portrayed as a minor aspect of what these firms do. Therefore, indefinite grammatical forms such as 'we might' or 'we may' are used. For example, in Wolt privacy statement is written "we may process your personal data if there is an appropriate and justifiable interest (that is, a legitimate interest) to run, maintain and develop our business or to create and maintain customer relationships". Sometimes firms use legal rhetoric and operate with such terms as "our legitimate interests" and "lawful basis: to perform and fulfil our contracts with you". All the firms analysed in this research utilize at least two of the aforementioned rhetorical tactics in varying combinations.

Another technique employed by companies is use of **dark design patterns** which involves presenting desired choices in a simplified manner. In Europe, firms are obligated to obtain users consent when collecting certain behavioral data or use personal data for marketing purposes. For example, Uber's privacy notice states: "Uber does not sell or share user personal data with third parties for their direct marketing, except with users' consent.". The trick here is that all users by default are "opt-in" by clicking the "Agree" button during the registration. As Wolt's privacy statement informs: "...you may withdraw it at any time by contacting us or amending the respective consent setting for example within the Wolt App". So, there is action needed to "opt-out" which is often neglected from user's side.

Exploring the Boundaries of Legality. All European FDFs are constantly pushing the boundaries and testing the legal grounds for their operations. Let's start with previously mentioned "dark design" patterns. These design features that manipulate users into taking actions that they may not have intended or understood, such as giving consent for data collection are example of questionable legality. This practice clearly violates the GDPR's principle of "informed consent."

Often online food delivery firms are not keen to comply with local administrative rules either. For example, in 2017, Deliveroo was accused of bypassing planning local regulation rules and unlawfully cooking thousands of takeout meals at its "dark kitchens" without a proper permit (The Guardian, 2017). The International Consortium of Investigative Journalists (ICIJ) published a report in 2021 called "The Uber Files," which consisted of thousands of documents leaked from Uber's corporate offices. The "Uber Files" revealed a range of concerning practices, including the company's ruthless tactics against competitors and regulators, and mistreatment of drivers, including those working for Uber Eats. Among the

report's key findings were revelations that Uber had created a secretive tool called "Hell" to monitor the locations of Lyft drivers and try to lure them to work for Uber instead. Additionally, the company had a dedicated team responsible for identifying and neutralizing regulators and law enforcement officials who stood in the way of Uber's expansion (ICIJ, 2021).

All largest online food delivery companies in Europe have been embroiled in legal battles over their classification of riders as self-employed contractors instead of employees. When faced with regulatory opposition, these companies call for public support for their services and mount political campaigns, supported by lobbying efforts, to effect changes in regulations. "In Europe traditionally there's been this almost black and white battle between flexibility and security and we're trying to end that trade-off right now. So, we've been speaking to a lot of governments to say we also want to offer benefits, but we need that flexible working model to, to remain.", says Deiveroo founder and CEO (Shu, 2018). Similar discourse keeps Wolt Baltic CEO Liis Ristal: "It is clear that people primarily use platforms to earn extra income due to work flexibility. If this principle of flexibility disappears from platform work, then people will most likely lose interest in this type of work. It is evident that changes in labour legislation are not only desirable but also necessary, as we no longer live in the era of industrialization when people worked a set number of hours every day in factories and when labour laws were also created. We are currently in the 21st century, where people can flexibly decide how and when to sell their work time." (Ristal, 2022).

Online food delivery companies have become powerful actors who set the rules of the game in their markets and exhibit monopolistic behaviour. In 2021 the Competition Council of Latvia identified certain conditions imposed by the food delivery firms Wolt and Blot Food, such as prolonged and constant promotions, one-sided platform actions that result in reduced operating hours or increased commission fees, and excessive demands for payments, which can create unfair treatment among companies that use platform services (KP, 2021).

The actions of European FDFs are marked by a continuous exploration of legal boundaries, as exemplified by questionable design patterns, non-compliance with local regulations, and contentious employment classifications. The power dynamics within the industry, characterized by monopolistic behaviour and strategic influence over market conditions, underscore the need for vigilant oversight and regulatory measures to ensure fair practices and protect the interests of all stakeholders involved.

Conclusion and recommendations

To sum it up, in today's rapidly developing technological world, businesses must be adaptable to survive and thrive. As a result, online food delivery firms have adopted various novel practices and new business logics that were not present in the traditional food delivery BM. The aim of this research was set to understand and to explore how DC migrates into previously distinctly analog economic domains, taking the largest food delivery firms in Europe as an example. After careful analysis of all empirical data, it is possible to conclude that all major European food supply companies have adopted at least 6 data capitalism logics.

1) In the centre of modern food delivery business lies multisided platform.

2) Big data plays an important role in this BM, so the existence of a digital platform is essential for data mining operations. Users' data extraction is institutionalized in the FDFs mobile apps, web infrastructure, "Privacy policy", "Terms and conditions" and other external and internal documents.

3) The BM of FDFs relies heavily on algorithms and other forms of automation.

4) Big data and algorithms lead to profiling of users and encourages behavioral modification.

5) Firms' reliance on users' data is hidden and shadowed.

6) As most of the technological firms, also FDFs see themselves as icebreakers and disruptive innovators, therefore often they have a little concern about established rules and regulations.

There was a time when digitalization and the internet were celebrated as the ultimate tools for liberation and true freedom, but unbeknownst to many, the emergence of DC led to an insatiable thirst for data. Now, it appears that data is the very fabric of our world. This all plays a major role in shaping BMs not just in the food delivery industry, but almost in all industries and sector of economy. It seems, that to succeed in this new brave world, firms must create some kind of digital platform, offer some useful product for free or at least push their prices as low as possible in order to build their customer base, increase data flow, and ultimately reap profits in the long-term.

Maybe data capitalism is our new normal. Still, the intertwining of data capitalism and the food delivery business raises critical questions about privacy, ethical practices, and the balance between market dominance and regulatory compliance. We as a society must discuss these things, because this this time blissful ignorance is no stance at all.

Bibliography

- 1. Amit, R., & Zott, C. (2001). Value creation in e-business. *Strategic Management Jornal, 22*(6-7), 493-520. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.187
- 2. Deliveroo. (2022). *Annual report 2021*. London: Deliveroo. Retrieved from: https://dpd-12774-s3.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/assets/9916/4856/5872/Deliveroo_plc_Annual_Report_2021.pdf
- 3. Delivery Hero. (2022). *Annual Financial Statement 2021*. Berlin: Delivery Hero. Retrieved from: https://ir.deliveryhero.com/financial-reports-and-presentations/
- Fuchs, C. (2010). Labor in Informational Capitalism and on the Internet. The Information Society, 26(3), 179-196. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/01972241003712215
- 5. Globaldata.com. (2024). *Foodservice*. Retrieved from: https://www.globaldata.com/industries-we-cover/foodservice/
- 6. Grassmann, O., Frankenberger, K., & Choudury, M. (2020). *The Business Model Navigator. The Strategies Behind the Most Successful Companies* (Second edition ed.). Harlow: Pearson.
- 7. ICIJ. (2021). The Uber Files. Retrieved from: https://www.icij.org/investigations/uber-files/
- KP. (2021. gada 30. 12). KP: "Wolt" un "Bolt Food" platformas ir nozimigi partikas nozares uznemeju sadarbibas partneri Covid-19 pandemijas laika (CP: "Wolt and Bolt Food platforms are important partners for the food industry in the Covid-19 pandemic). Retrieved from: https://www.kp.gov.lv/lv/jaunums/kp-wolt-un-bolt-food-platformas-irnozimigi-partikas-nozares-uznemeju-sadarbibas-partneri-covid-19-pandemijaslaika?utm_source=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F
- 9. Massa, L., & Tucci, C. L. (2013). Business model innovation. D. M. Mark Dodgson (ed.) (Red.), *The Oxford Handbook of Innovation Management* (lpp. 420-441). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 10. Metra, R., & Dobelniece, S. (2022). Society in The Shackles of Surveillance Capitalism. Proceedings of the 2022 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" Nº 56 (pp. 319-329). LBTU. doi:10.22616/ESRD.2022.56.031
- 11. Mordor Intelligence. (2024). *Europe Food Platform-to-Consumer Delivery Market Size*. Retrieved from: https://www.mordorintelligence.com/industry-reports/europe-food-platform-to-consumer-delivery-market
- 12. Priestland, D. (2013, 06 19). *The libertarian iCapitalists wouldn't have anything to do with the state … would they?* Retrieved from: https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2013/jun/19/libertarian-icapitalists-silicon-valley
- 13. Ristal, L. (2022. gada 09. 03). Wolt: Darbam digitalajas platformas ES ir nepieciesams vienots regulejums (Wolt: Work on digital platforms needs a single EU framework). Retrieved from: https://www.db.lv/zinas/wolt-darbamdigitalajas-platformas-es-ir-nepieciesams-vienots-regulejums-506661
- 14. Sadowski, J. (2019). When data is capital: Datafication, accumulation, and extraction. *Big Data & Society, January–June,* 1-12. doi:DOI: 10.1177/2053951718820549
- 15. Searle, J. (2010). Making the social World. The Structure of Human Civilization. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 16. Seidl, T. (2023). Commodification and Disruption. Theorizing Digital Capitalism. WEIZENBAUM JOURNAL OF THE DIGITAL SOCIETY, 3(1), w3.1.2. doi:DOI 10.34669/WI.WJDS/3.1.2
- 17. Shu, W. (2018. gada 27. 04). Will Shu, Co-founder. CNBC. Retrieved from:
- https://www.cnbc.com/2018/04/27/cnbc-transcript-will-shu-co-founder-and-ceodeliveroo.html
- 18. Srnicek, N. (2016). Platform Capitalism. Polity.
- 19. The Guardian. (2017, 10 08). *Deliveroo battles with councils over pop-up takeaway food kitchens*. Retrieved from: https://www.theguardian.com/business/2017/oct/08/deliveroo-battles-councils-over-pop-up-takeaway-food-kitchens

- 20.Zuboff, S. (2015). *Big Other. Journal of Information Technology, 30.* Retrieved from: https://papers.srn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2594754
- 21. Zuboff, S. (2019). The Age of Surveillance Capitalism: The Fight for a Human Future at the New Frontier of Power. New York: PublicAffairs.
- 22. Zuboff, S. (2022). Surveillance Capitalism or Democracy? The Death Match of Institutional Orders and the Politics of Knowledge in Our Information Civilization. Organization Theory, 3, 1–79. doi:DOI: 10.1177/26317877221129290

CONTRIBUTION OF DISPLACED UKRAINIANS TO ADDRESSING LABOUR SHORTAGES IN LATVIA

Oksana Zabko¹, Ph.D.

¹University of Latvia, Institute of Philosophy and Sociology

Abstract. As part of a broader international debate on the contribution of labour migrants to national economies, especially with the rapidly growing interest in Ukrainian refugee labour, this article examines to what extent displaced Ukrainians have provided the skills that are in shortage in Latvia. This is achieved through two research methods. First, the article analyses the statistics on the number of registered vacancies and their actual fulfilment in general and those offered to displaced Ukrainians. This allows for an analysis of the demand of displaced Ukrainians in certain sectors and occupations, contrasting them with overall labour demand in the Latvian economy. Second, an assessment of employers' needs and expectations of the migrant and the displaced Ukrainian workforce and its supply is based on 14 in-depth interviews with employers. The data show that although the displaced Ukrainians have supplied labour to sectors experiencing shortages, the employment participation of this migrant group is lower than initially expected. The main reason is the skill sets offered by the displaced Ukrainian labour force that partly mismatch to the Latvian labour market needs. The most important obstacles highlighted by Latvian companies to offer jobs to Ukrainians are their lack of Latvian language skills and knowledge of local context.

Key words: migrant workers, skills shortages, Ukrainian refugees, labour market integration.

JEL code: J2, J61, J63

Introduction

For decades, liberal economies have considered labour migrants as a solution to decreasing workforce supply in their internal markets, however, the policies vary significantly even within European Union (EU) (OECD/European Union, 2016). Free movement of labour in the EU's internal labour market has encouraged mobility from East to West European countries (Ciupijus, 2011; Engbersen et al., 2010; Favell, 2008), but policies for hiring of third-country labour migrants largely depend on national considerations and tend to be more selective. This includes following to community preference principle that implies giving advantage to EU labour force over third-country nationals, proof of qualifications and skills, and national language proficiency (OECD/European Union, 2016). While intra-EU migrant workers have freedom to choose between various jobs, although most frequently, they find themselves in less qualified positions or the secondary labour market (Ciupijus, 2011; Engbersen et al., 2010; Zabko et al., 2019), non-EU labour is often tied to a single employer (De Lange & Falkenhain, 2024), which is also the case in Latvia (Saeima, 2002).

Moreover, Latvia is hindering the hiring of non-EU migrant workers, both by using the community preference principle and by requiring migrant pay above the national average (BISS, 2017). This policy has confined employers' opportunities to recruit third-country nationals, especially to deal with low-skilled labour shortages. Although Latvian employers have been calling to introduce more favourable conditions to non-EU labour immigration (RAIT, 2022), the government continuously pursues a restrictive policy. Under these circumstances, the outbreak of the war in Ukraine in 2022 had led to an influx of a significant number of working-age Ukrainians into Latvia. Initially, Ukrainian refugees were exaggeratedly considered as potential solution to the labour shortage problem (Krievins, 2022). Thus, concerned to facilitate their immediate entry into the labour market, the Latvian government adopted a more flexible requirements for the employment of Ukrainians compared to other third-country migrants and refugees. First, they were not tied to a specific employer, second, had an exception to the Latvian language proficiency requirement, and third, could receive accelerate recognition of their qualifications in certain regulated professions

¹E-mail: oksana.zabko@lu.lv

(Zabko, 2023b). However, recent Polish experience shows that pre-war and post-war Ukrainian migrants differ in terms of their socio-demographic profile (Kubiciel-Lodzinska et al., 2024; Van Tubergen et al., 2023), entry patterns into employment and challenges thereof (Duszczyk et al., 2023; Gorny & Van der Zwan, 2024). Freedom to choose employer may contribute to Ukrainians entering undeclared work (Brzozowska, 2023). This allows presuming that integration of displaced Ukrainians into the Latvian labour market might also have different outcomes, as observed in Poland (Gomolka et al., 2023; Gorny & Van der Zwan, 2024).

Since deregulations adopted by the Latvian government allowed Ukrainians to choose their workplace by responding to any job offer, employers were invited to indicate the suitable vacancies. This has created a favourable condition to analyse the capability of Ukrainian workforce to address the labour shortages in Latvia. Moreover, secondary data from employers' interviews collected by the author for her thesis (Zabko, 2023a) allows to identify the obstacles to hire displaced Ukrainian workforce.

The aim of this article is to examine to what extent displaced Ukrainians have provided the skills that are in shortage in Latvia. The analysis is guided by three assumptions: (1) deregulations adopted by the government have made available to the Ukrainian workforce economic sectors and types of companies that have been previously inaccessible to migrants; (2) the largest Ukrainian labour demand was observed in the medium-skilled and low-skilled occupations; and (3) various barriers to Ukrainian employment in the Latvian labour market arise from the organisational culture and operational practices of companies. The study is based on two research methods: (1) statistical analysis of administrative data on labour demand and supply, including, in breakdown by vacancies offered to displaced Ukrainians, collected by the State Employment Agency and (2) qualitative data from employers' interviews. The choice of the scope of the research and methods is based on the argument that previous research on the individual-level experiences of Ukrainian migrants already provides a reasonable evidence base, while employers' perspectives have remained unexplained.

Research results and discussion

1. General trends of pre-war and post-war Ukrainian labour supply in Latvia

Before the outbreak of the war, Ukrainians, as third-country nationals, were subjects of the Latvia's restrictive immigration policy. According to the data of the Office of Citizenship and Migration Affairs, at the end of 2021, temporary residence permits in Latvia had 7 075 Ukrainian citizens, including, 4 604 as employees and 16 as high-skilled employees (PMLP, 2021).

Among all third-country nationals, in 2021, Ukrainians were the most important source of migrant labour (PMLP, 2021). However, estimations showed that the number of Ukrainian workers could be even higher, as Latvian employers found opportunities to hire them through Polish companies and, as a result, involve in undeclared work (Varpina& Fredheim, 2022). Pre-war Ukrainian labour mostly consisted of men, aged 25-54, demanded for medium-skilled occupations (BISS, 2017), working in construction and transportation industries. To offer declared work in low-paid occupations for non-EU nationals was generally not profitable due to the high administrative burden of the employment permit issuance procedure (Varpina & Fredheim, 2022).

As for the end of 2023, there were 31 612 Ukrainians with temporary residence permits in Latvia, of which 26 220 persons received permit on humanitarian reasons, 3 275 as employees and 12 as high-skilled employees (PMLP, 2023). Thus, the number of Ukrainians who stayed in Latvia based on work permits, compared to 2021, has decreased by approximately one quarter, while the potential amount of labour force

provided by displaced Ukrainians is comparatively large. Due to various reasons their entry into the labour market may have various obstacles. First, displaced Ukrainians are mostly women with dependents which arrived in Latvia based non-employment related motives (Varpina & Fredheim, 2022) that causes a higher probability of this skill mismatch to the Latvian labour market needs.

2. Methods and data

The empirical material of this article consists of, first, aggregate administrative data collected by the State Employment Agency (SEA) and second, qualitative data provided by 14 in-depth interviews with Latvian employers located in Riga economic area. The qualitative data was originally collected as a part of empirical material for dissertation of the author (Zabko, 2023a), but the data presented in this article has not previously been discussed.

The administrative data contains the statistics on the number of registered vacancies and their fulfilment to the end of each quarter for the years of 2022 and 2023 in breakdown by availability to displaced Ukrainians. The time frame allows to describe dynamics of labour demand and supply since the beginning of outbreak of the war. The data are collected as follows: (1) all vacancies that shows total labour demand (mainly suitable for Latvian residents) and (2) vacancies also opened to Ukrainian candidates. To analyse provision of skills in more detailed breakdown, the data were further divided by NACE Rev. 2 economic activities (Eurostat, 2008) and nine major occupational groups (ILO, n.d.). In data analysis, 22 original economic sectors of NACE Rev. 2 were consolidated into 10 broader groups as used by Official statistics of Latvia (2024). The number of fulfilled vacancies show actual labour supply for both types of job offer – general and that available for Ukrainians.

Both types of vacancies are not mutually exclusive. Those offered to Ukrainians are also available to the entire labour market which means that they form a part of the total number of vacancies. This indicates some data limitations regarding the real contribution of displaced Ukrainians to the Latvian labour market as the vacancies might be fulfilled by any job seeker, not Ukrainians exclusively. With regard to fulfilment of vacancies, employers are not obliged to report at SEA any details of candidates. Although the data on displaced Ukrainians having declared employment status in Latvia is recorded by the State Revenue Service, that information cannot been compared directly with the labour demand declared at SEA. As both information sources have their own limitations, the author consider the comparison of data on demand and fulfilment of vacancies registered at SEA as more coherent approach. To overcome the lack of information about the nationality of those who filled the vacancies, the author uses aggregated data on Ukrainians who received a single employment start-up allowance that is special incentive for facilitation their entry into Latvian labour market (Zabko, 2023b).

Structured in-depth interviews with Latvian employers characterize employers' needs and expectations regarding migrant labour in general and displaced Ukrainian labour and an assessment of their supply. This issue was a part of broader research interest to collect a variety of labour attraction strategies, especially, if employers experiencing labour shortages. The data were gathered between January and July 2022, so the initial guidelines that included overarching questions about employers' attitude towards non-EU migrant labour were adjusted by expanding the inquiry of their expectations towards displaced Ukrainians. Consequently, the limitation of these data is the reflection of the short-term trends, as at the time of data collection, Ukrainians have just entered the Latvian labour market. Thus, the data analysed have a shortage to provide an overview of the dynamics of employers' opinions throughout the entire period. However, their value lies in the unique insight into the immediate adjustments made by Latvian employers in anticipation of the influx of Ukrainian labour, less accurate discovered in retrospective interviews. Relevant sections of

interviews were thematically coded by the author, at the second stage, aggregating initial codes into more meaningful groups and usable concepts (Belgrave & Seide, 2019).

3. Accumulation of displaced Ukrainians into Latvian labour market

Displaced Ukrainians has increased labour force available in Latvia by 1.0-1.5% (But et al., 2023). According to the SEA, since the outbreak of war, single employment start-up allowance was received by 14 018 persons and single self-employed start-up allowance – by 320 persons. The largest share of employment start-up allowance was received in 2022 (10 303 persons vs 3 715 persons in 2023) indicating that the supply of displaced Ukrainian labour has reached its maximum already in 2022 (also presented in Figure 1 and Figure 2). For self-employment start-up allowance the trend is opposite – the largest share is received in 2023 (79 and 241, respectively) which may suggest that with accumulation knowledge about options available in Latvian labour market, self-employment seems the most attractive.

The following figures show labour demand and supply in various breakdowns as described in methods section. They are organised in the same manner. The left axis shows number of vacancies presented (either labour demand or supply), the right axis shows share of vacancies which relates to Ukrainian labour. In a breakdown by sectors (Figure 3), public administration and education were excluded as had offered Ukrainians an insignificant number of vacancies. In a breakdown by occupational groups (Figure 4), managers were excluded for the same reason. The analysis of the demand or supply for Ukrainian labour is made based on comparison of the total number of vacancies offered in a sector or occupation and the percentage of vacancies attributed to Ukrainians. Important feature of data is the lag in time, which manifests as a higher number of filled vacancies (labour supply) in those reference periods that follow the increase in the number of registered vacancies (labour demand). Due to limitation of the length of the article, all conclusions regarding the data are given in the short for at the end of each data panel.



Notes: Total labour demand – number of vacancies registered in the respective period; UA labour demand – number and share of vacancies available for Ukrainians Source: State Employment Agency; author's calculations

Fig. 1. Total labour demand and Ukrainian labour demand in 2022-2023

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 331-341 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.033



Notes: Total labour supply – all fulfilled vacancies in the respective period; UA labour supply – number and share of filled vacancies available for Ukrainians, * indicates that vacancy can be fulfilled by any candidate irrespective nationality

Source: State Employment Agency; author's calculations

Fig. 2. Total labour supply and labour supply for vacancies open to Ukrainians in 2022-2023

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 331-341 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.033



Notes: Total labour demand – number of vacancies registered in the respective period; total labour supply – all fulfilled vacancies in the respective period; UA labour demand – share of vacancies available for Ukrainians, UA labour supply*, % - share of filled vacancies available for Ukrainians considering that it can be fulfilled by any candidate irrespective nationality Source: State Employment Agency; author's calculations

Fig. 3. Labour demand and supply in breakdown by economic sectors

In breakdown by economic sectors (Figure 3), the highest Ukrainian labour demand was observed in industry (mining and manufacturing), trade, accommodation and food service activities and construction. Like in Poland (Gorny & Van der Zwan, 2024), industry and trade, accommodation and food service activities are new sectors for migrant labour in Latvia. However, the data also show that Ukrainian labour was demanded in human health and social work activities that is direct response to government initiatives to decrease a burden for Ukrainian entry into these sectors.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 331-341 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.033



Notes: Total labour demand – number of vacancies registered in the respective period; total labour supply – all fulfilled vacancies in the respective period; UA labour demand – share of vacancies available for Ukrainians, UA labour supply, % - share of filled vacancies available for Ukrainians considering that it can be fulfilled by any candidate irrespective nationality Source: State Employment Agency; author's calculations

Fig. 4. Labour demand and supply in breakdown by major occupational groups

In breakdown by occupations (Figure 4), the highest demand was observed elementary occupations, craft and related trades workers and service and sales workers major groups. However, in 2022, there was also a certain level of demand for Ukrainian labour in high-skilled positions of professionals and technical and associate professionals.

4. Employers' perspectives on the employment of non-EU migrants and displaced Ukrainians

Estimations calculated in autumn 2022 show that 5% of Latvian companies employed third-country nationals. There was a clear trend that the larger the company, the more likely they had hired non-EU migrants. Most frequently, the companies were hired displaced Ukrainians (41%), followed by the recruitment of other non-EU migrants already residing in Latvia with employment rights (35%), but 24% employers had hired third-country nationals according to the general procedure (RAIT, 2022). The preference for recruitment methods allowing to avoid the complex procedure of inviting non-EU migrant labour is consistent with the results of employers' interviews. They show that the general invitation procedure is perceived as a remarkable administrative burden: "*It is finances and time-consuming. You will never be sure that the person will fully comply with all the requirements of the Office of Migration Affairs."* (Employer_9) Consequently, prior the influx of Ukrainian refugees, employers assessed whether investments in administrative procedures for employing migrants would give return.

Prior to the adoption of deregulations, public sector enterprises were generally inaccessible to migrant labour for a variety of reasons. Here, arguments of validation of qualifications and language skills proficiency were both important, but the dominant reason against employing migrants was the public good, in which the community preference principle had a significant value.

"We are not a private company, we have to be very careful because we tend to be visited by the control authorities and checked for squander funds. The concern is why we don't take a [Latvian] citizen and bring someone from elsewhere." (Employer_4)

Government support for the reception and employment of Ukrainian refugees changed the meaning of this value, thus allowing public sector employers that felt a labour shortage to offer their vacancies.

Validation of qualifications and recognition of skills acquired outside the EU also emerges as a major barrier to third-country migrants entering certain high- and even medium-skilled occupations, always in regulated professions.

"Migrants also have problems with the validation of their education documents. [...] Education is definitely different. [...] We have the idea that we have recognised European [diplomas], but third-country diplomas are not recognised anywhere. Diplomas have to be validated and most of candidates have to be examined, for example, doctors, in Latvian [language]." (Employer_11)

Accordingly, recognition of the qualifications of Ukrainian health workers, teachers and sports coaches under a simplified procedure allowed them to work in their original professions. However, some employers admit that the real skills possessed by Ukrainians in these professions are lower than those needed in Latvia, which have prevented them from hiring displaced Ukrainians.

"We had high hopes for the Ukrainian nurses, but we had few candidates. [...] We did not take them. We have a standard that we have to pass. Some don't know [... how to perform the task] as good as we need. There are communication problems or no experience. I am speaking about skills." (Employer_11)

In addition, to professional skills and knowledge, certain high-skilled jobs (such as in construction, law, and even IT) also require knowledge of the local Latvian context and legal framework, which the Ukrainian workforce does not possess, but which can be accumulated through additional education and training. There is no evidence that either Latvian employers or displaced Ukrainians have taken any measures to overcome this obstacle, but this issue deserves further examination.

The findings of this study expand prior knowledge and the strong belief thereof that the Ukrainian workforce is able to supply the Latvian labour market with skills that are still needed but no longer attractive

to young people entering the labour market. With regard to displaced Ukrainians, employers indicated that the skills that Ukrainians had normally supplied to Latvia before the war were supplied significantly less since the outbreak of the war, due to the different socio-demographic and skills composition of the inflowed labour. Thus, this article emphasizes that both experiences – addressing labour shortages and skills mismatches – are present in the Latvian labour market since the influx of additional workforce from Ukraine.

The importance of Latvian language proficiency appears both as a rule (fixed in legislation) and as a need determined by the organisational culture of national companies. The last is expressed as: "In our company, all documentation and instructions are currently only in Latvian. We cannot hire employees who are not instructed in a language they know." (Employer_3) and "Lack of Latvian language skills is a barrier to building a robust company culture." (Employer_12)

International companies with English as the main communication tool are less demanding for Latvian language proficiency. However, according to employers, Ukrainian workforce persisting in Latvia also has poor English language skills.

Release the Latvian language requirement for Ukrainians (Zabko, 2023b) made it possible to work them in companies that had previously imposed a probationary period and strict conditions for the migrant workers to learn the national language there while. In the case of displaced Ukrainians, Russian has become the main language of communication in companies.

"The [national language] requirement is not applied to displaced Ukrainians. Therefore, we currently translate employment contracts and job descriptions into Ukrainian. Most of the Ukrainians who already work for us and have expressed their willingness to work for us understand Russian. It [appears] to be the working language." (Employer_10)

Some other aspects of displaced Ukrainian lives, such as limited access to transportation and lack of flexible childcare services, have created barriers to any participation in employment. Although employers seek for the possibilities of how they could support Ukrainians, in choosing these methods, they do not go beyond the set of support mechanisms that already exist in their organizations.

"Displaced Ukrainians are mostly received accommodation outside Riga, somewhere in the surrounding municipalities, which immediately entails a transport problem. Many of them are families with children, and as soon as there is a smaller child to take care of, they need a nanny, that's another problem. [...] We have hired [Ukrainians], but I certainly couldn't say that it has solved the labour shortage problem. [...] We can be flexible to a certain extent, for example with flexibility of shifts." (Employer_13)

At the time when the interviews were conducted, both an influx of Ukrainians and their return was observed in Latvia, thus, employers mentioned uncertainty as another obstacle to their employment. "*Our concern is that we invest in training, but they leave* [back] *after three months, we can't really rely on them."* (Employer_11) This finding is consistent with Dustmann et al. (2017). However, it is worth examining how relevant this aspect is now, two years later, as Gorny and Van der Zwan (2024) have observed the changes of attitudes over time in the case of Poland.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Although displaced Ukrainians has partly provided labour for certain economic sectors experiencing shortages, their contribution is limited and exhausted at the end of 2022.

2) The highest Ukrainian labour demand was observed in industry (mining and manufacturing), trade, accommodation and food service activities and construction sectors. This intertwines with the demand of labour in elementary occupations, craft and related trades workers, service and sales workers groups.

This proves the research assumption that displaced Ukrainians have been most demanded into mediumand low-skilled occupations.

3) Deregulations adopted by the government were supportive of the employment of Ukrainians. They were able to solve some, albeit significant, obstacles regarding validation of qualification and requirements to Latvian language proficiency, as far as they created structural constraints. The data show that these decisions opened certain occupations (and therefore economic sectors) to the Ukrainian workforce that are generally unavailable to migrant labour, thus, proving the second research assumption. However, government decisions were not able to impact the requirement for the Latvian language proficiency if it resulted from the operational practices of companies. This proves the third research assumption on barriers to Ukrainian employment driven by the organisational culture.

4) Among the displaced Ukrainians there is a workforce that has not yet integrated into the labour market or which, despite the demand in higher-skilled jobs, is at risk of getting stuck in low-skilled occupations. The overarching reason is the skill sets offered mismatch to the Latvian labour market needs. To facilitate further labour market integration of the displaced Ukrainians, both up- and re-skilling and Latvian language training appears as important precondition.

Acknowledgements

The author is grateful to Ilze Berzina, head of statistics division of the State Employment Agency about valuable comments regarding the administrative data analysed in the article. The author's work was supported by the research "Reception of migrants under conditions of uncertainty: governance and local level inclusion" funded by the Latvian Council of Science (grant number: LZP-2023/1-0227).

Bibliography

- Belgrave, L. L., & Seide, K. (2019). Coding for Grounded Theory. In: A. Bryant, K. Charmaz (eds) The SAGE Handbook of Current Developments in Grounded Theory (pp. 167-185). London: SAGE Publications. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781526485656
- BISS Baltic Institute of Social Sciences (2017). *Trešo valstu pilsoņu situācijas izpēte Latvijā 2017*. [Study of the situation of third-country nationals in Latvia 2017]. Rīga: Baltic Institute of Social Sciences. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://ppdb.mk.gov.lv/datubaze/treso-valstu-pilsonu-situacijas-izpete-latvija-2017-2/
- 3. Brzozowska, A. (2023). 'All is not yet lost here.' The role of aspirations and capabilities in migration projects of Ukrainian migrants in Poland. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 49*(9), 2373-2390. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2022.2157804
- But, T., Pulina, t., & Joukl, M. (2023). The influence of the labor potential of the Ukrainian population's migration to the EU countries during the war. *Academy Review*, 58(1), 220-230. https://doi.org/10.32342/2074-5354-2023-1-58-16
- Ciupijus, Z. (2011). Mobile Central Eastern Europeans in Britain: Successful European Union citizens or disadvantaged labour migrants? *Work, Employment and Society, 25*(3), 540-550. https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017011407962
- De Lange, T., & Falkenhain, M. (2024). Precarity prevented or reinforced? Migrants' right to change employers in the recast of the EU Single Permit Directive. *Frontiers in Sociology*, *8*, 1267235. https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2023.1267235
- Dustmann, C., Fasani, F., Frattini, T., Minale, L., & Schönberg, U. (2017). On the economics and politics of refugee migration. *Economic Policy*, 32(91), 497–550. https://doi.org/10.1093/epolic/eix008
- Duszczyk, M., Górny, A., Kaczmarczyk, P., & Kubisiak, A. (2023). War refugees from Ukraine in Poland one year after the Russian aggression. Socioeconomic consequences and challenges. *Regional Science Policy & Practice*, 15(1), 181-199. https://doi.org/10.1111/rsp3.12642
- Engbersen, G., Okólski, M., Black, R., & Panţîru, C. (2010). Introduction: Working out a way from East to West: EU enlargement and labour migration from Central and Eastern Europe. In G. Engbersen, M. Okólski, R. Black, & C. Panţîru (eds) A Continent Moving West?: EU Enlargement and Labour Migration from Central and Eastern Europe (pp. 7-22). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press. http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt46n229.3
- 10. Eurostat (2008). NACE Rev. 2. Statistical classification of economic activities in the European Community. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3859598/5902521/KS-RA-07-015-EN.PDF.pdf/dd5443f5-b886-40e4-920d-9df03590ff91?t=1414781457000

- 11. Favell, A. (2008). The New Face of East–West Migration in Europe. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 34*(5), 701-716. https://doi.org/10.1080/13691830802105947
- 12. Gomółka, K., Gawrycka, M., & Kuc-Czarnecka, M. (2023). The Employment of Ukrainians as an Opportunity to Fill the Labour Market in Poland – Selected Issues. *Studia Europejskie – Studies in European Affairs*, 2-2023, 135-153. https://doi.org/10.33067/SE.2.2023.8
- 13. Górny, A. & Van der Zwan, R. (2024). Mobility and labor market trajectories of Ukrainian migrants to Poland in the context of the 2014 Russian invasion of Ukraine. *European Societies*. https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2023.2298425
- 14.ILO International Labour Organisation (n.d.). *ISCO-08 International Standard Classification of Occupations*. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://www.ilo.org/public/english/bureau/stat/isco/isco08/
- 15. Krieviņš, R. (2022, 5 April). Ukraiņu bēgļi neatrisinās darbaroku trūkumu Latvijā. *TV3 Ziņas*. [Ukrainian refugees will not solve the shortage of workers in Latvia. TV3 News]. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://zinas.tv3.lv/latvija/sabiedriba/ukrainu-begli-neatrisinas-darba-roku-trukumu-latvija/
- 16. Kubiciel-Lodzińska, S., Golebiowska, K., Pachocka, M. & Dąbrowska, A. (2024). Comparing pre-war and forced Ukrainian migrants in Poland: Challenges for the labour market and prospects for integration. *International Migration, 62*, 236-251. https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.13213
- 17. OECD/European Union (2016). *Recruiting Immigrant Workers: Europe 2016.* Recruiting Immigrant Workers. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264257290-en
- 18. Official statistics of Latvia (2024). Statistical database > Labour market > Employment > Employed. Table NBL061. Employed by economic activity (NACE Rev. 2.) and region 2019 – 2023. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://data.stat.gov.lv/pxweb/en/OSP_PUB/START__EMP__NB__NBLA/NBL061
- PMLP Pilsonības un migrācijas lietu pārvalde (2021). Statistika: Uzturēšanās atļaujas 2021. TUA derīgas uz 31.12.2021. [Statistics. Residence permits in 2021, valid until 31.12.2021]. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://www.pmlp.gov.lv/lv/statistika-uzturesanas-atlaujas-2021
- 20. PMLP Pilsonības un migrācijas lietu pārvalde (2023). Statistika: Uzturēšanās atļaujas 2023 TUA derīgas uz 31.12.2023 [Statistics. Residence permits in 2023, valid until 31.12.2023]. Retrieved 28 March 2024 from the site: https://www.pmlp.gov.lv/lv/statistika-uzturesanas-atlaujas-2023-0
- 21. RAIT RAIT Custom Research Baltic (2022). *Trešo valstu pilsoņu piesaiste darba tirgū*. [Attracting third-country nationals to the labour market]. Rīga: RAIT Custom Research Baltic. Retrieved 28 March 2024 from the site: https://www.nva.gov.lv/lv/media/15987/download?attachment
- 22. Saeima of the Republic of Latvia (2002, 31 October). Imigrācijas likums. [Immigration Law]. Retrieved 28 March 2024 from the site: https://likumi.lv/ta/id/68522-imigracijas-likums
- 23. Van Tubergen, F., Kogan, I., Kosyakova, Y., Pötzschke, S. (2023). Self-selection of Ukrainian refugees and displaced persons in Europe. *Journal of Refugee Studies,* fead089. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/fead089
- 24. Varpina, Z., & Fredheim, K. (2022). Ukrainian asylum seekers in Latvia: the circumstances of destination choice. *Migration Letters*, 19(6), 819-831. https://doi.org/10.33182/ml.v19i6.2364
- 25. Žabko, O. (2023a). Profesionālās mobilitātes analīze: darba tirgus aģentu mijiedarbība un indivīdu kapitāla pārvaldības stratēģijas. Promocijas darbs. [Analysis of professional mobility: the interaction of labour market agents and strategies for managing the capital of individuals. Doctoral thesis]. Rīga: Latvijas Universitātes Sociālo zinātņu fakultāte. Retrieved on 28 March 2024 from the site: https://www.szf.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/szf_faili/aktualitates/2023/Prezentacijas/Zabko_Oksana_promocijas_d arbs.pdf
- 26. Žabko, O. (2023b). Izņēmuma elastība: Kādas atkāpes no Latvijas līdzšinējās patvēruma meklētāju uzņemšanas prakses pieļāva Ukrainas bēgļu atbalsta tiesiskais regulējums. [Exceptional flexibility: What deviations from Latvia's previous refugee reception practice did the Ukrainian refugee support legal framework allow?]. Akadēmiskā Dzīve, 59, 42-52. https://doi.org/10.22364/adz.59.05
- 27.Žabko, O., Fangen, K., & Endresen, S. (2019). Latvian Migrants' Circular or Permanent Migration to Norway: Economic and Social Factors. *Nordic Journal of Migration Research*, 9(1), 61-79. http://doi.org/10.2478/njmr-2019-0007

ECO-SCHOOLS AS RESOURCE AND INSTRUMENT FOR MUNICIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE DEVELOPMENT: TOWARDS COMMUNICATION FRAME FOR COLLABORATION PARTNERSHIPS

Daniels Truksans¹, MEnv.sc.; Merle Dreessen², BSc;

Ieva Freimane-Mihailova³, MNat.sc; Patricija Pablaka⁴, Bstud.; Liga Biezina⁵, MEnv.sc;

Roberts Pugulis⁶, MEnv.sc.; Raimonds Ernsteins⁷, Dr.habil.paed.

^{1, 3-7} Environmental Science Department, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia
 ² Sustainable Development and Learning Institute, Leuphana University, Luneburg, Germany

Abstract. With more than 200 educational institutions, covering all statutory levels of education system, participating in the international eco-schools program in Latvia, there is a large potential for combining joint efforts and collaborating with external stakeholders to increase scope, range, and effectiveness of the program's aims, particularly, in relation to local communities and municipalities. On the other hand, local municipalities are faced with challenges such as administrative resource scarcity and reachout to the communities, while having to reach their targets for sustainable regional and local development. As collaboration partnerships between eco-schools and municipalities have not yet been neither widely developed nor researched, this study follows a case-study-research approach to investigate what these already existent collaborations experienced and what their benefits and limitations are. There are examples of the two, so-called, municipal Eco-councils being established in Valmiera and Ropazi municipalities as environmental institutional and collaborative governance instruments for municipalities in Latvia.

Initially focus group discussions in both municipalities, including members of the municipal Eco-council, were held and evaluated focusing on participant's perception of the council as part of Eco-schools developments and a mutual collaboration instrument. The discussions were followed by in-depth semi structured stakeholder interviews later, after Covid-19 and administratively territorial reform for municipalities, depicting the current state of the both eco-ouncils, its recent and future developments, in order to learn and to spread gained experiences. Also other complementary study methods of the case study research framework were applied - document studies, express survey, local visits and observations. Additionally, a practice case, where both main stakeholders actually realized their partnership - pilot food waste sorting implementation bottom-up initiated by Eco-schools - being positively valued as collaboration partnership by all stakeholders involved.

The results underline the potential of such collaboration partnerships between eco-schools and local municipalities to support and upkeep of eco-school activities, foster mutual learning and information exchange to reach wider audiences, increase program effectiveness and lower hindrances like financial constraints. They also stress the importance of intrinsic motivation, time and financial resource availability for the successful implementation of eco-school out-of-door activities as well as the continuation and overall effectiveness of multi-stakeholder collaboration platforms like the municipal Eco-council for (eco)schools and municipalities collaboration for local communities/municipality environmental governance. In order to further upgrade and sustainably develop such collaboration partnerships, there were stressed the need for more development and complementary employment of the whole set of communication instruments as not only information and participation, but particularly also additional education/training activities and pro-environmental behavior enhancement work – an action-oriented and collaborative environmental communication frame.

Key words: eco-schools; eco-council, municipal and community environmental governance; environmental communication; collaboration.

JEL code: Q01, R58

Introduction

Local municipal environmental management still has to be improved in Latvia and facing the situation that municipalities currently have limited capacities and resources and that environmental management is

¹ E-mail: daniels.truksans@videsfonds.lv

² E-mail: merle.dreessen@stud.leuphana.de ³ E-mail: ieva.freimane2012@gmail.com

⁴ E-mail: ppablaka@gmail.com

⁵ E-mail: liga.biezina@valmierasnovads.lv

⁶ E-mail: roberts.pugulis@lu.lv

⁷ E-mail: raimonds.ernsteins@lu.lv

not a priority for municipal development (having priorities in socio-economic fields) the often unused potential of existing of so called eco-schools or Green Flag schools in the municipality in their relation of their high involvement into community development and environmental management in the current municipality, needs to be recognized. Unfortunately, eco-schools are often not seen as a resource nor used as an instrument to reach aims of environmental management. Even though there are different types of contacts between eco-schools and municipalities and some other local stakeholders, effective organization and management of this municipal eco-school partnership have been seen only in two municipalities in Latvia even though altogether there are more than 200 eco-schools in 119 municipalities (before the administrative-territorial reform and after the reform 43 municipalities) in Latvia (Saeima, 2020).

Ropazi and Valmiera municipalities were the only ones so far who have had the experience of establishing so-called municipal "Eco-councils", as a coordination instrument of their collaboration with eco-schools and in case of Ropazi in the Eco-council there were not only municipal and school representatives, but also representatives of non-governmental organizations. However, the positive functioning of both eco-councils was kind of interrupted during Covid-19 pandemic and also by taking the case of the administrative territorial reform in Latvia, where also both former municipalities of Ropazi and Valmiera were involved and having quite crucial changes. This study follows the thesis that collaboration between municipalities and eco-schools lies in the interest of both parties, whereas the municipality is getting new capacities and opportunities of an existing resource and the eco-schools are able to realize more impactful work, widening their scope of impact on the larger community outside their school also including partnerships with other stakeholders. This fulfills the sixth step and aim of the eco-schools 7-step-methodology to have an impact on the surrounding community and establish partnerships according to the international guidelines of the FEE standing for Federation of Environmental Education in Europe (FEE, 2003) as initiators and international coordinators of Eco-schools program.

The Green Flag certification of the eco-schools program is internationally recognized to be a best practice example for an integrative environmental governance instrument that uses education and voluntary efforts to promote pro-environmental behavior. In a previous study by Truksans et al. (2020) it is suggested that there is still a lot of unused potential of the eco-school program, especially in regard to widening its scope to further develop pro-environmental governance. In the study the action-oriented environmental communication framework is used to evaluate the eco-school program, which includes four environmental communication instruments: environmental information and education, (public) participation and pro-environmental behavior aiming to improve environmental communication in a complementary and collaborative manner. The study findings conclude that both the Green Flag program and the Blue Flag program (also coordinated by FEE) could be used in order to expand municipal pro-environmental governance and foster overall sustainable development, with the Blue Flag program laying a special focus on sustainable coastal management and environmental protection and the Green Flag program showing further potential to promote pro-environmental behavior and improve educational institutions and approaches (ibid.).

In another previous study done by Truksans et al. (2017) the limitations of the eco-school program as an example for an integrative approach of pro-environmental behavior promotion, are investigated as well as responsive governance strategies to overcome them; being infrastructure, economic-financial, communication, administrative, planning, political and legal instruments. Although the first two categories are often dominating, overcoming obstacles in communication and delivery of the four environmental communication instruments is crucial for successful environmental governance. Eco-schools activities and educational approaches have proven to be very successful in improving stakeholder's as well as public's pro-environmental behavior, especially when the four instruments of the action-oriented environmental communication framework are used with their complementary combination, evaluated and planned using measurable indicators (ibid.).

Hence, the topic of the following study is relevant because the potential of Eco-Schools to promote local environmental governance is still underutilized. By using environmental education and the Eco-Schools programme, municipalities contribute to the success of the Education for Sustainable Development objectives and to the participation of their communities in environmental issues. The study aims to investigate the role of existing municipal Eco-councils and their complementary participation and contribution to the both, the local municipal environmental governance and environmental education in the schools, in particular view of the recognition, cooperation and application of the local Eco-Schools programme capacity and activities as a resource and environmental management instrument in the municipalities of Valmiera and Ropazi. To achieve mentioned, the following tasks must be carried out: to develop the overview of the Eco-Schools programme's local societal contributions by mapping the out-of-school activities of existing particular Eco-Schools practice; to study the development, achieved results and perspectives of the municipal Eco-councils in both municipalities in the context of municipal environmental governance; to analyze and summarize the practice qualities of two thematic collaboration case studies realized (biodegradable waste sorting and bike a piloting case in Valmiera municipality since realized in municipal and eco-schools partnership; to gain related insights and evaluations of all involved main stakeholders, including municipalities and Eco-schools; to apply for studies the environmental communication complementary instruments frame as potential enhancement and framing instrument for mutual collaborations; lastly but not least, to propose recommendations for Eco-schools, community and municipal environmental management development.

Overview of international studies

There has been an increase in literature exploring the effectiveness of eco-schools to support aims of Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) and sustainable regional development. Furthermore, improvements of pro-environmental behavior and awareness in participants were investigated in a multitude of case study research applications all over the globe (Moreno-Fernández, 2016; Truksans and Ernsteins, 2017; Sousa, 2022). The potential of extensive collaboration between teachers participating in the eco-school program, nationally and internationally, has been researched in a study by Alves and Araya (2019). Their results recognized communication and collaboration platforms, partnerships of eco-school's educators and national operators as a useful instrument for eco-school's effectiveness, program's aims and ESD (ibid.).

In Latvia, environmental education is mostly implemented through the Foundation for Environmental Education's Eco-Schools program, in which schools both observe and reduce the impact of environmental problems, involving in its activity the whole school, municipality, and community. Eco-Schools work according to the principles of the environmental governance system (ISO 14000 series (EEA, n.d.)) and use environmental education as a tool to inform pupils about important skills such as critical thinking, problem-solving and decision-making. Eco-school programs and environmental education are also used as an instrument to broaden students' local-global perspective as these skills mentioned before can encourage not only students but also municipal residents to be aware of planetary citizenship roles, taking action beyond the school surrounding environment (Moreno-Fernández, 2017). The ideas and information that schools learn about environmental education also influence children's families and the local community, often changing their habits. This benefit also has a potential impact on the local community, as school

projects and activities tend to involve the local municipality by providing information on the benefits of the local economy, how the community contributes to climate change and, of course, how the community can mitigate it (Díaz-López et al., 2023), which can contribute effectively to the development of environmental governance principles. We have to look for ways to change parents' and local interest groups' attitudes, and build local communities that are aware of their habits and reduce their impact on the environment.

Research on the effectiveness of education for sustainable development has shown that it works at a theoretical level, with young people gaining knowledge about the SDGs and understanding possible solutions to environmental problems, but it is difficult to observe how young people can apply and promote this knowledge in practice (Boeve-de Pauw et al., 2015). The practical application of knowledge can be enhanced by the involvement of local authorities in the implementation of environmental education. Local authorities can use ESD as a tool for their environmental governance, involving young people and helping them to achieve their sustainable development goals, and they can improve their local communities through participatory action.

Currently, 59 000 schools from 74 countries in the world do participate in the Eco-Schools programme (Eco-Schools global, n.d.), including above 200 Latvian educational institutions, at all levels of education – from pre-schools to universities. Schools that receive Eco-schools status actively implement environmental education in their schools, promoting and integrating sustainable development principles into the school curriculum, as well as actively involving and informing the surrounding community about environmental issues. Such cooperation, involving the local community, can contribute to awareness and behavior change on environmental issues, however, in Latvia, schools are still the most proactive in establishing cooperation, and most Latvian municipalities do not make much use of environmental education instruments as a potential environmental management tool. Currently, only two municipalities are known and both case studies of Valmiera and Ropazi, discussed in this paper.

In order to build such a cooperation platform, not only is it important to involve the local community and young people, it is also important to support teachers, who are willing to coordinate the process. Currently, there is no platform that allows Eco-school teachers and students to communicate with other Eco-School representatives outside their region or other parts of the world to exchange with experience and good practice examples, even though this program has shown great impact on teachers' professional development in ESD. To encourage further support for teachers it would be significant to not only adjust the teaching methodologies to be more focused on public involvement and community action (Moreno-Fernández, 2017), it would also be suggested to update the Eco-school concept, as to empower schools to stay active for long (Lysgaard et al., 2015).

In order to study cases, but also eventually to ensure the success of eco-school's activities, the model of action oriented environmental communication and collaboration can be applied (Truksans and Ernsteins, 2020). This model defines four complementary instruments for enhancement of environmental governance at all decision making levels and sectors, but also for collaboration and overall These four communication developments. instruments are (i) environmental information, (ii) environmental education and training, (iii) environmental (public) involvement and participation (iv) pro-environmental actions and behavior. These four groups of instruments are to be used complementary and interactively and, obviously, shall include selective targeting of a multitude of all related stakeholders from all key governance segments; state, municipality, businesses, local society/citizens and four groups of mediators, that each can be further split into selective subgroups depending on the aims of the environmental communication in particular cases of municipalities. The group of Mediators' is composed of media stakeholders, NGOs, formal/non-formal educators (including libraries,

information centers etc.) and researchers/scientists, also particularly at the local level etc. (Truksans and Ernsteins, 2020).

In the policy planning cycle communication is a key element to ensure the effectiveness of governance approaches. Recent research in Latvia has investigated the growing application of the environmental communication collaboration model in practice, e.g. in the last Latvian Environmental Policy Guidelines 2014-2020, and demonstrates positive changes in environmental governance effects for example in public environmental awareness (Truksans et al., 2017). Unfortunately, implementation of the environmental communication framework in practice is limited due to several factors. On the one hand, environmental information, education, and monitoring that includes participatory elements are limited. On the other hand, public participation in environmental decision-making, integration of sustainability principles in development planning, experience sharing and peer learning at the municipal level as well as incentives and information flow promoting pro-environmental behavior are still insufficient on all governance levels (ibid.).

The research results suggest that more interest and support from local governments is needed and not only for environmental education, but also communication, in order to succeed. By using environmental communication as one of the instruments of environmental governance, municipalities are able to promote a change in the habits of citizens, greening of urbanized areas, participation of citizens in community building and protection of the surrounding environment.

Case studies areas and research methodology

Initially there were chosen two municipalities as the only ones in Latvia have had developed municipal Eco-councils as cooperation and eventual partnership platform (institutional governance instrument), where municipal staff (mainly environmental sector, but not only) and local Eco-schools (also known as Green Flag schools) eco-coordinators were jointly working. Those municipalities are Valmiera town municipality, but later after administrative territorial reform being now county municipality, as well as, Ropazi rural municipality, but also increasing its size in 2021.

Valmiera town municipality (later county). After the Law of the Administrative Territories and Populated Areas was passed in 2020 an administrative-territorial reform took place in all of Latvia in 2021 (Saeima, 2020), this reform also affected Valmiera, as its city municipality was expanded and joined with eight surrounding rural municipalities to one administrative county municipal body. The county municipality of Valmiera centers around its Hanseatic city of Valmiera located 110 km from national capital and around the river Gauja and the Gauja national park in Latvia's east-north Vidzeme region. Valmiera city have 24,750 inhabitants and as a strong industrial center is shaping the city's development (Valmieras Novads, 2021). Sustainability is an integrated sector of the municipality's governance. Environmental sustainability and environmental education are mostly dealt with in the following four units of municipality; Branding and public relations unit (position: manager of environmental communication projects), Development unit, Natural resources management unit and the Department of Education. In 2015 it was initiated and Valmiera's council members signed an Environmental Declaration which expresses commitments towards the city's sustainable development. The declaration also included the aim to promote environmental education in educational institutions of Valmiera municipality and using the municipality's capacities to inform, educate and involve the public in environmental issues etc. and environmental education in cooperation with all interest groups (Environmental Declaration of the City of Valmiera, 2015).

There are a total of nine educational institutions in Valmiera that participate in the international ecoschool program and have been awarded with the Green Flag award in the past years. The participating institutions range from all educational levels starting at the preschool level, over primary and secondary education to one higher education institution certified as an "eco-university". The participating educational institutions are mainly from the public sector, with one exception of a private school. The eco-schools are all following the seven steps to successfully complete the eco-school program, which includes conducting a variability of projects and activities to keep the Green flag status. They are covering all areas of possible topics provided by the national head organization FEE and are working on e.g. developing competencies and habits revolving the conscious and sustainable usage of scarce resources like water or learning about the concept of circular economy or renewable energies using a multitude of educational approaches (FEE, 2003).

Ropazi rural municipality. In 2021, after the law of Administrative Territorial Reform passed in Latvia, Ropazi municipality along with Garkalne and Stopini rural municipalities, and Vangazi city municipality were united, and Ropazi county municipality was established. The center of Ropazi county municipality is Ulbroka village located just 34 km outside the capital city Riga, along the left coast of the river Liela Jugla. The municipality is now new developments oriented — the department for development is practicing community involvement, sustainability and environmental management in the municipality. Environmental impact assessments are carried out by the municipality and subsequently discussed in public consultations. The current Ropazi municipality's sustainable development strategy 2022-2038 ensures the continuity of the former municipality plans, inherited defined values and strategic objectives. Current strategy states a long term goal - Ropazi municipality will become "a greener region", by setting a priority to contribute to climate change mitigation. It will be done by emission reductions: renewable energy introduction for resource saving, sorting waste and water management, upgrading heating installations, introducing zero-waste technologies in manufacturing for public sector and households, thus contributing to the transition to a circular economy (Ropazu novads, 2022). There are four educational institutions participating in the eco-school program from Ropazi municipality (Ekoskolas, n.d.), that are working in the environmental sector and raising awareness of environmental issues. Currently, eco-schools as such are not used as an instrument in the sustainable development strategies, but in the sustainable development strategy for 2022-2028, using municipality, state and EU budget funds, environmental education will be promoted by giving outdoor space and equipment for environmental education activities, it will help to development a modern learning environment for expanding the range of programmes in nature sciences and environmental education as such. (Ropazu novads, 2022)

Research methodologies. There were planned a set of complementary research activities, framed by case study research methodology and starting with related municipal and other document studies, visits and observations in the eco-schools and related outdoors, and particularly, initial focus group interviews with both municipal Eco-schools, followed in the time distance by individual semi-structured interviews in both municipalities and with both main parties of stakeholders specialists of municipalities and Eco-councils members, directors, and coordinators of eco-schools at various education levels in the municipalities. To investigate the current state of the municipal Eco-council and recent activities of Valmiera's eco-schools, eight in-depth semi-structured stakeholder interviews (around 45 minutes) were conducted with representatives of both parties, including one representative from Eco-school of each educational level (kindergarten, primary and secondary education, tertiary education). municipality in-depth semi-structured Related in Ropazi four interviews (around 40 minutes long) and one express interview were conducted.

Also, there was performed related two case studies investigations of real practice cases of Eco-councils coordinated activities in Valmiera municipality as part of the mutual collaboration, where all parties were involved: the annual Eco-Schools Friendship Bike Ride "Bicycle Unites" case and Biodegradable waste sorting piloting case. The first case study - there is a yearly kind of flash-mob activity "A bike unites" as a bike ride crossing most of the town and performing also additional promotional activities aiming to promote the use of bikes in everyday mobility and general traffic system. Not only this, but also other various activities (awarding of everyday bike riders, the "Car-free day", awarding of bike friendly employers, citizen surveys and other school-flash mobs) are a part of the yearly European Mobility Weeks' activities. The other practice example case was the current waste management system upgrading implementation in Valmiera town and, particularly, the pilot food waste sorting implementation bottom-up case. There are three multi-floor dormitory buildings (two municipal ones, but third - university one) in Valmiera. University of Latvia designed research-and-development (R&D) project and research methodologies and approaches used for this R&D project were especially combined, foremost, the Case Study Research framework shall be mentioned, incl. document studies, student surveys, semi-structured stakeholder interviews, observation studies, also waste audit/weighting studies, as well as, basic approach of Living Laboratory as youth from Eco-schools in partnership with all other project stakeholders developed this study and implemented waste sorting. Also, Participatory Research and action research components were necessarily applied.

To summarize all described research steps and activities, it should be recognized that within the frame and size of this paper only qualitative and summary types of results were applied.

Research results and discussion

1. Developments of municipal Eco-councils: municipalities and eco-schools

This chapter introduces and describes both Ropazi and Valmiera municipalities Eco-council cases, explaining core information of their establishment, initiation, community involvement and description of their work and activities.

1.1. Ropazi municipal Eco-council

Ropazi municipality Eco-council started its work back in 2014, as an initiative from Ropazi secondary school to form a collaboration platform with the local authorities. Coordinated by Ropazi Secondary schools' eco-council meetings generally took place on municipal or school premises once a month or more depending on the planned activities and objectives. It was learned from the interviews with the Council's former members, that council's work was rather active involving not only young people and schools and municipalities personnel but also community's families and schools parent council. Admitted by the former members, Municipality Eco-councils' greatest achievement is giving a platform to young people to express their ideas and learn about community involvement in municipalities work.

This collaboration resulted in implementing an Erasmus+ project with schools in Moldova who are not active members of the Eco-school program. During the project, students from Ropazi shared their best practices in environmental education and management and these environmental education practices were introduced in local Moldovan school planning (Ropazi Secondary school Eco Council, 2018). Ropazi municipalities eco-council was partly coordinated by municipalities public relations specialists, which led to almost every collaboration and activity organized by Ropazi municipalities eco-council to be published in the local newspaper. Ropazi municipality's first meeting was minuted, during which the coordinators of

the Council were nominated. No official document of council existence was established, making it a platform of volunteer involvement from all parties.

1.2. Valmiera municipal Eco-council

The Valmiera municipal eco-council was established in 2017 as an initiative from the environmental communication specialist at Valmiera municipality and in collaboration with the University of Latvia to implement the four sectors of an action-oriented collaborative environmental communication in Valmiera effectively (Truksans et al., 2019). Focussing on the aspect of promoting environmental education, public participation and pro-environmental behavior in Valmiera's citizens, the environmental communication strategy included the formation of the informal eco-council as a collaboration platform for all Valmiera eco-schools. This strategy was not adapted in official municipal planning documents, thus making the eco-council an informal governance instrument. Since its formation there have been four official municipal eco-council meetings taking place in the Valmiera city municipality building and a shared online communication platform has been established. Participants include representatives, mainly the designated eco-coordinators, from each educational institution that is part of the eco-school program. Currently, the group consists of nine members. There have also been some external, non eco-school stakeholders invited to meetings from institutions with similar interests, like members of local environmental groups. The council members have organized activities together like for example during the European Mobility Week the council had joint bicycle rides through the city and along the river shore including mutual exchange between representatives from all eco-schools, including both pupils and teachers, as well as municipality representatives.

2. Evaluation and planning of Eco-councils developments

In 2019, to learn about both municipality eco-council work and community involvement, focus groups in both establishments were conducted. The aim was to understand the way eco-councils operate and work, who were the involved members, how cooperation with the municipality is developed and how potential cooperation partners can be obtained to broaden their core audience. In the time of discussion motives of creation, main achievements and challenges, development history of both municipal eco-councils were learned.

2.1. Ropazi focus group discussion

The motives for creating a municipal Eco-Council in Ropazi were to create a platform for cooperation between local authorities and educational institutions, also involving and reaching other target groups that would help achieve both individual and collective goals and more efficiently implement plans and get support in the process. With a platform like this, introduction of diversified activities, innovations, raising awareness, changing attitudes and habits is easier implemented. Ropazi municipality Eco-Council was coordinated by Eco-Schools representatives and the municipality's public relations specialist. The members are Ropazi municipality Secondary Schools students, director, Eco-school coordinator and deputy director in the field of education; Ropazi municipality pre-school "Annele" deputy director in the field of education/ Eco-school coordinator; Municipal Executive Director, specialists of landscapes, environmental management and public relations, head of the day center, head of the development department, youth specialist; Local NGO representative; Representatives of the Eco-Schools Parent Council and other parents.

Ropazi municipality Eco-Council's main features are described by cooperation on different levels, enthusiasm, local patriotism, active young people and people involvement. Their long-term goals are to

educate and promote public knowledge, understanding of environmental issues to the local community and practically implement environmental initiatives, reducing human impact on the environment by preserving and conserving it. Target audience (depending on the activity) are local residents, visitors of the city, parents and other adults, preschool children, students, members of Ropazi municipality Eco-Council. The main challenges that the Eco-council experiences are finding ways to engage and reach more people - the public is not always willing to change habits, learn about the benefits, the challenges, the importance. Also, Public representatives' knowledge and expressed attitudes of their environmental values do not always result in environmentally friendly actions.

Eco-Councils key achievements are more effective addressing of environmental issues, increase in community involvement — from problem identification to improvement, monitoring and awareness increase, children's knowledge, skill, attitude and behavior change, that's affecting family behavior, getting young people interested in local government, seeing it as an opportunity to make a difference, the focus of local government has changed – when planning and realizing activities, environmental protection and sustainable development aspects are taken into account, an opportunity to do practical activities, projects, and link Ropazi municipality Eco-Council's activities to the school learning process, implementing school initiatives as community activities.

It was learned that the municipality's eco council was initiated by local eco-schools in 2014, there were common things both at school and in the municipality. Schools are encouraged to meet and to cooperate on a regular basis. National scale event the Eco-Schools Winter Forum was an external factor that led to regular cooperation. In the beginning, the initiative came from the school and the municipality supported it, cooperation developed further on both sides, the municipality came up with project ideas and saw Eco-Schools as a real cooperation partner, and schools came up with concrete ideas, a timetable of activities that encourage public participation. Until 2019 the Eco-Council involved broader society groups in their work. Ropazi municipality Eco-Council's future plans include municipality websites improvement, targeted planning, situational awareness, setting priorities, assigning responsibilities, promotion of good practice and exchange of experience. Ropazi municipality eco-council includes a broad range of local and school representatives, this collaboration has led to a great community involvement and has increased awareness of environmental issues to not only municipal residents, but also to eco-school representatives.

2.2. Valmiera focus group discussion

The motives for creating a municipal Eco-Council in Valmiera were to involve and gather like-minded people and partners from local Eco-Schools and society in general. Established to implement easier planning and realization of activities, exchange with experience, get ideas, support and motivation, to do bigger activities at community level and reach a wider audience. Valmiera municipality Eco-Council is coordinated by the municipality's environmental communication specialist. The members are Valmiera Secondary School nr. 2 eco-school coordinator; Valmiera Viestura Secondary School eco-school coordinator; Valmiera elementary school eco-school coordinator; Private primary school "Green School" Eco-Schools Coordinator, Valmiera preschool "Valodzite" and its branch "Kracites" deputy chief executives; Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences event organizer; Municipal environmental communication specialist; Representatives of the Eco-Schools Parent Council, other parents. Valmiera municipality Eco-Council's main features are cooperate with each other, involving as much of society as possible, making their target audience pre-school and school children, families, and society. Eco-council's key achievements and contribution is community development. There is communication with the public and Valmiera has become

an environmentally friendly city. Jointly implemented actions have covered a broader audience than individually when holding events at school. It is seen as an opportunity for growth and a platform for cooperation, where you can meet like-minded people. Main challenges experienced are attracting additional partners, getting much broader public involvement. Opportunities to announce more widely planned events, to get a better response, have caused activity overlapping. Connection at all stages of education — from pre-schools to university, to get more students involved.

In 2017 the initiator was the municipality's environmental communication specialist and the formation was also driven by cooperation with the University of Latvia. In the beginning there is a cooperation between a few schools; Later, the whole eco-council planned and implemented activities together, they were aimed to raise public awareness, understanding, and involvement. In 2019 Valmiera municipality Eco-Councils future plans are targeted planning – schools and municipality's alignment of objectives, focusing more on pre-schools involvement and linking all stages of education — from preschool to university and Valmiera municipality Eco-Council activity coordination with educational process, e.g. project weeks and also learn about potential cooperation partners and member attraction, e.g. cooperation with the education authorities, youth council. By involving most community groups into their activities, Valmiera municipality's eco-council has driven Valmiera city to become a greener place, where families are learning from their children and adapting environmentally friendly habits.

3. Administrative-territorial reform: partnership changes and further activities

This chapter looks at the results of the school interviews, analyzing their current situations and learning how their eco-councils continue working after external events like Covid-19 pandemic and administrative-territorial reform in 2021. Their collaboration with the municipality is recognised before and after the external events mentioned studying about activities that eco-councils are planning or implementing now.

3.1. Ropazi Eco-schools

Ropazi Secondary School has been a part of the eco-school program since 2009, making it 14 years of active work in the environmental education field. In 2019 Ropazi secondary school and Zakumuiza Primary school were united and both are now called Ropazi secondary school, they organize their work in two buildings – in the Zakumuiza primary school building organizing pre-school and primary school while in Ropazi Secondary School grades from first to twelfth. Both parties are organizing their own separate eco-council, following the exact corresponding objectives and criteria by having a general meeting once a month, discussing implemented activities and future plans by giving presentations which help them collect data and activity reviews for Eco-school programs' yearly report. Both parties admit that organizing eco-council in both schools is helpful, for example each eco-school works by the 7-step program, one of them being schools surrounding and nature audit. By organizing eco-councils in both schools, it is simpler for them to gather data of Ropazi territory and plan activities to decrease identified problems.

Before the territorial reform, Ropazi Secondary school had a very great partnership with the municipality, as the school's eco council was the one who expressed the need for a municipal level cooperation platform. Situation changed when the territorial reform was passed, it caused changes not only at municipal level but also at schools. Teachers that used to work at Ropazi Secondary school and were active members of the eco-council started to work at different schools in the municipality. As learned from the interview with the school's director, they see it as an opportunity to connect and collaborate with other schools in the municipality.

Ropazi Secondary school in their 14 years of work in the eco-school program have covered all topics of interest and currently are working in the field of waste. As learned from the interview with Ropazi secondary school eco-council, this year's main goal is to decrease their school's carbon footprint by focusing on minimizing food and resource waste by implementing activities that encourage people to reflect on their actions. Ropazi Secondary school's eco-council has shown that they are not only working in the interest of their school but also for their local community's benefit by collaborating with the local authorities and implementing recycling programs in Ropazi and its surrounding areas. Current eco-school plans that require municipal involvement are introducing vegetarian days at school, activity is yet to be implemented because it depends on not only municipal but also national laws. As described from Ropazi Secondary school, this activity would effectively help them decrease their school's carbon footprint and promote healthier habits to not only children but also their families. Another project, influenced by the participation in the Eco-School Winter Forum 2023 in Valmiera, that could potentially renew schools' collaboration with the municipality is to work on infrastructure improvement around the school, as there are no safe pavements to walk on, especially in winter time. It was admitted by the school's eco-council that they currently feel unsafe to get off the bus and cross the motorway to get to school.

Annual campaigns that are run by the school, such as tree planting in April in the territory of Ropazi and Foundation for Environmental Education Latvia promoted Environment Day events in collaboration with Ropazi pre-school "Annele" are also implemented this year. This school year's biggest plan is to implement an activity – a hackathon, inviting schools in the region of Ropazi to take up the challenge for Ropazi municipality improvement. Young people would generate ideas on how to alleviate visible problems: improving infrastructure, getting involved in environmental issues, waste management etc. Ropazi Secondary school after the union with Zakumuiza primary school has shown great collaboration skills which were also used when Ropazi municipality eco-council was actively working. After the reform, the school has not given up and is still trying to re-establish connection with the municipality, in the meantime identifying their potential cooperation partners.

3.2. Valmiera eco-schools

The in-depth semi-structured interviews with selected eco-schools coordinators of each level of Valmiera's educational institutions indicate a great potential in the field of environmental education and ESD in Valmiera but also identify challenges that are currently hindering the continuous active involvement of teachers and students in the eco-school program. The nine schools have continued to participate in the program for many years and some schools have even already covered all the thematic areas and are now starting with their second round, while trying to come up with innovative approaches. Current topics cover a wide range of action areas from water, energy, waste management to circular economy. The Covid-19 pandemic has unfortunately also impacted the eco-school activities, especially coordinator's personal motivation to continue and student's engagement in the eco-committees has plummeted. While students are still eager to participate in activities, the organization and following documentation is perceived as particularly burdensome to the organizers, who are declaring this as their least favourite part about the eco-coordinator position. Time and resource constraints as well as changes in personnel have even led to the temporary discontinuation of two of Valmiera's eco-schools in the Green flag certification. Nevertheless, they were still internally motivated to continue the course towards a whole-institution greening approach of the school and its surroundings and aim to gain back the green flag certification as soon as possible.

School representatives state that their students as well as the overall institution can benefit greatly by participating in the program. Increases in pro-environmental behavior and overall environmental awareness

were noted by participants in the program, as well as a transfer of acquired knowledge and behaviors from students of eco-schools, concerning sustainability problems and solution approaches, to their surrounding environment like their parents. The education beyond the classroom, targeting also the wider public and especially families and educators of eco-schools, was stressed as an integral part of the larger impact the eco-school program can have on regional sustainable development. Applying the action-oriented collaboration environmental communication model, the current eco-school activities in Valmiera can be grouped according to the four sectors.

In the field of environmental information flows, eco-schools in all levels treat environmental issues in their curricula and as an example for informing the public, students from Valmieras 2. Secondary school did an activity educating bystanders about plastic pollution in water bodies in the local shopping centre. During the eco-school winter forum 2023, an interactive activity organized by the local eco-college took place, where eco-school teachers walked around Valmiera to note down ideas they had for improvements as well as things they liked as inspiration for their own municipalities. These ideas were then collected digitally and transferred to the municipal planning agencies. Furthermore, future visions of a utopian, green Latvia in 2050 were developed jointly between students and teachers during the creative forums. The outcomes of this visioning activity were displayed in two public buildings of Valmiera, university building and local shopping center, to inform the public about the eco-school activities.

Regarding environmental education and training, students of Valmieras Viestura secondary school have for example received waste sorting training in a series of workshops revolving around recycling, organized by the eco-schools teachers. The active waste sorting in recycling bins provided in all of Valmiera's eco-schools falls under both categories; environmental education and training as well as pro-environmental actions and behavior. In the field of pro-environmental actions and behavior, Valmieras eco-pre-chools are also doing yearly surveys for parents, where their pro-environmental behavior and habits in the respective households are observed and monitored over the years. Educators have stated that as a result of these surveys, they could conclude which behaviors should be treated more. Overall they noted a significant improvement of pro-environmental behavior and actions in the parents, but also in themselves as educators.

Inter-institutional networking events, like the yearly eco-school forums, are an example for the area of environmental (public) involvement and participation. The eco-chool winter forum took place in February 2023 in Valmieras 2. Secondary School and was organized jointly in cooperation with the Valmiera eco-schools, Valmiera municipality and FEE Latvia. The recent forum, which had been the first one taking place after February 2020, was seen as a successful instrument to improve management and communication among eco-schools within the municipality but also nation-wide eco-schools as well as external stakeholders. Additionally, ideas that were generated during the forum were exchanged to be used from the Valmiera municipality in city planning and further developments. Another example in the area of environmental participation and involvement was the presentation of a fashion show with clothes made by eco-school students out of upcycled waste.

Overall, research has shown that although external factors like the Covid-19 pandemic and internal factors like changes in management positions have caused some setbacks to eco-schools activities and collaborations among each other, eco-school activities are being picked up again and Valmiera's eco-schools are continuing to further extend their scope of actions in all areas of the environmental communication model, while closely collaborating with the local municipality.

4. Current development state of municipal eco-councils

This chapter looks at the current situation of both municipal eco-councils and updates since focus groups are done in 2019. Interview results explain how internal (school union, municipality administrative structure and personality change) and external (Covid-19 pandemic, administrative territorial reform in Latvia) events have affected municipality eco-council work and activity, and former eco-council member opinions on current municipality situations.

Ropazi municipality. In 2023 Ropazi municipality's eco council stopped its work due to multiple external and internal reasons. Main reasons being, as learned from the interviews, passing of the law of administrative territorial reform, and complete change of municipality leaders and deputies, meaning almost all the original members of Ropazi municipality's eco council are not working in the municipality anymore. Ropazi secondary school recognizes that currently it's more difficult to establish connection with the new municipality, due to reasons of moving the municipality's center from Ropazi to Ulbroka villages, having infrastructure deficiencies is causing the municipality's center not to be as accessible as it used to be. Schools have expressed that this matter is causing communication and bureaucratic issues, making document exchange and formal meetings cumbersome. Ropazi secondary school admits that they must again initiate the renewal of the Council to the municipality's new leaders. They have already started to establish new connections with different schools (both regular and other eco-schools) in the new municipality to work on projects and to educate other students about environmental issues at municipal level.

It was expressed from every interviewee that municipality level Eco-council should be renewed. It was learned from interviewing former council members that this cooperation platform led young people to be more involved in the local community life and were more invested in getting their ideas and opinions heard, it was an excellent way of developing understanding of nature issues and finding innovative solutions to them. Furthermore, it is seen as a loss because Ropazi municipality eco-council was a great cooperation platform example nationwide, where every community member was welcomed to actively learn and participate in activities. After the passing of the law of administrative territorial reform Ropazi municipality is yet to find a way to collaborate and educate about environmental issues with all the united parishes, municipality representatives admit that it is still a formal process and environmental issues are not proposed as a priority currently.

Valmiera municipality. Due to an interplay of internal and external hindrances, the municipal ecocouncil in Valmiera has also been inactive since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic in the beginning of 2020. Communication via a shared online chat has continued among nine members, although it has been described as very one-sided and less fruitful from the organizing municipal agent's perspective. The issue of changes in personnel at the municipality for environmental communication and hence shift of responsibility for the municipal eco-council, has been named by all former and current eco-council members to have had a substantial impact on its development. In September 2022 the position for municipal environmental communication specialist and project manager was changed, and as the formation of the municipal eco-council had been formerly initiated by the municipalities side, responsibilities for its continuation were transferred to the new municipal agent. Getting all stakeholders together and re-defining the goals and plans of the eco-council to ensure its continuation have been challenges named by both sides, which have further led to the delay of continuation. This emphasizes the importance of shared responsibility, multi-stakeholder collaboration and the availability of financial and personal resources like time and internal motivation to ensure the success of the municipal eco-council and effectiveness of the eco-school program.

All interview partners have expressed a desire to continue the meetings, regular activities and mutual exchange in the municipal eco-council. Council members described how exchange among the other eco-coordinators helped them with realizing joint activities and projects, gaining additional resources and made them feel less alone in the process, in turn increasing their intrinsic motivation to continue with the eco-school program. Interviewees from the side of eco-schools expressed to continue the eco-council in a similar manner, with meetings initiated and organized by the municipality roughly on a quarter-yearly basis. The wish of sharing more responsibility and opening up the council to a wider variety of stakeholders from different domains like companies, NGOs or different municipal and developmental agencies, was expressed by the municipality side in order to ensure its sustainability and increase its effectiveness. Perceived benefits of this approach were for example that eco-schools could widen their scope of collaborations to increase not only opportunities for financial support and support in organizational matters but also improve the mutual learning process and generation and exchange of ideas to foster sustainable regional development.

5. Municipal Eco-councils in practice: food waste management piloting

Following and in parallel to our overall studies about experience and perspectives of the first two municipal Eco-councils in Latvia there was implemented an Eco-council work in practice – the food waste management piloting case in Valmiera county municipality, being clearly appreciated by all partnership parties involved, and as first, Eco-schools and municipality as to be seen in this short case summary. In Latvia, from January 2024, waste management operators and municipalities have to ensure the **collection and management of sorted biodegradable waste** (BDW) as requested by the National waste management plan for 2021-2028. There have been several pilot projects/studies to prepare municipalities for this date. Initially in 2022-2023 there were unanswered questions how to implement the separate collection of biodegradable waste in practice locally, e.g. whether collection service will be mandatory for all, incl. for those living in rural areas, also and particularly, how to organize BDW sorting in multi-apartment buildings and more successfully compared to the former experiences. As well as, how to implement BDW sorting in service hotels (dormitories for schools/universities etc.) and also, having in mind that most of such dormitories are to some extent similar to multi-apartment buildings in the municipality.

Subsequently, numerous municipal Eco-schools and, particularly Eco-council of Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences in Valmiera town, together with Valmiera county municipality and researchers from University of Latvia, expressed interest to learn about the current waste management system in Valmiera dormitories and **to pilot food waste sorting implementation** there. University of Latvia designed research-and-development (R&D) project for this partnership as a Latvia national case study for the Baltic region and Germany joint project "ESD for 2030 — Learning for and in sustainable and resilient communities" funded by the Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt, Germany, led by Leuphana University Luneburg. Also, regional waste management company ZAAO (100% owned municipal enterprise of 8 regional municipalities) was invited to cooperate and all together joined for the aim to study the existing situation, incl. student perceptions and understanding etc., and then to pilot food waste sorting in three multi-floor dormitory buildings, also having in mind to develop recommendations to the Valmiera county municipality for the implementation of the BDW sorting process in multi-apartment buildings.

Main findings in short could be summarized like this. The issue of BDW management at the national level has been developed late. Lack of data on the actual amount of food waste in Latvia.

The implementation of biodegradable waste management in the entire county is a challenge for the municipality of Valmiera county. ZAAO's experience in food waste management is limited, but their Daibes BDW factory in the regional landfill would be able to process the biodegradable bags. Knowledge of BDW among different target groups is low. In order to involve multi-apartment residents in a wide collection of FW, the active information and training actions are necessary and quality active work of each house manager.

Dormitories require convenient and hygienic indoor food waste management. Until now, there has been formal or no waste accounting and monitoring in service hotels and quality waste management service in dormitories was underdeveloped, incl. missing in-house mutual cooperation, division of responsibility, information, training. The most common reasons for what prevents FW from sorting waste are the lack of knowledge, lack of information about sorting (pictures of waste bins, easy-to-read material), sorting takes extra time, the outdoor sorting container is not easy reachable or even waste sorting doesn't make sense as per student answers in survey. But the majority of students from the surveyed respondents in dormitories are ready to start sorting FW.

Main actions proposed have a set of several basic components to be adequately planned and finally implemented: Promoting the awareness of students/pupils; Promotion of employee awareness; Proper and variety of information sources/resources as well as practice training for students and employees; Improvement of infrastructure; Arrangement of management administration, all in all, being aimed towards both reducing and sorting of food waste. And particularly, for the development of FW sorting - a special container, availability of biobags, complementary signage, also strategic approach to the penalty and bonus system, regular monitoring.

Municipality was very positive for this pilot case full scale realization initiated by non-formal Eco-council in Valmiera municipality for school youth involvement to contribute to the local/municipal society everyday practice developments, particularly, being implemented by Eco-schools and results achieved in partnership with municipality and other stakeholders. Municipality also agreed on basic outcomes-recommendations for municipal BDW sorting complementary instruments management system necessary development. Such system shall include these but not the least activities: Training for managers and residents of apartment buildings; The work of waste managers and municipalities in the field of information and education in order to build citizens' understanding of BDW management; Punishment does not motivate, but to explain the benefits to the population; Determine organic waste containers in the city; Searching for an approach to biodegradable bags; Organize training for residents of private houses on proper home composting.

6. Municipal Eco-councils in practice: the annual Eco-Schools Friendship Bike Ride

As part of the tradition of mutual collaboration during the Eco-Council's activities in the Valmiera municipality, the annual Eco-Schools Friendship Bike Ride "Bicycle Unites" was introduced in 2018 – a sizeable group of youngsters' bike ride intentionally planned across most of the town, having particular bicycling developments related tasks-activities of that year, but also performing promotional activities being yearly a kind of flash-mob activity too, organized at the end of September, with around 40 young people participating from all Valmiera Eco-Schools. The number of participants remained consistent each year, as by number of practical and schools representing reasons as also existent youngsters interest, but being offered as a special privilege to the most active participants of Eco Schools who also engage in the work of school's Eco-Council. The bike ride starts at one Eco-school (Valmiera Secondary School No. 2) and each year it had a different route, cycling through the city of Valmiera. The ride concludes with final camping at

the municipal recreation areas near the town's main Gauja River. The "Bicycle Unites" bike ride was always an activity organized by the municipality during European Mobility Week, but purposely together with Eco-schools.

The main double goal of this one day open and publicly disposed activity was to attract wider attention from the local community and promote environmentally friendly mobility, as well as, to investigate along bike ride route particular elements of bicycling developments. However, it also served as a joint opening event for the new general school and particular Eco-school program year, fostering camaraderie among Valmiera Eco-Schools and students. Each year, the "Bicycle Unites" bike ride also had its own thematic priority. For example, in 2018, the focus was on a youth bike ride through Valmiera, visiting both residential neighbourhoods and courtyards. The goal of this year's event was to draw the attention of residents in residential neighbourhoods to the bicycle as an environmentally friendly mode of transportation and to play a courtyard game in each courtyard, encouraging residents to come together in a friendly manner, organize their own friendship events, and take collective action to care for the environment and improve courtyard landscaping.

In 2019, the special thematic emphasis of "Bicycle Unites" was on encouraging initiative among the participants by meeting with preschool students from Valmiera's early childhood education institutions. The bike ride route was planned so that participants also visited two Valmiera Eco-Kindergartens during the ride. The youth led outdoor games and engaged in play activities with the preschool students. This ensured mutual collaboration between the preschool education institutions involved in the Eco-School education program and the secondary education institutions. Following this positive experience, visiting kindergartens became a part of future "Bicycle Unites" rides. In 2020, the special theme of "Bicycle Unites" was related to safety and safe cycling. Therefore, an event was organized in collaboration with the State Police, and during the kindergarten visits, participants were joined by the State Police's special safety character, - a cat named Rudis. But in 2021, the thematic emphasis of "Bicycle Unites" was on safe and convenient cycling infrastructure. During the ride, the youth assessed the existing town's cycling infrastructure and participated in evaluation discussions.

Conclusions

Although the both municipal eco-councils, being under the study now, are currently not yet reestablished, after the Covid and also administrative reform changing municipal borders, they are in standby status as after the overcoming the external and internal limiting factors, **municipal eco-councils continuation is anticipated by both main parties** – municipalities and eco-schools. Both parties have recognized many benefits noted, but, in particular, eco-school note that participants like simplifying the participation, increasing environmental awareness and pro-environmental behavior, increasing intrinsic motivation to continue efforts.

There is still a need **to improve the collaboration partnerships** among eco-schools and municipalities and other external stakeholders to improve collaboration and outcome effectiveness for all actors involved-multi-stakeholder collaboration approach and practice, what also requires, actually, mandatory, the collaboration-development approach, environmental communication action-oriented collaboration model widely application.

Both a kind of complementary short and long term practice based case studies shortly described and summarized during current study – short one day but annual flash-mob alike youngsters bike tour and PR action, being also with investigation function and, other, long term very practical multi-type step-wise practice project-based biodegradable waste sorting piloting work in student's dormitories of the town –

they were positively evaluated by the both mutual partners and invited other stakeholders as being **municipal environmental success stories** in relation to the aims and tasks proposed, and most importantly, finally confirming for municipal decision-making, that also long term, and, even complex, collaboration activities/projects can make a **impactful difference in municipal environmental management practice being done by outside municipal administration assigned capacities.** This is to be planned more systemically according to the existent municipal environmental shortcomings and eco-schools seasonal programs, even that also requires some municipal administrative and other capacities to be necessary involved. Relatedly, municipal Eco-Council, as also has been experienced during other activities, could be the **necessary administrative and coordinating instrument**.

The same positives are the general conclusions about existent practice experience and future possibilities of municipal Eco-councils as we can summarize after individual and focus group interviews with the main municipal Eco-Councils related stakeholders. From both sides there were recognized several factors, which we can compile into **three groups of preconditions for municipal environmental management** developments as it could be done via further enhancement of municipal Eco-councils and relatedly Eco-schools activities:

1) governance instruments-based formalized and also non-formal preconditions for successful development of municipal Eco-councils:

- due to the municipal functioning system first are to be mentioned institutional-administrative instruments and political-legal instruments as possibly formalized legal status of the Municipal Eco-council (even in Valmiera it is not the case yet), also formalized prescriptions into the duty functions list (and annual work plan) of municipal environmental specialist/s (as known from other municipal experiences in Latvia) and into the their whole municipal department statutory functions list
 to have local Eco-schools supportive and/or coordinative function (and thematic working sector) established in the municipality;
- more difficult and seldom seen, accordingly to the former documented experience of the Eco-schools in Latvia and also for both municipalities studied, is to manage the same approach - integration approach - to be used for the integration of Eco-councils (and eco-schools) related work's components into the following municipal governance instruments' groups – planning instruments (integration into municipal statutory and/or voluntary planning documents) and closely related economic-financial instruments (integration into environmentally friendly purchases, especially into municipal budget, investment program and various projects, incl. 15% municipal co-financing assigned by Eco-schools outside granted projects),
- also the same with infrastructure and technologies instruments as directly depending on municipal budget and, particularly, projects assigned for upgrading Eco-school's grounds and buildings infrastructure impact also on Eco-school's content and field works necessary, as well as Eco-schools are contributing to the overall municipal infrastructure, particularly, to educational nature trails, citizen based monitoring activities etc.
- Four environmental communication complementary instruments shall be planned, coordinated and implemented as a system, where all main stakeholders are involved as a network and as each one separately – environmental information and education-training as well as environmental involvement-participation and pro-environmental behavior as environmental communication frame for collaborative partnerships.

2) **governance stakeholders-based precondition** – there was suggested to include as municipal Eco-council members/participants a **wider diversity of stakeholders** from current municipality as external, non-education institutions, environmental NGOs, entrepreneurs, public opinion leaders etc., but according to the specific situation of a particular municipality.

3) **governance sectors-based precondition** – to include representatives not only from nature/environmental sectors, but also eventually **from the health, economic, social, and culture** sectors (as partially in Ropazi municipality) according to the specific situation of a particular municipality to widen the scope and impact of the Eco-council and education process towards municipal sustainability management aspects.

Acknowledgements

Research on eco-schools and municipalities partnerships has been done based on various funding sources. Project "Eco-schools for Communities Participation" has been financially supported by the Society Integration fund from the Ministry of Culture, Republic of Latvia, and the Foundation for the Environmental Education of Latvia is responsible for the material's content. The publication was prepared at the University of Latvia in the framework of the project "ESD for 2030 — Learning for and in sustainable and resilient communities" funded by the Deutsche Bundesstiftung Umwelt, Germany. A research stay for Leuphana University Luneburg student in Latvia was supported by the PROMOS program funded by the German Academic Exchange Service.

Bibliography

- 1. Alves, C., & Araya, F. (2019). Extensive Collaboration in Teachers for Education for Sustainable Development. A case study of the eco-schools program.
- Biezina, L., Truksans, D., & Ernsteins, R. (2019). Municipal Environmental communication development: collaboration communication model. 45–52. https://doi.org/10.22616/ESRD.2019.056
- 3. Boeve-de Pauw, J. et.al. (2015). The effectiveness of ESD. Sustainability 2015.
- 4. Díaz-López, C., et.al. (2023). Sensitivity analysis of trends in environmental education in schools and its implications in the built environment. Environmental Development, Vol. 45.
- Eco Schools (n.d.). Engaging the youth of today to protect the planet of tomorrow! Retrieved from: https://www.ecoschools.global/
- 6. Ernsteins, R., Lagzdina, E., Lontone-Ievina, A., Stals, A. (2017). Municipal Environmental Communication Governance. SGEM 2017 Scientific GeoConference. https://doi.org/10.5593/sgem2017/54/S23.046
- 7. European Environmental Agency (n.d.). ISO 14000. Retrieved from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/help/glossary/eea-glossary/iso-14000
- 8. FEE (2003). FEE UNEP Memorandum of Understanding of March 3. London.
- 9. Lysgaard, J. G., Larsen, N., & Læssøe, J. (2015). Green flag eco-schools and the challenge of moving forward. Responsible Living: Concepts, Education and Future Perspectives, 135-150.
- 10. Moreno-Fernández, O. (2017). Environmental and citizenship in schools participating in the program Eco-Schools. Croatian Journal of Education 19(2). https://doi.org/10.15516/cje.v19i2.1871
- 11. Ropazi Secondary school Eco council (2018, December 7) Project "Musu zala iedvesma (Our Green Inspiration)". Retrieved from: https://www.ropazi.lv/lv/media/2234/download?attachment
- 12. Ropazu novads (2022). Ropazi municipality development program 2022-2028. Action plan. Retrieved from: https://www.ropazi.lv/lv/media/30435/download?attachment
- 13. Saeima (2020). Law on Administrative Territories and Settlements. Retrieved from: https://titania.saeima.lv/LIVS13/saeimalivs13.nsf/webSasaiste?OpenView&restricttocategory=462/Lp13
- 14. Sousa, S. (2022). Role of the Eco-Schools Program in the Promotion of Sustainable HEIs: A Case Study in Portugal. Administrative Sciences, 12(4), 149. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci12040149
- 15. Truksans, D. et.al. (2020). Municipal Pro-Environmental Governance Revitalization: Expanding Blue and Green Flag Complementing Instruments. 545–560. https://doi.org/10.5593/sgem2020/5.1/s20.069
- 16. Truksans, D. & Ernsteins, R. (2017). Pro-Environmental Behaviour Developments Locally: Eco-schools Complementary Communication Instruments for Greening Community. SGEM 2017 17th International Scientific GeoConference. https://doi.org/10.5593/sgem2017/53/S21.079

EU-UKRAINE AGRICULTURAL TRADE RELATIONS DURING THE 2022 WAR CRISIS

Aldona Zawojska¹, Dr.hab., prof. WULS; Tomasz Siudek², Dr.hab., prof. WULS

^{1,2}Warsaw University of Life Sciences, Institute of Economics and Finance

Abstract. This article aims to examine the impact of the Russian military aggression against Ukraine in February 2022 on the EU trade policy towards Ukraine and its consequences, with a focus on the agricultural sector and mutual trade in farm products. The research employed theoretical explanations, descriptive and empirical analysis. It draws upon the review of academic literature on international trade and political economy, as well as legislation and other documents for its analytical part. For the empirical part, the study employs Eurostat statistical data to show the changes in trade in selected agricultural products between Ukraine and the EU. The comparison of trade turnover is based on a time series that includes data both before and after the Russian invasion. The research indicates that, as a response to the war, the EU has temporarily lifted restrictions on imports from Ukraine as a gesture of solidarity. The implementation of this policy has initially led to a sudden influx of cheaper Ukrainian agricultural products, including cereals, into the EU territory, particularly Ukraine's neighbouring countries. For wheat and meslin, the EU imports were 11 and 22 times higher in 2022 and 2023 than in 2021. This influx of grain has created an unbalanced market and raised concerns about the competitiveness and welfare of local agricultural producers. As a result, farmers in many EU countries organised protests and demonstrations calling for more protectionist, pro-agricultural policies at the EU level, inflaming relations with Ukraine and contributing to a loss of confidence in the EU institutions among part of the public.

Key words: Russian-Ukrainian war, European Union, trade policy, trade turnover, agricultural products.

JEL code: F13, F14, F15, Q17

Introduction

A defining feature of the contemporary global economy is the unprecedented degree of internationalization of production, financial flows, and trade. Nevertheless, a growing contradiction exists between the process of economic integration and the desire for political control and national autonomy. This phenomenon is evident in both Europe and on a global scale. The global economy is frequently disrupted by external shocks that intensify protectionist sentiment, such as the Covid-19 pandemic and the invasion of Ukraine by the Russian Federation. The increasing economic regional integration (e.g., within Europe) raises two main questions that require consideration. Firstly, how does regional trade liberalization impact the region's overall welfare? Secondly, how does liberalisation on a regional basis affect the welfare of individual nations and domestic entities, and how do their self-interested actions shape the rules of trade between nations? The article addresses the second problem in the context of the EU trade relations with Ukraine, focusing on the period preceding the war and its duration.

Russia's full-scale war against Ukraine, which began on 24 February 2022, has caused significant disruptions in global agri-food markets. This has happened both directly by limiting the supplies of agricultural goods, and indirectly through the impact of sanctions imposed on Russia and related spill-overs from other markets such as energy and fertilizers (Alexander et al., 2023; Mbah & Wasum, 2022; Odening & Hüttel, 2022). Before the outbreak of hostilities, both countries were prominent producers and exporters of agricultural and related commodities – Russia the world's largest exporter of wheat and fertilizers, while Ukraine – the largest exporter of sunflower oil and the fourth exporter of corn and wheat. The conflict has resulted in significant disruptions to the supply chain, destabilizing the export of Ukrainian products, including grain and oilseeds, to numerous countries. This situation has led to increased food prices and potential global food security threats (Chepeliev et al., 2023; Glauben et al., 2022).

The European Union (EU) and its international partners have unanimously condemned Russia's aggression and provided unprecedented humanitarian, political, military, financial, and trade support to

¹ E-mail: aldona_zawojska@sggw.edu.pl

² E-mail: tomasz_siudek@sggw.edu.pl
Ukraine. Concerning the latter, the EU has implemented an extraordinary easing of trade policy concerning Ukrainian agricultural products: the suspension of import duties on industrial goods and tariff quotas on agri-food products, conditional trade defence measures, and the creation of the EU-Ukraine solidarity lanes.

This article aims to examine the impact of the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine on the EU's economic cooperation with Ukraine in the sphere of trade policy and agricultural commodity trade. The research focuses on the import of Ukrainian grain by the EU countries following trade liberalisation, revealing conflicts of interest and disputes within the EU and between trading partners. In doing so, the study sheds light on the complex process of EU trade policy towards third countries, especially during crises such as international armed conflicts. It identifies the critical factors that influence two-way trade, including geopolitics, the solidarity paradigm, trade protectionism, trade liberalization, conflicts of interest, and the role of pressure groups. The study's originality lies in incorporating all these elements and their direct or indirect influence on wartime agricultural trade.

The research employed theoretical explanations as well as descriptive and empirical analysis. It is based on various sources such as political economy and international trade literature, Eurostat data, legal provisions, national government and EU documents, blogs and media news. In order to compare the trade turnover both in terms of value and volume, a time series was adopted which covers the period before and after Russia's invasion of Ukraine. This was presented graphically. The monthly data set on the volume of multilateral trade in the "food and beverages" category spans 11 years, from January 2013 to September 2023. The data set also includes information on the volume of selected cereals (wheat and meslin) imported from Ukraine into the EU-27, with the analysis period extending from January 2021 to January 2024.

Research results and discussion

1. The development of economic relations between the EU and Ukraine

The European Union's relationship with Ukraine has been influenced by a complex array of historical, geopolitical, economic, and security considerations (Incaltarau et al., 2022; Vidnyanskyj, 2022; Yıldız, 2023). Given Ukraine's considerable size and geopolitical importance, it was imperative that the EU adopt a clear and coherent policy in the aftermath of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union. However, up to the current war crisis, the EU focused primarily on the countries that joined the EU in 2004 and on Russia (Raik et al., 2024).

Currently, the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), launched in 2004 (European Commission, 2004) and complemented by the Eastern Partnership (EaP) is a foreign policy tool used by the EU towards Ukraine. The EaP was established to foster closer relations between the EU and states that emerged as a consequence of the dissolution of the Soviet Union in 1991 but were not included in the EU enlargement process. ENP's aim is to enhance and intensify political and economic connections of these states with the EU and its member countries (Council of the European Union, 2009). The objective was to implement a Western governance model, European norms, and legislation (known as "*acquis communautaire*") in those countries, and to establish a cooperation framework in various domains such as economy, society, political institutions, civil rights, and liberties (Incaltarau et al., 2022). Although the EU framework proposed to Ukraine offered enhanced political association and deeper trade relations, it did not address Ukraine's request for a membership perspective. The EU adopted a cautious approach to avoid any action that might jeopardize its relationship with Russia. Russia's full-scale invasion of Ukraine on February 24th increased

Ukrainian support for European integration, which has become crucial for Ukraine's resilience in its fight against Russian occupiers, as well as accelerated Ukraine's process of joining the EU (Raik et al., 2024).

Table 1 summarises the key developments related to trade cooperation between Ukraine and the EU member states.

Table 1

Major events	Effective Date/Period
The European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP)	12.05.2004
The Eastern Partnership (EaP), which governs the relationship of the EU with post-Soviet countries, including Ukraine	07.05.2009
Annexation of Crimea by the Russian Federation	March 2014
The Association Agreement between the EU and Ukraine (AA)	01.09.2017
Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Area (DCFTA)	01.01.2016
Russian invasion of Ukraine	24.02.2022
Autonomous Trade Measures (ATM)	04.06.2022-05.06.2024
Renewed EU's ATM	06.06.2024-05.06.2025
Establishment of the EU-UA Solidarity Lanes	May 2022
Granting EU candidate status to Ukraine	23.06.2022
The Black Sea Grain Initiative	22.07.2022
Termination of the Black Sea Grain Initiative by Russia	17.07.2023
Poland's unilateral ban on import of Ukrainian agricultural products	15.04.2023
Bulgaria' import restrictions on key agricultural products from Ukraine	24.04.2023
The exceptional and temporary preventive measures of the EU applied to Poland,	02.05.2023
Hungary, Slovakia, Romania and Bulgaria	05.06.2023
Lifting EU's temporary ban on imports of Ukrainian grain	16.09.2023
Poland's unilateral national ban on imports of certain agri-food products from Ukraine	16.09.2023
Hungary's ban on imports of sensitive agricultural products from Ukraine	September 2023
Ukraine's complaint to the WTO against Poland, Hungary, and Slovakia on their unilateral grain ban	18.09.2023
European Council's decision to open accession negotiations with Ukraine	14.12.2023

The trade relations between Ukraine and the European Union - timeline

Source: author's compilation based on reviewed documents

In 2014, Ukraine and the EU signed the Association Agreement (Association Agreement, 2014), marking a significant achievement in their mutual economic relations. It was crucial for integrating Ukraine into the EU internal market and establishing a free trade area between the two parties. Its economic part, dealing with trade and related matters (Title IV), is known as the Deep and Comprehensive Free Trade Area. Due to pressure from Russia (which annexed Crimea in 2014), the DCFTA has been temporarily applied with a one-year delay, from 1 January 2016. The AA/DCFTA aims to boost trade in goods and services between the EU and Ukraine by gradually reducing tariffs and aligning Ukrainian regulations with those of the EU in certain industrial sectors and agricultural products. Following the military aggression of the Russian Federation against Ukraine in February 2022, the EU has implemented temporary measures to support Ukrainian exports to the EU, known as Autonomous Trade Measures (ATM), that have been in place since June 2022. They include suspension of import duties, quotas and trade defence measures on Ukrainian exports.

Prior to the Russian invasion, 89% of Ukrainian grain that was intended for export to world markets was transported through Black Sea ports (Blinov & Djankov, 2023). But for the first four months of the invasion, Russian warships blocked the ports, preventing any exports. From July 2022 to July 2023, an agreement called the 'Black Sea Grain Initiative' was in effect between Russia and Ukraine. The agreement, mediated by the UN and Turkey, allowed for the lifting of the blockade on some ports, which enabled the safe export of grain through the Black Sea via a humanitarian route. On 17 July 2023 Russia unilaterally withdrew from the treaty (European Council, 2024). Ukraine had to divert almost 50% of its exports from the blockaded Black Sea ports to Poland, Hungary, Romania and other neighbouring countries. The European Commission (EC) and EU countries backed this move by establishing alternative export routes or "Solidarity lanes" for Ukrainian agricultural goods to ensure that its exports could reach global markets. Grains, oilseeds, and other commodities were transported from Ukraine's western border through land and river to neighbouring countries for export to the rest of the world. Rather than leaving the EU's eastern member states, a significant proportion of the produce has flooded local markets. In response, on 15 April 2023, the Polish government enacted a unilateral ban on the import of Ukrainian agricultural products, citing the need to protect the Polish agricultural sector. Afterward, Bulgaria, Hungary, Slovakia, and Romania also implemented this measure.

The EC initially opposed the unilateral decisions of Eastern European countries. Finally, the EU has temporarily introduced preventative measures on imports of four agricultural products – wheat, maize, rapeseed, and sunflower seeds – originating in Ukraine due to the logistical bottlenecks and limited grain storage capacity experienced in these five states (European Commission, 2023). It is worth noting that listed sensitive products were allowed to be circulated freely in all of the EU's member states, except for mentioned frontline ones. If the products had to be transported across the territory of the five countries, this could be done under the common customs transit procedure or they could be exported outside the EU to another country or territory. The preventative measures came into effect on 2 May 2023 and were to last until 5 June 2023 but were phased out by 15 September 2023. On 16 September 2023, the EC lifted temporary ban on Ukrainian grain after Ukraine agreed to tighten controls over its agricultural exports.

As for Poland, Hungary, and Slovakia, they were not satisfied with the EU's decision to end this restrictive measure. Despite the EC's disagreement, they unilaterally announced national bans to protect their local farmers (Gijs, 2023; Liboreiro, 2023). Poland has indefinitely banned the import of certain cereals and oilseeds from Ukraine, according to a decree issued by the Minister of Development and Technology, which came into force on 16 September 2023. The prohibition did not apply to external transit and the common transit procedure provided that the transit conclude at seaports in Gdansk, Gdynia, Swinoujscie, Szczecin, Kolobrzeg, or outside Poland (Regulation of the Minister of Development and Technology..., 2023). In mid-September 2023, the Hungarian government banned imports of sensitive products, including various cereals, from Ukraine.

The Ukrainian authorities, on the other hand, welcomed the EC decision. However, they expressed dismay at the actions of Poland, Slovakia and Hungary, which had ignored it, and warned they would take retaliatory measures against these countries. These included taking the case to the World Trade Organization (WTO) and imposing restrictions on imports of Polish fruit and vegetables, among others. On 18 September 2023, Ukraine filed a lawsuit against Poland, Hungary, and Slovakia before the WTO for unilaterally banning Ukrainian grain exports, which it says "violates their international obligations" (Foote, 2023; WTO, 2023a, 2023b).

In March 2024, the European Parliament adopted changes to the regulation for extending trade liberalisation measures with Ukraine, supporting EU farmers' demands (Mambro, 2024). On 20 March 2024, the European Council and the European Parliament provisionally agreed to renew the suspension of import duties and quotas on Ukrainian exports to the EU for another year (until 5 June 2025), reaffirming "the EU's unwavering political and economic support for Ukraine, after two years of Russia's military aggression". The EU also decided to strengthen the protection of vulnerable agricultural products by enhancing the existing safeguards on temporary trade liberalisation measures. These measures should consider any negative impact on the markets of one or more member states, not just the EU market. A new automatic safeguard mechanism will require the Commission to reintroduce tariff-rate quotas if imports of poultry, eggs, sugar, oats, maize, groats, and honey exceed the average quantities imported in 2022 and 2023 (Council of the European Union, 2024). Unfortunately, the temporary agreement did not limit Ukrainian exports of wheat and barley. The proposed restrictions were less severe than those advocated by some countries, such as Poland. In addition, the years before the invasion, when Ukrainian exports to the EU were much lower, were not taken into account as the reference period for the import ceilings.

Following the Russian invasion, Ukraine had to divert almost half of its supplies from blockaded Black Sea ports to neighbouring countries such as Poland, Hungary and Romania. The European Commission and EU countries supported Ukraine by setting up alternative export routes, called "Solidarity Lanes", to ensure that Ukrainian agricultural products could reach global markets. In July 2022, Ukraine, Russia, Turkey and the United Nations established the Black Sea Grain Initiative with the objective of ensuring a stable supply of grain, addressing global food security concerns and mitigating the impact of rising food prices. Russia left this initiative in July 2023, despite its success. The EU condemned this move. The transportation of grains, oilseeds, and other commodities from Ukraine's western border through land and river solidarity lanes to neighbouring countries for export to the rest of the world was necessary. However, instead of leaving the EU's eastern member states, a significant portion of the produce has flooded local markets.

2. Trade between Ukraine and the EU

Since the start of the war, Ukraine's economy has become increasingly dependent on agricultural and food exports, which account for more than half of the country's export revenues (53% in 2022, compared to 40% in 2021). Despite the significance of these exports, a decline of USD 4.3 billion was observed in 2022, representing a 15.5% decrease (Taran, 2023).

Looking at the more extended period, following the implementation of the DCFTA, trade between Ukraine and the EU has grown steadily in both directions, recovering from the effects of the Maidan revolution (the turn of 2013 and 2014). There was also a growing trend in mutual trade in the "food and beverages" group, with a rising negative trade balance of the EU with Ukraine (Figure 1). Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 360-370 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.035



Source: author's compilation based on Eurostat; Data set: EU27 (from 2020) trade by SITC product group Fig. 1. EU trade with Ukraine by "food and beverages" group, January 2013 - September 2023

The surge in the value of Ukraine's agri-food exports to the EU was due to the increase in their volume, which was caused by the suspension of duties and tariff quotas on their import from June 2022. Although the value of EU imports from Ukraine fell sharply at the start of the Russian invasion, it has risen again, peaking at over EUR 1 billion in November and December 2022. The EU's temporary preventive measures applied to Poland, Hungary, Slovakia, Romania, and Bulgaria between May and September 2023 led to a reduction in Ukrainian exports to the EU.

A critical question is how the EU trade policy rules following the outbreak of the war in Ukraine have affected the volume of disputed agricultural products imported into the from that country. Increased importation, mainly of wheat and meslin (Figure 2), was evident after the autonomous trade measures were introduced in June 2022. The exceptional and temporary preventive measures applied by the EU to Poland, Hungary, Slovakia, Romania and Bulgaria in May 2023 hampered grain imports, but the trend reversed after their removal in September 2023.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 360-370 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.035



Source: author's compilation based on Eurostat data (Eurostat, 2024)

Fig. 2. Volumes of wheat and meslin imports from Ukraine to the EU27, 2021-2024

The volume of imports of wheat and meslin from Ukraine increased significantly in 2022 and 2023, being 11 and 22 times higher respectively on an annual basis than in 2021. The burden of importing cereals placed on Poland and the other four countries is reflected in their shares of the EU's wheat and meslin supplies from Ukraine (Fig. 3), which were many times higher in 2022 and 2023 than in previous years. According to available Eurostat data, allowing for comparison, Poland, Hungary, and Romania's combined share skyrocketed from 0.5% in 2018 to 40% in 2022. It remained relatively high (10%) in 2023 despite trade disputes between these countries and Ukraine.



Source: author's calculations based on Eurostat data (Eurostat, 2024)



3. The role of solidarity lanes in trade between Ukraine and the EU

In addition to a series of measures designed to support Ukrainian agricultural exports as a gesture of solidarity, a new export corridor was established in May 2022, following the disruption of transit through

the Black Sea caused by Russia. This initiative was continued. For example, on 11 January 2024, the EC approved, under the EU state aid rules, a EUR 126 million Romanian scheme to support investments in ports facing increased trade flows following war, which EU cohesion funds will partly finance. By facilitating trade flows to and from Ukraine, the project will contribute to the functioning of the EU-Ukraine Solidarity Lanes (EU NEIGHBOURS east, 2024).

What are the effects of the EU-UA Solidarity Lanes? Between May 2022 and January 2024, Ukraine shipped approximately 63.7 million tonnes of grain, oilseeds, and related products via new transport routes, including rail, road, and inland waterways (Fig. 4). Approximately 58% of Ukraine's total grain production has been exported since the onset of the conflict. Black Sea ports have facilitated about 42% of Ukraine's grain exports.



Months

Source: author's compilation based on European Commission, 2024 Fig. 4. Export of grains, oilseeds and other related products from Ukraine via the Solidarity Lanes

It is crucial to acknowledge that there are concerns regarding alternative export routes from Ukraine through Europe. Ukrainian food exports are accumulating in Eastern Europe and failing to reach their intended destinations, threatening developing countries' food security. Simultaneously, Ukrainian exports via those routes harm farmers and consumers in certain EU countries.

4. Reactions of EU farmers to the liberalisation of agricultural trade with Ukraine

The literature on international political economy highlights how political and diplomatic relations play a crucial role in determining trade flows between countries. Some trade policy models consider the influence of pressure groups, which are individuals or organizations that come together to achieve desired policy outcomes in government and society. According to researchers, special interest groups are the main drivers of order and disorder in global economic relations, including by influencing trade policy choices (Grossman & Helpman, 1994; Osgood, 2021; Swinnen, 2010). Public choice theory states that policy outcomes are determined by interactions between elected officials, who provide specific public policies, and organized interest groups that express demand for policies that increase the economic rents derived by interest groups (Krueger, 1974; Zawojska, 2011). Political opposition from individuals or groups at risk of

harm to their well-being due to specific political actions may cause resistance to trade policy. Domestic interest groups seek to protect or liberalize the market because the desired policies enable them to maintain or improve their welfare.

Farmers in countries on Ukraine's periphery, such as Poland, Hungary, Slovakia, Romania and Bulgaria, have suffered severe losses as a result of the surge in tariff-free, low-cost grain from Ukraine, which, unlike grain produced in the EU, is not subject to strict regulations on production and food standards. These imports saturated local markets, leading to decreased prices and losses to local farmers (Cervera, 2023; Talach, 2024; Vos & Glauber, 2023). The arisen grain conflict can be analysed through different theoretical frameworks, one of which is the Exit, Voice, and Loyalty framework. Drawing on Albert Hirschman's (Hirschman, 1970) metaphors of "exit" and "voice", it can be argued that farmers who lack the option to disengage from agricultural activity, due to their assets specificity, resort to collective action to have a stronger political voice (the public expression of protest), and pursue their economic interests through the political system. Farmers' protest movements are meant to mobilize public opinion and put pressure on decision-makers.

Farmers' large-scale protests and demonstrations against national and European agricultural policies have recently occurred in around half of EU countries, including Germany, France, Poland, Romania, and Belgium (Farm Europe, 2024; Rose, 2024). The reasons for these protests vary. In Germany, for instance, farmers were concerned about planned cuts in diesel subsidies. Farmers in Poland and other Central and Eastern European countries were obstructing roadways and border crossings to impede the importation of cheap grains and other products from Ukraine (Riegert, 2024).

Polish farmers have taken action to protest against what they perceive to be unfair trading practices by blocking the Ukraine-Poland border. This was in response to the unsatisfactory European Commission's proposed safeguard mechanisms to protect agricultural producers from the effects of its liberalised trade policy with Ukraine (Dodd & Welsh, 2024). Representatives of Polish agricultural organizations forced an agreement with Poland's Minister of Agriculture in March 2024 regarding maintaining the embargo on agricultural products from Ukraine and regulating trade relations with this country. The parties declared that access to the Polish market must be controlled for cereals, rapeseed, corn, sugar, poultry, eggs, soft fruits, and apples. After signing this agreement, some protests were suspended but the blockade at the border crossings continued.

Following the protests of farmers across the EU who are dissatisfied with the EU's agricultural and trade policy, there is a noticeable increase in tensions between Ukraine and EU member states, particularly those neighbouring Ukraine. On the other hand, these protests have garnered widespread public support in some EU countries, such as Poland and France. It is challenging to find a satisfactory solution for both sides, as the dilemma between solidarity with Ukraine and the prosperity of EU farmers needs to be solved in politics.

Conclusions and recommendations

1) The impact of international agricultural trade goes beyond economic considerations, as it can also have significant socio-political implications. This trade can help build and strengthen diplomatic relationships, providing valuable opportunities for nations to work together. However, trade imbalances, unfair trade, regulatory standards, sanitary requirements, and tariffs can disrupt agricultural trade patterns and strain diplomatic relations. This sector plays a vital role in the political domain, as demonstrated by Ukraine's trade cooperation with the EU and its member states. The development of economic and political relations between the EU and Ukraine, presented in the paper, highlights the complexity of international trade issues and can provide for controversy. Despite this, the authors of

this paper are optimistic about the benefits of agricultural trade, recognizing its potential to foster positive relations between nations and promote economic prosperity.

2) Researchers, farmers, politicians, and other stakeholders will be able to assess all mutual gains and losses from liberalized agri-food trade between the EU countries and Ukraine after the end of the war, which started in 2022. But even before the war is over, the EU institutions should take action under the Common Agricultural Policy and trade policy to balance the interests of all member states and their agri-food sectors with EU solidarity towards Ukraine. As this article shows, the implementation of the Autonomous Trade Measures liberalising trade with Ukraine has harmed farmers in some EU countries, and their continuation may increase this harm. The EU and national government's commitment to protecting the interests of local farmers can include, among others, ensuring that the quality of imported agricultural products meets the highest EU standards.

3) Politicians at the national and EU levels need to consider the interests of local farmers. Ignoring their demands could lead to further unrest, such as street protests and road or border blockades. This type of reaction by farmers, who are worried about the increase in agricultural products, especially cereals, entering the EU from Ukraine, which has been visible so far, could develop into more severe actions threatening the country's stability.

4) The resilience of the EU agri-food market and the prosperity of local farmers, the entire agri-food sector, and consumers depend significantly on the EU's internal policies and its future diplomatic and economic relations with Ukraine, both during and after the ongoing war. These factors are crucial and need to be considered by academics and practitioners.

Bibliography

- 1. Alexander, P., Arneth, A., Henry, R., Maire, J., Rabin, S., & Rounsevell, M.D.A. (2023). High energy and fertilizer prices are more damaging than food export curtailment from Ukraine and Russia for food prices, health and the environment. Nature Food, 4(1), 84–95.
- Association Agreement between the European Union and its Member States, of the One Part, and Ukraine, of the Other Part, Pub. L. No. O.J., L:161. (2014). Retrieved from: https://eurlex.europa.eu/eli/agree_internation/2014/295/oj/eng
- Blinov, O., & Djankov, S. (2023). The all-out aggression requires an all-out response. In Y. Gorodnichenko & V. Rashkovan (Eds.). Supporting Ukraine: More critical than ever (pp. 89–93). Centre for Economic Policy Research, London.
- Cervera, M. (2023, March 20). Too little, too late: "Abandoned" EU farmers crushed by Ukrainian food imports. FoodIngredientsFirst. Retrieved from: https://fif.cnsmedia.com/a/iM31__a1Ukmc=
- Chepeliev, M., Maliszewska, M., & Pereira, M.F.S. (2023). The war in Ukraine, food security and the role for Europe. EuroChoices, 22(1), 4–13.
- Council of the European Union. (2009, May 7). Joint Declaration of the Prague Eastern Partnership Summit, Prague, 7 May 2009. European Commission - European Commission. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/PRES_09_78
- Council of the European Union. (2024, March 20). Ukraine: Council and Parliament reach a deal to renew EU's autonomous trade measures. Retrieved from: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/pressreleases/2024/03/20/ukraine-council-and-parliament-reach-a-deal-to-renew-eu-s-autonomous-trade-measures/
- 8. Dodd, E., & Welsh, C. (2024, February 20). Fracturing solidarity: The grain trade dispute between Ukraine and the European Union. Retrieved from: https://www.csis.org/analysis/fracturing-solidarity-grain-trade-dispute-between-ukraine-and-european-union
- EU NEIGHBOURS east. (2024, January 12). EU-Ukraine Solidarity Lanes: European Commission approves €126 million Romanian State aid scheme to support ports facing increased trade flows. Retrieved from: https://euneighbourseast.eu/news/latest-news/eu-ukraine-solidarity-lanes-european-commission-approves-e126million-romanian-state-aid-scheme-to-support-ports-facing-increased-trade-flows/
- 10. European Commission. (2004). Communication from the Commission. European Neighbourhood Policy. Strategy paper. Retrieved from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/ALL/?uri=celex%3A52004DC0373
- 11. European Commission. (2023, May 2). Preventive measures on limited imports from Ukraine [Press Release]. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip_23_2562
- 12. European Commission. (2024). EU-Ukraine Solidarity Lanes. Retrieved from: https://eu-solidarityukraine.ec.europa.eu/eu-assistance-ukraine/eu-ukraine-solidarity-lanes_en

- 13. European Council. (2024, January 22). Ukrainian grain exports explained. Retrieved from: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/infographics/ukrainian-grain-exports-explained/
- 14. Eurostat. (2024). Statistics. EU trade since 1988 by HS2-4-6 and CN8. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ds-045409__custom_10562985/default/table?lang=en
- 15.Farm Europe. (2024, January 23). Farm protests: Structural responses from the EU needed. Retrieved from: https://www.farm-europe.eu/news/farm-protests-structural-responses-from-the-eu-needed/
- 16. Foote, N. (2023, September 18). Ukraine files WTO lawsuit against Poland, Slovakia, Hungary over agri import ban. Retrieved from: https://www.euractiv.com/section/agriculture-food/news/ukraine-files-wto-lawsuit-againstpoland-slovakia-hungary-over-agri-import-ban/
- 17. Gijs, C. (2023, September 16). Poland, Hungary, Slovakia impose own Ukraine grain bans as EU measure expires. POLITICO. Retrieved from: https://www.politico.eu/article/poland-hungary-slovakia-extend-grain-bans-despiteblocs-lift/
- 18. Glauben, T., Svanidze, M., Götz, L., Prehn, S., Jamali Jaghdani, T., Djuric, I., & Kuhn, L. (2022). The war in Ukraine, agricultural trade and risks to global food security. Intereconomics, 57(3), 157–163.
- 19. Grossman, G. M., & Helpman, E. (1994). Protection for sale. The American Economic Review, 84(4), 833-850.
- 20. Hirschman, A.O. (1970). Exit, Voice, and Loyalty. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- 21. Incaltarau, C., Sharipov, I., Pascariu, G. C., & Moga, T. L. (2022). Growth and convergence in Eastern Partnership and Central Asian countries since the dissolution of the USSR—embarking on different development paths? Development Policy Review, 40(1), e12547.
- 22. Krueger, A.O. (1974). The political economy of the rent-seeking society. The American Economic Review, 64(3), 291–303.
- 23. Liboreiro, J. (2023, September 15). EU lifts bans on Ukrainian grain but Poland and Hungary keep embargo. Euronews. Retrieved from: https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2023/09/15/brussels-lifts-bans-on-ukrainiangrain-as-kyiv-agrees-to-impose-effective-measures-to-avoi
- 24. Mambro, A.D. (2024, March 14). EU Parliament approves farmer-backed amendments on trade benefits for Ukraine. Retrieved from: https://www.euractiv.com/section/agriculture-food/news/eu-parliament-approves-farmer-backed-amendments-on-trade-benefits-for-ukraine/
- 25. Mbah, R.E., & Wasum, F. (2022). Russian-Ukraine 2022 war: A review of the economic impact of Russian-Ukraine crisis on the USA. Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal, 9, 144–153.
- 26. Odening, M., & Hüttel, S. (2022). The Russia-Ukraine conflict Implications for farms and agricultural markets: Introduction to the special issue. German Journal of Agricultural Economics, 71(3), 111–113.
- 27. Osgood, I. (2021). Interest groups and order in global economic relations. In J.C.W. Pevehouse & L. Seabrooke (Eds.). The Oxford Handbook of International Political Economy (online). Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Raik, K., Blockmans, S., Osypchuk, A., & Suslov, A. (2024). EU Policy towards Ukraine: Entering geopolitical competition over European order. The International Spectator, 59(1), 39–58.
- 29. Regulation of the Minister of Development and Technology of September 15, 2023 on the ban on the import of agricultural products from Ukraine, O.J.RP, 2023, No 1898 (2023).
- 30. Riegert, B. (2024, February 25). UE. Są pieniądze dla rolników, ale protesty trwają (EU. There is money for farmers, but the protests continue). Retrieved from: https://www.dw.com/pl/polityka-rolna-ue-s%C4%85pieni%C4%85dze-dla-rolnik%C3%B3w-ale-protesty-trwaj%C4%85/a-68362497
- 31. Rose, M. (2024, February 1). Europe's angry farmers fuel backlash against EU ahead of elections. Reuters. Retrieved from: https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/europes-angry-farmers-fuel-backlash-against-eu-aheadelections-2024-02-01/
- 32. Swinnen, J.F.M. (2010). The political economy of agricultural and food policies: Recent contributions, new insights, and areas for further research. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy, 32(1), 33–58.
- 33. Tałach, S. (2024, February 19). Produkty z Ukrainy importujemy na potęgę. (We import products from Ukraine on a large scale). Retrieved from: https://biznes.interia.pl/rolnictwo/news-wiemy-ile-zywnosci-sprowadzamy-z-ukrainy-w-czolowce-nie-tylk,nId,7341203
- 34. Taran, S. (2023). EU-Ukraine wartime trade: Overcoming difficulties, forging a European path. Discussion Paper. European Policy Centre, Brussels.
- 35. Vidnyanskyj, S. (2022). Ukraine European Union: A new phase of relations in the context of the 2014-2022 Russia-Ukraine war. International Relations of Ukraine: Scientific Searches and Findings, 31, 10-37.
- 36. Vos, R., & Glauber, J. (2023, April 26). Eastern European farmers protest gluts of Ukraine food exports: The struggle to keep solidarity lanes open. Retrieved from: https://www.ifpri.org/blog/eastern-european-farmers-protest-gluts-ukraine-food-exports-struggle-keep-solidarity-lanes
- 37.WTO. (2023a). WTO | dispute settlement DS619: Poland Measures concerning agricultural products from Ukraine. Retrieved from: https://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds619_e.htm
- 38. WTO. (2023b, September 21). Ukraine initiates WTO dispute complaints against Hungary, Poland and Slovak Republic. Retrieved from: https://www.wto.org/english/news_e/news23_e/ds619_620_621rfc_21sep23_e.htm
- 39. Yıldız, T. (2023). The European Union-Russia–Ukraine triangle: Historical background of relations, Russia–Ukraine war, and future prospects. In G. Altuğ & D. Saygın (Eds.), The European Union in the Twenty-First Century (pp. 195–210). Emerald Publishing, London.
- 40. Zawojska, A. (2011). Rent-seeking and lobbying in the EU's Common Agricultural Policy. Roczniki Nauk Rolniczych. Seria G, Ekonomika Rolnictwa, 98(3), 63–72.

RURAL DEVELOPMENT AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP

ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC LOSSES OF THE AGRICULTURAL SECTOR **OF UKRAINE AS A RESULT OF RUSSIAN AGGRESSION**

Gediminas Buciunas¹, Doctor in Law, Associate Professor; Mykola Lakhyzha², Doctor of Science in Public Administration, Professor; **Oleh Didenko**³, PhD in Public Administration, Associate Professor

¹Vytautas Magnus University, Academy of Public Security at Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania; ²National University "Yuri Kondratyuk Poltava Polytechnic", Public Service Academy of Labor, Social Relations and Tourism, Ukraine; ³National University "Yuri Kondratyuk Poltava Polytechnic", Deputy of the Poltava Regional Council, Ukraine

Abstract. The article presents the results of a study of economic and environmental losses of Ukraine's agricultural sector as the result of Russian aggression. It is noted that a significant part of environmental issues in Ukraine are the result of global processes (warming, biodiversity loss, pollution, overpopulation and urbanization, harmful effects of heavy industry), also, of the Soviet era energy and resource-intensive economy, consequences of the Chornobyl accident (radioactive contamination), degradation of agricultural land, military infrastructure, etc. After gaining independence these problems not only did not diminish, but also deepened. However, efforts to ensure environmental protection were interrupted by the military attack of the Russian Federation. The authors collected and summarized information on the amount of environmental and economic losses of the agricultural sector of Ukraine. Their interrelation is emphasized. The sources are analysed. It is noted that in wartime accurate accounting of losses and damages is impossible, so the main attention is paid to the analysis of their causes, structure, and consequences. It is shown that the economic and environmental damage caused by the war was inflicted not only on Ukraine, but also to neighbouring countries and poses a potential danger to the World. The problems associated with increased competition in the European agricultural market due to the impact of the war and the inaccessibility of traditional sales markets are highlighted. Based on the Ukraine's recovery plans and regional programs, the authors identify key areas of work for the future. The significant support from the United States, the European Union and other countries and its importance in the future to overcome the consequences of the war are emphasized. The authors have summarized the common economic and environmental problems that need to be addressed.

Key words: Ukraine, public administration, ecology, agricultural sector, impact of war.

JEL code: H56

Introduction

Many of the environmental issues in Ukraine are the result of global processes (warming, loss of biodiversity, pollution, overpopulation and urbanization, harmful impact of heavy industry etc.) or the legacy of the Soviet era energy and resource-intensive economy, consequences of the Chernobyl accident (radioactive contamination), degradation of agricultural land, military infrastructure etc. After gaining independence, these problems have not only not diminished, but have deepened the destruction of forests and green spaces and soil depletion due to their barbaric use. Waste disposal problems also became more and more frequent. Environmental and economic problems of the agricultural sector are an important part of the overall problems, the solution of which were realized in attempts to create an ecological network of Ukraine (Zakon Ukrainy..., 2024).

The materials of the study "Environmental Trends: Citizens' Views" conducted in November-December 2020 by the Gorshenin Institute in cooperation with the Friedrich Ebert Foundation in Ukraine, (Ekolohichni trendy..., 2021) showed that many Ukrainians were concerned about the state of the environment, noting pollution and water shortages, global warming, increasing waste, the danger of nuclear power etc. At the same time the war in Ukraine, socioeconomic difficulties, and the impact of the pandemic are worrying factors.

¹ E-mail address: gediminas.buciunas@vdu.lt, gediminas1967@vdu.lt ORCID ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1826-0527. ² E-mail address: Lachisha@ukr.net, ORCID ID: https//orcid.org/0000-0001-8676-4578.

³ E-mail address: oleh.didenko08@ukr.net, ORCID ID: https//orcid.org/0009-0006-8622-4938.

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 372-380 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.036

The research conducted for the 30th anniversary of independence revealed significant environmental problems and allowed us to identify priorities for the coming years. It was noted that there was an accumulation of environmental problems primarily in the temporarily occupied territories of Donbas and Crimea, as well as deforestation and illegal amber mining, as well as environmental damage from accumulation of waste. At the same time, the formation of a powerful environmental movement, increased use of renewable energy sources, creation of the of the State Energy Efficiency Fund, implementation of environmental programs etc. For example, the share of electricity produced from renewable sources (solar, wind and bioenergy plants in Ukraine) increased from 1% in 2014 to more than 7% in 2020, and the number of owners of home solar stations over the same period increased from a few dozen to 30 thousand. Energy substitution and saving programs have also intensified significantly. The data summarized in Table 1 convincingly demonstrate the breadth of the tasks set (Ekolohichni priorytety..., 2021).

Table 1

Tasks	Components of implementation
Climatically neutral economy	Decarbonization of the energy, transport and industry sectors
Energy independence	Refusal to import fossil fuels
Renewable energy	Development of renewable energy sources.
Abandonment of nuclear power energy	Decommissioning of nuclear power plant units/blocks, transition to renewable energy
Clean water	Implementation of modern the European Union environmental standards and strengthening of environmental supervision of the agricultural sector, as well as investments into the infrastructure
Clean air	Abandonment of outdated, old technologies, strict control of enterprises
Sustainable agricultural and good practices in agricultural sector	Development of small and medium-sized farms, ecological production
Refusal from coal	Revitalization, replacement with modern energy sources, creation of new jobs
Development modern system of public transportation	Reducing the number and level of use of private means of transportation mainly cars, creation of modern urban infrastructure
Adaptation to climate change	Making environmentally friendly decisions
Energy efficiency	Abandonment of energy-intensive sectors of the economy,
A well-established system of handling with waste	Separate waste collection, in-depth recycling, reuse of reuse of goods and packaging.

Environmental priorities of Ukraine as of 2021

Source: author's calculations based on Ekolohichni priorytety..., 2021

However, since 2014, environmental and economic problems have emerged, and with the intensification of Russian aggression in 2022 environmental and economic problems related to the hostilities have become more acute. At the same time, experts note that since the beginning of the full-scale war, access to environmental data has been significantly complicated or closed by the authorities, who citing security concerns or lack of funding. There is no single tool for free access to state monitoring data, and all subjects of state monitoring collect, process and use data independently, mostly without publication of primary data (Vplyv voiennykh dii ..., 2023).

Materials and methods

Environmental issues in Ukraine are constantly in the centre of attention of the public and authorities; and with the beginning of the Russian aggression, they are increasingly worrying the world community. It is advisable to distinguish two periods of studying this issue: pre-war and the time of Russian military aggression. In the pre-war period, the most important sources of environmental information were official reports and materials of public discussions were important sources of environmental information. During the war, the main sources were materials of periodicals and publications of research carried out jointly by Ukrainian and foreign scientists within the framework of grant programs. An important methodological document is the Law of Ukraine "On Environmental Impact Assessment" (2017), which is aimed at preventing environmental damage, ensuring environmental safety, environmental protection, rational use and reproduction of natural resources, in the process of making decisions on economic activities that may have a significant impact on the environment, taking into account state, public and private interests (Pro otsinku vplyvu ..., 2017).

The regulations governing the activities of government authorities, businesses and the public under martial law. The specifics of the activities of the Ukrainian authorities under martial law has already been analysed (Lakhyzha M., Kachan Y., 2022).

The main comprehensive source is the National Environmental Reports of Ukraine, which have been prepared since 1992 and submitted to the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine by the Ministry of Environmental Protection and Natural Resources of Ukraine. The latest available report is for 2021 (Natsionalna dopovid ..., 2021).

Annual reports on the state of the environment in the regions of Ukraine are prepared by regional state administrations and posted on their websites (Dopovid pro stan ...,2022).

An important source is the results of the implementation of international documents signed by Ukraine. For example, the National Reports of Ukraine to the Convention on Biological Convention. Research is periodically conducted jointly with international organizations. For example, in 2016 the World Bank published "*The Environmental Analysis of Ukraine"*. After 2015, attention was paid to the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals and relevant information. Annual regional reports on the state of the environment are also important documents. However, during the war, some businesses took advantage of their right to limit reporting, including on the state of the environment. Some environmental researches were done by Ukrainian scientists within the framework of international projects. For example, in 2017, the results of an environmental damage assessment in eastern part of Ukraine were published (Otsinka, 2017; Yehorycheva S., Hudz T., Lakhyzha M. 2020; Garafonova O., Zhosan A., Khudolei V., Tyukhtenko N., Tymkiv I., Riabets N., 2023; Garafonova, O., Zhosan, H., Marhasova, V., Tkalenko, N., & Trukhachova, K. 2022); Teixeirada Silva, Jaime A., Kobilianska I., Kucher A., 2023).

We have also traced criticism of official materials, which mainly concerns insufficient involvement of stakeholders in their preparation and low level of influence on policymaking. This criticism is usually made by representatives of human rights and environmental organizations. As example is the publication of the executive director of the "Green World", the head of the NGO "Helsinki Initiative - XXI" O. Stepanenko dedicated to protect environmental rights of Ukrainians (Stepanenko, O., 2024).

The question naturally arises of the methodology for calculating environmental and economic losses. The methodological basis for determining losses is based on internationally recognized standards. At the state level, such work is carried out by state and local authorities with the involvement of civil society and business self-government bodies. For example, recommendations for farmers and resources for recording losses were developed by experts from the USAID Agricultural and Rural Development Program, and the All-Ukrainian Agrarian Council. For documenting losses, farmers are encouraged to contact the police or the Security Service of Ukraine; military administration or local authorities; other authorities in certain cases to the State Environmental Inspectorate, State Service of Ukraine for Food Safety and Consumer Protection, State Service of Ukraine for Geodesy, Cartography and Cadastre, State Water Agency for proper

calculation of the amount of damage. It is also proposed to leave information about losses on the Internet portals created by the initiative of the Office of the President of Ukraine and the Office of the Prosecutor General of Ukraine on the following the Internet portals (https://dokaz.gov.ua/ and https://warcrimes.gov.ua/). The following are recorded evidence of damage to facilities and property, direct losses, and lost profits. Ukraine's recovery projects contain specific proposals and help to better orientate the areas of work. An example is the for Ukraine (Draft Ukraine Recovery Plan..., 2022).

The authors of the article used the following research methods: system analysis - to define and characterize the object and subject of the research; abstract-logical method - for scientific substantiation of conclusions regarding the formation of a strategy for the development of the agricultural sector in Ukraine).

Public goods - theoretical background. Results of the support

The analysis of environmental issues in Ukraine during the period 2022-2023 primarily concentrated on war-related issues. At the same time, more and more attention is being paid to the growing environmental and economic problems. Environmental and economic processes taking place in Ukraine, which is in the geographical centre of Europe, have a major impact not only on neighbouring countries but also on the whole of Europe. For example, the harmful impact of emissions from Ukrainian coal-fired power plants is felt in neighbouring countries, especially in Poland and Romania. Awareness of the negative impact of the war on the environment in the first days of its intensification became noticeable not only in Ukraine but also in neighbouring countries. For example, in March 2022 the Polish newspaper "Rzeczpospolita" wrote: "Although the greatest tragedy of the war in Ukraine is undoubtedly the suffering of its inhabitants, experts warn that Russian aggression also poses serious environmental risks" (Wojna w Ukrainie, 2022).

The analysis of the Polish press in 2022-2023 shows a constant appearance of materials in it, related to the Russian-Ukrainian war and its negative impact on the environment and economy. The threat is pointed out not only to Ukraine and Europe, but also to the World. For example, J. Behr emphasized that the trench warfare turned hundreds of square kilometres of fields into scorched wastelands with contaminated soil and groundwater. Unique steppe and wetland ecosystems of southern and eastern Ukraine, habitats of endangered species of plants and animals. The Russians' blowing up of the dam in Nova Kakhovka caused the largest environmental disaster in Europe in many years: a major flood in the Lower Dnipro Valley and pollution of the waters of the river and the Black Sea. However, the war could be a catalyst for positive change in the long run. Rebuilding Ukraine could change the post-Soviet model of utilizing the natural resources of its South and East, based on heavy industry and large-scale agriculture. In particular, the natural reconstruction of the former floodplains (Velykyi Luh) offers a chance to restore biodiversity in this most transformed by anthropogenic activity in the country (Berh, J., 2023).

In June 2022, the Minister of Environmental Protection and Natural Resources of Ukraine Strelets, R. called the environmental situation in Ukraine caused by the war a ticking time bomb, naming 257 known cases of ecocide at that time, including the explosions of fuel and lubricants, oil product storage facilities; air strikes on enterprises that use hazardous chemicals in production; destruction of sewage treatment facilities; damage to soil cover, burning of forests etc. (Strilets, R., 2022).

Experts of the NGO "Green World - Friends of the Earth" within the framework of the international program "Clean Air for Ukraine" with the financial support of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Czech analysed the damage caused by Russian aggression to the environment in Ukraine, identifying three main areas: 1) massive release of toxic substances into the environment of a military nature; 2) physical impact (fires, explosions, soil damage etc.); 3) destruction of the environment due to man-made disasters caused

by military actions (Anhurets, O., Khazan, P., Kolesnykova, K., Kushch, M., Chernokhova, M., Havranek, M., 2022).

The unprecedented consequences of the Russian aggressors' explosion of the Kakhovka hydroelectric power station on 6 June 2023, has led to the draining of the reservoir and unexpected flooding of the areas below the dam. An expert, the head of the Ukrvodokanalekologiya Association Novytskyi identifies four categories of consequences of the Kakhovka hydropower plant explosion: 1) humanitarian (loss of centralized water supply and sanitation in many settlements of three regions - approximately 880 thousand people); 2) economic (stoppage of industrial production at many large enterprises, the threat to the nuclear power plant); 3) social (growth of unemployment, decline in living standards, domestic problems); 4) environmental (disaster that covers 5 thousand square kilometres - the estimated amount of damage is more than 55 billion UAH, the impact on the Black Sea ecosystem as a result of a decrease in water salinity (Novytskyi, D., 2023).

According to the Ministry of Economy of Ukraine daily environmental damage in Ukraine is growing by about 102 million Euros every day. The Ukrainian authorities and experts emphasize the need to start reconstruction now. Stage zero is the demining of more than 170 thousand square kilometres of the country's territory. Almost 6 million Ukrainians are at risk, 800 of whom have already fallen victim to mines.

Problems of the agricultural sector: the relationship between economic and environmental losses

The interconnectedness of economic and environmental problems in the agricultural sector was pointed out by Ukrainian scientists even before the full-scale war. The Ukrainian scientists have repeatedly pointed out the interconnection of economic and environmental problems in the agricultural sector. They emphasized the following deterioration of the ecological quality of the environment due to a significant increase in anthropogenic and anthropogenic and technogenic load on it (Mishenin, Ye., Yarova, I., Dutchenko, 2017; Hranovska L. 2007; Zinovchuk N.2007; Furdychko O., 2014).

The economic and environmental problems of the agricultural sector in 2000-2021 were actively considered through the prism of the principles of sustainable development: partnership, integration ecosystem and environmental management, justice for all generations, civilized competitiveness. However, despite discussions about changing the emphasis of economic policy more effectively confront the aggressor, Ukraine's economy remained bureaucratized, corrupt, and inefficient. Ukraine's export potential was determined primarily by monopolies concentrated in metallurgy and agriculture. The war has caused the breakdown of logistics chains, the blocking of markets, and environmental disasters at large livestock complexes, which makes functioning of of large-scale agro-holding companies particularly complicated. Therefore, in the first months of the war, it was necessary to urgently reduce the tax burden on business and stimulate the activities of small and medium-sized businesses, including the agricultural sector. Thanks to the measures taken in the context of a full-scale war, Ukraine's agricultural sector has shown considerable resilience. The main task of providing the population with food is crucially important as Ukraine remains one of the guarantors of food security in the world. However, the agricultural sector faced additional risks: loss of production and resource potential (reduction in the number of employees; temporarily occupied territories, the territories of military operations, the liberated territories disabled; loss of equipment); exit of individual producers from business; loss of part of the infrastructure (destruction of warehouses by the enemy, warehouses, granaries, logistics structure; blocking of sea and river ports; losses from power outages etc.) (Ahrarnyi sektor ekonomiky..., 2023).

According to the Ministry of Agrarian Policy and Food of Ukraine, due to military invasion, the sown area in Ukraine decreased by 25% in 2022. The sown area of all categories of farms in the government-controlled territory of Ukraine for the 2023 harvest was to be 21.8 million hectares, which is 6.8 million hectares less than in 2021 (21.8 million hectares versus 28.6 million hectares). The problems were particularly severe in those areas that were under temporary occupation and in the war zone. Thus, according to the of the central newspaper "Uriadovyi Kurier", in 2022 farmers in Kharkiv region sowed 68.4% less winter crops less winter crops than in 2021. According to the information of the district state administrations of the Kharkiv region, as of February 2023, 483.5 thousand hectares of agricultural land needed to be surveyed for its possible contamination caused by mines and explosive remnants of war, and another 72.3 thousand hectares of land of agricultural land where military operations took place needed to be surveyed after the end of hostilities. The war damaged industrial infrastructure: elevators, warehouses, large agricultural enterprises and small farms; more than 70 agricultural enterprises. Almost half of the agricultural machinery and equipment was damaged or stolen by the occupiers (Breslavets, B., 2023).

At the beginning of 2023, the International Marketing Group with the support of the organization "Help-Hilfe zur Selbsthilfe Ukraine" together with the Ukrainian Business Council conducted a representative survey of 400 small farms from all regions of Ukraine to assess the impact of the war on them and collect information about the needs of farmers. The biggest losses farmers suffered due to the destruction of production facilities; the suspension of investment projects; the destruction of transportation infrastructure; pressure on inflation and the exchange rate due to the narrowing of the range of domestic goods, energy shortages etc. In farmers' opinion, the most topical problems are: lack of skilled workers; raiding, shortcomings in settlements with retail chains networks; risks due to power outages; unpredictable actions of the state (Vplyv viny..., 2023).

In February 2023, the Law of Ukraine "On compensation for damage and destruction of certain categories of real estate objects as a result of hostilities, acts of terrorism, sabotage caused by the military aggression of the Russian Federation and the State Register of Property Damaged and destroyed as a result of hostilities, terrorist acts, sabotage caused by the armed aggression of the Russian Federation against Ukraine" entered into force. The state has adopted the following programs to support small and medium-sized businesses:

- grants for the creation of greenhouses and support for horticulture, berry growing and viticulture;
- budget subsidies per unit of cultivated agricultural land for agricultural activities to provide support to farms and other agricultural producers;
- a special budget subsidy for the maintenance of cows of all productivity areas to provide support to farms and other agricultural producers.

As of 24 February 2023, the losses, and damages of the agricultural sector in Ukraine were estimated at 40.2 billion US dollars. Agricultural land has suffered damage, farmland was particularly damaged because of pollution and contamination during the hostilities. The facts of pollution and soil contamination, as well as their extent, are established by authorized persons - representatives of the State Environmental Inspectorate of Ukraine, by inspecting the land plots, data from remote sensing of the land, research of soil samples obtained, processing of conclusions of any expert examinations, explanations, certificates, documents, materials, information, obtained, in particular, from any sources, operational reports of individuals and legal entities etc. The amount of damage caused to the owners of agricultural land plots is determined in accordance with the Procedure for Determining and Compensating Damages to landowners and land users, approved by the Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine of 19 April 1993, No. 284.

The issue of competition

Realizing the huge potential of the agricultural sector of Ukraine and taking care of its growth, it is worth paying attention to the problems that arise in connection with competition on the European market. This problem has been greatly exacerbated by difficulties in exporting grain and other goods to traditional markets in Africa and Asia. For example, in Poland already at the beginning of 2023 they wrote about "Polish troubles due to Ukrainian agricultural competition" (Bielecki T., 2023). The importance of this problem was also confirmed by the protests of Polish farmers.

Ukraine is already implementing several tasks related to the recovery from the hostilities. The first task is to minimize possible consequences, the second is to overcome losses and is to overcome losses and damage. According to the website of the Ministry of Economy of Ukraine, there are two Ukrainian armies in the country: the armies of defense and recovery. As of 20 November 2023, more than 70 thousand unemployed people were involved in public works under the "Army of Recovery" project, and they earned 462 million UAH for performing such work. The types of such work depend on the needs of the of the region (Armija vidnovlennia..., 2023).

Ensuring the development and submission of proposals to the President of Ukraine on Ukraine's recovery is one of the functions of the National Council for the consequences of the war, which was established on 22-04-2022. The Restoration Fund of Ukraine and other charitable organizations that offer or help Ukrainian citizens to use funds, who have suffered from the hostilities. The Draft Recovery Plan for Ukraine prepared by the National Council in mid-2022, as of 13 June 2022, estimated direct documented damage to infrastructure at almost 100 billion US dollars. The total indirect loss to the economy is 126.8 billion US dollars. Over the next period of the war, these costs increased significantly, which was especially evident after the occupiers blew up the Kakhovka hydroelectric power station.

Conclusions

1) Government documents and academic literature have repeatedly emphasized that it is impossible to make accurate estimates of damage and losses in wartime, especially in the field of ecology. Therefore, special attention is paid to documenting losses and damage according to international methodologies and standards. Some losses of natural ecosystems and unique natural sites are already irreplaceable, while the restoration of other losses (soil, forests, and the natural richness of flora and fauna in some areas) will take decades to restore.

2) Environmentalists are identifying the areas of loss and are concentrating their efforts for restoration: 1) damage to the nature reserve fund and other protected areas; 2) damage to forests areas; 3) damage to water resources; 4) damage as a result of attacks on infrastructure and industrial facilities; 5) military waste (destroyed equipment, destroyed and used ammunition); 6) emissions of hazardous substances into the atmosphere; 7) damage to land resources.

3) It is important to realize that the development of the Ukrainian agricultural sector creates competition for many countries producing agricultural products and may lead to structural changes in the economy of the European Union. First of all, we are talking about the agrarians of Poland and France. Therefore, a comprehensive approach is needed in this case as well. In our opinion, ecological production, which has been developing in Ukraine for a long time, has good prospects, as revealed by the example of Private Enterprise "Agroecology" and other enterprises of the Poltava region.

4) In the agricultural sector, the interconnection of economic and environmental losses is particularly noticeable and must be addressed comprehensively. While estimating the economic and environmental

damage caused by the military, it should be noted that not only Ukraine, but most countries in the world have suffered.

Bibliography

- 1. Ahrarnyi sektor ekonomiky: pidsumky 2022 ta prohnoz na 2023 rik. Natsionalnyi instytut stratehichnykh doslidzhen. https://niss.gov.ua/news/komentari-ekspertiv/ahrarnyy-sektor-ekonomiky-pidsumky-2022-ta-prohnoz-na-2023-rik [*The agricultural sector of the economy: the results of 2022 and the forecast for 2023.* National Institute of Strategic Studies. in Ukrainian]
- Anhurets, O., Khazan, P., Kolesnykova, K., Kushch, M., Chernokhova, M., Havranek, M. Naslidky dlia dovkillia viiny rosii proty Ukrainy 2022, p. 73. [Consequences for the environment of Russia's war against Ukraine in 2022. in Ukrainian]
- 3. Armiia vidnovlennia. Ministerstvo ekonomiky Ukrainy, 2023. https://www.me.gov.ua/News/Detail?lang=uk-UA&id=2dac904c-49c2-4396-8113-6e84bec53197&title=ArmiiaVidnovlennia-462-Mln. [Restoration Army. Ministry of Economy of Ukraine, 2023. in Ukrainian]
- Berh, J. Wojna z przyrodą. Wpływ rosyjskiej agresji na środowisko naturalne Ukrainy, 2023. https://www.osw.waw.pl/pl/publikacje/komentarze-osw/2023-12-07/wojna-z-przyroda-wplyw-rosyjskiej-agresjina-srodowisko [Impact of Russian aggression on Ukraine's natural environment, 2023. In Polish]
- Bielecki T. UE. Polski kłopot z ukraińską konkurencją rolną. DW. 30.01.2023. https://www.dw.com/pl/ue-polskik%C5%82opot-z-ukrai%C5%84sk%C4%85-konkurencj%C4%85-roln%C4%85/a-64560563 [Polish problems with Ukrainian agricultural competition. In Polish]
- 6. Breslavets, B. Ahrarna Kharkivshchyna: vtraty ta zdobutky pid chas viiny. https://ukurier.gov.ua/uk/articles/agrarna-harkivshina-vtrati-ta-zdobutki-pid-chas-vi/ [Agrarian Kharkiv region: losses and gains during the war. in Ukrainian]
- Dopovid pro stan navkolyshnoho pryrodnoho seredovyshcha v Kharkivskii oblasti u 2021 rotsi. 173 s. Kharkivska oblasna viiskova administratsiia. 3.11.2022. https://kharkivoda.gov.ua/content/documents/1182/118159/Attaches/regionalna__dopovid_2021_harkivska_oblas t.pdf [Report on the state of the surrounding natural environment in the Kharkiv region in 2021. In Ukrainian]
- 8. Draft Ukraine Recovery Plan. Materials of the working group "Audit of war damage", 2022.http://kyivheritage.com/sites/default/files/Ukraine.pdf [In Ukrainian]
- 9. Furdychko O.I. Ahroekolohiia: monohrafiia. K.: Ahrarna nauk a, 2014. 400 s. [Agroecology: monograph. In Ukraian]
- 10. Garafonova O., Zhosan A., Khudolei V., Tyukhtenko N., Tymkiv I., Riabets N. Strategic Model and Potential sources of financing for the post-war revitalization of agricultural Enterprises in the de-occupied Territories. FINANCIAL AND CREDIT ACTIVITY: PROBLEMS OF THEORY AND PRACTICE. Volume 2 (49), 2023 DOI: 10.55643/fcaptp.2.49.2023.3983
- 11. Garafonova, O., Zhosan, H., Marhasova, V., Tkalenko, N., & Trukhachova, K. (2021). Matrix method of competitive analysis of the results of economic activity of hospitality enterprises in the conditions of strategization? and digital transformation. Management theory and studies for rural business and infrastructure development. Volume 43 Issue2 Page 237-248.https://ejournals.vdu.lt/index.php/mtsrbid/article/vie w/2355
- 12. Yehorycheva S., Hudz T., Lakhyzha M. Modernization of the mechanism for financing rural development in Ukraine. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference. Annual international scientific conference economic science for rural development. 13 – 15 MAY 2020, JELGAVA. S. 78-85
- 13. Ekolohichni trendy v Ukraini: pohliad hromadian. K. 2021. 58 s. [Environmental trends in Ukraine: citizens' view. In Ukrainian]
- 14. Ekolohichni priorytety na nastupni 30 rokiv nezalezhnosti Ukrainy. EKODIIa. 2021. https://ecoaction.org.ua/30-rokiv-nezalezhnosti.html?gad_source=1&gclid=Cj0KCQiA4Y-sBhC6ARIsAGXF1g7rKXIIJRoNRRDIqqV0qASgqu0IFGmDnFMm8eYLQ35w7u4vQ1TQdnQaAjoxEALw_wcB [Environmental priorities for the next 30 years of Ukraine's independence. In Ukrainian]
- 15. Hranovska L.M. Ratsionalne pryrodokorystuvannia v zoni ekoloho-ekonomichnoho ryzykuie Kh erson: V yd-vo KhDU, 2007. 372 s. [Rational use of nature in the zone of ecological and economic risk Kherson. In Ukrainian]
- 16. Lakhyzha M., Kachan Y. Legal support of public administration in Ukraine under martial law: theoretical of martial law: theoretical aspects and practice. Theory and practice of public administration. Collection of scientific works Issue 1 (74). 2022.s. 7-18).
- 17. Mishenin, Ye., Yarova, I., Dutchenko, O. Ekoloho-ekonomichna bezpeka ahrarnoho zemlehospodariuvannia: kontseptualni oriientyry ta orhanizatsiini mekhanizmy, Zbalansovane pryrodokorystuvannia. 2017. №2. S. 145-151. https://essuir.sumdu.edu.ua/bitstreamdownload/123456789/83078/1/Mishenin_Ekoloho_ekonomichna_bezpeka.pdf [Ecological and economic security of agrarian land management: conceptual orientations and organizational mechanism, Balanced use of nature. In Ukrainian]
- 18. Natsionalna dopovid pro stan navkolyshnoho pryrodnoho seredovyshcha v Ukraini u 2021 rotsi. 514 s. Ministerstvo zakhystu dovkillia ta pryrodnykh resursiv Ukrainy. https://mepr.gov.ua/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Natsdopovid-2021-n.pdf [National report on the state of the natural environment in Ukraine in 2021. In Ukrainian]
- 19. Novytskyi, D. Osnovni naslidky pidryvu Kakhovskoi HES: chotyry katehorii, 2023. https://www.epravda.com.ua/columns/2023/06/14/701156/). [The main consequences of the explosion of Kakhovskaya HES: four categories. In Ukrainian]

Proceedings of the 2024 International Conference "ECONOMIC SCIENCE FOR RURAL DEVELOPMENT" No 58 Jelgava, LBTU ESAF, 16-17 May 2024, pp. 372-380 DOI: 10.22616/ESRD.2024.58.036

- 20. Otsinka ekolohichnoi shkody ta priorytety vidnovlennia dovkillia na Skhodi Ukrainy. K. VAITE. 2017. 88 s. [Assessment of ecological damage and priorities for environmental restoration in Eastern Ukraine. In Ukrainian]
- 21. Pro ekolohichnu merezhu Ukrainy. Zakon Ukrainy vid 24 chervnia 2004 roku № 1864-IV. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/1864-15#Text [About the ecological network of Ukraine. *In Ukrainian*]
- 22. Pro otsinku vplyvu na dovkillia. Zakon Ukrainy vid 23 travnia 2017 roku № 2059-VIII. https://zakon.rada.gov.ua/laws/show/2059-19#Text [About environmental impact assessment. Law of Ukraine dated May 23, 2017. In Ukraian]
- 23. Stepanenko, O. Ekolohichni prava. Ukrainska Helsinska spilka z prav liudyny. https://www.helsinki.org.ua/ekolohichni-prava-o-stepanenko-2/ [Environmental rights. In Ukrainian]
- 24. Strilets, R. Bomba spovilnenoi dii: chomu svit ne mozhe ihnoruvaty ekolohichni naslidky viiny v Ukraini, 2022. https://life.pravda.com.ua/authors/62b2c55371827/ [The ticking time bomb: why the world cannot ignore the environmental consequences of the war in Ukraine, 2022. In Ukrainian]
- 25. Teixeira da Silva, Jaime A., Kobilianska I., Kucher A. Agricultural production in Ukraine: An insight into the impact of the Russo-Ukrainian war on local, regional and global food security/ July 2023. Journal of Agricultural Sciences 68(2):121-140. DOI:10.2298/JAS2302121T
- 26. Vplyv viiny na stan ahrarnoi haluzi v Ukraini. Ekonomichna Ekspertna Platforma. https://economics.org.ua/images/Analitika-agro-sector2023.pdf [The impact of the war on the state of the agricultural industry in Ukraine. In Ukrainian]
- 27. Vplyv voiennykh dii na yakist povitria v Ukraini: dopovid Iryny Chernysh na Komiteti Verkhovnoi Rady Ukrainy z pytan ekolohichnoi polityky ta pryrodokorystuvannia. SaveDnipro. https://www.savednipro.org/vpliv-voyennix-dijna-yakist-povitrya-v-ukrayini/ [The influence of military actions on some politics in Ukraine: Iryna Chernysh's report at the Committee of the Verkhovna Rada of Ukraine on Environmental Policy and Nature Management. In Ukrainian]
- 28. Wojna w Ukrainie to dramat ludzi i zagrożenie dla środowiska, Rzeczpospolita, 2022. https://klimat.rp.pl/planeta/art35826221-wojna-w-ukrainie-to-dramat-ludzi-i-zagrozenie-dla-srodowiska [The war in Ukraine is a human tragedy and a threat to the environment. In Polish]
- 29. Zinovchuk N.V. Ekolohichna polityka v APK: ekonomichnyi aspekt Lviv: Lviv.derzh. ahrar. un-t, NNVK «ATB», 2007. 394 s. [*Ecological policy: economic aspect of Lviv. In Ukrainian*]

TRENDS IN AGRICULTURAL LAND PRICES IN POLAND AND IN THE EUROPEAN UNION

Alina Danilowska¹, associate professor PhD hab.

¹ Warsaw University of Life Sciences-SGGW, Department of Economics and Economic Policy,

Poland

Abstract. The article aims to identify the agricultural land price trends in Poland and the European Union (EU) from 2013 to 2022. The study encompasses EU member countries for which data on arable land prices and permanent grassland prices for 2013-2022 are available. The analysis showed that prices of arable land and permanent grassland increased noticeably during the ten years in most countries. In Poland, they doubled. The countries that recorded a decline belonged to old EU members. Arable land prices were higher than grassland prices. In several countries, the differences were significant. Over the ten years, the price advantage for arable land on permanent grassland increased in most countries surveyed. The annual growth rates fluctuated noticeably. The spectacular high changes occurred mainly in post-socialistic countries due to changes in law. Price growth in the old Member States was generally lower than in post-socialist countries. The spread of agricultural land prices between countries has declined. These phenomena prove the slow process of convergence of agricultural land prices. The COVID-19 pandemic has affected agricultural land prices. It shifted the prices up.

Key words: arable land price, permanent grassland price, trends in agriculture land prices, COVID-19 pandemic. **JEL code**: Q15, R14, R24

Introduction

The role of the agricultural land in agriculture production is crucial. However, the demand for agricultural land stems not only from the role of land in agricultural production. Land price formation is, therefore, essential for agriculture and other areas of economic activity for which the spatial aspect is important.

The market price of agricultural land is a result of several factors. These can be divided into four groups: one related to land supply and three determining land demand.

The first group comprises factors arising from the physical characteristics of the land resource. These can be categorized as supply-side factors. The land resource is strictly limited and non-producible. The land occupies a finite area, and nobody can produce an additional area. Where wasteland exists due to various factors, attempts can be made to give it the characteristic of usefulness. As examples of such efforts, we can indicate the Chinese government's program of land recuperation (Zhang et al., 2021), post-mining disturbed land reclaiming (Ignatyeva et al., 2020; Pietrzykowski & Krzaklewski, 2018; Kirilov & Banov, 2016) and adaptation of abandoned agricultural land (Smaliychuk, 2016). The highly controversial activity for an increase of agricultural land area is a large-scale rainforest conversion, which is taking place in Brazil and Indonesia (Berkelmann et al., 2018; Ramos et al., 2022; Kusuma et al., 2018).

The second group includes factors resulting from the role of land as an agricultural production factor. In agricultural production, the role of land is crucial. The demand for land is derived from the demand for farm products in the market. Growing world populations, rising per capita incomes allowing for increased levels of consumption, and changing consumption patterns towards consuming more livestock products are increasing the demand for agricultural products and, thus, the demand for agricultural land (Tweeten & Thompson, 2009).

The third group contains factors following alternative uses of agricultural land. Remeikiene et al. (2019) point out that the demand for land is of a derivate nature. It is derived from different land uses. Land as an area is necessary for housing, infrastructure, recreation, and other productive activities such as photovoltaics. As Wu et al. (2022) noted, economic growth and urban expansion in China since 1978 have led to the loss of significant amounts of farmland. According to Kocur-Bera & Pszenny (2020), converting

¹ E-mail: alina_danilowska@sggw.edu.pl

agricultural land into built-up areas is inevitable with population growth. Boere (2015) indicates that in the Netherlands agricultural land located near cities faces pressure from housing and infrastructure which entail larger land prices. Goldberg (2023) analysed the consequences of solar energy development on agricultural land from different perspectives, including a 'trade-off' perspective. Farja & Maciejczak (2021) conclude that replacing marginally productive agricultural land with solar fields benefits landowners and society.

The fourth group includes factors stemming from the perception of land as an investment good bought and held for speculative purposes like many other physical or financial assets. It's crucial to note that the great financial crisis in 2008-2009 had a profound impact on the land market, with a significant increase in pressure from financial institutions. This led to what many refer to as "land hunting." Various financial institutions have since shown interest in land as an asset of 'growing scarcity' or of 'safe' assets (Anseeuw et al., 2012; Oliveira et al., 2021; Knuth, 2015). Franc-Dabrowska (2022) points to the process of financialization of agriculture through the purchase of farming land and the subsequent impact on the increase in land prices. Various aspects of agricultural land speculation are studied by Roche & McQuinn (2000), Kan & Chen (2021), Oyedeji (2022), and Gemeda et al. (2019), among others.

The factors above are the source of demand for land at a given place and time. It's important to understand that demand is not a static concept but depends on the type of these factors and their concurrent occurrence (accumulation). When there is a reasonably limited land supply, these demand pressures can significantly affect the level and rate of price change in the land market.

The article aims to identify the agricultural land price trends in Poland and the European Union from 2013 to 2022. Moreover, the author has given particular attention to the reaction of farmland prices to the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic in 2020 and 2022, which has significantly impacted various sectors of economy, including agriculture.

Material and methods

The study encompasses European Union (EU) member countries for which data on arable land prices and permanent grassland prices for 2013-2022 are available (10 years). Moreover, the study also encompasses Croatia and Italy, for which data are available for eight consecutive years: for Croatia, the years are 2015-2022, and for Italy, 2013-2020. Due to the size of the country and the resulting specificity of property price development, we decided to exclude Luxembourg from the analysis. Finally, arable land prices were analysed in 20 countries, while permanent grassland prices were in 19 (due to the lack of data for Finland). It should be noted that the EU countries vary considerably in terms of total area and agricultural area. The level of development, the agricultural model, and the area structure of agriculture are also different. The place of agriculture in each country's economy and external environment is also different.

The analysis used the comparative method in terms of time and countries. Moreover, the descriptive statistical method was applied. We used the gap (the difference between a characteristic's maximum and minimum value) to assess the land price variation between countries. We also applied the arithmetic mean and the rate of growth.

Research results and discussion Variation in land prices

Data analysis shows several characteristic phenomena in the price formation of this essential agricultural production factor: land (Tables 1 and 2).

A phenomenon worth highlighting is the considerable variation in arable land prices between the countries in the EU. The Netherlands, Italy, and Ireland had the highest prices per ha of arable land. The very high prices stem partly from high land productivity. Notably, the countries' order was constant in all years under study. At the opposite pole in 2013 were the three countries: Romania, Estonia, and Lithuania. Nine years later, these three countries were outside this group. In 2022, it was formed by Croatia (lowest prices), Latvia, and Slovakia.

Remarkably, the group of ten countries with the lowest prices included mainly post-socialist countries. In 2013, 9 post-socialist countries and France were in it, and in 2022, 8 such countries plus France and Finland. According to Lovrincevic & Vizek (2009), the reason for lower agricultural land prices in post-socialist countries than in other countries (old EU members) is the lower level of economic development of these countries and the higher share of agriculture in the economy of these countries. In 2013, Poland was in 10th place among the surveyed countries in terms of arable land prices, while in 2022, it moved to 13th place.

Table 1

Country	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Bulgaria	3 175	3 620	3 891	4 131	4 622	5 011	5 382	5 281	6 001	7 303
Czechia	3 662	4 282	4 775	5 463	6 448	7 600	8 561	9 477	10 593	12 885
Denmark	15 708	17 209	18 752	17 584	17 328	17 724	17 580	17 491	18 213	19 841
Estonia	1 865	2 426	2 567	2 735	2 890	3 174	3 461	3 772	4 383	5 730
Ireland	26 366	23 449	23 594	18 141	19 903	27 457	28 068	25 724	37 584	38 013
Greece	13 907	13 276	12 633	12 272	12 264	12 387	12 604	12 599	13 048	13 571
Spain	11 910	12 192	12 574	12 522	12 827	13 023	12 926	12 901	12 938	10 263
France	5 770	5 940	6 000	6 070	6 030	6 020	6 000	6 080	5 940	6 130
Croatia	x	x	2 726	2 835	3 005	3 282	3 395	3 440	3 661	3 700
Italy	32 532	39 247	40 153	33 193	31 731	30 569	36 307	35 447	x	x
Latvia	4 980	2 552	2 654	2 917	2 975	3 856	3 922	4 182	4 331	4 420
Lithuania	2 009	2 330	3 089	3 516	3 571	3 890	3 959	4 127	4 667	5 012
Hungary	2 709	3 042	3 356	4 182	4 368	4 662	4 862	4 893	5 215	5 240
Netherlands	53 888	56 583	61 227	63 605	66 614	71 803	71 792	72 702	77 583	85 431
Poland	6 275	7 723	9 220	9 083	9 699	10 414	10 991	10 711	10 937	12 673
Romania	1 653	2 423	2 039	1 958	2 085	4 914	5 339	7 163	7 601	8 051
Slovenia	15 545	16 009	16 071	17 136	16 876	18 460	18 752	21 451	22 312	23 282
Slovakia	5 575	11 442	24 175	28 217	3 009	3 432	3 789	3 984	3 977	4 790
Finland	8 461	8 090	8 138	8 326	8 718	8 380	8 686	8 524	9 009	9 099
Sweden	6 797	7 408	7 751	7 921	8 708	8 842	9 056	10 100	12 004	12 277

Arable land prices by countries in 2013-2022 (Euro per hectare)

Source: Eurostat (2024)

The spreads between the maximum and minimum price each year were huge. In 2013, the highest price spread occurred between Romania and the Netherlands, and it was as high as 1 to 32. By 2019, the price spread was gradually narrowing; in 2019, it was as high as 1 to 21 (Romania and the Netherlands remained the outermost countries). In the following two years, the maximum spread remained at the same level, while in 2022, it increased and was as high as 1 to 23 (the Netherlands and Croatia). Such a large spread within the European Union shows that levelling out the price differences of such a specific good as

agricultural land is a slow process. The results of this study for agricultural land align with the results of Twardowska (2019) conducted for the period 2006-2016.

Prices for permanent grassland were lower than for arable land (Table 2). The differences were significant. In 2013 in Bulgaria, arable land prices were almost four times higher than permanent grassland prices, and this relationship was maintained throughout the period under study. A similar phenomenon occurred in Sweden, Greece, and Spain, where the relationship was as high as 3:1. In the other countries, the differences were lower - reaching several tens of percent. Over the ten years, the prevalence of agricultural land prices increased in most countries studied; only in five countries did it decrease, and in two countries prices remained at the same level. In Poland, arable land prices in 2013 were higher than permanent grassland prices by 47 percent, and the difference increased to 60 percent during the period studied. Such trends indicate slow changes in the agricultural production structure and production technology.

Throughout the period under study, the lowest prices for permanent grassland were recorded in Bulgaria and the highest in the Netherlands. The spreads between the countries between with the maximum and minimum price each year were huge and higher than the spread of arable land prices. In 2013, permanent grassland prices in the Netherlands were 46 times higher than in Bulgaria; in 2018, the difference between the two increased to level 51 times, but in the following years, it decreased, and in 2022, it was 36 times. The changes in relations indicate a slow process of equalizing grassland prices between EU members as well. However, it is difficult to forecast when this process will lead to a closing of the gap.

Table 2

Country	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Bulgaria	1 012	1 258	1 161	1 401	1 253	1 115	1 536	1 351	1 643	1 887
Czechia	2 395	3 498	3 495	4 636	4 112	6 333	7 081	7 771	9 631	11 452
Denmark	7 931	8 689	9 468	8 878	8 749	8 949	8 876	8 890	8 911	10 018
Estonia	1 616	2 006	2 013	2 181	2 179	2 398	2 856	3 087	3 358	4 259
Ireland	15 697	15 221	13 992	14 103	14 661	13 823	15 558	15 703	18 084	19 215
Greece	5 073	4 666	4 674	4 612	4 395	4 341	4 333	4 323	4 332	4 538
Spain	4 644	4 516	4 684	4 469	4 456	4 439	4 546	4 432	4 524	4 416
France	5 770	5 940	6 000	6 070	6 030	6 020	6 000	6 080	5 940	6 130
Croatia	:	:	1 637	1 510	1 651	1 751	1 848	2 160	2 422	2 786
Italy	21 626	23 351	24 785	18 313	15 567	14 986	17 134	15 896	:	:
Latvia	2 140	1 371	1 526	1 635	1 663	2 117	2 163	2 255	2 752	3 007
Lithuania	1 182	1 373	2 151	2 456	2 170	2 352	2 533	2 840	3 497	3 585
Hungary	1 227	1 426	1 572	1 693	1 871	2 111	2 304	2 384	2 681	2 850
Netherlands	46 626	48 406	50 860	53 574	55 630	57 140	56 636	59 147	62 818	67 857
Poland	4 252	5 280	5 878	5 794	6 032	6 508	6 730	6 871	7 051	7 918
Romania	1 263	1 744	1 897	1 836	1 983	3 424	3 301	5 154	5 354	5 671
Slovenia	14 971	14 332	15 486	15 427	17 012	16 946	18 015	19 500	18 992	20 354
Slovakia	3 967	6 383	16 525	13 808	2 206	2 190	2 107	2 501	2 425	3 369
Sweden	2 381	2 814	2 897	2 957	3 342	3 441	3 230	3 825	4 465	4 469

The permanent grassland prices by countries in 2013-2022 (Euro per hectare)

Source: Eurostat (2024)

As for arable land prices, permanent grassland prices were the lowest in post-socialist countries. In 2013, the top 10 countries with the lowest prices included nine post-socialist countries and one old EU member - Sweden. In the following years, the number of post-socialist countries decreased in this group, and Greece and Spain replaced Czechia and Poland.

Price dynamics

A critical issue is the dynamics of arable land and permanent grassland prices in individual countries. An analysis of the data in Table 3 shows that an increase in prices was more common than a decrease in prices. In as many as seven countries: Czechia, Estonia, Croatia, Lithuania, Hungary, the Netherlands, and Sweden, arable land prices increased in all the years of the analysed period. In several countries with welldeveloped agriculture, price decreases were recorded in 4 out of 9 years studied. These were Denmark, France, Italy, and Spain. However, only in Spain, where the phenomenon of abandonment of rural agricultural areas occurred for decades (Degado-Artes et al., 2022), the arable land prices in 2022 were lower than in 2013.

Table 3

Country	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Bulgaria	14.0	7.5	6.2	11.9	8.4	7.4	-1.9	13.6	21.7
Czechia	16.9	11.5	14.4	18.0	17.9	12.6	10.7	11.8	21.6
Denmark	9.6	9.0	-6.2	-1.5	2.3	-0.8	-0.5	4.1	8.9
Estonia	30.1	5.8	6.5	5.7	9.8	9.0	9.0	16.2	30.7
Ireland	-11.1	0.6	-23.1	9.7	38.0	2.2	-8.4	46.1	1.1
Greece	-4.5	-4.8	-2.9	-0.1	1.0	1.8	0.0	3.6	4.0
Spain	2.4	3.1	-0.4	2.4	1.5	-0.7	-0.2	0.3	-20.7
France	2.9	1.0	1.2	-0.7	-0.2	-0.3	1.3	-2.3	3.2
Croatia	-	-	4.0	6.0	9.2	3.4	1.3	6.4	1.1
Italy	20.6	2.3	-17.3	-4.4	-3.7	18.8	-2.4	-	-
Latvia	-48.8	4.0	9.9	2.0	29.6	1.7	6.6	3.6	2.1
Lithuania	16.0	32.6	13.8	1.6	8.9	1.8	4.2	13.1	7.4
Hungary	12.3	10.3	24.6	4.4	6.7	4.3	0.6	6.6	0.5
Netherlands	5.0	8.2	3.9	4.7	7.8	0.0	1.3	6.7	10.1
Poland	23.1	19.4	-1.5	6.8	7.4	5.5	-2.5	2.1	15.9
Romania	46.6	-15.8	-4.0	6.5	135.7	8.6	34.2	6.1	5.9
Slovenia	3.0	0.4	6.6	-1.5	9.4	1.6	14.4	4.0	4.3
Slovakia	105.2	111.3	16.7	-89.3	14.1	10.4	5.1	-0.2	20.4
Finland	-4.4	0.6	2.3	4.7	-3.9	3.7	-1.9	5.7	1.0
Sweden	9.0	4.6	2.2	9.9	1.5	2.4	11.5	18.9	2.3

The rate of arable land price growth (year to year) (%)

Source: Eurostat (2024)

The most considerable fluctuations in arable land prices occurred in Romania, Slovakia, and Ireland. The year-on-year price growth rate in Romania ranged from -16% in 2015 to 135% in 2018. The phenomenon stems from complex reasons. Stioca & Dumitru (2021) see the reasons for the increase in land prices in Romania as the rise in the attractiveness of agricultural activity thanks to the support of agriculture by the European Union and the related process of concentrating land in larger farms. Moreover, housing demand for land near major urban centres and the demand from foreign investors are land price drivers. In Slovakia, a sudden and substantial increase in the price of agricultural land occurred in 2014

and 2015 due to the end of the ten-year moratorium on land purchases by foreigners (Drabik & Rajcaniova, 2014).

In addition to differences in growth rates from year to year, growth rates varied between countries from year to year. For example, in 2014, arable land prices in Latvia dropped by 48%, while in Slovakia they increased by 105%. As a result of these various processes, arable land prices in 2022 were higher than in 2013 in 17 of the 20 countries surveyed. Only in Greece, Latvia, and Slovakia did prices drop. In the last two countries, the decline was significant. In Poland, arable land prices increased at a double-digit rate in 2013, 2014 and 2022. In the remaining years, the increase was single-digit, and prices in 2015 decreased slightly. Finally, during the analysed period, the agricultural land prices in Poland doubled.

Table 4.

Country	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
Bulgaria	24.3	-7.7	20.7	-10.6	-11.0	37.8	-12.0	21.6	14.9
Czechia	46.1	-0.1	32.6	-11.3	54.0	11.8	9.7	23.9	18.9
Denmark	9.6	9.0	-6.2	-1.5	2.3	-0.8	0.2	0.2	12.4
Estonia	24.1	0.3	8.3	-0.1	10.1	19.1	8.1	8.8	26.8
Ireland	-3.0	-8.1	0.8	4.0	-5.7	12.6	0.9	15.2	6.3
Greece	-8.0	0.2	-1.3	-4.7	-1.2	-0.2	-0.2	0.2	4.8
Spain	-2.8	3.7	-4.6	-0.3	-0.4	2.4	-2.5	2.1	-2.4
France	2.9	1.0	1.2	-0.7	-0.2	-0.3	1.3	-2.3	3.2
Croatia	-	-	-7.8	9.3	6.1	5.5	16.9	12.1	15.0
Italy	8.0	6.1	-26.1	-15.0	-3.7	14.3	-7.2	-	-
Latvia	-35.9	11.3	7.1	1.7	27.3	2.2	4.3	22.0	9.3
Lithuania	16.2	56.7	14.2	-11.6	8.4	7.7	12.1	23.1	2.5
Hungary	16.2	10.2	7.7	10.5	12.8	9.1	3.5	12.5	6.3
Netherlands	3.8	5.1	5.3	3.8	2.7	-0.9	4.4	6.2	8.0
Poland	24.2	11.3	-1.4	4.1	7.9	3.4	2.1	2.6	12.3
Romania	38.1	8.8	-3.2	8.0	72.7	-3.6	56.1	3.9	5.9
Slovenia	-4.3	8.1	-0.4	10.3	-0.4	6.3	8.2	-2.6	7.2
Slovakia	60.9	158.9	-16.4	-84.0	-0.7	-3.8	18.7	-3.0	38.9
Sweden	18.2	2.9	2.1	13.0	3.0	-6.1	18.4	16.7	0.1

The rate of	permanent	grassland	price growth	(year to	year) (%)
-------------	-----------	-----------	--------------	----------	-----------

Source: Eurostat (2024)

Prices of permanent grassland changed in various directions. The dynamics of changes varied between years and countries. The highest increase occurred in 2015 in Slovakia, and the most profound decline in 2014 in Latvia. In all the years examined except 2017, the number of countries where prices increased was higher than those where prices decreased. In Spain, France, Italy, and Denmark, like arable land prices, grassland prices fell in 4 out of 9 years examined. As a result of this multi-directional and different pace of changes, in 2022, the prices of permanent grassland were higher than in 2013 in the 15 countries surveyed. The changes in Czechia, Romania, and Lithuania were substantial: 4.8, 4.5, and 3.0 times, respectively. Of the four countries that experienced a price decline during the period under review, the most significant decrease of 27% was in Italy.

A characteristic phenomenon was a slower growth rate of prices of permanent grassland than of arable land. However, for each country, it is possible to indicate years when the opposite was true (the prices of grassland increased faster than those of arable land). In Poland, prices of both types of agricultural land changed at a similar pace. Only in 2015 was the growth rate of grassland prices higher than that of arable land prices by eight percentage points.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on land prices

The analysis of price dynamics data for three years of the pandemic shows that in the first year of pandemic, the land market reacted ambiguously. There was a decline in arable land prices in eight countries, but only in Ireland was it quite significant (Figure 1). In seven of the remaining 12 countries surveyed, prices increased by more than 5%. Permanent grassland prices fell in only four countries: Bulgaria, Greece, Spain and Italy (Figure 2). These were countries where arable land prices also dropped. In other countries, the prices of permanent grassland increased, and in eight of them, the increases were significant. A clear upward trend in arable land prices and permanent grassland became visible in the second year of the pandemic. Only in two countries, France and Slovakia, did the prices of arable land decrease, and only in three, France, Slovakia, and Slovenia, did the prices of grassland decrease however, relatively slightly. The average price increase for arable land was 10.2%, and for grassland 11.4%. In the last year of the pandemic, the prices of both types of agricultural land and grassland were significant, as in 2021. The average price increase for arable land was 9.5%, and for grassland - 11.3%. In Poland, these increases were higher than average: 15.9% for agricultural land and 12.3% for permanent grassland.



Fig. 1. The rate of arable land price growth during pandemic COVID-19 (year to year)



Fig. 2. The rate of permanent grassland price growth during pandemic COVID-19 (year to year)

There are several channels for the impact of the pandemic on land prices. The Society of Chartered Surveyors Ireland cites restrictions due to COVID-19 as the reason for the decline in the number of transactions in Ireland and, therefore, prices in 2020; while the increase in prices in the following years is attributed to the rise in the profitability of agricultural production (SCSI, 2023). In France, the number of land purchases by non-farmers increased rapidly in 2021, and the trend continued in 2022 (Charlotte, 2023). Ramachandran & Vidya (2021), Whitaker (2021), and DeWaard (2021) indicate the pressure of demand for land in rural areas caused by urban-rural migration during the pandemic. Lee et al. (2022) believe that macroeconomic conditions related to COVID-19 influenced land prices and, additionally, the state's increased financial support for farmers. Masniak and Danilowska (2022) point to one of such macroeconomic factors, namely inflation. Which of these factors and to what extent contributed to changes in agricultural land prices in the individual countries studied requires further research.

Conclusions

1) The analysis showed that agricultural land prices (both arable land and permanent grassland) increased noticeably during the ten examined years in most countries. The group of countries that recorded a decline in arable land prices included countries belonging to the old EU members. These were Italy, Greece, and Spain. There was also an absolute decline in grassland prices in Spain and Greece. France was a country where agricultural land prices increased by only a few percent over ten years. Among the post-socialist countries, the prices of both types of agricultural land decreased only in Slovakia. In other post-socialist countries, significant price increases were recorded. The spread of agricultural land (arable and permanent grassland) prices between countries has declined. These phenomena prove the slow process of convergence of agricultural land prices.

2) Arable land prices were higher than grassland prices. The differences were significant - in several countries, they were several times higher, and in these countries, they remained throughout the period under study. Over the ten years, the price advantage for arable land increased in most of the countries surveyed. Poland is one of these countries.

3) The price annual growth rates fluctuated noticeably. The spectacular high changes occurred mainly in post-socialistic countries due to changes in law. Price growth in the EU old member states was generally lower than in post-socialist countries.

4) The effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on agricultural land prices in the EU is ambiguous. However, the analysis showed that compared to the pre-pandemic period, there has been a sharp decline in the number of countries where land prices have fallen. It can be a sign of the economic repercussions of the pandemic. In Poland, the increase in arable land and permanent grassland prices, which was relatively low in 2021 and significant in 2022, may be related to the pandemic.

Bibliography

- 1. Anseeuw, W.,Wily, L. A., Cotula, L.,& Taylor, M. (2012). Land rights and the rush for land: findings of the global commercial pressures on land research project. Rome: ILC, 72 p. ISBN 978-92-95093-75-1. Retrieved from: https://www.landcoalition.org/en/resources/Land_Rights_and_the_Rush_for_Land/ Access: 12.03.2024
- Berkelmann, D., Schneider, D., Engelhaupt, M., Heinemann, M., Christel, S., Wijayanti, M., Meryandini, A., & Daniel, R. (2018). How rainforest conversion to agricultural systems in Sumatra (Indonesia) affects active soil bacterial communities. Frontiers in Microbiology, 9, 2381.
- 3. Boere, E. (2015). Economic analysis of Dutch agricultural land use in a changing policy environment. Thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of doctor at Wageningen University, Retrieved from: https://edepot.wur.nl/347867 Access 20.04.2024.
- 4. Charlotin, B. (2023). Land prices in France in 2022. Retrieved from: https://www.ma-propriete.fr/en/blog/le-prixdes-terres-en-france-en-2022, Access: 10.03.2024.
- Delgado-Artés, R., Garófano-Gómez, V., Oliver-Villanueva, J.-V.,& Rojas-Briales, E. (2022). Land use/cover change analysis in the Mediterranean region: a regional case study of forest evolution in Castelló (Spain) over 50 years. Land Use Policy, 114: 105967.
- 6. Drabik, D.,& Rajcaniova, M. (2014). Agricultural land market in Slovakia under the new land acquisition law. Review of Agricultural and Applied Economics, XVII (2): 84-87
- 7. Eurostat (2024). Retrived from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat Access: 1-5.03.2024.
- 8. Farja, Y., & Maciejczak, M. (2021). Economic implications of agricultural land conversion to solar power production. Energies, 14(19), 6063.
- 9. Franc-Dąbrowska, J. (2018). Financialization of agriculture through purchase of farming land Proceedings of the 2018 International Conference "Economic Science For Rural Development", 49, 102-110.
- 10. Gemeda, B.S., Abebe, B.G., Paczoski, A., Xie, Y., & Cirella, G.T. (2019). What motivates speculators to speculate? Entropy (Basel), 22(1), 59.
- 11. Goldberg, Z. A. (2023). Solar energy development on farmland: Three prevalent perspectives of conflict, synergy and compromise in the United States. Energy Research & Social Science, 101, 103145.
- 12. Ignatyeva, M., Yurak, V., & Pustokhina, N. (2020). Recultivation of post-mining disturbed land: Review of content and comparative law and feasibility study. Resources, 9(6), 73.
- 13. Kan, K., Chen, Xi (2021). Land speculation by villagers: Territorialities of accumulation and exclusion in peri-urban China. Cities, 119, 103394.
- 14. Kirilov, I., & Banov, M. (2016). Reclamation of lands disturbed by mining activities in Bulgaria. Agricultural Science and Technology, 8(4), 339-345.
- 15. Kocur-Bera, K., & Pszenny, A. Conversion of agricultural land for urbanization purposes: A case study of the suburbs of the capital of Warmia and Mazury, Poland. Remote Sensing. 2020; 12(14), 2325.
- 16. Knuth, S.E. (2015). Global finance and the land grab: mapping twenty-first century strategies. Canadian Journal of Development Studies, 36(2), 163-178.
- 17. Kusuma, Y.W.C., Rembold, K, Tjitrosoedirdjo, S.S., & Kreft, H. (2018). Tropical rainforest conversion and land use intensification reduce understorey plant phylogenetic diversity. Journal of Applied Ecology; 55(5), 2216–2226.
- 18. Lee, B., Cheng, P-Y., Sun, L-Ch., Hsieh, Y-T., & Chang, H-H. (2022). Does COVID-19 Affect Farmland Prices? How and Why,. Agriculture, 12,2163, https//doi.org/10.3390/agriculture12122163
- 19. Lovrincevic, Z., & Vizek, M. (2009). Agricultural land in the new EU member states and Croatia: prices, affordabilities and convergence potential. Ekonomski Pregled (Economic Review), 60(01-02), 28-49.
- 20. Masniak, J., & Danilowska, A. (2022). Agricultural land prices in Poland during the Covid-19 Pandemic. Proceedings - of the 31st International Scientific Conference Agrarian Perspectives XXXI. Green Deal – Future Perspectives, XXXI, 138-148.
- 21. Oliveira, G.deL.T., McKay, B.M., & Liu, J. (2021). Beyond land grabs: new insights on land struggles and global agrarian change, lobalizations, 18(3), 321-338.
- 22. Oyedeji, J.O. (2022). Assessment of land speculator's operation for land accessibility in Nigeria, Baltic Journal of Real Estate Economics and Construction Management, 10, 26-40.
- 23. Pietrzykowski, M., & Krzaklewski, W. (2018). Reclamation of mine lands in Poland. In M.V. Prasad, P.J. de Campos Fa-vas, S.K. Mait (eds.) Bio-Geotechnologies for Mine Site Rehabilitation, Elseiver.
- 24. Ramachandran, V. (2021). Urban-rural mobility during COVID-19: the growth of 'cottagecore' in Australia and Aotearoa-New Zealand, MoLab Inventory of Mobilities and Socioeconomic Changes, Halle/Saale, Department 'Anthropology of Economic Experimentation', Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology.

- 25. Ramos, D., Hartke, T.R., Buchori, D., Dupérré, N., Hidayat, P., Lia, M., Harms, D., Scheu, S., & Drescher, J. (2022). Rainforest conversion to rubber and oil palm reduces abundance, biomass and diversity of canopy spiders. PeerJ. 2022 Aug 16;10, :e13898.
- 26. Remeikienė, R., Gasparėnienė, L., & Ginevicius, R. (2019). The specificity of the investment in land as in real estate. International Journal of Strategic Property Management 23(4), 244-255.
- 27. Roche, M. J., & McQuinn, K. (2000). Speculation in agricultural land. Economics Department Working Paper Series n1010700, Department of Economics, National University of Ireland Maynooth.
- 28. SCSI/TEAGASC. (2023). Annual Agricultural Land Market Review & Outlook 2023. Dublin.
- 29. Smaliychuk, A., Müller, D., Prishchepov, A.V., Levers, Ch., Kruhlov, I., & Kuemmerle, T. (2016). Recultivation of abandoned agricultural lands in Ukraine: Patterns and drivers. Global Environmental Change, 38, 70-81.
- 30. Stoica, D.G., & Dumitru, E. A. (2021). Aspects that contributed to changes in the price of agricultural land in Romania and other countries in the European Union. Scientific Papers Series Management, Economic Engineering in Agriculture and Rural Development, Vol. 21(4), 565-570.
- 31. Twardowska, A. (2019). Konwergencja typu sigma cen gruntów rolnych w państwach Unii Europejskiej. Scientific Journal of WULS Problems of World Agriculture, 19(1), 133–143.
- 32. Tweeten, L., & Thompson, S. (2009). Long-term global agricultural output supply-demand balance and real farm and food prices. Farm Policy Journal 6(1), 1-16.
- Whitaker, S. (2021). Did the COVID-19 Pandemic Cause an Urban Exodus? Cleveland, Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland.
- 34. Wu, X., Wang, Y., & Zhu, H. (2022). Does Economic Growth Lead to an Increase in Cultivated Land Pressure? Evidence from China. Land, 11(9), 1515.
- 35. Zhang, S., Xie, X., & Zhao, M. (2021). Asset specificity on the intention of farmers to continue Land recuperation: Based on the perspective of farmer differentiation. Land, 10(6), 603.

ANALYSIS OF FACTORS IN THE COMPETITIVENESS OF RURAL SCHOOLS IN LATGALE REGION: THE RESULTS OF AN EXPERT SURVEY

Sandis Sprudzans¹, Mg.paed.; Anda Zvaigzne², Dr.oec.; Olga Senkane³, Dr.philol.

^{1,2,3}Rezekne Academy of Technologies

Abstract. At the stage of fast progress in modern technologies and science, it is essential to respond in time to prospects emerging for the future. Global economic trends show a fast reorientation towards the creation of higher value-added products. Therefore, one of the most important factors in the ability to respond to changes in the economic environment in Latvia in a timely manner is the capacity to provide quality education to youth who will be able to compete in the world market, cope with challenges and achieve the goals set. In recent years in Latvia, the national education system has been one of the most urgent areas of national domestic policy, in which reforms have been implemented to increase the competitiveness thereof. The research aims to identify and analyse factors in the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region to determine measures to be taken to increase the competitiveness thereof by employing the expert interview method. The results of the expert survey revealed that the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region was most significantly affected by the quality of administrative and teaching personnel, as well as their ability to plan and evaluate their school development. The highest priority rating was given to raising the qualifications of teaching personnel and improving the curriculum, which indicates their significant impact on the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region. The research novelty involves examining in depth the known and identifying new factors in the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region. Research methods used: monographic and descriptive, analysis, syntheses, statistical analysis, a sociological research method - an expert survey. The research was based on the results of an expert survey, research papers and other sources of information.

Key words: Latgale region, rural schools, factors in competitiveness.

JEL code: R00; O18; I25

Introduction

Research studies by Shikalepo show that providing high-quality and accessible education in rural communities is a global challenge (Shikalepo, 2020). Over the last twenty years in Latvia, a significant problem has arisen in the field of education because of a decrease in the number of rural residents and education system reforms. Currently, the reforms are focused on the optimization of the school network, which envisages closing many schools not meeting the criteria, mostly in rural areas, in the nearest future (LETA, 2023).

Arsen et al. (2021) have found that policies aimed at improving schools often exacerbate the problems faced by rural schools. Rural school principals actively seek ways to adapt the policy context to the needs of their schools and communities, despite significant challenges in this process (Arsen et al., 2021). Therefore, it is essential that the educational reforms implemented at the national level do not create unequal preconditions for competition between regional schools and national urban educational institutions, given the fact that each educational institution faces specific challenges. The problem with the number of educatees is particularly important in rural schools in the context of reforms.

Auers et al. (2019) have found that although the optimization of the school network could potentially reduce administrative costs and contribute to an increase in teacher salaries, the most important aspect is an analysis of the results of the educational process after such a reorganization. The restructuring of the education system should not only lead to a more financially efficient use of resources but also improve or at least retain the level of learning achievements of educatees (Auers et al., 2019).

Rural depopulation and communities with declining populations represent a challenge to many European regions (Skola laukos, 2016). A study by the Ministry of Education and Science has concluded

391

¹ E-mail: ss06015@edu.rta.lv

 ² E-mail: Anda.Zvaigzne@rta.lv
³ E-mail: Olga.Senkane@rta.lv

that over a longer period, the number of educational institutions tended to gradually decrease and adapt to demographic trends; however, considering demographic forecasts, the number of educational institutions is also going to be reduced in the future (Ministry of Education and Science, 2023). Therefore, competition between the educational institutions is going to increase. All the challenges also affect the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region.

Svagzdiene (2017) has emphasized that a community that successfully provides services can attract and retain residents while meeting the needs of community members and promoting stability there. Accordingly, high-quality education services are critically important for increasing the competitiveness of rural areas (Svagzdiene & Perkumiene, 2017).

The recent global financial crisis has aroused discussions on how to measure school effectiveness and the quality of the results, balancing economic performance with humanistic pedagogy and the right to access education. In the rural areas of Latvia, schools with a relatively small number of educatees are traditionally widespread; however, in terms of economic performance, the schools have been apparently "expensive". Moreover, given recent changes in the public funding model, increased migration, demographic disparities and the impact of the financial crisis with a severe reduction in educational expenditure, the situation in small schools is extremely critical, and it is increasingly difficult for municipalities to maintain schools. After a wave of school closures in the period 2008-2009, according to public data, in the school year 2013/14 about a third of all schools in Latvia had fewer than 100 educatees, most of whom (255) lived in small settlements in rural areas (Tuna, 2014).

Supule (2019) has established that research studies on rural schools and local communities in many European countries (Norway, Sweden, Finland and the United Kingdom) and other countries such as the USA, Canada or Australia revealed various aspects of interaction between schools and local communities (Supule, 2019).

Despite the fact that schools in Latvia have historically been a centre of local significance for communities, this experience was lost and had to be re-gained. Traditionally, there is a perception in society that schools represent formal education; in many cases, parents are quite reluctant to visit schools because it might lead to unpleasant conversations for them. Other community members see no reason to visit schools. However, rules and practices in schools are based on an assumption that schools are for teachers, and educatees have limited access to facilities and infrastructure during the teaching-learning process that is fully controlled by school administrations and teachers. As a result, this means that the local community has little information about the school, resources are not used effectively, and in a situation of insufficient funding, the maintenance of the school seems very expensive (Tuna, 2014).

Supporters of maintaining rural schools usually draw attention to the positive role of schools in rural communities. A rural school is perceived as the centre of a civic society, 'the shining beacon' of a community and the last public service available in a village (Supule, 2019). Taking care of education for their residents is one of the autonomous functions of local governments. The role of local governments is particularly important at the stage of preschool and primary education, which is delivered as close as possible to the places of residence of the educatees. If viewing the educational process as the build-up of internationally competitive human capital, local governments to cooperate with potential investors or local entrepreneurs, thereby helping to find and prepare the necessary specialists for the labour market, can be crucial for creating and maintaining a dynamic local economy. However, an effective national system is needed at this level, giving municipalities the legitimate and financial capacity to be active players while keeping in mind that the municipalities represent only one of the actors whose role mainly relates to effective cooperation.

Nevertheless, municipalities are the main providers of public services and are responsible for their quality at the initial stage of education (Auers et al., 2019).

Research hypothesis: the effective administration of rural schools, the qualifications of teaching personnel and the compliance of curricula with the needs of the rural community are the main factors contributing to the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region.

The research aims to identify and analyse factors in the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region to determine measures to be taken to increase the competitiveness thereof by employing the expert interview method.

Specific research tasks: 1) to review the theoretical literature on rural schools and the concept of competitiveness thereof; 2) to conduct a survey of education experts to obtain data on factors in the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region; 3) to draw conclusions and, based on the expert survey data, identify the main measures to be taken to increase the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region. Research methods used: monographic and descriptive, analysis, syntheses, statistical analysis, a sociological research method – an expert survey.

The research was based on the results of the expert survey and a review of research papers and other sources of information. The sources gave an insight into problems with school competitiveness and education quality in various countries, with special emphasis on the specifics of rural schools.

Research results and discussion

An important aspect of the present research is the location of a school. It is essential to have an explanation and understanding of the concept of a rural school in the relevant context and set proper criteria for competitiveness. A methodology (classifications and typologies) developed by Eurostat was used to objectively compare populated areas in Latvia to analyse the school network and identify how schools are classified by location. A Eurostat classification – DEGURBA – describes the labour market, education, living conditions, welfare and tourism in various populated areas. Based on the population size and the population density thresholds, it classifies local administrative units into seven types of areas. However, the present research needs a classification adapted to the situation in Latvia, which is based on DEGURBA and combines the seven types into three broader types considering the population size as well as migration and infrastructure, i.e. areas where education can be delivered: cities, dense towns and small towns (DEGURBA 1-3); suburban or peri-urban areas and villages (DEGURBA 4-5), dispersed rural areas and mostly uninhabited areas (DEGURBA 6-7) (Ministry of Education and Science, 2023).

Elsewhere in the world, the theoretical literature refers to "rural" schools as schools in a rural community, small town or town of less than 50000 inhabitants that is not a suburb of a city. This indicates significant differences between urban and rural areas, as well as the challenges faced by the education system. It is considered that other priorities are relevant to the development planning of rural schools compared with large urban schools. This was also found by a research study by Boix, Champollion and Duarte stating that, in addition to this general characteristic, rural contexts are also characterized by diversity, as rural communities are unique in terms of their values and opportunities (Boix et al., 2015). This means that rural schools have a kind of uniqueness, and young people have opportunities to shape their social-civic attitudes and participate in the further development of rural areas. A rural school is the foundation where a sense of belongingness and patriotism is formed. In this context and culture, as stated in the mentioned research study, a rural school is an active member of the institutional territorial system – a member that participates in the symbiosis of various members and provides efficiency and equality to

the social group in which it is integrated (Boix et al., 2015). However, the opportunities given by rural schools vary, depending on several factors that affect the functioning of the schools.

Regardless of whether rurality is defined entirely in demographic terms, the field of rural education has been engaged in coming to grips with the difference rural location and identification make to education. Therefore, the challenge is to conduct research that examines the complex meaning and impact of rurality in education rather than simply inserting it as a variable into generic research (Corbett, d'Entremont, 2024).

An analysis of the number of educational institutions and educatees in the academic year 2022/2023 by level of urbanization in Latvia revealed that the largest disparities were specific to rural areas and mostly uninhabited areas. Of the total, 36.8% educatees went to school in rural areas and mostly uninhabited areas, yet it is the rural and mostly uninhabited areas where the largest number of general primary and secondary educational institutions are located, accounting for 61.5% of the total educational institutions. A study by the Ministry of Education and Culture states that special attention should be paid to primary schools, as 10.8% of the total educatees were in education in rural and mostly uninhabited areas, while primary education was delivered by 34.5% educational institutions (Ministry of Education and Science, 2023).

Table 1

Indicator	Indicator Primary schools							
Proportion of educational institutions								
Rural areas	34.50%	55.00%						
Urban areas	65.50%	45.00%						
Disparity	-31.00%	10.00%						
	Proportion of educate	ees						
Rural areas	10.80%	33.00%						
Urban areas	89.20%	67.00%						
Disparity	-78.40%	-34.00%						
Average nu	Imber of educatees p	per institution						
Rural areas	120	416						
Urban areas	411	874						
Disparity	-291	-458						
	Average class size							
Rural areas	14	16						
Urban areas	24	27						
Disparity	-10	-11						

Comparison of indicators of the education system between rural and urban primary and secondary schools in Latvia in the academic year 2022/2023

Source: authors' calculations based on Ministry of Education and Science data, 2023.

The disparity is particularly significant at the primary school level, as 10.8% of the total educatees went to school in rural areas, while primary education was delivered by 34.5% educational institutions (Table 1) (Ministry of Education and Science, 2023).

This indicates an irrational distribution of financial resources within the education system. In many schools, the total number of educatees is small, whereas the cost of maintaining the schools is high. Concerning the prospects, it could be concluded that the number of schools in rural areas is going to continue decreasing because population natural change is negative, and the population in rural areas tend to decrease. Auers et al. (2019) found that the performance of rural schools in Latvia, especially in Latgale

region, consistently lagged behind the national average, with significant disparities in both the results of national examinations and the international evaluation programme, thereby emphasising the dependence of access to high-quality education on the place of residence and the kind of school and indicating the need for systemic reforms in the education sector to increase regional competitiveness and reduce the disparity.

The competitiveness of a rural school depends on many factors that affect the quality of education. They could be both internal and external. Researchers have acknowledged that increasing the level of school competition has been proposed as a way to improve school performance (Harrison & Rouse, 2014).

To analyse criteria for the competitiveness of rural schools, first of all, it is important to understand what shapes the quality of schools. One of the main factors is the quality of education. The quality of education involves the educational process, curricula, the learning environment and administration, which provide everyone with an inclusive education and the opportunity to achieve high-quality results in accordance with the goals set by society and the State (Education Law, 1998). The mentioned characteristic of the quality of education closely relates to the criteria of competitiveness. The quality of education is an essential factor in competitiveness.

Some research studies have found that rural schools and their curricula are affected by many factors. A large component is the disadvantage faced by rural schools and their educatees. Rural schools receive relatively less funding, which affects the level of technology and technological sophistication available to educatees in the rural areas. Secondary school completion and participation in higher education also tend to be lower in rural areas than in urban and suburban areas. In addition, large-scale series of assessments of the performance of students such as PISA and TIMSS as well as national and regional assessments usually indicate lower levels of measured academic skills and achievements in rural areas. However, some research studies have found that most of these differences in skills and achievement disappear when controls for socioeconomic status are included (Corbett, d'Entremont, 2024).

Educational theory refers to several factors in school competitiveness, as evidenced by the number of schools. The availability of more schools increases the possibility of school choice and consequently generates competitive pressure from the market, which leads schools to seek better results. International literature on school choice indicates that it depends on factors such as: income, school quality, safety, parental education and distance from the student's home to the educational institution (Lazaretti & Franca, 2020). Lazaretti & Franca (2020) have summarized the theoretical literature showing that school quality is an important factor in students' choices. Schools seek better results to keep their students, otherwise the most productive schools overlap with lower productivity schools. However, school competitiveness can lead to positive or negative outcomes in schools, the direction of impact depends on the design of public policies that raise competition (Lazaretti & Franca, 2020).

A research study used an economic model of school performance as an assessment of school competitiveness to estimate the relative efficiency of sampled schools. The model uses school resources and student characteristics, related to students' motivation and ability to learn, as the inputs to the education production process and student academic achievement as the output. Studies have used a variety of measures for both inputs and outputs. School resource variables have been measured using teacher quantity and/or quality measures, e.g., the number of teachers, teacher experience or qualifications, and teacher/student ratios. In addition, measures of other school resources have been included to capture inputs such as books, equipment, and administrative support. A wide variety of measures related to student characteristics, reflecting family and peer background influences, have been used with most studies using multiple measures, often employing census data. These contextual variables have included household crowding, average family income, students from deprived backgrounds, students from single-parent

families, ethnicity and the educational level of parents. Output variables are almost exclusively measured using examination data, on the basis that success in examinations is valued by key stakeholders such as educators, parents and policy-makers (Harrison & Rouse, 2014).

The present research considered and rated the criterion of education quality, which captures six areas, as a primary criterion (Ozols, 2021). One of the areas is compliance with goals, which consists of several sub-criteria: competencies and learning achievements, continuation of education and employment, equality and inclusion. The next area concerns the learning environment, i.e. education quality: teaching and learning, educator professional capacity and implementation of educational programmes. The area of inclusive environment involves school accessibility for various groups, safety and psychological well-being, as well as appropriate infrastructure and resources. Good administration of the areas is also important, which involves administrative efficiency, professionalism, support and cooperation.

The size and location of a school affect many areas of education, including school characteristics, curricula and post-school outcomes. Research studies show that students in rural schools face many personal and educational challenges, from living in poverty to having less opportunity and sophistication in technology. Rural schools also have fewer course offerings. Although rural schools are unique, urban and rural schools may be more similar than expected, especially as compared to more affluent suburban areas. Rural and urban schools have higher levels of poverty and more dire financial situations, which affect the educational offerings, experiences and learning outcomes of their students (Bouck, 2004). The mentioned factors are characteristic of external competitiveness criteria related to funding and resources for rural schools. Rural schools often lack adequate funding and resources needed to deliver high-quality education. This includes both physical resources, e.g. buildings and teaching aids, and human resources, e.g. qualified teachers. Rural schools have difficulty in hiring and retaining qualified teachers, mainly because of lower salaries, limitations in professional development and more difficult living conditions in rural areas. Nowadays, the use of technologies in education has become an essential factor, yet rural schools often lack the necessary infrastructure and technological resources to effectively integrate the technologies into the learning process. In addition to the competitiveness of rural schools, wider socio-economic factors, e.g. the economic status of student families, can affect the students' ability to participate in the learning process and access additional educational resources.

As part of the research, an online survey was conducted in February 2024, which involved rural school principals and education experts (Table 2). The purpose of the survey was to identify expert opinions on factors affecting the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region. The total sample size was 16 respondents.

Table 2

Position	Number of respondents	Length of service in education	Experience with rural schools
School principal	9	At least 20 years	Yes
Deputy school principal	4	At least 20 years	Yes
Teacher	1	At least 20 years	Yes
Specialist in education	1	At least 20 years	Yes
University teacher	1	At least 20 years	Yes

Professional experience of the experts involved in the survey (n=16)

Source: authors' calculations based on the results of the expert survey

All the experts had at least 20 years of work experience in education, indicating a wide range of practical and theoretical knowledge. The average length of their service in education was 32.5 years. Most of the
experts had direct experience in working with the rural school system, which indicated their competence in assessing the educational competitiveness of rural areas. The present research, which focuses on the competitiveness of rural schools in terms of quality, performed a detailed analysis of the expert opinions based on systematized ratings of criteria. The analysis of the results of the survey made it possible to identify which aspects most effectively contributed to the quality of school performance and how they affected the capability of schools to compete in the field of education. The experts were asked to rate the criteria according to their relative importance, on a scale from 1 to 10 where 1 represented the highest priority and 10 the lowest one. High priority criteria (ranks 1-4) included: leadership and administration, personnel management, self-assessment and development planning, cooperation with parents, school as an educational organisation, safety and psychological well-being, the human-centred and people-oriented approach, teacher professional capacity, continuation of education and employment, competences and learning achievements as well as the hiring and retaining of qualified teachers. The criteria are considered essential for increasing the efficiency and adaptability of schools in the changing environment of the education sector. Medium priority criteria (ranks 5-7) emphasized financial and resource management, availability and effective use of material and technical resources, as well as support for educatees and compliance with the principles of equality and inclusion. These factors provide a solid foundation for highquality education and support for educatees in the learning process. Low-priority criteria (ranks 8-10) included administrator and founder cooperation, location and external socioeconomic factors. Although the mentioned aspects might be important to the day-to-day operations of the school and its relationship with the local community, they were not considered crucial in the context of the educational quality of the school. The results of the research revealed that the competitiveness of rural schools in terms of quality was based on the competencies of school principals and teachers, as well as institutional and social systems that contributed to the development and performance of educatees. However, it should be emphasized that the research represented the opinions of a limited group of experts, which means that the results might vary, depending on the specific educational and socioeconomic situation. Therefore, it is important to continue this research.

Each expert rated the four main measures, assigning them a rank from 1 to 5, where 1 meant the most important measure and 5 meant the least important measure. The measures proposed to increase the competitiveness of rural schools were as follows: improvements in curricula, teacher qualifications and experience, the school microclimate and social environment as well as material and technical resources. The survey data revealed that the experts attached the greatest importance to the development of curricula and teacher competencies. This leads to an assumption that high-quality education and capable teachers are the main factors that contribute to the competitiveness of the school and its capability to attract and retain educatees. However, improvements in the physical environment and material and technical support, although important, were considered to be less important than improvements in the quality of curricula and teaching. Arithmetic averages and coefficients of variation for each measure are presented in Table 3, giving an understanding of the coherence of expert opinions and how important they consider each measure to be for increasing the competitiveness of rural schools.

Table 3

Competitiveness improvement measures	Arithmetic average	Coherence coefficient (%)			
Curricula	1.75	47.38			
Teacher professional development	1.56	55.28			
School microclimate	1.94	59.04			
Material and technical resources	1.94	42.67			

Arithmetic averages for and the coherence of expert opinions on rural school competitiveness measures (n=16)

Source: authors' calculations based on the results of the expert survey

The arithmetic average shows an average rank assigned by the experts to each measure. The survey results confirmed again that all four measures were considered important, with the lowest average rank being assigned to improvements in curricula and teacher professional development, which indicated their highest priority. The coefficient of coherence (coefficient of variation) shows the extent to which expert opinions vary on each measure (Stefenhagena, 2011). A lower coefficient indicates greater agreement between expert opinions. The lowest coefficient of coherence was found for improvements in material and technical resources (42.67%), which means that the expert opinions on this problem were relatively the same. The largest variation of opinions was found for improvements in the school microclimate and social environment (59.04%), which revealed significant differences in expert ratings. The analysis revealed that although all the measures were considered important for increasing the competitiveness of rural schools, the experts had the highest agreement about improvements in material and technical resources.

The experts identified several important additional factors that affected the competitiveness of rural schools and the quality of education in Latgale region, which are as follows. 1. Incorporating community traditions into the educational process: the close ties of rural schools with the surrounding community serve as a basis for strengthening local identity and cultural heritage. Learning the local traditions contributes to the sense of belongingness to the community and cultural value preservation. 2. Personalized lessons: smaller classes in rural schools provide an individual approach to each educatee, allowing the teacher to adapt the learning process to the needs and ability level of each schoolchild. Such an approach contributes to a higher quality of learning and emotional well-being. 3. Creating a positive microclimate: a supportive learning environment is crucial for increasing the motivation and working capacity of both educatees and teachers. A positive microclimate creates an atmosphere full of trust and cooperation, as well as strengthens the sense of belongingness of educatees. 4. Demographic trends: birth rates, changes in the number of educatees and children, as well as migration directly affect the capacity of schools and the demand for educational services. Understanding the demographic processes in the region allows for more effective planning of the learning process and sustainable development of schools. 5. The availability of resources: sufficient support personnel, modern material and technical resources and funding are critical for delivering high-quality education. The availability of resources affects the learning process, the quality of teacher work and learning opportunities for educatees. 6. The role of political will and support: national and local government support for the rural school system, which involves allocating the necessary resources and contributing to sustainable development, is a decisive factor in increasing the competitiveness of schools. Political will and a single rural policy contribute to prospects for rural schools. 7. Designing a special curriculum: programmes and activities, e.g. regional education or an art school branch, allow rural schools to stand out against other schools and attract children with specific interests. The special curriculum helps to increase the visibility and competitiveness of the school. The results of the expert survey revealed that in order to increase the quality and competitiveness of education in Latgale region, it is necessary to focus on the incorporation of local values into the educational process, a personalized learning approach, the creation of a positive microclimate, as well as sufficient resources and political support. Such an approach would contribute to both improvements in the quality of education and the capability of rural schools to adapt to changing socioeconomic conditions.

The analysis and proposals made by the experts for increasing the competitiveness of schools, with special emphasis on rural schools, indicate the need to implement measures both at the school level and at the national level. The competitiveness of rural schools is significantly affected by external factors, e.g. a decrease in the intellectual potential of the population and a decrease in the quality of life, which cannot be solved only using the internal resources of the school.

1. Individual support for educatees:

- developing and implementing a differentiated approach strategy based on the individual abilities, interests and needs of each educatee;
- access to qualified teachers capable of giving support in both the academic and the social fields;
- expanding and promoting educational programmes of interest to contribute to personality development and the discovery of talents.

2. Rural environment development:

- stimulating the migration of new families to rural areas, the creation of jobs and improvements in the quality of life;
- improving the rural infrastructure and environment, thereby making the rural areas more attractive for living there.
- supporting businesses and private initiatives in rural areas.

3. Creation of a positive image:

- emphasizing the quality of education at rural schools and learning achievements at school contests and intellectual competitions, as well as interest education;
- informing the public about the opportunities and advantages of rural schools;
- contributing to a positive perception of rural schools as an important factor in social development.

4. National level initiatives:

- creating and implementing policies that contribute to improvements in the demographic situation in rural areas;
- developing the social sphere by improving living conditions for rural residents;
- providing adequate financial support to rural schools, guaranteeing access to high-quality education.

Improving the quality and competitiveness of rural schools requires an integrated approach that combines both specific internal school measures and broader national-level strategies. Such an approach not only contributes to increasing the quality of education but also positively affects the image of rural schools and fosters the overall development of rural areas.

Conclusions

1) The locations of schools and specifically the context of rural schools in Latvia are important factors that affect the composition and performance of the education system, including learning achievements and access to education. The methodology developed by Eurostat, which classifies populated areas according to various criteria, allows for an objective comparison of the areas, thereby helping to

understand the location impacts of rural schools on the quality and availability of education. This aspect is important for designing policies aimed at increasing the quality of education and equal access to education in all territories.

2) The competitiveness and quality of rural schools depend on many factors relating to not only the location and available resources of a school but also socioeconomic preconditions, the integration of technologies into the learning process and the qualifications of teaching personnel. Rural schools play a unique role in the development of the local community, thereby shaping the social and civic attitudes of young people, which are essential in the context of sustainable regional development. Therefore, it is important to carry out systemic reforms and provide adequate support to rural schools to improve their performance and deliver high-quality education for all educatees, regardless of where they live.

3) The results of the expert survey revealed that the competitiveness of rural schools in Latgale region was most significantly affected by the quality of administration and teaching personnel, as well as the capability to plan and assess school development. This emphasizes the role of competent leadership and teacher capacity in educatee development and the capability of the school to hire and retain qualified personnel.

4) The expert survey, in which each of the measures proposed to increase competitiveness was assigned a rank from 1 to 5, revealed that the highest priority rating was given to increasing the qualifications of teachers (arithmetic average = 1.56) and improving the curriculum (arithmetic average = 1.75), which indicated their significant impact on the competitiveness of rural schools.

5) The coefficient of coherence revealed relatively high agreement among the experts on the needed improvements in material and technical resources (42.67%), while the largest expert disagreement related to improvements in the school microclimate and social environment (59.04%).

6) According to the experts, very important aspects of rural school competitiveness involved incorporating community traditions into the educational process, providing personalized learning and access to resources, which indicated an important need for a localized approach to education.

7) Although the important role of increasing the qualifications of teachers is recognized, the expert opinions revealed that external factors, e.g. demographic trends and political will that generally promote or constrain the development of schools in rural areas, should also be considered for increasing the competitiveness of rural schools. Therefore, the research findings indicate the need for integrated strategies that combine school internal initiatives and support from the national and local governments to increase the quality of education and the competitiveness of rural schools.

8) Although the experts indicated that the main factors in the competitiveness of rural schools were the effective administration of rural schools, the qualifications of teaching personnel and the compliance of curricula with the needs of the rural community, the external factors related to preconditions, e.g. political will. Accordingly, the hypothesis partially proved to be true.

Acknowledgement

The paper was produced within the project IDEUM: Identity Landscapes: the History, Culture and Environment (No. VPP-LETONIKA-2021/1-0008).

Bibliography

- 1. Arsen, D., Delpier, T., Gensterblum, A., Jacobsen, R., & Stamm, A. (2021). Rural communities need better state education policies. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *103*(4), 8-13. DOI: 10.1177/00317217211065820
- Auers, D., Spurins, U., Gubins, S., & Karnitis E. (2019). Reģionu konkurētspēja Latvijas konkurētspējas ziņojums 2019 (Competitiveness of Regions in Latvia. Competitiveness Report). Thinktank Certus. Retrieved from: http://certusdomnica.lv/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Certus_2019-Zinojums.pdf

- 3. Boix, R., Champollion, P., & Duarte, A. M. (2015). Teaching and learning in rural contexts. *Sisyphus Journal of Education*, *3*(2), 28-47. Retrieved from: https://www.redalyc.org/articulo.oa?id=575763887003
- 4. Bouck, E. C. (2004). How size and setting impact education in rural schools. *The Rural Educator*, *25*(3), 38-42. DOI:10.35608/ruraled.v25i3.528.
- Corbett, M., & d'Entremont, D. A. (2024). There are many communities here: Teaching in complex rural geographies. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 142, 104544, 3-10. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2024.104544
- 6. Education Law (1998). Retrieved from: https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/50759-education-law
- 7. Harrison, J., & Rouse, P. (2014). Competition and public high school performance. *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, *48*(1), 10-19. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seps.2013.11.002
- LETA (2023). Skolēnu skaits būs noteicošais kritērijs skolu tīkla veidošanā pašvaldībās. Skolas vārds (Number of Schoolchildren will be a Decisive Criterion for the Creation of a School Network in Municipalities. The Voice of Schools). Retrieved from: https://www.skolasvards.lv/news/skolenu-skaits-bus-noteicosais-kriterijs-skolu-tiklaveidosana-pasvaldibas
- Ministry of Education and Science (2023). Kompleksi risinājumi augstvērtīgai izglītības nodrošināšanai vispārējā pamata un vidējā izglītībā: ilgtspējīga izglītības ekosistēma un efektīvs finansēšanas modelis (Complex Solutions to Delivering High-quality General Primary and Secondary Education: a Sustainable Educational Ecosystem and an Efficient Funding Model). Retrieved from: https://tapportals.mk.gov.lv/legal_acts/b99cad00-260e-4139-8757-376634d98862#
- 10. Ozols, R. (2021). Izglītības kvalitātes vērtēšana un pašvērtēšanas pamatprincipi izglītības iestādē. Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests (Assessment of the Quality of Education and the Basic Principles of Self-assessment for an Educational Institution. State Education Quality Service). Retrieved from: https://www.ikvd.gov.lv/lv/media/1047/download
- 11. Lazaretti, L. R., & Franca, M. T. A. (2020). School competition and performance indicators: evidence from the creation of federal education institutions in Brazil. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 77, 102211. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2020.102211
- 12. Shikalepo, E. E. (2020). Challenges facing teaching at rural schools: A review of related literature. *International Journal of Research and Innovation in Social Science*, *4*(5), 211-218.
- 13. Skola laukos (2016). Mazās lauku skolas Eiropā: atskats uz konferenci un sadarbības semināru (Schools in Rural Areas. Small Rural Schools in Europe: a Review of the Conference and Cooperation Workshop). Retrieved from: https://skolalaukos.fsi.lu.lv/
- 14. Stefenhagena, D. (2011). Universitātes pārvaldes procesu vērtējums funkcionālās efektivitātes pilnveidei (University Governance Processes as a Factor Influencing University Effectiveness). Proceedings of the University of Latvia: *Economics. Business Administration, 766*, 177-189.
- 15. Supule, I. (2019). Community school model: Is it an alternative for school closures in rural territories?. *Eastern European Countryside*, *25*(1), 171-194. DOI: https://doi.org/10.12775/eec.2019.007
- 16. Tuna, A. (2014). Development of the school as multifunctional community resourse in Latvia: opportunities and challenges. In *Society. Integration. Education. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference, 1,* 496-504.
- 17. Svagzdiene, B., & Perkumiene, D. (2017). Evaluation of competitiveness factors of rural communities. In *International scientific conference Rural Development 2017*, 1344-1349. DOI: 10.15544/RD.2017.211

BALTIC CORPORATE BOND MARKET AFTER COVID-2019 AND CAPITAL MARKETS UNION ACTIONS

Natalja Tocelovska¹, Dr.oec, Assistant Professor; **Inga Jekabsone**², Dr.sc.admin, Assistant Professor

¹Riga Graduate School of Law; ²Riga Technical University

Abstract. The implementation of the Capital Markets Union (CMU) initiative has boosted the activity within the corporate bond markets, a momentum further augmented by the consequences of the COVID-2019 pandemic. Although Baltic countries initially ranked low in the development of individual capital markets during 2007-2014, (before the CMU plan), the situation improved in the period 2015-2018 (after the CMU actions). The further expansion of the Baltic corporate bond market in the period from 2019 to 2023 traditionally associated with COVID-2019 and further CMU activities; witnessed an average annual growth rate of 125%.

This paper aims to investigate the impact of COVID-2019 and CMU-related factors on companies' decisions to issue corporate bonds in the Baltic region. This article undertakes a primary data analysis collected through surveys and indepth interviews conducted between December 2022 and January 2023, involving Baltic corporate bond issuers and issue organisers. The results indicated that while bank borrowing remained popular, issuing corporate bonds was gaining favour among the Baltic issuers. The cost of funding was named as the main motivating factor for the bond issuance, followed by the strategic ambition to be present in the public market, and lack of funding alternative. The European Union's support for bond issuance costs was treated as beneficial, reinforcing the impact of the CMU. The identification of liquidity and investor demand as primary obstacles in Baltic corporate bond issuance further supported the ongoing CMU efforts. Methodologically, this study employs scientific publication analysis, document analysis, expert surveys, and in-depth interviews.

Key words: corporate bonds, corporate bond issuance, Baltic countries, COVID-2019, Capital Markets Union. **JEL code**: G23, G12

Introduction

The existing academic research is increasingly addressing the evolution of corporate bond funding in Europe and the Baltics in particular. The implementation of the Capital Markets Union (CMU) initiative has boosted the activity within the segment, a momentum further augmented by the consequences of the COVID-2019 pandemic on capital markets. While the position of Latvia, Lithuania, and Estonia was ranked 25th (out of 25 as the maximum for the 28 member states) or the worst among other European Union countries, 18th and 11- for each country respectively when measuring the development of the capital market of a single country in the period 2007-2014 (before the CMU plan), the situation has improved in the period 2015-2018 (after the CMU plan) (Gucciardi, 2022). The active development has further expanded in the period from 2019 to 2023 traditionally associated with the COVID-2019 and Capital Markets Union activities; and witnessed an average annual growth rate of 125%.

While highly recognised by the academic and professional community for its scope and aim, the activities of the Capital Markets Union plan proved to be insufficient (the European Commission had performed reviews of the action plan) and influencing the capital markets to a dissimilar extent. Moreover, upon analysing the Baltic region, the authors identify its unique position shaped by factors such as a consolidated capital markets infrastructure provided by Nasdaq Baltic, a unified investor base, legislative integration, market scale considerations, and a disadvantaged starting position, prompting a reconsideration of the emphasis placed on COVID-2019 and Capital Markets Union related factors in shaping the development of the Baltic corporate bond market and underscoring the necessity for regional analysis.

¹ E-mail: natalja.tocelovska@rgsl.edu.lv;

² E-mail: inga.jekabsone@rtu.lv;

This paper aims to investigate the impact of COVID-2019 and Capital Market Union-related factors on companies' decisions to issue corporate bonds in the Baltic region. It contributes to extant research on corporate bond issuance in two fundamental ways. Firstly, the authors conduct a distinctive analysis of the Baltic region as a corporate bond issuer, scrutinising factors influencing companies' decisions to engage in corporate bond issuance in the Baltic, with a specific focus on COVID-2019 and Capital Market Unionrelated dynamics. Secondly, the authors undertake primary data collection and analysis to reveal the main factors affecting Baltic companies to enter the corporate bond market. In the first part of the paper, the authors review the academic contribution to the study of the influence of COVID-2019 and Capital Markets Union- related activities on the corporate bond market development; and the Baltic corporate bond market. The literature review sets the context of the research and supports the chosen methodology. In the second part, the authors present the data and research methodology. In the third part, as the result of the literature review, analysis of the primary data obtained through survey and in-depth interviews, the authors show the COVID-2019 and Capital Market Union- related factors that influence Baltic companies to issue corporate bonds and draw conclusions. Methodologically, this study employs scientific publication analysis, document analysis, expert surveys, and in-depth interviews. The primary data was collected between December 2022- January 2023.

Literature review

Despite the increasing integration of the Baltic countries and the formation of the Baltic capital market, the analysis of the Baltic corporate bond market as a single market is scarce by academics. The study of Vainovskis et al. (2023) was a unique analysis of the region and explored the determinants guiding the choice of Baltic corporate bond issuers between the local and international markets. The authors found that the main determinants stimulating international Baltic issues were bond placement size, company size, equity ratio, a satisfactory credit rating, and appropriate yields in the context of higher competition for international investor attention; on the country-level, gross domestic product per capita, country's export share, interest rate spread, regulatory quality, and political stability. Hvozdenska (2018) scrutinised Baltic bond markets on a per-country level for the government bond segment. More active academic interest can be observed on the per-country level for Latvia and Lithuania. Tocelovska et al. (2018) identified gross domestic product per capita, amount of domestic savings, real gross domestic product growth, amount of government bonds as the share of gross domestic product and regulatory quality on the amount of the corporate bonds outstanding as the determinants of the corporate bond market development in Latvia. Tocelovska et al. (2019) found that the reputation a company got as the result of the bond issue, strategic ambition to be present in the public market, cost of funding in the long-term (more than 3 years) motivated financial sector companies to come to the debt market.

Buzinske & Stankeviciene (2023a) and Buzinske & Stankeviciene (2023b) focused on the green bond segment of Lithuania. The studies pointed out the greenwashing, the questionable role of the green bond market in environmental protection, and insufficient financial and economic benefits of issuance as the challenges of green bond issuance in Lithuania as well as developed a 12-step process for the issuance of green bonds in Lithuania. Gaspareniene et al. (2019) analysed the choice for corporate financing for Lithuanian companies. While the authors based their research on the fact that corporate bonds were profitable only to large companies with a high credit rating, while small and medium companies—as well as large companies with lower credit ratings-found bank loans to be a more attractive method of external financing, the results revealed the general economics, bank sector, money market and specific characteristics of a company to influence the choice for a corporate capital structure. The main determinants

of business capital structure choice included: 1) general economic determinants, linked to the economic development of a country, the level of a stock market development, the size of the banking sector and the level of a finance market development; 2) bank sector determinants, primarily the procedures of bank loan issuance, legal regulation of the banking sector, the rate of deposit insurance premiums, (in)dependency of a business company from bank financing and a company's credit rating; 3) money market determinants, interest rates fixed by central banks, deposit interest rates, interest rates for non-deposit funds, surplus of free funds in households and business accounts, the rate of bond yields; 4) specific characteristics of a company such as business nature, a company's financial and marketing objectives, financial capacity, availability of different sources of financing and the need to diversify sources of financing.

The influence of COVID-2019 on the corporate bond market development is widely covered by academic research while missing a common stance. The study of Zaghini (2023) emphasised the weakness of the euro-area bond market during pandemic crisis periods where as a result of the credit rating agencies downgrading the euro-area companies, many euro-area corporations were unable to issue debt on the market. On the contrary, Agoraki et al. (2024) pointed the capital inflow into the bond markets during a pandemic, and Falato et al. (2021) to the positive spillover of the Fed funds to primary bond markets over the post-crisis period. The study by Taghizadeh-Hesary et al. (2021) noticed a reduction in green projects during the COVID-19 pandemic and the global recession, thus, indicating the urge for green bond issuance. The research by Sisodia et al. (2022) examined the rationale behind the increased global presence of corporate green bonds. The authors found that investors value green firms more as compared to brown firms (less climate-friendly), while the resilience of both green and brown firms was not found to differ. Della Posta & Morroni (2022) pointed out the need for additional public debt to create the basis for the recovery focused on the green transition, digital technology, and labour-intensive activities.

Bletzinger et al. (2022) examined the EU_Bonds, which acted as the European Union's (EU) COVID-19related policy responses. The development of the EU-Bonds and the issuance under SURE programme in December 2022 (European Commission, 2024b) follows the previous findings of Tocelovska & Cakure (2021) on the gradual formation of the supranational framework for the European bond issuance, Corsetti et al. (2019) exploration on the non-defaultable Eurobond issued by a "euro area fund". Moreover, Bletzinger et al. (2022) acknowledged the risk of EU bonds limited further development due to the fact that both SURE and NGEU programs were foreseen to be one-off, EU-Bonds not being included in the sovereign bond indexes, and an absence of a direct derivative hedge instrument similar to the German, French, and Italian government bonds in the form of Eurex bond futures contracts.

The importance of the Capital Markets Union as a boost to European capital markets has been recognised by academics since its introduction in 2015. The development of the Capital Markets Union could be divided into several stages: in 2015 the first CMU action plan was developed with the first review in 2017; after the High Level Forum in 2020, the new Action Plan was developed, where in 2023 list of indicators to monitor progress towards the CMU objectives was published (European Commission, 2024a). In its first action plan, the European Commission underlined the need to review the functioning of European Union corporate bond markets, focusing on how market liquidity can be improved, the potential impact of regulatory reforms, market developments and voluntary standardisation of offer documentation (European Commission, 2015). While the academic and professional society has demonstrated solid scepticism about the short timeline (the first major deadline was set for 2019), gradually the change in the CMU calendar and content was adjusted. The study of Tocelovska & Purmalis (2017) emphasised the CMU's focus on securitization, infrastructure finance, and on providing financing alternatives to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs), where the growth of the Latvian corporate bond market was shaped by the

financial companies, not the SMEs originally targeted by the CMU. The study had expected further growth of the financial sector corporate bond as stimulated by securitisation. The banks as the representative of the financial sector companies got special attention for their funding needs in the form of covered bonds. In 2019, the European Commission reached an agreement on the harmonised rules, based on national high standards and best practices, to contribute to developing covered bonds as a stable and cost-effective source of funding for EU banks. By doing so, they planned to expand the capacity of banks to provide financing to the real economy and also to give investors a wider range of safer investment opportunities (European Commission, 2019). The study of Bajakic (2019) on the covered bond aspect of the CMU, predicted a reduction in regulatory fragmentation and more cross-border transactions, better investor protection, and more integrated European capital markets.

Allen & Pastor (2019) further challenged limited ambition in the supervision and enforcement of securities regulations, financial transactions tax, the low-interest-rate environment, cultural reasons, and potential political opposition. The primary results of the CMU as communicated in 2019 pointed to the increasing corporate bond issuance by non-financial companies, while still not utilising the full potential of the instrument. Further action to improve the functionality of the corporate bond market based on the expert group's recommendation was adopting a legislative proposal on promoting SME listing to reduce the administrative burden for issuers of corporate bonds (European Commission, 2019). Langenbucher (2021) has summarised the four areas of the High Level Forum in 2020 as: 1) promoting financing of a business; 2) creating a uniform market infrastructure; 3) fostering individual investor's engagement and 4) tackling obstacles to cross-border investment. The study of Werner et al. (2020) pointed out that the capital markets as stimulated by the CMU activities will not substitute but complement the bank SME financing.

Methodology

The primary data analysed in this paper has been obtained via in-depth interviews and surveys of the Baltic corporate bond issuers and issue organisers in the period of December 2022 to January 2023. The limitation for the issuer sample was made in the form of setting the issuance period of the corporate bonds by the company: 2017-2022. The questionnaire comprised three parts (covering the choice for funding, corporate bond issue process, and expert details) and was sent to 158 out of 168 issuers, generating 38 original responses and reaching a 24% response rate. The authors have further analysed the questionnaires where more than 60% of responses were missing or where the same number appeared in 100% of responses, were not included in the sample thus reducing the number of valid questionnaires to 30. The survey experts were approached 2-5 times via email, phone, or LinkedIn account. The expert interviews took place in the period of December 2022 to January 2023 with the four organisers of the Baltic corporate bond issues. The authors have identified in total seven issue organisers each arranging more than seven corporate bond issues in the period 2017-2022: Siauliu bankas, Luminor Bank, Orion Securities, Signet Bank, BlueOrange Bank, LHV, and SEB. The response rate for the in-depth interviews reached 57%. The in-depth interview process took place in English or Latvian depending on the preferences of the interviewee.

Research results and discussion

The results of the survey "Corporate Bonds in the Baltics: Factors that Affect Corporate Bond Issuers" conducted in December 2022- January 2023 indicated that while borrowing outside the group company (bank borrowing) was still recognised as the most preferred way of financing (the other options being borrowing outside the group company (bank borrowing), equity funding, and organising initial public

offering (IPO)), issuing corporate bonds was favoured by the issuers in a similar manner. The results support the findings of Agoraki et al. (2024) rejecting the findings of Zaghini (2023) about the accessibility of the capital markets in the COVID-2019 and post-COVID-2019 years. During the interviews, when commenting on the choice for companies to issue corporate bonds instead of applying for bank financing the expert pointed to several reasons: the company reached the maximum available bank financing or outgrown the capacity of local banks (like quasi sovereign and financial institutions); the lack of pledge as required by the banks while most of the corporate bonds issued were unsecured; diversification and flexibility in the debt structure (looser financing structure, payment of the debt amount at the end of the period instead of amortising the loan); and pricing during the low-interest-rate environment during the past three years. The additional factors, mentioned by a few experts were company recognition and transparency (media presence, NASDAQ listing, increasing trust of investors and employees) and lack of knowledge about the capital markets from the older generation entrepreneurs. Additionally, the experts have commented on the contrasting situation in Estonia as compared to the Baltic region. The more aggressive practice of the banking sector (as perceived by the experts when compared to Latvia and Lithuania) resulted in Estonian issuers lagging their coming to the corporate bond market. The IPO option while still rated low by the survey experts (mean 2.21 out of 10 maximum) was commented during interviews to gain popularity in the future as an increasing number of potential issuers were evaluating the option.

Table 1

Obstacles	Mean	Std. Error of Mean	Median	Mode	Std. Deviation	Variance	Range	Minimum	Maximum
cost of issue (documentation, issue organiser etc.)	5.04	0.98	5.50	2.00	2.78	7.72	8.00	1.00	9.00
cost of market entrance (registration fees, listing fees etc.)	4.77	0.93	5.00	2.00	2.64	6.98	8.00	1.00	9.00
cost when compared to the borrowing from the group company	5.27	0.99	7.00	7.00	3.14	9.88	10.00	-	10.00
cost when compared to the borrowing outside the group company (bank borrowing)	6.76	0.87	8.00	8.00	2.62	6.86	9.00	1.00	10.00
cost when compared to the equity funding	4.75	0.90	5.00	3.00	2.69	7.24	9.00	-	9.00
level of competence in bond issue process by the reasonable people in my company	5.59	0.86	6.00	5.00	2.58	6.64	9.00	1.00	10.00
level of corporate bond understanding among investors	5.07	0.97	5.00	8.00	2.73	7.46	8.00	1.00	9.00
level of demand from investors	6.89	0.91	7.00	9.00	2.58	6.64	8.00	2.00	10.00
liquidity of the corporate bond market	7.59	0.75	8.00	9.00	2.14	4.56	8.00	2.00	10.00
regulatory policies	5.40	0.90	5.00	2.00	2.69	7.25	9.00	1.00	10.00
restrictive covenants of the corporate bonds	5.48	1.00	5.00	5.00	3.00	9.01	9.00	1.00	10.00

Main statistical indicators of expert evaluations on obstacles to issue corporate bonds

Evaluation scale 1 – 10, where 1- strongly disagree; 10 – strongly agree

Source: Authors' construction based on conducted survey "Corporate Bonds in the Baltics: Factors that Affect Corporate Bond Issuers" conducted in December 2022- January 2023

Tables 1 and 2 represent the summary of the descriptive statistics of questions: "In my country the main obstacles to issue bonds are: cost of issue (documentation, issue organiser, etc.); cost of market entrance (registration fees, listing fees etc.); cost when compared to the borrowing from the group company; cost when compared to the borrowing outside the group company (bank borrowing); cost when compared to the equity funding; level of competence in bond issue process by the reasonable people in my company; level of corporate bond understanding among investors; level of demand from investors; liquidity of the corporate bond market; regulatory policies; and restrictive covenants of the corporate bonds" and question: "My company, when issuing bonds is targeting: retail clients (excluding high net worth individuals); high net worth individuals; institutional clients (banks' own books); institutional clients (banks' assets under management departments); institutional clients (insurance); and institutional clients (pension plans)" of the survey "Corporate Bonds in the Baltics: Factors that Affect Corporate Bond Issuers" conducted in December 2022- January 2023. While the participants of both the survey and expert interviews have pointed to the cost of funding as the main motivating factor to issue bonds for a company, followed by the strategic ambition to be present in the public market, and lack of funding alternative, the analysis of the main obstacles to issuing corporate bonds reveals the high cost of funding if compared to the borrowing outside the group company (bank borrowing) (Table 1). The difference in the perception of the cost of funding when compared to the results of the survey and the expert interviews could be due to the distinct perception as present by the issuers (survey experts) and issue organisers (interview experts). Moreover, the financial support of the EU for covering the cost of the corporate bond issues was recognised as a significant relief thus supporting the CMU impact.

Table 2

Client groups	Mean	Std. Error of Mean	Median	Mode	Std. Deviation	Variance	Range	Minimum	Maximum
retail clients (excluding high net worth individuals)	5.17	1.09	5.00	2.00	3.26	10.62	9.00	1.00	10.00
high net worth individuals	7.30	0.98	8.00	10.00	2.95	8.68	9.00	1.00	10.00
institutional clients (banks' own books)	8.10	0.91	9.00	10.00	2.86	8.19	10.00	-	10.00
institutional clients (banks' assets under management departments)	7.96	1.08	10.00	10.00	3.43	11.77	10.00	-	10.00
institutional clients (insurance)	8.05	0.91	9.00	10.00	2.73	7.45	9.00	1.00	10.00
institutional clients (pension plans)	8.10	1.09	10.00	10.00	3.26	10.62	9.00	1.00	10.00

Main statistical indicators of expert evaluations on the target clients when issuing corporate bonds

Evaluation scale 1 – 10, where 1- strongly disagree; 10 – strongly agree Source: Authors' construction based on conducted survey "Corporate Bonds in the Baltics: Factors that Affect Corporate Bond Issuers" conducted in December 2022- January 2023

The analysis of the main obstacles to issuing corporate bonds indicated that the liquidity of the corporate bond market had the highest rank, followed by the level of demand from investors. Baltic corporate bond issuers' views on the liquidity of the corporate bond market as an obstacle to issuing corporate bonds were not homogeneous – the lowest evaluation was 2 and the highest evaluation was 10 with mode 9 (the most often chosen evaluation by the experts) and median 8 (around half of the experts gave evaluation 8 or

less, and half of the experts gave evaluation 8 and 9), the arithmetic mean of the expert evaluations was 7.59 with standard deviation 0.75). The concern about the liquidity issue supports the desire of the European Commission to review the functioning of European Union corporate bond markets, focusing on how market liquidity can be improved (European Commission, 2015). The liquidity concern while mentioned during the expert interviews, was not among the key highlights of the experts. The experts commented that the liquidity problems were typical for small bonds (even for international issues) and not a major issue for institutional investors, where private investors hold bonds to maturity. The average Baltic corporate bond issue size viewed by different interview experts varied from EUR 5-10 million to EUR 20-30 million not exceeding EUR 50 million.

Baltic corporate bond issuers' views on the level of demand from investors as an obstacle to issuing corporate bonds were not homogeneous - the lowest evaluation was 2 and the highest evaluation was 10 with mode 9 (the most often chosen evaluation by the experts) and median 7, the arithmetic mean of the expert evaluations was 6.89 with standard deviation 0.91. Further analysis of the Baltic corporate bond issue evaluation of the target clients for the bonds revealed institutional investors: pension plans, banks' own books, insurance companies and bank's assets under management were viewed as the main target clients followed by the high-net-worth individuals (Table 2). During the interviews, the demand from investors was highlighted as a significant factor for the whole pan-Baltic region. While referring to the strong urge for the local pension fund assets to be invested in the corporate bonds of the region, the experts realised the EU regulation requirements and understood the investment limits. The experts commented on the limited presence of institutional investors in the Baltics except for the pension funds while the banks' own investments (proprietary books) only recently started their activity, same applied to the family offices. The need for more green bonds for green fund investments was recognised thus supporting the findings of Taghizadeh-Hesary et al. (2021). The retail clients got significantly lower evaluations by the Baltic corporate bond issuers as the target clients with the arithmetic mean of the expert evaluations of 5.17 and a standard deviation of 1.09. The interview experts recognised modest retail interest in the less retail oriented (by their core activity) issuers, whereas the opposite was observed in the well-recognised issuers like Maxima Grupe, UAB. The experts mentioned that high minimum investments, low financial literacy and lack of information, high fees, as well as limited (or no positive) experience in financial markets were among the factors affecting retail limited interest in corporate bond investing.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Academic research on the Baltic corporate bond market is limited, with a focus on individual countries rather than the region as a whole. Recent studies have highlighted factors influencing the choice between local and international bond markets for Baltic issuers, the determinants of the corporate bond market development in Latvia, the green bond segment in Lithuania as well as the choice of corporate financing in Lithuania.

2) The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on corporate bond markets exhibits divergent perspectives. Some academic papers highlighted weaknesses in the euro-area bond market due to downgrades by credit rating agencies, while others pointed to increased capital inflows during the pandemic, positive spillovers from Fed funds to primary bond markets post-crisis, and a reduction in green projects prompting a call for green bond issuance.

3) Academic recognition of the Capital Markets Union's (CMU) significance in boosting European capital markets has been consistent since its inception in 2015. The CMU's developmental trajectory, marked by key milestones such as action plans and reviews reflected a strategic evolution

aimed at enhancing market liquidity, regulatory reforms, and financing alternatives, despite initial scepticism. The European Commission underlined the need to review the functioning of European Union corporate bond markets, among other issues, focusing on the market liquidity. Despite increased corporate bond issuance by non-financial companies, the CMU's potential remains underutilised, prompting further action such as legislative proposals to facilitate SME listings. The four areas of the High Level Forum include promoting business financing, market infrastructure, investor engagement, and addressing cross-border investment barriers.

4) The analysis of the Baltic corporate bond issuers reveals that while bank borrowing remains the preferred financing method, issuing corporate bonds is gaining similar favour among issuers. Reasons for choosing corporate bonds over bank financing include reaching maximum bank borrowing capacity, preference for unsecured debt, flexibility in debt structure, and favourable pricing in low-interest-rate environments. The additional factors being company recognition, transparency, and generational differences in knowledge about capital markets.

5) While cost remained the main motivating factor to issue bonds for a company, followed by the strategic ambition to be present in the public market, and lack of funding alternative, the analysis of the main obstacles to issuing corporate bonds revealed the high cost of funding if compared to the borrowing outside the group. The financial support of the EU for covering the cost of the corporate bond issue was recognised as a significant relief thus supporting the CMU impact.

6) The further analysis identified liquidity and investor demand as primary obstacles to issuing corporate bonds in the Baltic region. These findings supported the European Commission's initiative to review the functioning of the EU corporate bond markets, focusing on how market liquidity could be improved. While liquidity concerns were acknowledged in expert interviews, they weren't emphasized as key highlights, particularly as they primarily affect smaller bond issues rather than institutional investors. The Baltic corporate bond issue sizes were found to range from EUR 5-10 million to EUR 20-30 million, with few exceeding EUR 50 million.

7) The analysis revealed institutional investors such as pension plans, banks' own books, and insurance companies as the main target clients for Baltic corporate bond issues. Retail clients received lower recognition due to factors such as high minimum investments, low financial literacy and lack of information, and high fees, although recognising that retail-oriented (by their core activity) issuers attracted more interest.

Bibliography

- Agoraki, M.-E., K., Wu, H., Xu, T. & Yang, M. (2024). Money never sleeps: Capital flows under global risk and uncertainty. Journal of International Money and Finance 141, 103013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jimonfin.2023.103013
- 2. Allen, F. & Pastor, L. (2019). The Capital Markets Union: Key Challenges. Capital Markets Union and Beyond, 3-24
- 3. Bajakic, I. (2019). Capital Markets Union and European Covered Bonds Initiative for Upgrading Capital Markets in the New Member States. Economic and Social Development (ESD 2019), 67-75.
- Bletzinger, T., Greif, W. & Schwaab, B. (2022). Can EU Bonds Serve as Euro-Denominated Safe Assets? Journal of Risk and Financial Management 15(11), 530. https://doi.org/10.3390/jrfm15110530
- Buzinske, J. & Stankeviciene, J. (2023a). Analysis of Success Factors, Benefits, and Challenges of Issuing Green Bonds in Lithuania. Economies 11(5), 143. https://doi.org/10.3390/economies11050143
- Buzinske, J. & Stankeviciene, J. (2023b). Decision-Making Algorithm for the Issuance of the Green Bonds by Municipalities in Inter-Municipal Cooperation in Lithuania. Economies 11(12), 287. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/economies11120287
- Corsetti, G., Dedola, L., Jarocinski, M., Mackowiak, B. & Schmidt, S. (2019). Macroeconomic Stabilization, Monetary-Fiscal Interactions, and Europe's Monetary Union. European Journal of Political Economy 57, 22-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpoleco.2018.07.001

- Della Posta, P. & Morroni, M. (2022). The credibility of monetary policy and the fiscal response to the pandemic in the Eurozone. Evolutionary and Institutional Economics Review 19(1), 77-96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40844-021-00226-0
- 9. European Commission. (2015). Action Plan on Building a Capital Markets Union. Document 52015DC0468. Retrieved from: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52015DC0468
- 10. European Commission. (2024a). CMU. Retrieved from: https://finance.ec.europa.eu/capital-markets-union-and-financial-markets/capital-markets-union/what-capital-markets-union_en
- 11. European Commission. (2024b). Funding Instruments. Retrieved from: https://commission.europa.eu/strategyand-policy/eu-budget/eu-borrower-investor-relations/fundinginstruments_en#:~:text=in%20December%202022.-,EU%2DBonds,through%20syndicated%20transactions%20and%20auctions.
- 12. European Commission. (2019). Capital Markets Union: progress on building a Single Market for capital for a strong Economic and Monetary Union. COM(2019) 136 final. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/finance/docs/policy/190315-cmu-communication_en.pdf
- Falato, A., Goldstein, I. & Hortacsu, A. (2021.) Financial fragility in the COVID-19 crisis: The case of investment funds in corporate bond markets. Journal of Monetary Economics 123, 35-52. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jmoneco.2021.07.001
- 14. Gaspareniene, L., Remeikiene, R., Sadeckas, A. & Chadysas, V. (2019). A Preference for Corporate Borrowing in Alternative Markets over Borrowing from Banks under the Impact of Monetary Policies: a Lithuanian Case. Economic Research-Ekonomska Istrazivanja 32(1), 1903- 1921. https://doi.org/10.1080/1331677X.2019.1638288
- 15. Gucciardi, G. (2022). Measuring the relative development and integration of EU countries' capital markets using composite indicators and cluster analysis. Review of World Economics 158(4), 1043-1083. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10290-022-00453-6
- 16. Hvozdenska, J. (2018). Convergence of the Government Bond Yields in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania. European Financial Systems 2018: Proceedings of the 15th International Scientific Conference, 196-201.
- 17. Langenbucher, K. (2021). Building a Capital Market the Final Report of the High Level Forum on the EU Capital Market Union. European Company and Financial Law Review 17(6), 601-618.
- 18. Sisodia, G., Joseph, A. & Dominic, J. (2022). Whether corporate green bonds act as armour during crises? Evidence from a natural experiment. International Journal of Managerial Finance 18(4), 701-724. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMF-10-2021-0501
- 19. Taghizadeh-Hesary, F., Yoshino, N. & Phoumin, H. (2021). Analyzing the Characteristics of Green Bond Markets to Facilitate Green Finance in the Post-COVID-19 World. Sustainability 13(10), 5719. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105719
- 20. Tocelovska, N. & Cakure, A. (2021). Analysis of the Legal and Regulatory Situation of Uncovered Corporate Bond Issuance in the Baltic States: Is There a Common Framework Possible? European Integration Studies 15, 170-181. http://dx.doi.org/10.5755/j01.eis.1.15.28804
- 21. Tocelovska, N. & Purmalis, K. (2017). Capital Markets Union: the Case of Latvian Corporate Bond Market. New Challenges of Economic and Business Development-2017: Digital Economy, 671-680.
- Tocelovska, N., Sloka, B. & Arfejevs, I. (2018) Determinants of the Development of the Corporate Bond Market in Latvia. (2018). European Integration Studies 12/2018, 148-161. http://dx.doi.org/10.5755/j01.eis.0.12.21875
- 23. Tocelovska, N., Sloka, B. & Purmalis, K. (2019) Financial Companies in Latvia: Why are they Coming to the Bond Market? European Integration Studies 13(2019), 70-79. http://dx.doi.org/10.5755/j01.eis.0.13.23500
- 24. Vainovskis, O., Lenerts, T. & Tocelovska, N. (2023). Going Global or Staying Local: Determinants of Domestic and International Corporate Bond Issues in the Baltics. European Integration Studies 17, 141-152. https://doi.org/10.5755/j01.eis.1.17.34041
- 25. Werner, A., Menk, M. T. & Neitzert, F. (2020). The European Capital Markets Union and its Impact on Future SME Financing. Contemporary Development in Entrepreneurial Finance: An Academic and Policy Lens on the Status-Quo, Challenges and Trends, 31-58. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17612-9_2
- 26.Zaghini, A. (2023). The Covid pandemic in the market: infected, immune and cured bonds. Journal of Financial Services Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10693-022-00394-z

STRATEGIC POSITIONING AND THE IMPORTANCE OF COMMUNICATION FOR STARTUPS IN LATVIA

Aija Vonoga¹, Mg.soc.sc.; Anda Zvaigzne², Dr.oec.; Sandra Sprudzāne³, Dr.sc.comm.; Iveta Mietule⁴, Dr.oec.

^{1,2,3,4}Rezekne Academy of Technologies

Abstract. The research aims to perform a complex analysis of startups to identify external and internal factors in the development of startups in Latvia, the strategic positions of startups and future action strategies thereof. The research employed various methods, including monographic and descriptive; graphic; expert interviewing and pairwise analysis for identifying the main factors included in a startup survey questionnaire; surveying that gives insight into selfassessments of the situation by startups and the Strategic Position and Action Evaluation Matrix (SPACE) that helps to identify the strategic position and identify future action strategies for startups. The research analysed in detail only two fields of economic activity of startups: fintech and healthtech. The research revealed that the main problems for startups involved insufficient market research, a lack of financial resources and improper strategic planning. The strategies proposed by the research are aimed at diversifying product and service development by startups, optimizing costs and increasing competitiveness, focusing on digital transformation and innovation. An effective communication strategy is one of the most essential prerequisites for successful business for startups. The research contributes to an assessment of external and internal factors in the performance of startups in Latvia and to the identification of strategic positions, thereby suggesting strategies for national startups to improve their strategic positions and actions in the market. The research results are important for both current startups and those individuals who plan to start their businesses. Key words: startup, strategic position, SPACE, entrepreneurship, communication.

JEL code: M13, D83, L26

Introduction

In recent years, Europe has experienced the emergence of a new generation of companies in the global market. This trend relates to a more mature European venture capital industry and the growing interest of non-European investors. European startups are increasingly considered to be engines of economic growth, which have the potential to solve current problems in the field of digitalization, sustainability and industry competitiveness by using innovative and advanced technologies. For this reason, various government policy schemes are implemented both at the national and the European Union (EU) levels to contribute to the startup ecosystem. In 2023, 728 startups have been identified in the startup ecosystem of Latvia (EUIPO, 2023). Award-winning companies are a vivid example of the fact that we do not lack ambitions to change in Latvia. Startup ideas change the way industries operate and develop innovations. Latvia needs economic changes, and startups have to be a part of the changes (Startin.lv, 2023). Europe still lags behind other regions, including the USA, when it comes to financing innovative startups. Actions to deal with this challenge are multifaceted; however, making the intellectual property system more accessible to startups leads to innovative companies being part of the solution. The EU trademarks and patents play an important role in the development of startups. The EU unitary patents expand market opportunities for deep technology companies, thereby allowing them to enter a wider market (EUIPO, 2023). The failure rate of startups is significant at over 90%. Research studies show that more than nine in ten startups eventually fail, and about 20% of them fail in their first year. The innovative nature of startups makes them particularly vulnerable to risk, yet this applies to all kinds of businesses. According to the US Bureau of Labour Statistics, the long-term failure rate of all businesses is 70%. This rate increases to 50% by the

¹ E-mail: Aija.vonoga@rta.lv

 ² E-mail: Anda.zvaigzne@rta.lv
 ³ E-mail: Sandra.sprudzane@rta.lv

⁴ E-mail: Iveta.mietule@rta.lv

fifth year and 70% by the tenth year. There are many reasons why startups fail, including difficulty in finding a position in the market, competing with established competitors and making profits (Zhou, 2024).

Research hypothesis: in Latvia, the strategic positions of startups depend on their capability to identify internal and external factors in their performance.

The research aim is to perform a complex analysis of startups to identify external and internal factors in the development of startups in Latvia, the strategic positions of startups and future action strategies thereof. **Specific research tasks:** 1) to perform a theoretical analysis of the importance of strategic management and communication in business, placing a special emphasis on a strategic analysis tool – the SPACE matrix; 2) to perform an assessment of the strategic positions and actions of startups in Latvia; 3) to identify strategies for the long-term operation of the most significant industries for startups in Latvia.

The research employed general **scientific research methods**: monographic, descriptive and graphic, pairwise analysis, expert interviewing and startup surveying as well as the Strategic Position and Action Evaluation Matrix (SPACE).

The **theoretical framework** for the research is based on various scientific and other sources of information covering the fields of strategic management, communication and startups.

Research limitations

- As part of the research, a survey questionnaire was distributed to 221 startups in January 2024, and 34 responses were received with valid answers, i.e. a response rate was 15.4%. The low response rate could be explained by several factors, including a lack of time, complexity of the questionnaire and a lack of motivation. Despite the low response rate, the answers could be considered to be representative enough to draw conclusions about startups in Latvia. There were several reasons for this: the diversity of the respondents: 1) the survey respondents represented various industries and company size groups;
 2) the quality of the data: the answers to the survey questions were well thought out and provided valuable information about factors in the performance of startups and the strategic positions thereof. Therefore, the research findings could serve as a basis for further research on startups in Latvia and other countries.
- The research analysed in detail only two industries: fintech and healthtech. The strategic positions of startups in other industries might differ.
- The SPACE matrix uses two internal dimensions (financial strength and competitive advantages) and two external dimensions (industry resilience and environmental stability).

Research results and discussion

A strategy is a tool for achieving long-term goals (David et al., 2017; Silaban & Syah, 2018). A strategy serves as a business plan for a company, showing its understanding of the following aspects: how, when and where to compete, with whom to compete and for what purpose the company competes (Silaban & Syah, 2018). The concept of a strategy has existed since the dawn of mankind (Henderson, 1989), while the term strategic planning entered the world of management in 1950 (Tafti et al., 2012). Since then, various tools have been introduced for each stage of strategic planning, including formulation, implementation and evaluation steps. Globalization and the complexity of companies have challenged the strategies developed by an organization (Daniel, 2006). Therefore, strategic planning has experienced periods of decline and growth (Mintzberg, 1994). For most organizations, formulating their strategies for success is the most important thing in an environment of complex changes. Strategic planning provides organizations with some tools to follow the formulation of a strategy in various organizational

aspects and manage the performance of strategic aspects (Miller & Cardinal, 1994). Today strategic management is widely used at various levels of entrepreneurship. Strategic management is considered to be a set of decisions and actions that managers apply at all levels of the organization. This is a set of decisions that can lead to long-term activities of the organization (Mintzberg, 1991). In other words, the general concept of strategic management is that managers need to know what factors are employed to improve prerequisites for the successful performance of the organization in the future (Stacy, 2002). Lovlyn emphasizes that a strategy is a relevant problem also in the context of organizational communication. An effective communication strategy is one of the essential prerequisites for successful entrepreneurship. The impacts of it are apparent at various levels of company management, thereby contributing to risk prevention, effective decision-making and a smooth flow of information at all levels of the structure. The importance of a communication strategy is stressed by the concept of communication as an indispensable tool of organizational development. It serves as an essential tool and a means of social interaction through which various relationships and interactions in the organization are established and maintained (Lovlyn, 2017). Thus, it could be said that a strategy is the basis of strategic communication. A strategy is used as an inclusive indicator of an organization's communication practices. In this regard, the concept of strategic communication has also been introduced, which examines how organizations use communication to purposefully accomplish their missions (Frandsen & Johansen, 2017). Seiffert-Brockmann and Wiggins & Nothhaft note that in the context of strategic management, strategic communication is defined as a set of tools aimed at achieving organizational goals. In a narrower sense, it serves the achievement of an organization's self-proclaimed goals, whereas in a broader sense, it provides it with sustainable growth and superiority over competitors. A characteristic feature of strategic communication is its role in the survival and long-term success of an organization. It allows organizations not only to function successfully but also to develop, thereby engaging in strategically important conversations and actively creating their images. Communication serves as a tool to help reduce both internal and external pressures that an organization faces. It acts as an interface where collective consciousness, desires and forms of cooperation are aligned with the changing environment. Thus, strategic communication ensures an organization's capability to adapt and operate effectively under dynamic market conditions (Seiffert-Brockmann, Wiggins & Nothhaft, 2023).

Research studies by Chaudhri et al. show that entrepreneurs can evaluate and prioritize strategic communication processes that are most suitable for them. The same is true of how startups strategically manage their brands – a process that does not have to follow after the concept or product is fully developed nor does this have to entail communication efforts that are wide-ranging across all media. Depending on business peculiarities, focused and direct efforts at communication with key audiences may be more strategic and cost-effective for some, while a wider scope of visibility may be beneficial for others (Chaudhri et al., 2022).

A review of various scientific literature sources allows us to conclude that strategic management and communication are two interrelated disciplines that are critical to the success of any organization. A strategy determines the direction, while communication ensures that everyone in an organization moves towards the same goal. Effective strategic management and communication can help organizations to achieve their goals, increase their efficiency and grow in a sustainable way.

Shtal et al. have concluded that today analyses of the external business environment are very important for the development of any organization. This is because today's external business environment is characterized by an extremely high degree of dynamism, complexity and uncertainty. Besides, one of the main prerequisites in business, as well as in other areas of life, is the organization's capability to adapt to external changes in the macro-environment. It could be added that any organization exists and functions depending on many factors. The factors have different effects on the organization and have very significant impacts on the organization's capabilities, prospects and strategy. A combination of interacting factors is considered to be an organizational environment in management (Shtal et al., 2018).

The Strategic Position and Action Evaluation Matrix (SPACE) was proposed and developed in 1994 by Alan Rowe, Richard Mason, Karl Dickel, Richard Mann and Robert Mockler (Rowe et al., 1994). Rowe et al. tried to overcome some of the limitations/shortcomings of the methods/tools mentioned above. Based on the explanation by Rowe et al. (1994), the SPACE matrix is an analytical tool to map the position of a company in a quadrant matrix with the aim of enabling the company to visualize its position to be able to identify a suitable strategic position for future expansion. Based on the strategy vector in the SPACE matrix, it can show the strategy that the company should implement. Basically, the SPACE matrix can be considered a short overview of the Profit Impact of Market Strategy approach, as each dimension is a combination of several separately assessed factors. By incorporating multiple factors, companies can examine multiple alternative strategies from different perspectives to choose the right strategy (Rowe et al., 1994).

Competition is key to the success or failure of an organization and determines the appropriateness of its activities. In designing a strategy, managers need to examine marketing opportunities in each industry and product market, as well as the organization's distinctive competencies or strengths relative to its competitors. The SPACE matrix is a valuable method for analysing the competitiveness of an organization. It uses two internal dimensions (financial strength and competitive advantages) and two external dimensions (industry resilience and environmental stability) to identify an organization's strategic position in the industry. The strategic positions of a company are classified as aggressive, competitive, conservative or defensive (Radder & Louw, 1998). Dimitrova states that by using SPACE analysis, marketing managers can include and integrate several various elements of the environment to test or examine specific strategic alternatives from different perspectives. In other words, the type and number of sub-factors are not predetermined but depend on specific analytical objectives (Dimitrova, 2017). The SPACE matrix is a strategic planning tool that serves to analyse an organization and define a suitable strategy for it. The matrix is based on four dimensions - two internal and two external ones - that allow an assessment of the state and potential of an organization. The internal dimensions: financial strength (FS) specifies the financial stability and profitability of an organization. The main factors in FS are return on investment, liquidity, capital structure, business risks etc. factors. Competitive advantages (CA) reflect an organization's capability to outperform its competitors. The main factors in CA are market share, product quality, the product life cycle, brand awareness etc. The external dimensions: industry resilience (IR) indicates the attractiveness and growth potential of the industry. The main factors in IR are growth and profit potential, financial stability, technological know-how etc. factors. Environmental stability (ES) reflects the variability and uncertainty of the external environment. The main factors in ES are technological changes, inflation, demand variability etc. factors.

The factors could be included in or changed within each dimension, depending on the specifics of a particular organization. The method functions as follows: the main factors of each dimension are rated by the decision maker(s) of an organization and a score from a scale of 0 to 6 is assigned to each of them belonging to FS and IR (CA and ES, respectively). The arithmetic mean of each dimension is then calculated. According to the basic principles of the method, CA and IR values are plotted on the X-axis and FS and ES on the Y-axis. The sum of CA and IS values (FS and ES, respectively) indicates the kind of strategy suggested by the final x (resp. y) value for the organization. Once the above steps are completed, a proper strategy could be selected according to one of the following four strategic positions: aggressive,

competitive, defensive and conservative (Gurbuz, 2013; Radder & Louw, 1998; Rumanti & Syauta, 2013). This position is then defined as a general competitive strategy that will help the company to develop proper strategies for its sustainability, namely: total cost management, differentiation and defence (Rowe et al., 1994). The review of various scientific sources allowed us to conclude that the identification of a strategy by using the SPACE matrix could be based on a logic seeking to maximize the company's strengths and take advantage of opportunities in the external environment while minimizing its weaknesses and neutralizing its threats.

The factors affecting startups were selected and adapted using the SPACE matrix. A startup segment expert was involved in assessing the most important factors. *The expert selection criteria were as follows:* 1) knowledge and practical/research experience: in-depth knowledge of the startup ecosystem; 2) analytical skills: the ability to critically analyse information and make informed decisions. Pairwise analysis was used for the expert interview. By comparing all factors in pairs, the expert selected the most important factor in each pair. After ranking the factors, the top 5 most significant factors were selected in each dimension for the SPACE matrix for a survey of new entrepreneurs.

Pairwise analysis is one of the scaling methods that is employed based on the rating; in 1972, the method was proposed as a statistical model (Turgut & Baykul, 1992). This method is advantageous because of its simplicity and the inclusion of all comparative judgments (Acar-Guvendir & Ozer-Ozkan, 2013).

Based on the results of the expert interview, a questionnaire for startups was drawn up using the Likert scale for the following factor groups: environmental stability: technological changes, inflation, demand variability, competitive pressure and the price elasticity of demand; industry resilience: growth potential, profit potential, financial stability, technological know-how and capital size; competitive advantages: product/service quality, customer loyalty, technological know-how, effective internal and external communication. A research study by Mueller et al. has found that both early-stage and growth-stage entrepreneurs spend a significant part of their working time on communication. Although communication is considered to be "the basic elements of entrepreneurial behaviour", it is often limited to a tactical approach that focuses on formats, channels and/or directions (internal or external). Thus, activities such as networking, relationship building and information sharing remain indirectly affected (Mueller et al., 2012); financial strength: income from investment, cash flow, risks associated with business, inventory turnover and financial independence. The factors were rated as low/high following the methodology of the SPACE matrix so that the results obtained could be quantified and integrated into the SPACE matrix. For the survey, 447 startups registered in the national startup database were selected, of which 221 had accessible contact information. As part of the research, a survey questionnaire was distributed to 221 startups, and 34 responses were received with valid answers, i.e. a response rate was 15.4%. Despite the low response rate, the answers could be considered to be representative enough to draw conclusions about startups in Latvia. Therefore, the survey findings could serve as a basis for further research on startups in Latvia and other countries. The answers were received from representatives/startups of the AI, fintech, healthtech, biotech, advanced manufacturing, computer vision, agrotech, foodtech, contech/proptech and mobility industries. However, for data processing, the fintech and healthtech industries were selected because they were identified as the most significant ones, according to the results of the survey of startup experts and the 2023 report of the startup association Startin.lv.

As shown in Figure 1, the identification and calculation of the strategic position of the healthtech industry were made in the following order: on the X-axis, the average rating of industry resilience (IR) (4.73) and the average rating of competitive advantages (CA) (-4.53) made up the total score or a point on the X-axis: (0.2). On the Y-axis, the average rating of financial stability (FS) (4.8) and the average rating of

environmental stability (ES) (-2.46) made up the total score or a point on the Y-axis (2.34) (see Fig. 1 for the results of the calculations and a visual representation in the SPACE matrix). The healthtech industry was placed in an aggressive strategic position. Based on the results of the survey of entrepreneurs and following the methodology of the SPACE matrix, the authors concluded that the startups of the healthtech industry were in an aggressive quadrant, which indicated strong market growth. This industry experienced fast growth owing to technological advances and the growing demand for industry services, the strong competitiveness of startups, many new companies offering innovative solutions and creating an intense competition environment as well as a favourable external environment, i.e. national policies and regulation supported the growth of startups. Dimitrova (2017) states that an aggressive strategic position, i.e. such a situation, is characteristic of attractive industries with low uncertainty in the external environment. The organization has competitive advantages that it can maintain and consolidate through its financial strength. Since the threats are insignificant, the organization can focus on guaranteeing the interests of its stakeholders. Some of the strategic alternatives to a similarly strong position involve: maintaining the level of innovation and further developing the competitive advantages possessed to date; rejecting any opportunity to develop competitive advantages of differentiation, i.e. those that would provide them with higher value for attractive market segments; vertical integration; diversification; "keeping up with the competition" by developing a unique high technology owing to a market "pioneer" (Dimitrova, 2017). Based on the action strategies already suggested by the SPACE matrix (Dimitrova, 2017; Krisnanto & Febriana, 2018; The Steps Required to Develop a SPACE Matrix, 2012; The Strategic Position and Action Evaluation (SPACE) Matrix, 2021; Kazibudzki, 2012), the authors recommend that startups in the industry should focus on: continuous development and innovation of products/services so that they meet the current market requirements; diversification of products/services to reduce risks and enter new markets; effective communication with customers, partners and other stakeholders to inform them about new products/services and improve the company's reputation; constant monitoring of competitor performance trends to maintain their competitiveness. Startups need to be able to create new products and services that meet the needs of customers and differ from what their competitors supply. Startups need to be able to communicate effectively with customers, partners and other stakeholders to inform them about their strategies, products and services.



Source: authors' construction

Fig. 1. Identification of the strategic positions of startups in the healthtech and fintech industries in Latvia, January 2024

As shown in Figure 1, the identification and calculation of the strategic position of the fintech industry were made in the following order: on the X-axis, the average rating of industry resilience (IR) (4.6) and the average rating of competitive advantages (CA) (-4.8) made up the total score or a point on the X-axis: (-0.2). On the Y-axis, the average rating of financial stability (FS) (4.8) and the average rating of environmental stability (ES) (-1.9) made up the total score or a point on the Y-axis (2.9) (see Fig. 1 for the results of the calculations and a visual representation in the SPACE matrix). Based on the results of the survey of entrepreneurs and following the methodology of the SPACE matrix, the authors conclude that startups in the fintech industry were in a conservative quadrant, indicating a low market growth rate – the growth of this industry was relatively slow because it was saturated with traditional financial service providers. There was a moderate level of competition for startups, as they had to compete with wellestablished companies and had significant resources and experience; there was a neutral external environment: national policies and the relevant legal framework had a neutral effect on the growth of startups in this industry. Dimitrova (2017) points out that a conservative strategic position means that the companies located in this quadrant of the SPACE matrix are in a stable, but slowly growing market. Product competitiveness is usually the key factor. In this case, costs should be reduced, product lines shortened and additional measures should be taken to protect competitive products, develop new products and propose and implement market penetration projects. The strategic alternatives suggested are as follows: promoting new product benefits and uses to win new market segments; downsizing, i.e. rearranging output to reduce costs; "harvesting" aimed at quickly recovering costs, market development through selling current products to new, more promising (demographic and geographic) markets (Dimitrova, 2017). Based on the action strategies already suggested by the SPACE matrix (Dimitrova, 2017; Krisnanto & Febriana, 2018; The Steps Required to Develop a SPACE Matrix, 2012; The Strategic Position and Action Evaluation (SPACE) Matrix, 2021; Kazibudzki, 2012), the authors recommend industry representatives to focus on cost reduction while developing new products and maximally diversifying the supply of products/services as well as paying attention to digital transformation and introducing innovations to enter new markets. Such a strategy, which combines cost optimization with product diversification, helps to mitigate various potential risks and ensures the sustainable development of a company.

Conclusions, proposals, recommendations

1) Strategic management and effective communication are critical to the success of any organization. A strategy determines the direction, while communication ensures that everyone in an organization moves towards the same goal. The SPACE matrix is a useful tool for assessing the strategic position of an organization. The matrix is based on four dimensions – two internal and two external ones – that allow an assessment of the state and potential of an organization.

2) Startups are recognized as drivers of economic growth, which have strong potential to solve the most pressing problems in the national economy. By employing expert interviewing and pairwise analysis, the authors of the paper designed a questionnaire for a survey of startups to identify external and internal factors for a SPACE matrix: *environmental stability factors*: technological changes, inflation, demand variability, competitive pressure and the price elasticity of demand; *industry resilience factors*: growth potential, profit potential, financial stability, customer loyalty, technological know-how, effective internal and external communication; *financial strength factors*: income from investment, cash flow, risks associated with business, inventory turnover and financial independence.

3) For a survey, 447 startups registered in the national startup database were selected, of which 221 had accessible contact information. As part of the research, a survey questionnaire was distributed to 221 startups, and 34 responses were received with valid answers, i.e. a response rate was 15.4%. Despite the low response rate, the answers could be considered to be representative enough to draw conclusions about startups in Latvia. The answers were received from representatives/startups of the AI, fintech, healthtech, biotech, advanced manufacturing, computer vision, agrotech, foodtech, contech/proptech and mobility industries. However, for data processing, the fintech and healthtech industries were selected because they were identified as the most significant ones, according to the results of the survey of startup experts and the 2023 report of the startup association Startin.lv. The strategic positions of startups in two industries in Latvia – fintech and healthtech – were assessed using the SPACE matrix.

4) Based on the results of the survey of entrepreneurs and following the methodology of the SPACE matrix, the authors conclude that the startups of the healthtech industry were in an aggressive quadrant, which indicated strong market growth. This industry experienced fast growth owing to technological advances and the growing demand for industry services, the strong competitiveness of startups, many new companies offering innovative solutions and creating an intense competition environment as well as a favourable external environment, i.e. national policies and regulation supported the growth of startups. As regards the fintech industry, the startups of this industry were in a conservative quadrant, indicating a low market growth rate – the growth of this industry was relatively slow because it was saturated with traditional financial service providers. There was a moderate level of competition for startups, as they had to compete with well-established companies and had significant resources and experience; there was a neutral external environment: national policies and the relevant legal framework had a neutral effect on the growth of startups in this industry.

5) The authors recommend that startups in the healthtech industry should focus on: continuous development and innovation of products/services so that they meet the current market requirements; diversification of products/services to reduce risks and enter new markets; effective communication with customers, partners and other stakeholders to inform them about new products/services and improve the company's reputation; constant monitoring of competitor performance trends to maintain their competitiveness. Startups need to be able to create new products and services that meet the needs of customers and differ from what their competitors supply. Startups need to be able to communicate effectively with customers, partners and other stakeholders to inform them about their strategies, products and services.

6) The authors recommend fintech industry representatives to focus on cost reduction while developing new products and maximally diversifying the supply of products/services as well as paying attention to digital transformation and introducing innovations to enter new markets. Such a strategy, which combines cost optimization with product diversification, helps to mitigate various potential risks and ensures the sustainable development of a company. Startups need to perform regular strategic analyses to identify changes in the external and internal environments and adjust their strategies in a timely manner. Accordingly, the hypothesis put forward proved to be true.

Bibliography

^{1.} Acar-Guvendir, M., & Ozer-Ozkan, Y. (2013). Ikili olcekleme yonteminin karsılastırılması: ikili karsılastırma ve sıralama yargıları. *Egitim Bilimleri Arastırmaları Dergisi*, *3*(1), 105-119. http://ebad-jesr.com/, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.12973/jesr.2013.316a

- Chaudhri, V., Pridmore, J., & Mauck, C. (2022). Assembling the Start-up Brand: a process framework for understanding strategic communication challenges. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, 16(2), 206-221. DOI: 10.1080/1553118X.2021.1976784
- 3. Daniell, M. H. (2006). Mastering the dynamic nature of modern strategy. *Handbook of business strategy*, 7(1), 35-41.
- 4. David, F. R., & David, F. R. (2017). Strategic management: concepts and cases: A competitive advantage approach. Pearson.
- 5. Dimitrova, T. (2017). Evaluating the strategic position of an organisation through space analysis. *Народностопански архив, 333*(3), 19-32.
- 6. EUIPO (2023). European Union Intellectual Property Office. *Patents, trademarks and startup finance. Funding and exit performance of European startups*. Retrieved from: https://link.epo.org/web/publications/studies/en-patents-trade-marks-and-startup-finance-study.pdf
- 7. Frandsen, F., & Johansen, W. (2017). Strategic communication. *The international encyclopedia of organizational communication*, (s. 2250-2258) 1-9. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118955567.wbieoc194
- Gurbuz, T. (2013, March). A modified strategic position and action evaluation (SPACE) matrix method. In *Proceedings of the International MultiConference of Engineers and Computer Scientists* (Vol. 2, pp. 13-15). Retrieved from: https://www.iaeng.org/publication/IMECS2013/IMECS2013_pp866-869.pdf
- 9. Henderson, B. D. (1989). The origin of strategy: What business owes Darwin and other reflections on competitive advantage dynamics. *Harvard University Review*, 2-18.
- Kazibudzki, P. (2012). *Efficiency in Business*. Siedlce University of Natural Sciences and Humanities, p. 377–397. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/293484002 Methodological Framework of Financial Analysis with Pre
 - https://www.researchgate.net/publication/293484002_Methodological_Framework_of_Financial_Analysis_with_Pre scriptive_Outcome_for_Strategic_Turnaround_Case
- 11. Krisnanto, U., & Febriana, A. (2018). Original Paper Digital Agency Start-up Strategy in Indonesia. Retrieved from: http://www.scholink.org/ojs/index.php/jbtp/article/view/1315/1504
- 12. Latvian Startup Report (2023). Startin.lv. Retrieved from: https://startin.lv/wpcontent/uploads/2024/02/Latvian_Startup_Report_2023.pdf
- 13. Lovlyn Ekeowa Kelvin-Iloafu (2016). The role of effective communication in strategic management of organizations. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, 6(12), 93-99. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327212629
- 14. Methodological Framework of Financial Analysis with Prescriptive Outcome for Strategic Turnaround Case (2012). Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/293484002_Methodological_Framework_of_Financial_Analysis_with_Pre scriptive_Outcome_for_Strategic_Turnaround_Case
- 15. Miller, C. C., & Cardinal, L. B. (1994). Strategic planning and firm performance: A synthesis of more than two decades of research. Academy of management journal, 37(6), 1649-1665.
- 16. Mintzberg, H. (1991). Learning 1, planning 0 reply to Igor Ansoff. *Strategic management journal*, 463-466. Retrieved from: https://www.creaciondeestrategia.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/3.-Mintzberg_1991.pdf
- 17. Mintzberg, H. (1994). The fall and rise of strategic planning. *Harvard business review*, 72(1), 107-114. Retrieved from:

https://libroweb.alfaomega.com.mx/book/385/free/data/Materiales/Capitulo01/TheFallAndRiseOfStrategicPlanning. pdf

- 18. Mueller, S., Volery, T., & Von Siemens, B. (2012). What do entrepreneurs actually do? An observational study of entrepreneurs' everyday behavior in the start-up and growth stages. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 36(5), 995-1017. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6520.2012.00538.x
- 19. Radder, L., & Louw, L. (1998). The SPACE matrix: A tool for calibrating competition. *Long range planning*, *31*(4), 549-559. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-6301(98)80048-4
- 20. Rowe, A. J., Dickel, K., & Mason, R. O. (1994). Strategic management: A methodological approach.
- 21. Rumanti, A.A., Syauta, K.J. (2013) Determining Strategies Based on Strategic Position Analysis in Small and Medium Enterprises. International Journal of Information and Education Technology, Vol. 3, No. 4, August 2013. DOI: 10.7763/IJIET.2013.V3.315
- 22. Seiffert-Brockmann, J., Wiggins, B., & Nothhaft, H. (2023). The meme's-eye view of strategic communication: A case study of social movements from a memetic perspective. *International Journal of Strategic Communication*, *17*(3), 245-265. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1553118X.2023.2234348
- 23. Shtal, T. V., Buriak, M. M., Amirbekuly, Y., Ukubassova, G. S., Kaskin, T. T., & Toiboldinova, Z. G. (2018). Methods of analysis of the external environment of business activities. *Revista espacios*, 39(12). Retrieved from: https://pdf4pro.com/view/methods-of-analysis-of-the-external-environment-of-6f037c.html
- 24. Silaban, N., & Syah, T. Y. R. (2018). The influence of compensation and organizational commitment on employees' turnover intention. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, *20*(3), 1-6. Retrieved from: https://osf.io/js9pb/download
- 25. Stacy, R. (2002). Strategic management and dynamics of the organization. Translated by Mohammad Reza. Shojai, Tehran. Economical affairs school.
- 26. Tafti, S.F., Joahni, M., Emami, S., A. (2012) Explaining Evolutionary Trend of Strategic Planning from Traditional Economy to Innovation Economy. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences. Volume 58, 12 October 2012, Pages 56-65https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.978

- 27. The Steps Required to Develop a SPACE Matrix (2012). Retrieved from: http://knowledgeforall79.blogspot.com/2012/05/steps-required-to-develop-space-matrix.html
- 28. The Strategic Position and Action Evaluation (SPACE) Matrix (2021). Retrieved from: https://phantran.net/thestrategic-position-and-action-evaluation-space-matrix/
- 29. Turgut, M. F., & Baykul, Y. (1992). Ölçekleme teknikleri. Ankara: ÖSYM yayınları, 2.
- 30. Zhou, L. (2024). Startup Failure Statistics: What Percentage of Startups Fail? Retrieved from: https://www.luisazhou.com/blog/startup-failure-statistics/